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FOREWORD 

‘Tue present work embraces the History of Ireland from the 
last native High Kings to the “ All-but-Kingship ” of the Great 
Earl of Kildare. Mr. Goddard Orpen’s Iveland Under the 

Normans (1166-1333) has been an invaluable guide for part of 
my period, and itis a pleasure to acknowledge my great indebted- 
ness to him. His work is, however, professedly devoted to the 
history of the Norman colonists, whereas I have devoted more 
attention to the native side. For the period after 1333 I may 
claim the merits, as I admit the shortcomings, of a pioneer in a 
stretch of our history where sources are little known, legends 
many, and guides almost non-existent. I have not only traced 

the main course of the political history but devoted much space 

to institutions, political and social, of the Anglo-Irish and Irish, 

and to the languages and culture of the races of medieval 
Ireland. I trust therefore that this work will help to meet the 

need for a comprehensive history of the whole medizeval period, 
Of recent years Professor Eoin MacNeill’s work on Gaelic 

social and political institutions, and that of Mrs. Alice Stopford 
Green on Irish mediaval civilisation, have illumined the whole 

study of our earlier history. Every student of the period up 
to 1603 must derive from their work both profit and inspiration. 

‘The recent destruction of the Public Record Office, Dublin, 

is an irreparable disaster. Fortunately inter alia the twenty 

‘or more volumes of transcripts of Eachequer Memoranda, of 
which I had made abundant use, have survived. 



vi FOREWORD 

‘The splendid Harris Collectanea in the National Library, 

Dublin, which I have also largely drawn upon, luckily also 
preserve for us copies of great numbers of State and ecclesiastical 
records the originals of which in manycases had already perished, 
For my MS. materials I have utilised the libraries of the Royal 

Trish Academy and Trinity College, Dublin; also that of the 

British Museum, and the Record Offices of London and Dublin, 

‘To their officials for their courtesy and help I am greatly obliged, 

especially to Mr, Herbert Wood, Deputy Keeper of Records, 
Dublin, who permitted me to use his list of Chief Governors of 

Ireland, since published. On the spelling of Gaelic names, 
I have compromised between the nitive forms, now-a-days 

often cumbrous, and the anglicised forms, sometimes keeping 
historic angli ised spellings, which are not unpleasing, such as 
“Rury,” “Turlock,” Calvach,” “ O"Donnell,” etc., but 
rejecting the barbarous “ ough” and “ agh" endings in favour 
of older native forms such as “ Nechtan,” “ Murchertach ” 
and “Donnchad” for “Naghtan,” “Murtogh,” “ Donogh,” 

using “Aedh " instead of “ Hugh,” and“ MacMurchada " for 
“ MacMurrough.” More correctly, Donnchad, Murchertach 
and MacMurchada should be “ Donnchadh,” “ Muirchertach ” 
and “ MacMurchadha,” but the latter forms are less convenient 
for the general English reader. 

EC. 
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CORRIGENDA 

Page 54, for" modern church of St. Andrew,”” read" ancient church.”” 
69, note L., for 1174 oF 1175" read" 1173."* 

80, for " Vivian de Curcy" read " Vivian de Cursun.”” 
93, note, Petronilla was wife, not of this Dermot, but of his 

grandson, Dermot of Dundrinan, see p. r10. 
4. 104, note 2, Orpen, Ireland Under the Normans, IV., p. 312. 

questions the marriage of Gerald with the daughter of 
Hamo de Valognes. 

143, Hubert de Burgh was uncle, not cousin, to Kichard, 
163, for 1299" near bottom of page, read" 1259." 
174, note 2, for C. D. I., ii., p. 200, read p. 306. 

| apo, for * alatie” rend" aunt" of Llewelyn 
179, Thomas de Clare died in 1287, not 1286. 
223, for “his grandmother Gwladys"” read "bis great-grand- 

mother G.” 
226, note 2 and 3,for Just. Rolls, IL., p. 82, read ibid p. 466. 
253, Ammold le Poer was not Lord of Donobill in Waterford, 

but held Kelis in Ossory. 
256, for" D'Arcy’s ordinances " read ** Lucy's 

282, Niall Mér O'Neill was son of Aedh son of Donal * of the 
‘Remonstrance.’ 

298, note 2, for Fitzwilliams read Fitzgriffins, 
305, Turloch O'Donnell retired into a monastery in 1422, and 

died in 1423, see p. 340. 
» 399, Tristeldermot, a corruption of Disert Dhiarmada, is the 

same as Castledermot. 
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HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL 
IRELAND 

INTRODUCTION 

Tue Kingdom of Ireland was, in the year 1170, alread 
nine centuries old. From Cormac mac Art, who foandael 
the Monarchy of Tara circa 250 A.D., descended a line 
of kings who preserved till the year r000 a practically 
unbroken succession in the High Kingship. Even after 
the usurpation of Brian Boru the name, fact and 
authority of the Kingdom of Ireland still endured. 

This national unity under native Gaelic kings was 
then shattered by the Norman invasion of 1167-1172, 
and from this decisive date in Irish history, we may 
attempt to estimate the value of this ancient civilisation, 
and the character of this native monarchy. 

Extant memorials and contemporary evidence afford 
sufficient proof that the arts in Ireland at this time 
were possessed of the main sources of stability and 
progress ; they were native and distinctive in type, and 
they were at once developing from within, and readily 
borrowing from the best work of contemporary Europe. 

There existed a native and beautiful form of 
Romanesque architecture, a distinctive form of Chris- 
tianity which, save for the period of Danish raids, had 
never lost its original vigour, a whole body of native 
law, which had been, or was being, written down in 
great books, a common language, and a vast body of 
literature in the Gaelic idiom which orally went back 
to the pagan, and in its written forms, to the earliest 
Christian age. A Latin literature and civilization 
depended mainly on the Church. What especially 

ry 
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2 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

stamped Ireland was an enthusiasm and preference for 
the native language and native culture. 

In the century and a half since Clontarf (ror4) 
Trish Romanesque architecture reached its highest 
beauty in Cormac MacCarthy's Chapel at Cashel (1230) 
and Turloch O’Conor’s church at Tuam; while the 
Cross of Cong, made for the same High King, and the 
Ardagh Chalice, display at its best the gold and silver 
work of the time.! 

Ireland had for centuries possessed a professional 
learned lay class, numerous and well-endowed, whose 
generic name was ili or sage. Among these the 
preservation and cultivation of native letters, law, 
history, state and local records, was steadily pursued. 
The annals and historical tracts of these latter centuries 
are abundant ; the national epics were collected 
together in Lebhor na hUidhre (circa 1100), the Book 
of Leinster (circa 1150), and other book-collections 
which have not survived; and such important State 
documents were compiled as the Book of Rights (Leabhar 
na gCeart), a record of the mutual obligations and 
prerogatives of the High King and the province-kings, 
drawn up first about goo and revised about 1000 A.D. 
No country in Europe of that time maintained so large 
a class of literati, or one so influential. Members 
themselves of the ruling Gaelic caste which in the 
course of a thousand years had imposed its laws, its 
Janguage, and its military and political supremacy over 

the whole island, the influence of this widespread 
intelligentsia was cast entirely on the side of the kings, 
the aristocracy, and the Gaelic culture, 

2 Petrie, Ancient Ecclesiastical Architecture of Irdand, pp. 317-18, 
says that tho encent ‘church of Tuam, judging by its chancel, which 
alone remains of it, “ was not only a Dut a more splendid 
structure than Cormiac’s Chapel at Cashel.” ” The triumphal arch 
‘of the Chancel is perhaps the most magnificent specimen of its kind 
remaining in a rela” or the Cross of Cong see Plate and description 

Tatoch O° Coogr, andivsh Are Owes mech te” this High King 
(1119-1556). 
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INTRODUCTION 3 

Of pure literature, written in the older forms of 
Irish and going back in the earliest written forms to 
600 A.D., a great body has come down to us. Of this 
literature, much has the triviality of mediaeval letters 
im general; much is purely traditionalistic, and there 
clearly was not, save in the case of John Eriugena, 
one of the subtlest of early mediaeval thinkers, much 
development among the Irish of the ideas that count. 
But while in art the Gaels of 1100 were not far behind 
the best standard of western Europe, the great extant 
epics of Concobar, Cuchulainn, and the rest, show 
endless fancy and imagination, and contain some of 
the stuff of world-literature. The Irish were masters 
of the art of story-telling; the prose epics in their 
vivid character-painting, their spirited dialogue, and 
their true instinct for a situation, seemed to herald the 
flowering of a great native drama. In what survives 
of their once abundant nature poetry and personal 
lyric we find a sense of beauty and of delicate art which 
is almost perfect of its kind. The Ireland of this time 
gives the impression of a race mentally quick, adaptive, 
and eager ; civilization had been working for a thousand 
years and seemed destined to reach great heights. 
Unhappily, the conquest had the result of throwing 
back the national genius and bringing into prominence 
the pedantry and traditionalism which were deeply 
rooted in the native character. 

The sacred, and latin culture of Ireland centred 
round the monasteries. The schools for which Ireland 
had been so famous, grouped round the great churches 
of Armagh, Clonmacnoise, Lismore, etc., had suffered 
much from the Norse raids, but their day, even in 
attracting foreign scholars, was far from over. In 1098 
died Sulien, bishop of St. David’s, who had in youth 
sought “the fields of the Irish famous for admirable 
learning, and spent thirteen years there.t 

4Exemplo patrum commotus amore legendi 
Teta iibersoe sophia mirebint cinta” 

s, Hnddan and Stubbs, Councils, vol. i, p. 297. The verses were 
written by Sulien’ 

Google PRINCETON UNIVERSIT) 



4 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

Saint Malachy (Maelmaedoc O Morgair) was educated 
at the school of Armagh by one Imar, who, says 
Bernard of Clairvaux in his biography of the saint, 
“had the reputation of a famous teacher in the studies 
which are called liberal.’’ During his journeys later 
Malachy found and severely rebuked a Berengarian in 
the city of Lismore. Profane learning and the classics. 
were thus apparently cultivated in twelfth-century 
Ireland—and heresy is at least evidence of intellectual 
ferment. 

Treland, moreover, had in Wales, Man, and Gaelic 
Scotland satellites of her well-cultivated music, litera- 
ture, and learning. The largest of the still independent 
Celtic states, she was the mistress and culture-centre 
for all three. 

That the native Gaels were a naturally dull and 
incurious race was never asserted, even by their Norman 
or Elizabethan conquerors: on the contrary, Tudor 
officials found them possessed in a dangerous degree of 
“ pregnant subtil wits, eloquent and marvelous natural.”” 
Much barbarism certainly mingled with their civilization, 
in curious contrast to the remarkably modern tone of 
much of their literature. In the aimless violence, 
sporadic wars, and blundering activities of its kings, 
Ireland suggested Merovingian France. All through 
mediaeval times the Gaelic leaders were rather battle- 
leaders than statesmen, and romanticists rather than 
realists. This, more than any innate backwardness, 
delayed the progress of the race. Political craft, the 
heritage of Rome, had not entered into the ingenuous 
and undissembling Irish mind. Undoubtedly, too, in 
the externals of luxury and splendour there was a much 
lower standard than that of Norman England. This 
race of Gaelic Ireland, which had never been latinized 
by Rome, teutonized by the Norse, nor catholicised by 
the Church, certainly presented a strangely non-Euro- 

1 Life of St. Malachy, by Bernard of Clairvaux, ed. Rev. J. H. 
Lawlor (S. P. C. K., 1920). 
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INTRODUCTION 5 

pean aspect to the Norman-English invaders, but 
undoubtedly Irish civilization, though peculiarly native, 
and in some ways isolated, was still a civilization. 

To judge the achievements of Irish culture by a 
cursory survey of the annals is not to do it justice: 

they are rather to be found in its extant memorials, 
or in the history of the peaceful reform of the Irish 
Church which filled up the first three-quarters of the 
twelfth century. 

‘This latter movement was in effect the triumph in 
Ireland of the Hildebrandine and Cluniac Reformation, 
movements which had swept Europe from 1000 onwards. 
That the Celtic Church did not admit the presidency 
of Rome cannot be maintained. An ancient canon in 
the Book of Armagh declares that ‘ matters which the 
judges of the Scottic race cannot solve shall rightly be 
teferred to the See of the Archbishop of the Irish (viz., 
Patrick’s See of Armagh), but if he cannot decide it 
we have decreed it shall be sent to the Apostolic See, 
that is to say, the Chair of the Apostle Peter.” * 

Gillebert, bishop of Limerick from 1105, by his 
tracts, De Statu Ecclesiae and De Us Ecclesiastico, 
launched the whole programme of Reform, namely, to 
Temove lay influence from the church, secure clerical 
celibacy, create an hierarchy, give Rome the appoint- 
ment of the bishops, establish territorial dioceses, purify 
morals, and, as St. Bernard says, “ ordain the Roman 
and Catholic office.” But the chief glory of the 
Reformers was Malachy, bishop of Connor and then of 
Armagh, who before his death in 1148 secured the 
willing submission of the south to Armagh, brought 
back from a visit to Rome the archiepiscopal pallia, won 
at Clairvaux the love and admiration of St. Bernard, 
and introduced the Cistercian Order into Ireland. 

Various synods of the Irish Church from 1110 to 

+ See Ireland and she Celtic Church, G. Stokes, ed. Lawlor, p. 
For the Reform movement se also Life of Si. Metachy. Dx. Leies 
Introduction and Notes throw a fi light on “he catlice part of 
the Irish Reformation, 1109-1150, 

D Google " 



6 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

1167 enforced this native reformation. At Rathbreasail 
or Fiadh-mic-Oengusa in 1110 Cellach (Celsus) of 
Armagh presided as Primate of Ireland, and Ireland 
was divided into twenty-four territorial sees. Finally 
at Kells in 1152, before the Rome-sent legate, Paparo, 
Gelasius of Armagh and three hundred clerics adopted 
the whole reforming programme, and the pallium, the 
token of Roman approval, was bestowed on each of 
the four archbishops of Armagh, Cashel, Tuam, and 
Dublin, who were to rule the provinces of Ulster, 

Munster, Connacht, and Leinster. 
From the first the Reform movement had the 

support of the kings and lords of Ireland, The High 
King, Murchertach O'Brien, was present at Fiadh-mic- 
engusa. At the synod of Ath-buidhe in 1167 the 
High King Rury presided ; all the chiefs of the North, 
lay and cleric, were present; and the presence of 
thirteen thousand horsemen made the assembly like 
some great Frankish Champs-de-Mai. 

In this movement, the monasteries, too, felt the 
breath of reform, and consented to closer unity and 
control. The Rule of Columba (Colmcille) was the 
greatest of the native orders, and Flavertach O Brol- 
chain, the last powerful arch-abbot or “coarb" of 
Colmcille in Derry, enforced his authority by progresses 
over a great part of Ireland. In rrg8 he was given a 
bishop’s chair with jurisdiction over all the Columban 
abbeys of Ireland, and in 1162, along with the High 
King, Murchertach, he began the building, completed 
in 1164, of a new cathedral in Derry some ninety feet 
long. To make room for it, he removed eighty houses 
or more in the city, and the limekiln for his new 
buildings was seventy feet square. 

To revive the famous schools of Ireland was also 
the aim of bishops and princes. It was ordained at 
the Synod of Clane (1162) that no one should be a 
lector or reader (fer légind) in any monastic church in 

1 Annals of the Four Masters. 
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INTRODUCTION 7 

Ireland who was not an alumnus of Armagh, and in 
x169 the High King Rury endowed the fer légind, ivc., 
the lector or professor of sacred and secular learning 
at Armagh with a stipend of ten cows yearly, for 
teaching the scholars of Erin and Alba. Thus was 

ized, not only the supremacy of Armagh over 
all Ireland, but the supremacy also of its ancient uni- 
versity, which, had Ireland maintained its independence, 
might have become a studium generale for the whole 
Gaelic world. 

The type of scholar these Irish schools could produce 
is shown in Flann O Gorman, who died in 1174, then 
seventy years old, “chief lector of Armagh and of all 
Ireland, a learned sage and versed in sacred and profane 

philosophy, who had spent twenty-one years of study 
in France and England and twenty other years in 
directing and governing the schools of Ireland.” 1 

Unhappily Ireland was not permitted to achieve 
her own salvation. In other countries the Hildebrandine 

had been the friends of nationality, and Bohemia, 
Hungary, and Italy owed their independence to the 
championship of Rome, but the course of European 
politics determined that the only English Pope should 
be the instrument for placing Ireland in her long 
subjection to England. 

The Bull Laudabiliter, issued to Henry II. of England 
in 1154, states the right of the Holy Roman Church, 
according to the Donation of Constantine over Ireland 
and all other Christian islands. ‘‘ Henry has announced 
to us,” declared Adrian IV., “ his desire to enter Ireland 
in order to subdue the people, to make them obedient 
to laws and root out from among them the seeds of 
sin; the Irish are to accept him and obey as their 
liege lord, and he shall enforce Peter’s pence and 
preserve the rights of the Church.” 

It was clearly intended, therefore, that Henry 
should, after his work of regeneration, stay and become 
the lay lord of Ireland. Though no original has been 

te. M., U7. 

; Google AKON 



8 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

found in the papal archives of this Bull, the text of 
which rests on the word of Giraldus alone, that some 
such document was issued seems irrefutable.1 Henry 
hadJyearned for worlds to conquer in his early youth ; 
since then he had had enough to manage, and possibly 
would never have crossed the Irish sea had not Dermot 
MacMurchada been exiled. But then the document 
worked its potent spell. The knowledge of such an 
imprimatur from the spiritual Head of Europe had 
obviously penetrated the minds of the Irish leaders, 
both clerical and lay. Nothing else can explain their 
amazing surrender before the English King. 

With the exception of Laurence O Tuathail, Arch- 
bishop of Dublin, the Irish bishops in the crisis were 
men of childishly pious intellects. Over-impressed with 
the sinfulness of the laity, despondent over the weakness 
of the Church, they concluded that the defects and weak- 
nesses of their Church and nation were a justification 
for subjecting their native land, without seeking terms, 
to a foreign king who was certainly not a man of lofty 
spiritual nature, as the one destined by Heaven and 
the Vicar of Christ to reform otherwise hopeless abuses. 
The saintly Malachy himself had filled his host, 
Bernard, with such stories of the barbarism and vices 
of his fellow-countrymen that the Abbot of Clairvaux 
wondered that so saintly and lovable a man could 
come out from such a race. The bishops of the time, 
so Alexander III. declared later, had also informed the 
Holy See of the vitiorum enormitates of their people, 
and Ireland certainly had to pay dearly for the pious 
exaggerations of her spiritual chiefs. 

What were the vices and evil customs which, re- 
ported to St. Bernard by Malachy, and by the Cardinal- 
legate, Paparo, to the Papal Curia, found their way to 
the ears of Pope Adrian and enabled Alexander III. in 
his letter of 1172 to call the Irish “ gems illa barbara 

+ The arguments for and against the authenticity of Laudabiliter 
are summed up by Dr. Orpen in his Ireland onder the Norment, 
vol. i, pp. 313-318, 
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INTRODUCTION 9 

inculta ct divinae legis ignara” ? They were—survivals 
of pagan or early Christian custom; uncanonical 
marriage, illegitimacy among the laity, marriage and 
simony among the clergy, no giving of tithes or first- 
fruits ; evils no worse than are recorded in the whole- 
sale indictments against Germany, Scandinavia, and 
Anglo-Saxon England by the zealots of the Cluniac 
movement.! 

To turn to the question of political progress, we 
may ask what conception of a State dwelt in the Irish 
mind? How far was there a government and the 
machinery of government ? 

Ireland was at the stage when patriarchal institutions 
were passing into feudalism. A landed aristocracy had 
been establishing itself for centuries, and the monarchy 
was seeking to control this aristocracy. 

From 483 A.p, to 1022, with only two intermissions, 
the royal stock of the Ui Néill of Connacht-Meath, 
founded by Niall of Nine Hostages, had held the title 
of Ard-Ri (High King) by hereditary succession. The 
most significant breach in this succession was made by 
Brian Boru, who began as king of Thomond, North 
Munster, and finally took the Kingship of Tara from 
Maelsechlain II. himself. The hereditary sanction thus 
violated, it was now open to each province-king to 
enforce the homage of his equals, and be recognized as 
Ard-Ri.  Brian’s name and fame, however, for over a 
century practically entailed the High-Kingship to his 
descendants. It was not till the death of Murchertach 
O’Brien in rrrg that “ Kings with opposition" began. 

The rule of eligibility is stated thus in the Annals 
of Clonmacnoise (ro4t): “If the King of Leth Mogha 
could command Munster, Leinster, and Tara (i.e., 

1 Son Life of Malachy, od, Laveloe, wp. xv. and facil, ots, | The 
Inveterate, for, after Malachy had 

Roman laws everywhere established "amon a tao serie ‘Be 
North-Eaut (p, 39)... Dr. Lawlor discusses these" vices," pp, 160-160. 
‘They were Christians in name, pagans in fact,” was the description 

of his flock which Malachy gave to Bernard, a phrase repeated by 
Alexander III. later when he conferred Ireland upon Henry. 

c Google a 



ro HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

Meath) and either Connacht or Ulster he was fit to be 
Ard-Ri; but the King of Leth Chuinn must have one 
province at command, ie., Leinster or Munster.” + 

In the pagan origins circa 200 A.D., Eoghan, also 
called Mogh Nuadat, King of Munster, had been the 
rival of Conn Céd-cathach, King of Ireland, and from 
the treaty which ended their conflict originated the 
historic division of Ireland into Conn’s Half (Leth 
Cwinn) and Mogh’s Half (Leth Mogha) marked by the 
low hills called Escair Riada stretching from Dublin to 
Galway. It was a significant and persistent division. 

The giving of hostages was the token of submission 
to a new Ard-Ri, who then distributed stipends of kine, 
horses, armour and gold to his vassals, and was entitled 

to military service and the “great tribute of the King 
of Erin,” 

Murchertach MacLochlain became High King 
“without opposition” in 1161, after some years of 
struggle, by winning the submission and hostages of 
Leinster, Connacht, Meath, Brefni, and the Dublin 
Ostmen. Later Rury O’Conor was a true Ard-Ri. 

A fatal defect was the want of an acknowledged 
capital. Tara had decayed after the reception of the 
Faith: the last royal feast was held there in 559 A.D. 
by the half-pagan King Diarmid, and the Dindsenchas 
says of these later times : 

“ Perished is every law concerning high fortune ; 
Crumbled to clay is every ordinance ; 
Tara, though she is desolate to-day, 
Was once the habitation of heroes.” 

Less successfully would later kings strive to rule 
Ireland from Cashel or from Aileach. 

The supreme authority of the High Kings and the 

2 The Book of Rights lays down that only the Kings of Leinster, 
Meath, Allech (Tir Eoghain ain), and a tKeanstes) are eligible for 

Kingship of =a 
fetrical Dindsenchas, trom Book of Leinster, twelfth century, 

ea. Be J. Gwynn, Part I. 
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INTRODUCTION 11 

existence of an Irish State was quite apparent to 
foreign potentates: the Norse Sagas clearly recognize 
Brian, “ the best of kings,” as an effective monarch : 
in 1078 a Jewish deputation went to Turloch O’Brien 
to ask that their persecuted race might dwell in Ireland, 
as if that king could speak for the whole island. The 
same Ard-Ri Turloch received letters from Archbishop 
Lanfranc and Pope Gregory VII. addressed “ magnifico 
Regi Hiberniae.""* There clearly was then, for centuries 
before the Norman invasion, always a living Head 
whose safeguard and authority were considered effective 
from the seaports to the royal din. 

The structure of the Irish states may be largely 
inferred from the Book of Rights, a Gaelic state document 
drawn up first about goo a.p., and revised soon after 
1000 A.D. by direction of Brian. In the later form the 

supremacy of Cashel, the seat of the Munster kings, 
to full supremacy over Ireland is asserted. Nevertheless 
the right of Ailech (the northern Ui Néill), Tara (Meath), 
and Leinster to possess the High Kingship is admitted. 
The picture is that of a Heptarchy, composed of Munster 
(Cashel), Leinster, Connacht (Cruachdn), Ailech (Tir 
Eoghain), Oriel and Ulidia, these three latter forming 
modern Ulster.* 

The book details the jura of the Irish kings, the 
obligations of the province-kings to the Ard-Ri, and 
the rents and tributes due to the province-kings from 
their under-lords, these rents being so large as to 
suggest a land very rich in cattle, jewels, com, and 
slaves, The “great tribute to the King of Erin” 
seems to have been paid once only, at his accession, 
but since the Ard-Ri was also king of a province he 
enjoyed the recurrent profits of the same and had, like 

1 The “ quingue judaci munera ingentia ferentes”’ were unhappily 
cain sxpsled beyond son! and retarned dimppoiated to whence 

for O'Brien was as bigoted as any king of his time 
(aan, “imnisfalten,ed. OCOnOE, Her, Hibs SSe,9ab, letters 
of Lanfranc, etc., see Ussher's Vel. Epist. Hib. 

collective name for the ruling Ui 
Cenel Eoghain (race of Eoghan). 
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all the Irish princes, “royal land.” The parallel is 
close with another mediaeval state, viz., Germany, 
where Otto I, for example, was at once by election 
King, and by hereditary right Duke of Saxony; and 
we may style the “‘ stem-dukes,” kings after the Irish 
fashion, they being the real rulers of Bavaria, Suabia, 
etc., in a Germany which formed one loose federal state. 

Apart from the hostages, and homage which was 
made binding by being sworn on the most sacred relics, 
the High King had various effective ways of securing 
loyalty. To invade a king's territory and divide it 
among more pliable vassals was one method ; but to 
have him deposed and banished by a national assembly 
of kings and prelates was a method more imposing still. 
The strong hand rested on the control of the national 

military levies, of whom most trusted would be they of 
the High King’s own province. The whole system of 
law had its apex in the Ard-Ri. Every king of a tuath 
(or petty state) or of a mér-tuath (group of tuaths) 
presided over the cases in his country and the local 
brehon made awards; the province-king judged and 
ruled among the kings of mér-tuaths; the High King 
judged among his vassals, the under-kings, and his 

“royal Brehon” was the supreme jurisprudent for all 
Treland.* 

The chief strength of the Monarch, as it was in 
France of the time, was certainly in his own demesnes 
and his own province. Great as was the prestige of 
the High Kingship, it had suffered a severe blow in 
the dispossession of the sacred Ui Néill line. The 
O’Brien’s strove to remedy this by am entente with 
Armagh, like that which the House of Egbert established 
with Canterbury. Bishop Gillebert’s tract, de Statu 
Ecclesiae, declared that the Primate should ordain and 
crown the King. In rooz2 Brian recognized the tradi- 

* Leabhay na gCeart, ed. O'Donovan, and scientifically discussed 
in a chapter of Professor Eoin MacNeill’s recent book, Celtic Ireland, 

* In Fragments of Annals, ed O'Donovan Colman, abbot of Cenn- 
Etigh, is called * chief-professor of, the judicature’ of Erin" (ard- 
ollam tneitheamhnachta Eireann), sur. 90! 
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tional supremacy of Armagh over all Ireland and laid 
a gift of gold on the altar of the great church there : 
the transaction is commemorated by an entry of his 
scribe, Maelsuthain, in the Book of Armagh.* In 1103 
Brian’s descendant, Murchertach, again left a tribute 
of gold on the high altar of Armagh, and on the other 
side of the entente the Primate Celsus made the visi- 
tation of Munster and received tribute from every 
tricha céd in that kingdom. 

Though the High King’s administrative powers 
were in embryo, they were capable of expansion. His 
decisions had to receive the assent of an airecht, or 
council, which we may compare to the Angevin cwria 
regis, and the general approbation of the prelates and 
the kings who had elected him. The province-king 
similarly ruled by the advice of his airecht of underlords 
and local bishops and abbots. 

We find evidence of this council in connection with 
Cathal Crovderg, king of Connacht (1201-24), who was 
vassal of King John, but ruled his western kingdom 
by ancient hereditary right? 

Cathal O’Conor’s inauguration at Camnfraich as King 
‘of Connacht (1201) is typical of the en-kinging of a 

2 The ancient Book of Armagh, ed. Rev. Dr. J. Gwynn, fol. 
16 bib, | The whole Latin entry is“ sanctpairi(us ions od coslum 
mandauit totum fructum laboris sui tam bablicmi tam causarum quam 
clemotsinarvom daferenium esse aposolicae wri quae scotice nominatur 

he, Sia fehers im bibtathecls Scolorum. "Ego seripst, 1d 
si Caleas_parennis, tm conspectn Briant imperaioris 
Scripsi finivit omnibus regibus Maceriae. trick, Sie 
Wibcavens ondeined that all’ the trut ol His labout both es = aoe 
baptism and causes ecclesiastical and questions of alms should 
the apostolic city which is called in Irish, Armagh. "So have fund 
in the libraries of the Irish, 1, Maelsuthain, have writen this in the 
Presence of rian, High King of the Geelé race, and what I have 
written, he has accepted for all the kings of Cashel.” 

See the traci “The Inauguration of Cathal Croibhderg * 
(Swe Goll, comes TIT fol. 28,) written 1315, edited and trausiated 
‘© Daly and O Donovan in ‘Kill. Arch. Soc., Vol. for 1853. The 

Si a cleeotg. ok whom O Conce wes sealer, sicang Gown Mum, 
Connacht circa 700, Eochy Moyvaen, circa 360, was the 

aed “nccotor ofall the Counacht “royal races"" “Note that the 
, titeach mentioned above, continaes till Elizabethan times, called 
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provincial dynast. Twelve ‘‘ coarbs” (ancient bishop- 
abbots) and twelve chief lords were present. These 
were the immediate electors, each had some hereditary 
office and some function to perform—thus MacDermot 
was O'Conor’s Marshal—and each received rich stipends 
after the event, while O’Maelconaire, chief historian, 
completed the ceremony by putting the rod of office 
into O’Conor’s hand. We must note that these lay 
chiefs were “ royal chieftains,” ie., they were of close 

kin to O’Conor and of the same kingly race, the Sil 
Muiredaigh, hence they were free of all but hosting 
duty. But there were present other vassals of the 
royal stock, whose lines had branched off eight centuries 
before: among these ‘free and kingly clans” were 
O’Ruairc, O’Reilly, O'Hara, and other chiefs of North 
Connacht. This form of inauguration, which went 
back to pagan times, was observed as late as 1315 
at Felim O’Conor’s election. In a similar manner 
until the end of the sixteenth century was O'Neill 
“‘en-kinged”’ at Tullahoge. This ceremony of close 
aristocratic election affirmed from reign to reign the 
mere life-tenure of the king’s office, and O’Conor or 
O'Neill was set up in the eyes of all the ruling races 
of their province as representing that ancient founder's 
kin from which their own blood had diverged.1 

1 In a grant made by this Cathal Crovderg. Dei gratia Rex Connaciae, 
as he styles himself, of five marks per axnum for ever, to the Church 
of Citeaux in France, among theétestators are: the Archbishop of 
‘Taam and four other bishops, MacDermot “comes de Magluirg.” 

‘Airechtaigh “dux, Cloind_Tomaltaigh,” O Flanagan "dux de 
loind Cathil.” O Floind of Silmaelruain, 
called duke’ of the household of O Conor, 
in Loch Cé 1226}, Torbert " our seneschal, ? Concobhar] 
“our cases, und Donat our cleric” See Irish Cistercian Docs. 
at Dijon, Orpen, Eng. Hist, Review, 1013. p 303. Torbert, the 
seneschal, a man of Norse-Irish (Gall-Gaedheal] race, is also called 

in Loch Cé, i.e., he supervised O Conor's rent-collectors 
or, meaors, and heard laim-cases a8 Oeputy for the King. | A simiar 

ere Sra 

Council of the King of Connacht, “Tho “aivechi" of a Hi King, 
Fesembling the Witan of the Anglo-Saxon Kings of England, is named 

land-grant of about 16x by which Murchertach 
‘King of Erin, frees the Church of Ard-Brecain in Meath from tribute 

Google " 
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But no such general and solemn inauguration was | 
applied to the kings who ruled Ircland. The High | 
King became so by submission, willing or unwilling, of 
the province-kings, by their “‘ resorting to his house,” 
by hostage-taking, homage, and bestowal of stipends in 
return. Of solemn consecration by the Church I find 
no trace. Once in 993, however, according to the Four 
Masters, Muiregan, bishop of Armagh, on his visitation 
of Tir Eoghain, conferred the royal dignity on Aedh, 
son of Domnall, in presence of the Congregation of 
Patrick, but it was only as king of Ailech. 

There was no parallel in Ireland to the English 
sheriff, that local agent of central power, whom the 
Angevin kings utilized with such effect. The High 

King and sub-kings had stewards (mavir) who collected 
their tributes and were under the supervision of a chief 
“‘maor”’ or “‘ rechtaive.” But it was pre-eminently 

the king’s personal duty to travel round and enforce 
his rents, hence the “ hostings”' of which we read so 
much: a king who could not show himself with power 
and dignity to his people was in danger. 

The kingdom of Ireland was for legal purposes 
divided into provinces or céigedha, from céige, a fifth, 
a word recalling the old pentarchial division. Each of 
their dynasts bore the name of Ré Céige or Coigedhach. 

Each Céige was again divided into Mér-tuatha, each 
with its Ré. The size of these areas may be inferred 
from Laoighis (the later Queen’s County) which was one 
Mér-tuath of seven twatha under the royal clan of 
O'Mérdha. The king of a Mér-tuath should have at 
least three éwatha under him, 

The twath (an ancient name for tribe or people), 
which also had its Rf, corresponded to the English 
hundred. Finally the townland or baile represented 

fe ccanrned by the , the bishop om Meath, 
Dermot, King of Neath of Meath Seo Ga 
Charters from the Book. vo “fale Giiberts” National Fe acsimiles of 

Vv 
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the lowest unit of administration and contained some 
three to four thousand acres.! 

While the province-kings were elected, the choice 
falling on the dead chief's eldest son or brother if the 
son were incapable or a child, it would appear that 
the lord of a mér-tuath had power himself to appoint 
the ri tuaithe, who was thus little more than an admi- 
nistrative official like the Anglo-Saxon ealdorman.* 

All through the whole Gaelic system, election from 
a close kindred, supposed to be of the same blood with 
the ruling families of the territory, was the rule. 

The Ard-Ri himself was also king of a Mér-tuath: 
the five cantreds or tuatha of Sil Muiredhaigh (modern 
Roscommon county) were thus O’Conor’s demesne as 
King of Connacht, and two O'Conors were successively 
High Kings. 

‘Kingship, and indeed all chiefly office, was by the 
election of the local great, both lay and spiritual, and 
this aristocracy was a check to all development of 

personal autocracy, for the electors of a king could also 
depose and call him to account. 

The parallel to the hundred and shire courts of the 
Anglo-Saxons does not appear, but there were periodical 
meetings (aivechia) either of provinces or districts for 
settling law cases and promulgating local or general 
ordinances. These were attended in great numbers by 
the free classes, and in Elizabeth's days it was noted 

a gains pernspemiiog: ieaiy would som, ip. so: feck 
was iricha céd ("thi pent i.e., an area containing thirty 
bailes, according to O" yaa ag oy 
equated this with the word 4 ‘ante which ‘they introduced. It 1s 
clear, however, that by 1100 the fricha céd was generally much larger 
than’ the twath, probably it represented the absorption of several 
tuaths in ove larger unit. Giraldus evidently equates iricha céd and 
cantred (in Welsh “‘can-tref"), for he defines the latter as consisting 
of a hundred villages (villae) with thirty families in each (i.c., 3,000 
fanilies in all}, “According to the law-teact, Uraiccecht Becc, the 
fuath had, to Provide, seven, hundred Sighting) men, According to 
Keating, there vee fay wisha ohle in Uinad’ (Keating's Hiaeryt od 
David. Com 113-131). 

“Moquithiy "Formonschs an Ristoctcal ‘track relating to the 
fourteenth century, though of seventeenth century recension (ed. 
Rev. P. Dinncen), ‘shows Maguire, lord of Fermanagh, appointing 
the heads of the twelve ‘uaths which comprised that country (p. 75) 

Google a 
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how attached the Irish were to these “ parles upon 
hills,” and how loyally they observed their own statutes. 

The Brehon class, the jurisprudents in the Irish law 
(Féineachas), who made their awards in the midst of 
the nobles and freemen, and were rewarded with part 
of the fines, were so numerous that every ‘wath must 
have maintained its own. Yet the breithemh (judge) 
was but an arbiter: every king, high or low, presided 
over the trials, could impose criminal penalties and 
enforce them. 

The ancient and customary rights of provinces and 
states in Irish law were so close-woven and stoutly 
maintained as to offer great resistance to a real 
monocracy. 

But Scotland had shown how the problem could be 
met. Malcolm III. (1057-1093) “ made earls of the 
toparchs of the greater clans, who in Irish speech were 
called Mormair ; these toparchs were always of one and 
the same family.” Malcolm's Normanized descendant, 
David (1124-1153), turned the elective Gaelic chiefs 
(Mér-maers) of Morebh, Lemain, Fif. etc., into the 
seven hereditary feudal earls of Moray, Lennox, Fife, 
etc. This was in effect doing what Henry VIII. did 
when he made earls of O'Neill and O’Brien. In Ireland 
the title Ri was at least becoming limited to the 
provincial kings. We have seen in Cathal Crovderg’s 
charter how his sub-kings were content to style 
themselves Dux or Comes. The further step of turning 
province-kings into earls under one supreme king, 
however, was not to be achieved.* 

The king, great or small, received a personal demesne 
to support him in his office, out of the “' royal land,” 
from which his nearer kin had to be provided for; 
along with that he got the tributes and military services 
of his country and the right to quarter mercenaries 
(dmuis) on the whole territory. 

} See O'Conor’s Rer. Hid. SS., vol. ii. sub. 1020, Tigernach. History i did MacKeie, Seach Highiants, p- 380, and 
pose, “For ducts" and * comes" fa Ii chasters tee pi. 2, 2, 
41-42, bere. 
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Though the law pre-supposed that the land of the 
free kin (fine) could not be alienated without consent 

of all, in fact the possession of private land was sanc- 
tioned, and this “dimbadh” land was distinguished 
from “coibne” (kindred land), just as Anglo-Saxon 
“ folkland” was from ‘‘bocland.” The spoils of war, 
whether in acres or in booty, were private property, 
and the more a faith or lord could win land, wealth, 
and vassals, the greater his son would be. “ Hereditary 
to the chiefs are their acquisitions (faghla),” says 
O’Dubhagain’s Topographical poem. In this race for 
seignory, the High Kings and the province-kings would 
naturally possess every advantage. Thus feudalism 
grew, and in time would have produced its own remedy, 
the feudal king. 

‘An eminent authority combats the persistent state- 
that Irish society was based on tribalism.* 

tever the final conclusion on this matter may 
be, it was clearly a society based more on blood ties 
and long ancestry than was Anglo-Norman England. 
The Irish mediaeval king, like the kings of England 
and France, legislated and governed ‘‘ by the advice 
of his barons,” But in England the barons were 
territorial magnates of no antiquity, and often enemies 
to the Anglo-Saxons they governed, and it was possible 
for the Crown which had enfeoffed, to depose them. 
In Ireland the Gaelic king’s ‘‘ barons’’ were heads of 
powerful families allied in blood to the king himself, 
and associated by history and popular choice with the 
country they ruled.,, 

The ruling races were pedigree-proud to a fault, for 
genealogies which proved a man’s noble descent proved 
also his claim to land. That your “ Ri” should be of 
kindred blood to you, near or remotely, was essential, 
and an O’Conor foisted upon Meath ran the risk 

1 Topographical Poems of O'Dubhagain and O'Huidhrin, ed. 
O"Denovan. 

2 Has Maca Cathe 1d A Pasi 9 1h ai, ie 
For Irish land systems, early 
Kolonisotion in Inland. 1 owe a great debt to all hee books. 
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of being murdered by some partisan of the lawful 
O’Melachlin as “a stranger in sovranty.! That the 
primitive blood-tie and patriarchal lordship should 
endure more bindingly in Ireland than in Norman 
England was natural, for almost alone of European 
nations the Irish Gaels had held their ancient seat and 
preserved their social structure for fifteen hundred years, 

The bearers of the eponymous names of O'Neill, 
O'Conor, etc., which arose in or soon after 1000 4.D., 
may certainly be called “ royal clans,” though, indeed, 
so may Plantagenets and Habsburgs, but neither were 
their numbers large, sprung as they were from one man 
of that date, nor was each bearer of it eligible to rule, 
The right of succession to the kingship was in fact 
limited by law to the Rig-domnas (materies regis), i.e., 
the male descendants of the great-grandfather of the 
reigning chief, who were members of the kin-group 
called derb-fine, or “‘ true family."" Many internecine 
wars arose, therefore, for if an O’Conor who was on 
the outside ring of the Rig-domnas could not secure 
the chieftainship by force or favour in his own time, 
his descendants were forever excluded from succession. 
This was the defect of a custom which was designed 
to ensure that the royal stock should never expire, nor 
the country fall by conquest or marriage into the hands 
of strangers? 

If we compare pre-Norman Ireland with that 
Northern Europe which was never Romanized we shall 
find that the Celts, Goths, Norsemen, and Saxons of 
the age before 1100 have more law and custom in 

» Tigernach, 1144 
* This important point is worked out by MacNeill (Phases), who 

notes that there is no evidence of a rig-domna before 867, after which 
the som generally succeeds, sometimes the grandson, i.c., hereditary 
useqeety Seni ao jwently favouring of feu mu 
ad repel “cans "wero. nrvar Sarge, even ufied several castecan 

Eur the cponyaious ancestor, dius in Eksaboth's tiga * Sar Conor 
Maguire could make almoet of his own wamame 120 ore, and Geo 

"(Description of Ireland, 1598, ed. Hogan), ic., the Maguires 
would be ebcat 700 Wen, of whos, however, ont some twenty at 50 
would be rig-domnas. 
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common than they have in difference. We might 
instance on the Irish side the eric and enachlann (honour- 
price), ie., the atonements for offences ; the corp-dire 
or wergild, rising higher in the higher ranks of society ; 
the communal village; and the grading of inferior 
ranks into the saor-ch¢ile and daor-chéile, i.e., free and 
dependent tenants, like the sochman and gebiir of pre 
Norman England. 

We find also the feudal parallel between Ireland 
and her neighbours, as all alike entered into the general 
circle of mediaeval Europe. Thus the saor-chéile re- 
ceiving stock from a flaith or lord by short contract, 
and failing to fulfil his bargain, was reduced to the 
status of daor-chéile, and suffered in legal worth. The 
picture suggests the decline of the free ceorl into feudal 
serfdom, 

Customary tenants, villeins and cottars are repre- 
sented by the Irish bialaigh (food-providers), called 
betaghs by the Normans, bothachs and fuidirs.» At the 
top of the social structure are the “ saor-chlanna," the 
free races, such as the “ Ui Bridin and Sil Muiredaigh, 
free tribes [and kinsmen of the royal stock of Connacht] 
equally noble with the king of Cruachan who do not 
go on war-hostings except for pay, and for whom if 
they are killed the king gives eric to their chief."” 2 

To grant lands and privileges by way of charter 
was among the highest prerogatives of feudal monarchy. 
This feature of sovranty had existed for centuries in 
Ireland. The consent of the lord of a mér-tuath was 
necessary to grants made in the ¢wath; confirmation 
by the province-king was essential within his kingdom ; 
and when the High King confirms a grant made by an 
under-king of another province he does so in virtue of 
his final overlordship. 

A charter of Dermot MacMurchad about 1166 grants 
10'Donovan ia a note to Fow Master, IU. p 27, says the bistach 

held land on condition of supplying food/(biadl) to those billeted oa 
him by his tord. a thirtieth part of a sricha 
Laabhee ne: sGneit, by. 
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to Edan, bishop of Louth, for the use of All Saints, 
Dublin, the townland of Baldoyle (Balidubgaill), with 
its villeins (‘‘ homines"”), free from food-tribute and 
hosting (procuracio atque expedicio), The deed is 
attested by MacGillacolmoc, one ‘ MacGunnar,” and 
Aralt and Ethmarcach MacTorcaill. The first name is 
that of the Irish overlord of that part of the Norse 
territory of Fingal; the second is some Ostman land- 
owner; the two last belong to the family of the 
Ostman Jarls of Dublin which had taken the Norse-Irish 
surname, ‘Mac Thorgils.'’ Thus the MacTorcaills are 
the local lords, MacGillacolmoc the overlord; and the 
King of Leinster, suzerain of them all, is able to will 
away land and royal rights with the consent of the 
underlords concerned.! 

Some time earlier Murchertach MacLochlain, King 
of Ailech and High King from 1161 to 1166, gave a 
most imposing charter to Newry Abbey which begins 
thus: “ Mauritius mag Lochlain Rex totius Hiberniae 
universis magnatis suis, subregulis, principibus, ducibus, 
clericis ct laicis omnibusque ct singulis Hibermicnsibus 
presentibus et futuris.” By unanimous will and consent 
of the kings and magnates of Ulster, Oriel and Iveagh 
Murchertach grants to the abbey the lands of Ui 
Cormaic, etc. Witnesses are the Primate of Armagh 
for Ulster bishops, eleven reges and duces and many 
others, cleric and lay. Here the High King makes a 
grant in the territory of a vassal, the King of Iveagh, 
who gives his assent; the bishops of all Ulster and 
the chiefs of a large part of the province attest. 
Those who belong to Oriel and Ulidia thus admit the 
sovereign right of Tir Eoghain, for Oriel and Ulidia 
were not yet integral parts of the kingdom of Ailech.t 

That other feature of monarchy, legislative power, 
had long been exercised by Irish kings. Cormac mac 
Airt, circa 250 a.p., King of Tara, was the traditional 

1 Reg. All Hallows, ed. Butler, p. 50. 
+ Dugdale’s Monasticon Anglicanum, 1830, vol. vi Part I]. p. 1133. 
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hero-legislator of the Gaels, and some legal decisions of 
his are in the Book of Acaill. Sometimes the monarch 
legislated alone or by advice of his council, sometimes 
he judged and legislated in the midst and with the 
consent of great national assemblies. Thus in 858 
Maelsechlain, High King, and the Bishop of Armagh 
presided over a Rig-ddil maithe Erenn (‘‘ royal gathering 
of the nobles of Erin”) at Rath-Aedha, where “ peace 
was made throughout all Ireland and Cerbhall, king of 
Ossory, submitted to the High King according to the 
decision of the Successor of Patrick.’ ! 

The reforming synods of the twelfth century were 
great national gatherings of kings, lords, and prelates 
presided over by the Ard-Ri. Here was an all-[reland 
authority capable in time of becoming a true lawmaking 
body like the Magnum Concilium of England. 

In such a Rig-Ddil or Mor-Ddil as that of 858 were 
decided the law-cases of the great. The Annals of 
Ulster record under 1157 how a feud between Donnchad 
O’Melachlin, King of Meath, and O’Coindelvan, a vassal 
of his, was composed at an assembly held before the 
High King, Murchertach Mac Lochlain, where O’Coin- 
delvan was put under solemn protection of the laity 
and clergy of Ireland and found sureties in the prelates 
of Armagh, Derry, and Clonmacnois, the High King, 

and other great lords. In spite of this Donnchad 
later slew O’Coindelvan. Thereupon at the Synod of 
Drogheda the assembly, which included the High King 
and the kings of Brefni, Oriel, and Ulidia, excommu- 
nicated Donnchad, who was adjudged to be banished 
and his brother Dermot put in his place. 

Thus though the Irish monarchy was tardy in its 
growth, there was a national will and a central command. 
These national assemblies were often incomplete, for 
Munster resented the supremacy of the North, Still a 
strong king, acting as final arbiter, could in time 

» Fragments of Annas, A better instance of a Mér-ddit and its 
legislative action is the Convention of Drom Ceat, 575, see A. U. 
and Keating, ed. Dinncen, ILI. p. 78. 
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through such assemblies have enforced a real mon- 
archy. 

To conclude this survey of pre-Norman Ireland. 
Several of the requisites of a true civilization were, it 
is often said, lacking. There was no true coinage, save 
among the Norse-Irish, and ring-money or pieces of 
gold and silver measured in ounces served for tribute 
purposes and instead of barter.! As regards shipping, 
the earlier Irish were as much advanced as their 
northern neighbours: their missionaries and traders 
used the foreign ships which traded in Irish ports, or 
native gallies propelled by oar and sail. The Norsemen 
taught Ireland as they taught the Anglo-Saxons how to 
build heavier gallies, and henceforth there is abundant 
evidence of the prevalence of shipping for both trade 
and war. 

Town-life, it is said, was alien to Irish civilisation 
till the Norse came. Certainly the Gaels were mainly 
a rural race, like all the Northern peoples till the 
founding of towns began in the tenth and eleventh 
centuries. Nevertheless, they had towns from the age 
of Patrick onwards, but these were monastic centres : 
such as Cashel, Lismore, Cork, which are styled cities 
(civitates) in the Life of Malachy, and Kildare, Durrow, 
and others, the schools and abbeys of Ireland’s Golden 
Age. That there was a considerable population in 
these cannot be doubted. In Armagh there were seven 
churches, and the city was divided into the Rath, the 
Great Third, the Third of Massan, and the Third of 
the Saxons (Tian Saxen), i.e., the quarter formerly 
frequented by English students. Around these sacred 
places, and protected by their walls, dwelt lay 
traders and hereditary craftsmen practised the gold 

A Lynch, author of Cambrensis Eversus, states that silver coins 
were struck at Clonmacnois, but if this is true, none have survived. 
In St, Patrick's time a cumal of silver was worth three cows (MacNeil 
in Zrish Monthly, August 1910). When lavertach O"Brol 
Shue of Dery. saade the vigetiton Of Conary ta X16 hls dae, wes 
140 oxen, but instead he elected to receive 420 ounces of pure silver, 
ie,, the cow was worth three ounces of silver. 
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and silver work which they carried to so high a 
level. 

From 850 onwards the Norsemen seized the chief 
ports and built walled towns there, centres for piracy 
and trade. Sometimes, as at Cork, they found a 
populous centre, both of piety and civilisation, already 
existing, and utilised it. In any case, the Norse city- 
states, which stretched from Limerick round by the 
south coast to Dublin, had become an integral and 
valuable part of the Irish State. 

Roads connected the main centres of life. The 
most important were called slighe (high way) or bealach, 
the bothar was a local way and the dochay a causeway. 
The five great roads which emanated from Tara, viz., 
Slighe Mér, Slighe Dla, Slighe Asail, Slighe Cualann, 
and Slighe Midluachra, were connected and continued 
by smaller roads. Tradition attributed the five to 
Conn Céd-cathach, King of Ireland about 200 a.p., 
and they were probably modelled on the Roman roads 
of Great Britain* 

The Norman armies, composed of heavy cavalry and 
foot and war train, thanks to these roads, found no 
difficulty in penetrating any part of Ireland. 

4 Sitric MacAeda, who made the box-cover, wrought in silver and 
brass, of the Cathach of the O'Donnells. circa 1100, and who was 
called Cerd (the artificer), belonged to a family of hereditary craftsmen 
in Kells, Meath, where he had a house. See Stokes, Christian 
Inscriptions, Pt. vip. 92. Dermot MacMurchad, King of Leinster, 
had a tig and caisel (house and stone fort) and a villa or town at 
Ferns, there there was apparently a considerable urban population. 

a re Qnomastcon, quoting, from Book of Hallymote, says the 
“three Belacts of Erin” were Belach Conglats, Belach. Laxnnigh, 
and’ Belach Atha-cliath, leading sieclt Me ine Gity of Cork, 
of Limerick, and Dublin: 1 suggest these were trade routes from the 
‘Ostman cities into the interior. "For a case of a Norman army using 
the great roads, see Chapter III. here, p. $9. 



CHAPTER I 

TO THE EXPULSION OF DERMOT, 1166 

Wits the death in 1119 of Murchertach O’Brien, King 
of Ireland, came to an end the Dalcassian supremacy 
founded by Brian the Great. Murchertach and his 
father, Turloch, had been regarded by Pope Gregory VIL, 
by Archbishops of Canterbury, Lanfranc and Anselm, 
by Magnus Barefoot of Norway and other European 
potentates, as kings representative of an Irish nation.t 
Now kings “with opposition (co fresabhra) ” began the 
rivalry that in the end ruined the Gaelic State. 

The Book of Rights, as edited in Brian’s interest, had 
declared, “‘ When the king of Cashel is not king of 
Tara [Ireland] he is king of Leth Mogha.” But the 
Eoghanacht MacCarthys never acquiesced in this claim 
of the usurper Brian's race to rule all the South from 
Cashel, and the contest of the two families over Munster 
fatally weakened the province before the Northern Half. 

From and about the year 1000 a.p. out of the old 
wide royal stocks emerged close dynastic families taking 
name and claim from some one king of the time. 
MacCarthy becomes the hereditary eponym of the 
Eoghanacht kings of Desmond, the Ui Néill of Meath 

took O’Melachlin; MacMurchada arose in Leinster, 
O’Cervall in Oriel, in Brefni O’Ruairc, and in Connacht 
O’Conor. After 1036 MacLochlain becomes the eponym 
of the Northern Ui Néill, but finally the name of O'Neill 
from Niall Glunduy, slain in 917, prevailed. So in Tir 
Conaill—at first O’Maeldory and O'’Cannanain are 

4 See formerly, p. 11. and for other letters to Murchertach, Ussher’s 
Spilage. A daughter of Murchertach married im rot Arnulf, de 
font , Lord of Pembroke, brother of Kobert de Belesme, Earl 

of Shrewsbury; another was betrothed to Sigurd, son of Magnus 
Barfod, King of Norway. 
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kings; then finally the famous names of O’Donnell 
overcame these kindred stocks! In Ulidia the royal 
name became MacDonlevy. 

In state and style the Irish kings were now approxi- 
mating to the kings of Europe. Their charters, as we 
have seen, show a new conception of monarchy, and 
clearly they did not forget Brian with his “ Imperator 
Scotorum.” New ideas of organised conquest are seen 
in their bridges, their fortresses, and their fleets. They 
are seen forsaking the ancient hill-top dsins, such as 
Cruachén and Ailech, and building fortresses in the 
plain, commanding the coast and the great rivers. 
Seeking real capitals worthy of kings, they fixed their 
seats among the now Christian and half-Irishized Ostmen 
of the Norse towns. 

@Thus in 1051 Dermot, King of Leinster, was accepted 
by the Norsemen of Dublin as “ King of the Foreigners 
of Ath-cliath,” and in Dublin entertained during the 
winter of 1051-2 the exiled Harold Godwinson and his 
brothers. His successors were overlords also of Water- 
ford and Wexford. But still they retained their older 
inland capital, Ferns, where later Dermot MacMurchada 
had a caisel (stone-fort), house, and town (villa Ferniae), 
with a population which paid him dues? 

Kincora had been the ancient seat of the Dal-Cais, 
and Brian later wrested Cashel from the Eoghanachts. 
The famous Rock became “O'Brien's chiefest seat, 
court and town,” but in 1101 King Murchertach granted 
Cashel to the archbishop." The O’Briens then moved 
their capital to Limerick, whose Ostmen were their 
vassals, and there built a fortress on the site of St. 
Mary's cathedral. By the time of Strongbow this rich 
city was their undoubted capital. By 1170 Cork was 
similarly MacCarthy’s town. 

1 In correct Irish spelling these are MacCarthaigh, O'Maclsechlainn, 
. O' ih, O'Domhanaill, O'Cerbhaill, and 

MacDonnslebhe. 
* The Annals of Tigernach, 1166, ed. and tr. by Whitley Stokes, 

Revue Celtique, 1897, and see later. 
SAnm. Clonmacnois and F. M., 1100-1101. 
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The gigantic hill-fortress of Ailech in Inishowen had 
long been the seat of the Northern Ui Néill. The ease 
with which an enemy could now take it shows that it 
was being left derelict. In tror Murchertach O’Brien 
marched round Ireland, and on his way demolished 
Ailech, bidding his horsemen carry each a stone away, 
for building the ramparts of his new palace at Limerick. 
There was no fight around it, and evidently the Ui 
Néill had practically abandoned their old seat. Instead 
we find them in 1106 at Tulach Oc in Tir Eoghain, 
where the later O’Neills were inaugurated, and near 
to which they built Dungannon. 

The kings of Connacht had ancestrally been 
inaugurated at Cruachan; in later times they were 
en-kinged at Carn Fraich, near Tulsk, but as a capital 
they forsook “Croghan Maeve,” and the first great 
O’Conor, Turloch, built castles at Dun Leodha, Cil- 
muine, Galway, and Athlone. His true capital, however, 
was Tuam, where he built a cathedral, and where in 
2164 his son, Rury, made a “ wonderful castle" (caislen 
ingantach). 

Thus did the province-kings entrench themselves, 
while the High-Kingship, which was no man’s right in 
particular, had no capital. Hence largely was it that 
the supreme Monarchy fell in 1170, while the petty 
kingdoms maintained a long resistance. 

Out of the old seven kingdoms was now emerging 
a new order and a fresh grouping. 

The Northern Ui Néill, or Cenel Eoghain, under 
MacLochlain, had in the ninth and tenth centuries 
moved from their original seat in Inishowen into Tir 
Eoghain, as they called their new country, They had 
confined the Ulaidh behind the Bann and Loch Neagh, 
wrenched the sacred city, Armagh, from the Oirghialla, 
and driven them from the plains of Tyrone to the 

2 Armagh, formerly in Oriel possession. also became their city. 
In 1064 Ardgal MacLochiain, Lord of Ailech, died at Tulach Oc and 
was buried at Armagh in mausoleo regum. 

* Tigernach. 
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present counties of Armagh and Monaghan. Even 
there they forced Oriel and Ulidia to render homage. 
West of the Cenel Eoghain were the Cenel Conaill, lords 
of Tir Conaill, who were sprung from Conall, a younger 
son of Niall Nine Hostages. The Cenel Eoghain, as 
sprung from Niall’s elder son, claimed the homage of 
Tir Conaill, and thus directly or indirectly lorded it 
over the whole of modern Ulster. 

The royal race of Connacht was now represented by 
O’Conor.t Muredach, king about 700, had left to his 
descendants the demesne lands covering the modern 
county Roscommon, and the kin-name of Sil Muredaigh. 
Related and junior to the O'Conors were O’Flanagan, 
MacDermot, and others. But going further back, the 
O’Conors represented Brion, a younger brother of Niall 
Nine Hostages, through whom they were kindred to 
the O’Ruaircs and other chief races of Brefni.  Ailill 

Molt, who died in 483, King both of Tara and of 
Connacht, was their proudest ancestor, and was not too 
far away for such a traditionalist race. In the twelfth 
century the O’Conors revived the claim of the fifth, 
and Turloch, King of Connacht and Ireland, repeated 
the triumph of Ailill. 

Munster was now made secondary among the 
provinces by the cleavage of Thomond and Desmond. 

For the Desmond race were sprung from Eoghan, 
the elder son of the great ancestor, Ailill Olum (circa 
200 .D.), while the Dal Cais, whom Brian represented, 
were from a younger son, Cormac Cas, and the Mac- 
Carthys could not forget Brian’s usurpation of Cashel. 

The shades of these great ancestors hung heavy 
over Ireland. The Leinster king, Cathair Mér, in the 
second century had been High King. From his 
descendant, Enna Cennselach, in the fifth century, were 
derived the royal demesne-lands of Leinster, namely, 
Ui Cennseligh (Hy Kinsella) in Wexford and Carlow. 

Sil Muiredaigh, “ the Sced of Muiredach,”* is generally found as 
" Shilmorthy” in medieval Anglo-Irish records, a fair rendering of 
the pronunciation of the time. 
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The Maelmora, King of Leinster, who fell at Clontarf 
left no royal line. He was of North Leinster, and the 
dynasty which succeeded his, though of the royal stock, 
was of Hy Kinsella. This later line was founded by 
Diarmaid = Mac-mael-na-mBé, who, after a most 
triumphant career, died in 1072, ‘‘ King of Leinster and 
Dublin,” and if we may believe it, ‘‘ of Mogh’s Half.” 
From his grandson, Murchad, came the MacMurchada 
name. The ambitious Dermot therefore, who brought 
the Normans in, had always in mind first the triumphs 
of that Diarmaid who was so near to him and next the 
glory of that Cathair Mér who was so far away. 

It was a distinct weakness to Leinster that this 
recent South-Leinster dynasty was opposed by a North- 

Leinster interest which regretted the extinction of 
Maelmora’s line. A Prince Murchad of 700 had left 
three sons, Dunnchad, Faelan, and Muredach; from 
these came Ui Dunnchada, Ui Faelain, and Ui Muredaigh, 
the ruling races in the Vale of Dublin. Such then were 
the great province-kingdoms, with Meath, under the 
O’Melachlins or Southern Ui Néill, wedged in between 
them, the most fertile land of them all; weak, and 
therefore the prey of every ambitious neighbour. 

Next came the secondary states. Ulidia and Oriel, 
though true and ancient kingdoms of the Heptarchy, 
could not aspire to Tara either in law or by force. 
Ossory, which covered from Sliav Bloom to the southern 
sea, was, according to the Book of Rights, a vassal of 
Munster, but without tribute—a sort of palatine county. 
Of similar status with Ossory was Brefni, for both were 
sub-kingdoms and not of the Seven, 

Brefni had arisen late, and through the war-aims 
of Ailech, which compelled Connacht to shield herself 
on the north-east. Hence Brefni is called by Tigernach 
“ferann an imchosnamha’’—the land of defence. A 
true border-state, Brefni owed allegiance to Connacht, 
which it defended. But the Ui Briuin who ruled it, 
for such was the O’Ruairc eponym, were proud men 
in their own eyes. Sprung from Brion, they were 
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kindred to the royal stock of Connacht, and certainly 
the most formidable of its vassals. Indeed, Tigernan, 
the last true king of Brefni, was grandson of another 
Tigernan O’Ruairc who for a time was king of Connacht. 
Already Brefni covered Leitrim and-Cavan ; the second 
Tigernan, aiming to make it equal to Oriel or Ulidia, 
extended it far into Meath. 

Each province-king had as the first line of his great 
vassals, the free and non-tributary states and as the 
second line, tributary states. The free, owing only 
voluntary hosting, were free as being of near kin or by 
treaty. A strong king could leave his sons stronger by 
reducing the free to the second rank. Before Brian 
there were eight free states in Munster, and twelve 
tributary; the eight were reduced by him to four 
Even in the royal lands, large as they were, there were 
duaths and cantreds, and thus MacMurchada’s own 
demesne of Hy Kinsella contained ten cantreds or twatha, 

For the Irish king, primus inter pares, presided over 
a society where law, custom, and local tradition 
guaranteed their rights to numerous local entities. 
Society had never been violently shattered in Ireland 
as in feudalised Europe; popular right and primitive 
communism still endured, and even the poorest bothachs 
and fuidirs naturally formed themselves into self-ordered 
and law-protected groups. 

The career of Turloch O’Conor shows what a man 
of energy and ambition could do to make the Supreme 
Monarchy real, Turloch’s purpose was as definite as 
that of the line of Alfred had when they strove to weld 
Angles and Saxons into one nation. He was not yet 
twenty when he became King of Connacht in 1106, and 
it was not till Murchertach O’Brien’s death that Turloch 
could give full play to his designs of subjecting Leinster, 
dividing Munster, and partitioning Meath. 

Turloch’s armies took the field year after year; his 
> See Chapter on Book of Rights in MacNeill’s Celtic Ireland. In 

Meath only Tara was ice, but cleven siates took gifts from the king. 
In Leinster there were nine free, all descended Cathar Mér; 
seven were tributary. 
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fleet, commanding the Shannon, could penetrate North 

Munster ; his castles at Dun-leogha, near Ballinasloe, 
at Galway, and Cil-muine (Collooney), dominated 
Connacht in centre, west, and north, and his fort and 
wicked bridge at Athlone and other bridge-heads at 
Ath-liag and Ath-croich held the Shannon and opened 
the way into central Ireland. 

In 1120 Turloch expelled Murchad O’Melachlin from 
Meath. This Murchad, the unfortunate of these wars, 
was the father of Dervorgilla, and the last king of 
undivided Meath, hence when Henry II. gave the 
earldom to Hugh de Lacy he granted it “ in as complete 

a manner as Murchard Hua Melaghlin held it,” viz, 
from Shannon to sea. 

In 1122 Turloch divided Munster between O’Brien 
and MacCarthy. In 1126 he imposed his son, Conor, 
as king over the Ostmen of Dublin, and as Enna, King 
of Leinster, had just died, he gave this province also 
to Conor. Next year (1127) Dublin and Leinster united 
to expel Conor, whereupon Turloch placed over them 
Donal, chief of Ui Faelain, who was king there till 
1134. Later he set his son Conor over all Meath, but 
after a year O’Dubhlaich, lord of Fir Tulach, a 
vassal of O'Melachlin, slew Conor “as a stranger in 
sovereignty.” * 

His last great victory in the field was at Méin Mhér 
near Cork, where, backed by Leinster, Brefni, and 
Meath, he so shattered the array of Turloch O’Brien 
that of three battalions only one escaped, and O’Conor 
marching into Limerick, carried away the hostages of 
Leth Mogha (1151). The Synod of Kells, in 1152, over 
which Turloch presided as High King, was itself a 
diplomatic triumph for him, for while this great 
assembly of bishops and kings made each of the other 
four provinces an archdiocese, Meath was left with its 
six pre-existing petty Celtic sees. To complete its ruin, 
in this very year Turloch, acting along with Murchertach 
MacLochlain, divided Meath between Murchad O Mela- 

» Tigernach, 1144. 
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chlin and his son Melachlin, the line of division being 
Clonard. 

Turloch died in 1156, in his sixty-eighth year, 
“* King of all Ireland,’* and was buried at Clonmacnois, 
leaving by his will one hundred and sixty ounces of 
gold and sixty marks of refined silver and all his 
treasures to be divided among the churches of all 
Ireland. 

He had shown how a strong man could win to the 
sovereignty of Ircland; and also that any line could 
aspire to it. For he had revived a claim six hundred 
years old, and that in defiance of the Book of Rights. 

Already before Turloch’s death had appeared the 
chief actors on the Irish side in the drama of the 
Norman Invasion. 

Turloch’s son, Rury, succeeded to Connacht, Dermot 
O’Melachlin inherited what was left of Meath, for 
Murchad had died in 1153, and Turloch O”Brien was 
lord of Thomond till 1x65. 

Murchertach, son of Niall MacLochlain, had been 
king of Cenel Eoghain since 1136, and his was the star 
which waxed as that of O’Conor waned. But two 
lesser states also rose to imposing, if temporary, great- 
ness in the North. Tigernan O’Ruairc, of whom we 
hear first in 1125, began a career disastrous to Ireland 
by a deed of special ill-omen. In 1128 he attacked 
the retinue of the archbishop of Armagh, and killed 
some of them, including a student who bore the sacred 
requisites—" a deed foul, unprecedented, and productive 
of ill, deserving the curse of the men of Erin, both ~~ 

cleric and lay, whereof the like was not done in Erin 
before.” + 

But politically, if mot morally, Tigernan’s career 
was a brilliant success. Shielded and favoured by 
O’Conor, and from his seat at Dromahair he extended 

1 Ann. Uit, The Archbishop himself was present. Turloch then 
made a great foray in Leinster to Wexford, back to Dublin, and home y, “put the ill-fame of that hosting is on Tigernan © Ruaire.”” 
He was to be the evil genius of the ‘Otonon. 
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the borders of Brefni south over Conmaicni (Longford) 
and far into Meath. 

Oriel also found a great prince in Donnchad, son 
of Cervall (Cerbhall), a prince of Femmagh, in south 
Monaghan. Beginning in 1125, Donnchad before his 
death in 1168 extended his kingdom of Oriel from the 

mouth of the Erne to the mouth of the Boyne! But 
his was a nobler fame than Tigernan’s, that of a 
builder of churches and a friend of the Reform move- 
ment in the North. 

In Leinster Dermot MacMurchada, son of Donnchada 
was now king. If Meath is the victim in the tragedy, 
Tigernach and Dermot may divide the honours as the 
villain. 

Dermot was born in 1110 or 111%. His father, 
Donnchad, died in rr15, and Enna MacMurchada then 
tuled till '1r26. | Turloch O'Conor then seized the 
opportunity of Enna’s death, and put first his son, 
Conor, and then Donal O’Faelain, over Leinster. 

Hence Dermot's early career is one of obscurity, 
and it was not till 1134 that his people called him from 
being Lord of Hy Kinsella to be King of Leinster. 
The young prince thus early had reason for that hatred 
of the O’Conors and of the north Leinster race which 
animated him through life. 

Dermot was educated at Tir-da-glas in Ormond by 
Aedh mac Criffan the abbot, a lover of the great pagan 
epics. The instruction of Irish princes, based as it 
was on the great national sagas and on the national 
records, was well-fitted to stimulate both national pride 
and provincial patriotism. While he delighted in that 
literature which was the common heritage of the race, 
he was moulded in an intense provincial patriotism, as 
his words and deeds, recorded by Giraldus and Regan, 
testify. Steeped in Leinster history, he undertook to 
restore her greatness, to win back from Meath the Plain 
of Tara lost in the sixth century, and finally, when his 

1 O’Cerbhall should be pronounced O'Cervall. Another modern 
form is O'Carrol. 

c Google " 



34 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

Norman allies gave him the victory over every foe, he 
claimed no less than the High Kingship which his 
ancestor, Cathair Mor, had enjoyed. 

The education imparted by the filidh fed the imagi- 
nation rather than the mind, and made warriors rather 

than statesmen. 
The race-pride and over-fed memories of the Irish 

kings were in the end to be their doom. Had Fate 
passed some great Act of Oblivion, had some calamity 
extinguished all the memories of Ireland and all her 
dynasties but one, as the Danish invasions did to 
England, leaving that remaining one to turn the tide 
and unite Ireland under one single sway, the loss of 
our ancient records would have been irreparable, but 
the political gain would have been immense. 

But this is a modern reflection. For the young 
Dermot, it was essential, if he were to be a king, to 
wage the interests of Leinster vigorously in the 
province-wars of his time. 

Internally Leinster had its own weaknesses. There 
was a division between the north and the south of the 
province which an enemy might exploit. Ossory, lying 
between Munster and Leinster, was for each of them a 
gateway into the other’s land, and while the Book of 
Rights declared it a vassal of Cashel, the Gillapatraic 
who founded its dynasty circa 1050 had sworn homage 
to Dermot’s ancestor, the King of Leinster. The 
homage of Dublin especially must not be lost, for these 
Ostmen could put into the field formidable mailed 
infantry and launch great fleets. Small as the kingdom 
of Dublin was, its wealth was far beyond that of many 
great states inland, so that in 1166 the High King, 
Rury, had to purchase the homage of its people with 
a stipend of four thousand cows, while only two hundred 
and forty were given to the whole kingdom of Oriel. 

The territory of Dublin (Dyfflinarskiri) stretched 
from Skerries in the north to Leixlip (lax-Maup, the 
Norse for “ salmon leap’), and south to Arklow. Its 
Tuling earls, whom the Irish called Mé?-maer, or “ great 
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steward,” now bore the Gaelic patronymic of Mac- 
Torcaill, derived from a Torcall or Thorgils, king of 
Dublin about r100. Ragnall, a son of this Torcall, 
died in 1146 ; his son, Asgall, was to be the last of his 
dynasty. 

Dermot’s character was a mixture of capricious 
cruelty and ill-ordered energy. His private crimes, it 
seems, were as great as his political ones. When he 
was but twenty-two, he sacked Kildare and violated, 
or at least shamefully treated, the abbess, and all 
through his life, lust, passion, and anger were strongly 
marked in him.! 

For his political energies, there is more excuse. 
Leinster had declined in power before his accession, 
and might well fear the fate of dismembered Meath. 
His invasion of Ossory in 1134 was a natural expansion- 

move against Munster—an attempt to recover the 
former homage of its kings to Leinster: The Ostman 
towns had long been vassals of Leinster. He had to 
resist the meddling of the High Kings and of O’Ruairc 
in north Leinster, and his violence to his vassals there 
was not unmerited. According to Giraldus, Dermot 

as “the oppressor of the nobility,” but so was every 
mediaeval king who meant to be master in his own 
borders. 

His aggression upon Meath certainly are less justi- 
fiable, but all the kings aimed at a share of this rich 
province, and Dermot in particular had claims on the 
Plain of Tara, claims ancient indeed, but lawful in his 
eyes. Dermot was to be the reproach of his race for ages, 

4 Loch Gé under 1132 gives a horrible picture of this inexplicable 
crime, resembling the crime that lost , eldest son of Earl 
Geawin, repute and lordship. "The indignation of the Church at such 
det te rhest princes had much to do with the surrender of 

entry HH. _rinus tho Awnals of Ulster under 1117, 
relocting the monaséc mind" Maelbeigue, aconaim, ‘Superior 
Telly ant the ccngogation Of toe sesae wore iiled bp Aceh Macy 
Ruaire and the Ui Briuin, May the Face of the Lord be on such 
a5 do these crimes so that their memory may perish from the earth.” 
<sacies Domini super facientes hace sc Perdas de terra memoria 
jeter “Wek maadicval history be fall of each capricious Violence sod 
Henry 11. and his sons had little right to reproach Dermot. 
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as the man who brought in the Norman condottieri, 
though neither he nor any of his co-evals could have 
foreseen the lasting results, Yet he did great services 
to the civilisation of his age and country, for he was 
the founder of All Saints in Dublin, of the abbeys of 
Ferns and Baltinglas, and of several other smaller 
centres of learning and culture. 

We must think, too, of this prince, whom it is easy 
to dismiss as a barbarian, dwelling with some state at 
Ferns in a stone castle amid an urban population and 
with a great abbey at hand whose library contained 
one of the glories of Irish literature, the Book of Leinsier. 
This massive volume contains among other treasures a 
version of the Tain B6 Cualgne, written about 1150 for 

Dermot’s tutor, Acdh, by Finn, bishop of Kildare, 
whose intention, expressed by himself at the close of 
his task, was to give the great pagan epic taste, order, 
and humanity. 

This and the other masterpieces of the abundant 
epic of Ireland were to the Gaelic aristocracy now and 
for centuries more what the Tales of Arthur, Charle- 
magne, and Godfrey were to the Norman-French. 
These splendid battle-tales have much of the crude 
and verbose which modem taste rejects, but much also 
that is poignant, artistic, and subtle. They exhibit 
that national delight for vehement colour in words 
which is expressed pictorially in the Book of Kells, 
What vigour there is in such a phrase as this: “ the 
wail of the storm-play im the rafters of the firmament,” 
and what tender wording in this picture of a beautiful 
woman: “dark and dusky were her eye-lashes; the 
soft black lashes threw a shadow to the middle of her 
cheek, Sweet as the strings of Iutes when long sus- 
tained they are touched by the hands of masters was 
the melody of her voice and her speech.” 

2 Tigernach, 1106, speaks of Dermot's caiseoit (stone-fortress) and 
tig (hall) at Ferns, "A charter quoted later bere (p. 42) shows Ferns 
as a villa. For the Tdin Bé see O Curry's MS. Materials and Joseph 
Dunn’s translation 

Google 



TO THE EXPULSION OF DERMOT 37 

It is an elemental literature, rich in fancy and 
embroidered beauty, but weak in ordered thought, the 

literature of a race essentially poetic, and goes far to 
explain that strange mixture in the mediaeval Irishman 
of the romantic barbarian and the sensitive modern 
man. 

Dermot's royal career began in 1134, when the 
Leinstermen, rejecting O’Conor’s nominee, Donal Mac- 
Faelain, took the young MacMurchada to king. His 
first exploit in arms was to march against Ossory, and 
enforce homage from MacGillapatraic. In 1137, he 
besieged Waterford, the ally of MacGillapatraic, and 
was supported from sea by a fleet of two hundred ships 
from Dublin and Wexford. 

Waterford also had jarls or mér-maers of its own, 
descended from the progenitor of all the Ostman 
dynasties, Ivar Beinlaus. They were now Christian, 

and had adopted the Gaelic patronymic MacGillamaire, 
from an ancestor, Gillamaire (‘devotee of Mary”) 
of about Ir00. 

As a sea-republic, Waterford was little inferior to 
Dublin, for it commanded the whole confluence of 
those noble rivers, Nore and Suir, and outside the city 
was a wide contado called by the Irish Gall-tir, “ the 
land of the Norsemen,” the present barony of Gualtier. 

Great as were its resources, however, Waterford 
had to submit to Dermot. As overlord of the Ostmen 
Dermot would now have the right, after giving the 
customary stipend, to enter Waterford at pleasure and 
to dwell there, to make and confirm land-grants in the 
city and its cantred, and to receive some such rent as 
the Norsemen of Dublin undertook to pay to the High 
King, Maelsechlain, in 988, after he had besieged them 
for forty days: “They gave him,” says Tigernach, 
“his own award as long as he should be king and an 
ounce of gold from every homestead (gdrda) to be paid 
on every Christmas for ever.” 

A revolt of Dermot’s vassals in North Leinster was 
quelled with a ferocity unusual even for that age, and 
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MacMurchada had Donal, lord of Ui Faelain, and 
Murchad, lord of Ui Muiredaigh, put to death, and 
Murchertach MacGillacolmoc, chief of Ui Dunchada, 
blinded (rz4z). In all, seventeen of the nobles of 
Leinster were blinded or slain. 

As O Conor waned and MacLochlain waxed, Dermot 
had to choose between the setting and the rising star. 
He decided for Murchertach MacLochlain, did him 
homage at Dublin in 1145, and in the main kept faith. 
It was in 1152 that Dermot carried off O’Ruairc’s 
beautiful wife, Dervorgilla, from his house at Dromahair. 
Whether the passion on Dermot’s part was a true one 
we cannot know; certainly it was not a lasting one 
on Dervorgilla’s, for she soon fied back to her hus- 
band, who twelve years later took a revenge which 
ruined, not only Dermot and himself, but Ireland with 
them.! 

The Reform movement had now reached its zenith. 
Malachy (Maelmaedoc) brought in Cistercians from 
Clairvaux in 1142, and Donnchad, king of Oriel, gave 
them a site at Mellifont on the Boyne.* Thence, before 
1150, were founded five daughter houses. Malachy 
died in 1148, but his life-work was crowned at the 
Synod of Kells in 1152. There were present at this 
great national assembly Turloch, the High King, 
Murchertach MacLochlain, and other kings, and Cardinal 
Paparon, legate a latere, and Christian bishop of Lismore, 
legatus natus, presided over bishops and abbots. 

Gelasius, who succeeded to Armagh after Malachy in 
1137, was to survive the Norman invasion till 1174. 
Christian O’Conairce, bishop of Lismore, was to con- 

4 Dermot it would soe = unt by Dee rea tien 8 

rye. 
Smteupecaay obituary notice in the Antiphonary of Bangor, which 
attributes to him the founding of many churches, especially the 
‘Abbey of Mellifont with its hundred monks, the organising of the 
bishopric of Clogher on true diocesan lines. See Lawlor, Life of 
Malachy, Appendix, p. 170. 
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summate the work of native Reform with the surrender 
of native independence at Cashel. 

There were now two currents running strong under 
the surface of things in Ireland. The more native- 
minded Churchmen, such as Laurence O’Tuathail, and 
even the High Kings in their rough way, were bringing 
about a unity of the Irish Church and the Irish State. 
But many of the most earnest and subtlest minds 
looked towards Roman conformity for a solution of 
Trish ills, regarded Irish politics with indifference, and 
at last consented to an ecclesiastical reformation and a 
political sovereign from England. 

Turloch O’Conor’s death in 1156 cleared the way 
of Murchertach MacLochlain to the High Kingship. 

Murchertach MacLochlain’s policy was that of 
Turloch before him, viz., to appoint the kings of the 
weaker provinces, and by partitioning or annexing part 
of them to enhance the power of his own undivided 
State. It was a policy pursued with much skill and 
success in mediaeval Germany, but it needed a line of 
able kings in one continuous dynasty before a true 
Monarchy of Ireland could be achieved. 

In the dynastic wars Murchertach was allied with 
MacMurchada, and unlike his predecessor, Turloch, looked. 
kindly upon Meath, On the other side Rury O’Conor 
was backed by Tigernan of Brefni. 

‘That Murchertach was now the greatest of the Irish 
kings, if not actually High King, was shown by his 
presiding over the Synod of Mellifont in 1157, where 
Christian of Lismore was present as legate with Gelasius 
of Armagh and seventeen bishops, and the abbey-church 
of Mellifont was consecrated. Murchertach bestowed 

oat of Limerick’s words in his iy usw ecclesiastico, circa 

rarious 
deluded, may give place to one Catholic and Roman offce.”—Usaher's 

‘Malachy was so indifferent or contemptuous of hy 
Sent be tant ee Bernard that there were many kings in 

Ireland, without hinting at, still loss exalting the fact of a supreme 
‘ing. 
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upon it a townland near Drogheda (finnabhair na 
meingean).» 

Two years later, Murchertach gave the army of 
Connacht an overthrow at Ardee which effectually 
ended the contest with Rury. Tigernan had to make 
submission and surrender Conmaicni, his share of the 
spoils of Meath (1159). 

MacLochlain’s great year was 1161. At Lece 
Bladhma in Westmeath “‘ Diarmaid MacMurchadha and 
Ruaidhri O’Conchabhair came to him. He gave all 
Connacht to Ruaidhri and Leinster to Diarmaid and so 
was King of all Erin without opposition. The half of 
Meath which was his he bestowed on Diarmaid O’Mael- 
sechlainn and the other half (the western half) he 
bestowed on Ruaidhri””® So the Four Masters. 

Next year, Murchertach completed his triumph by 
marching to Dublin, where he was acknowledged as 
king by the Dublin Ostmen. There Dermot, who 
shared his triumph, met him, and with Gelasius of 
Armagh procured the election of Lorcan (Laurence) 
O'Tuathail, Dermot’s brother-in-law, abbot of Glenda- 
loch, to the see of Dublin, then vacant (1162). 

Here we see the convenient complexities of the 
Trish monarchic system. Murchertach as Ard-Ri was 
suzerain both of Dermot and the Foreigners of Dublin ; 
Dermot was king of the Foreigners as well as of 
Leinster ; but Dublin kept also its own jarl, Ragnall 
MacTorcaill. 

+ Evidently private demesne of Murchertach's. In 1159 (FM. 
to the Men of Meath six townlands in the neighbour 

of Slane and Ratoath which were his own lands. ‘Thus could a successful 

conquered or acquired, keeping some border estates, however, as at Fiwnathair. ‘The whole pictare fe that of the dismemberment of 
Meath among its neighbours. 

* Tigernach adds that Dermot O'Melachlin, being deposed by the 
Men of Meath, gave Murchertach one hundred ounces of gold for the 
kingship of Westmeath, 
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It was probably about this time that Murchertach 
issued that imposing charter to Newry Abbey, in which 
he styles himself Rex totius Hiberniae+ His monarchy 
was at its height, and he had secured the homages of 
all Ireland save Munster. The last strong man to hold 
the supreme kingship, he stood on a high but a slippery 
pinnacle of greatness. 

These, too, were MacMurchada’s great years. Dublin 
was his, and its bishop his kinsman and friend. He 
had no rivals of his blood—his brother Murchad was 
true to him, and so were his sons, Donal Kavanagh, 
Enna, and Conor. His father-in-law, Murchertach, 
chief of the Ui Muredaigh, and his son-in-law, Donal, 
chief of the Ui Dunchada, who had married Dermot’s 
daughter, Dervorgilla, kept North Leinster loyal for the 
time, 

Dermot’s extant land-grants show that his sove- 
reignty extended from Fine Gall, the land of the Dublin 
Ostmen north of the city, to the Nore. In Fingall he 
made the grant to the use of All Saints of the townland 
of Baldoyle which we have noted.? 

In the South-west, he confirms the grants made by 
his vassal, O’Riain, lord of Idrone, to the Cistercian 
house of Jerpoint. In this deed of confirmation, 
Dermitius nutu Dei Rex Laginensium greets all kings, 
dukes, and earls (veges, duces, comites), and confirms by 
his seal the grant of fourteen townlands which O’Riain 
“by our leave” has made® 

* See previously, pp. 21, 22, and later pp. 94,95, for the power 
of grant as exercised by Irish ‘kkings. 

* This was after 1162, as Laurence, archbishop, attests. The other 
witnesses are Enna, son of Dermot, Faclan MacFaclan, Domnall 
‘Macgillacolmac, G. "MacGunnar, and Ethmarcach and Arailt Alii 
“ Corrail."” The three latter were Ostmen and two of them Mac- 
‘Torquils, for I do not doubt that “" Corrail ” should be Torcaill. 
Reg. All Hallows, p. $0, Ragnall was apparently earl of Dublin then, 
and was at Athboy in 1167, but died before the Norman invasion, 
when his brother, Asgall, ruled. It is just possible that the flit 
Corrail, however, were sons of Donnchad © Cervall, as the grant ‘was 
in favour of the Oriel bishop Edan, but both names were common 
among the rulers of Dublin. 

"Charters of Duiske, Bernard and Lady Constance Butler, 
PORT. Ay PS 
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When Strongbow and his Normans arrived they had 
no doubt that Dermot was a true king. 

Further to illustrate an Irish king’s prerogatives, we 
have Dermot’s charter to his abbey of Ferns. He 
confets on the canons of the Blessed Trinity there, 
certain townlands, fisheries, advowsons, and first-fruits 
from all his demesne lands throughout Hy Kinsella, 
with a certain tribute of drink called scaith, viz., from 
each brewing of mead or ale brewed in the town of 
Ferns, a certain measure called /agena or gallon from 
him and his heirs for ever in free alms. All these shall 
be free and discharged of secular rent, service or tribute 
to bishop, king, earl (comes), or any other. The election 
of the abbot shall be freely made by the monks, but 
after election and before he be created abbot by the 
archbishop or bishop, “‘he shall be presented to me 
or my heirs or their seneschals in recognition of our 
lordship (causa dominii) so that with our permission 
the bishop may ordain him.” The grant is made “ by 
counsel and assent of my princes and nobles’ at Ferns. 
The testators are Christian, bishop of Lismore, legate, 
five bishops of Leinster, Laurence, abbot of Glendaloch, 
two lay chiefs, Florence, “‘ regis cancellarius,” Marcus 
the chaplain, and others! 

But the sudden and dramatic fall of the High King 
brought Dermot down with him. 

In 1165 Murchertach led an army against his 
Tebellious vassal, Eochy, son of Donnslebhe, king of 
Ulidia, whom he citi ets Donnchad of Oriel 

| Dugtale. vol. vi Pt. II. p. ing7. The date must, be before 
1162, while Laurence was abbot of Clendaloch. The deed is a pure 

1 Anglo-Norman charter document, showing the influence 
the ‘eudat state ‘on Ireland. Who were the sen 2 Probably 

chief stewards, mérmaers. And the duces and comes of O Risin's 

‘among the Irish ‘princes of his time, 
* Tigernach says Mure ‘had given the ip of Ulidia to 

Kochy “for gold and. hostages—possibly Eochy did het. fulfil the 
quatrict. Anyway, Ulidia was always restive under the Cenel 
Eoghain supremacy, for it remembered when Ulidia from Emain 
ruled most of modem Ulster, 
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brought Eochy with him to Armagh and induced 
Murchertach to restore him, om condition of his giving 
hostages and surrendering the territory of Bairche 
(Mourne), which the High King at once bestowed on 
Donnchad of Oriel. 

But next year (r166) the High King had the unfor- 
tunate Eochy blinded while he was under the solemn 
guarantees of the king of Oriel and the archbishop of 
Armagh. This deed of sacrilege and murder made even 
the Cenel Eoghain abandon their king. Donnchad of 
Oriel foreswore allegiance, and Rury O’Conor seized 
the moment to win the throne of Ireland. Allied with 
Tigernan O’Ruairc, he entered Meath, where Dermot 
O Melachlin did homage, and marched to Dublin, where 
the Ostmen forsook their lord, Dermot, and gave Rury 
the kingship. He rewarded their submission with the 
huge stipend of 4,000 kine; then tumed north and 
received at Mellifont the homage of Donnchad O’Cervall. 
Then he turned south again into Leinster, where 
Dermot's vassals, MacFaelain, O’Conor Failghe, and 
others, forsook a king “ who loved rather to be hated 
than loved.” The faithful Hy Kinsella were routed 
at Fid Dorcha, and Dermot, after burning his cashel 
and house at Ferns before the enemy, submitted. For 
the nonce he was left in possession of his throne, while 
Rury, making the “circuit of the Ard-Ri,” marched 
through Ossory into Munster, where Murchertach 
O’Brien and Dermot MacCarthy came into his house 
and made him High King. 

Meanwhile Donnchad of Oricl made himself the 
avenger of Eochy. Gathering the forces of Oriel and 
of Brefni, lent him by Tigernan, he came on the High 
King at Leitir Luin, in the Fews of Armagh, and there 
in a petty skirmish in which only thirteen of his faithful 
few perished with him, Murchertach MacLochlain fell. He 
was entombed at Armagh, the last High King of his line.' 

» Tigernach says that O Ruairc was with Donnchad of Oriel, and 
clearly the battle of Leitir Luin “ in the woods of Ui Echach ” took 
place while Rury was in Tir Conaill. 
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To complete his hosting, Rury marched north again 
into Tir Conaill, and thence to Armagh, where he 
received kindly young Niall, son of the dead Ard-Ri. 

Thus began the reign of Rury O’Conor. Content 
with an imposing show of homage and hostages, he 
showed no desire to ruin those whom so sudden a 
revolution had overthrown. But his grim lieutenant, 
Tigernan, could not forgive his private wrong, and 
Dermot gave him his excuse by having Donal Macgilla- 
colmoc put to death for deserting him earlier in the 
year. Enlisting Dermot of Meath and a force of 
Dublin Ostmen, Tigernan marched into Leinster, incited 
a general revolt, and destroyed what Dermot had left 
of Ferns.! 

MacMurchada was now without friends save for the 
Hy Kinsella. But the ports were open, and embarking 
in some Danish ship at Wexford, he sailed for Bristol, 
taking with him his daughter Eva (Aoife), whom 
Giraldus calls “most beautiful’ (quam pulcherrima), 
and leaving his eldest son, Donal Kavanagh, to guard 
his father’s interests as he might. The date was 
August I, 1166, so an entry in the Book of Leinster tells 
us, adding that “he was banished by the Men of Ireland 

over the sea.”” But we do not read of any formal act 
of banishment by any national assembly under the 
Ard-Ri; if such there was, it was the work of Tigernan 
and his associates. 

O’Ruairc and O’Melachlin then divided Hy Kinsella 
between Donnchad MacGillapatraic of Ossory and 
Dermot’s brother, Murchad “na nGaedhel” (of the 
Trish). O’Ruairc himself received for reward from 
Rury and O’Melachlin, the western half of Meath, so 

that his lordship now ran from Drumcliff in Sligo to 
Kells. Thus was Leinster reduced and divided. 

Rury’s glory continued for three short years. At 

1 Tigernach states that the object of Tigernan was “to have 
vengeance upon him (Dermot) for © Ruairc’s wife,” and goes on: 
“They demolished the stone house which MacMurchada had at Ferns 
and banished him over sea and divided Hy Kinsella.” 
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Athlone in 1167 he summoned a Rig-ddil, attended by 
O’Ruairc, O’Melachlin, and Asgall of Dublin, where 
the stipends, awarded at his accession the year before, 
to the rulers of Munster, Oriel, and the rest, were 
levied on various localities, and the four thousand kine 
adjudged to Dublin were made a charge “on the men 
of all Erin.” 

Later in the same year Rury presided over the last 
of the great Reform Synods, at Athboy in Westmeath. 
Gelasius of Armagh, Laurence of Dublin, and Cadhla of 

Tuam were present, and these kings or princes : Dermot 
of Meath, Eochy of Ulidia, Donnchad of Oriel, O’Ruairc, 
prince of Brefni, and Ragnall, king of Dublin. Tir 
Eoghain and Tir Conaill stood aloof, and the absence 
of Cashel and of the Munster kings showed the resent- 
ment of Leth Mogha. Yet thirteen thousand horsemen 

thronged the town and the Hill of Tlachtga, and “ good 
decrees were enacted regarding veneration for churches 
and clerics and for the governance of kindreds and 
countries (treabh agus tuath).” 

Tir Eoghain was still to settle, Rury marched 
north with seven kings and “‘all the chiefs of Leinster " 
in his train, and the army of all Ireland. At Armagh 
they divided Tir Eoghain between Niall MacLochlain 
and his rival, Aedh O'Neill, all north of Sliav Gallion 

in Tyrone going to the former and all south of it to 
O'Neill. 

Meath and Munster were next reduced to the level 
of fallen Tir Eoghain and Leinster. Murchertach 
O'Brien having been slain by his MacCarthy rival, 
Rury entered the province and allotted Desmond to 
Dermot MacCarthy and Thomond to Donal Mér, brother 
of the slain Murchertach (1168), Early in 1169 Dermot 
of Meath was killed by a nephew of his, Donal the 
Bregian ; the High King therefore expelled Donal and 
made the last partition of the central province, giving 
the eastern half to Tigernan and keeping the western 
half himself. 

Meanwhile Maghnus MacDonlevy replaced his blind 
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brother, Eochy, in Ulidia, and Donnchad O’Cerbhaill, 
fatally wounded by a gilly of his at a feast, gave place 
to Murchad (1368). 

With four kingdoms partitioned and new kings 
sworn to fealty, Rury seemed to have all Ireland at 
his feet. To celebrate his triumph, he held in 1168 
the Aenach of Tailtiu in Meath, that great law-making 
assembly, part fair, part parliament, part festival of 
music and poetry, which it was the special right of a 
High King to summon for all Ireland. Now revived 
in its old pomp, the horses of those who attended it 
extended along some six miles of the road. Oriel having 
demanded an eric for the killing of a chief of theirs by 
Meathmen, the great men present decided in Oriel's 
favour, and Rury awarded an honour-price of eight 
hundred cows. 

These great assemblies, in which all Ireland freely 
mingled, which display a land united in one law, one 
language, and one political bond, continued to the end. 
‘Their day was now over, and the native race was soon 
to be shattered for centuries into isolated fragments. 
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CHAPTER II 

THE CONQUEST OF LEINSTER, 1166-1172 

BrisToL was a city which had maintained the closest 
trade relations with Dublin, especially in that shameful 
traffic of slaves which Norman kings, Irish chiefs, and 
English merchants were not ashamed to practise. And 
the greatest merchant-prince in Bristol was a man 
well-acquainted with the Leinster kings, both by 
ancestry and by many visits to Dublin. This was 
Robert fitz Harding, Lord of Berkeley, grandson of 
that Saxon Eadnoth the Staller with whom Harold 
Godwinson had sought refuge in 1051 before passing 
over, at Eadnoth’s suggestion, to winter in Dublin 
with Dermot, king of Leinster, MacMurchada’s ancestor.! 

FitzHarding received MacMurchada kindly; and 
lodged him at the Augustinian house which Robert 
had founded in the city. Their communications were 
doubtless through that “‘latimer,” or interpreter in 
Latin and French, whom Dermot brought with him, 
namely, Morice Regan, whose account of the Invasion. 
told to some follower of Strongbow, survives as the 
Norman-French geste, “‘ The Song of Dermot.” It is 
Dermot’s story, that of the rich and generous king. 
deeply wronged by O’Conor and the Leinster rebels, 
the real king of Leth Mogha and its champion against 
the Northern Half.* 

FitzHarding’s advice was to find out Henry the 
King, but when, after a long long search, Dermot 
lighted on Henry some time after Christmas, 1166, the 
Angevin proved disappointing. 

In the flush of his youth, Henry FitzEmpress had 

"See Freeman's Norman cones Tl. and IV, bassin, 
* Ed. and transl. G. H. 
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contemplated the conquest of Ireland by the sword. 
John of Salisbury had, in 1155, sought the papal Curia, 
and obtained from the Englishman, Adrian IV. a 
sufficient imprimatur, ‘At my prayer,” wrote this 
accomplished Churchman later, ‘‘he granted Ireland 
to Henry as an inheritance, as his letter to this day 
testifies, and also sent by me a golden ring adorned 
with an emerald for the purpose of investiture, and 
this is still ordered to be kept in the State archives,”"? 

Occupied with so vast an empire, struggling now 
with Becket and the conquest of Brittany, Henry yet 
listened with courtesy when Dermot offered himself as 
the King’s vassal if he would restore him to Leinster, 
accepted his allegiance, and gave him letters patent 
permitting anyone “within the bounds of our 
dominions ” to aid him in the recovery of his own. 

Returning to Bristol, Dermot finally came into 
touch with Richard FitzGilbert, Earl of Pembroke, 
the ‘‘ Strongbow” of later histories. Gilbert de Clare, 
of Chepstow, the real bearer of the epithet “ Strangbo,” 
had got from Henry the First the land of Cadwgan ap 
Bleddyn in Cardigan. As the Welsh receded before 
their Norman assailants, French and Flemings filled up 
the level lands of Pembroke, and in 1138 Stephen 
created Gilbert earl of Pembroke and of Striguil. 

But his son, earl since x48, as one of Stephen's 
creations was in poor repute with Stephen's: successor, 
and was scarcely in possession of his earldom at all. 
The true Norman adventurer would have kindled at 
once to the offer which Dermot made to FitzGilbert, 

1 Mataloteus, written crce 1199, of. Giles, Vol V. of John's works, 
p. 205. It is not clear from this language if the ring was inthe papal 
or the English archives; anyway, we hear no more of it 3 
Lesters Titustrative of English Hisioty, Second Series, 1. p. 54, gives a 
charter of Prince John while Lord of Ewe (Eye), between 1195 and 
1199, which Tefers to a deed made at Winchester in the year when 

* verbum factum est de Hibernia conguirenda,”” 4.s., 1154-5. Does the 
letter referred to by John of Salisbury mean the Bull Laudabiliter ? 
ier gone te tar of cle Sal rsa, op 

formans in Ireland, Vol. I. pp. 313-318. I believe it is 
sabetdatially gentine, bot that Girsidve’ doached up some much 
simpler letter missive of Adrian, 
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namely, the hand of his beauteous daughter and the 
succession to his kingdom after him. But Strongbow, 
though he had all the pride of blood of the victors at 
Hastings, and though he was a respectable general 
and man of affairs, lacked the true make of the Norman 
condottier of the great age a century before. He pro- 
tested that he must first get the licence of his liege the 
King ; but that Dermot might expect him next spring. 

Next under Earl Richard a strong family interest 
dominated the Norman colony of Cardigan and Pem- 
broke, the sons and grandsons of Nesta, daughter of 
Rhys, by her marriage with Gerald of Windsor and 
her love-affairs with King Henry the First and Stephen, 
Constable of Cardigan. Dermot found in these men, 
FitzStephen and the sons of Gerald, adventurers of the 
true Norman type, discontented with their limited 
fortunes and hardened in constant wars with the Welsh. 
Dermot's offer of the city of Wexford and two cantreds 

of land jointly to Maurice FitzGerald and Robert Fitz- 
Stephen met with a ready response, and they assured 
Dermot that, once they had mustered a sufficient force 
from among their kin and such men as they could hire, 
they would come to his aid. 

Maternally they were half-Welsh, and there was 
nothing in Welsh custom, Welsh wars, or Welsh speech, 
that a century of border-life had not taught them or 
their sires. But paternally they were Norman-French 
in tongue and race, conscious members of that restless 
and versatile race which had for two centuries led the 
van of all European enterprise. Ireland was a land 
of old repute with the Welsh, and could not escape 
the eager interest of these Cambro-Normans, among 
whom a legend was current of how seventy years before 
a Norman lord of Wales had hoped to conquer the 
kingdom of Ireland for himself. 

When in 1100 Robert de Belesme, earl of Shrews- 
bury, chief feudal enemy of the English Crown, was 
driven out of England by Henry I., his brother Amulf, 
Lord of Pembroke, fled to the High King, Murchertach 

D 
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O’Brien, whose daughter, Lafracoth, he had espoused 
in order to bring Ireland into the feudal conspiracy, 
Arnulf “greatly desired through that marriage to win 
the kingdom of his father-in-law,” says Ordericus 
Vitalis. Arnulf ended his days a refugee in Normandy 
or Ireland, but a daughter of his by Lafracoth, Alice 
by name, was now wife of Maurice, son of that Gerald 
of Windsor who had been Arnulf’s chief man in 
Pembroke. It was a tale that would easily tempt the 
men of 1166 to follow where Arnulf had failed.* 

Nor had these petty knights much reason to cling 
to their lands in Wales. With true Norman restless- 
ness they were ready to forsake a restricted country 
where in a century they had gained but little. Men 
of no allegiance, country, or language, they were ready 
to be Irish in Ireland as the men of their race became 
Scots across the Borders or Orientals in Antioch or 
Palermo, and as their Norse ancestors had become 
French in France. The race-indifference of the Norman 
was one of his greatest assets. 

It was now over a century that the Norman-French 
had begun the expropriation of the Celts of Wales. 
In 1091, says the Welsh Brut, “ Rhys ap Tewdwr, king 
of S. Wales (father of Nesta), was killed by the Franks 
who inhabited Breichiniog, and then fell the kingdom 
of the Britons.” Let only the English king give some 
verbal or written sanction and these chartered bandits 
would interpret it liberally. Later in the same way 
were the Celts of Ireland to be ousted or subdued by 
“speculative grants.”” It was Gerald of Windsor, the 
first historic Geraldine, who founded his race in Wales, 
getting the stewardship of Pembroke castle from Arnulf 
de Montgomery, building castles at Carew and Kenarth, 
visiting Ireland to bring back Arnulf’s Irish bride, 
Lafracoth, then surviving his master’s fall and getting 
from Henry I. Pembroke castle with all its territory. 
Then he wedded Nesta, and thought no harm to shelter 

oe Se. jurchertach O Brien and his Norman son-in- 
» Arnulf de PMicatgernery <TR. Oe February 1922. 
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his brother-in-law, Graffydd ap Rhys, who returned 
from exile in Ireland in r112 and doubtless told Gerald 
much about Irish affairs. Thus early did the Geraldines 
learn that sympathetic manner which later made them 
heroes of native Ireland. 

The Welsh were a race difficult to exploit or expel ; 
the march and mountain-land was barren or unbroken ; 
and the country which could be securely wrested from 
the Welsh was soon too small for this growing Cambro- 
Norman race, holders of petty fiefs at best. Now, 
Ireland was known to be a far greater and richer land 
than Wales, and Leinster in particular had rivers which 
produced native gold. Hence Giraldus where he advises 
John to be content with a tribute of hawks and gold 
from the Irish kings. Two centuries later a Gaelic 
bard still calls Leinster ‘a land of gold.” 

Mingled with the Cambro-Normans and serving them 
was an equally restless and military race. In 1106, says 
the Brut, ‘a certain nation [the Flemings] whose origin, 
manners and none knew or where it had Jain concealed 
in the island for many years, was sent by King Henry 
into Dyved.” These were the Flemish mercenaries 

whom King and barons had employed, till, becoming 
a nuisance, they were quartered on South Wales. 
Where they did take particular hold was in the Gower 
peninsula, and this was the original nest from which 
the first and main conquerors of Ireland took wing.* 

It was among these trained professionals that Fitz- 
Stephen and FitzGerald found the men-at-arms and 
the commanders with whom they entered on the 
conquest of Ireland. 

+ See the;Inauguration Ode to the great Art, Kavanagh MacMurchad 
circa 1376," by Roghan MacCraith, "an 1-0) the Gilder 
(a symbolic name). MS., 23 H8 and BETO LAS 

* Brut sub 1113 says, “* Dyved (Pembroke) ‘was full of various 
uations, Flemings, French, Saxons. and. the native race.” The 
Flemings especially settled in South Wexford. under Strongbow, 
where they preserved a distinct dialect of English till 1809 or so, and 
their names, Prendergast, Synnot, Fleming, Waspail, Roche [originally 
FitsGodebert}, Wadding, Bluet, Scurlock, Cheevers, -» ATE 
famitiar in Ireland still.’ For the evidence see my “ Languages of 
Mediaeval Irciand,” in Studies, 1919, p. 234 seq. 
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A light infantry and skilled bowmen were found in 
plenty among the Welsh of the borders and the Invasion 
of Ireland had a very marked Cambrian aspect. 
Immediately after the conquest of Leinster Welsh 
names are found plentifully north of Dublin, and then 
in Cork, and descendants of these followed the De 
Burgos into Connacht. Later on Welsh mercenaries, 
brought in to guard the royal castles or stiffen the 
Justiciars’ forces, still further swelled the Cambrian 
element. Indeed, a charter of a century after the 
Conquest claims half the credit for the Welsh followers 
or kinsmen of the conguistadors. 

Thus while the leaders were “ Franci”’ or ‘‘ Galli," 
as Giraldus and royal charters call them, the rank and 
file were Welsh and Flemish, “‘ Wallenses”” and “ Flan- 
drenses.” The solid and industrious Anglo-Saxons only 
came with the planting of the towns and the organising 
of manors. Normans, Welshmen, and Flemings were 
the spear-head of the enterprise, and the character and 
past history of these feudal chiefs and professional 
fighters inevitably made the conquest one of violence 
and spoliation. It was with a small levy of these 
mixed elements, commanded by a Fleming, Richard 
FitzGodebert, from Roche, near Haverford, that Dermot 
returned to Leinster early in August 1167. 

‘A strange indifference to these proceedings oversea 
had marked the Irish side ; nevertheless, Rury O’Conor, 
inspired by Tigernan, marched against Dermot and 
defeated him at Cill Osnadh, but accepted propositions 
of peace, and left him in possession of the ten cantreds 
of Hy Kinsella, on condition of giving his sons, Conor 

1 For many Welsh names iblin, north and south, County Dul 
see Gormansion Register and wand Cal Dees Indond under Caddel, Kenefeg, 

‘Walsh is now one of the most 

ro 
anciently called Kyiengly, but after the arrival of the English and 
Welsh 1x Ireland called Penkoyte, belonging to Kylculen Church, 
the property of Holy Trinity.” 

Google ai 



THE CONQUEST OF LEINSTER 53 

and Enna, as hostages and paying O’Ruaire an honour- 
price of a hundred ounces of gold. 

But Dermot was only marking time, and at last Fitz- 
Stephen, Hervey Montmorency, and Maurice Prendergast, 
a Flemish gentleman, arrived at Bannow, in South Wex- 
ford, with three shiploads of men on May rst, 1169.4 

“ The fleet of the Flemings came to Erin,” say the 
Four Masters, ‘they were ninety heroes dressed in 
mail, and the Gaels set little store by them.” Wexford 
at once fell before Dermot, reinforced by such allies, 
and Ossory was raided; yet, though Prendergast 
boasted ‘We are nearly all well-armed, while the 
traitors (the Leinster Irish) are naked (ie, un- 
armoured),” O’Conor’'s advance-guard drove Dermot 
back to Ferns. Again Dermot submitted, but only 
to stave off the High-King, till at last Maurice Fitz- 
Gerald and Raymond le Gros de Carew landed, and 
next Earl Richard himself landed near Waterford on 
August 23rd, 1170, with two hundred knights and one 
thousand men.? 

With the coming of so great a man, prospective 
son-in-law and successor of the king of Leinster, the 
enterprise took a new stage. Waterford had thrown 
off its allegiance with other vassals of MacMurchada, 
It was at once attacked, and though its jarls, Ragnall 
and Sitric, who represented the ruling Macgillamaire 
race, made a brave resistance, the city fell on August 
asth, and Sitric was put to death, while the life of 

to go to Ireland (see ae 2p. ahi), Tha Expug. Hib, face 
Chaps. V-XI. describes Rury penning Dermot with. his Normans in 
Ferns, and puts speeches in the mouth of Rury, of Dermot, who says, 
“My ‘ancestors were monarchs of Ireland and held Connacht,” and 
‘of FitzStephen, who boasts of the Trojan and French descent of 
himself and companions, and says, “It may be the consequences of 
this enterprise that the five portions into which the island isdivided 
may be reduced to one and the dominion of the whole kingdom devolve 
on our posterity.” Nevertheless, Dermot submitted to Rury and got 
Leinster confirmed again. 
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Ragnall was spared. The marriage of Strongbow and 
Eva MacMurchada was then performed in the Ostman 
cathedral of Holy Trinity. 

In assuring to FitzGilbert the kingdom of Leinster 
after him, Dermot was violating the whole Irish law 
of succession, setting aside the elective rights of the 
free races, and the claims of his own sons, Conor and 
Enna, and his own brother, Murchad.'’' In a country 
where descent was traced through males alone the 

claim of the foreign Strongbow to rule in right of his 
wife, though sound in feudal law, was unheard of. 

Both sides equally recognised the importance of 
Dublin at this stage of the struggle. It was also in 
rebellion, nor could either side let it fall into hostile 
hands. 

The Ostman town, centring around the “ fort of 
Dublin” (Dun Atha-Cliath), covered the ground from 
Castle Hill to the Liffey and from Island Bridge to the 
easter gate near the modern church of St. Andrew. 
Its churches were many and its old Norse population 
numerous, but in addition Dublin was a cosmopolitan 
port, a meeting-place for traders from Bristol and 
Chester and viking merchants from the whole Norse 
world. A convenient and hospitable place of refuge, 
it had sheltered many a Welsh, Irish, and Saxon 
prince; indeed, more than one foreign prince kept a 
Dublin house, and the king of Leinster, the lord of the 
Ui Dunchada, and of course Earl Asgall himself, had 
stone mansions in the city. 

Trinity; cfvea 1178, are these Ostman 
Torquell, archdeacon, Joseph, pricst of St. 
of St. Mary's, Cave of St. Martin's, see Chariae, 
Earl * Haxald's garden is mentioned in Christchurch deeds, No. 

They inctaded Balotaghit and Swonds 
For the “land of the sons of Turchil ” 

nd Hot. Canc. Hib. Cal., p, 4. They stretched 
to Bray. See later. Ostman is the 

from being on the east of Ireland, 
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Asgall, or Hasculph as Giraldus calls him, son of 
Ragnall, son of Torcall, was now earl or mér-maer of 
Dublin, and had been Dermot's vassal. The garden of 
his Dublin house is mentioned in an almost contem- 
porary deed, and outside the city he and his brother, 
Hamund, held extensive demesnes both north and 
south of Dublin, from Portrain and Kinsaley to Bal- 
doyle and Howth, and from the city south to Bray. 
Southwards along the coast, Wicklow and Arklow were 
Ostman strongholds, and might be rallied to the defence 
of the Ostman capital. Among the Irish states of 
North Leinster O'Cathasaigh, chief of the Saithni, ruled 
much of Fine Gall as overlord of the Ostmen.2 Com- 
manding the upper Liffey, as Dublin did the lower, 
was Ui Faelain, called Offelan by the Normans. With 

its capital at Naas, it covered North Kildare. Its chief, 
Faelan MacFaelain, was of the family which formerly 
O'Conor had set up over Leinster, and was now one of 
Dermot’s rebels. The Ui Muredaigh held south 
Kildare ; here, however, the ruling bishop, O’Tuathail, 
brother-in-law of Dermot and brother of the archbishop, 
wavered between the two sides. 

East of the Liffey and south from the city to the 
Wicklow hills lay the land of the Ui Dunchada, or 

Feara Cualann, whose present chief, Donal MacGilla- 
colmoc, son-in-law of Dermot, was to play a deciding, 
if a mercenary, part in the Conquest. 

The Ui Dunchada, who took their cumbrous patro- 
nymic from a Gilla-mo-cholmoc of 1050, had of late 
built up a great lordship. As the Norse power waned, 
MacGillacolmoc extended his demesnes as far as 
Raheny north of the city. A Donal of this name had 
ruled Dublin from 1125 to 11734 during the youth of 
Dermot MacMurchada, and during this time made a 

3 Seo Harris, Coll... p. ux (1183), grant by John of * wnacarucete 
terre Wickinglo que fuit Ostman 

Saithni stretched from ast Meath (where Dunsany com- 
memorates them, according to Hogan, On.), into County Dublia, 

Jrothery hese 0 Caden and later became tne baroay of Bal 
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permanent residence for his family in a quarter of the 
city. His son, or grandson, Donal, founded the great 
Cistercian abbey of St. Mary there. A marriage between 
a younger Donal and Dervorgilla, daughter of Dermot, 
had lately united the two families. MacGillacolmoc’s 
southern lands stretched some sixteen miles east from 
his capital at Liamhain (later Newcastle Lyons) to the 
mouth of the Dodder and the gates of Dublin; 
southwards it stretched to Delgany and Rathdown 
along the coast, to Glendaloch and the heart of the 
Wicklow mountains.' 

“Now,” says the Song, “all the pride of Ireland 
was at Clondalkin on a moor.” While Dermot and 

the earl were marching from the south, the High King, 
with O’Ruairc, and Murchad of Oriel, and levies from 

North Leinster, encamped on the Green of Dublin. 
Giraldus says that the Dubliners had summoned all 
Treland to their aid, and that Rury’s army was thirty 
thousand men, an imaginary number, while Dermot 
and the French were five thousand and five hundred, 
which is more probable. The earl, Raymond le Gros, 
and Milo de Cogan led the Normans, and Donal 

Kavanagh was Dermot’s marshal.* 

2A street (vicu) in Dublin and a gute continued long after the 
est to bear illecolmoc’s name, see Gilbert's History of 

230 and 4o3—" Gilleholmocstrete” and " Porta Gille- 
mmonotios.? Fae ths fan, its ; poeseatcas and fea as Pavers, 
barons of Rathdown, see Chartulary St. Mary's R. S., passim, Reg. 
St. Thomas, Dublin Gilbert, Hise and Mum, Docs. of Ireland and 
History of Dublin, pp. 230-5. Rathcoole and Kilcullen, Tallaght, 
Clondalkin, Donnybrook, and the whole Dodder, were in Ui Dunchada 
the chief seat, Liamhain, is eight miles south-west of Dublin near to 
the Liffey, which river, however, save at Dublin this state did not 
touch. Mill's article, quoted above, gives an excellent map of South 
Dublin at this time, p. 161. Note that MacGillacolmoc signs Dermot's 
grant of Baldoyle (previously, p. 21), and this shows that he was oae 
Of the overlords of the Norse land ‘north of the city. For Raheay 
see later. 

+ While the Song says the Irish were at Clondalkin, Tigernach says 
they were on The Green of Dublin, "'faithche Adha-cliath,” which, 
according to Hogan, On., stretched from Kilmainham on the south 
side of the river to the city. In any care the Irish array must have 
been widely spread. The Gaclic accounts do not ascribe a national 
array to Rury; naturally the Norman accounts would exaggerate 
the number of the foe. Giraldus says the Irish held all the roads 
and passes, but makes the subsequent fighting an affair of Dermot's 
army versus the Ostmen. 

Google " 



THE CONQUEST OF LEINSTER 37 

Dermot now displayed the gifts of a strategist. 
The Irish held the passes to Dublin from the Barrow 
side, but MacMurchada and his Normans, making a 
forced march “ by the mountain, the hard field, and 
the open ground,” along the eastern slope of the 
Wicklow hills, reached the capital safely. 

The Norman account of the fall of Dublin is as 
definite as the Irish is vague and turbid. The allies 
at once beleaguered the city and completely cut the 
Norse off from the Irish army on the west. Mindful 
that they were Dermot's rebels, the Dubliners sent 
Archbishop Laurence to negotiate a peace which would 
have put Asgall back into his old position as vassal 
of Leinster on payment of indemnities, but while the 
Ostman jarl demanded a day for providing the hostages 
demanded by Dermot, Raymond le Gros and Milo de 
Cogan, without orders from earl or king, attacked and 
captured the city with all its booty, while Asgall put 
to sea with his chief men. It was not the nature of 
this predatory race to let dull parleyings rob them of 
so rich a prize, nor were Dermot and the earl minded, 
we may well suppose, to let the chief strategic point 
in Ireland escape them by a facile submission which 
aretum of Asgall with a viking fleet might soon annul.* 

Deserted by the High King and taken before a 
determined stand could be organised, Dublin thus 
became the capital of the invaders. Leaving De Cogan 
to guard the fortress, Dermot and the ear] now returned 
south, the one for Ferns, the other for Waterford. 

Had Dermot contented himself with the recovery 
of his kingdom, the mild-minded Rury might have 

1Giraldus and the Song give the Norman side. Tigernach and the 
FM. the Irish, and certai y are maore intelligible. ‘The F, M. say. 
naps Foreigners of Dublin forsook the Men of Leth Cuinn fie., 

with Dermot}, and were treacherously slaughtered by the 
fs h) Foreigners. Ruaidhri then faced the English and the 

‘three days till lightning burned Dublin.” The Song 
also says, ee Babi ‘was burning” on St. Matthew's Day, and it 
seems as if “lightning” is a way of expressing that the city was set 
on fire by the Norman vanguard so as to cover a treacherous attack. 
Anyway, Rury displayed little resolution. 
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accepted the verdict of battle. | But immediately 
Dermot marched into Meath to pursue his vendetta 
against O’Ruairc. Rury first reminded him of their 
former treaty, by which Dermot kept Leinster, and 
bade him dismiss his foreign bands, and refrain from 
invading other men’s land or he would put Dermot's 
hostages to death. Dermot only answered that he 
intended to reduce all Connacht, and even all Ireland 
(as his ancestor, Cathair Mér, had done). O’Conor 
then put to death Dermot's son, Conor, and two other 
hostages. 

The Irish side was now without a leader, lay or 
cleric, worthy of the crisis, At the latter end of 1170, 
the spiritual heads, under Gelasius of Armagh and 
Laurence of Dublin, met to consider remedies. Their 
chief resolution is best given in Giraldus’ words: “ It 
appeared to the synod that Divine vengeance had 
brought this judgment upon them for the sins of the 
people, and especially for that they had long been wont 
to purchase natives of England from traders, robbers, 
and pirates, and to reduce them to slavery, wherefore 
they were now themselves by reciprocal justice reduced 
to-slavery by that very same nation. For it was the 
common practice of the Anglo-Saxon people while their 
kingdom was intact to sell their children and send sons 
and kinsfolk to be sold in Ireland at a time when they 
were not suffering from poverty or famine. The synod 
therefore decreed that all Englishmen throughout 
Ireland who were in a state of bondage should be 
restored to freedom.” ! Here Giraldus does not 
condemn the Irish more for buying than the unnatural 
English for selling their children. 

This decision did more honour to the heart than 
to the head of the Irish prelates, who thus further 
blackened Ireland's case. It was not the time now 
to indict their own nation, already in discredit with 
Rome, nor was the record of Ireland in this matter 
so exceptional that foreigners could throw stones at her. 

1 Expwg. Hib., Book I. Chap. XVII. 
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The English willingly sold, and the Ostmen of Dublin 
and the traders of Bristol were the “ brokers” of 
slaves. William of Malmesbury states that Bristol was 
the great mart for this trade, and adds that William 
the Conqueror himself sold Saxon and other war 
captives in Ireland. “ For Lanfranc being in such 
favour with William procured that the King abandoned 
his evil custom of selling his prisoners in Ireland, a 
grace, however, hardly granted to Lanfranc and Wul- 
stan, bishop of Worcester, for the King’s gain by this 
traffic was so great.” 

‘All the fringes of Europe were guilty in this unhappy 
business. A generation after the death of Malcolm 
Canmore, who died in 1093, a monk of Durham wrote 
that the population of north England was so diminished 
by Scottish harryings that scarce a village or even a 
cottage north of Tweed was without its English 
captives! Yet the Scots at no time admitted that 
the sins of their people merited the loss of national 
independence. 

Dermot MacMurchada, the bad man of his times, 
“who made Ireland a trembling sod,” died on the 
ast May, 1171, at Ferns, at the age of sixty-one. If 
we may regret anything in his career, it is that he did 
not sin boldly while in the way of it, and with his 
Norman condotticri live to conquer all Ireland and 
found an independent Norman-Gaelic state. With the 
disappearance of MacMurchada, Earl Richard became in 
effect King of Leinster, but this timid and respectable 
man lacked true audacity, and was all too conscious 
of his anomalous position both in Brehon and in 
English law.? 

Now was the moment for a true king to rally all 

* William of Malmesbury R. S., Book III, Chap. I, and Terry, 
Mistry of Scotland (1920), v.24, 

the cle remarks of Giraldus on him, fxbug. Hid., 
Book I Chap. NOVI TS He never reied'om his ows judgment so 
far as to take the initiative in ordering an attack and he never of bis 
own inclination staked all on mere personal valour, During an 

vent: ,where his banner waved, there was ever a firm rallying 
Point or a safe refuge for his men.” 
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Ireland, expel the foreigners, instal Murchad in his 
brother’s kingdom, and thus restore the Gaelic state. 

Next under O’Conor, these were now the kings of 
Ireland. Donnslebhe, whom the Normans called Mac- 
Donlevy, succeeded his brother, Magnus MacDonnslebhe, 
in Ulidia in 1171, Murchad O’Cervall was now king of 
Oriel, and Magnus O Melachlin ruled till 1175 in eastern 
Meath, while Donal of Bregia, nephew of Dermot 
O’Melachlin, ruled till 1173 in Westmeath. 
A pathetic fate was destined for these last princes 

of Oriel, Ulidia, and Meath, who were to perish along 
with their kingdoms. 

Munster had lost the unity of a century before, 
and was now divided between Donal Mér O’Brien and 
Dermot MacCarthy. While Donal was in Irish ‘‘ Rt 
Tuadh-Mumhain” his Latin title, “ Rex Limericensis,” 
attests how the O'Briens had forsaken Kincora for 
Limerick and planted themselves on both sides of the 
Shannon over the “ Kingdom of Limerick.” Donal’s 
charter of foundation to St. Mary's Cathedral at 
Limerick, which begins “ego D. magnus divini muneris 
largitate Rex Limertcensis"’ shows how thoroughly the 
old Ostman city had become his. In other foundations 
his royal right of land-grant and confirmation is clearly 
emphasised.! 

Donal O’Brien, and not Rury, was the true saviour 
of Gaelic Ireland could he have grasped a true national 

aim, 
The Ostman city of Cork had become the capital 

of the MacCarthy kings of Desmond. When later 
Henry II. granted to FitzStephen and De Cogan the 
“ Regnum Corcagiense,” from Brandon in Kerry to the 
water of Lismore, he was defining MacCarthy’s king- 
dom, which had taken a new name from its Norse 

capital. 
1 Sce Black Book of Limerich, ed. macCafirey, p. 34, No. XXXII. 

for Donal's charter to St. Mary's, also Nat. Fi late LXU. Ina 
charter to. Forgy Abbey, Co. Clare, he confirms.” termas quae ei 

1] donavi sive cum voluntate mea alii donaveri A. 
roe poze: For Dosal'e churches 0 geacrad ae Leaihaa’s Limarich, 
Pat 
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Dermot MacCarthy's charter to the church of Cork 
in 1174 shows that then, four years after the Normans, 
the city on the Lee was his royal seat.t 

According to Giraldus, Henry of England had 
already, before Dermot’s death, forbidden any more of 
his subjects to go to Ireland, and had ordered those 
there to return, and Strongbow, fearing Henry’s wrath, 
had sent Raymond to Aquitaine to place Leinster at 
the king’s feet. The general resurgence of the Irish 
under O’Conor was indeed warranted to make Earl 

Richard uncertain of himself. Laurence of Dublin was 
the leading spirit, says Giraldus, of a movement which 
took in Connacht on one hand and Norse-Gaelic Man 
on the other? In Leinster itself Murchad MacMurchada 
could not be counted on, and the north Leinster states 
obeyed the summons which the High King sped through 
all Ireland. The Irish vanguard, under O’Ruairc and 
the kings of Meath and Oriel, cooped up the garrison 
of Dublin under De Cogan in the citadel, together with 
Strongbow, who had come to their aid, and the national 
army, under Rury himself, appeared before the capital 
in mid-summer, 1171. According to the Song and 
Giraldus, the High King held the centre at Castleknock. 
Donal O’Brien and Murchada MacMurchada encamped at 
Kilmainham with the chiefs of Offelan, Ui Dunnchada, 
and Ui Muredaigh ; and O’Ruairc with the kings of 
Oriel, Ulidia, and Meath, and O’Cathasaigh of the 
Saithni lay about Clontarf. 

But Tigernach says that only O’Conor, O’Ruairc, 
and O’Cervall of Oriel took part in the siege. ‘‘ Domnall 
O Briain had revolted against the King of Erin” in 
1170, and a great war ensued. Certainly if Donal was 
at the fight he added nothing to his fame. 

2 ma oniniy of won foviner rove Hse, raled fa, McCarthy's aster es 
Gatyert, son of Turan, slain in 2173 ‘by the Normans, eo later. 
epee. I Chap. XXII. Giraldus is the only 

r Laurence’s Ene genius of the Irish Norse alias 
eral ‘The Irish were moved to this, as was reported, 

riotic, zeal of Laurence, who joined with Roderic and 
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By this far-deployed array, the Earl was hemmed 
up in Dublin for two months, while FitzStephen himself 
was penned up in Carrick-on-Slaney by an Ostman 
revolt. O'Conor’s plan was evidently to hold the 
besieged till that Norse flotilla with Asgall on board 
should arrive which Gothric of Man had raised at the 
prayer of Laurence. So hard pressed, however, and 
short of supplies was the earl that finally he sent 
Lanrence to Rury, offering to become his man and 
hold Leinster of him. The High King would grant 
him to hold only Dublin, Waterford, and Wexford ; 
and if this was not accepted, let Strongbow prepare 
for an attack on the morrow. 

Rury thus sealed the fate of Ireland. Had he 

accepted FitzGilbert’s surrender, he might have ended 
his days still ‘Ard Ri Erenn,” with the earl as but 

one among his sub-kings. But his answer inevitably 
threw Strongbow back upon his liege lord, the King 
of England. 

At this moment of dismay, Maurice FitzGerald 
revealed the true mentality of the Norman, a race 
landless and nationless, ready to accept or reject any 
allegiance, but determined to be masters of their fate. 

Addressing the barons, he declared for instant onward 
action, “Is it succour from our own country we 
expect ? Such in truth is our lot that while we are 
English to the Irish, we are Irish to the English. For 
the one island does not detest us more than the other.” 
There spoke men who did not mean to go home, who, 
indeed, had no home to go to, and before many gene- 
rations the clan of this Geraldine in the spirit of his 
words turned Irish as the Irish. 

So the besieged arrayed themselves for a desperate 
sortie. De Cogan led the van, Raymond, Donal 
Kavanagh, and the earl followed; the nucleus of the 
whole army being six hundred mailed men. Marching 
over Dubhgall’s bridge and sweeping round by Finglas 

to the south-west, they burst in on the High King’s 
army encamped on the Liffey and completely routed it. 
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Fifteen hundred of the Irish fell, the High King escaped, 
and his camp, with enough corn and meal to last the 
conquerors a year, fell into their hands.t The date, 
according to Giraldus, was about September the first. 
Tigernach says briefly: “The earl and Milo de Cogan 
entered the camp of Leth Cuinn,”’ ie, attacked the 
northem army; evidently if there were Munster and 
Leinster levies to the south, they retreated without a 
blow, on hearing of Rury’s defeat. 

Thus fell the Irish monarchy which had existed for 
a thousand years, and fell without the dignity of a 
Zama or a Hastings. 

The earl now set off for Ferns, together with Donal 
Kavanagh, to subdue the Leinster rebels and raid 
Ossory, which he claimed as a dependency of Leinster, 
and scarcely had he gone when the Norse flotilla arrived 
in the Liffey, too late to save the day which Rury 
had lost. Earl Asgall and John the Wode (the mad), 
a belated berserk, had collected from Man and the 
Hebrides a commando, which filled sixty ships, of mail- 
clad infantry, ‘‘men with iron hearts and iron arms,” 
says Giraldus. Marching from the “ Stein” where 
they had landed, they made for the eastern gate, but 
De Cogan engaged them in front and a flank attack 
on their camp at the Stein staggered them from behind 
Finally, the intervention of an Irish chieftain turned 
the day against Ireland and them. Donal MacGilla~ 
colmoc, who had come to make terms with De Cogan, 
had watched the fight from the Thing-mote, till he 
could know which of the two kinds of Foreigners should 
prevail, and now struck in upon the Norsemen's flank. 
After an honourable stand, in one of the last of viking 
battles, they broke and fled to the ships. John, 
refusing to fly, was hewn to pieces, and Asgall was 
taken and beheaded in his own hall.* 

* Song, Il. 1798-1955, and Expug. Hib., Book I. Chap. XXIV. 
If Laurence was the genius of this national confederacy it is strange 
that he was in the city and so trusted by Strongbow. 

2 Expug. Hib., Book 1. Chap. XXI. “The Thing Mote, or later 
the Hoggen Green, was a raised mound, on the south aide of College 
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For all that, Strongbow saw that without Henry's 
approval he could not hope to hold Leinster. Ostman 
Wexford had revolted, and FitzStephen was a prisoner. 
In spite of his family tradition, the earl felt himself 
to be Henry's “man,” and yearned for a legal and 
respectable position in his Irish lands. 

‘A Norman conquest in the English sense, where the 
conqueror himself became king and bridled the feudal 
class, at once his allies and his enemies, was not fated 
for Ireland. _FitzStephen, the Geraldines, and the 
first-comers believed they could master Ireland single- 
handed, and blend the five kingdoms into one, of which 
they would have made their lord, the Earl of Pembroke, 
the resident king. For they were men with no English 
ties, barons of Stephen’s age, men of that Norman type 
whose cruelties and lawlessness are recorded in the 
last entries of the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, and whose 
genius for war and domination had been stamped on 
every country from Tweed to Orontes.1.| Born in the 
Guiscard tradition, they were ready to make themselves 
kings, and chafed to be followed to their new home 
by that same royal authority, obnoxious to true feudal 
minds, from which they had gladly escaped. 

But Strongbow was inwardly a man of Henry the 
Second’s time, apprehensively looking for reward and 
recognition to his royal master. Thus was it possible 
for the new centralised Monarchy of England to follow 
the first adventurers over to Ireland, to rob them of 
the full fruits of their enterprise, and establish an 
absentee branch of itself on a country which, for a 
thousand years, had never lacked a native king. 

Determined that a mew Norman realm, possibly a 
rival one, should not arise beyond the sea, and glad 
Green. The " Stein” or pillar-stone was at the usual place of dis- 
embarkment from the Liffey. See the Song, I. 2230-2495, for 

st peace with Milo and came to offer himself 
neither us nor them, but If these men be 
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of a diversion from that terrible matter of Becket's 
murder on December 29, 1170, Henry set out for 
Ireland. To forestall his wrath, Strongbow appeared 
at Pembroke, where Henry lay during September and 
October 1171, and placed all his conquests in the King’s 
hands. The Leinster Irish themselves turned to Henry 
as a protector, and at Winchester, on his journey west, 
he had already received envoys from Murchad Mac- 
Murchada and from the Wexford Ostmen, who told him 
they had his “felon,” FitzStephen, safe in hold. 

“The son of the Empress” (Mac na h-Imperasi), 
as the Irish called Henry, landed near Waterford on 
October 17, 1171, with five hundred knights and four 
thousand archers, Evidently he did not intend a 
conquest by arms, but relied on his prestige, imposing 
array, and Adrian's Bull to secure a general submission. 
At Waterford he made Strongbow Earl of Leinster, 
reserving to the Crown the cities of Dublin and 
Wexford with the contado of Dublin and the coast as 
far as Arklow, i.e., the old Norse kingdom.! Now came 
in the kings of Leth Mogha, long embittered against 
the victorious North. Dermot MacCarthy came to 
Waterford, did homage, and received his kingdom 
under tribute. Marching inland, at Lismore Henry 
met a churchman very acceptable to him, the Legate, 

Christian, bishop of that see. On the way to Cashel, 
which Henry visited as being the most sacred place in 
Munster, Donal O’Brien, O’Faelain of the Déisi, and 
Donal MacGillapatraic of Ossory, did homage for their 
states. Turing back to Waterford after arranging 
with Christian for a general Synod, Henry finally 
reached Dublin by the western route on November 11, 
receiving on the way, or in the capital, the submission 
of the princes of Offelan, Ui Dunchada, Ui Muiredaigh, 
of Murchad of Oriel, and even of Tigernan O Ruairc 

At Lismore, says Matthew Paris, writing in the 

1At Waterford Henry also took the Ostmen of the city under 
special protection of the Crown in a charter beginning" Houstmanni 
Waterford lige: homines sunt.” Carew, Miscell., p. 466. 
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next century, ‘‘ King Henry assembled a council where 
the laws of England were by all freely received and 
confirmed with due legal solemnity." 

Giraldus says nothing of this, yet it may well be 
that Henry, either at Lismore or Dublin, made some 
declaration of rights to such Irish prelates and princes 

as did homage to him. For, from the early days of 
the Conquest, the five royal races, the “guingue 
sanguines,” or kings of provinces, were entitled to plead 
in the Anglo-Irish courts, an equality retained till the 
Statute of Kilkenny.? 

Surrounded by his new vassals, Henry wintered 
on the Thing-mote of Dublin, where the Irish kings 
had built for him “‘a royal palace made with admirable 
skill, after the fashion of the land’’—a temporary 
house, namely, of timber uprights with withy-rods 
plastered with lustrous clay. According to the native 
annals, Munster, Leinster, Meath, Ulidia, Oriel, and 
Brefni submitted to him. Rury refused homage, though 
Archbishop Laurence was sent to bring him to terms. 
Both Melachlin MacLochlain, king of Cenel Eoghain, 
and Flahertach O’Maeldory, lord of Tir Conaill, similarly 
ignored the new conqueror. 

During the winter, Henry gave to Dublin its first 
charter of civic liberties; he declared it a royal city, 
and granted it to his men of Bristol with the liberties 
of that place. 

Though assuming the style of king, Henry made 
little provision for an effective central government. 
Hugh de Lacy, who had come with him, became 
warden of Dublin, and Justiciar of Ireland. The new 
barons of Ireland would naturally act as a council for 

Matt. Paris, Vita Hon, II. sub x 
ah Systems, App. py and Davies’ Discovery (ed. sie Sree, pe ce Dea! Dosey 
The third of Edward Tt among the Plea Kells ia Bremingham's Tower, 
all the five septs or bloods wudeant lege Anglicana quoad brevia 
portanda"” are given, viz," O'Neill de Ultonia, O’ de Midia, 
O'Connoghor de Connacia, O'Brien de Thotmonia et MacMarrogh 
Teller wad Gains Hikiic 
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the king's deputy, and later it was asserted that a 
“statute of Henry fitzEmpress" of this date gave the 
tenants-in-chief the right to choose a justiciar in the 
case of a vacancy, and till the king should decide. 

For holding the land, Henry put garrisons into 
Dublin, Waterford, and Wexford. The Ostman 
population, as non-Gaelic, and especially useful to the 
conquerors, were declared the “ King’s Ostmen,” An 
ample demesne was secured to the Crown, namely, the 
Ostman cities, Wexford and its contado, the south 
coast as far as Dungarvan (which fell to the king by 
submission of O’Faelain of the Déisi), the Vale of Liffey, 
and generally the old Norse Dyfilinarskiri, from the 
Delvin to Arklow. The annexation of the Avonliffey 
extinguished or reduced those three native states which 
MacFaelain, O’Tuathail, and MacGillacolmoc ruled. 
O°Cathasaigh’s land of Saithni was annexed, says 
Giraldus, “ad regiam mensam,” to the royal demesne. 
So was most of the MacTorcaill demesne, but the 
family kept a portion, for later in 1174 Henry from 
Woodstock confirmed a grant of Strongbow to 
“Hamund mac Turkil” of Kinsaley and adjacent 
lands held by him before the coming of the English.t 

It now remained for the Church to complete the 
submission of the chiefs. During the winter of 1171-2 

a Council met at Cashel under Christian of Lismore, 
who from 1142, when he became first abbot of Mellifont, 

had taken chief place in the Reform movement, and 
now was to make the final rapprochement with Rome 
coincide with the extinction of native Ireland. 

With him were Laurence of Dublin, Cadhla of Tuam, 
and O’Huallachain of Cashel, while Gelasius, too old 
to attend, came to Dublin later, so Giraldus tells us, 
and confirmed. 

The decrees of Cashel, confirmed by Henry, com- 
pleted the work of a whole century of Reform. Many 

+See later, p. 81, for the Crown lands. For Hamund MacTurkil 
see Christchurch deeds, p. 36, Nos. 1 and 3+ 
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of them are concerned with tithes for the clergy, the 
regulation of baptism and marriage, the freeing of 
clergy from lay exactions and legal penalties. But for 
the future of Ireland the effective clause was this : 
“Divine offices shall be celebrated according to the 
forms of the Church of England, for it is right and just 
that as Ireland has received her lord and king from 
England she should accept reformation from the same 
source.” The legate, Christian, and Ralf, archdeacon 
of Llandaff, Henry's representative, were his mouth- 
piece in presenting this claim It is strange that 
Archbishop Laurence, a truly Irish-hearted man, should 
have concurred; still more that he should have 
demanded no guarantee from the new monarch for the 
rights of the native Church and the native race. It 
is only too clear that the native side was silenced by 
some assertion of Henry's papal-given right both as 
king and reformer-in-general, a right to which many 
of the Irish kings had already bowed.t 

The Bull, however, was not openly proclaimed, for 
Henry was then under threat of an interdict for Becket's 
murder. Yet, as soon as he was reconciled with the 
Pope, and indeed as a grace to this penitent of the 
Church, for Ireland seemed destined to be the victim 

whatever befell, Alexander IIs did in fact renew 
Adrian's grant. Letters from Tusculum in September 
1172 addressed all concerned. One to Christian and 
the bishops speaks of the foul customs (viliorum enor- 
mitates) of the Irish, as made known to Rome by letters 
patent of the bishops themselves. They are to assist 
Henry in keeping possession of Ireland and censure 
those who break their oaths of loyalty to him. A 
second bids Henry continue his good work. A third 
to the kings and princes of Ireland commends them 
for receiving Henry as king of their own free will. All 
three echo the words of Malachy about his own nation 
“a barbarous race, Christian only in name"—a des- 

2 Expug. Hib, V, Book I, Chap, XXXIV; abo Rog. Hoveden 
Chrom., 1170-25 
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cription which would have fitted all mediaeval and 
some modern nations.! 

In the eyes of Rome, Ireland needed reform; this 
could only be accomplished through Henry, on whom 
was conferred the lordship of Ireland in vassalage to 
the Holy See. The Angevin who was entrusted with 
“enlarging the bounds of the Church” enlarged also 
the bounds of his Empire. As for Rome, it was no 
small triumph for Catholic order and unity over an 
antiquated and schismatic Church; a triumph such as 
the Hildebrandine Popes of a century earlier had won 
‘over the local churches of England, Spain, and Italy. 

Whatever may be thought of Adrian's Bull, no 
doubt can exist that Alexander presented Ireland to 
Henry. At a Council of bishops at Dublin in March 
1177 Cardinal Vivian as Legate declared Henry's right 
to Ireland, and enjoined on the whole people not to 
depart from allegiance. No protest was made, and 
from that to 1534 English kings, Irish bishops and 
chiefs, fully accepted the fact and the practical con- 
sequences of Alexander's Privilege? 

The Irish bishops had, since x1oo, sent frequent 
“black reports” to Rome as to the moral defects of 
their people, and the decline of their Church, points 
urged with exaggerated eloquence by reformers such as 
Malachy, in whom patriotism had been swallowed up 
by zeal for the Church universal. True, the entente 
of Irish Reformers and Rome need not have led where 

3 These Letters are preserved in Black Book of the Exc 
pow, Horns 1798, Ti 37, bat are not gives. by 

vara Li Mote in perpetium,  Giraldos says, (Book II. Chap V.) 
Henry sent to Alexander for a 

The Pope nally sent a Privilege in addition to the Letters which 
was read by the papal envoys at the Synod of Waterford [1175 or 
1175]; this conferred on Henry the dominion over the Irish people. 
Evidently Henry sent Alexander the Bishops’ letters 

. Hid. Even in the Remonstrance of O'Neill and the Irish 
ees in 1318 to John XXIJ. fhey admit that Edward Il. holds Ireland 
by Papal Grant, but as he and his ancestors had not kept their bargain 
towards the Irish Chorch and had ‘oppressed the prople, they are 
resolved to transfer their allegiance to Edward Bruce: see later, 
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it did, but so it befell in the days of opportunist Popes. 
In Hungary, Poland, South Italy, the Holy See had 
nursed young nations into life: in Ireland it destroyed 
anation. The Irish Church submitted on cosmopolitan 
and religious grounds. The bishops were honest, if 
ingenuous. But the submissions of the lay princes 
did them less credit. 

The reasons of their easy homaging are clear 
Brefni and Oriel, formerly vassal states, thus became 
primary states under a foreign overlord. O’Brien 
thought he had less to fear from Henry than from 
O’Conor. MacCarthy saw a way of securing his half 
of Munster from his rival, O’Brien, while Ossory, long 
contested by Leinster and Munster, now preferred 
Henry to the Norman buccaneers. Even the Ostmen 

thought the Angevin might be a kinder lord than Irish 
chiefs or French adventurers. 

True, the extinction of the native dynasty in 

Leinster was calculated to alarm the remaining kings, 
but to a native “Ri” his own province was the chief 
concem. The Ard-Ri-ship had been a light matter, 
a yoke easily borne, and if any one of the greater kings 
could, since Brian, win this temporary glory, why not 
confer it on a foreigner, who was in fact an Euro, 
prince of dazzling fame? In Céige and iricha céd “a 
stranger in sovereignty” might not be tolerated, but 
in the High Kingship, yes. 

When the kings at Dublin “went into Henry's 
house,” as the Irish ran, they thought of themselves 
as merely giving hostages and homage to a superior 
who would leave their province-kingships untouched. 
Henry gave his new vassals no charters for their lord- 
ships, and thus seemed to accept their position, namely, 
as elective captains, having demesnes and prerogatives 
in virtue of office, while their subjects held under them 
by ancient custom.t 

+ This view 15 borne out by Tigernack, who says under 1170 that 
Leinster, the Henry “received the kingship of ie., kingship over} fi 

Sen $f aeath, Bretai, Orel dnd Uidia,” aed, dagee Wa7ee™ Henry, 
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There were native scholars to tell the kings that 
Henry, as Dominus Hiberniae and papal vassal, would 
have but a personal and feudal sovranty, resembling 
that which the Capetians had over France outside 
the Isle de France till almost 1200. But in England 
Henry was Dominus Terrae, from whom all land-titles 
depended, to whom estates reverted or forfeited on 
occasion, under whom lordship of land, and seignory 
over its people, were identical except in so far as the 
King should check this seignory. This full European 
form of feudalism was bound to enter Ireland with the 
new régime. 
Henry had not won Ireland by the sword. “ There 

was scarcely anyone of rank or name in the island,” 
says Giraldus, exaggerating the numbers indeed, “ who 
did not in person or otherwise, pay to the King the 
homage due from a liege-man to his lord.” After 
reciting Henry's claims, which include the fantastic 
legend that Arthur of Britain had Irish kings tributary 
to him, he makes the submission a legal and constitu- 
tional ‘one by saying that the princes of Ireland 
voluntarily submitted to the King of England, doing 
him fealty, and taking oaths of allegiance, which 
contracts, though entered into of free will, are not free 
to be broken. Finally, papal authority completes and 
confirms Henry’s title.® 

Thus, either the Irish kings were feudal vassals in 
the sense that the Scottish king for a time was vassal 
of the English one, or else the whole Irish people by 
free contract had been secured in the same rights as 
the people of England. But, in fact, Ireland was 
treated as an annexed, conquered, and therefore rightless 
country, and this was immediately shown when Henry, 
before leaving Ireland, granted ‘‘ the land of Meath as 

* Expug. Hib., Book I, Chap. CKXXII, and Book 11, Chap, VII. 
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fully as Murchard Hua Melachlin or any before him 
had held it” to Hugh de Lacy, though he had but 
lately received the homage of the reigning O’Melachlin.2 
‘This was more than a mere feudal grant. It was the 
giving away of a kingdom, a matter of handing over 
nearly a million acres of the richest land in Europe to 
a subject, with the rights of a native “ Ri” and full 
feudal regalities, all at the petty service of fifty knights. 
The rights of O’Melachlin were extinguished and the 
evil precedent was successively followed in Ulidia, Oriel, 
Connacht, Desmond, and portions again of these. 

De Lacy, indeed, was well qualified to found a new 
kingdom, a man more of Henry’s type that Strongbow's 
—black, sturdy, and short, firm and steadfast, “ avari- 
cious and temperate as any Frenchman,’’ indefatigable 

in public and private affairs. But his gifts were not 
at once available for Ireland, for he was summoned to 
France by the King in the spring of 1173. King Henry 

himself left Ireland on Easter a4 April 27, 1272, 

at Wexford included “ +The Charter Mberties an 
customs which I feary) have of can have there, " NPext in Calendar 
Of the Gormansion Register, ed, Mills and McEnery, p. 177. 
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CHAPTER III 

‘STRONGBOW, EARL OF LEINSTER, 1172-6, AND DE COURCY, 
“ Princeps Ulidiae"’ 

Tue old unity under the High King was now gone, 
that under an English king was yet far off. In reality, 
for six or seven years after Henry’s departure there 
was no true government at all, and Strongbow and his 
Normans worked their own ends. With the Irish kings 
the immediate need was to protect their own states 
from the fate of Leinster and Meath. 

There could not be double lords, and the native 
chief had to make way for the feudal one, wherever 
and however the conquerors could manage it. Thus 
Tigemnan O’Ruairc, whose power had extended at one 
time to Clonard, was in Lacy’s way. A meeting was 
arranged between them at Tlachtga, the Hill of Ward, 
and Tigernan, “king of Brefni, Conmaicni, and the 
greater part of Meath,” was slain, by treachery it 
would seem, and his head sent to Dublin to be set up 
over the gate (1172). Next ‘Donal O’Fergail, 
high-chief of Conmaicni, was killed by the people of 
the King of England,” and his state, the modern 
Longford, which he held in vassalage to O’Ruairc, was 
annexed by De Lacy. Thus old Brefni disappeared ; 
the O’Ruaires, however, continued to hold the western 
half, Leitrim, while east Brefni, now Cavan, became 
the lordship of the kindred O’Reillys 

In the same year, 1172, Murchad MacMurchada, 
brother of King Dermot, “' was slain treacherously by 
the people of FitzEmpress.” Thus was it driven home 
that, in spite of homagings, the native kings were 
doomed to perish along with their kingdoms. 

A fate all too common among the lesser chiefs was 
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that of Faelan, lord of Offelan, who saw his little 
kingdom extinguished, and died a monk long after, 
in 1203, in the abbey of Connal, founded by Meiler 
FitzHenry, one of the conquerors. 

In the spring of 1173 Henry sent over an envoy, 
William FitzAudelm, who published Alexander's 
Privilege at a synod at Waterford. As De Lacy was 
now in Normandy, Strongbow was created “Custos 
Regni,” or Guardian of Ireland, in August 1173. 

In spite of Lacy’s absence his lieutenants made 
way in Meath, where in 1173 Donal O’Melachlin was 
killed by his brother, Art, who then assumed the title 
of king in West-Meath, while Magnus claimed East- 
Meath. Every Norman advance was secured by 
“mote and bretesch” fortresses, held by permanent 
garrisons. De Lacy’s fort at Trim was the type which 
preceded the stone castles of fifty years later, namely, 
a high mound or mote with flat summit, ditch and 
outer bailey, and on the mote itself a wooden tower. 
Seldom was it necessary to build the earthen mote, 
for Ireland was full of the duns, cashels, and cathairs 
of the former chiefs whose place and demesne the 
Norman lords occupied. 

In England the Normans had built their towers 
out of the stones of conquered towns, such as Oxford. 
In Ireland, where ecclesiastical buildings were many, 
the first stone castles were frequently made from the 
ruin of local churches. The great monastic centres, 
sheltering traders and artisans, and built on fords and 
highways, became as at Durrow, Trim, Kells, Kilkenny, 
and elsewhere, the natural seats and strongholds of the 
new military caste. 

Raymond le Gros was the leader of Norman 
aggression in the south. In 1173 he plundered as far 

as Lismore, though MacCarthy had submitted to 
Henry. While his men sailed down the Blackwater 
with the booty, they were attacked in the harbour of 
Youghal by the Ostmen of Cork, who had thirty-two 
ships, and were commanded by one Gilbert jilius 
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Turgarii, MacCarthy’s Ostman “ maor” or governor 
in Cork. The son of Turgar, however, was killed in 
the sea-fight, while Raymond, who was with the land 
force, encountered MacCarthy, hastening to join his 
Ostmen, at Lismore and routed him, carrying off 
four thousand cattle from the king. 

This breach of faith with MacCarthy alarmed 
Donal O’Brien, who secured the aid of Rury O’Conor’s 
son, Conor Maenmoy, fell on the Earl’s mote-fortress 
at Kilkenny, and drove its garrison back to Waterford. 
To punish him, early next year, 1174, Strongbow and 
Hervey de Montmorency marched to Cashel, only to 
hear that the High King was advancing to O’Brien’s 
help. They therefore sent messengers hot-foot to 
Dublin, and a strong force, mainly of Ostmen from the 
city, pushed westward, but were intercepted at 
Thurles and cut to pieces by O’Brien and Maenmoy.* 
The Earl got away safe to Waterford, but the spell of 
Norman victory was broken. “The whole people of 
Ireland revolted as one,” says Giraldus, with some 
exaggeration. A revolt of Waterford and Wexford 
penned Strongbow up in an island of the Suir and he 
was only saved by sending for Raymond le Gros, who 
was then in Wales, offering him his sister Basilia’s 
hand, and the Constableship of Leinster. Raymond, 
who had long coveted both prizes, at once sailed for 
Bannow with four hundred men and brought the Earl 
to Waterford, which again submitted. 

In the North Rury raised a most imposing array, 
to which came the kings or the levies of all Connacht, 
Brefni, Oriel, and Ulidia, while even Melachlin of Cenel 
Eoghain and Flahertach O’Maeldory of Tir Conaill, 
eeye son-in-law, exe 

‘The Saglal kanes Sacordig 42 Coeiies pare foes beni cies aad 
four knights. 
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The immediate attack was directed against Lacy's 
fortress at Trim, which was held for him by Hugh 
Tyrel. But Tyrel quailed and abandoned the castle, 
which the Irish destroyed. They then restored 
Magnus O’Melachlin to his kingdom of Meath, and 
retired as though their work was done, so that 
Strongbow, marching to relieve Trim, found only a 
rearguard to harass. 

It was a pitiable result for the Irish army. An 
extraordinary lack of resolution marked Rury O’Conor’s 
career to the end. So little, indeed, was achieved that 
Trim was rebuilt, and in 1175 Magnus O’Melachlin 
was captured and hanged after the ruthless fashion of 
the conquerors, leaving Art O’Melachlin to call himself 
king of all Meath. 

Wearied with constant ill-success, Rury came to 
terms with the new Lord of Ireland, and the Treaty 
of Windsor was negotiated and signed by his envoys 
and Henry II. at that place, in October 1175. The 
terms, briefly stated, are these. Henry grants to 
“Roderic, King of Connacht,” that as long as the 
latter faithfully serves him, he shall be king under 
him, as his man. He shall hold his land as he held 
it before Henry entered Ireland, on payment of tribute. 
The people of Connacht, his subjects, shall pay their 
tributes to Henry through Rury, and their rights are 
guaranteed, Those who now hold their lands shall 
do so in peace, paying their dues to the King through 
the king of Connacht. If the latter cannot deal with 
rebels, or with those who will not pay their tributes 
to the King through Rury, the Constable of King 
Henry shall assist him. The tribute is to be one hide 
in every ten of animals slain, both on Rury’s land and 
that of others, except those lands which Henry reserves 
for himself or others, viz., Dublin, Meath, Wexford, 
with its appurtenances (i.e., Leinster), and Waterford 

even to Dungarvan. If the Irish who have fled wish 
to return to the land of the English barons, they may 
do so, but they must pay the above tributes or 
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perform the ancient services (antigua servicia), which 
they were wont to do for their lands, and this shall 
be at the will and judgment of their lords (in arbitrio 
4 voluntate dominorum suorum). If any are unwilling 
to return, and their English lords demand them of the 
king of Connacht, he shall compel them to return. 
Rury shall receive hostages from those under him, 
and give hostages in turn to the King of England.* 

That the treaty was regarded as a triumph for 
Rury and Ireland is shown in Tigernach’s words : 
“‘Cadhla O’Dubhai came out of England from Fitz- 
Empress, having with him the peace of Ireland, and 
the kingship thereof, over both Foreigner and Gael, 
to Rury O’Conor, with his kingdom to every province- 
king from the King of Erin and their tributes to 
Rury.”” It was not so complete a triumph as this, 
however, for Rury was merely left as king of the Gael 
of Erin, not of the Englishry and the land reserved 
by Henry. 

Rary, in fact, was guaranteed in his native kingdom 
of Connacht. Over the rest of the Irish states he 
remained over-lord, or Ard Ri, Both he and Henry 
guarantee their kingdoms to these kings and chiefs, 
who are to pay tributes to Henry, as well as their 
ancient duties to Rury, The King of Connacht himself 
is to pay tribute of hides, a heavy one, and they pay 
the same through him to Henry. To restock the 
devastated land of the English, and provide man- 
power for the new manors, the old tenantry are to be 
persuaded or forced to return. These are clearly 
divided into free-men, saor-chéiles or aires, from whom 
the barons can demand the old military services and 
rent, and the unfree fuidirs, etc., Belaghs, as the 
Normans called them, who are to be villeins at will. 
Rury, in short, by this heartless clause handed over 
a whole rural population to a bondage like Anglo- 

1 Bee ee er 
Brendan’ Tuam, Cantordis [? ‘Conchobbar). ‘abbot of St. 

and Magister Laurentius, ‘' cancellarius Regis Comnactiensis.”” 
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Norman villeinage, the terms of which were to be 
decided by the new lords. 

Henry was evidently coached by Cadhla and 
Archbishop Laurence in Irish law, for Rury and his 
vassal kings were clearly left in the position familiar 
to them, of an Ard Ri, king in his own province, and 
also over-lord of the other kings, who pay to him the 
old royal tributes and military service. 

The Treaty of Windsor was a solemn and definite 
pact, making definite the vague terms between Henry 
and the kings in 171-2. But there were difficulties 
in enforcing it. Henry himself violated it soon by 
granting South Munster to English adventurers, and 
allowing De Courcy to invade Ulidia. Rury himself 
had scarcely the resources for controlling the kings of 
Munster and Ulster, or for paying so large a tribute. 
Moreover, the Treaty was only made with Rury, and 
it was a question if it bound Henry’s successors to 
O’Conor’s successors. Still, though the O’Conor 
kingship over the other free states soon disappeared, 
the Kingdom of Connacht remained a fact till the 
death of Rury’s brother, Cathal Crovderg, in 3224, 
and to this extent the Treaty of Windsor lasted a full 
fifty years. 

Rury’s conception of his rights under the treaty 
is shown by his dealings with Donal Mér O’Brien, a 
vigorous prince, who was grasping the kingdom of 
Thomond in a firm hand, and expelling his Eoghanacht 
tivals from the plain of Cashel, Rury intervened, and 
ousted Donal in 1175, giving the kingdom to the son 
of Murchad O’Brien, his own step-brother.  Rury 
then called on the Dublin government to aid him, 
and Raymond le Gros marched upon Limerick in 
October 1175, with eight hundred horse and archers, 
and by a brilliant stroke captured the city. “It was 
a famous capture,” says Giraldus, “' and the conquerors 
were compensated by plenteous spoil and a vast 
quantity of gold.” But next April Donal besi 
the Norman garrison there, and the news of Strongbow’s 
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death decided Raymond to abandon Limerick. The 
moment the garrison tumed their backs, O’Brien 
entered his capital and held it till his death in 1194. 
Rury made peace with him, and Donal O’Brien 
accepted him as over-lord.t 

Earl Richard died in Dublin of an ulcer in the 
foot, on June rst, 1x76. Tigernach says of him: 
“Since Turgesius died there never came into Ireland 
a brigand that wrought more ruin than he,” and the 
native race could hardly be expected to speak kindly 
of a foreigner and a conqueror. 

Strongbow left no son, and his infant daughter by 
Eva MacMurchada, Isabella de Clare, was now heiress 
of Pembroke and Leinster. The sub-infeudation of 
Leinster had been roughly achieved during the Earl’s 
last five years. Five later counties, Kildare, Wexford, 
Wicklow, Kilkenny, Carlow, and Leix, were Fitz- 
Gilbert's princely estate, guarded by such strategic 
fortresses as Kilkenny, Castlecomer, and the great 
rock-fortress of Dunamase, in Leix. 

After his private demesne had been amply provided 
for, the rich lands of North Leinster were granted 
away with little regard to native right. ‘The more 
remote cantred of Offelan” went to Meiler FitzHenry, 
though later it was Bermingham’s barony of Carbury, 
in Kildare. The middle one with Naas went to 
Maurice FitzGerald with the cantred of Wicklow, and 
the one nearest to Dublin in North-east Kildare to 

Adam de Hereford and his brothers. Offaly went to 
Robert de Bermingham, ancestor of the barons of 
Tethmoy. Thus}vanished most of Ui Faelain. 

The baronies of Reban, Slievemargy, and Norragh 
went to Robert St. Michael, John de Clahull, and 
Robert FitzRichard respectively, and twenty knights’ 
fees, given to Walter de Ridlesford about Castledermot 

* Tigernach, 1s, Tigerah wh says Kary called the Hatlsh ito ntack O'Brien 
Girakiua says thet the reason for the siege of Limerick was that 
Donal behaved in an insolent manner and repadiated to 
‘the King of England. vat 
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in South Kildare, extinguished the rights there of the 
Ui Muredaigh. 

In Carlow the cantreds of Odrone and Forth were 
granted to Raymond le Gros; in North Ossory Adam 
de Hereford got “half the cantred in which Achebo 

is situate, as Dermot Ochelli held it,” and in South 
Ossory Iverk, between Carrick-on Suir and Barrow, 
went to Milo FitzDavid, one of the Geraldines. 

In Wexford South Offelmy, east of the Slaney and 
Bann, went to Gilbert de Boreart; the Dufiry went 
to Philip de Prendergast, who built Enniscorthy castle ; 
Ferann na gCenel, or Shielmalier, went to FitzGodebert, 
founder of the Roche family; and Bargy went to 

Hervey de Montmorency.? 
After the submission of Dublin Strongbow acted 

as lord of the Norse territory of Fingall, where a 
strange medley of lordships already existed. Dermot 
MacMurchada had been supreme lord, O’Cathasaigh of 
Saithni had extended to Kilreske near Finglas, Mac- 
Gillacolmoc was mesne lord over Clontarf as far as 
Baldoyle, and the MacTorcaills had a demesne stretch- 
ing from Dublin to Howth, Portrane, and Ballybaghill. 

Of these, O’Cathasaigh lost Kilreske to the Earl; 
most of MacTorcaill’s land was taken; and MacGilla- 
colmoc was little regarded when Strongbow gave to 
Vivian de Curcy “the land called Ratheny even as 
Gilcolman formerly held it.” Howth was given to the 
first St. Laurence. Later Hugh de Lacy, under cover 
of his earldom of Meath, granted to Adam de Feypo 
Santry and Clontarf. 

In south Dublin, also a land of mingled Irish and 
Ostmen, Strongbow made sure of the champain country 
between the city and the mountains. In addition to 
his Kildare fiefs, Walter de Ridlesford received in the 
land south of Dublin “ Bren and the land of the sons 
of Odurchil,” at service of five knights’ fees.* 

3 See Orpen. Normans, vol is Chap. XI. Subinfeudation of Leinster 
Settlement, op. cit. Mills, Norman 

See Reg. All Hallows. p. 
De Ridelsford see Rot. Canc. 

Ai SB No Ll, For the mrant to 
ib. Cal, p. 4. “ Bren” would seem 
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Apart from these feudal areas, the Sees of Dublin 
and Glendaloch retained wide lands in the mountain 
country and Avon Liffey. Large areas were also 
reserved for royal demesne, to support the Dublin 
government. In the Crown lands were included now 
and later, “ O'Cadesi’s land,” viz. the barony of 
Balrothery west in North Dublin, the royal forest of 
Glencree, the coast as far as Arklow and lands along 
the course of the Liffey, where before long the four 
royal manors were formed which lasted to Tudor days.* 
To these Crown lands were added the Ostman cities 
of Ireland, as they fell; and the coast from Waterford 
to Dungarvan. 

Strongbow, however, did not sweep away Irish 
rights on the scale of a William the Conqueror dealing 
with Anglo-Saxons. Many chiefs had sided with him, 
others submitted and kept much of their land intact. 
Thus MacGillapatraic continued to hold most of Ossory. 
Ferns and a portion of Hy Kinsella were left to 
Murchertach, son of Murchad MacMurchada, and the 
faithful Donal Kavanagh was made “ Seneschal of the 
Irish of Leinster’ under Strongbow. Donal, enforcing 
the Earl’s rights, was slain in 1175 by O’Foirtchern 
and O’Nolan of Forth, but the Kavanaghs held office 
and lands in Carlow under first the Marshalls and then 
the Bigods till 1300. While the conquerors held the 
plains and the coast, it was policy to leave much of 

to be Ui Briuin Cuala, the name of a tribe-district in N. Co. Wicklow, 
from Glencree to Bray. |‘ Odurchel ” is clearly a shot at © Torcaill, 
and would indicate the demsenes of the MacTorcaill race in S. Dublin. 

fastnesses, and Donnybrook and Bray on the east side of the Dublin 
mountains. 

" Vis,, Esker, Newcastle-Lyons, Cromlin, and Tassagard, which 
contained some 10,000 modern acres. The earliest Pipe Roll, XIL 
H. 111, gives the royal manors in the Vale of Dublin; it includes 
the ** betaghs of Othee, Obran, and Okelli,” ic., O Taidhg, O Briuin 
and © Ceallaigh, tribe-lands in S. Dublin and N. Wicklow, 35th ep. 
D. K. App. UI! 
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the hinterland to the older lords, and make them 
responsible for their clans. Often some sort of con- 
cordat was made by which a chief kept half of his 
land, e.g., only half of O’Caolaidhe’s cantred of Achebo 
went to De Hereford. Still the grim phrasing, “as 
the O’Tothils held it,” “as Humoriardac held it,” etc., 
covers numerous cases of sheer expulsion. The first 
step for the newcomers was to seize the chief's 
demesne and turn his dim into a manor-castle, the 

head of a barony which, with time, would obliterate 
the former Irish state. 

The border chiefs naturally suffered most. 
O'Cathasaigh disappeared; the mér-tuath of Offelan 
was extinguished by feudal grants, and the Ui Mure- 

-daigh, whose last true “ Ri,’’ Gillacomgaill, died in 
1176, lost the rich plains of South Kildare, but kept 
the hill country from Dunlavin eastwards, and under 
the patronymic of O'Toole, kept Imaal and much of 
North Wicklow. The North Leinster hills, and 
especially the fastnesses of Glenmalure, were also the 
retreat of the O'Byrnes, who represented the Ui 
Faelain of North Kildare. 

One great chief fared better, Donal MacGillacolmoc, 
brother-in-law of Strongbow, ally in the fight with 
Asgall, entered the ranks of the Norman baronage, 
and retained his royal seat at Liamhain. In the ninth 
year of King John, 1207, “Lymerhim and fifteen 
carucates of land and a burgage in Dublin,” were 
confirmed to Donal’s son, Dermot. Later, in 12r5, 
when Liamhain was made into the royal fortress of 

+ Eg., Matilda de Lacy, heiress of the last de Lacy, granted to the 
Templars the manor of Coly (Cualgne, now a parish east of Carlingford 
town) with forty acres of land “which formerly "O Hensethy rex 
patriae illsus' held "'—a sheer case of seizure by the of a chie!’s 
demesne and his diin at Carlingiord—the site of a later Norman castle. 
© Hinnrechraigh was Ri of the Ui Meith Mars. So Naas, formerly 
capital of the Ui Faclain, became a manor-town of the FitsGeralds, 
barons of Naas—it was granted to Maurice fil’ Giraldi by Strongbow 
‘with a cantred of land near Nane which Makelan (MacFhaelaia] held” 
So with Kilreske, O Cadesi’s seat, annexed by the Earl. 
Templars in Ireland, H. Wood, P. R. I. Au, Pp. Jyso and Charlee et 
Privilegia, p. 5. 
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Newcastle Lyons, “ John Deremot, nephew of Gille- 
holmoc,” lost his lands there, most of which were 
taken “for the improving of the King’s manor there,” 
while the North Dublin lands had already been taken 
over by Strongbow. Gradually this family, which took 
the patronymic FitzDermot, alienated or lost the most 
of their lands south of Dublin, but in x400 a John 
FitzDermot was still lord of the manor of Rathdown. 

Of the Ostman race who had been lords of 
Dublin-shire for centuries, Strongbow felt a natural 
fear. For some three or four years, indeed, Hamund, 
brother of Earl Asgall, was permitted to keep Kinsaley 
and other hereditary lands on the Fingall coast, and 
other members of the family survived the Conquest 
longer still. But they were a dangerous race, which 
might call on a Norse fleet again to their aid, and 
could not escape the suspicion and rapacity of the 
conquerors. A sidelight is revealed in this record: 
“Laurence being then Archbishop, Strongbow and 

FitzStephen took Ballibaghille where dwelt one Mac- 
goghdane, who after four days fighting was captured 
and beheaded. The earl then gave Ballibaghille, 
Portraghin and Kynsali to Holy Trinity.” * 

In Dublin itself, however, a large Ostman popula- 
tion remained, sufficient to send four hundred men to 
Strongbow’s aid at Thurles in 1174. 

On the whole, then, Strongbow’s conquest was 

a1 Henry from Woodstock confirmed S ~ Hamund” Macetutiyi" of "'Rensauen" and other sdjcert lands, 
held by him before the arrival of the English, but in the same year 
Strongbow grants the land of Hamund MacTurkil to Holy Trinity, 
Duplin. See Chrisichurch Deeds, No. t and No. 44. The fight at 
ae ee ete ces Sarees ee 
for MecThgtralh, which ‘to Noraan scribe would ‘mend, Hie 
* Magorkil,” hence it would mean Hamund himself, who thus died 
like a brave viking resisting expulsion. The year would be 1174 
when, Hamund being disposed of, Strongbow grants his lands to Holy 
‘Trinity. The Earl's second grant to St. s, Dublin, is of lands 
formerly held by “' Sigrith and Torphin mac Torkil.” Thus did this 
Interesting Norov-Ireh dynasty disappear, yet tll Henry 11's reign 
members of it are“ hoadmen” responsible .e Crown ronts of 
Eke Ostmen inthe Vale of Dublin’ 33h Rep D. Ker App. HT. 
PP. 29-32. 
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far from being one of extermination. He claimed 
Leinster as Dermot's heir, and ruled it as a “ province- 
king,” calling out, for example, the posse of the 
province in 1174 against Rury, when his Irish vassals 
followed him “ according to ancient custom,’”! 

In making his grants, Strongbow addresses “all 
his friends and men, French, English, and Irish,” 
implying that many Celtic freemen hold of him. 
Inevitably, the conquerors took over much of the law 
and land-divisions of a land so long settled and 
civilised. The units of baile, tuath, and tricha céd 
became the Anglo-Irish township or vill, the hundred, 
and the barony. For tricha céd the invaders had the 
word “‘cantred,” a form of the Welsh “ cantref,"” or 
“a hundred townlands,” a land-unit with which they 
were already familiar, Originally it would seem that 
the Gaelic tricha céd (with its variants, aes, aicme, etc.) 
corresponded to the ‘wath; by now it was certainly 
very much larger. Hence while the invaders equated 
the twath, which they called thoth or theodum, with 
with hundred and parish, the tricha céd was, generally 
speaking, the barony or cantred, though, indeed, we 
often find two baronies formed from one tricha.* 

Sometimes, however, a whole mér-tuath is granted 
away, as when Earl Richard conferred all Offaly (Ui 
Failghe) on Robert de Bermingham. Now, Offaly was 
divided at the time among three Irish lords, O’Conor, 
O'Diomusaigh, and O'Duinn, the former having the pre- 
eminence, but each was lord of a cantred or tricha cdd.® 

2 Song, p. 233. 
‘Note that while the cantreds are large, e.g., the three cantreds 

which formed Offelan, the Ridlesford grant inclided inter ala seven 
or eight ‘watha which ‘must therefore have been small in size, After 
the organisation of shires was complete, by 1297, the division of each 
county into cantreds for administrative purposes became general. 
See later. J. E, Lloyd, History of Wales, Vol. I. p. 309, says, 
“The cantref in Wales represents the smaller divisions into which the 
criginal. tribe kingdom (gotad), og. Ceredigion, split up, the. king 
continuing to appoint the heads of these cantre 
Hintoaa Welsh sPecid take the mer Suaih nad divide it lato cantreda 
as they did with Offelan. 

"The charter of foundation of Rosgas (Monasterevan), cies, 180 
shows that O'Conor is suzerain in Odaly over O'Demsy and O’Dun. 
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Many of the Gaels, as we have said, remained as 
vassal-chiefs and as free tenants on the appropriated 
lands. The agricultural man-power for the new 
manors was provided from the existing base tenants 
of Irish law. The “ men” who cultivated the demesne 
lands under the old order would continue to do so 
under the new. “ Bounds according to the custom of 
Ireland’”” meant. that system of co-cultivation and 
communal ownership which was universal in Ireland, 
and such communal groups appear constantly in the 
“lands of the betaghs’” in manor records. The 
Sfuidirs, bothachs, daor-chéiles, and even the saor-chéiles, 
the latter degraded as the ceorls were by Norman 
conquest in England, were left undisturbed to produce 
wealth from the soil. “ Betagius,” from biatach, 
“ food-provider,” and “Irishman” (hibernicus) were 
Anglo-Irish for “ villein” till the whole system died 
out. 

A. striking instance of community is that of 
Baldoyle (balidubgaill), which Dermot MacMurchada 
before 1167 granted to All Hallows, with its ‘‘ homines,” 
viz., Melisu macFeilecan and his issue. After the 
Conquest, Adam de Feypo got from Hugh, first earl 
of Meath, lands about Clontarf, including Baldoyle, 
and his heir, Richard, in John’s reign made a fresh 
grant to All Hallows of the same “ Mackelygans” of 
Balydubgil and their issue. 

To resume the course of events. Retumed from 
France, Hugh de Lacy was appointed “ Procurator 
general and Custos of Ireland” in May 1177, and so 

(Dugdale, VI. Pt. Il. p. 1134). The whole subject needs detailed 
and scientific treatment. “Meanwhile we may add to the above 
statements, which have been duly weighed, that the mdér-luath of 
Fermoy (Fir Muighe) became three baronies,’ Roche's, Condon’s, and 
Clangibbon’s country and the Tricha Céd Medhonach (Middle Cantred), 
formerly O'Cobbthaigh’s country in S. W. Cork, became the barony 
gf Barry Roe, The manor of Moyavenach is the modern parish of 
Mahoonagh, Co. Limerick, and was a tuaih of Connello, itself an 
ancient mdr-tuath, which after the Conquest became the patria of the 
Desmond Geraldines, and got divided into two baronies of Upper an 
Lower Connelio (C. D. J. II. 1251-2, Lands of Thomas de Clare). 

“Reg. All Hallows, No. LIIl. and p. 50. 
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held till rr8r. Maurice FitzGerald had died in 1176, 
leaving three sons, William, baron of Naas, Gerald, 
and Thomas. 

The danger from the North, which bred soldiers in 
abundance, was now the serious question for the 

colonists. It came home to them especially when at 
the end of 1176, Melachlin MacLochlain with Cenel 
Eoghain and the men of Oriel marched against De 
Lacy’s castle at Slane, destroyed it, and slew Richard 
Fleming, its warder, and the garrison of five 
hundred. 

In the next year Melachlin, by slaying his rival of 
the O’Neills, Aedh, became all-powerful, and held 
single sway till 1185. So in Tir Conaill, Flahertach 
O'Maeldory, beginning to reign in x167, ousted and 
finally slew his rival ,Rury O’Canannain, at Sligo in 
3188, and ruled triumphantly till rr97. 

The feuds of the northern kings, and the imminent 
need of striking in before the Ulster menace should 
culminate, suggested the most epical exploit of the 
whole Invasion. John de Courcy, a Somersetshire 

knight, collecting a number of the discontented and 
restless of the Dublin English, set out to conquer 
Ulster on his own, without royal permission, at least 
without any that is recorded. De Courcy, who had 
come over with FitzAudelin on Strongbow’s death, is 
the one who suggests, most among all the conquistadors, 
the Norman adventurer of an earlier age : tall, hardy, 
a bonny fighter, having the courage of his crimes, and 
owing little allegiance to king or fatherland. His 
career is a true epic and the Book of Howth is his 
“chanson de geste.” 

With some three hundred colonists and some native 
troops, De Courcy set off for the North early in 1177, 
and on February 1 carried Downpatrick, the capital 
of Ulidia, and a city as sacred as Armagh itself, by 
a brilliant coup-de-main. But its king, Rury Mac- 
Donlevy, soon returned with a great array, and 
Cardinal Vivian, Papal Legate, who was then at Down, 
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blessed the native cause. MacDonlevy, however, was 
again defeated in the battle which followed. 

The Northern men were hard to beat, as Giraldus 
admits, The king of Ulidia then went to Melachlin 
MacLochlain, his over-lord, got help from him, and 
returned with O’Carain, Archbishop of Armagh, the 

bishop of Down, many clergy, and the most sacred 
telics of Armagh, to face De Courcy once more, But 
the great rally of the North was totally defeated, the, 
English slaughtered the clergy indiscriminately with 
the lay combatants, and the archbishop and bishop 
were taken, along with the relics, on June 24, 1177. 

Several hot contests followed this, in Antrim, in 
Oriel, and at Newry, and though the Northerners never 
refused battle, the Norman horse, their archers, and 
mail-clad foot proved always victors. 

De Courcy’s first aim had been to conquer Ulidia 
(Ulaidh), and the title “ Princeps Ulidiae,” which he 
apparently assumed, would make him the successor 
of MacDonlevy# But earlier, as there were native 
scholars to tell him, Ulidia had stretched west of the 
Bann and Loch Neagh, and these old claims became 
his. Further, he aimed at subjecting Oriel and then 
of overthrowing MacLochlain himself with his over- 
kingdom: thus would the Norman become what the 
kings of Ailech had been, supreme king over the whole 
North. Hence the later confusion as to what the 
earldom of Ulster meant—was it merely Ulidia eas 

+Cardinal Vivian had just come from Man, where ho had married 
its king, Godred, to Finola, daughter of ‘' Melaghlen mac Lochlen," 
ive., daughter of Melachlin, then ruling over Cenel Foghain. After 
leaving Man, Vivian landed in Ulster to proceed to Dublin on legatine 
affairs, and’ William of Newburgh (Hist. Rer. Anglic, 1177) is 

sible for the story that being at Down he encouraged the Irish 
to fight for their rights-no wonder, considering that the Treaty of 

‘had admitted the right of the Irish kings to their provinces. 
But De ‘Courcy's victories scon reconciled the Legate to the fait 
‘accompli, and on arriving at Dublin, at the synod which he called 
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of the Bann and Newry, or was it the whole province, 
the Ultonia, “ Ulvester,” and Ulster of later usage ? 

De Courcy had for the present no further rally of 
the North to fear. The Cenel Eoghain for twenty 
years made no attempt to save Ulidia, and the Cenel 
Conaill turned to conquer North Connacht. Irish 

Ulidia and Irish Oriel were doomed to disappear before 
the conquerors. When Murchad O’Ceryall died in 
1189, a monk at Mellifont, even his patronymic came 

to an end, and in the portion of Oriel which survived, 
namely, Monaghan, or “Irish Oriel,” the MacMahons 
took chief place. The unfortunate Rury MacDonlevy 
lasted on till 1201, when he was slain by the English 
for plundering Armagh. His descendants, until 1272, 
claim to be “ Kings of the Irish of Ulster,” but by 
1330, they have disappeared completely from among 
the chiefly names of the North.” 

Having conquered, John built the usual castles, 
at Down, Coleraine, Carrickfergus, and Carlingford. 
Carrickfergus, with its castle and the Premonstrant 
abbey which De Courcy founded, became an English 
town, and the Benedictines and the Cistercians whom 
he brought, the first to St. Patrick’s priory at Down, 
and the second from Furness to Inch abbey near 
Down, introduced a new Anglo-French civilisation into 

the North. With him came in those still surviving 
“Old English names” of eastern Ulster, Logan, 
Hacket, Savage, Russell, and such. It was the first 
Plantation of the North, but a French, not an Anglo- 
Saxon one, for De Courey neither expelled the Irish 
nor planted English plebeians. It was, and remained, 
the thinnest of the English colonies. 

If De Courcy was not entirely after the Irish heart, 
as little was he an Englishman. He rendered no 
homage for Ulidia to Henry or John, though his 
charters recognise them as liege lords. Conscious of 

»Cal. Inguis., vol. vii, 7 Ed. 111. on De Burgo lands in Ulster 
names the Irish ‘asealt of the Earl, but MacDonlevy is not emoag 

m. 
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the need of maritime allies, he married in 1180 
Affreca, daughter of Godred, king of Man, and sister 
of Ragnall, who ruled after his father from 1187 to 

1229.  Ragnild, Godred’s sister, had married Somerled, 
Lord of Argyle, founder of the MacDonnells. Godred 
himself was husband of Finola, daughter of Melachlin 
MacLochlain, King of Cenel Eoghain. The most 
un-national of all the conquistadors, and with the true 
Norman instinct for “happy marriages,” De Courcy 
thus allied with that Norse-Gaclic fringe which lay 
between Ireland and Alba and dreamed of found- 
ing a kingdom with its base on Ulster and 
Man. 

As Ulster had been invaded without right, so now 
was Connacht invaded. Tigermach records it thus. 
Early in 1177 De Cogan and the English of Dublin 
marched to Roscommon, where they were joined by 
Murchad, son of Rury O'Conor, who guided them 
through the Plain of Connacht, which they bumed, 
to Ath-mogha and the Tochar, or causeway, of Méin 
Connedha into the high road, or slighe mdr, of Lecce 
Gnathail, and over Ath Finne near Dunmor and direct 
to Tuam. They bumed five churches and the fort at 
Galway, and were three nights in Tuam without food 
or profit, for the people had fled to fastnesses with 
their belongings. | Rury O’Conor marched against 
them and did not allow the foreigners to lift a head 
till the place of battle was given them. Then the 
English fled till they reached Méin Connedha, where, 
but for Murchad, they were utterly broken, and so to 

Ath-liac, where there was panic, and so out of 
Connacht, knowing not the extent of their loss.? 

Then the traitor Murchad fell into the hands of 
Rury and was blinded by his orders. 

4 Here is a clear case waere the invaders used great existing roads. 
The whole march of De Cogan was clearly on a customary route, 
suited for his cavalry and war-carriage. Méin Connedha was an 
important meeting-place, the scene of many encounters, lying between 

liymore and Dunmore, Co. Galway. ae ‘trom it was a highway 
‘nto Connacht called Slighe mér lige gnathoi! (Hogan, On). 
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In vain should we condemn or explain away these 
raids on Irish kings whose rights Henry had guaranteed. 
The feudal class were robbers while they conquered 

and tyrants while they ruled. The spoils of a great 
and fertile country had been thrown to them, and 
Henry, even had he wished to restrain them, could 
only have done so by lis personal presence. 
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CHAPTER IV 

PRINCE JOHN, Dominus Hiberniae, 1177-1199 

Ar the Council of Oxford, May 1177, Henry turned his 
attention once more to Ireland. Prince John, then 
only ten, was styled Lord of Ireland; Hugh de Lacy 
was appointed Procurator-General, with a re-grant of 
Meath at service of a hundred knights; and by several 
sweeping grants, or rather confiscations, Henry violated 
both the form and the spirit of his treaties with the 
native kings. He bestowed the Regnum Corcagiae 
jointly on Robert FitzStephen and Milo de Cogan, and 
the Regnum Limericense, or Honour of Limerick, on 
Philip de Braose, a knight of Brecknock. The kingdom 
of Cork was to be held at service of sixty knights; so 
was that of Limerick; but the two cities of Cork and 
Limerick, with the cantred of the Ostmen in each case, 
were reserved to the King. The boundaries of Cork 
were defined as from Mount Brandon in Kerry to “ the 
river,” near Lismore. The Regnum Limericense, though 
not defined, evidently meant the later counties of 
Limerick and Tipperary. 

The three grantees at once returned from England 

in November 1177 and sailed into Cork. There Fitz- 
Stephen and Cogan made peace with Dermot Mac- 
Carthy, and at once divided between themselves seven 
cantreds, of which four, on the west of the city, went 

to Cogan, and three, on the east, went to FitzStephen, 
while twenty-four were left to Dermot, apparently on 
terms of tribute to the two barons. 

As far as feudal grants could avail Henry had now 

left little in Munster to the Irish. The county of 
Waterford, from the Suir to the Blackwater, he granted 
in custody, as Crown lands, to Robert le Poer, the 
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Marshal, whose descendants became the actual lords of 
half the county. 

About the same time, in 1177, Cardinal Vivian, 
presiding over a synod at Dublin, in the name of the 
Holy See re-affirmed Henry's title to Ireland and 
ordered obedience to the King from clergy and laity. 

By the grants of Limerick and Cork, Henry had 
abrogated Rury’s overlordship there, as guaranteed by 
the Treaty of Windsor, and assailed the native rights 
of O’Brien and MacCarthy, their vassals, and the 
Ostman cities. The city of Cork now accepted a 
Norman garrison, but it ‘was still MacCarthy’s royal 
capital, as Limerick was O’Brien’s, and both these 
strong places had a numerous and influential population, 
with Ostman bishops and clergy of their own. 

FitzStephen and Cogan now marched to put De 
Braose in possession of Limerick, But the Ostmon 
fired their own city before them, and the allies had to 
retreat before O’Brien should arrive. ‘ No wonder the 
expedition failed,” says the scornful Giraldus, “ seeing 
the number of cut-throats, murderers and lewd fellows 
whom de Braose had raked together from South Wales.” 

FitzStephen and Cogan, however, began to carve 
out the kingdom of Cork. In the eastern half, the 

1 For the Ostmen clergy of Cork see Reg. St. Thomas, I., pp. 201, 
209-210: grants to St. Thomas’, Dublin, by FitzStephen and Richard 
de Cogan, ete., of lands in Cork—witmesses are Reginald, bishop, 
Reginald, ‘archdeacon, Adam and Reginald, monks, Aggir, priest, 
A charter of Dermot MacCarthy's shows that he was still regarded 
in the years 1175-1179 as King of Desmond and of the city of Cork. 
It is preserved’ in a Latin transcript of a lost Chartulary of 
In language very suggestive of the general ruin of his race Dermot 
¥ divina favente dementia Rex Momonensium, . ... having experience 

lecting memory of mortals and the unstable pomp of a world 
away,” confirms the grant of his father, Cormac, who built 

pilgrims from Connacht, compatriots of St. Finnbarr. He proposes 
fo maintain and defend the ssid church and free it rom secalar rent 
has afiess his sal, The Ustin trameipt (444, MS. No. 479s, 2 
63, Brit, Mus.) was made for Sir James Ware, sce Cork Arch. Soc. J., 
294 Ps T45.. Withenws are Grégury of Cork, Caritas of Linacre, 
Donat of Cashel, Bricius of Li Gregory, abbot of Cong, etc. 
50 date would be circa 1177. 1 see no reason to doabt its genuineness. 
Ie cannot be earler than i175 ot later than 1179, a8 the dates of the 
bishops attesting will show. 
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former enfeoffed Alexander and Maurice, sons of 
Maurice FitzGerald, in Ui Maccailli in the south-east 
corner, the later barony of Imokilly. He granted to 
his nephew, Philip de Barry “Olethan,” the cantred 
of Ui Liathain, later called the barony of Barry Mér, 
stretching from Fermoy south to Midleton, and the 
two cantreds of Muskerry-Donegan and Killede, the 
later baronies of Orrery and Kilmore, from Mallow to 
near Charleville with Glenquin in Limerick. In 1182 
the dispossessed chief of Ui Liathain, Mac Tire, rose 
in rebellion and slew Milo de Cogan near Lismore. 
FitzStephen died in 1183, leaving no surviving son, and 
his heir was Richard de Carew, a nephew or base son 
of Raymond le Gros, from whom came the Carews who 
held Fermoy and FitzStephen's half of the Regnum 
Corcagiae till 1300, when David Roche, their tenant, 
became direct tenant under the Crown and baron of 
Fermoy, while later in 1336 David de Barry, by release 
of Thomas de Carew, became Crown tenant in Olethan 
and Muskerry-Donegan. 

De Cogan apparently left only a daughter, and the 
Courcys of Kinsale finally got most of his half of the 
Regnum, but a branch of his family called “ the Great 
Cogan” held lands about Carrigaline till 1438. 

Dermot MacCarthy retained his lands in Muskerry 
till his death. The ties of marriage united him with 
the invaders, for he took as his second wife Petronilla 
Bloet, whose brother Thomas got lands in Desmond, 

probably as a result of this marriage. Nevertheless, 
+ Orpen, Normans, II, pp. 47-59, states that De Cogan had only 

a daughter, Margarita, “Richard de Cogan, a brother of Milo, was 
gent over by the King after Milo's death, 1183, From this Richard, 

imagine, came the great Cogans (Cégén Mér). See Dr. Caulfield, 
Cork rch. Soe x J 1904, p. 187, for traditions 'of the Copeass Thomas 
Bloet was probably the’son of the Walter lost who came over with 
Eaymocd fe Crone riya, \ For Deswot Mactarihy's mariage with 
Pofronilla, see Cat, Do. Tv., vol, i, No. 766, 1216-17, mandate to the 
Justiciar to cause Petronilla, wif+ of Dermot Magarthy, ing of Corb, 
to have her marriage-portion which Thomas, her brother, gave her 
The the lady rurvtved Dermot by at lene ihirey yeare ahd ft ia 
probably a late marriage on lis part. As another instance of the 

in the higher ran! both races note that Richard 
deCarew (mentioned above! married " Ragenild daughter of) Dermot] 
MacCarthy.” and their son, Robert, founded the Carew line : Orpen 
Normans, iL, p. 128. 
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like most of his peers he was marked down for des- 
truction, and the last true native king of Desmond was 
slain in 1185 by the English of Cork at Cuill Baguine 
and his son, Donal Mér ma Cuwrra inherited his claims. 

The power of Donal Mér O'Brien in Thomond was 
too well-entrenched for the Braose grant to take effect, 
and Donal finally died in 1194, master of a kingdom 
embracing all Clare, Limerick, and Tipperary. and in 
possession of Limerick. He had ended the O'’Brien- 
MacCarthy contest for Munster in favour of the 
Dal-Cais. His aim was a general expulsion of the 
O'Donovans of Ui Figeinte and the O’Coilens of O 
Conaill Gabhra from Limerick, and of the O’Sullivans, 
O'Donachus, and MacCarthys from the plains of 
Ormond. These were all of the sacred Eoghanacht 
blood. While the Norman attack shattered the old 
dynasties from the east, the O’Brien onslaught ruined 

them from the north. There were O’Donachus about 
Loch Léin to welcome their kindred, the great Mac- 

Carthy line had to entrench itself in West Cork; 
O'Donovan became a petty chief about Bandon; 
O’Coilen migrated into West Kerry. Thus were the 
rivals of the Dalcassians driven by Normans and 
O’Briens to the mountain and sea of further Munster. 

Like the Irish kings of his century, Donal’s picty 
and taste for culture expended itself in the founding, 
or renewing, of churches, and an unusual number of 
abbeys later claimed him as founder or benefactor. 
In a charter given apud Limeric in 1189, he confirmed 
to the regular canons of St. Augustine at Forgy near 
Clare the lands “‘ which I or others with my consent 
have given.” Again at Limerick in his last year (1194) 
he endowed Brictius, the Ostman bishop of Limerick, 
with certain lands and elevated the little church of 

St. Munchin into a cathedral dedicated to St. Mary ; 
apparently he conferred upon the bishop the land where 

10rpen, Normans, II, p. 160, gives the authorities, Ui Figeinte 
equals the diocese of Limerick and was composed of two parts, Ui 
Conaill Gabhra (the later Connelo) and Ui Cairbre. 
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the royal hall itself stood. He is credited with eight 

foundations in all, and his charter to Holy Cross, a 
daughter of the Cistercian house of Magic, or Mon- 
asteraneany, which Turloch O’Brien had founded circa 
1150, is extant. Around the beautiful fabric which 
Donal had built for the fragment of the True Cross, 
sent by the Pope to Murchertach O’Brien early in the 
century, arose under Norman lords the noblest of 
Munster abbeys. That he could exercise the royal 
prerogative of land-grant so near to Cashel at this 
date proves that Donal was still effectively King of 
Thomond." 

The style of Donal in these charters—‘* Ego Donaldus 
Magnus divini muneris largitate Rex Limericensis "— 
displays O'Brien’s conception of his own office. The 
Ard Ri was now a foreigner, but the province-kingdoms 
still endured, and there were Kings of Thomond and 
Cenel Eoghain and Desmond for three centuries yet. 

The enfeoffment of Meath was the work of Hugh de 
Lacy, under whose vigorous hand was Normanised the 
modern Meath, Westmeath, and part of Longford. He 
kept to himself Drogheda, Kells, and Duleek, the 
baronies of Ratoath and Fore, and “ the lake and vill 

of Dissert and one knight’s fee about it ”—a significant 
phrase, for the lake, fort and demesne-land of Din- 
na-sciath on this lake, Loch Ennel or Aininne, were 
the particular seat of the O’Melachlins.? 

There remained only to exterminate these unfor- 
tunate kings. In 1175 Maghnus O’Melachlin was 
hanged by the English, and in 1184 Art, king of 

Westmeath, was also despatched, Yet the race, 

. The grant to Forgy is given by Westropp, R.S.A.I., 1892, 
me 78-79. _ For St. Mary's, soe Leninan’s History of Limerich, p. 30. 

Holy’ Crom, see Dugdale, VI. Pi. IL, The bishope of Lismore, m f 
i,” “* MacConmara,” ‘Ua Neill,” Mac- 

in the true style of the Irish land grant. The phrase 
“ges ol [abbeti) donavi sive sire vlustate mee. ai donaverant ” 

‘once more the tive-right Irish over-king to config onde contect Ube ciaccegiets of his chet nt 
Mec aSte OPED. Nermans, II, Ch. VX., for the subinfendation of 
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though so reduced, kept possession of the barony of 
Clonlonan, O’Melachlin’s country, from Loch Ennel 
south-west to the Shannon. 

The ancient Gaelic territories became baronies and 
fiefs for Lacy’s men Thus Robert de Lacy, a cousin 
of the Earl, was enfeoffed in Ferbile; Richard le 
Fleming in Slane; Jocelin de Angulo in Navan; De 
Hose in Deece; De Muset in Lune, and Hugh Tyre) 
in Castleknock, near Dublin. In further Meath William 
le Petit got Magheradernon and Mullingar; Nugent 
got Delvin; Robert de Lacy was enfeoffed in lands 
about Rathwire; De Constantin around Kilbixy, and 
De Tuit in lands about Granard. This last grant 
carried the Norman banner as far as it was destined 
to go: into Longford or Conmaicne, O’Ruaire’s former 
conquest. 

Thus were formed the “eighteen baronies of 
Meath,” and such were the ancestors of the Barons of 
the Pale. The nearer Gaelic dynasties disappeared for 
ever, and the “kings of Delbhna, of Gailenga, of 
Luighni,” and so on, whom we find attesting land- 
grants only a decade or two before, make way for 
Norman barons. In 1179 Imhar O’Cathasaigh, “ king 
of Saithni,” died, one of many disinherited. De Lacy 
might have made barons and knights of these heads 
of mér-tuaths and twaths, and divided Meath between 
them and his Englishry. Instead, he deeply enfeofied 
the Normans where he could, and on the borders left 
a few of the royal stocks in possession, but not at 
definite service and hereditary tenure. Thus most of 
Longford remained to O’Fearghail; and the country 
from Loch Ennel south to Nenagh, though claimed by 

De Lacy, remained with O'Carroll, O’Conor, Mac- 
Geoghagan, MacCochlain, O’Molloy, and other chiefly 
races. De Lacy advanced his line as far as Athlone, 
but the O’Melachlins and others commanding the 
Shannon from the South, and O'’Fearghail and others 
commanding it from the north and the Erne, domi- 
nated the English advance. The Norman line towards 
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the vital point of the Shannon, the heart of Ireland, 
was but a spear-head, not a broad shield. 

De Lacy was certainly no exterminator, and that 
the Irish were an inferior race did not occur to this 
cool opportunist. In 1x80 he married, for he was a 
widower, Rose, daughter of the High King, Rury 
O'Conor. This alliance seemed to guarantee to Rury 
the Treaty of Windsor, and to De Lacy the affections 
of the Irish. But it roused the royal suspicion that 
De Lacy was aiming at the crown either of Meath or 
Ireland, a suspicion which overshadowed Strongbow 
before him and De Courcy after. 

By Rose, the Earl had a son called William 
“gorm," or “the Blue,” either because his hair was 
so dark as to be blue-black, or because of his blue- 
shaven chin. In either case it was a way of calling 
him a Frenchman, among the red-blond Gaels. 

De Lacy’s castles were numerous, though of rude 
construction. As lord of Meath he built fortresses at 
Trim, Ratoath, Killare, Clonard, and Kells. The two 
latter were erected on the site respectively of the 
ancient monasteries of Finnian and Columcille. The 
monasteries were centres of population, and natural 
sites for the castles which the conquerors did not 
hesitate to build from the stone precincts, or even 
from the ruins of the abbey-church, a practice which 
was to be fatal to De Lacy himself. In Leinster, as 
viceroy of Ireland, De Lacy built several fortresses, 
such as that of Leighlin over the Barrow, and as far 
as one man could do, he secured before his death the 
strategic defences of the fast-expanding colony. 

By natural policy, for his baronies and manors 
needed that man-power of tenants, free or bond, which 
English colonists were not available to supply, by 
conciliatory treatment, De Lacy drew into his earldom 

4 For De Lacy’s castles and castle-building in general, see Orpen, 
Normans, II., Chap. XIV., p. 249, and passim. and his Motes and 
Norman Castles in Ireland R.S.A.I., 1907. The age of the true 
castle did not come till 1220 or so ; up to 1200 they are mote-fortresses 

¢ 
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great numbers of the native race. Giraldus expresses 
it thus: ‘“‘he made it his first care to restore peace 
and order, reinstating the peasants who, after they had 
submitted to the conquerors, were violently expelled 
from their districts, in the deserted lands which from 
barren wastes now became cultivated and stocked with 
herds of cattle, Having thus restored confidence by 
his mild administration and firm adherence to treaties, 
his next care was to enforce submission and obedience 

to the laws on the inhabitants of corporate towns, thus 
gradually bringing them into subordination.” 

Here we get a picture of a new State, Norman- 
English in the upper and Irish in the lower strata, with 
the manors and old monastic towns re-stocked with an 
Trish tenantry, and with those docile earth-tillers whom 

Anglo-Irish officials were never weary of praising. 
It alarmed the English government. Giraldus says 

De Lacy’s liberality and courtesy to the Irish people 
were such—combined with his Irish marriage—that a 
suspicion arose lest he should throw off all allegiance 
and get himself crowned King of Ireland. 

So the native interest waned. A statement of Irish 
wrongs seems to have been prepared for the Lateran 
Council of 1179 by the seven Irish prelates who 
attended, but Henry saw that it came to nothing, and 
St. Laurence himself died at Eu in Normandy on his 
Tetum, in November 1180, full of sorrow for his 
native land.* 

He was succeeded by John Comyn, a monk cof 
Evesham, formerly a Justice in Eyre, and a man of 
practical talents. 

2" For the churl of Ireland is a-very simple and toilsome man, 
Gesiring nothing but that he may not be eaten out with cess, coyne 

Tract by Sir Thomas Smith, quoted Wilson, Beginnings or livery.” 
of Modern Ireland, 
= Sa XXII, says, " Laurence, a just and 

ing lags dopiarurt by tie vilege (of his 

He bad brought to England fom Iland a soa of Rui O'Coner, 
hostage for the performance of the Treaty of Windsor. 
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‘The first of the new English State-prelates, Comyn 
converted St. Patrick’s into a collegiate church, 
enriched the see of Dublin by annexing the rich lands 
of the abbey and bishopric of Glendaloch, and got into 
his hands, during a long reign, 1181-1213, numerous 
manors stretching from Swords south to Annamoe, in 
which his successors enjoyed great feudal immunities. 

Meanwhile the North and West moved on its own 
orbit. Flahertach O’Maeldory of Tir Conaill, still had 
his rival, Rury O’Cannanain, on his hands. Several 
sons of Turloch Mér O’Conor—" rig-domnas ” or “ royal 
heirs ’’—were seeking fiefs for themselves in North 
Connacht, and joined O'Cannanain, but he and they 
were beaten at Magh Diubha jn Sligo in 1x82; five 
“sons of Turloch”’ fell, and the whole “ derbfine ” was 
practically wiped out.1 Finally Flahertach slew Rury 
at the Bridge of Sligo in 1188, 

The Conquest was now hanging fire. FitzStephen 
and Milo de Cogan were gone by 1183; Raymond le 
Gros, perhaps the greatest of the first conquerors, died 
some time between 1186 and 1188 ; and their successors 
were young and untried. 

Prince John, who was now seventeen, was deemed 
fit to take on the government of Ireland. Philip of 
Worcester was sent ahead of him as Procurator, super- 
seding De Lacy on September 1st, 1184. A crime 
against both the Church and native tradition earned 

Worcester the reproach of Giraldus and the curses 
the Trish race. Armagh was the sacred capital of 

the whole Gaelic race, full of churches, with one of its 
three divisions—the Trian Saxan or “Third of the 
Saxons "—recalling the fine hospitality of Ireland for 
the neighbour race in the past. The School of 
Armagh had become a general Irish university under 
such teachers as Flann O’Gormain and Martin 

1 The “‘rig-domnas " slain in this “ battle of the royal heirs" were 
‘Brian of Luighni and Maghnus, sons of Turloch, and three sons of 
‘Aedh, another of Turloch’s sons, wiz., Maelsechnaill, Mt and 
Marchertach, 
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O'Brolaigh, “ arch-sage of the Gaels and chief lector 
of Armagh.” 

The Normans did not spare what long native wars 
had left unspoiled. In r184 ‘the Foreigners pillaged 
thirty houses of the chief members of the community 
of Armagh.” In the Spring of 1185, Philip of Wor- 
cester marched on Armagh, quartered his army there 
during six days of Lent, and only departed after the 
clergy had paid a large tribute. Four years after, 
De Courcy also exhaustively phindered the city. 
These were blows from which this ancient and vigorous 
seat of native learning never recovered. 

Melachlin MacLochlain, having invaded Meath in 
1185, was slain in battle by a colonial levy under 

William Petit, and his brothers, Niall and Murchertach, 
ruled the Cenel Eoghain until 1196. 

Despatched by his father, Prince John now landed 
at Waterford on the 25th of April, 1185, as Dominus 
Hiberniae* He had with him three hundred knights 
and an army of horse and archers. With him came 
many who hoped to make easy fortunes in Ireland, 
such as Theobald Walter, Bertram de Verdun, and 
William de Burgo. John was a graceless boy, but 

Sag ar db eee Pg 
Tepographia Hib. (Distinctéo. UL, Cap. 1.) says that Phil 

‘Armagh during the holy days of Lent and wrung’ a large 
tribute from the sacred clorgy. was struck with sudden iliness as he 
returned and barely escaped with his life. He records it as a case 
of divine punishment for sacrilege. 

* Thus was finally decided the title of the English kings to Ireland 
for three centuries and a half. John’s seal bore the style Johannes 
filius Regis Angie Dominus Hibermae. Joba of Salisbury in his 
Melalogicus (LV... 42), written circa 1159, records that there was then 
in the State Archives a golden ring adorned with an emerald, w 
Adrian LV. had sent by John of Salisbury, “* by which inventors of 
the right to rule Ireland might be made.”' But this was never used 
so far as we know. Later in 1186 Henry II. had a scheme {or 
crowning John King of Ireland and obtained from Urban III. the 

two papal 
Bat Henry evidently thought better of the crowning of a separate 
King of Ireland in the full light of day by the envoys of the Paj 
suzerain and diverted the legates into Normandy.—(Hoveden, II., 
PP: 396-7.) So Ireland during the Middle Ages had neither King 
nor Crown, nor solemn recurrent anointing and election of a King. 
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Henry had sent with him Ramulf Glanville, Justiciar 
of England, who at least should have grasped the need 
for Ireland of central government, to check the greed 
of the colonists and conciliate the Irish. But the 
abundant sheepskins which John’s clerks brought with 
them, which might have recorded the honourable sub- 
missions of Irish kings, were appropriated to the 
charters which swept their ancient rights away. The 
wide lands of Munster were thus thrown piecemeal to 
the Norman-French, a race “ semper aliena petens,” as 
one of their own chroniclers has said. 

The march of John was by Waterford to Lismore, 
Ardfinan, Kildare, and so to Dublin. The contemptuous 
reception of the Irish kings when they came in to him 
at Waterford is well-known. The civilised vulgarity 
of the popinjay courtiers bitterly offended the grave 
and sensitive Irish lords, and not a single charter or 
written entenle between the Lord of Ireland and a 
native prince is recorded. 

Finally John returned to England on December 17th, 
4185, leaving De Courcy as Justiciar. During his stay 
he had castles built at Lismore and Ardfinan. 

According to the tradition of the Four Masters sub 
1185, John complained to his father that Hugh de Lacy 
had prevented the Irish kings from sending either 
tribute or hostages. However it might be, his visit 
was no gain to the native race. Giraldus says: “ Our 
own Irishmen, who from the first coming of Fitz- 
Stephen and the Earl had been faithful, now had their 

.Jands taken away and given to Norman courtiers.” 
The opportunity clearly was seized as the older chiefs, 
such as Donal MacGillapatraic, who died in 1185, 
disappeared, to extinguish the rights of their heirs. 

The net result of John’s land-grants was as follows. 
In Leinster the barony of Naas was given to William, 
son of Maurice FitzGerald, and lands about Maynooth 

to his brother Gerald (who later succeeded William in 
Naas and, as husband of Eva, heiress of Robert de 
Bermingham, became first Baron of Offaly). The two 
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baronies of Dundalk with that port and the eastem 
half of the barony of Ferrard in Louth went to 
Bertram de Verdun, John’s Seneschal. John himself 
kept the barony of Louth. Another newcomer, 
Roger Pipard, got, the barony of Ardee and also the 
manor of Donaghmoyne in Oriel, where in r193 he 
built a border castle. In these baronies were planted 
numerous under-vassals, Vernon, Clinton, Malpas, 
Hadesor, Repentini, and others. -By this South-Ulster 
plantation Ulidia and Meath were connected and the 
land from the Boyne to the Newry river became English, 
while the old Irish kingdom of Oriel disay ! 

Other grants in Ormond and Thomond advanced 
the English line in the south. Le Poer remained 
“* custos" in East Waterford; John’s new castles com- 
manded the west ofthe county ; and William'de Burgo, 
brother of Hubert, the later Justiciar of England, got 
a half-cantred near Tibraghny and a grant in North 
Munster. Five cantreds in South Tipperary went to 
Philip de Worcester. Theobald ‘alter, John's 
“ Botiller,”” a brother of Hubert, archbishop of Canter- 
bury, and nephew by marriage of Ranulf Glanville, 
now founded the Butler race in Ireland. _ O'Brien's 

“burgh ” of Killaloe, with five and a half cantreds of 
land along with it went to Theobald and his uncle, 
Ranulf Glanville. The grant covered all north Tip- 
perary, but while Donal O'Brien lived, it really meant 
“whatever you can get and hold.” 

In the grants to Theobald FitzWalter and De 
Worcester the former rights of William de Braose 
were disregarded. Further, the manor of Arklow was 
given to Theobald Walter, and later Theobald got the 
manor of Gowran in Ossory, in fief from William 
Marshal, Strongbow’s heir. 

Nominally, then, the line of the, colony now 
stretched from Brandon to Lismore and north to the 

3 Murchad O'Cervall, last king of ancjent Oriel, died at Mellifont 
in 1180, where also in 1103 Dervorgilla, wife of Tigernan O'Ruairc, 
ended her days. 
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Slieve Bloom, then from Loch Derg and the Shannon 
to the Boyne, and north again to Loch Neagh and the 
Bann. 

Hugh de Lacy was now engaged in building a 
castle at Durrow in west Meath. Here was a 
Columban monastery, one of the most venerated of 
the Gaelic abbeys. To the secular-minded Norman, - 
oblivious of Irish culture, it seemed a little thing to 
raise out of the stones of these sacred places, fortresses 
for the subjection of the native race. To the latter 
it was at once a sacrilege and a symbol of their defeat. 
Two neighbouring chieftains, O’Cethernaigh of Teffia 
and the dispossessed O'Braoin of Luighni, found an 
enthusiast ready to avenge this outrage on the body 
and spirit of his race. So, one day in July 1186, as 
De Lacy stooped to view the work, one Gilla-gan- 
inathar O'Midhaigh, who stood by, lifted an axe, smote 
off Lacy’s head, and sped safe away. 

It was the first assassination of the Conquest time 
and marked the growing estrangement of the two races. 

The Earl left by his first wife, Rohesia of Monmouth 
two sons, Walter and Hugh, both minors. Finally in 
1194 Meath was regranted to Walter. 

Conor Maenmoy, son of the High King, was now 
the hero of the Sil Muredaigh. In 1187 he destroyed 
Lacy’s castle at Killare. De Courcy was now Justiciar 
and guardian of young Walter’s rights in Meath. 
Taking up Conor's challenge, he invaded Connacht, 
guided by one Conor O’Diasmata, probably a base son 
of Rury’s brother, Murchertach. But in North 
Connacht, Courcy found himself faced by Conor 
Maenmoy and Donal O’Brien, acting in concert. 
Retreating, he found O’Maeldory in arms defending his 
frontier at Drumcliff and turning back into the Curlew 
Mountains and being assailed by the Irish allies, he 

+ ‘Ann, Ult., 1186. “Ugo de L, destroyer and dissolver of the 
gesctuarice of Ireland, was Killed by Us Miadhaigh of Breghtnuna 
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was driven out of Connacht “without one whit of ~ 
triumph.” 

Conor Maenmoy had shown both patriotism and 
energy. ‘But in 1189 he was slain at the instigation of 
the traitor O’Diarmata, who was at once despatched 
by .Maenmoy’s son, Cathal Carrach. This latter and 
Cathal Crovderg, or ‘‘ Red Hand,” brother of Rury, 
an adult and vigorous man, became rivals for the 
throne of Connacht. 

Rury himself ended his life in pious obscurity and 
died in his own abbey of Cong in 1199. So perished 
the last Ard Ri of Gaelic Ireland, to whose feebleness 
in arms and diplomacy was mainly due the ruin of his 
country. High King till 1171, the Treaty of Windsor 
had left him king of Connacht and overlord of half of 
Treland, but it was indeed a question how far the 
treaty still endured. 

De Courcy now had foremost rank among the 
colonists. William Marshal, who married in 1189 the 
royal ward, Isabel, daughter of Strongbow and Eva 
“MacMurchada, and so became Earl of Leinster and 
Pembroke, did.not begin his active career in Ireland 
till 1206. But a new generation of conquerors arose. 
Some time while. Richard was King of England, for 
the actual date is unknown, John, as Lord of Ireland, 
enfeoffed William de Burgo in all or part of Connacht 
In 1197 he also enfeoffed Hamo de Valognes in the 
two cantreds of “Hochenil,” that is, Ui Conaill 
Gabhra, later called Connello, Hamo built a fortress 
at Askeaton, and the former lord was removed in the 

sustial way—'in 1199 Coilen O’Coilen, chief of Ui 
Conaill Gabhra, was slain by the race of Maurice 
FitzGerald.” * 

21t may seem unnecessary to recall that William de Burgo was 
nb connection to William FitzAudelin (or FitzAdelm), see Orpen, IL, 
P. 195, yet Irish historians go on repeating the error. 

‘uc GEEY'S Book of Pedigrees, see JH 8. A. Ly 1880, p. 225, 
‘quoted by Orpen, Normans, Il., p. 100. The facé“ot Maurice were 
interested in the’ settlement of Limerick, and Hamo de Valognes, 
who got Connello (0'Collen’s country) granted Shanid to Thomas, 
on of Maurice, and Croom to Thomas’ brother, Gerald, who married 
‘the daughter of Hamo, : 
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The death of Donal Mor O'Brien early in 1194 and 
the retirement of Rury O’Conor made these grants 
possible. Towards his end, Donal had taken into 
friendship the adventurous William de Burgo and gave 
him his daughter in marriage. William's sons and 
heirs, Richard and Walter, thus had the blood of Brian 
Borumha in their veins. 

As Donal's son-in-law and ally, De Burgo got a 
footing in lands which O’Brien had till now stubbornly 
defended. At Kilfeacle, between Tipperary and 
Cashel; at Carrigogunnell in his manor of Aescluan ; 
at Briginis and other places, William built the castles 
which henceforth confined the O’Briens to their lands 

west of Shannon. 
Donal was buried in the cathedral of Limerick; his 

ancient capital. But the Ostman city passed to the 
conquerors, though with a liberal charter, “‘ the liberties 
of Dublin,” from John in 1197. 

Three sons of Donal, namely, Conor Rua, Murcher- 
tach Finn, and Donnchad, claimed their father’s throne, 
but finally the ablest of them, -Donnchad, called 
“ Cairbrech,” ruled Thomond till his death in 1242. 

De Courcy was no longer Justiciar, for he was 
deprived of office in 1192. But he was commissioned 
to make peace with Cathal Crovderg, in spite of the 
grant to De Burgo. A rude fort commanded the 
Shannon at Athlone and here in 1195 De Courcy 
recognised Crovderg as King of Connacht. To show 
his satisfaction, Cathal enfeoffed a Norman of Meath, 

- Gilbert de Angulo, son of Jocelyn, who was in his 
service, in the cantred of Maenmagh in Hy-Many: 
Called “mac Goisdelbh”—‘‘son of Gausselin” or 
“ Jocelin ""—by the Irish, this Norman condottier, first 
of those who became ipsis hibernis hiberniores, founded 
in Connacht the race of the Costelloes. 

But Cathal could’ not get all Connacht while De 

_.Burgo and Cathal Carrach lived, and at last in 1200 De 
Burgo, taking up the latter’s cause, brought in an army 
from Munster and drove Crovderg into exile in Ulster. 
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De Courcy, though near his tragic fall, was still 
advancing in Ulidia. In 1188 his new fort at Moy 
Cova, north of Newry, gave him the command of the 
passes of the North, and the castle that he built at 
Kinsantail, near Coleraine, threatened Inishowen. Part 
of the coast here he granted to Duncan, son of Gilbert, 
Lord of Galloway. 

A great leader now arose among the Cenel Eoghain. 
Murchertach MacLochlain was killed by his own vassals 
in 1196, and Aedh O'Neill became king of Tir Eoghain 
till his death in 1230. Flahertach of Tir Conaill died 
in February 1197, and an O'Hegnigh ruled Fermanach 
and the Cenel Conaill for a time. Cathal Crovderg 
enlisted these new kings, and the three invaded 
Connacht in 1200, but were cut off at Esdara (Bally- 
sodare) by De Burgo's forces and O'Hegnigh slain. 
Thereupon Conor Beg MacLochlain claimed the king- 

ship of Cenel Eoghain, but Egnechan O'Donnell saved 
Aedh O'Neill his throne by sailing with a large force 
to Gaeth-an-Chairrgin, near Portrush, where in battle 
MacLochlain was slain (1201). 

Egnechan, who ruled Tir Conaill till 1208, estab- 
lished the primacy of the O'Donnells. Bound in a 
common alliance, the O'Neills and O’Donnells swept 
every rival out of their path, and thus the two great 
families of the North rose together amid the wreckage 
of the Norman Conquest, to fall together four centuries 
later at Kinsale. The MacLochlains still survived, but 
in 24x at Cameirgi Brian O'Neill slew Donal and ten 
of the MacLochlain “ derbfine ’’ and practically extin- 
guished the race, 

De Courcy and Hugh de Lacy now took up Cathal 

1 For this family see Scots Peorage, Sir James Balfour Paul. {'Gallovay, had two sols, Uchteed and Gilbert, and 
De Courcy. 

the son of Gilbert, De Courcy’s kinsman by marriage, was made 
Eat! of Carrick in Galloway by William, King of Seots. Roland, toa 
of Uchtred, Lord of Galloway, had two sons, Thomas, later Earl of 
Reholl called“ MacUchtred by the Leah’ and’ Alen “Piestoluad. 
Lord of Galloway. 
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Crovderg’s cause, and in r2or penetrated as far as 

Kilmacduagh, but there Cathal Carrach completely 
shattered their array and drove them over Loch Ree. 

Thus, in the struggle for Lordship and land, with 
De Burgo supporting one O’Conor and De Courcy 
supporting another, was the distinction of Norman 
and Gael vanishing. Policy was taking the place of 
a race-war and weakening the Norman purpose of 
a final Conquest. 

Taken to Dublin by De Courcy and De Lacy, who 
accused him of treachery and blamed him for their 
defeat, Crovderg cleared himself, swore obedience, and 
was recognised as King of Connacht. De Burgo 
himself had to recognise the choice of Dublin, and 
abandoned Cathal Carrach, who fell in a skirmish at 
Boyle early in 1202, and Cathal Crovderg was inaugu- 
rated King of Connacht with all the ancient rites at 
Carn Fraich.? 

William de Burgo himself still aimed at the Lord- 
ship of Connacht, but was recalled and died in the 
winter of 1205-6. He is called “Concur,” “the 
Conqueror,” in Irish tradition, 

cons tauguraton of Cathal Crovdere: y Donnchad O'Mael- 
, ed. O'Daly and O'Donovan, ‘Kilkenny yA Soc., 852-3. 
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CHAPTER V. 

Joun, THe Founver or ANGLO-IRELAND (1199-1216). 

John ‘‘ Dominus Hibernia” was crowned King of 
England on June 2, 1199. Had Richard left a son, 
John might have founded a separate line to the ad- 
vantage of Ireland, but now the two crowns were 
inseparably united. 

The modern Muse of History has rejected the John 
of legend and made him an able King, determined to 
maintain the royal centralism built up by his father 
against the barons who wished that the King should 
never be more than “ primus inter pares.” John was a 
bad man defending a good cause, and too capriciously 
cruel to be a statesman, yet the fabric of royal power, 
which he defended like a precious heritage, survived his 
fall. English Kings have more than once made 
political experiments here, which they dared not, or could 
not, make in England. So the early Tudors gagged the 
Irish Parliament, and declared their monarchy to be 
divine. So now John dealt with the baronage of Ireland 
as he dare not deal with those of England, and as the 

founder here of a central government, and as the 
repressor of an overgrown feudalism, must be counted 
one of the best of the foreign Kings. 

From July, 1199, to the year 1208, Meiler FitzHenry 
ruled as Justiciar. 

During these years the expansion of the colony was 
towards the south-west, where John soon established 
a newer baronage to counter balance the older earldoms 
of Meath and Leinster. Here, his most sweeping grant 
was that of the Honor or Kingdom of Limerick, which, 
about 1200, he renewed to William de Braose, nephew 
of the Philip of 1177. William was to pay the huge sum 
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of five thousand marks for his charter, and render service 
of sixty knights ; while John kept in his hands the city 
of Limerick with its “cantred of the Ostmen there,” 
and the gift of all bishoprics and abbeys.! He reserved 
also to William de Burgo his Limerick lands, and granted 
to him in 1202 the wath of Castleconnell, where De Burgo 
built a castle above the Shannon. 

William de Braose thus became overlord in Ormond 
of Theobold Walter and Philip de Worcester. Es) 

Hamo de Valognes retained his land of Connelo, and 
licence was given to him to plant his lands, one of the 
few glimpses we get of deliberate English colonization 
at this time.* 

To Meiler FitzHenry, John granted the Irish cantreds 
of Aicme Ciarraighe and Ui Ferba, about Tralee, and 

Eoghanacht Loch Léin, about Killarney, the latter “ as 
fully as Humuriardac held it.” Whether this 
O’Moriarty was removed or had died, we are not told, 
but it illustrates the process of open confiscation, 

In the partition of Munster, the Geraldines shared 
richly. Gerald, Baron of Offaly, who died in 1203, 
already had Imokilly in Cork and Croom in Limerick. 
His brother Thomas, founder of the line of Desmond 
Earls, had Shanid in Limerick, and early in John’s reign 
got fresh lands around Fermoy, and near Knock Any in 
east County Limerick. * 

In 1207 a whole series of grants from the King, who 
had resumed the Kingdom of Cork, enriched the Barrys 

} The difficulty of securing these grants against the very natural 
gppostion of the trish ts seen in entry No. 146, C-D.L1 (Jan. 1200) 

King will cause the Honor of Limerick to be delivered to William 
de Braose, by all men save the Irish and those who are evith them, 
John could not speak for the nativ ‘own parishes. 

* Letters patent of simple protection for Hamo de Valognes with 
licence to lead his men to colonise his land, saving the demesne lands 
of the King and the Assise of the Barons of Ireland touching their 
Valle (ig, he must not try to draw away other peoples’ vlleins 
CDI, 1. No. 120, May, 1 

*C.D.L- 1, No, 93. five knights fees in the thodum of Eleury, 
and thecantred of Fontemel, and five in the sheadum of Haamerithin 
‘Thomond, and a burgage in Limerick.” Fontemel, according to 

"164, was an area including Shanid. Huamerith, I suggest, is 
aint’ Ui Aimrit, which Hogan Ow, locates around Caoc Aine, east 
of 
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and Roches of Cork, and those who had followed their 
banner. William, son of Philip de Barry, got his three 
cantreds renewed; David Roche got the cantred of 
Rosscarbery, and Philip Prendergast got the huge 
grant of forty knight's fees, stretching from Cork to 
Tnnishannon. The family of Roche (de Rupe) was 
already enfeoffed about Fermoy, and that of Cantitane 
got land about Glanworth, near Fermoy, and in time gave 
their name to “‘Condon’s Country” or barony. Other 
familiar names arose in portions of the old Regnum 
Corcagiae, such as the Barrets, lords of Clochphilip and 
Clochroe, who finally gave their name to a barony about 
Blarney. : 

The ‘‘ Kingdom of Limerick" was similarly par- 
titioned. The grant to de Braose ; the “ two cantreds 
of Hochenil in the land of Limerick,’’ confirmed to Hamo 
de Valognes in 1199 ; the grant of Castleconnel with its 
tuath to William de Burgo; and the enfeoffment of 
Theobald Walter and De Worcester, gave a Norman 
veneer to all the land from Sliabh Luachra in North 
Kerry to the borders of Ossory. The royal MacCarthys, 
having lost Cashel, had to found a fresh kingdom in 
further Desmond, 

For the time, there was no general war of Irish and 
Norman. The MacCarthys believed that King Dermot’s 
concordat with FitzStephen in 1x77, and the treaty 
with Henry II. still held good, Donal Mor, son of 
Dermot, was King of Desmond till 1206 ; then his brother 
Finghin till 1209, then Donal’s son, Dermot, “of Dun- 
drinan,” ruled till 1230. The intermarriages, which 
‘were more common in Munster than elsewhere, and the 
greater civilization and charm of its people, already 
softened the relations of the two races. Dermot of 
Dundrinan was married to an Englishwoman, Petronilla 
Bloet, and Richard de Carew took to wife, Ragenild, 
daughter of the King Dermot who died in 1185. 

It was the policy of the carlier conquerers to 
acknowledge the chief Irish princes, if not as kings of 
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the whole province, yet as heads of the Irish who had 
not been dragged into the feudal net, and as responsible 
for them at law. In this sense MacCarthy or O'Neill was 
admitted to be King of the Irish of Desmond or Ulster 
(dux hibernicorum Desmoniae, etc.) The O’Briens 
were regarded as equals and allies of the Normans, and 
William de Burgo was brother-in law to the three sons 
of Donal O’Brien, Conor, Murchertach and Donnchad. 

The policy of John was to remove the early con- 
querors, men of true feudal type, and promote men 
familiar with the new Monarchy. Hence his veto on 
De Burgo's designs upon Connacht, and the overthrow 
of De Courcy. 

De Courcy’s northern kingdom, of whose patent 
from an English prince no trace could be found, was of 
the sort to alarm an overlord so jealous of overmighty 
subjects. Yet no proof exists of De Courcy’s intention 
to shake off the English yoke, His land grants are 
made “ vice Regis Anglie.”” In reality his fall was due 
to John’s inherent suspicion of ‘dangerous men,” to 
De Courcy’s generous outburst against the King for the 
murder of Prince Arthur, and to the intrigues of Hugh 
de Lacy, anxious to be an Earl. 

Sure of royal approval, the Lacys picked a border 
quarrel, and when de Courcy refused to go to the King’s 
court in 1202, though summoned, Hugh marched into 
Ulster and defeated him at Down, De Courcy gave 
hostages, but still would not trust himself to the mercies 
of King John, and finally, on the last day of August, 
1204, the Justiciar was ordered to summon him for the 
last time, or confiscate his lands, As the Prince of 
Ulidia still held out, King John created Hugh de Lacy 
Earl of Ulster on May 29, 1205, to holdas De Courcy 
held, at service of one knight for each cantred, saving 
to the Crown the investiture of bishops and abbots. 

De Courcy now made one last throw, collected ships 

and men from Man, where Ragnall, his brother-in-law, 
was King, and besieged Rath Castle, but suffered a final 
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defeat beneath its walls at the hands of Walter de Lacy.* 
Imprisoned for a time, pardoned and despised, De 

Courcy thus disappears from Irish history, and in 

England is heard of no more after 1219. His kinsmen 
and allies in Tir Eoghain, Man and the Isles, and his 
own barons—all failed to save him. In the great age 
of the Normans, Strongbow, De Lacy, De Courcy would 
have made themselves kings. But now the age for a 
Guiscard had gone by, and the new Monarchy, strong 
in law, prestige and resources, was able to cut away the 
ground from under the greatest of the lords. 

It was now fully time to create a true Anglo-[rish 
capital, and build up the machinery of government. 
Henry II. had done little but appoint officials; John built 
the actual fabric of legal monarchy. 

In 1204 he ordered a strong castle to be built in Dublin, 
suitable for the government and the defence of the city. 
This work was completed by 1215, and a living adminis- 
tration began to pulsate from these walls. To John was 
due the introduction of the “ Customs of England "— 
some of which were old common rights, some feudal 
practices, some the principles of a central law affirmed 
by Henry II. Known henceforth as ‘the Customs of 
Ireland,” they became the precious heritage of common 
freemen in the Anglo-Irish realm.* 

‘Along with the judicial John introduced the legislative 
machinery of England. No real system of common law 

Orpen, R.S.A.I., 1909, pp. 23-29, identifies Rath with Dundrum 
in South Down. 

For the patent Gormanstown Re fos ning Hohe grants - 
tolam terram Ulonie, ‘It is nor clear whether Ultonia was meant t0 
cover all modern Ulster. Unlimited expansion ‘a implied in" a knight 
from every cantred.”” The Loch C¢ Annals sub., 12: aS describe Hugo as 
“Jarla Ulaidh,” i.e. Earl of Ulidia, not of the whole province. The 
Loud Annie (Chari, St. Mary's) sub., 1204, Sesesibe De Courcys” fall, 

Jona Regt et wottl acere homagiam Cheers 
legst hevedss.”” Possibly, soon after his accession, John had demanded 
homage from the Prince of Ulidia who alone of the Normans of Ireland 
held no patent from the Crown. 

“There are allusions in tho records of Henry I11.’s reign (1228 and 
1233) to the laws and customs of the realm of England which the 
Lord King John, our father, wich the common consent of ali men of 
Irland, ordained to be kept in that land. 
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or central or local administration yet existed in the new 

colony. We catch glimpses of some such development 
late in Henry's reign, and under Richard, but it was left 
to Henry’s youngest son to introduce all those new 
assizes and all that body of state-law which struck at 
the very root of feudal exemptions. 

The feature of these legal innovations—part of the 
general defeudalising of Government in Europe, and the 
revival of Roman ideas of the State—was that cases 
involving land titles and criminal jurisdiction over 
freemen, were withdrawn from the baronial to the royal 
courts. After many protests from those who lost juris- 
diction and fees, the work of Henry II. triumphed, and 
after Edward I. the state courts of England were open 
to all freemen. 

This was to be true only of a limited area of Ireland, 
but John at least began the attempt which proved fair 
for a century and more, to succeed here also. 

Quarrels over land—and they were naturally many, 
during the Conquest—had been so far decided in the 
lords’ courts by wager of battle. Yet the assises of 
Mort d’Ancestre and Novel disseisin had been appealed 
for; the advent of John made them de cwrsu. By 
letters patent 1204, John established the system of 
royal writs, and threw open to the colonists the whole of 

English law as it then stood. ‘‘ Know that we have 
given power to our Justiciar of Ireland that his writs 
run through all our land in Ireland, viz., the Writ of Right 
and of Mort d’Ancesire, and the term for Mort d'Ancesive 
shall be after the return of Henry our father from Ireland 
to England ; also the Writ of Norel Disseisin, the term 
of which shall be after our first coronation at Canterbury ; 
also the writs of fugitives and villeins, the term of which 
shall be after the taking of Dublin.” By an edict of the 
same year John extended to Ireland the jury system 
in criminal procedure, established by the Assize of 
Clarendon. In 1207 he forbade any subject to answer 

1 C.D. No, 236, Nov.. 1204 and Betham Feudal Dignities, ete... 
229, The point of Villeins was a vital one for the landed class, “In 

" 
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in any court for their free holidngs, or on any plea of the 
Crown, save before the King, his Justiciar, or their 

Justices. 
John’s insistence upon his prerogative is seen all, 

through the reign. When he granted the custody of 
Ireland to Meiler FitzHenry in x200, and confirmed him 
as Justiciar, he reserved to himself all Irish pleas touching 
the crown, the mint and the exchange. In 1207 he 
established an Irish currency, the first national coinage 
of Ireland, which bore the rude symbol of a harp. 

It was not till his coming in 1210 that John may be 

said to have established a legislative body for the colony. 
So far, the Justiciars, men of little administrative zeal, 

had summoned the tenants-in-chief of Ireland for such 
indifferent and infrequent work as was necessary. It 
seemed generally accepted that the Magnum concilium 
of England could legislate also for Ireland.* 

John's treatment of the native race had a certain 
statemanship. That he could stay the course of Norman 
conquest, or revoke land grants,was hardly to be expected. 
John realized, however, the value of the Irish and the 
Ostmen as valuable counterfoils to the Normans. It 
was hard to check these chartered robbers who had eaten 

up so much land, and hungered for more. Many of the 
nearer chiefs had lost their richest lands to the new- 
comers, or dispossessed, hoped for restoration, or, 
abandoning the old kingships, thought of saving only 
their “ royal land.” 

To some of the lesser chiefs John showed a clemency 

England this form of property of men was exfaguarded in statutne such 
as the Constitutions of Clarendon. English legislation about villeins 
was fully extended to Ireland, c.g., the writ de native habendo, by 
which a lord could recover a runaway see C.D.I., I. p.309. 

1C.D.1 I. No. 133. 
'The King . . . to Meiler the Justiciar . . . by will and council 

of the Earl Marshai, Walter de Lacy and other lieges of Ireland who 
were with us in England, and by council of our fideles of England, we 
‘order that the robbers of Ireland shall be expelled thence, and treated 
according to the law of England. L1b-Mwn. 1. pt. IV. p. 23 (6th of John) 
These robbers, all feudal enemies of John, were, I think, those named 
in C.D.1., 1. No. 238 (1206-7). For Joba's governmental measares 
in 1210 See later. 
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which they could not look for from their invaders. In 
Waterford, which was royal demesne, he granted to 
O'Bric, chieftain of the southern Déisi, certain lands, 
making up four knight's fees, to be held of the King in 
chief by service of one knight. Next year, 1204, he 
made an agreement with Donal O’Faelain, chief of the 
two Déisi, by which O’Faelain quit-claimed to the King 
the “ province of Dungarvan’ which was one of the 
three cantreds which this chief ruled. The other two 
were to be his own, one for life, one as his inheritance 
(“hereditarie.”) 

Another such transaction concerned the family of that 
Donal Macgillacolmoc who was Dermot MacMurchada’s 
son-in-law. In 1207 John granted to Donal's son, 
Dermot, all the land which his father, ‘* Gilleholmoc"’ 
held, viz., Lymerhim (Liamhain, now Newcastle Lyons), 
with fifteen carucates of land and a burgage in Dublin, 
to hold in fee by service of one knight and two otter 
skins per annum, saving to the King the cantred “ in the 
land of Lymerhim,” which the King gave to the said 
Dermot and his brother Roderic, when he was Count of 
Mortain. Later the needs of the Dublin government 
Jost them Liambain, for in 1215 compensation was 
ordered to be made to “ John Dermot, nephew of Gille- 
holmoc,” for the “land of Limerun,” taken for the im- 
provement of the King’s manor of Newcastle.” But this 
ancient family, which henceforth changed its name to 
FitzDermot, retained much of its wide domains, and held 
till x400 the barony of Rathdown in North Wicklow. * 

4 Orpen, IL. p. 327 notes the O°Faelain grant, but not the O'Bric 
grant. ‘The latter (C.D.14I. No, 190, Nov., 1203) grants to‘ Hever~ 
bricht! Dunmor with the church of St, Eoth, Culech, Fornach, Ardriad: 

Bullet, History of Gualtier, p- 31-33, 
i.e., the Ostman cantred on the 

1ows six chiefs including O'Brie, holding land 
Deisi : see later p. 137. 

MOBLEY Mor soe, Novy cacy, Ser Go pads oi oc the Batre 
of this family whose names nd grants are seattered through the Ic, 
St. Thomas, Chart St. Me aI. Gilbert History of Dubli 
Blimert sage, Bad, 293i tn $408, Joba MitsDermot wae chang 
two otter ekins for his manor of Radon (Rathdown), and +67 im arrears. 
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Hard as were the bargains driven by the Crown, it 
is clear that the nearer chiefs, harassed by the greedy 
colonists, were glad to surrender their ancient claims 

for a secure, if smaller lordship, gauranteed by either the 
King or the greater magnates, 

The Irish Kings were in a different position. The 
treaties made with them by Henry II. had not been 
abrogated. While the colonial lords were John's 
“* fideles,”* the “ kings of Connacht, of Limerick, of Cork, 
of Ulster,” were acknowledged as such by King and Pope, 
and their rulers were vassals rather than subjects of the 
English Crown.' Though no formal record exists ad- 
mitting the ‘“ Five Bloods” to the benefits of English 
law, it seems clear that they were regarded, from Henry's 
time, as law-worthy and entitled to plead in the ‘* King’s 
Courts,”” before the King’s viceroy himself. 

The greatest of the Irish Kings, in English eyes, 
was Cathal Crovderg, brother of the last Ard Ri. In 
August, 1204, Cathal entered into direct parleys with 
the Dublin government, and after long delay, in December 
1205, the King informed the Justiciar Meiler, that the 
King of Connacht had offered to hold a third of his 
kingdom as a barony, at rent of a hundred marks per 
annum, and to pay for the rest a tribute of three 
hundred marks. The King gives mandate to the Jus- 
ticiar to carry out this arrangement, if it is to the King’s 
advantage.* No immediate treaty was signed, but John 

he was the last of the name. “ Jono, son of Dermot, son of Gill- 
acholmog" was one of the Irish magnates summoned in 1227 to 
render service in Wales. By the marriage of Clarice, daughter of 
Gilbert FitzGritha, whose father was brothet of Raymond Gros, 
with Jobn, son of Dermot MacCillacclmoc, the latter fami family allied 
itself with @ branch of the Geraldines who’ were barons of Knock- 

Mariadac, King of Limerick (Murchertach, O'Brien) 
No. 404, 1210, when he was with John. In 1270 Pope 

Honorius iI, sent the Legate James to Ireland (and Scotland)—the 
brief of appointment being siperscribed : igibas Clone, Corcate, 
Limrith, Conatie, Insularum, cutlibet per se, Theiner, Vet. Mon., pp 

Nos. 224 and 279. Notice the interest of the Crown, 
and indeed of ‘the Irish kings in the villein and man-power question. 
4p August 1204 John ordered the Justiciar, see that the King of 

nacht make villeins aud fugitives from the King's John's.) two- 
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continued friendly to Cathal, and finally in 1215 confirmed 
to him the whole land of Connacht. 

Between the three O'Brien brothers, John did not 
decide, but “ Mariadac, (Murchertach) is styled King 
of Limerick” in the royal records of John’s visit to 
Ireland in 1210, when this O'Brien accompanied the 
King on his march. 

On the question of making both races equal in law, 
and securing to all alike the “ laws of England,”’ John 
encountered a selfish interest, which was already a vested 
one. The Norman settlers, to whom land was useless 
without servile labour, and whose English followers 
claimed to be all frecholders, had for thirty years been 
enslaving the Irish who remained, or reducing to a 
general betaghry the various kinds of “ daer” or bond 
tenures which had existed before them. So completely 
did they do this that the word ‘‘ hibernicus."” came to be 
synonymous with villanus, mativus, betagius.® For 
villeins, neither in England or Ireland, dare the royal 
courts intercede, and till the fifteenth century property 
of the lord in his land-serf was a purely private right. 

During thirty years, great numbers also of the superior 
tenants of the Irish order had been violently expelled, 
and their lands confiscated. If the full benefits of 

Henry IL’s assises were accorded to the native race, the 
courts would have to reinstate the former occupants 
by process of Novel Disseisin and Mort d’ancestre. 
But this would undo the conquest and alienate that 
colonial interest which aimed at reducing all Ireland. 

Therefore, all that could be done was, by legitimising 

thirds to return with their chattels and retinue. Cathal is to 
en cartes, fougd towns, and anoost rents in these parts and if 

Hecessary, take the issues of the land and the King's rents for this 
Purpose.” In. Dec. 1205 Cathal offers, the King out of the two- 
EEE" ot connacht which he wishss to keep on payment of tribute 
—two cantreds at farm with their villeins. 

* See Just. Rolls 1, p. 342 at the Pleas of Plaints, Kilmallock 
delore the Justiciar Wogan: Walter de Capella (O'Fyn), who had 
deen blinded by a colonist for insulting the latter's wife, proves that 
‘hough he is Aibernscus by race, he is not Aiermicus (unfree) and 30 
yecovers heavy damages against his assailant, who pleaded that Walter 
as Aibermicus had no right at law. See also Chap. VI. here. 
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the conquest so far, to secure the native holders in their 

right for the future. We have seen that according to 
John’s Writ in 1204, Henry II.’s assises of Mort d’ancestre 
and Breve de Recto were not to operate for pleas from 
before 1172, when vast confiscations were made, and the 
operation of Novel disseisin was limited to John’s own 
reign. The edict of 1204-5, which applied a limitation 
to criminal indictments, declared that no one might be 
inmpleaded for the chattels or even the life of an Irishman 
until after Michaelmas of that year. 

This limitation implied that after 1205 Irishmen 
might prosecute for injury to life, limb and_ property, 
like Englishmen. 

Of the other enactments, the force was that claims 
to landed property on the part of Irishmen must be 
based on ownership or tenure or ancestral possession, 
existing since the English invasion, No claim based on 
the times prior to that could hold, unless the English 
Crown ratified it. For the new Dominus Hibernia was 
in Ireland asin England Dominus Terre, from whom 
all title to land flowed. Merely Irish title did not suffice, 
hence we find King John confirming Cathal Crovderg’s 

grant of Maenmagh to Gilbert de Angulo in 1207. 
‘A general Act of Oblivion was thus passed over 

Norman violence and fraud in the past. The question 
was—would the Crown or could the Crown protect the 
Trish from present and future aggression? The in- 
tentions of John at least were good, and the estrange- 
ment of the races was not yet inevitable. But what was 
needed was a general admission of English law and liberty 
to the whole Irish race, or at least in the Earldoms and 
Lordships, by royal edict. 

The Crown displayed an intention to take under its 
protection the Irish in the English colony. It did so 
more pronouncedly in the case of that Ostman race, 
which being Teutonic might blend more easily with the 
English settlers, and was of enormous value to them as 
townsmen, marines, pilots, and interpreters of native 

} See Betham, p, 279, 
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custom and speech. We have seen how the Crown from 
Henry II,’s arrival had taken into its hand the Ostman 
cities of Dublin, Waterford, Cork, Limerick, and cantred 
of the Ostmen around each of them. Henry gave to 
the burgesses of Waterford at their surrender, a special 
protection as his liege men. A branch of the old royal 
race there, continued for over a century to claim, as 

Ostmen petitioners expressed it, “ English law as Henry 
FitzEmpress promised it.” Descendants of the Ostman 
lords of Limerick enjoyed a special liberty of the Ostmen 
which protected them from feudal exploitation, and from 
the jealousy of the new English burgesses. In a law-suit 
of 1295, one William the Dyer of Ardfinan in Tipperary, 
whom some colonists had tried to reduce to Irish ser- 
vitude, established his case that his father was an Ostman 
of the family of MacMackus of Limerick, of free condition, 
and that his ancestors and himself had always received 
writs, and answered to them according to the liberty of 
the Ostmen of Limerick.’ A similar liberty existed at 

1 For Henry's charter to the Ostmen of Waterford see A. Dugee 
~ Moriah Sprog ,- 4 Irland" Aarbogr for Merdish Olinynaighed, 
1990, p. Charter runs :Henricus rex. 9 
Hoctndan? do Wlarford homines msi leh sunt, See Net. Fass, ITT, 
Plate VIV. for Rights of the Osimen of Waterford, ax follows: Pleas 
Waterford belore the Justiciae Wognn, 4 Ed. Th (r9t0-1511) Hobert le 
Saieye wed killed John, son of Yvor MacGillemory, and itted the 

ihman John was at the time ef his death to pay for im at 
Justice rejuired. For the Crown John le that deceased 
See casitled to tis law of the Radian ie Leviend Por’ Amgicoarn 
Hibernia), and alleged in support of this, a charter of Henry II. and a 
confirmation by Edward I. juced, it con- 
firmed a grant originally fliam and John 
MacGillemory, who had been faithful to King Henry, of whose family 
John, son of Yvor, was. Finally the accused was sent back to prison 
and then released on bail. Davies, Discovery of True Reasons (ed. H. 
Morley, p. 263) says Edward I. at Acton Burnell in eleventh year of his 
reign confirmed Henry's charter. 

3 Just Rolls, Tp. 59. assize of Novel Disseisin at Clonmel, 1295. 
Three e Englanmes ve m 

wy are not bound to answer him because he is ibernicus 
Hostmannus, viz. Macitackus and tr free, The jury find William's father 
‘was held for Aihernicus, 20 after iliam’s mother went to 
Timanick and got the’ Uberty of the Grtmen for her son, William 
therefore recovers seisin, and the defendants are put in mercy. The case 
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Waterford, and most probably in Cork and Dublin also. 
For a century and more, the city Ostmen are found 
holding office and serving on juries in Dublin, Limerick 
and other towns. Thus two of the leading citizens of 
Limerick in 1300 are called Ulf and Osmound ({i.e., the 
Ostman).1 Even the landed dynasties of this race sur- 
vived. The place-name Ballykilmurry in South Decies 

still marks the old demense of the Macgillamaire Earls 
of Waterford. A descendant of the Sitric who defended 
the city against the Normans in 1170, held land in the 
county till 1230 or so.* 

We shall have more to say of the Ostmen in dealing 
with the history of the Anglo-Irish towns. For the 
present they survived in considerable numbers and under 
the royal shield escaped the rapacity of the conquerors. 

John’s centralising measures met with some organised 
resistance from the Irish Church, This had become in 
part a State Church. The prelates abandoned, or had 
to abandon, their ancient Celtic seats, and move to the 
greater towns where the new State would have them 

under its eye, while petty Celtic sees were absorbed in 
larger ones ; thus Glendaloch was united with Dublin, 
and Roscré with Killaloe. The bishops and abbots 
loaded with regalities, and baronies, became feudal 
lords, a conception unknown to the Gaels. 

The new abbeys and those existing ones which were 
on occupied lands were intended to be of the English 
interest, and attempts were made to confine them to 
Englishmen. 

illustrates the need for protection against the colonists, and the shameful 
rrightless position of the betaghs. " Hibernicus " here means both Insh 
and unfree. We read of Macous or Magnus, King of Man and, the 

rho was of the Limerick dynasty and spent part of his 
life there—War of Gaedhil and Gaill, p. 271. 

just. Rolls 1T., p. 388. 
Power, Place names of Decies. C.D.I., 1. No. 2336 (1236), 

the King’s Treasurer the demesne 
an Tri held near Waterford, to make the 

King’s profit thereout, The man thus losing hit land was actually a 
Heson and an Ostman of the old royal race, but the fact that the 
1m had become hibernicised and taken Gaelic patronymics such as 

HacSocraih gave the colonists their chance to exploit them. “Mac 
Schyterik is e name, 
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At the same time the new type of Anglo-Irish State 
prelate whom the Crown put into Dublin, Meath, Down, 
Ossory, and Leighlin, brought a Norman party into the 
Church which the old Gaelic bishops and abbots feared 
and disliked! It was inevitable that an attempt should 

be made te staff the whole Church with Anglo-Normans, 
but by the end of John’s reign oaly nine sees and these 
in South and East had been held by Englishmen. The 
Irish bishops holding the rest, formed a Gaelic interest 
which was well fitted to express the mind of their race. 
In the main, they were concerned with the liberties of 
the Irish Church, the plunder of Church property, and 
the intrusion of English clerics. They accepted the 
English Lordship, but looked on it as a bargain between 
the English King on one hand, and the Irish Nation 
and Church on the other, and looked to Rome, the Lord 
of Ireland’s suzerain, to see that he fulfilled his part. 
Thus in 1202, during a vacancy in Armagh, a synod 
“both of Gaels and Foreigners’”” met in Dublin under 
the Legate John, Cardinal-priest of Monte Celio, and 
another at Athlone, and evidently deep griefs were 
uttered, for on August 15 of that year, King John 
appealed to the Legate against the bishops of Clogher, 
Ardagh, Kells and Clonmacnois, and others, who had 
resisted the King’s right respecting the vacant Church 
of Armagh. The pressure of the Crown on elections, 
the keeping vacant of sees and other such royal methods 
were resented enough in England—in Ireland they has 
the further sting that John aimed at making a Norman 
stranger “the Successor of Patrick.” The stand was 
successful, and Echdonn MacGilla-uidhir held the archsee 
of Armagh till 1236. 
} See Chariars of Duishe, op. cit. P.R-L-A. Alter the death of Bishop 

O'Dullany in 1202 the new Bishop, Hugh le Rous, a 
his seat Aghaboe fo Earl Marshal's new castle-town athena. 
Simon de Rochfort se Ben a Lok tres shoiehes tbe lees 

a and 

‘possession. 
cathedral churches, see ‘ae 130. 
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From 1207 to 1210 William, the Earl Marshal, husband 
of Strongbow’s daughter, Earl of Pembroke and Leinster, 
took the chief place on the Irish stage. This great 
figure of English politics has a whole chanson de geste 
devoted to him, which tells us much of his doings in 

Ireland in these years. 
The Earl, now a man of sixty, came to Ireland in 

February, 1207, against the wish of John, who feared 
his great lords, and realised that Leinster was not only 
one of the greatest earldoms under the Crown, but was 
also alarmingly remote, 

A struggle, part political, part feudal, was now 
desolating the Anglo-Irish colony. Meiler, the Justiciar, 
was resuming huge fiefs from the grasping magnates, 
by the orders and to the satisfaction of his royal master. 
He took over, on the King’s name, the city of Limerick, 
though Walter de Lacy held it for De Braose, and did 
the same with the Kingdom of Cork, Offaly, and Fercall 
in Meath, though William the Marshal claimed Offaly, 
and the Earl of Meath claimed Fercall. 

The Marshal, therefore, took the leadership of the 
Barons of Ireland against the King’s own deputy, till 
in October 1207 both were summoned to England. 
William left his Countess in Kilkenny Castle, with a 
garrison of knights, and sailed to England. But Meiler 
FitzHenry reached the royal court first, and returned 
straightway with an order to the Marshal's men to sur- 
render. Instead they joined Hugh Earl of Ulster in an 
attack on FitzHenry’s Castle at Ardanurchar in Meath, 
where they captured the Justiciar, and compelled him 
to make peace with the Marshal's lady. 

The capricious John veered round, and early in March 
1208 informed his Justiciar Meiler that the Marshal 

1 L'Histoire de Guillaume le Maréchale, ed. Paul Meyer. It naturally 
takes ‘the Marshal and baronial side against John and FitsHenry 
It seems certain, however, that the Irish barons, like the English, were 
ready for a revoit against the Crown, and they actually were in touch 
with Philip Augustus of France soon after (1200). John and his loyal 

therefore, had every reason for securing all possible vantage 
in al in id against a grasping and rebellious baronage, ‘See Davis! 

the Normans and Angevius, p. 361 
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and Walter de Lacy were loyal men. Soon after he gave 
the Marshal a new charter for Leinster, and Walter de 
Lacy anew charter for Meath ; so the Earl of Leinster 
returned with great glory in April, 1208.1 

Before the end of the year, Meiler FitzHenry had 
ceased to be Justiciar, and John de Gray, bishop of 
Norwich, held office till x2r0.. The grandson of Henry I. 
and Nesta, who died in 1220, left no legitimate sons 
and founded no family in Ireland.? 

The interest of L’Histoire de Guillaume as an Irish 
historical document is but slight. It shows, however, 
the wide extent of William's Leinster earldom, and gives 
us the names of his knights—D’Erlée, D’Evreux, Fitz- 
Robert, FitzAnthony, Maillard, Hus¢, Porcel—names 
well known in later Ireland. Perhapsits greatest interest 
is that it shows how a purely English politico-feudal 
quarrel could be then fought out on the plains of Leinster 
and Meath, without either side calling in the Irish, as 
though the Irish counted for nothing in two provinces 
of Ireland. 

The Earldoms of Meath, Leinster, and Ulster now 
seemed secure. But John had no desire to add to them 
by encouraging palatinates in Cork and Limerick; he 
repented having in his youth encouraged them, and a 
quarrel with William de Braose gave him the opportunity 
to abolish the Honor of Limerick. William owed great 
sums for this lordship which he neglected for his lands in 
Brecknock. John, therefore, ordered the debts to be 
levied on the Welsh estates, and William resisted. More- 
over, De Braose’s wife, Matilda, when summoned by 
roval messengers to give her son as a hostage for her 
husband’s loyalty, refused to surrender the boy to “‘ one 

! The liberties in both cases were diminished from the former princely 
height. John reserved to himself the four pleas of the Crown, treasure- 
trove, rape, forestalling and arson : appeals might be made to the King’s 
Court, where the Earls’ Court failed to do justice or did 
Crosslands (Crocia), i.e., churchlands, and the higher ecclesiastical ap- 
ointments were reserved to the Crown. The Earls were to keep the 
custody of fees where the heir of a tenant-in-chief of Liberty was & 
minor, but the crown reserved the " marriages " of such heirs. Orpen 
Th pe a4 

2 For the disposal of his Kerry estates see Orpen ITL., p. 133. 
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who had basely murdered his nephew Arthur when he 
should have kept him in honourable custody.” To 
escape the wrath to come, William had to fly with wife 

and sons to Ireland, where first the Marshal, and then 
Walter de Lacy sheltered the fugitives. 

While Anglo-Ireland was thus the battle-field of 
Monarchy against Feudalism, the conquest of the West 
and North was suspended. 

No determined attempt to conquer Ulster west of 
the Bann was made, and Aedh O'Neill held his own 
against the new Earl ef Ulster. Meanwhile, Tir Conaill 
pursued its expansion policy to the south, and in 1208 
Egnechan O'Donnell, invading Fermanagh, was slain 
by the local array, “ along with slaughter innumerable 
of the nobles of Cenel Conaill.” But Aedh O'Neill 
entered into alliance with the new King of Tir Conaill, 
Donal Mér, the son of Egnechan. Remembering their 
recent blood-brotherhood, the chiefs of the two races 
made a perpetual peace with promise of mutual aid 
against all adversaries whatsoever, English or Irish.* 

The turning point of John’s rule in Ireland was his 
peisonal visit, which lasted from late in June, 1210, to 
the end of August, the same year. His immediate 
purpose was to chastise De Braose and his supporters, 
the lawless De Lacys, who were, it would appear, in 
treasonable touch with Philip of France. Actually, 
John, it is clear, designed to remedy the state of Ireland 
in his own way, to diminish the feudal liberties, to 
examine the demands of the Irish kings and fortify the 
new government.? 

AFM. 1208: the latin D text of the 4mm. Ulf. give the terms of 

Davis, England under the Normans and Angevins, p. 359- 
63, has several uminating ‘pages on John at this hi perio. "Joba bad 
reduced Wales, brought fina ‘af Scotland ate a treaty 
hich for five years left the Scottish King in a sagen! dependency, 
and exacted the’oath of fealty from al freemen. He then 
turned to Ireland, where Philip of Ange wee intriguing with the 
Anglo-Irish barond, with such apparent succes that, according to & 
contemporary, “all men bore witness that never since the time of 
Arthur was there a a iing $0 greatly feared in England, Wales, Scotland 
or Ireland.” But John was under papal excommunication {toi Nov., 
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He landed from Pembroke at Crook near Waterford, 
on June zoth, 1210, with an imposing array of vassals, 
ministers, clerics and men-at-arms, carried in seven 
hundred ships, His commander-in-chief was Henry II.’s 
bastard son William Longsword, Earl of Salisbury. His 
seribes brought with them over fifty dozen skins of 
parchment, sufficient to record a new enfeoffment and an 

exhaustive survey of his Irish dominion. 
At Waterford John was met by Donnchad Carbrech 

O'Brien, anxious to gratify the foreign Ard Ri. John 
granted to him the castle and lordship of Carrigogunnell, 
at yearly rent of sixty marks, while Donnchad’s elder 
brother Murchertach, who joined John on his north-ward 
march, appears in the official record as “ Mariadac, King 
of Limerick.” 

While he thus displayed a gracious face to the Irish, 
John showed a stern one to his offending barons. 
Marching by Kilkenny and Naas, he arrived‘at Dublin 
and lodged at St. Thomas’ Abbey, June 28th. Here 
Walter de Lacy’s barons pleaded in vain for their lord, 
for John meant to root out the two brothers who held 
between them Meath and Ulster. 

Advancing through Trim, he seized Walter’s castles, 
and at Ardbraccan, early in July, was met by Cathal 
Crovderg, who paid homage and marched with his 
overlord, and with the King of Limerick, to Carrickfergus. 
The two De Lacys had mustered an army of John's 
victims and enemies, but could not stand before the 
royal banner. John marched without delay by Dundalk 
to Carlingford, and crossing the Loch, in teeth of some 
resistance from the Earl of Ulster’s men, took Dundrum 
Castle, while the Lacys fell back to Carrickfergus. 

Hither the King, marching through Down, arrived 
on July roth, and the chief stronghold of the Ulster 
earldom, though prepared for a desperate resistance, 
3209, to May; 1213, and threatened by a baronial revolt and a French 

is sent Wien ts Rig ot See 2p RLS. Bib 
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fell after a siege of nine days, a whole crowd of De Lacy's 
vassals from Ulster and Meath surrendering, while Hugh 
and Walter themselves escaped to Scotland, and so to 
France, The defiant Maud de Braose, captured in her 
flight by Duncan, Lord of Carrick, was handed over 
with a young som to the relentless vengeance of 
John, who had them starved to death in Corfe Castle. 
William de Braose himself, the prime object of the King’s 
wrath, escaped and died an outlaw in France the following 
year. Duncan of Carrick was rewarded by a land grant 
out of De Lacy’s earldom, stretching along the Antrim 
coast from Larne to Glenarm. 

‘John now turned south and marched through Down 
to Drogheda, making a detour as far west as Granard. 
On August 14th he was at Rathwire. He had despatched 
Cathal O'Conor home after the siege of Carrickfergus, 
charging him to return with his son as an hostage, on 
which he should get a charter for the third of Connacht. 
Cathal now came to Rathwire, but without the son, 
displaying a natural reluctance to deliver his child to 
such a King, whereupon John in anger seized four of 
Cathal’s retinue, namely MacDermot, King of Moylurg, 
O'Hara, King of Luighne, Find, an officer of Cathal’s 
household, and Torberd, his Seneschal, and took them 
with him. 

On August 18th John was back in Dublin, stayed 
there till the 24th, and sailed from thence to Fishguard. 
‘The whole expedition was worthy of the demonic spirit 
of his race. During it he had taken two earldoms and 
the Honor of Limerick to himself, seized some twelve 
chief castles of Ireland, and attested his triumph by 
confiscations, the exaction of hostages, and the imprison- 
ing of baronial rebels. 

It is clear that John did not stay long enough in 
Dublin on either occasion to do all the things attributed 
to him there. Twenty Irish chieftains are said to have 

done him homage at a great Council held in the capital, 

He is said to have established counties and sheriffs. 1 

4 Roger of Wendover, III. 233, records the submission of the Irish, 
C.D.1.,1.N0.1458, 8 writ of Dee. 20, 1236, says 'when King John went 
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Actually the founding of an Anglo-Irish government 
‘was spread over John’s reign, Yet his visit was a tuning 
point in the organising of a State, where all the ills of 
an unbridled feudalism were running wild, According 
to the chronicler Wendover, John held a parliament or 
Magnum Concilivm of prelates and barons during bis final 
stay in Dublin, where by common consent the laws and 
customs of England were extended to Ireland. Formerly 
it seemed as if the colony would be ruled from England ; 
now a separate legislature was designed for Ircland, and 
its subjects were to enjoy the liberties which freemen in 
the mother country enjoyed. The Great Council of 
Ireland, summoned by the King's Lieutenant, became, 
in the course of a century, the parliament of Ireland, 
and the danger of feudal isolation was for the time averted. 

John left able viceroys to take his place. John de 
Gray remained Justiciar till 1213, and Henry de Londres, 
Archbishop of Dublin, succeeded him till 1215. These 
episcopal statesmen combated, as no baron could have 
done, the centrifugal tendenqy of the Anglo-lrish 
baronage. 

John’s treatment of the Irish had been a great advance 
on 1185. He had dealt well with the O'Briens, and if 
he did not do so at once with O’Conor, this was partly 
Cathal’s fault, and was redressed by the Justiciar on 

John’s departure. Even if Wendover’s story of the 
twenty Irish Kings who came to Dublin is not true, it 
is clear that many of the native chiefs were ready to make 
a fresh homaging to their foreign overlord, and their 
Kings accepted willingly, the scarlet robes which Johu 
bestowed upon them. ? 

William the Marshal had made peace with his offended 
to Ireland, he took with him men expert in the law, by whose council, 
at the instance of the Irish, he ordained that English laws should be in 
force in Ireland, and left these laws reduced to writing under his seal, 
at the exchequer, Dublin.” The loss of the patent, Close, and Charter 
Rolls for the year 1210 deprives us of authentic documentary details of 
the King's doings at this vital moment. 
+o. Tp. 70: scarlet robes ordered for the kings of Ireland 

tun. I. pt. TV. p. 73. (1214), order to Henry, Archbishop 
justiciar, to buy scarict cloth (escariettas) for giving robes to 

the kings of ireand, 
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master before he left Ireland, and remained on his Irish 
estates till 1213. A man of generous and pious nature, 
his work in Ireland must be admitted as that of a true 
civiliser. To him rather than Strongbow was due that 
organising of Leinster which made it for the time a land 
predominantly English and feudal. His abbey-found- 
ations at Tintern, Duiske and Kilkenny ; his castle-town 
at Kilkenny, and his chartered town at Rosponte (New 
Ross), all have their place in our mediaeval civilization. 
Leinster was deeply and widely enfeoffed under him, 
and a numerous Anglo-Norman aristocracy was founded. 
‘We have noted some of the rames which he brought into 
Ireland. His charters reveal others which entered into 
the warp and woof of later Ireland. Such were Rechfort, 
Archdeacon, le Gras or Grace, De Londres, St. Leger, 
Keting, Chevre and others, whose manors studded the 
rich plains along the Barrow and Nore. 

Under the Earl, the manorialising of Leinster pro- 
ceeded apace. A flow of inferior Englishry stocked the 
manors with a class of small freeholders, and the tillers 
and toilers were found among numerous betaghs or 
hibernici. 

The whole process was naturally that of anglicisation. 
Yet the Earl Marshal's work was not disfigured by 
cruelty to the older race. Like Strongbow, he belonged: 
to an older and more generous period, when the Norman 
was loftily indifferent towards race distinctions and 
freely blended with men of other tongues and traditions. 
Soon, unhappily, the Norman, in becoming English, 
lost the fine adventurous tolerance of his race. 

In Leinster, Strongbow had established a sort of 
entente with the older occupiers, and this William 
Marshal maintained. MacGillapatraic continued to 
hold lands in upper Ossory, under the Earl. The race 
of Donal Kavanagh, who had been enfeoffed by Strong- 
bow in certain lands in Carlow, still held under him, 
and other members of the MacMurchada race, were free 
vassals of his, The O’Tooles, MacGillacolmocs, and 
others were recognised as the Earl's kin through Eva 
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MacMarchada, and held lands under him. Those who 
had aided in the Conquest had all the rights of freemen." 
As an instance, we find the following: In 1299, at the 
pleas of Jurors and Assises held before the Justiciar, 
Walter O'Tothel comes and shows a charter of William 
Marshal in the tenth year of John, enfranchising his 
great-grandsire, Gillepatrick O’Tothel, and his issue 
after him with English law, and the right to serve on 
juries and assises in the courts of the King and the 
liberties? Leinster, it seemed, was in the way of 
becoming a land of two races, living honourably side 
by side. 

The growing difficulties of John made it the more 
necessary to have in Ireland a second kingdom more 
amenable than England. A large revenue was drawn 
from the vacant carldoms, The King recommended 
to his bishop-vicerovs the rapid organization of a state, 
the extension of the colony, the securing of true frontiers, 
and the winning over of the Irish kings. A final 
settlement with O’Conor hung fire. At Athlone, late ir 
1210, Cathal met the Justiciar De Gray and offcred to 
hold Connacht of the English Crown. The captured 
hostages were returned, and though the final Treaty of 

Athlone was not sealed till tars, it took effect at once, 
and Cathal, a real diplomatist, spent Christmas amicably 
with the Justiciar in rarr. 

Doanchad O’Brien was now loyal, and a tenant- 
in-chief of the Crown for wide demesnes in Clare and 

2 The Harris Colletanea, Lp. 185, Claus 3, 111-H. (in latin) the King 
to the Justiciar : as Mamorch Offorthieren and Rotheric, his broth 
have stiown that they and their ancestors were always faith‘ul, though 
Zrichmen, sn conquering the Inigh on the fide of the, English, 
command You to see f they be allowed to hold and to claim land, 
ke am 

C.D, Ui, No. 1873 (1281), safe conduct for Art MacMurth and 
Caruel Aifortien, Irishmen and kinsmen of the Earl Marshal (Roger 
Bigod, Earl of Norfolk), to visit him in England, The above Oforthieren 
or Alfortien is in Irish O'Foirtchern, A man of this Leinster race 
slow Donal Kavanagh in 1175. 
& ust. Rods, Lp. 27% (1299) : Wogan being then Juaticar. Two 

Englishmen had disseixed Walter of a frechold in Tancardstown, Co. 
Kildare, and replied that they ought not to answer to the court, as 
Walter was hibernicus. No verdict is 
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Limerick. His elder brother, ‘‘ Mariadac,” was retained 
for some time by the English, as a possible King of 
Thomond, but was finally ousted by his junior, and 
died in obscurity in 1239. Donnchad Carbrech retained 
‘Thomond and Carrigogunnell, and during his long reign, 
from 1210 to 1242, the kingdom of Thomond, thongh 
limited in extent, was a legal and actual fact. 

But no terms were made with the Northern kings. 
‘O'Neill and O’Donnell had declined to come in to John 
in 1210, and in any case the Dublin government was 

determined to seize the frontiers of Connacht and Ulster, 
in readiness for a further advance West and North, and 
especially to control the Northern coasts so that no 
danger could come from Man, Scotland and the Norse- 
Gaelic Isles. 

This encircling policy menaced the independence 
of the Northern Irish. In 1212 Gilbert de Angulo 
“Mac Goisdelbh " with Connacht levies began to build 
a castle at Cael-uisce, to command the narrow gateway 
from Connacht to Tir Conaill.1 The Cenel Eoghain 
were similarly to be hemmed in from the sea; 
and at Carrickfergus, John de Gray granted to Alan 
FitzRoland, Earl of Galloway, in the King’s name, no 
Jess than one hundred and forty knights’ fees stretching 
froin Derry to the Glens of Antrim, where Alan’s uncle, 
Duncan of Carrick, claimed the whole coast south to Lame. 

Thus was threatened a Scottish plantation of Ulster. 
In 1214, Thomas “ Mac Uchtred,” Earl of Atholl, brother 
of Alan, came with ships and men to build a castle in 
the old monastic town of Coleraine, and shocked the 
native mind by throwing down “ the cemeteries and 
clochans (stone houses) and the buildings of the town, 
save the church alone, to build a castle.”” 

Meanwhile the Justiciar de Gray had advanced to 
the Shannon and built at Athlone a stone castle and 
wooden bridge. This bad long been the gateway of the 

+ Cacl-uisce was at the west end of Lower Loch Emme, and not far 
from Es-Ruadh ot Assatoe, ie, the Red Waterfall, which was the 
‘ancient passway into Tir Conaill from Connacht, and one of the most 
vital strategic points in Ireland. 
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O'Conors into Meath, it now became the bulwark for the 
English culony of Meath, The line of the Shannon was | 
further secured by John de Gray's successor, Henry de 
Londres, Archbishop of Dublin and Justiciar, who in 
1213-14 built a fortress at Clonmacnois, and another 
at Roscré, to command Upper Ormond. The usual 
destruction of monastic buildings, the cutting down of 
fruit-trees, driving away of cattle, and appropriation of 
church land in order to build and endow the fortress 

at Clonmacnois, one of the most holy places in Ireland, 
evoked indignant protests from the bishop of that see, 
which money compensation did little to allay.’ 

When Geoffrey de Marisco, or Mareis, succeeded Henry 
as Justiciar early in June r2zs, the frontiers of the 
“English land” had been pushed to the Erne, the 
Shannon and Loch Foyle, and the tradition of a central 
authority had been founded. 

John had calculated well on Irish support. When, 
in the summer of 1212, already excomnmnicated, he had 
to face the rebellion of his barons and the prospect of 
their bringing in the King of France, the Anglo-Irish 
proved themselves, like their descendants of 1688, ‘* more 
English than the English,” and, led by William Marshal, 
met, and swore to support the King against his foes.* 

When John mustered his tenants-in-chief against a 
French landing at Barham Down, early in May, 1213, 
the Justiciar John de Gray and the Marshal brought 
thither five hundred knights and many horsemen from 
Ireland. But a week later the King submitted to the 
Papacy, and undertook for himself and his successors, 
to hold England and Ireland as fiefs of the Holy See, at 
rent of seven hundred marks for the one, and three 
hundred for the other, and finally, by the signing of Magna 
Carta, June 17, 1215, he lowered the royal banner before 
= C.D.1., 1. No. S04 a sim. 

a 13, No. 1212 to IL 08) : Fr fikam itarteal and a6 pespal tagantes of tend Tar tho rest! 
s epee with grief and astonishment, they have heard lag the be Pope 
Ras peopaeed te, to ee ane a bets of the King from their alls 

Othe Church of Canterbury.” With the Ring they ie ofCanterbury., With the King they tre olive 
or die, and will ah of Cashrry ih th King tay 4 
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the enemies of State-centralism. The barons secured 
the whole programme of their class privileges, and called 
them ‘‘the rights and liberties of England.” Later, 
these were extended to the Anglo-Irish. But it is re- 
markable that while Magna Carta has clauses about 
Welshmen, Scots and Jews, it makes no mention of 
Trish and Norman-Irish. 

A changed and fallen man, and much in need of 
ready money, John showed his altered mood in Ireland 
by charters of pardons and restoration. 

Walter de Lacy recovered the Earldom of Meath, 
save the royal castle of Drogheda, for a fine of five thousand 
marks, and many underlords of Meath and Ulster were 
restored, but Hugh de Lacy did not get back his earldom. 
Instead, John, in June x215, made further grants to 
the Maclchtred family, and made over to Thomas, 
Earl of Atholl, Coleraine and Kilsantail with ten 
knights’ fees on both sides of the Bann, Cathal Crovderg 
got the kingdom of Connacht. By this final treaty, 
O'Conor was to hold all the land of Connacht in fee, at 
rent of three hundred marks, leaving to the English 
Crown the Castle of Athlone, and was not to be disseised 
thereof without judgment of the King’s court. He was 
to pay, however, for this charter five thousand marks 
(September, 1215). 

The custody of the counties of Waterford and Desmond 
and of Cork city was granted at rent to Thomas Fitz- 
Anthony, the Earl Marshal's seneschal. There was no 
forgiveness for William de Braose, nor was the Honor of 
Limerick restored, but Philip de Worcester got a further 
five catitreds in Ormond.* 

John, King of England and Lord of Ireland, died on 
October 19, 1216. He was the first effective foreign 
tuler of Ireland, and in so far as the Dominium Hibernia 
remained a real state, bound up with the fortunes and 
institutions of England, his was the hand of the pioneer. 

'C.D.L, I. No. 654. 
No. 613, July, 1215, : The grant included “ Jonaich 

Cassel ** (Eoghanacht Caisil, the old MacCarthy demesne), Slievardagh, 
“ Muskirrequirt " (Muscraidhe Cuire), Cnoc Grafain, and covered all 
Tipperary south of Cashel. 
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CHAPTER VI. 

THE EXPANSION OF THE COLONY, 1216-72, AND THE FIRST 
IRISH RESURGENCE. 

WHEN Henry III. a boy of nine, was crowned King 
of England at Gloucester on October 28, 1216, he became 
pso facto Lord of Ireland, and a mere official intimation 
of his accession to both dignities was all that was con- 
veyed to the Justiciar of Ireland. The Anglo-Irish, the 
friends of his father, requested that either the King’s 
brother Richard or the Queen Mother, might be sent to 
represent Royalty in Ireland, but the request was not 
acceded to.! 

Henry was, till 1232, under the dominion of Hubert 
de Burgh, the great Justiciar of England, and it is mainly 
to this remarkable man that we must attribute the 
pushing on of the work of founding an Anglo-Irish 
State and Government. 

In 1219 we find a separate Irish Exchequer at work 
in Dublin Castle, and a Chancellor of Ireland, John de 
Wortheby. In 1220 the powers of the Justiciar were 
defined, and later a definite salary was attached to his 
office.t Like the Justiciar of England, he was a supreme 
law-officer, and head of the whole judicial and 
administrative machinery. The continued absence of 
the Crown enhanced the dignity of an office which 
in Ireland long survived its extinction in England. Here 
the Viceroy was commander in-chief, displayed the royal 

wud CD, T No, 723 : The oficial reply indicates that the request 
* Tbid., No. 949,(1220): Convention between the Crown and Geoftrey 

de Marisco, Justiciar, Latter to answer to the King in his Exchequer 
of Dublin, of escheats, wards, fines, aids, etc., of the Land of Ireland. 
In 1226 the Justiciar is granted a fee of £580 p.a., which later (1277) 
was fixed at'{s00, the Justiciar to mainiain twenty mounted guards 
ont of this, 

Google . 



134 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

banner, by “' royal service" called out the armed forces, 
presided over Council and Parliament, and perambulated 
the colony, holding the Pleas and Assizes of the Crown. 
While he acted by advice of the Great Council of prelates 
and peers, and while the Crown appointed the great 
officers of State, the Justiciar named all inferior officers 
and the constables of the royal castles. 

To make the English of Ireland equal in their liberties 
with those of England, the Magna Carta was sent over 
in February, 1217. In 1227 the whole process of English 
law, its writs of Chancery, and its legal formule, were 
extended to Ireland, where the Justiciar acted in place 
of the King. The covering writ spoke of “ the laws and 
customs which are to be observed in Ireland,” and these 
laws are to be proclaimed in every county” except 
that no one shall be impleaded for the death or chattels 
of an Irishman till after the fifteen days of Michaelmas 
this year "'—a significant exception, to which we will 
return.? 

The framework of English local administration was 
already in existence, and had only to develop. In spite 
of the feudal liberties which the Crown had lavishly 
created, the common law and the county organisation 
were extended to most of the colony. Dublin was already 

a county in 1200, and by 1261, Cork, Limerick, Oriel, 
Waterford, Kerry, Tipperary and Connacht were complete 
shires, where itinerant justices held their Eyre in the 
county court, and the sheriffs collected the royal dues 
and made their Tourn. 

With its Justiciar acting by advice of the Council 
of the Barons of Ireland, the new realm now enjoyed 
what we may call “ Colonial Home Rule,”’ and its essen- 
tial unity was affirmed by a royal edict of 246, in which 
Henry declared “we desire to have in our realm 
of Ireland only one Justiciar, Treasurer and Chancellor, 
under whose seal all writs shall issue, and only one 
Exchequer, which shall sit in Dublin.””* 

+ See Introd, of Eagits Low into Areland, Maitland, EHLR. 1899, 
Berry, Statutes, 1. p. 

TCD.L, 1. Wo. 28361 An order to the Seneschal of Leinster, for- 
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In 1254 Henry granted the Lordship of Ireland to 
his son Lord Edward, “so, however, that the land of 
Treland shall never be separated from the Crown of 
England.” England and Ireland were in short united 
under the one hereditary Crown, but the English of Ireland 
enjoying “the laws of England,” had their own legislative, 
judicial and executive institutions, and their consent 
was sought to measures affecting them. 

But we must not exaggerate the powers or good 
intentions of the Government of Anglo-Ireland. Its 
Justiciars were seldom well-chosen, and it is almost 
incredible that such a man as Geoffrey de Marisco should 
have been continued in this great office for six years, 
r215-2r, and again in 1226-28. De Marisco, Lord of 
‘Adare and Any, was the supreme type of the baronial 
“bad man,” false to the Crown, and brutal and false 
to the Church, to the native race, and to his fellow- 
Normans. Part of his record is as follows. In 1207 he 
was in arms against the Justiciar FitzHenry, but was par- 
doned with other baronial rebels. In 12z3 two Irish 
chiefs, Finn and Donogh O'Demsy ‘“‘were taken 
treacherously by De Marisco, taken to Dublin, bound to 
the horse-tail, and dragged through the streets till they 
died.” In July, r22r, the English Regency itself dis- 
missed Marisco for appropriating the whole revenues of 
Ireland for the past six years, to his private purse. In 
spite of this, the Crown restored him in 1226. In 1234 
he was guilty of abominable treachery towards the Earl 
Marshal, and was the chief agent of his death. He 
detained the see-lands of Cashel unjustly, and robbed the 
See of Limerick of Kilmallock and other property, and 
was excommunicated by the bishop in 1235. Finally, 
accused of plotting the King’s murder, he was outlawed, 
and died a wanderer and an exile in 1245. The criminal 
levity, cruelty, and rottenness of the ruling class of 
bidding him to issue writs and hold assizes there, but to let the royal 
writs rum as they did before the late Earl Marshal royal 
bottle, Zod, No’ 98s, March: xane-t1" the King to, che Poster? 
the land of Ireland has only one justice itinerant, let two others, a 
cleric and aknight, be associated with thatone, and so make their eyre. 
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Fngiand and Ireland in this age, cannot be better ex- 
emplified than in his career.? 

‘The abiding flaw in the Anglo-Irish State was the 
treatment of the native race. The whole fabric of Irish 
civilisation was now broken, and masses of the Celts had 
been brought under Norman feudal law. Many if not most 
of the “ betaghs ’ on the manors were no doubt already 
fuidirs and daer tenants under the old order, But it 
‘was a general practice of the Englishry, whose mind 
was that of a slave-owning ascendancy, to reduce what- 
ever Irishmen they could to betaghry, and “ hibernicus ” 
was taken to mean a servile tenant with no rights against 
his lord or other colonists, any more than the contemp- 
porary Anglo-Saxon villein had, “Tenants, both free, 
ie., English, and Irish, i.e., unfree,” is the description of 
a manor population. The practice of expelling Irish 
freemen, and then pleading that they were hibernici 
and thus not entit’ed to hold land or tenement, to rob 
the Irish widows of colonists of their dowry and mar- 
riage land (feronn phésta), to reply that the aggrieved 
had no right to writs of Novel Disseisin and the like, 
was common, and was complained of not only by the 
Irish, but by the long-hibernicised Ostmen.* 

The noblest of the Irish in the conquered lands, had 
to fear these wrongs as much as common artisans and free 
tenants of episcopal or manorial lords. 

The treatment of the O'Toole family, formerly lords 
of the Ui Dunchada, may serve as a typical instance. 
As relatives of St. Laurence, as kinsmen of Strongbow 
through marriage, they were among those “ faithful 

1 Ann Clonmacnois, 1213, when de Marisco was Cusios of Ireland 
t, Monumenta, pp. 19, 59. C.D.I., 1, No. 1003, 
S, transcripts of Exchequer Memoranda in Record Office, 

Dublin, wol. 30, p. 89. 48-9 Ea.IIL : “Conswetudines of servicsa tam 
Bibra ‘inintinm quam hibernicorum’-—on the manor of Dulesk 

why Ireland was never ‘atin subdued isd, Morley, PP. 250-276) treats 
the whole subject, and no condemnation of English denial of mghts 
to the Irish could be stronger than that of James the First’s Attorney. 
General for Ireland. 
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Irish,” to whom some of their lordship was spared. 
They gradually lost or granted away most of their wide 
domains, but still kept a great tract in the hill country 
of Dublin and Wicklow. The Marshals and the Church 
favoured the pacific race. Thus Archbishop Luke 
of Dublin, circa 1230, “confirms to Meyler, 
son of Laurence O’Tothil, the lands which his 
father held freely.” These lands must have been ex- 
tensive and valuable, for, on Mcyler’s death, an English- 
man offered to pay {20 per annum to have the 
wardship, land, and marriage of Agatha, daughter of 
Meyler. But in 1299 a member of this race, Walter 
O'Toole, had to defend himself against two Englishmen 
who had dispossessed him and who answered to the 
writ of attachment, that he was hibernicus, i.e.,an Irishman 
and a serf, and therefore they had committed no felony.” 

Others of the chiefly races had been confirmed in 
their demesnes by the Crown or the first conquerors. 
But they were in constant danger from the rapacity of 
colonists and English courtiers, who procured royal grants, 

Thus O'Bric of the Decies had been admitted to an 
extensive knighly tenure in 1203. But in 1252 Henry 
wrote to the Justiciar FitzGeoffrey to inquire into the 
lands held by Cormac O’Bric and other Irishmen in 
capite, obviously with a view of disposessing them. 
Earlier, in 1236, Maurice Fitzgerald, Justiciar, is ordered 
to deliver to the Treasurer, to make the King’s profit 
thereout, ‘the demesne which MacChiteroc, an Irish- 
man, held near Waterford.” This ‘* Mac Sitric,"” was 
actually an Ostman, but both the older races alike 
suffered as Irishmen. Many such cxpulsions were 
managed by Dublin Castle, by connivance with the 
settlers,and the colonial lords did not even disguise 
their intention of annexing the whole available land. 
Thus Meiler FitzHenry, in endowing Conall Abbey, 

: 4, fg SL Be Se ast tg Men naa Coeds Sith, 
2 C.D.I, 1. No. 190 and II, No. 435. The names of these Irish 

Crown tenants were O'Bric, MacCrane, O'Kelechaa, O'Culan, Mac- 
Kermikan, MacKinecan. 
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included ten carucates in Kerry, and all churches of 
his lands of Ireland, “ conquered and to be con- 
quered” (tam conguisitis quam conquerendis. 

The province-dynasties or Five Bloods, as they were 
called, were less easy to expel. Negotiations had 

resulted in the recognition of the O’Conor and the O'Brien 
kingdoms. But it was by no means clear that Cathal 
or Donnchad was meant to hold as barons of the 
crown, fulfilling all obligations and passing their in- 
heritance to their children like any earl. Here was the 
flaw in the treatment of the Ixish reguli ; they were 
meant to be mere vassals by homage, holding only by 
life-tenure, rent, military service and good conduct, 
the latter a phrase generally interpreted to their dis- 
advantage. That they were not summoned to sit with 
the prelates and lords of the parliament at Dublin, is 
proof of this? 

Henry’s government constantly needed money, and 
when in 1218 it demanded an aid from the English colony, 
it directed the Justiciar to ask contributions from “ the 
kings of Connacht, Thomond, and the other kings of 
Ireland.” But this need of money exposed it to the 
offers of land-seckers, and Richard de Burgo, in September 
1z1g, asked either to have the land of Connacht at 
once for 3,000 marks, or “‘the king of Connacht shall 
have half the kingdom for his life, and after his death, 
Richard shall have the whole ” and offers {1,000 for this. 
Evidently the English government rejected this cold- 
blooded proposal, for in February, 1220, a patent was 
issued, giving protection to Cathal, King of Connacht, 
his chattels, goods, men and possessions for five years. 

It was especially lamentable that the war of the two 
races should have entered into the Church. In 1216, 
King John directed the Justiciar of Ireland not to allow 

2 Dugdale, Monasticon, VI. Pt. II. p. 1 and Trish chiefs were; however, addrested as vassals by the Crown. 
See C.D.I,,1. No. roor, July 1221, letters announcing appointment 
of Henry, Archbishop of Dublin, as Justiciar to magnates and to Kathel 
ef Connacht, Odo (O'Neill,) King of Keneleon, Dunekan (Donnchad), 
Sha Muriardas O'brien, Beene Macareh, e. 
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any Irishman to be promoted to a cathedral church in 
that country! On the other hand, it seems that the 
native prelates equally sought to exclude men hostile 
to or ignorant of Irish speech and sympathy, and resisted 
the official attempts to staff the sees with English: bishops. 
The intervention of Rome, the political suzerain, was 
sought by the Irish bishops, and the Legate James, who 
was sent to Scotland in 1220, received from Honorius 
III. weighty instructions about Ireland. “The custom 
introduced by King John that no Irishman should receive 
Church preferment ” was to be abrogated. A grievance 
reported by the Archbishop of Cashel (this was either 
Donal O'Lonergan or Marianus O'Brien), was to be 
removed, namely, that when a Englishman lost anything 
and got six other English to swear with him that an 
Irishman had taken it, the latter, though of good name 
and guiltless, and backed by thirty or more sworn wit- 
nesses, was nevertheless compelled to restitution. To 
these complaints were added others about the plunder of 
church lands by the Normans. The Legate, however, 
proved an accomodating person from the English side, 
and soon quitted Ireland. Beyond the deposing of the 
two“ intruded ” bishops, nothing was done, and Innocent 
IV. in 1253, had to reprove in particular the “ damnable 
custom” reported by the Archbishop of Cashel.* 

Maurice, son of Gerald first baron of Offaly, came of 
age in 12r5, while his uncle Thomas of Shanid, dying in 
1213, left two sons, John and Maurice, and the accession 
of these young lords was signalised by a great advance 
in South-west Munster. There the Geraldines and 
Carews built a whole chain cf castles, running from 
Castlemaine in Kerry to Bantry and Baltimore in Cork. 

‘At the same time, John, son of Thomas, got Fitz~ 
1C.D.T., I. Nos. 736 and 739. 
* Theiner, Monumenta, pp. 15-20, 30 and 56; Cal. Papal Reg., 

P, 283, August, 1253, from Perugia Consatution whereby. is me 
province of Cashel, the evil custom of giving credence to an Eng! 
‘on his oath, touching a theft, if supported by six Englishmen, while 
an Irishmas, whose innocence is testified by thirty witnesses, bas to 
make restitution, is abolished, and equal justice is ordered to be done 
Between English and Irish. 
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Henry's and other lands in Kerry, and further increased 
the greatness of the Desmond Geraldines by marrying 
Margery, daughter of Thomas FitzAnthony, Seneschal 
of Leinster and Custos of Desmond and Waterford. 
One great family now dominated all Munster save 
Ormond. But the MacCarthys were still powerful, 
and Dermot “ of Dundrinan,” who had a Norman wife, 
was “ King of the Irish of Desmond,” and royal letters 
sent to “ the magnates and kings of Ireland” in r221 
included his name. He died in 1230 and was buried 
in Cork in the Franciscan House, which he had founded 
in the old capital of his race, and was succeeded by his 
brother Cormac, and he again by Finghin, son of Dermot’s 
younger brother, Donal Got. 

Walter de Lacy, who did not return to Ireland till 
August 1220, directed his glance towards Brefni, which 
had now divided into the modern Cavan and Leitrim 
under O'Reilly and O’Ruairc respectively. For he saw 
the need, if the Conquest were to be final, of securing 
the line of the Erne and Upper Shannon. Hence in 
1221, by an act of pure robbery, he granted O’Ruairc’s 
country of Brefni to Philip de Angulo or ‘ MacCostello,” 
Jord of Navan. But the enterprise failed. Milo, son 
of Philip, built a castle at Athankip, but in 1247 was 
driven out by the O’Conors and transferred himself 
to Mayo. 

Hugh de Lacy, whose claim to Ulster was deferred 
by the Government, came over in 1223 to assert it vi et 
armis, and raised forces in his brother's land of Meath, 
where William Gorm de Lacy, his Irish half-brother, 
vigorously aided him. Cathal Crovderg, therefore, 
true to his engagements, wrote to King Henry, beginning 
“‘carissimo Domino suo... suus fidelis K. Rex 
Connactie," and saying that Hugh, the King’s enemy 
and Cathal's, has returned, but Cathal remains firm in 
his fidelity, but he is placed in great difficulties between 
De Lacy and those who pretend to be faithful, and so 
begs for armed assistance. In a second letter Cathal 
repeats that he has never failed in his fidelity, and never 
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will. He possesses a charter of Connacht from King 
John to himself and his heirs, and he now solicits a 
similar charter for his son Aedh, which would render 
his son and his people more zealous for the King’s service. 
As William de Lacy, the King’s enemy, holds Ui Briuin, 
Conmacni, and Caled, now let Cathal have these for his 
son Aedh, who is ready to do homage for them. 

With this letter, Cathal ended a career, which went 
back to the last days of independent Ireland. The 
kingdom of Connacht still endured, and Cathal had 
faithfully observed the treaties of the last fifty years and 
sought a legalised and honorable vassaldom under 
the Dominus Hibernia. His honorable perseverance, 
in face of the hostile De Burgos, and his confidence in 
the English overlord, point the moral that the greater 

chiefs of Ireland might still have been turned into loyal 
vassals and tenants of the Crown, had that Crown been 
what it was not, both strong and wise. 

Cathal Crovderg died on May 28th, 1224, and was 
buried in his own Franciscan foundation at Athlone. 

In every way O'Conor regarded himself and was 
regarded as a true king. His grants to Cistercian houses 
abroad are sealed ‘‘ Rex Connacic,” and served to remind 
the people of the Continent that Gaelic Ireland, once 
famous in Christian history, had still an independent 
existence.® 

That bad man, Geoffrey de Marisco, was deprived of 
the government in July, 1221, and Archbishop Henry 
de Londres, who held office as Justiciar till the end of 
April, 1224, restored the non-fendal tint of the govern- 
ment. On June the roth, 1224, William Marshal, junior, 
Earl of Pembroke and Leinster, arrived as Justiciar. 
Charged with the expulsion of the contumacious Hugh 

se he a 
Some Ivish Cistercian documents P33. One ‘ok Cran 
fousis as Counacae qian Ave masa © er guar to Cena teva 
the Abbot of slot, attested by the Archbishop of Tuam and four 

“duces” and " comites.” Toirbert. "our 
iB Coes’ ‘Conchobhar 2). our “ Chancellor,” etc.—a true 

royal style. For Donnchad Carbrech’s grants see later. 
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de Lacy, and with answering O'’Conor’s last request, he 
made a grant to Aedh, Cathal Crovderg’s son and heir, 
of Ui Briuin, Conmacni, and Caladh (Brefni and the 
modern Longford), and marched at once against the 

Lacys, while Aedh, acting on orders, fell on Lacy’s 
garrison at Ard-gabhla in Longford, and wiped it out. 
Hugh de Lacy’s knights held Trim for six weeks against 
the Earl Marshal, and then surrendered on Angust 11 
William Gorm fled to the wilds of Cavan, leaving O'Reilly’s 
crannog fortress on Loch Uachtar, where he had placed 
his Welsh wife Gwennlian, daughter of Llywelyn the 
Great, and his Irish mother, Rose O'Conor, to be captured 
by the Marshal’s troops! In Ulster Hugh de Lacy 
got the aid of Aedh O'Neill, and held the Gap of the 
North, but surrendered in October, 1224. The affair 

was brought to an end in May, 1225, when Walter de 
Lacy was pardoned for a heavy fine, and Hugh had some 
provision made for him, and finally was restored in 1227 
to the Earldom of Ulster. 

Meanwhile, Donal Mér O'Donnell continued his 
triumphant career, invaded Brefni, and secured the 
homage of O’Ruairc and O'Reilly, and in 1234 slew Oengus 
MacGillafinnen, king of Fermanagh "and subjected 
all the inhabitants of that country, so that they swore 
to be obedient in all things to himself and his son after 
him, as were the men of his own country.” ® 

In 124 Donal Mor died, and his son Melachlin 
succeeded him. The Cenel Conaill had sworn in 1208 
to aid the O’Neills against every foe, English or Irish, 
and the alliance was once more put to the test. After 
the death in 1230 of Aedh O'Neill, “a king who never 
gave pledge or hostage to Gael or Gall,”” Donal Mac 
Lochlain asserted for ten years the claims cf his race, 
but Melschlin O'Donnel came to the aid of Brian, son of 
Niall, son of Aedh O'Neill, and one of the most decisive 
of Irish battles was fought at Cam-eirgi, in 1241. The 

+See for this Welsh-Irish connection, Prof. J. E. Lloya’s paper 
“who was Gwenllian de Lacy?" in Arch. Cambrensis, July, 1919 

‘The subjection of the Gardh-trian of Connacht in'1220, and of 
Fermanagh in 1234, are recorded in the D (latin) version of Ann. Ul.. 
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MacLochlain power was for ever shattered and the name 
almost extinguished by the death in the fight of Donal 
himself, and ten of his “ derbfine.”” Brian O’Neill took 
the kingship of Tir Eoghain, and the supremacy of his 
race was never broken till its overthrow in 1603. 

In Connacht, Aedb O’Conor had succeeded to his 
father Cathal, with the approval of the Earl Marshal, 
and joined the latter against the Lacys, A curious 
traditional account of Aedh’s short career is given in 
the Gaelic tract on the “Inauguration of Cathal 
Crovderg.” It says that after the English and Irish 
of Ireland had risen up in 1224 against the sons of Hugh 
de Lacy and the Cenel Eoghain and forced peace froin 
them, there was then a great Court (cii irimhér) av Dublin 
and Aedh O’Conor attended it and was betrayed, till 
William Marshal, his bosom friend, with strong forces 
entered the court, rescued him and set him at liberty.” 
‘After four years (i.e. in 1228), continues the tract, Aedh 
was slain by one Dundon, an English carpenter, who 
resented his wife's bathing Aedh in the hall of Geoffrey 
Morris (de Marisco), the Justiciar, and was hanged for 
the deed by the Justiciar’s orders. 

Substantiated by Loch Cé, this means that Aedh 
attended a Parliament of Peers like any other tenant- 
chief and made his case against De Burgo. But his 

treatment was not likely to encourage other chiefs to 
attend this Norman-feudal assembly, and his murder 
by a jealous English husband, over what was an innocent 
Trish custom, even though promptly punished, was a 
shock to the loyalty of the Irish. 

In any case, De Burgo now had the ear of the Crown 
and of his cousin, Hubert, the Justiciar. The official 
records show that Aedh was summoned in June, 1226, 
to the King’s Court at Dublin “ to surrender the land 
of Connacht which he ought no longer to hold on account 
of his own and his father’s forfeiture, for by King John's 
charter, granted to Cathal, he only held the land as long 
as he faithully served the King.” This was a most 

+ Op. cit. Kilkenny Arch, Soc., 1852-3, ; Anm. Loch Cé. 
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callous twisting of the terms of 1215, and a complete 
breach of faith. Cathal had believed that the grant of 
Connacht was made to him and his heirs like any barony. 
Aedh had certainly joined the Earl Marshal against the 

Lacys in 1224, and operated vigorously against Lacy's 
men, who were also aggressors on his borders, but so far 

from being a rebel he acted on government orders 
“and faithfully served the King." The Marshal, his 
friend, had been deprived of the viceroyalty on June 22, 
1226, and Aedh had no friends except that Earl, who 
henceforth felt a deep resentment against the Crown 
over O’Conor's treatment. Whether Acdh attended or 
not made no difference, it was casy to show that he was 
now in arms, and in May, 1227, the Land of Connacht, 
some twenty-five cantreds, was adjudged to his enemy, 
Richard de Burgo, with a reservation to the Crown of 
five cantreds about Athlone, henceforth called the King’s 
cantreds.1 The whole case shows how hard it was for 

the chiefs to maintain their position against the Crown, 
and those conquistadors who had the ear of the Crown. 

De Marisco was made Justiciar again in 1226, and 
there was a complete feudal reaction. The Justiciar 
put the resources of the State at the disposal of De 
Burgo and his fellow-buccaneers and bridled Connacht 
still further with a castle at Rinndiin, now Randown, 
on Loch Ree, In February, 1228, Richard de Burgo 
was himself made Justiciar, and, uniting his public and 
private powers, set hismelf to the conquest of Connacht. 

His first step was to find a tame O’Conor in Felim, 
‘a younger son of Cathal Crovderg, whom he installed as 
King in 1230 with the support of the kings of Thomond 
and Desmond. But the grant of Connacht to De Burgo 
hhad left so little to O’Conor that he naturally chafed 

vi Ror the grants of De Burgo, C.D. 1: p. 212 and No. 1518. The 
Five King’s Cantrede (named in Orpen in Hi. p-137), covered nearly all 
Roscommon and parts of Galwa Shgo. were O'Many, 
Moy Ai, The Three Tuaths, and sine erril (in Irish, Ui Maine, 
Magh Ai, Tri Tuatha, Magh Luirg and ‘ir Oililla)-—M larg being the 
country ‘of O'Conor's most powerful vassal, Mac! ‘They 
included the whole Sil Mairedaieh, aaa ure bel oes. to give 
or withhold, according as O'Conor " faithfully served the King" or no. 
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at his vassalage and was therefore imprisoned in De 
Burgo’s Castle at Meelick. Even the English Govern- 
ment felt the reproach, and in August, 1232, Henry wrote 
to De Burgo saying that he had been informed of his 
shameful treatment of Felim, and ordered his release." 

The great Hubert, Justiciar of England was dismissed 
by Henry III. in July, 1232; his nephew, Richard, was 
deprived of the vice-royalty ; and Maurice FitzGerald, 
baron of Offaly, another feudal viceroy, succeeded him 
in September, 1232, and ruled till r245. 

Meanwhile the baronial opposition to Henry and 
his foreigners in England was reflected in Ireland in 
“the War of Kildare.” 

William Earl Marshal died in 1231, and his brother 
Richard succeeded him in Pembroke and Leinster, 
Richard, the natural leader of Henry's barons, did not 
hide his disgust at the King’s wretched government. 
After one bold protest at Court against the foreigners 
who ruled England, the Earl in 1233 withdrew to Wales, 
allied himself with Llywelyn, the King’s enemy, made 
open war against the King, and finally arrived in Ireland 
as a proclaimed traitor in February, 1234. 

‘The grandson of Strongbow and Eva might think 
himself a king in Ireland ; but the royal arm was long, 
and Henry’s foreign advisers, Peter des Roches and others, 
had induced the feeble king to direct letters to Maurice 
Fitzgerald the Justiciar, the Lacys, De Marisco and 
Richard de Burgo, bidding them seize the Marshal alive 
or dead, and promising to divide his lands among them. 

Geoffrey de Marisco, the particular villain of the 
piece, now came to Richard, urged him to draw the 
sword for his rights, and remember that from Strongbow 
he inherited a right to Ireland. 

‘The deluded Earl did so, openly repudiated his 
allegiance to Henry, and after some successes, with 
greater chivalry than discretion, came to a conference 
with his secret foes at the Curragh of Kildare, on April 
1, 1234. They turned it into an open encounter, in 

» Royal betters, Shirley, I. pp. 500-3. 
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which, having but fifteen faithful knights against a 
hundred and forty, he was struck down, taken to Kil- 
kenny, and died there of his wounds on April 16th. 

It was an atrocious act of treachery, done without 
shame by the high nobility of Ireland. Yet it was not 
Irish ; the murderers were pure Anglo-Norman, and the 
Earl himself declared his cause to be solely that “ of 
justice, the laws of England, and the expulsion of 
foreign favorites.” 

Thus the whole thing was but an incident of the 
Barons War, of the fight of “ England for the English.” 
Yet the English Government might well fear lest Strong- 
bow’s grandson should proclaim himself King of Ireland. 

Now seemed the moment for the Gaelic chiefs to come 
into their own. Felim O’Conor wrote to Henry and 
appeared at the English court (1234). Honorably received, 
yet his request for all Connacht was refused, for the 
King had taken De Burgo into favour again. 

Instead, the colonial array was summoned by 
Maurice FitzGerald, the Justiciar, to instal De Burgo 
in Connacht, and most of the chief names of the Englishry 
joined the royal army, which thus went forth on a purely 
feudal enterprise. This hosting is impressively des- 
cribed by the Annals of Loch Cé (1235) as ‘‘ a great hosting 
of the Foreigners of Erin, who were assembled by Richard 
de Burgo . . . and the principal chieftains in this hosting 
were Maurice, the Justice of Erin, Hugo de Lacy, Earl of 
Ulster (Ulaidh), Walter Ridlesford, high baron of 
Leinster, with whom were the Foreigners of Leinster, 
and John Cogan, with whom were the Foreigners of 
Munster.” 

‘An irresistible machine, this army traversed all 
Connacht, defeated Donnchad Carbrech, whohad joined 
the Connacht Irish, took MacDermot’s fortress of Loch 
Cé, and drove Felim to take refuge with O'Donnell. 
Finally, Felim bowed to the inevitable, made peace with 
the Justiciar, and “ the five cantreds of the King were 
given to him, free from cattle-rent or tribute (1237.)¢ 

* Loch Gé, 1237. Actually Felim held at rent, as we see later, 
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Donnchad O’Brien thus fought his last campaign, 
though unsuccessfully, on the Irish side. He died in 
1242, sole chief in Thomond, but his kingdom was now 
little more than the modem Clare, and Ennis, not 
Limerick, was now its capital. Yet Donnchad called 
himself to the end Rex Tuadmonie, and grants made by 
his under-chiefs are confirmed by him in the old royal 
style.* 
TA tenant enfeoffment followed the most successful 

piece of freebooting since Strongbow, and practically 
all the “ first families” shared in the booty of Connacht. 
De Burgo and De Lacy acted like kings, and in no land- 
appropriation since the invasion had the Crown of Eng- 
land so little to say. De Burgo himself seized on the 
level and fertile lands of Galway, east of the Corrib. 
He then gave five cantreds ia Sligo to Hugh de Lacy, 
who at once sub-enfeoffed to Maurice Fitzgerald. This 
latter got from Hugh Carbery and North Leyny, 
and from Jordan D’Exeter, Lord of Afiane in Waterford, 

who had shared in the campaign and the booty, the 
Southern portion of Leyny. Thus was formed a Geraldine 
lordship in North Connacht, with its centreat Sligo, where 
Maurice built a castle in 1245. Hugh de Lacy also 
handed over to Maurice his claims as Earl of Ulster 
to Tir Conaill and Fermanagh, an amazingly cool 
transaction. Maurice also got the Manor of Loch Mask 
in Mayo and the lands of O’Heidhin in the later baronies 
of Dunkellin and Kiltartan in South Galway. His son, 
Maurice later added the cantred of Corran to the Sligo 
lordship, and so the Geraldines, already so great in 
Leinster and Munster, became, next to De Burgo, the 
chief Norman name in Connacht. 

The western portion of Sligo, Tireragh, went to 
Piers de Bermingham. Mayo was similarly parcelled 
out, and in the end thickly colonised. Sliabh Lugha, 

"EHR, 1913,; Some Cistercian Docs,, p. 303- Donations by 
Donatus Karbreach Rex Tuadmonic of certain sums to Citeaux, aré 
attested by his vassals O’Grada, O'Dea, O'Hea, O'Liddy, MacNamara. 
Other donations by O'Grada and O'Kenedig, etc., are sealed with. the 
seal of Donatus Karbreach Rex Tuadmonte. 

Google aie ewe 



148 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

which went to Milo de Angulo, became the barony of 
Costello, called after his Irish name. Adam de 
Staunton, a Leinster tenant, got the cantred of Carra, 
and founded a family there. A member of the 
Prendergasts of Cork secured the present barony of 
Clanmorris, and Jordan D'Exeter got the barony of 
Gallen. Piers de Bermingham also got the barony of 
Din Mér in the modern county Galway, while his 
kinsman Meiler founded a line at Athenry (Ath-na- 
Tigh). and erected a Dominican Friary there. 

The whole north-west of Connacht, called Hy Fiacrach, 
Tirawley, and Erris, had a plantation of unique character, 
which is the theme of an extant Gaelic tract of strange 
and curious details.! 

Robert de Carew of Cork had joined in the 1235 
enterprise, and receiving the cantred of Bac and Glen 
(now Tirawley), from De Burgo, gave it to one of his 
Cork tenants, William Barret. The O'Dubhdas, chief- 
tains of Tir Fhiachrach, and other Gaelic owners, 
were expelled, and a whole body of colonists settled in, 
the men-at-arms and lieutenants of De Burgo. Their 
descendants, sprung from the Barrets and their comrades, 
were called by the Irish “ the Welshmen of Tirawley,” 
as being derived from the Cambrian followers of Strong- 
bow and the Geraldines. Their names, given by 
MacFirbis, seem to confirm the tradition; they are: 
Barret, Clan Héil (Howel), Toimilin, Lynnot, Hosdy, 
Philbin, Merrick, Walsh (Bhailseach), etc.* 

Along with Strongbow’s Welshmen had come 
Flemings of South Wales, and so appropriately now a 
Fleming got Erris, the extreme north-west corner of 
Mayo. Other adventurers poured in—Butlers, Petits, 
Cusacks, Brownes (le Brun)—and in the next hundred 

1 Tribes and Customs of Hy Esechsch, called O'Domde's comdey, 
by Dubhaltach Mac O'Donovan. 

MacFi preserved the tradition of the ‘* Welshmen 
of ot ney yc That Mate (or Mla Maigeog) was a common first name 

e Barrets is extra proof of their Welsh origin. From one of 
them my vientae or Baitin, came their Irishized surname MacBhaitin 
or MacWattin. 
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years North Connacht held at once an Irish, a Welsh, 
and a Norman-English interest. 

The De Burgos and a few of their followers established 
towns; thus arose Galway, Athenry, Dunmore and 
Ballinrobe. But nothing like the urban, or English, 
organisation of Leinster took place. A feudal land, 
a land of abundant castles, De Burgo’s Lordship of 
Connacht from the first absorbed almost no plebeian 
English, nor, save for Galway and Athenry, any true 
burgess element. It was a colony of Welsh and Normans 
to whom the Saxon tongue and traditions were unknown— 
a colony too thin and aristocratic to make the land its 
own—hence Connacht was the first of the conquests to 

In this ‘War of Connacht,” the Norman triumph 
was assured by the superior military and diplomatic 

skill of the victors. They played on the divisions of 
the mative race and set rigdomna against rigdomna, 
enlisted native soldiery, and rapidly encastelled the 
land. The O’Conors failed to combine their nominal 
vassals against De Burgo, and it is clear that after Cathal 
Crovderg his successors became more and more simply 
chiefs of the old Sil Muredaig demesne in Roscommon. 

But apart from all else, the war efficiency of De 
Burgos followers constantly prevailed. This is vividly 
suggested in a passage in the Annals of Clonmacnois. 
In 1248, they say, “the Irish nobles of Connacht went 
to spoil Athenry, under Terlaugh mac Hugh and Hugh mac 
Hugh (O’Conor);” with a great army they assaulted 
the town,in which were Jordan D’Exeter and many 
Englishmen. The latter rushed out to meet the Irish, 
and “ when the Irish nobility saw the Englishmen and 
horsemen well apoynted with harnish, armes and shirtes 
of maile, they were daunted and affrighted at their 
sight, and were presently discomfited.” 

Unlike the absentees of Munster and Leinster, the 
conquerors of Connacht almost all at once entered on 
their new lordships, and the result was, before the end 
of the century, a Norman domination of Connacht, which 
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strategically seemed likely to complete the conquest 
of Meath, Munster and Leinster, and leave only Western 
Ulster a breathing space before it too succumbed. For 
example, FitzGerald’s lands now stretched to Loch 
Melvin, his claims to the Eme and the Foyle, while his 
lands in South Galway pressed hard on what little of 

_ Thomond was left to the O'Briens. 
In 1250 the Crown granted to Conor Rua, Donnchad 

O’Brien’s son, “‘ the land which his father held by charter 
V from King John, to hold during good service” for a 

fine of 2,200 marks. This was Donnchad’s moiety of 
Thomond. But already in 1248 Henry had granted 
the cantred of Tradry, between Limerick and the Fergus, 
at yearly rent of {30, to one Robert de Muscegros. 

Thus the native race was taught afresh that even their 
greatest could look for little more than a life tenure 
on very brittle terms, at crushing rents, without security 
for their sons, and nullified by concomitant grants to 
English adventurers. 

The death of Richard de Burgo on the Poitou ex- 
pedition, in the winter of 1242-43, gave Felim O’Conor his 
chance to appeal to Henry again. He was given safe con- 
duct in December, 1243, and came to Windsor. Henry 
professed indignation at O’Conor’s wrongs and ordered 
the Justiciar to reinstate him in his kingdom, but the 
Angio-Irish interest was strong enough to thwart the 
royal command.* 

In need of money and men, at war with France, 
Scotland and Wales, the English Crown did not disdain 
the help of the Irish kings, technically its vassals, and 
in July, 1224 Henry requested “Dovenald, king of 
Trreunill,’ "elim (O'Conor), on of the late king,” Brian 
O'Neill, “‘ King of Kinelun,” O’Brien and other Irish 
chiefs—twenty-one in all, to join him in person against 
the King of Scots? 

There is no evidence that they went, but early next 

bg der rier geal ad 2542 be is called Feddimus Ocancanir 

Tot, Te 2716. Beside O'Neill and O'Donnell tea were 
chieis of Eastern and Central Ulster. 



EXPANSION OF THE COLONY 15t 

year Henry sought Irish aid, this time against Llywelyn 
of Wales, and Felim, joining the Justiciar Maurice Fitz- 
Gerald, sailed with 3,000 Irish infantry to Henry in 
his camp at Conway in October, 1245. 

In the letter of safe-conduct for Felim to Gannock, 
Henry spoke of his own “ proximus adventus in Hibernia.” 
The royal visit was never paid, and yet mever was a 
more favourable moment for the King on Irish soil to 
teview the whole state of his Dominium Hibernia, 

A remarkable series of deaths had just eliminated 
from the history of Ireland, names closely identified 
with the history of the Conquest. Walter de Lacy, 
Earl of Meath, died in 1241, and his brother Hugh, 
Earl of Ulster, in 1243. Both were son-less, and heiresses 
inherited their claims. The last of William Marshal's 
four brothers, Earl Anselm, died in December, 1245. 
None of them had left male heirs, and the five daughters 
of the elder William, who died in 1219, inherited portions 
of Leinster. With the death of Alan FitzRoland in 
1234, and that of Duncan of Carrick’s son later, the two 
beaches of these Scottish families died out in the male 

re the same time Richard de Burgo was dead (1243), 
leaving three sons who were still minors, In swift 
succession four provinces of feudal Ireland had fallen 
vacant. 
The English Crown was well aware how fatal to its 

authority were the feudal immunities, John had 
effectively reduced the liberties of the Marshals and 
Lacys, and his son's government had aimed at the 
extension of common law and the shire-system, at the 
expense of the magnates. 

But the medieval king was among his barons but 
primus inter pares, and a frontal attack on the feudal 
interest was a thing which only a Henry II. or an 
Edward could successfully attempt. 

Thus the moment for a great de-feudalising was 
lost. Of Walter de Lacy’s two grand-daughters, Margaret 
married John de Verdun and brought to him West Meath, 
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with Loch Sewdy as its capital, while the other moiety 
went with Matilda Lacy to her husband, Geoffrey de 
Geynville, a Frenchman, with Trim as the centre of his 
lordship. 

Ulster was kept in the King’s hands till 1254, when 
it was granted to his son, the Lord Edward. 

Leinster was partitioned into five lesser liberties 
The eldest of the five daughters of William Marshal, 
senior, Maud, wife of Hugh Bigod, Earl of Norfolk 
conveyed to him the lordship of Carlow. Joan left her 
share, the Liberty of Wexford, to William de Valence 
husband of her daughter Joan, who was made Earl of 
Pembroke in 1264, Isabel, the third sister, had married 
Gilbert de Clare, Earl of Gloucester, and their son 
Richard, Earl of Gloucester, now inherited the lordship 
of Kilkenny. Sibyl, the fourth sister, had married 
William de Ferrers, Earl of Derby, and their seven 
daughters now inherited her portion, Kildare. Of the 
seven we need only mention Agnes, wife of William 
de Vescy, who in 1270 got the Manor and most 
of the Lordship of Kildare. Eva, the last sister, had 
married William de Braose; of their three daughters, 
Maud was married to Roger Mortimer of Wigmore 
who became Lord of Leix. 

Each of these portions of the Earldom of Leinster 
retained the former feudal liberties, and each had its 
caput or central manor, where the lord’s chief court was 
held, presided over by his seneschal. Thus Carlow was 
Bigod's chief manor-town, Dunamase that of Mortimer! 

The Crown, in fact, culpably negligent of its 
interests, allowed a feudal monopoly in Ireland which 
it refused in England. The conquistador families had 
Ireland in their grasp, they preserved the anarchic 
traditions of Stephen's days, and, entrusted with the 
reduction of the island, they had to be entrusted also 
with the weapons by a Crown which in Ireland had 
neither troops nor revenues. 

1 The whole ition is exhaustively worked out by Orpen, III. 
en Ev et - ” 
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Only in Leinster and the Vale of Dublin was the 
Government jealous of State rights. Hence we have 
Henry issuing his strict injunction to the Seneschal of 
Leinster in 1246 that no “usurped liberties” should 
intercept royal writs in that great province. But in 
Connacht, Munster, and further Meath the Lords of 
Liberties were given free rein. 

Nor was the moment seized to repair the wrongs of 
the Irish, Now, with the great Earls gone, the chiefs 
of Ulster, Leinster, and Meath might have been made 
liege vassals with secure hereditary titles. But the 
semi-rightless position of the older race was allowed to 
endure. 

Richard de Burgo, dead in 1243, had left two sons, 
Richard, who died in 1248, and Walter, who obtained 
seisin in x250. Henry, however, looked favourably on 
O’Conor, and in 1257 Felim met the Justiciar, Alan 
de la Zouche, at Athlone, and the five cantreds of Sil 
Muiredaig were confirmed to him by royal charter.? 

In 1245 Maurice, head of the Geraldines, ceased to 
be Justiciar, and John FitzGeofirey took his place till 
256. Maurice as Justiciar had utilised the State 
revenues, the feudal levies, and the royal castles for a 
war upon the unconquered Irish. He induced Fitz- 
Geoffrey to continue the same policy, and a vigorous 
forward movement was planned, to serve at once the 
interests of Anglo-Ireland and the ambitions of the 
Geraldines. His hereditary possessions in Leinster and 
Munster, where he got Adare after the fall of De 
Marisco, his personal acquisitions in three counties of 
Connacht, made Maurice already a potentate on a 
grand scale; if he could add Western Ulster to these, 
no baron in Ireland—now that Lacys and Marshalls 
were gone—would equal him. Especially was it the 
time now for this ambitious man to advance on Western 
Ulster, for the Lacy earls were gone, and the vacuum 
thus created he might fill. 

With the true eye of a comqueror he saw that as 
AFM. and Loch Cé, 1256 and 1257. : 
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Jong as North-East Connacht and further Ulster were 
unconquered, the conquest of Munster and Mid-Connacht 
was incomplete, and the colony even in Meath and 
Leinster were never secure from an Irish resurgence. 

A double campaign therefore was planned by which 
O'Donnell and O'Neill were assailed from the Erne, 
the North Sea, and the South Ulster frontier. A line 
of fortresses at Sligo, Donaghmoyne, Moycova, Coleraine 
and Cael-uisce supported the attack. In January 1247, 
escorted by one Cormac O’Conor, Maurice marched to 
Bél-atha-senaigh (Ballyshannon), and was met there 
by Melachlin O'Donnell, who, after holding the ford for 
a week, was routed and fell in the battle. 

FitzGerald, who was well coached in Tir Conaill 
politics, then set up Rury O’Canannain, of the older 
dynasty, but before a year was out, Goffraidh, son of 
Donal Mor O'Donnell, slew the intruder, and took the 
kingship again, early in 1248. 

From this time we may trace a general Irish protest, 
both in words and in arms, which ended, here in defeat, 
there in victory, in 1270. 

The English Government could spare neither arms 
nor care for Ireland; indeed, Henry made piteous 
appeals for men and money from the prelates and 
barons of Ireland in the years 1253-4 when the King 
of Castile threatened an invasion of Gascony, and in 
summoning the Justiciar, FitzGeoffrey, to Gascony in 
May 1254 “regrets to have heard that the Irish are 
over-elated at the coming to the King of the Justiciar 
and Maurice FitzGerald and other magnates of 
Treland.”1 The difficulties of England for the first 
time became Ireland’s opportunity. 

The Irish Church, though timid and bent on its 
own wrongs, enheartened their race by their peaceful 
protests. Early in 1255, MacFloinn, Archbishop of 

1 Betham, 
aod presi, Lalgh ad echelucar of every es weg Sea fot 
‘aid in the Gascon War, and a fortnight later, to the freemen, citirens 
and burgesses, asking ‘them to astst the Justicia, In July, Heary received nearly {4.000 of Tri srosey nr” ot TSH #855. 
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Tuam, and the Bishop of Killala, on the part of all the 
clergy of Ireland, laid before Henry in person certain 
grievances, such as “that they and their tenants are 
dragged, contrary to the ancient liberties of their 
churches, into pleas before justices in other provinces ; 
some of the King’s justices and sheriffs take bribes 
from one party in plaints, to the harm of clergy and 
laity; the clergy are vexed by frequent attachments ; 
Trish barons prevent Irishmen faithful to the king from 
bequeathing their chattels,” and other complaints 
against the secular attacks of the Englishry on Church 
rights and claims. Pope Alexander IV. was appealed 
to, and while in 1250 he had condemned the custom by 
which English clerics were excluded from Irish churches 
he now exhorted the King to do right to the Ivish. 

‘The King’s answer and directions to the Council of 
Ireland to redress these wrongs unhappily fell flat like 
so much other over-channel redress.? 

More effective was the armed and political move- 
ment of the lay chiefs, whose provincial resistance was 

inspired by a general aim, that of the expulsion of the 
English, province by province, and the restoration, 
either with a native or a Norse Ard Ri, of the fallen 

High Kingship. 
‘In the South-west the power of the Geraldines had 

overflowed all Desmond, Already, in 1232, Kerry was 
an Anglo-Irish county, numerous castles hemmed in 
the Irish, and John FitzThomas exercised lordship over 
most of this remote country. Decies and Desmond 
had been in the King’s hand since 1223, when Fitz- 
Anthony had lost the custody of them. Finally, in 
November 1259, John FitzThomas, FitzAnthony’s son- 
in-law, received from Prince Edward a grant in fee of 
Decies and Desmond, the later Earldom of his race. 

Thus finally handed over to their enemies, the 
resentment of the dispossessed chieftains burst into 

*6.D.I.1L, pp. 54-7, 55, 74:5. The King’s answer to the bishops 
gind So Rotiaghas’ [tly yo, tags." For the Pope sce Ca. 
z Registers (1198-1304), PP. 73-75, 283. 
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flame. Finghin ‘‘of Rinn Réin’’ MacCarthy, son of 
Donal Got, who was now the head of the race, rallied 
the free clans of Desmond, and levelled six castles of 
the settlers. 

FitzThomas, like his kinsman, could call upon the 
Anglo-Irish State for aid, and in 1261 William de Dene, 
Justiciar, led a royal army into Desmond and was 
joined by FitzThomas and the English of Munster. 
The two armies met at Callann near Kenmare, and the 
fury of the native race against their conquerors was 
displayed in the most determined stand they had made 
since Strongbow. Norman armour, horse, and general- 
ship were for once in vain; the colonial army was 
totally overthrown, and John FitzThomas himself and 
Maurice, his son, were slain, together with cight barons, 
twenty-five knights, and many more of the Englishry 
(July 24, 1262). 

Only an infant grandson, Thomas “an dpa,” son of 

Maurice, represented FitzThomas.! But Milo de Courcy 
and Milo de Cogan, uniting, attacked and killed Finghin 
at Rinn Réin on Kinsale harbour, in the autumn of 

1261. 
In the next year, 1262, the new Justiciar, Richard 

de la Rochelle, and Walter de Burgo, who had now 
come of age, engaged Cormac MacCarthy, son of Donal 
Got, in battle on the slopes of Mangerton. Cormac 
fell, but heavy losses on each side and a drawn battle 
attested the new spirit in the native race. 

The MacCarthys had failed to expel the English 
from Desmond, but they had won a great local triumph. 
Since 1170 they had been driven from Cashel to the 
Kingdom of Cork, and had lost most of that to the 
Normans. With Dermot of Dundrinan, who was buried 
in Cork in 1230, that city ceased to be their capital. 
But from 1260 they built up a lordship in South-west 
Munster which grew steadily till the days of Elizabeth. 
The Norman castles built from Killarney round to 

2 An pa” of the Ape, because « monkey is sid to have saved 
Thomas, then an infant, a fire im the Castle at Tralee, 
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Glandore, with the country they commanded, fell into 
their hands or those of O'Sullivan, O'Donnchadha, and 
other vassal chicfs. The Lordship of Decies and 

Desmond lapsed till Edward I. regranted it to Tomas 
an Apa in 1292; in the interval the MacCarthy lordship 
established itself over all West Cork and South Kerry. 
and the Desmond Earls never had more than a head- 
Tent from these lands. From Cormac Fionn came the 
senior line of MacCarthy Mér, who finally held the 
whole angle from Blarney to Mallow, along the Black- 
water to Castle Maine and round to Bantry, while from 
Donal Got came MacCarthy Riach, who held from 
Bantry to Innishannon—the first of these ruled a 
kingdom of over 2,000 square miles, the second one of 
over 600, and there were other sub-septs of the name.? 

The death of Maurice FitzGerald in the spring of 
1257 emboldened the chiefs of North and West to 

appear in arms. Goffraidh O'Donnell marched south, 
levelled Cael-uisce, defeated the English at Credran in 
Carbury, burned Sligo, and returned in triumph. But 
he had been badly wounded at Credran, and before he 
could recover Brian O'Neill appeared in Tir Conaill 
demanding homage. The wounded O'Donnell, borne 
on a litter, met him on the Siiligh near Letterkenny, 
and routed the O’Neills, but died of his wounds after 
the battle (1258). 

In Thomond Conor Rua O'Brien, hard pressed by 
Norman grants, sent his clerk, Matthew, to Henry with 
generous offers of money and rent, to have the land 
of Thomond, but the King higgled, said he must first 
see Donnchad Carbrech’s patent of 1199, and so the 
long-patient O'Briens joined the Munster confederacy 
of 1257 under Conor's gallant son, Taig of Cael-uisce.? 
But Taig died in 1259, Conor himself in 1268, and 
Brian Rua, son of Conor, succeeded. 

The fortunes of Tyrconnell were now suddenly 

.W.F. Butler Lordship of MacCarthy Mor and Pedigree and 
Succession of MacCarthy Mér, R.S.A.1, 1906-1907, and June 1921. 

§'For Conor's offer, CDI. Il. No. 273- 
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restored. Donal Og O'Donnell, Goffraidh’s younger 
brother, had been reared in Scotland, and married there 
a lady of the Clann Suibhme. He now appeared in 
Tir Conaill (1258), attended by a force of Scottish 
galléglaigh (“' foreign soldiery ”), under the command of 
his father-in-law, Eoin MacSweeney. The young hero 
was greeted with delight by the orphaned Cenel Conaill : 
he boldly refused homage to O'Neill, and entered at 
once on a career of conquest which before his death 
in 128r made him, according to the Annals “ Lord of 
Brefni, Fermanagh, and a large part of the Gael of 
Connacht.” By a second marriage, with a lady of the 
Clan Sorley or MacDonnells, Donal Og still further 
allied himself with these Scottish condottieri whose 
forces made his victories possible.* 

The king of Tir Eoghain and his under-kings were 
now responsible to the Seneschal of Lord Edward in 
Ulster, and had to meet the Crown’s demands for aids 
and pay rents and fines for trespasses. Thus in 1259 
Brian O'Neill owed {100 for an aid for the King in 
Gascony, and some £800, reckoned in cattle, for a 
trespass—possibly a raid on English land—for arrears 
of rent of Cenel Eoghain, and other debts. Seven other 
chiefs of Eastern Ulster were also heavily in debt. 
Yet though taxed, fined and summoned to war as 
tenants of King and Earl, they had never been given 
the secure and hereditary status of tenants-in-chief.* 
Deeply resentful, the time for revolt seemed com 
now that FitzGerald’s encircling campaign had failed, 
and there was no more a Lacy Earl of Ulster. Brian 

+ Rev. Paul Walsh in his sitee of the 16th century, Leabhar 
Chlainne Suibhne (" Book of the MacSweenys”). p. xvii., gives the 
following “pedigree—Donal Og O'Donnell married (1) ‘Catriona 
Macaulbhne (2)_a daughter of ‘Domhnaill, and had sons (1) Aedh 
(2) Turl This supplements Dr. Orpen’s full Pedigres of Maic 

pairieia his VoL’ Be 252 £isl oe ai kee ere Dr. Orpen 
omits ‘the MacSweeny marriage (I 

"Ulster Arch. See. Journal, 1855. oe poe and Facs. Nat. MSS. 
Part II. Plate 73. Brian owed 1,000 for trespass, and 3,092 for 
8 fine made with, the Justiciar ar (probably to have ( have Cenel ), and 

Kestosntas 30, The Ofiyans of Hy Tarte (Anti), Magenais, came to £74! pe! lyons ly ( 
MacCartan, O'Kemy and three others, Ma ts ales cage eee 
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O'Neill therefore brought together a great Irish con- 
federacy. In 1258 Aedh O’Conor and Taig, son of 
Conor O’Brien king of Thomond, came to O'Neill at 
Cael-uisce on the Eme, and O’Conor acknowledged 
Brian’s right to the Kingdom of Ireland, receiving in 
return the overlordship of Brefni. With some hesitation, 
Taig O'Brien also recognised O'Neill as King of Ireland, 
and thus an imposing array of North and West united 
to restore the Gaelic monarchy of a century ago, 

In the next year Aedh O’Conor married at Derry 
the daughter of Dugall, the chief of Clan Sorley, and 
got as part of her dower eight score Scottish galléglaigh, 
who entered into his service. 

The Irish confederacy had soon to put itself to the 
test. Early in May 1260 O'Neill, along with Aedh 
O’Conor and a Connacht army, and several Ulster 
chiefs, of whom the O’Cahans played the noblest part, 
marched on Downpatrick the capital of the English 
earldom. O'Donnell had not joined them, nor the 
O'Briens, for Taig was dead, nor, it would seem, were 
the Clan Sorley there. The Irish host was formidable 
in numbers and in courage, but ill-fitted to meet the 
mailed horse, men, and archers of the Englishry. 

A hastily-assembled force drawn from the colonists 
of East Ulster under the Prior of St. Thomas at Down, 
a knight, Roger D’Auters, and Roger le Tayllur, mayor 
of the city, met the Irish kings at Drumderg, outside 
Down, and a desperate fight was waged which ended 
at last in the victory of the Englishry, on May 14, 1260. 

But though Norman arms prevailed once more, the 
determined spirit of the Irish was displayed in the 
heavy losses among their leaders. Brian himself (ever 
afterwards called “ Brian of the Battle of Down”) fell 
with many Ulster chiefs, and the O’Cahans paid for 
the post of honour by the death of fifteen of their 
leading men. Aedh O’Conor survived the battle, but 
eight chiefs of Connacht fell. 

1C.D.I. IL, p. 107 and No. 651. As a reward, the city of Down 
had certain Crown debts cancelled, in order to enclose their vill, and 
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Thus ended in apparent failure the first attempt 
since the Conquest to restore the Ard Ri-ship. Aedh 
Buidhe (“the yellow”), son of Donal slain in 1235, 
took Brian’s place as chief of the O’Neills. Meanwhile 
O'Donnell at least came well out of the fight. Maurice 
FitzGerald at his death in 1257 had left to his heirs 
the “ seven theods of Tyrconnel,”, but it was an empty 
bequest, for not only did Donal Og secure Tir Conaill 
to his race, but ultimately FitzGerald’s own fiefs of 
Fermanagh and Sligo passed under the O’Donnells.* 

The successful, if selfish, hostings of the O’Donnells 
had lasting results. In one corner of Ireland the forward 
movement had been that of the Irish. As FitzGerald 
saw, had the North-west fallen to the Normans, all 
Connacht and Ulster would have followed it. What 
actually befell was the first failure to subject a great 
Irish state, and Desmond, Thomond and Tir Eoghain 
within a century followed Tir Conaill. 

The recovery of the Irish became possible through 
an imported professional soldiery. In most encounters 
up to that of Down the native army was one of light- 
armed amateurs. The stiffening of their ranks by 
Scottish mercenaries finally annulled the advantages 
which the Normans had had since Strongbow. The 
isles and coasts of Scotland were the home of that 
mixed Norse-Gaelic race which the Irish called “ Gall- 
Gaedhil” (from whom Galloway takes its name) who 

Roger ‘de Altaribus’ got an estate in fee. Pipe Roll, 45, H. IIT. 
records the raising of the colonial forces of Louth and Down. | The 
epic of the battle is commemorated in two of the most truly poetic 
bardic poems in medieval Irish, viz., one by Gillabride MacCommidhe, 
Brian's bard, upon his dead master, and another by Ferghal Mac an 
Bhdird, on the O’Cahans (both ed. O'Donovan in Miscellany of the 
Celtic Society). One of MacCommidhe's verses says i— 

Unequal they came to the battle, 
‘The Foreigners and the race of Tara; 
Fine linen shirts on the race of Conn, 
‘The Foreigners one mass of iroa, 

Ferghal conseives his dead master, O'Cahan, as having been taken 
away by a fairy mistress to the hill-nounds of the Sidhe. 

Maurice’ qqand-daughter, Arm nally, gave her Sl 
ermanagh lands £0. oma er ell, and 

first Earl of Kildare. 
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added to the natural bravery of the Gael the fighting 
blood, the love of the sea, the weapons of the Norseman. 

Men of great bulk and stature, they fought in heavy 
mail, with long two-headed axes, and in the infantry 
formation of the vikings. The fall of De Courcy and 
then the extinction of the Lacys, natural watchers of 
the Irish coast, allowed them to beach their war-galleys 
safely on the Ulster shore and to offer their services 
for pay and land to the Gaelic chiefs. Known to the 
Trish as ‘‘ Gall-6glaich,” “ foreign” or “ Norse warriors,” 
by the beginning of the next century the “' gallowglass ” 
had become an essential part of the native order, the 
Janissaries of Gaelic Ireland, and till the battle of 
Kinsale remained the one part of an Irish army which 
could be trusted to stand its ground to the end. 

The first marshals and condottieri of these gallo- 
glasses were two unconnected families: the Clan Sorley 
or MacDonnells and the MacSweeneys. The race of 
Somerled had already since 1200 been haunting the 
Irish coast. In 1267 the Ulster Annals record that 
Murchad MacSuibhne was taken prisoner by Donal, 
son of Manus O’Conor, and handed over to Walter de 
Burgo, Earl of Ulster, who put him to death. This 
was the first of a line of hired captains who became 
even more farnous than Clandonnell. Grandson of a 
Suibhne of Castlesween in Cantire of 1200, Murchad’s 
mother was daughter of Turloch O’Conor, another 
instance of the diplomatic marriages Irish kings were 
making with these esteemed captains. 

1 See Leabhar Chiainne Suibhne op. cit, for the MacSweeney clan, 
and Eoin MacNeill Chapters of Hebridean History, Scottish Review, 
1916, p. 254-76. Eoin MacSuibhne, nephew of Murchadh, slain in 
1267, was first of his race to settle in Tyrconnell, by invitation of Donal 
Og O'Donnell his son-in-law, where he drove out the O'Bresiins, 
120t, and became chief of Fanad, whence in time the MacSweenys 
branched into the three stocks of ‘MacSuibhne Fanad, Bannagh and 
Doe (na dTuath). The Lord Deputy St. Leger described the 
eatogiaigh tk  « Asbpac so Hay VOU bes) Dust se st. 

“They, the Irish, have but one sort of footemen which be 
in mayle and bassinettes, having every man of them his 

weapon called a sparre moche like the axe Of the Towre, and they be 
named galloglasse, and for the most part their boys have for them 
three dartes apiece, which dartes they throwe or (ere) they come to 
the handstripe—these sort of men be those that do not lightly abandon 
the fielde, but byde the brunte to the deathe."" 
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The MacDonnells or Clan Sorley later made their 
fortunes in Antrim and hired their arms to O'Neills 
and neighbouring chiefs; the MacSweenys became 
O’Donnell’s right-hand men. 

Felim O'Conor had not openly declared himself 
when his son Aedh joined O'Neill. but both had 
reason to fear the vengeance of the English. In spite 
of an appeal by Felim to King Henry complaining of 
the aggressions of Walter de Burgo, the latter launched 
an army against the O’Conors in 1262, until, after a 

war of general devastation, Felim and Aedh submitted 
to terms, and four cantreds, Moy Ai, Tri Tuatha, Tir 
Many, and Moylurg, were left to Felim at rent for a 
fine of 5,000 marks. Felim thus saved a remnant of 
his kingdom. Henceforth Aedh was the real O'Conor 
and Felim himself died in 1265. His effigied tomb in 
the Dominican friary at Roscommon and his silver seal, 
still extant, show Felim to us as the new type of Irish 
leader, chief rather than king, adapting himself to 
Norman custom, and in war and diplomacy not much 
inferior to the conquerors." 

Disappointed in the hope of a native Ard Ri, 
certain leaders of the native race bethought them of a 
foreign saviour, of a race long familiar to them. In 
1263 Haakon, King of Norway, was lying with his fleet 
off the Hebrides, which Alexander III. aimed at 
annexing to Scotland, While there, messages came to 
him from Ireland that the Irish offered to come under 
his power, and that they needed much that he should 
free them from the thraldom which the English had 
laid on them, “ for that they then held the best towns 
along the sea.” Later as Haakon lay in the Clyde 
the envoys he had sent to Ireland to discuss terms 
Tetumed to say that the Irish would keep his host all 
the winter, if he would free them from the English. 
But before the matter went further Haakon suffered a 
repulse at the hands of the Scots at Largs which lost 

1C.D.J. 11, p. 114 and No. 713 and 35, Rep. D.K,, p. 44. For br 
seal soe end of this chapter. 
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the Hebrides to Norway, and died later in that year 
in the Orkneys (December 1263) Henceforth no 
Viking fleet appeared either to threaten or to save 
that “ Westland” which the Norsemen had known so 
well for four centuries. Haakon’s death had one result 
of interest to us. The MacDonnells, descendants of 
Sumerlidi, Lords of the Hebrides, henceforth ruled the 
Isles till nearly 1500, free of vassalage to Norway and 
with scant regard to the King of Scots. 

This second failure threw the Irish back upon 
themselves; the fight became again a sectional one; 
and now the revival of the Ulster Earldom threatened 

the Ulster chiefs with that grasping and tenacious De 
Burgo power which had almost submerged the chiefs 
of Connacht. 

In 1254 Henry III. granted to his son Edward, 
then aged fifteen, on the occasion of his marriage, the 
Lordship of Ireland. The grant was made to “ Lord 
Edward and his heirs being Kings of England, so 
however that the land of Ireland shall never be 
separated from the Crown of England.”® The wording 
forbade that any younger son of Edward should ever 
found a separate line here. It was probably Henry’s 
intention that his heir should come in person to rule 
his Irish Lordship. But the youth of the prince, and 
the baronial revolts at home, kept this one hope of 
royalty at his father’s side, and neither as prince nor 
as King did Edward set foot here. 

Of necessity both power and privilege were squan- 
dered on the Norman conguistadors. Lord Edward in 
1299 granted Decies and Desmond to John FitzThomas. 
In 1264, he gave the vacant Earldom of Ulster to 
Walter de Burgo.? 

+ Hakonarsaga od. Dasent (Rolls Series). Ann. Ult., 1263, 
say the time of his death, “" Ebdon,” King of Norway was coming to 
Ireland. The remark of the Irish (probably the northern chiefs), 
“that they, the Irish, then held the best towns along the sea,” 
seems to mean that as the earldom of Ulster was in abeyance, and the 
Clan Sorley, etc., had easy sailing to and fro with the northern coast, 
the Insh controlied the ports where Haakon might land. 

ICDL. IL, pats, Gilbert Hit. Docs. p. 135, 
1.) IL., No, 860, 1520 and 1548. Dr. Orpen UL. p. 266, refutes 
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As the claims of the Earldom covered the whole 
province, the yet unconquered chiefs felt the same 
resentment and fear that the Munster chiefs felt when 
a Geraldine was interposed between themselves and 
the English Crown. Every advance made by the feudal 
buccaneers meant a diminutio capitis for this proud 
native nobility which had in 1170 and later made 
homage to the King, but to the King alone. 

Meanwhile Englishmen of little rank and no 
account filled the meaningless office of viceroy from 
1256 to 1267, without dignity to themselves or profit 
to Ireland. 

On May 14, 1264, Lewes was fought; for a year 
the King of England and his son were captives of De 
Montfort ; and the masterless barons of Ireland filled 
the interval with their dreary feuds. Angered by the 
grant of Ulster to De Burgo, who was his rival in 
Connacht, and now become his overlord in Ulster, 
Maurice FitzGerald, head of the Connacht Geraldines, 
entered on open war with De Burgo, and when the 
Justiciar, De la Rochelle, interfered, seized him at a 

conference at Castledermot, and for a time kept the 
King’s representative prisoner. 

Even the Irish showed more unity and energy than 
the Normans. Aedh O’Conor and O'Donnell united 
their galléglach forces to level the Geraldine strong- 
holds of Sligo and Bamada, and harass the Welsh 
settlers of Mayo. Aedh O'Neill, who was married to 
an Anglo-Irish lady, Eleanor de Angulo or “Costello,” 
a cousin of the new Earl of Ulster, openly assumed the 
title of ‘‘ King of all the Irish of Ireland.” * 

the long-established legend that De Burgo got Ulster through marriage 
with the daughter and heir of Hugh de Lacy. No such marriage can 
Ip traced, and Walter's wife was Avelina, daughter of Joha Fits. 
Goof 

C.D.L., T,, No. 1840—it is dated conjecturally 1230, but obviously. 
rolecs to edh, and not the earlier Aedh, who died 1230 (see p. 
166.) Orpen III. p. 285: Eleanor was daughter of Milo’ MacCostello, 
who, martled a daughter of Hugh de Lacy, Earl of Ulster. Acdh 
Buidhe’s son Donal, afterwards King of Cenel Eoghain, was thus half 
Norman. 

c Google " 



EXPANSION OF THE COLONY 165 

Robert d’Ufford, an Englishman, made Justiciar in 
1267, at last threw some energy into affairs, rebuilt 
Sligo, and began a new castle at Roscommon. In 1270 
he joined all his forces to those of Walter de Burgo, 
and the joint army marched through Roscommon to 
Carrick-on-Shannon, only to meet at the ford of Ath- 
an-Chip a defeat as disastrous to the English as that 
of Callann itself. Aedh O’Conor, who had with him 
Turloch O'Brien, made such a sudden onslaught “ that 
in an instant nine of the chiefest of the English were 
killed,” and in the rout the defeated abandoned a 
hundred war horses. ‘No greater defeat had been 
given to the Foreigners of Ireland up to that time,” 
say the Annals of Ulster, and we may suppose it was 
won by Aedh’s Scottish galldglaigh, who for the first 
time outmatched the long-dreaded Norman horse and 
archery,? 

While De Burgo and the viceroy escaped with 
difficulty from the field, Aedh tumed against those 
castles which the Irish feared more than armies, and 
Roscommon, Sligo, and other English strongholds went 
down before O'Donnell and himself. 

In 1271, and not long after his defeat, Walter de 
Burgo died in his castle of Galway, and as he was but 
forty, it is clear that his broken pride made him 
indifferent to life. His son Richard, who did not come 
of age till 1280, was left heir to the Earldom of Ulster 
and the Lordship of Connacht. 

The victor of Ath-an-chip at Icast ended his days 
triumphantly, though the colonists were now too rooted 
in Connacht to be generally expelled. Aedh O’Conor 
died in 1274, “ the man most feared and most victorious 
in Ireland,” says the Annals of Ulster, a fitting tribute 
to a warrior who had triumphed over the Normans as 

See, for the battle, a vivid account in Ann, Clon., also Ann Uit 
Clyn says of De Bango vix an nga preside salvante ‘hedh O'Connor 
took William Og, brother of Prisoner, dung a trace, 
Sud then slow Win afterearda, because fio Wan bed ‘kiled ia eingls 
and fair Gght, it would seem, Turloch O'Brien, when he attacked 
Englisi army. 
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decisively at Ath-an-chip as the MacCarthys had done 
at Callann.? 

Thus ended for a time the war of Gael and Norman. 
In spite of the greater success of the Irish in arms the 
English hold on Connacht, Munster, and Ulster was 
not seriously shattered, but on the other hand the 
design of a general Norman conquest, which had its 
best chance in this reign, suffered an irrevocable defeat. 

It is noticeable that the Irish of Meath and 
Leinster, the two most planted provinces, took little 
part in the war. Cormac MacArt O’Melachlin, who 
died in 1239, had left a son, Art, who inflicted, it 
appears, a great defeat on the English at the Brosna 
Tiver in 1264, and bumed “all the castles and street 
towns of the English in Delvin mcCoghlan, Brawnye and 
Calrie, and banished the Englishmen out of them all.”’? 
The Tuits and other colonists were able to hold down 
the races of Westmeath, but the frontier was in 
constant danger. 

In the North the death of De Burgo and the minority 
of his son gave the Ulster chiefs a chance once more 
to approach that suzerain which they felt it no dis- 
honour to obey, while as saer-chlanna of the proudest 
blood they resented subjection to mesne lords, In 
1272 the Justiciar, De Audeley, reported that O’Neill, 
MacMahon, O'Cahan, and other Irish chiefs have come 
into the King’s peace, and that he has presented them 
with scarlet robes and ermine furs. This was just before 
Edward I.’s accession, and the kings continued their 
loyal submission into his reign. In 1272-3 there was 
an affray in the North between FitzWarin, the Seneschal 
of Ulster, and the Mandevills, who resisted his levying 

C.D.1., T., 49, 
licence for ‘the 
calls himself Rex Connactie, 

* For the central races for Leinster, A'nn. Clon. and Clyn & Dowling’s 
Annals are the best authorities. See C.D.I., I., No. 1840 op. cit.— 
feferring to 1259-1272, when Fromund le Brun was Chancellor, wh 
the writer (name illegible) says he has striven to bring to, the King’s 
Peace tater alos,“ Arth O'Nanaulin, King of Delvennya "—elearly a 
‘corrupt version ‘of Art O'Melochlin, King of Delvin. 

TIE, p.77s. Aedh (Oto), in praying the King’s 
iy the dean and chapter of Achonry, 
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Crown dues, and had to be put down by force. The 
mayor of Carrickfergus having charged Aedh O‘Neill 
and other kings of Eastern Ulster with abetting the 
rebels, these chiefs wrote to Edward that in fact they 
had aided the Seneschal against the rebels, and prayed 
the King not to listen to charges made against them 
in the Council and elsewhere, but to confide in his 
Seneschal, whom they will obey.? 

Thus ended in a drawn fight the first armed resur- 
gence of the Gaelic race since the Invasion, Their 
chiefs, forsaking the old order, now had their castles 
and their hired troops, and made treaties and marriage 
alliances with the Norman barons, on whom they 
modelled themselves. They had learned the whole art 
of diplomacy, and used heraldic seals and devices of 
their own.2 But though they styled themselves Rex 
and Dux, they were in fact much less sovereign than 
Cathal Crovderg or Donnchad O'Brien had been in 
their province-kingdoms, and found it hard to maintain 
themselves even in their demesne lands. 

In spite of a few feeble injunctions and concessions, 
the long reign of Henry III. had failed to bring the 
Irish under one equal law with the colonists, and 
Henry, dying in November 1272, left the whole problem 
of Ireland still unsolved to his son, Edward. 

1C.D.L, IL, p. 148—Account of De Audeley, formerly Justiciar 
of Ireland,” trom 1270 to tara. Ibid, Nos. 952.3, The chiefs, who 

; King of Kinel Owen,” Cu- 
5 King of the 
ing of the Tuittre,” O'Hanlon, 

King of Anderken,”” and MacCartan, 



CHAPTER VII 

THE ENGLISH LORDSHIP AT ITS HEIGHT, 1272-1310 

‘Tue reign of Edward the First gave Monarchy a decisive 
triumph over Feudalism: in Ireland the same end was 
pursued, but only to show that the feudal magnates 
were the true lords of Ireland. 

The greatest of these, Richard de Burgo, known to 
history as the Red Earl, was yet a boy, but when he 
came of age in 1280 he inherited Connacht and Ulster, 
and a wide territory in east Limerick and in north and 
central Tipperary, ringed round the lordship of Castle- 
connell, The Red Earl was the true type of the 
Norman of Ireland as history was moulding it, already 
half-Celtic, bent entirely on land and lordship, and 
sparing no means, whether of force, persuasion, craft, 
or princely concession, to bring under him the Gael, 
the Norman, and the English of two vast provinces. 
No English King or viceroy could tell of this dissembling 
and imposing man whether he was an English baron 
or an Irish chief; and De Burgo himself, whose great- 
great-grandsire was Donal Mér O'Brien and who spoke 
the language of his Irish vassals, played the double 
game with untiring skill for fifty years. 

Destined to be almost as great was another young 
lord, namely, John FitzThomas of Kildare. John was 
the son of Thomas, the youngest son of that Maurice 
FitzGerald, second baron of Offaly, who died in 1257; 
and the true head of the family, or cafitaneus Gerald- 
inorum, as Clyn calls him, was Gerald, fourth baron, 
great-grandson of Maurice ; but one after another the 
whole Leinster, Connacht, and Ulster lands of the 
Geraldines became united in this John FitzThomas, to 
whom in 1287 Gerald of Offaly, dying without sons 
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left his lands and title, to whom his cousin, Lady 
Amabilla, daughter of Maurice, son of the second baron, 
bequeathed the Connacht inheritance, and who finally 
ended as Earl of Kildare. 
, The head of the Munster Geraldines, Thomas ‘an 
Apa,” was also a youth who did not come of age till 
1282, but one cousin, Maurice, Lord of Kerry, whose 
seat was at Lixnaw, and another, Gilbert, son of John 
“of Callann,” held the Desmond Lordship together. 
Nothing could better illustrate the mingled Irish and 
English tenures, knightly, free, rent-paying, and servile ; 
the vast, half-organised extent, the mixture of towns 
castles, manors, cantreds, feudal and Gaelic regalities 
which made up a great Anglo-Irish lordship than the 
lands of this Thomas “an Apa ” as revealed by Inquisi- 
tions in 1282 and at his death in 1298. 

Among other estates he had in Decies three and a 
half cantreds, the lands of Dungarvan, the lands of 
Comeragh, and the Irish districts of Oveagh and Obride. 
In the three and a half cantreds there are sixteen free 
and knightly tenants, English and Norman; eighteen 
farmers, or leaseholders, between them rent some twelve 
thousand acres; on the lands of Dungarvan “ the 

Trish hold seven carucates at Balyacherne,” and Oveagh 
and Obride contain numerous Irish. ‘‘ The vill of the 
Ostmen near Waterford’’ pays rent, and an Ostman 
freeholder, William Macgillemory, holds a carucate and 
a half at Dutlagh near Dungarvan. The burgesses of 
Dungarvan pay the large rent of nearly fourteen pounds. 
In Thomond the thirteen vills in Corcomrua and the 
cantred and a half about Killaloe were already gone in 
1282 ‘‘ because of the war of the Irish.” In Limerick 
there is “a cantred in Connello called Shanid” with 
eighteen free tenants, and “lands of the Irish” paying 
rent. Also a cantred at Aylly, and a manor or t1sath 
with burgesses at Glenogra. The great manors of 

+ John of “Callan” married secondly Honora, daughter of 
O'Conor Kerry, and their son, Gilbert, whose son Maurice was first 
White Knight, founded the Fitzgibbons ot Kilmallock, Knocklong, 
ete. See R.S.A.L., 1876, 
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Newcastle and Killeedy contain numerous free, betagh, 
and cottier tenants. He had the sergeanty of the Irish 
districts of Obathan and Corcahide “ with perquisites 
of court as well of English as of Irish.” In central 
Kerry he had Aicme Ciarraighe with its centre at 
Castleisland “ most of it destroyed by the war of the 
Irish,” with half a cantred at Molahiffe and a manor 
at Maynwyr, where among several Irish gavellers or 
renters are William O’Moriarty—whose ancestors had 
been Lords of Loch Léin—and his “ sequel ” or following. 
The manor of Killorglin in Kerry covered the level land 
between Killarney and the Maine; and that of Inch 
covered the.Corcaguiney peninsula and included “a vill 
at Tralee” paying five pounds rent per annum, but 
“some of it lies waste among the Irish.” In Cork he 
had inter alia the manor of Mallow, but “‘ the land of 
Corkely [Corca Laidhe in the south-west of the county} 
cannot be extended on account of the Irish." Thomas 
had also the hereditary sherifidom of three counties, 
Cork, Waterford, and Kerry.4 

The Inquisitions give us an identical picture of the 
Butler Lordship in Ormond under Theobald the fourth, 
who died in 1285. In Kilkenny he was only tenant 
of lands about Gowran under the Earl of Gloucester, 
Lord of that Liberty, but in Tipperary he was as 
supreme, save for the Burgo manors, as FitzGerald was 
in Kildare or Limerick, and even in Ossory the 
absenteeism of his overlord made him the chief of the 
local magnates. | Everything favoured the First 
Families who had struck root in Ireland and meant to 
stay there, whom an Absentee Crown could not control, 
and who steadily added to their lands the rich fiefs of 
absent or extinct Fitzhenrys, Mariscos, Worcesters, De 
Valognes, and the rest. 

The Lord of Trim or Eastern Meath was Geoffrey 
de Geynville ; of Lochsewdy or Western Meath, Theo- 
bald, son of John de Verdun. 

The true points of policy for Edward were obviously 
4. D.1., IL, No. 192, and IV., No. $51. 
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to create a real government in Dublin whose orders 
would be obeyed throughout the island; to bridle or 
abolish the Liberties; and to end the race-war by 
giving the Gaelic chiefs legal status under the Crown 
and confirming to the Irish “ inder anglicos ” the benefits 
of royal law. 

That Edward understood these necessities and aimed 
at this policy seems clear. This legal-minded King 
had beyond the Severn a situation very like that of 
Ireland, and when by the Statute of Rhuddlan in 1284, 
he imposed English law on the annexed Principality of 
Wales, leaving to the Welsh many of their Celtic 

customs, he made a settlement which was no bad model 
for his Irish Lordship. 

But on the whole he was badly served in Ireland. 
Few of his English viceroys dared to act the whole 
Poyning or Wentworth in the teeth of an unbroken 
baronial interest, and even when they put what was 
undoubtedly the King’s will into effect, seized Liberties 
and annulled vested abuses, Edward, advised from 
Dublin, too often declared it was not his will. Nothing, 
however, but a royal visit could have effected a general 
reform, and such a visit was not paid. 

Edward, to his credit, did attempt to enfranchise 
the older race, but well-meaning fiats were powerless 
against the rooted determination of the Anglo-Irish, 
without whose assent in Parliament nothing could be 
done, to keep the Irish and their lands as the due 
preserve of the conquerors. 

Indeed, the Anglo-Irish officials were little better. 
In 1285 one of these drew up a memorandum showing 
that it was expedient for the King that no Irishman 
should ever be archbishop or bishop “ because they 
preach against the King and provide Irishmen to their 
churches so that an election of bishops might be made 
to maintain their language. Similarly the Dominicans 
and Franciscans make much of the language.” Edward, 
however, repelled the unworthy suggestion? 

2C.D.1., IL, p. 10. 
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For four years, from 1272 to 1276, King Edward 
was represented successively in Ireland by two Anglo- 
Trish Justiciars, viz., Maurice, a son of the second baron 
of Offaly, and next by Geoffrey de Geynville, lord of 
Trim. 

It was unlikely that men so interested in the 
conquest of Ireland would promote its peace, and it 
was not long till a fresh Irish resurgence manifested 
itself, in which two areas were especially affected. 

As long as the Marshals maintained the Earldom 
of Leinster, its Irish population had accepted their not 
unkindly rule, and even under such absentees as the 
Bigod lords of Carlow, peace had continued. But 

Strongbow’s earlier tradition faded and the newer 
tradition was less favourable to those Irish who had 
been Strongbow’s allies or had sworn homage to him 
and his heirs. Moreover, the spectacle of four of the 
five Liberties of Leinster gone derelict under absentee 
aliens could not but evoke the memory of those Gaelic 
lordships whose heirs still existed, and in a broken 
fashion maintained the old-Irish chieftainships. 

The natural leaders of the Leinster Irish were the 
descendants of Dermot “ nutu Dei Rex Laginensium.”” 
So far Donal Kavanagh's heirs had been tenants and 
officers of the Marshals in Carlow, but when the direct 
heirs of Strongbow and Eva MacMurchada expired, the 
tradition that MacMurchada was the true Lord of 
Leinster was bound to revive. 

About the year 1280 we find Art “ MacMurgh” in 

receipt of an annual fee from his kinsman, Roger Bigod, 
Lord of Carlow, while his brother, Murchertach or 
“ Moriardagh,” enjoys a smaller fee? An imposing 
number of native chiefs looked to the Kavanaghs as 

\Tnguis, on Bigod's lands (1279-94), Just, Rolls, TL p. 346) Ast 
rpedived 413} pa Murchertach £1 13% 4d pa 
Annals im Chart. St. Mary's, 11, p. 318, call " Tiong eh ‘Shit in 
1275, and O'Clery’s Pedigrees make him the elder. Bigod’s Seneschal 
must have favoured Art and made him “Seneschal of the Irish "* 
Bike his ancestor, Donal Kavanagh. The Kinsellas were descended 
from Enna, a younger son of King Dermot, and Mac Daibhi Mbbir 
from Murchad “na nGaedheal,” his brother. 
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their lawful head. Such were the Kinsellas, Mac- 
Damores, and O’Murchadas of Wexford, the O’Nolans 
of Forth, the O’Ryans of Idrone, and the O’Byrnes and 
O’Tooles of Wicklow. O'Byrne (O Broin) represented 
the Ui Faelain, driven from Kildare to Glenmalure and 
the mountains, while O'Toole, now located about Imaal, 
represented Gillacomgaill, last king of the Ui Muiredaig, 
who died in 1176. These had accepted land and tenure 
under the English Crown and the See of Dublin, but 
before long the old Irish title was re-assumed, as by 
Aedh O'Tuathail, Lord of Imaal, who died in 1376. 

All these were south of Liffey and east of Barrow. 
But O'Conor of Offaly—with his sub-kings, O’Dimusaigh 
of Clanmaelitra and O'Dunn of Iregan—and O*More of 
Leix had formerly obeyed MacMurchada and were 
ready to do so again, though for the time the English 
colonies along these rivers had severed them from their 
old suzerain. 

But many of the Irish still looked to the Crown 
for redress. A new reign kindled hope, and the 
“community of the Irish” therefore made a general 
request for English liberties through Edward's Justiciar, 
the Englishman, Robert D’Ufford, who was appointed 
in June 1276, accompanying it with an offer of eight 
thousand marks. Edward let the question hang fire, 

hoping to receive a higher sum and a contingent of 
infantry from the Irish, but in 1279 informed D’Ufford 
that it seemed meet to him and the Council of England 
that such a grant of English laws should be made 
because the Irish laws were “ detestable to God and so 
diverse from all law as not worthy to be called laws 
at all.” He then bade his Deputy summon the peers, 

prelates, and others of Ireland to consider whether the 
laws of England might be extended as desired. There 
the matter ended, for the Anglo-Irish oligarchy appa- 
rently would not have it, and Edward, who brooked 
resistance ill in England, stomached it from his Irish 
barons. 

Thus did the Governor and the Anglo-Irish shelve 
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the emancipation question. The King and Council of 
England had willed it, but more than good-will was 
needed to enforce it.t 

Instead of a general and generous enfranchisement 
a peddling subterfuge was adopted, and grants of 
English liberty, purchased with money, were made to 

families and individuals, especially to those Irish, free 
‘or bond, who dwelt inter anglicos. The records contain 
numbers of such acts of denization, but the unrecorded 
numbers were apparently great, if we can believe that 
Edward made three thousand pounds in a short period 
over such transactions. It is probable that by this 
method considerable numbers of the richer Irish in the 
“English land’ redeemed themselves from “Irish 
servitude,” and that after a generation or two the 
freed Irish were numerous in the East and South.* 

Meanwhile the mountain fastnesses of Glenmalure 
became the retreat of the fighting forces of North 
Leinster, who owned Murchertach MacMurchada as 
King. In 1274 the first of many expeditions against 
this stronghold, led by FitzRoger, Prior of the Hos- 
pitallers, was overthrown there, and a second attempt 
in 1276 under the Justiciar, Geoffrey de Geynville, who 
contributed two thousand men from Meath alone, was 
also repulsed in this narrow and dangerous defile, which 
remained ihe stronghold of the O'’Bymes for centuries. 

+ Orpen, P. 22, relying on the fact that D'Uftord's 
(Ed. 0 te, Ho ice) apace or tes tah ol Genaeiacs 
goes onto the request for English law, assumes it was onli 
One made by the Irish of Wicklow. A request, however, 

* Community of Ireland" and backed by so large a sum, and so 
seriously considered by the King, must surely have been made by a 
much larger section of the Irish, possibly all Munster and Leinster, 
if not agents acting for all {reland. 

ce grants to Hagh Kent and Robert de Bree (C. D.I., II, 
p. 525 and No. 924). In the case of the former, circa 1290, King 
Edward in his Great Council at London declared that all who 
demanded this grant of English laws should have them. C.D. J., 
LIL, p. 290 (1290) makes the statement that the King gained £3,000 
“in one day" by issue of charters of liberty—probably this means 
that an accumulated sum from several years was sent to him, 
representing thousands of such enfranchisements. But it was easier 
to decree than to make the colonists observe, and in 1321 (Cal. Pat. 
Rolls, 1321, p. 563) a royal patent re-affirmed to such Irishmen the 
English law of life and limb which the colonists refused to them 
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A treacherous crime embittered the race-war. 
Roger Bigod, Earl of Norfolk and Lord of Carlow, got 
a safe-conduct from the Crown for “Art MacMurch 
and Caruel Alfortien, Irishmen and kinsmen of the 
Earl," to come to him in England, but Art got no 
further on his journey than Arklow, early in 1282, 
when the English of that port, who could not endure 
to see an Irish guerilla chief on their streets, rose and 
slew him. 

Bigod, who was with the King at Conway on his 
Welsh war, complained bitterly to his sovereign, not 
only of this, but also that the Justiciar, Stephen, bishop 

of Waterford, had fined him a hundred marks for the 
“decapitation of Art MacMorhod, who was at peace 
with the King,” and that this was against the Earl’s 
Liberty of Carlow, for according to custom, Art had 
not been proclaimed with the consent of the Earl and 
his freemen? 

Nothing could better illustrate the feudal mind and 
the character of the English dominion. Bigod was 
certainly angry that his Irish kinsman and vassal had 
been unjustly slain, but still more that his right to do 
as he wished with his own had been violated. On the 
other hand the Justiciar fined him for the wrong to 
MacMurchada, but was much more concerned in 
attacking feudal rights. Neither of them considered 
the rights of Art and his race of much account. 

The Leinster war flickered for many years, till in 
1295 Sir Thomas FitzMaurice of Desmond, “ Custos” 
of Ireland, entered into terms with the insurgents, and 
“ Mauritius macMuryarthi MacMurchoth ” (i.e. Murchad 
son of Murchertach), with all his nation and following, 

2 Laud MS. Annals, p. 318. Ann. Clom, 1276. C.D. Tn IL, 

Arklowe in Vig. S. Marie Magdalene, 1282" (Leud, Annals). Ann. 
Vit, 1282, say," Muirchertach MacMurchadha, king of Leinster, and 
other Art were slain by the Forsignere."”'D. C- I. I, Ne. x919 

's complaint to King Edward), however, only ‘names Art as 
having been tilled at Arklow. - C.D,Z,, It, No. 1873, safe conduct 
for Art and Caruel Alfortien (Cerbhail O’Foirtchern), Nov., 1281. 
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was received into the King's peace. The Justiciar and 
Murchad fixed their seals to the first treaty made since 
1170 which recognised the MacMurchadas as potentates 
in Leinster, and Art, son of the Art slain in 1281, Art, 
son of John O'Byrne, and a son of Faelan O'Toole, 
were given as hostages. 

The events of this Irish resurgence in Leinster 
accompanied a strong, if invisible, tide of race-recovery. 

The King, the Leinster Earls, and the Archbishop 
of Dublin, had annexed the whole coast and hinterland 
from Wexford to the Liffey, and the forest and the 
highlands of Dublin and Wicklow were “ chase and 
vert” for the Crown and its tenants-in-chief. Families 
such as Hereford, Ridlesford, FitzGriffin, FiteRhys, 
and St. Michael had been richly enfeoffed in these 
borderlands. Now the recovery of the Irish deprived 
the Crown of its vast forest-lands; the O'Tooles took 
the place of FitzRhys, under whom they had held, in 
the highlands of Imaal; the Borearts vanished and the 
St. Michaels lost to O'Murchada the lands of Ui Feilme 
—the old demesne of this chief, between Enniscorthy 
and the sea—with which Strongbow and Theobald 
Walter had enfeoffed them, 

There was, in addition to the pure absentees, a 
striking disappearance of the original families. Griffin, 
brother of Raymond le Gros, had been enfeofied by 
the latter with lands in the barony of Forth in Carlow, 
But by 1250 the family had ended in an heiress, 
Clarice, who dispersed the family lands among her 
three husbands, of whom one was John FitzDermot, 
tightly MacGillacolmoc, by whom she had a son, John. 

By 1300 the lands of the three Hereford brothers, 
who divided North-east Kildare between them early in 
the Conquest of Leinster, had all gone to Rochforts, 
Stauntons, and others, husbands of Hereford heiresses. 
It was the same fate which had overtaken the Marshals, 
Lacys, and other families of the highest rank. 

Deprived by the Irish resurgence of the march-lands, 
3 Just, Rolls, 1, p. 61. 
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the colonial families had to be content with their estates 
in the Avon Liffey, but even there their names dwindled 
and many of them have even ceased to exist by the 
time of the Tudors.? 

Strategically the effect of this resurgence was to 
bring most of the coast from Bray to Wexford into 
Irish hands, and on the other side of the mountains to 
threaten the capital and the colonies of the Liffey and 
the Barrow, who held the passes into Munster. 

From Leinster the war spread into the Midlands, 

where Cairbre O’Melachlin and Calvach O'Conor were 
leaders on the one side, and Richard Tuit, Lord of 
Granard, and Piers de Bermingham, Lord of Tethmoy, 
on the other. 

But a still more dangerous war was kindled in 
Thomond. Here the grants to De Muscegros, and 
others to John FitzThomas of Shanid of a cantred and 
a half near Killaloe and thirteen vills in Corcomrua in 
North-west Clare, connecting with the Geraldine lord- 
ship of Dunkellin and Kiltartan in South Galway, 
threatened the native O’Briens with extinction, After 
the death of Conor Rua in 1268, Brian Rua, his 
remaining son, held only two cantreds in Corcomrua 

under the English Crown, Finally, in January 1276, 
King Edward conferred on Thomas de Clare, brother of 

Gilbert Earl of Gloucester, an ambitious man sadly in 
need of an earldom, “the whole land of Thomond” 
with the usual liberties at service of ten knights. 
Robert de Muscegros was bought out and retired to 

1 For the above see Reg. St. Thomas, pp. 102, 366; Chart. SI 
Mary's, 1., pp. 20, 108: C.D... IIL, p. 204: Crede Ms 
and p.'s1. ‘The names Hereford, FitzRhys, St. Michael, Ridlesford, 
are found in rolls of magnates summoned to Scotland between 1302 
and 1335 (Lib. Mun., pt. IV., passim), but I cannot find them in 
Tudor records,” ‘The Archbishop of Dublin bad Glendaloch and much 
country east of it, defended by his fortress at Castlekevin, near 
Annamoe, and also had Coillach, a hill-tract between the sources of 
Lifey and Dodder. The Crown had the old Irish district called Us 
Cellaigh (Okelly) to the south of Tallaght stretching across the 
entrance of Glenasmole, and Obrun (Ui E Tun Choalaise) aad Othee 
(Ui Teig), stretching between them the modern Shankill south 
to Newcastle McKinegan, where there was a royal castle (Hogan, 
Onomasticon). Both were naturally great losers by the Irish revival. 

M 
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England, while the O’Briens were adjudged, as guilty 
of treason, to have no right to the land.t 

Then came the inevitable clash between feudal law, 
applied with a severity to Irish chiefs which Edward 

would not have dared to show towards his English 
barons, and Irish patriarchal chieftainship.* 

De Clare had the true Norman vigour and ruthless- 
ness, and a succession dispute between Brian Rua and 
his nephew, Turloch, son of Taig of Caeluisce, Bran's 
elder brother, opened a way for him. Hard-pressed, 

Brian sent to De Clare in Cork offering him all the 
land between Quin and Limerick. Arriving at once, 
Thomas threw up a castle at Bunratty, but his foe, 
Turloch, was not less active, and calling in Irish 
auxiliaries from Galway, overthrew Brian in battle and 
slew his Norman ally, Patrick FitzMaurice, brother of 
Juliana, wife of De Clare (1277). Brian fled to Bun- 
ratty, only to be furiously blamed by Juliana for her 
brother’s death, and in spite of De Clare’s most solemn 
oaths of alliance, was by order of the latter barbarously 
done to death. It was one of the atrocities specially 
detailed to Pope John XXII. in 1317. 

Appeased by De Clare’s apologies for the murder, 

Donnchad, Brian’s son, was induced to adhere to the 
Norman side, and the civil war, so profitable to De 
Clare, went on. 

The spirit of revolt spread to the Irish of Desmond, 
and indeed not the least of the dangers was the prospect 
of a general Celtic League against the English. Thomas 
FitzMaurice, Lord of Kerry, writing about this time to 
his friend, the Bishop of Bath and Wells, whom he 
begs to intercede for him with the King, excuses himself 

1C.D.1., IL, No, 1194, and p. 528 (September 1284), “' the King 
having given to''Thomas de Clare the lands, etc, which belonged to 
O’Brien, an Irishman, which had escheated to the King by O'Brien's 
forfeiture, etc.” 

* The story of the forty years’ war in Clare is told in a remarkable 
prose saga, Caithréim Toirdelbhaigh ("" The Martial Carcer of Turloch "), 
written by Séan MacCraith soon after 1364. It was prepared for 
publication by the late Standish Hayes O'Grady, but unhappily has 
not yet appeared. For a description, see Orpen, IV., pp. 67-68. 
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from coming to do homage to his Sovereign, now that 
he is of age, till Easter next for‘ because of the war 
in Wales, the Irish in parts of Ireland are more than 
usually elated, some have taken to hostilities and 
others are ready for war. The nobles of Ireland have 
therefore begged me to remain in Ireland.” The stirring 
career of Llywelyn, last British Prince of Wales (r246- 
1282) could not but stimulate a similar Celtic reaction 
in Ireland, where a sister of Llywelyn had married 
William Gorm de Lacy, the grandson of Rury O’Conor. 
The tragic fall of Liywelyn, indeed, soon quenched 
Celtic hopes, but later risings of the Welsh had an eye 
towards Ireland.t 

Richard de Burgo, now coming into possession of 
his huge estates, intervened to protect Turloch O’Brien, 
and it was clear that the sharp division of Irish and 
English was fading away. Finally Donnchad was slain 
in battle, and the premature death of Thomas de Clare 
in 1286 left Turloch O’Brien supreme in most of 
Thomond. De Clare had shown great organising skill, 
but his time had been too brief, and the tender age of 
his heir, Gilbert, who was but seven, left the whole 
work unachieved. For some thirty years, however, 
Clare was still reckoned a feudal barony and a shire.* 

Donal Rua MacCarthy, son of Cormac Fionn, was 
now chief of the Irish of Desmond. In 1285 he visited 
Edward in person, to complain of the encroachments 
of the Geraldines But when in 1292 Edward granted 
to Thomas ‘‘an Apa’’ “the land of Decies and 

2See Nat. Facs, II, Plate LXXVI., which dates Fitemaurice's 
letter as 1281: but C. D. I., IIL, p. 16, gives the date as 1287, when 
in fact there was a Welsh revolt under Rhys ap Maredadd. Chancery 
Rolls, 1277-1326, p. 323 (February 1289), William de Grandison, 
Justice in Wales, is instructed to watch lest " Rhys son of Mereduc 
‘cross over to Ireland, as is his intent.’” 

* For De Clare's lands see Cal. Inguis., II., 16 Ed. I., No. 606. 
Bunratty was in 1287 a town with 226 burgages. Among the tenants 
of the Manor of Bunratty was Turloch O’Brien with 7 cantreds and 
36 Mil A Sonera of fi2t, Even alter De Clare's death, the 
manor yi 

in But strikingly English, such as Alfoun, Pippart, 
Hynglshan, alloc, Mailoc, Fuke, Piran, Tuanberiatn, 
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Desmond with the homages and services of both Irish 
and English,” MacCarthy made no such protest as that 
of Callann. By some sort of condominium with Fitz- 
gerald, Donal was left in possession of the South-west 
of Munster and remained in Irish eyes King of Desmond. 
Donal Rua ,died in 1302, and was succeeded by his 
son, Donal Og, whose silver seal, still existing, shows 
this Irish prince on horse with sword in hand, and the 
inscription “ sigillum Dovenaldi og fili Dovenaldi Roch 
Macarthi.” 1 

Meanwhile in Connacht Aedh O'Conor, of “ Ath- 
an-Chip,” had died in 1274, childless. The Clan 
Murchertach, sprung from a brother of Rury, the last 
Ard Ri, then provided Connacht with kings till 1293, 
when Aedh, a descendant of Cathal Crovderg, succeeded 
till 1309. Meanwhile a branch sprung from Brian of 
Luigbni, a brother of Rury, established itself in Sligo, 
Aedh of Athankip was the last great O’Conor of his 
time, and for over forty years Richard, the young Earl 
of Ulster, was the real king of Connacht. 

Under “the Red Earl” was laid deep and strong 
the De Burgo lordship in Mayo and Galway. His 
castles of Galway, Meelick, Ballymote, and Ath-an- 
Chorainn dominated the Corrib, Loch Derg, and the 
Sligo frontier. The O'Conor rig-domnas became 
protégés of De Burgo or his rival, the Geraldine John 
FitzThomas, who held Sligo till 1299. Only three 
cantreds were now O'Conor’s, held under the English 
Crown; a small inheritance compared with De Burgo’s 

twenty-five cantreds. 

2G. D. Iu Hn P, 564, 1284. |" Donal Rufus, lord of the Irish of 
Desmond, vehemently desiring to be subjected to the King's domi- 
nation, sends to the King Brother Walter of Kilkenny, Reacer of the 
‘Dominicans of Cashel.” May, 1282, letters of protection are given to 
Donal, coming to the King in England. In 1288 he makes peace 
with jobn, Archbishop of Dublin, Custos of Ireland (C.D.1., Ill, 
366). The as 1 his son is described in a note to O'Donovan § 

1362, p. 478. 
Pie Tia reece tanita wed he aataee of his cals an Seastreied 

by the Inquisitions on his death, see Cal. Imguis., 7 Ed. ITI, p. 371 
s¢q., and Knox, Anglo-Norman Occupation of Connachi, R.S.A.1., 
3902-3. 
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Like Clare, Connacht had now become a county of 
the Anglo-Irish State. 

The Northern Irish had fallen into two groups, 
dominated by Cenel Eoghain and Cenel Conaill. The 
O'Neills and their urrighs, or “ under-kings,” were at 
peace with the Crown and with the Earl. Aedh Buidhe 
O'Neill, king since 1260, appears in a document of 1269 
as ‘Odo Onel Rex Kenlean (Cenel Eoghain],” a vassal 
of Earl Walter, and the Irish lords of Oriel and central 
Ulster held lordship and lands by military service of 
the Earl? 

But Donal Og O'Donnell pursued the expansion- 
policy of his race, and invading Tir Eoghain in r28x, 
was defeated and slain by Aedh O'Neill and his English 
allics in a desperate fight at Disert-dé-crioch, near 
Dungannon, where along with O'Donnell fell nineteen 
chiefs, his vassals, whose names support the Ulster 
annals when they call Donal “‘ Lord of Fermanagh and 
Oriel, a great part of the Gael of Connacht and all 
Brefini.”” 

Little did these dignities affect the English, to 
whom O'Donnell was merely an ‘‘Irish felon.” His 
body was mutilated, and a colonist carried his head 
to Dublin for the sake of reward.* 

Two years later, Aedh O'Neill himself was slain in 
battle by MacMahon of Oriel and O'Reilly of Brefni. 
Donal, son of Brian “‘of the Battle of Down,” then 
put forward his claim against Brian, son of Aedh Bui, 
whom the Earl supported, but finally in 1295 Donal 
slew his rival at Craebh, and from this to 1318 was 
the sole O'Neill. 

1 
daughter of Mio 

Hugh de Lacy, Earl of Ulster, whose brother Walter was grand- 
father of Walter de Burgo, "The De Hurgo Inquisitons of 1333, show 
O'Neill, O'Cahan, MacMahon, O'Hanlon, Maguire, and Ulster 
chiefs holding by military service under the Earl, ably = eae 
existing arrangement (Orpen, Earltom of Ulster 

*C.D. 1., 1, No. 2049. "Stephen, bishop of 
orders to be paid to Thomas de Mandeville whi 
the tead of O'Donnell, which ‘Thomas caused to be borne to. the 
Exchequer. 

Aedh Bui was married to Eleanor, 
ells (de Angula) aad his wate, « donghtet 
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In Tir Conaill succeeded Aedh O'Donnell, eldest son 
of the dead chief by Catriona, daughter of MacSuibhne, 
a captain of Scottish galldglaigh, who ruled til his 
death in 1333. Like his father, Aedh fixed his eyes 
on Southern Ulster as a field for expansion, and the 
Red Earl favoured O'Donnell as against his Geraldine 
rival, FitzThomas, Lord of Sligo and claimant to 
Fermanagh and Tir Conaill. It is significant that the 
Maguire chiefs, who now appear in Fermanagh, arose 
as vassals of O’Donnell.* 

On the other hand, the Red Earl aimed at extending 
his Ulster lordship over the whole North coast. His 
stronghold of Northburgh, built in 1305 at the junction 
of Foyle and the sea, commanded Inishowen, From 
MacLochlin, bishop of Derry, he secured, or rather 
wrested, Fahan and Inch on Loch Suiligh, and in 1311 
Edward II. enfeoffed him in the city of Derry Colm- 
cille, so that the whole coast of Ulster from Carlingford 
round to Fanad was his. 

By 1295 the war of the two races had on the whole 
gone in favour of the English, But Tir Conaill was 
still untouched, and in Thomond an equal failure of all 
the grantees wrote the doom of all hopes of a final 
Conquest of Ireland. Here Turloch O'Brien’s liew- 
tenant, Cumidhe MacConmara, stormed and burned De 
Clare’s great castle of Quin (1287), and when Turloch 
died in 1306 the stirring saga of his victories ranked 
him with his ancestor, Brian the Great. 

In this war beyond the Shannon, the Boyne, and 
the Suir, almost all had been done by independent 
Norman conquistadors, and almost nothing by the 
Crown, But in the East the latter still commanded 
general allegiance, and we must turn again to Dublin, 

From 1276 to 1312 a long-sustained attempt was 
made to bring the whole land of Ireland under the 
King, and a series of English-born or English-minded 

1 Ann. Ul, 1302: “ died Donn Maguidhir king cf Firmanach 
, the first king of Firmanach of the sons of Maguidhir.” Maguidhér 

Ficarmencel, ed! Diancen, shows that at tris date the Maguires were 
‘but acting lords for the O'Donnells in Fermanagh. 

Google i 



ENGLISH LORDSHIP AT ITS HEIGHT 183 

vicefoys were sent to repair the damage done by Irish 
justiciars, to organise the King’s land and the King’s 

revenues, to diminish the feudal liberties, and make 
this realm a valuable appanage of the ever-needy 
English Crown. 

The first of these was Robert D'Ufford, who ruled 
from June 1276 to November r28r; the next was 
Stephen de Fulbum, bishop of Waterford, who 
governed as Justiciar and Custos till his death in July 
1288, In the six years, from Michaelmas 1278 to 
September 1284, over {30,000 came in to the Irish 

Exchequer, no mean sum considering how much of 
Treland was Gaelic or in Liberties.* 

A large part of this revenue came from the Magna 
Cusiuma on wool, wool-fells, and hides, The magnates 
of England assembled in Parliament in 1275 made a 
perpetual grant of these export duties, and Edward 
then induced twelve absentee Irish magnates to sign a 
recognisance that they had in the English Parliament 
granted the same for their Irish estates. In sending 
this cool document over, Edward requested his Justiciar 
to get the assent of the prelates, earls, barons, commons 
and merchants of Ireland. Whether any voice was 
taised in opposition we know not, but at all events 
the magnates of Ireland, without summoning the rest, 
made the Custwma a perpetual grant from Ireland also.* 

In taxation Edward assumed the necessity of Anglo- 
Trish consent, But he also acted as if the laws of his 
Enghsh Parliament ipso facto bound the Irish colony, 
and his writ of 1285, delivered to Fulburn, ordered the 
Statutes of Gloucester, Mortmain, and the Second of 
Westminster to be proclaimed in Ireland.* 

The Quo Warranto inquiry which flowed from the 
Statute of Gloucester was Edward's most deadly weapon 

Berry Statutes, I., pp. 47-77. 
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in England against feudal franchises, regalities, and 
liberties, and for the emancipation of the free classes 
from manorial jurisdictions. 

Edward’s governors made a gallant attempt to 
achieve a like result in Ireland, and had they been 
backed consistently, the Lordship of Ireland might 
have escaped its final fate of feudal disintegration. 

But Edward wavered, ill-advised or unadvised, and 
fearing to lose Ireland altogether through the resentment 
of that baronage to whom Ireland had been handed 
for a prey. Thus when in 1282 Fulburn held his 
court in Bigod’s land of Carlow on the ground that 
the four pleas of the Crown there belonged to the King, 
the Earl Marshal's protest moved Edward to order his 
viceroy to do nothing against the Earl's liberties.’ 

John de Sanford, archbishop of Dublin, who 
governed from 1288 to 1290, had been trained as an 
itinerant justice. A contemporary record outlines for 
us the journeys and activities of this episcopal viceroy. 
now while the meciaeval Lordship of Ireland was at 
its apogee. 

On the death of the Justiciar Stephen, July 1288, 
the Irish Council elected Sanford as Custos, and in May 
120 they sent a justification and eulogy of his conduct 
to the King? His first action, they said, was to survey 
the King’s castles in Connacht, and then in September 
at Kildare to summon the whole service of Ireland, 
assigning to the Seneschals of Kildare, Wexford, Carlow 
and Kilkenny each his part of the marches to defend 
against the Irish. He then went into Desmond and 

brought Donal ‘Roche’ MacCarthy to peace, his ster 
reaching as far as Cork, Buttevant, and Limerick. 

The service being ended, he spent nearly {600 in 
putting troops into Rheban and other holds, and 
created five Justices of the Eyre for County Tipperary, 
and instructed them on their duties. Then early in 
1289, he made another tourn in Ormond and Desmond, 

+C.D.1,, IL, No. 1919. 
*€.D.T IIL, No. 599 (1288-90). 
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and then into Meath and Connacht to inspect the royal 
castles and raise a force against O'Melachlin: there he 

kept the field with 100 warhorses and 4,500 vassals 
together with the king of Connacht for twenty-two 
days. He travelled on this service from Drogheda, 
through Meath, to Randown, Roscommon, Tuam, and 
Dunmore, and so back to Maynooth. Again in June- 
July he made an iter as far as Limerick, Kilmallock, 
Buttevant, and Callan. Then, in September, he led 
forces against the Irish of Offaly and Leix from 
Baltinglas and brought them to peace. He held two 
parliaments in Dublin in that winter and spring, and 
in May 1290 went against the Irish who had attacked 
Athlone. He then prepared to survey the state of 
Ireland, and the deeds of the ministers so that justice 
might be done to all, and the King’s dignity everywhere 
maintained. Throughout his eyre he proclaimed that 
all who complained of the King’s ministers or others 
in Ireland should be before him on certain days. He 
journeyed from Dublin to Drogheda, Kells, Mullingar, 
and so to Connacht, to Roscommon and Tuam, and 
back by Nenagh and Thurles to Tipperary, Limerick, 
Cork, Waterford, and Ferns, and “so rectified the 
King’s peace that Ireland thereafter was at peace.” ! 

On September 2th Sanford was ordered to give 
up his office to William de Vescy. Vescy, through his 
Marshal mother, was Lord of Kildare, and set himself 
to restore this Liberty. At once the jealousy of the 
Anglo-Irish for returning absentees was shown. John 
FitzThomas, especially, whose barony of Naas was 
held of the Honor of Kildare, felt his practical posses- 
sion of that wide and fertile land threatened by the 
return of his nominal overlord, one of those ‘ English- 

+ We note, however, that his visitations did not include Western 
Connacht or Ulster, where Richard de Burgo had his own itinerant 
Justices sitting at (Carrickfergus, and which was indeed the most 
com iberty ” in Ireland. ' Nor did Sanford penetrate further 
root Inte Munster than Cork Bultevant, sod Kitnaidock, for Western 
Munster was ‘March land” held by the Geraldines under palatine 
powers, 
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men by birth” who easily roused the hostility of the 
“ English by blood.” 

FitzThomas, the future Earl of Kildare, had in- 
herited one by one the Connacht and Sligo lands of 
his race, and the manors of Adare, Croom, and Grene 
in Limerick ; and, by the death of his kinsman, Gerald, 
ins 1287, became fifth Baron of Offaly and “capitancus 
Geraldinorum."* Thomas “an Apa” FitzMaurice had 
meanwhile so succeeded in rebuilding that lordship 
which the MacCarthys had badly shattered at Callann 
that in 1292 King Edward renewed to him and his 
heirs the lands of Decies and Desmond, with the 
custody of the castle of Dungarvan, and the homages, 
rents and services of all tenants, both English and Irish 

The Burgos and Geraldines had in fact become 
“kings of provinces” after the Irish fashion, and that 
by direct sanction of the Crown. As such, boundary 
disputes and feuds were inevitable between them. 
Thus FitzThomas’ lordship of Sligo was right in the 
path of that Ulster-Connacht lordship which the Red 
Earl was welding together, and a long and bitter feud 
between the two went on till 1299. Then, after full 
investigation by the Crown, the Justiciar, Wogan, 
summoned FitzThomas as prime offender before him 
at Athboy, and the chief of the Geraldines only atoned 
by surrendering his lands of Lochmask and Sligo, and 
his claims on Fermanagh and Tyrconnell, to Earl 
Richard, for compensation in Leinster or Munster.* 

While De Burgo thus eliminated a dangerous rival 
in the North-west, FitzThomas turned his energies to 
Leinster, and to the overthrow of De Vescy. Some 
violent words attributed to this feudal viceroy at a 
Parliament of Irish barons were made by FitzThomas 
the basis of a charge of treason against him. According 

. to FitzThomas, De Vescy had accused the King of 
acting with perfidy and cruelty to the Montfortians at 

4 For his inheritances see Rental of Earl of Kildare: Hist. MSS. 
Comm. (1883) een: 

°C.D.1, IL, p. 424, and IIL, No, 817. Just. Rolls, I., p. 153. 
IV., Nos. 268 and 835. Just. Rods, L.. pp. 131, 234, etc. 
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Kenilworth during the Barons’ War of 1265. and had 
said moreover: the people of Ireland were the most 
miserable he knew, for if they willed they could be 
great lords and well maintain the Jands and franchises 
of Ireland, notwithstanding the King, “who is the most 
perverse and dastardly knight of his realm.” Summoned 
to Westminster along with his accuser, De Vescy denied 
the words and offered combat to FitzThomas, who, 
however, did not appear. The King, stung by the 
words of the charge, in 1294 removed De Vescy from 
office, and took from him the manor, castle, and county 
of Kildare. On De Vescy’s death in 1297 a portion of 
these estates were granted to Waleran de Wellesley, a 
tenant of the dead man, but finally in 1316 all were 

made into an earldom for FitzThomas, who was in fact 
the real owner. 

After an interval filled by three temporary Gover- 
nors, Sir John Wogan was appointed Justiciar, and 
arrived in December 1295.2 

Wogan was the greatest viceroy that had yet come 
to Ireland, and the length of his rule alone marks him 
out from the usual fleeting representatives of England. 
He governed the country directly for twelve years till 
1307, and again from 1309 to 1312, A man after 
Edward’s own heart, he was a good general, indefati- 
gable in his duties, dowered with a practical genius for 
law and policy, and devoted to the interests of the 
State. A true Englishman, and a born official, he 
strove to enforce that centralism by consent which was 

Edward's great aim in England. The formation of a 
representative Anglo-Irish Parliament between 1297 and 
3310 was his great achievement. Another, which 
needed infinite tact, was that of reconciling the Irish 
magnates and binding them again to their English 
sovereign. Both achievements had one object, that of 
making the Anglo-Irish colony a fruitful source of men, 

16. D. 1., IV., Nos. 137, 147. 365. ete. 
*Sir John Wogan was great-grandson of Gwgan, one of the royal 

Welsh race of Brecknock. His son, Thomas, got a grant of the manor 
Of Rathcofly in Kiklare in 137 and feundeé the irish Wopars. 
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money, and kind in Edward's wars. The way was that 
‘of consent, of declaring the Anglo-Irish to be a nation 
with national institutions, and, won over by the bribe, 
the English of Ireland responded generous) 

The Justiciary Rolls show Wogan presiding over 
the Pleas throughout Munster, Meath, and as far as 
Roscommon in Connacht and Ardfert in Kerry. 
Everywhere, acting on royal orders, he set his face 

against those Liberties and regalities which so fatally 
hampered the power of the State and diminished the 
“ King’s land.” In 1297 at De Vescy’s death, Wogan 
took Kildare into the King’s hand, and it was made 
shireland along with Meath in Parliament that year. 
In 1301, the Liberty of Wexford was also resumed, 
but Edward directed it to be restored to Joan de 
Valence. In 1306 the Lordship of Carlow was taken 
into the King’s hand at the death of Roger, the last 
Bigod, but when Edward’s second son, Thomas of 
Brotherton, had the earldom of Norfolk revived in his 
favour, the Irish claims went to him and his heirs. 

This Strafford of the thirteenth century often went 
further than his royal master and exemplar desired. 
Nevertheless, he took many spoils from Irish feudalism, 
and greatly enlarged the shireland and the actual 
demesne of the Crown. 

Wogan, more than any mediaeval viceroy, was most 
fitted to procure the general emancipation of the Irish, 
but he made no public declaration on the point, in 
deference to Anglo-Irish feeling. though it often came 
before him, as in the case of Walter Otothil, which we 
have quoted, Indeed, in another case in 1297—in 
which an Englishman seized the messuage of Philip 
Benet, deceased, on the ground that he was a royal 
betagh (hibernicus regis), whereupon Philip's son, Adam, 

1See Just. Rolls, I., pp. t02, 203, 315. In 1302 Ralf Piy 
baron of Ardee, surrendered to the King Donaglimoyne in 
Ardee, Dysart, in’ Westmeath, and Leinip in| County Kildare. 
(C.D I, V,, Nos. 149 157). Pipard could not defend his 
outpost’ against the Vin. sa (ssl are cian tate seine 
pitt Otek” (Monaghan of the MacMshons) and 
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declared that his father had been English and had 
Trish law forced on him by the Seneschal of Kildare 
who then ejected him from his carucate of land—the 
King himself on appeal declared Adam English, con- 
firmed him in English law, and rebuked Wogan for 
declaring that an Irishman (hibeynicus) had no hereditary 
right to his land. Wogan, of course, was technically 
right if “‘ hibernicus”’ is taken in the villein seinse, not 
in the racial; in another case, that of Walter Offyn, 
the verdict was to his credit, and it was during his 
vice-royalty that the “rights of the Ostmen of Water- 
ford” were affirmed.* 

‘Never again was the mediaeval Lordship of Ireland 
to exercise such wide control. Every apparatus of 
government as then understood in England existed in 
Dublin, and its orders ran through half of Ireland. 
Sheriffs in ten counties put these orders into effect by 
issuing directions to the sergeants of cantreds, the units 
of the Anglo-Irish shires.* 

Finally the edifice was crowned by a Parliament 
which gave the English colony the dignity of Home Rule. 

Edward needed all the help he could get from 
Ireland, and in 1295 instructed Wogan to raise ten 
thousand men there. The demand was evidently 
resisted, and it became necessary to submit it to a full 
assembly similar to that Model Parliament which 
Edward had summoned in England in 1295. In 1297 
Wogan summoned to Dublin the most representative 
body that had yet come together, and the terms of 
his summons are given thus: 

“The Justiciar, by Common Council of the King in this land, In 
order to establish peace more firmly, ordained and decreed a generai 
Parliament for this day. And orders were given to archbishops, 

1 Just, Rolls, I. pp. 329 and 271, For Rights of the Ostmen see 
Brig here, For “Eeaat oe later and Mm, de Perioments (B81), 
p 2. 

‘Mfust, Roll, Th, s4P- 2953, in 2306 Woran at the Common Pleas 
fa Dublin commands the sherifl of ‘Tipperary to levy, « fine in 
SScortinase wth the verdict? the sharif! Ciasulds the cat eccgeant 
Of the county to execute this, and he issues orders to the effect to the 
sergeants of Moytalya and other cantreds which are named. 
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bishops, abbots, and priors, whose presence was necessary for this 
purpose, also to earls, barons, and other optimates, viz, to each 
individually. Also orders were given to the Sheriffs of Dublia, 
Louth, Kildare, Waterford, Tipperary, Cork, Limerick, i 
Roscommon, and likewise to the Seneschals of the Liberties of Meath. 
Wexford, Carlow, Kilkenny, and Ulster that each of them personally 
in his fall county court, or in the full court of his liberty, by assent 
of the county or liberty, should cause to be elected two of the better 
men (probiores) of the shire or liberty in order to be here, having 
full power of the whole community, and that each sheriff and 
seneschal shall be here in his own person.” 

There were three great omissions from this assembly. 
The towns were not represented, nor were the lesser 
clergy, nor were the native Irish, not even as chiefs 
attending among the peers. The first two omissions 
were soon rectified, but except for such prelates and 
abbots as might be of Gaelic blood, the older race 
remained without a voice in the Irish Parliament till 
1540.1 Indeed, this first parliament of Anglo-Ireland 
showed the anti-Irish spirit which marked so many of 
its successors by passing an act that colonists who wish 
not to be treated as Irish must refrain from wearing 
the long locks (ciilan) of the Irish and Irish garb, 
otherwise they will be taken for Irish and treated as 
such, a grim phrase. 

An act against absentees, another forbidding the 
keeping of kerne, another ordering every holder of 
twenty plowlands to keep horse and armour, showed 
an equal dislike of the great hibernicising magnates 
and a strong middle-class English spirit. In a similar 
mood, the Parliament of 1297 directed that Ulster, 

Kildare, and Meath should henceforth be reckoned as 

1 It is not clear when proctors for the lesser clergy first attended. 
In a Great Council of 1372 there were two proctors each from Armagh, 
Dublin, and other dioceses. They continued to attend till the 
Parliament of 28 Henry VEIL, when tho clerical proctors were 
excluded, the Statute saying “ two proctors of every diocese have 
been used and accustomed to be summoned to parliament.” 
Slaulas of the Gan chiels wes Got daversaer” bot Cine sence 
independent position made it difficult to summon them. Yet they 
did attend the Justiciars and come to local councils, ég, in 1302 

ille, Lord of Trim, summoned 126 nobles to discuss the expedition 
to Scotland, of whom ‘two, Aedh O’Conor and Donal O'Neill, were 
Irish (Lib. Mun., I, Pt. 1V., p. 160). 
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counties, a step which greatly increased the area of 
common law at the expense of the Liberties. 

‘Wogan’s hand is evident in all these proceedings. 
But no more than his royal master could he stand 
faithfully by the letter of representative politics. A 
central parliament was intended to remove that old 
grievance of shire-courts and local meetings being 
called on to vote taxes, But in 299 Wogan held at 
Rathwyre in Meath, and at Naas and Moen in Kildare, 
local conventions of the sort which were easily packed 
and intimidated, and made ordinances which Geynville 
and other magnates approved. In 1300 this great 
viceroy did a thing even more objectionable. Ordered 
to raise supplies and troops for the Scottish war, he 
issued writs for a parliament at Easter in Dublin, but 
before it met, he went to Drogheda and induced the 
mayor and commons there to make a local grant, 
Parliament meeting without spokesmen for the towns, 
the magnates and knights excused themselves from 

paying the subsidy, and said to Wogan, “go through 
the counties making your own bargain, and we will 
prevail on the commons of the same to consent and 
will ourselves contribute.” 

Armed with this carte-blanche, the Justiciar pro- 
ceeded to Trim and thence through Munster, raising 
£2,000 in all from counties and towns.? 

‘Here Wogan acted a part which was without dignity 
or even much profit, nor was the attitude of the 
magnates much nobler. But the danger was made 
obvious to the colonists that the Chief Governor, by 
calling these petty assemblies, might set aside the 
general assembly altogether. Henceforth there was a 

4 For an account of the parliament of 1297 see Miscell. Irish 
Archaeological Soc., 1846, based on a Latin record in the Black Book 
Of Christchurch ; “also Berry, Siatules oj Irdand, L., pp. tos-213. 
Among other Acts, all truces with the Irish were to be universal, and 
no Isiah at peace or truce were to be molested, n Clause XI. (p 211, 

‘the phrase " Anglici degeneres,”” “degenerate English,” 
weed for the arst ume, as applied to the Norman-English cf the 

Just, Rolls, I, Pe 304, 
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constant demand that matters of finance and law 
should be treated by no lesser body than that of the 
Estates of Anglo-Ireland. Wogan had, in short, in- 
terested the colonists in politics, and they promptly 
realised the value and dignity of them. 

Finally, in February 1310, was held at Kilkenny 
Ireland’s true “Model Parliament.” | Wogan called 
before him for January 8th of that year, eighty-eight 
magnates, summoned each by writ, and two knights of 
each shire and two members from each of certain towns, 
having full power on behalf of the said communities 
to parley, treat, and ordain with the Justiciar, Council, 
and other nobles of the land, upon certain matters. 
The importance of the third estate was admitted in 
the fact that they formed part of the committee which 

prepared the petitions.! 
The tone of these assemblies followed that anti-Irish 

and anti-feudal note which was struck in 1297. In 
1310 Parliament at Kilkenny enacted that “no mere 

Irishman (ntdlus merus hibernicus) shall be received 
into a religious order among the English in the land 
of peace in any parts of Ireland.” In 1323 the 
Commons stand out against the four earls and thirteen 
other “graunts de lynnage,” and demand that the 
grandees shall apprehend all felons of their surnames 
and adherence before parliament shall next meet. 

This consistently sturdy English middle-class spirit 
was aided by the fact that the Irish Parliament was 
one body, not two Houses as that of England was after 
1360, that the knights and burgesses had the support 
of the Council and the officials, who always sat in the 
assembly, and thus, in a body which seldom exceeded 
120 members, were able to oppose the Lords face to 
face.* 

1 The writs for this parliament are the earliest extant for Irish 
parliaments. The published Statutes begin also with this date. For 
the Irish Parliament generally seo Berry, Statutes, Lynch, Legal 
Institutions, Betham, Parliamentary Dignitias, Litton Falkiner, Essays 
relating to Ireland, ete. 

"In 1374 out of those who were summoned to Parliament, tea 
were of the King’s Council. There were also four archbishops, eleven 

Google 



ENGLISH LORDSHIP AT ITS HEIGHT 193 

Wogan had now successfully enlisted the Anglo- 
Trish for the Crown, From 1296 onwards the ful 
resources of Ireland in men, money, and ships were 
used against the Scots. Reconciled by Wogan, the 
Earl of Ulster, Theobald Butler, and John FitzThomas 
joined Edward at Roxboro in May 1296, with over 
three thousand well-appointed horse, archers, and men- 
at-arms. In x30r Wogan was ordered to come with 
all the lieges of Ireland, and royal letters were sent to 
a hundred and eighty Irish magnates, including O'Conor, 
O'Neill, O’Brien, MacCarthy, and seventeen other Gaelic 
princes who were reckoned “ lieges” for this purpose. 
From 1302 to 1306 De Burgo and FitzThomas did 
constant good service in Scotland. At the same time 
supplies for the armies which fought to extinguish the 
nationality of Scotland were constantly demanded from 
Ireland, and providing them became one of Wogan’s 
chief cares, The vast quantities of corn, meat, wine, 
fish, cloth, and articles of luxury sent out from Ireland 

at this time indicate a land which was not only 
abundant in food-produce, but a centre of textile 
industry also.* 

But this draining of Anglo-Irish wealth was a fatal 
error. The revenues were unprofitably consumed in a 
wicked and wasteful war. The Anglo-Irish baronage, 
though they owed foreigm service, and though part of 
it was paid for, contracted crushing debts in the service 
of the Crown, The demands of the Crown diverted 

bishops, two vicars-general of bishoprics, the Guardian (Custos) of 
another, fifteen abbots or priors, three earls, forty-one lesser lords, 
two members from each of seven counties, ‘five Liberties and five 
Grosses, and two from each of ten towns. Thus of a possible 
attendance of 141, the Council, the knights and the burgesses would 
have sixty-four votes, and the lay lords forty-four, for the clerics 
could not be trusted to vote with the magnates. 

16. D.1., IV., p. 358 and ibid,, p. 19, for the summons to magnates. 
For Irish’ troops in Scotland see Stevenson, Docs. illusty. histor) of 
‘Scotland, 11., p.124. In 1306 imler alia Wogan was required to provide 
‘Out of the issues of Treland 3,000 quarters of wheat, the same of oats, 
¥,000 quarters of malt of oats, 2,000 hogsheads of wine, 200 carcasses 
of beef, 300 hogs, and t0,000 dried fish (C..1., V., p. 151) For 
numerous other demands see Gilbert’s Hist. and Mun. Docs. of I., 
Passim from 1280 to 1315. 
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them from their lordships and the uncompleted 
Conquest. Moreover, the Scottish war of independence 
had its reverberation among the Irish Celts, and ere 
Jong the Anglo-Irish were bitterly to regret having 
joined in the war against Scottish rights. 

The reign of Edward the First over England and 

Treland ended on July 7, 1307. Wogan had filled twelve 
years of that reign with a gallant attempt to make 
Ireland a second realm for his master. He had for the 
time reconciled the Norman-Irish with one another and 
with the Crown, brought the semi-independent towns 
into the general unity, given the colony the dignity of 
a nation, and enlarged the area of Common Law. The 
year of Ireland's Model Parliament marks the height 
of English Lordship. It seemed as if yet all the 
elements of a real English monarchy might be drawn 
finally into one, and the island anglicised in speech, 
law, and institutions from sea to sea. But the reign 
of the contemptible Edward II. was to quench these 
prospects. The “overmighty subject ” was left as 
great as ever, and steadily became less English, while 
the failure to bring the independent and semi- 
indepéndent Irish under the law was evident. In his 

latter years Wogan had to unfurl the royal banner 
against English rebels on the one hand and Irish 
enemies on the other, and of the two the English rebels 
were the more dangerous to the State. In May 1308 
the confederated clans of Wicklow burned the border 
fortress of Castlekevin, and Wogan, marching against 
them, was overthrown near Glenmalure with heavy 
loss (June 19, 1308). Four years after, im 1312, marching 
with the royal service against Robert de Verdun, a 
rebellious baron, Wogan was again “ miserably over- 
thrown.” Such were the difficulties of the strongest 
of viceroys even when the English Lordship was at its 
height. 

1 Laud MS. Ann, 1308 and 1321; 



CHAPTER VIII 

THE RACES OF IRELAND ON MANOR AND TOWN 
circa 1300 

A cENTURY and more of English conquest had now 
completely changed the face of Ireland and introduced 
the new races of Norman, Welsh, Flemings, and Saxons 
among the older races of Celt and Norseman. 

The Ostmen well deserved the gratitude of the 
conquerors, whose task would have been infinitely 

harder but for the existing fortress-towns of the Norse 
and the supply of mariners, pilots, soldiers and inter- 
preters which they drew from these older, half-hiberni- 

cised colonists who had given Teutonic names to the 
chief harbours and headlands of the coast from Larne 
to Limerick. So valuable and wealthy a race were at 
once taken under the special protection of the Crown ; 
and we have seen how Limerick had its “ liberty of 
the Ostmen ’’; how in Waterford a special royal charter 
protected them, and that they had a “villa Ostman- 
norum ” outside the walls; while in Dublin, and still 
more in the suburb of Ostmanby north of the Liffey, 
a considerable Ostman community survived peaceably 
for a century and a half after the capture of Dubiin. 

Certainly the earliest freemen and gild rolls of Dublin 
contain few Ostman names, which would suggest deli- 
berate exclusion, but in any case the earlier burgesses 
must have been swamped by the influx of newcomers 
Those recorded are wealthy merchants and [reeholders, 
equal in law to the English, and Richard Olof, who 
was mayor of Dublin carly in the fourteenth century, 
has clearly an Ostman name. Towards the end of the 
thirteenth century, however, evidence for their separate 
identity fails; Englishmen intruded into Ostmantown 
itself; and in any case, the Ostmen naturally blended 

rT Google mri 



196 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

with the English, and no doubt adopted common English 
and French names ! 

The rural Ostmen had less chance to blend honour- 
ably with the conquerors, for they were almost 
completely hibernicised ; moreover, the magnates and 
the Englishry in general viewed with greedy or suspicious 
eye men who were rich in land and cattle, and sometimes 
represented powerful dynasties. Thus the MacTorcaill 
race of Dublin did not survive long; Earl Asgall and 
his brother were the last to hold their whole demesnes 
north of Dublin, where some place-names still indicate 
this royal stock; but one of the name was a headman 
of the Ostmen in the Vale of Dublin till 1230 or so.* 

Two Ostmen names were the origin of petty clans 
in the hilly country south of Dublin, where in 1350 we 
find the Anglo-Irish government granting a writ for 
the election of a “‘captain of the Harolds” and a 
“captain of the Archbolds.” The Harolds were lords 
of a march-land stretching from Saggard to Dundrum, 
called later Harold's country, and the Archbolds held 
“much and little Bray.” Names so Norse and found 
in that “‘ land of the sons of Turchil ” which Strongbow 
granted to De Ridlesford can be safely given a Scan- 
dinavian and pre-Norman origin.! 

4Sce my paper on English and Ostmen in Ircland, Eng. Hist. Rev. 
April 1008. “The first roll of Dublin names, circa 1172, out of 148 
names contains only ten which clearly seem to be Ostman. The 
merchant guild in 1226 also has but few of them, see Nat. Facs. Ir., 
I. Plate LXIV,, and Gilbert, His and Mum. Dees..0. 71. Christ 
church Deets (20th Report, D. Kj, p. 103: a deed of King John 
confirming the possessions of Holy Trinity, Dublin, as granted before 
and after the arrival of the English names many Ostman donors who 
were alive about 1170, e.g,” Seger the aged,” ancestor of the name 

erson. 
2m Pleas at Dublin in 1302 we find Hamo MeTorkil (Just, Rolis, 

L,, p. 408). The Pipe Roll of the Vale of Dublin, 13 H. IIT, indicates 
that “Thurkill and Arphin”” are responsible for the rents of the 
Ostmen of Annaliffey [35 Rep. D. K., 1903, p. 32]. For Asgall and 
Hamund MacTorcaill see earlier, 11 pp. 54,83. The townlands of Bally- 
macartle (Ballymakarkill in 17th century) and Hamonstown in Fingal 
Tecall this family, Ballymakarkill being clearly Baile-mae-Thorcaill, 

*See my Clan Sysiem among English Settlers in Ivsland, Eng. Hist, 
Rev., January 1910, I owe to my revered friend, Dr. Sigerson, the 
happy suggestion that Archbold is a corruption of the pure Norse 
Aspol, which is found in the corrupt form Absolea in the Christchurch 
deed just mentioned. 
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The small rural Ostmen were menaced with the 
fate of the Irish with whom they were now so closely 
identified, namely, of dispossession and densal of legal 
right, as if they were but “ hibernici’”” and betaghs. 
Little nests of hibernicised Ostmen had long been settled 
as traders and townsmen and even as tenants of Irish 
lords far up the great rivers of Leinster and Munster, 
Intermarriage had been common; Ostmen had taken 

Irish patronymics, such as MacGillamaire in Waterford, 
and become Irish speakers. We have no evidence of 
Norse being spoken outside the cities by the time of 
Strongbow, and the Norman-English were encouraged 
to treat the Ostmen as “ hibernici’”” just because they 

were so far absorbed. 
The fate of the Ostman dynasty of Waterford is 

instructive. In 1170 there were two jasls, Ragnall and 
Sitric, both of the MacGillamaire race. In 1236, as 
we saw, the Crown, acting on Anglo-Irish suggestion, 
ordered the confiscation of ‘‘MacChiteroc’s demesne 
near Waterford”; this was naturally resented, and 
Sitric’s descendants became outlaws and felons. In 
3316, however, Edward of England granted English 
law to Richard, son of John MacShiterok. In 1283 
Edward I. confirmed English liberties to three Mac- 
Gillemorys, Gillecrist, William, and Jobn, as well as to 
other Ostmen of the city and county of Waterford; 
and in 1298 we find William MacGillemory holding a 
carucate and a half near Dungarvan under Thomas 
FitzMaurice of Desmond. Ballykilmurry in that neigh- 
bourhood still indicates the demesne of this royal race, 
which, however, along with MacSitric fades from our 
view after Edward the Second,’ 

We saw how the liberties of the Waterford Ostmen 
were affirmed by Henry II. and Edward I., and how 
theie was outside the city a ‘villa Ostmannorum ” 

} See earlier, p. 120, and the indices to C. D.T., II., TIL, IV., and 
Se. 

lectins ts te, Mectitioncays 
(recie “‘ Oustmanni”'). For liberty to MacShiterok 

see Cal. Pat, Rolls, 1313-17, Pp. 463- 
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similar to Ostmantown near Dublin—probably the 
suburb of Ballytruckle (Thorgil’s town) still comme- 
morates this place. The Pipe Rolls of 1236 record 
“Ostmanni Domini Regis" in the county Waterford 
itself. In Limerick the “‘liberty of the Ostmen” was 
enjoyed by all who bore the name MacMaccus, even 
when resident elsewhere, till Edward the First’s time 
and probably much longer. While they held together 
these Ostmen groups were protected by the Crown as 
“ Oustmanni nostri,” but such a rich, defenceless, and 
scattered race invited oppression from the rural English, 
accustomed to ill-treat the Irish. Petitions against 
such treatment attest how far inland these Norse groups 
had penetrated, how hibernicised in name and clan- 
organisation they were, what their trades were and 
their wealth, and the attitude of the Englishry to them 
and to the Irish, That of Philip MacGothmond in 
1290 is most instructive: as “an Ostman and 
Englishman (i.e., entitled to English law) of the city of 
Waterford, he prays remedy against persons emulous 
of him and greedy of his demesne in Ireland, who exact 
five marks payment when a man is killed (i.e., by one 
of MacGothmond’s men) and exact also his chattels and 
land, clearly usurping the King’s liberties, and who 
wish to prove that Philip and his race to the number 
of nearly 400, are Irishmen, whereas they are English 
and Ostmen as appears by letters of the bailiffs and 
citizens of Waterford. As it belongs to the King to 
correct that from English and Ostman he should be 
turned into an Irishman, and as it is useful that there 
should be more English than Irish, he prays licence to 
use and enjoy the liberties and customs of the English 
in Ireland.” The royal answer was: “ As Philip has 
from the commonalty of Waterford the charter which 
he now prays from the King, let it be shown to the 
King. Philip's petition is granted because the 
Escheator testifies that it would be to the King’s 
advantage.” Another applicant, Maurice Macotere, 
writing “from the world’s end” (apparently in 

. 
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Tipperary) has “three hundred of his race” beside 
himself. 

Such petitions were generally granted ; it had long 
been the royal policy to add this rich, industrious, and 
Teutonic race to the thin ranks of the Englishry, but 
MacGothmond’s petition had a grim implication on the 
fate of Irishmen who could not claim English or Ostman 
law. 

In 1283 a group of Ostmen still survived on the 
Wexford coast, for in that year William de Valence, 
Lord of Wexford, ordered an inquest into the services, 
etc., of his Ostmen at Rosslare, and the jury found 
that in the time of the Marshals there were in County 
Wexford “a hundred forensic Ostmen very rich who 
used to pay to the reeves of Wexford certain money 
rents and commutation for harvest dues, but now there 
are only forty having little gear, and twelve others who 
serve the English and others for a living, having naught 
themselves.” The Lord therefore frees them from all 
burdens, rents and services which the dead were 
wont to bear, and restores to them their former 
liberties.1 

After 1300 we hear no more of these Ostman 
groups; after 1230 the Pipe Rolls no longer mention 
the Ostmen of Annaliffey nor the Ostmanni domini 
Regis in Waterford after 1262: in the towns or more 
English districts the old Norse blended with the English, 
whose laws they shared, in the further districts they 
were absorbed among the Irish. As we would naturally 
expect, a strong and sturdy Ostman element long 
remained visible in the maritime towns which had been 
in Norse hands before 1170: their names constantly 
recur in civic annals and in the highest offices, and 

ENG tae peng herent 
No. 950 says" David 

is'af Reginald Macotere an usur a 
they ars worth £400. In their professions ax well ax in their especial 

stmen much resembled the mediaeval 
is the modern Irish surname, Cotter, 

Still fairly common in Munster. 
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though they naturally blended in time with the English 
inhabitants, many of their names are still extant. 

During a hundred years and more of conquest the 
superiority of the Normans in diplomacy, war, and 
policy, and the divisions of the native kings had united 
to shatter the old unity of Gaelic Ireland. The Church 
had become two divided halves of a venerable whole ; 
the tide of native culture had been fatally checked ; 
the whole east coast had become English ; and Leinster 
had for the time dropped out of the Gaelic world. 
The native window towards Europe had been shuttered, 
and the window towards the North only looked out to 
the Scottish Isles which bred fighting galldglaigh® 

The status of the Irish people now ranged from 
absolute independence to the serfdom of Irish betaghs 
among the colonists. 

Although English law admitted the civil rights of 
the Five Bloods, the fortunes of the province-dynasties 
was at a low ebb. O’Melachlin held but a portion of 

Delvin and a cantred about Loch Ennell ; MacDunlevy 
is officially styled Rex Hibernicorum Ultoniae in 1273, 
but his race disappears by 1300; MacMahon took the 
place of O'Cerbhaill in Monaghan, a fragment of Oriel ; 
and Brefni was divided between O'Ruairc and O'Reilly, 
the first in Leitrim and the second in Cavan. O’Neill 
and the East Ulster chiefs were vassals both of the 

King and the Earl, and O’Conor had but two and a 
half cantreds in Roscommon. 

For ‘example, ig. Cork Copplogee, (Kanpoes, the Nowe, for 
set ")s Cirers bree 8 oe (Wel o from 

erick Arthur (Ardor), Syward, Ut (Wolfe), Osmond 
Sr Ehmoed ce the Ostman), Harald -schequer Mem. 
399, p. 171 [56 Ea. Ty revord Herold aud a Sweeeman eng ie 
burgesses of Thomastown. William Sweteman was one of the two 
reeves of Dublin in Henry TIL.'s reign ; this name, which is apparently 
derived from the Nore Suatyar, "lack spear,” is frequent emong 
mediaeval Anglo-Irish officials (St. Mary's Chart., 1., P. 476, 

Waker Swaitgar and Siward,’son of Waller arta the 
spe col of Du 33 "acs., II., Pl. LXI¥). 

iggin, Prolegomena to Sab of Bards, Proc. Brit. Academy, 
3911 a P, 105, motes that mo poetry survives from Leinster 
after the Norman invasion till the time of Art Mér MacMurchada, 
ix whom a cast Inauguration ode was written, circa 1376. 

Google " 



RACES OF IRELAND 201 

The MacMurchadas had for the time completely 
vanished from the roll of kings. The two heads of the 
tace were in 1280, as we saw, vassals and officers of the 
Lord of Carlow. The Bigods freely proclaimed their 
kinship with the MacMurchadas and other descendants 
of King Dermot, and a certain gratitude was shown to 
the families which had aided the English. In 1281 
when a safe-conduct to England was issued to “ Art 
MacMurth and Caruel Alfortien” they are described as 
“Trishmen and kinsmen of Roger le Bygod Earl 
Marshal,” * 

But though it was in abeyance, the Clan Murchada 
were not likely to forget their ancient greatness, and, 
all unknown to the feudal overlords, the Kavanaghs 
enjoyed among the Irish of Leinster not only the name 
but many of the prerogatives of Gaelic monarchy. 

Apart from the chief races—many concordats, re- 
corded and unrecorded, had left a part of the nominal 
baronies to the old Irish lords, om terms of suit and 
service. Such chiefly vassals ruling over chiefs were 
held to be free Aibernici, and through them the Crown 
got aids, the feudal lords got rents and fighting men, 
and the law hoped to hold the Irish to account. It 
was, however, a fatal policy for the English, who little 
understood the subtle patience with which a long- 
memoried race waited for the day of the “ New 
Foreigners’ to pass over like that of the Norsemen 
before them, 

‘The greater part of the Irish race in the conquered 
land had, however, become serfs or small frecholders 
attached to the manors. In remote Connacht, in Kerry, 

1C.D.1., 11, No. 1873. Asgounts af Liberty of of Carlen, RS.ALL, 
Duryer 1892, p. 50. "See 43rd Rep. D. K., 12 Molryan, 

iLernici of the Earl of Unter in Tipperary. 

for the id Earl by Secrice of supporting 
Inguis., VIL, 8, The ‘es the folbwing. 
‘ MI idinly eho seme thing, vic. the 

of the heads of his vassal races, 
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in Down, as well as in Leinster and Meath, we find 
everywhere communal groups of betaghs living after 
the Irish fashion under a headman, holding their terra 
betagiorum in common and cultivating the lord's demesne. 
Thus Crown lands in Annaliffey were laboured by Irish 
serf-clans and the King’s betagii are often met with. 

Bought and sold with the manor, unable to fly, 
subject to heavy manual services and tributes in kind, 
their property liable to be seized for the lord’s debts, 
denied a legal interest in the soil, subject entirely to 
the lord’s court, harassed by thieving colonists, the lot 
of the betagh was at first worse than that of the English 
villein. This did not prevent their accumulating wealth 
or flourishing under good lords. They were preferred 
as cultivators to the English, for their traditional skill 
and knowledge of the soil, and for that enduring patience 
under heavy rent and burdens which Tudor observers 
specially noted in the “ Irish churl.” 

The inevitable burdens of mediaeval villeinage were 
made harder for the Irish betagh by the persistent 
discrimination of the colonists against them as members. 
of a rightless and inferior race. Nevertheless, their 
emancipation came about through the same economic 
causes which abolished villeimage in England, the chief 
of these being that it did not pay. The betaghry were 
allowed to acquit much of their services in money, and 
several manor surveys of Edward I.’s time make this 
return: “here are no works of the betaghs because 
they are charged with rent.” * 

Surveys of typical Anglo-Irish manors generally 
show the upper class of knightly or chartered tenants 
as almost entirely English, with some Irish among the 
free-holders, and more among the renters and lease- 

1 ssih Rep. D. K.p. 29, Account of Vale of Dublin and for King’s 
assion, 

1, IL, 2, and IV., p. 255. Certainly a betagh could 
pees iovnty be "Year and a day rule ” (se end of chap.) bat 
there was also a royal writ, De nativo habendo, by which a runaway 
villein could be handed back to his lord, see a case, C. D.1., U 
309. For the wealth of a betagh see C.D. J., 11. 432. 
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holders (gavellers and “‘firmarii"); while nearly all 
the cottiers and betaghs are Irish. 

The Church estates show a still larger proportion of 
Gaelic tenantry, both bond and free. Already numerous 
betagh-groups, herenaghs, and lay-tenants dwelt on the 
estates of the Celtic Church, and after the Conquest, 
the bishops and abbots, English no less than Gaelic, 
maintained the humane tradition of the past, confirmed 
in their status the existing tenantry, and took many 
others under the protecting wing of the Church. So, 
if betaghry survived longest on the Church lands, it | 
was because villeinage had been made a very tolerable 
yoke there. 

In the free blending of races the estates of the see 
of Cloyne are most remarkable. Its bishops were 
Gaelic till 1284, but their English successors, such as 
Swaftham (1363-76), for whom was begun the Pipa 
Colmani, left the racial texture unchanged. On the 
episcopal lands between Cork Harbour, Ballymacoda, 
and Castlelyons, Normans, English, Welsh, Irish, and 
even an odd Ostman, lived side by side, not only among 
the free, but among cottagers and customary tenants. 
Of thirty-seven knightly tenants, only Dermot Mac- 
Carthy is Irish, and possibly “John de Kery.” The 
thirty burgesses of Kilmaclenin are all English save 
three. Of fifteen customary tenants at Burgeysgrove, 
six are Irish and of nine cottagers four, while at 
Ballycotton eight Irish and two English fishermen 
dwell together. But we cannot be sure of the origin 
of the strange un-Gaelic names which we find among 
St. Colman’s tenants such as Cod, Wyn, Kase—who 
may have been Ostmen or Irishmen changing to plebeian 
Saxon-sounding names. 

of the Irish Parliament, 7-8 Ed. IV. (Berry), ‘The Reg. Alani (MS. 
expy, TCD. Ip; Gos) records fourteen betagh people surviving 
on the Archbishop of Dublin's manors at Finglas, Swords, and Tallaght 
a the Archbishop of Dublin's manors at Finglas, Swords, and 
Tallaght, in 1530. 
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Many of these are “ customary” or villein tenants 
—but a lower deep is struck in the “ homines Sancti 
Colmani,” namely, thirteen betagh-clans with Gaelic 
eponyms who dwelt at Ballyonan, near Cloyne— 
“‘ hibernici of the Church of St. Colman and born in 
servitude "—and four other such at Donoghmore in 
Muskerry who could not be removed from the episcopal 
land without the bishop's licence—which, indeed, was 
their protection against the designs of grasping English 
neighbours.* 

The Cloyne episcopal lands were thus a world in 
small where the problem of blending the races of 
Ireland seemed to be happily solving itself. 

But so fair a picture was far from being true of 
the colony as a whole. The highest families even and 
those most allied with the English, had to fear assaults 
on their property and their freedom. Walter O'Toole 
could show a charter of English liberties from the 
Marshal Earls, but was ousted from his land by two 
colonists, who replied to the writ of attachment that 
Walter was “‘ Aibernicus”’ and not answerable at law. 
In another case an Englishman blinds an Irishman, 
O’Fyn, for insulting his wife, but the Irishman proves 
he is not a betagh (hibernicws) though he is Irish. So 
the Englishman is punished ; but it is a grim revelation 
of what the colonists thought they could do with unfree 
Irishmen. 

In other cases—to their honour—the jurv saves an 
Irishman whom an abbot has enfranchised, from being 
seized as a serf; here King Edward himself rights an 
Englishman whose father had Irish law forced on him 
(so that he might be exploited), and rebukes the 
Justiciar for saying that an “ hibernicus” has no here- 
ditary right to his holding. 

2 Pipe Rall of,Cloyns, published in the Cork, Arch, Soc. Jowrna, 
1913-15. The Pipa certainly was compiled after the Brice ware 
and the decline “Ol tne calony, but crest for Dermot i 
the picture given 1s one of the thirteenth century. The O'Helghys, 
™ men of St. Colman, intatin cia 
1639 that ey Dee vegtcrap five 

erly, iia, Just, Rolls, 1, p. 123, and IL, p. 321, 
and 6 DT IL., No. 1946, etc., ete. ee 
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To get hold of an Irishman’s land on the plea that 
he was “‘hibernicus"’ and outside the protection of 
common law, had for the colonist obvious advantages 
In criminal matters the denial of English, and the 
enforcing of Irish, law had a definite policy behind it. 
Killing a kinless Irishman who had no lord, especially 
if he was a thief, was little or no felony; and to slay 
a betagh was merely to damage a lord in his property. 
But the Irish who lived in free or vassal groups were 
often restricted to the Brehon law, where it suited the 
colonists. For, by Irish law, offences against persons, 
except heinous ones and murders of great men, could 
be atoned for by fines, levied on the wrong-doer’s kin. 
Hence if a colonist were killed, the eric was exacted 
from the kin of the known or supposed malefactor. 
But it was hard for the Irish, in their turn, to get eric 
and honour-price from the English, who did not live in 
septs, and whom few judges dared to bring to the full 
penalty of the English “law of life and limb.”” 

Again the private criminal jurisdictions of the 
feudal lords had by the end of Edward I.'s reign been 
diminished in the case of English tenants, but their 
right to punish Irish malefactors was maintained as a 
matter for themselves, and the jarring of the races, 
and border wars, and the numbers of the dispossessed 
turned outlaw, gave colour to the plea of harsh necessity. 

‘A custom arose by which an Englishman's life was 
reckoned at twenty marks, an Irishman's at five and 
a quarter. Thus did State judges themselves admit 
the Brehon law, for which in fact the colonists came 
to have an increasing regard. Hanging, mutilation, 
and forfeiture were penalties so severe and inhuman 

See Just. Ralls, I pp. 85, 29%-9. | Ihd. pp. 95, 203: Thomas 
Saresfeld’ bas in his lordship in County Cork’a gallows at which all 
*hibernici” ought to suffer. Later on of course many of the “’ march 
English ” formed clans {"" mactones et cognomina”’ as Clyn calls them). 
‘The Parliament of 1297 (Clause XI) admitted the difficulty introduced 
by the clan-organisation of the Insh: “* by such killing (of Englishmen 
and Irishmen) matter of rancour and enmity is generated among many, 
for the kindred also, as well of the slayer as of the slain, are often int 
turn struck down by enemies.” 
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as to need a strong State to enforce them. But it did 
not mean that the law-abiding English grew any milder 
towards Irish borderers not living “inter anglicos.” 
An act of Parliament in 1297 decrees: if any of the 
English dress and wear their hair like the Irish let 
them suffer as such, “for the killing of Englishmen 
and of Irishmen requires different methods of 
punishment.” 2 

Certainly there were difficulties in the way of a 
general extension of Norman and Anglo-Norman law to 
the Irish? But it is hard to believe that the Irish were 
not far enough advanced for this law, and would not 

have understood its complexities. Legal subtleties are 
just what the Senchus Mor and the Book of Aicilt 
delight in, and there is nothing in the crude processes 
of manorial law, or even of Henry II.’s assises, which 
a trained Brehon would not have grasped. So far 
from Trish and Anglo-Norman law being at the opposite 
poles of the tribal and the modern, comparative study 
surely reveals how close was Irish custom not only to 
Anglo-Saxon, but in tenure and feudal custom, to 
Norman law. When Henry If. and Edward I, brought 
in a new concept of law and the State, the Irish 
baronage, men of Stephen's rather than Henry's time, 

+ Just. Rolls, 1., pp. 254, 283. Common Pleas before Wogan, at 
Callan in 13007) cegarding an afiray between the English of Kilkeany 
and Tipperary, Hugh Parcel is ardered to pay 20 marks for each 
Englishman slain, and five marks and 4od. for each Irishman slain. 
For judges allowing Erish to mako money atonemente for killing of 
English, see later, Chap. X. Bei aut (1297) 

Sec De. Orpen's views, ik whith T cannot find mysolf in 
agreement, in his vol. 332-5. See former! 139, for 
‘lexander TIL.'s rebulee to Henry TIL, about the English “who deny 
to Irishmen the right to enjoy frechold in inkentance,” and the 
same Pope's quashing “the evil custom in the province of Cashel 
whereby credence is given to by judges to an Englishman on his 
oath touching a theft, if supported by six other English, while an 
Irishman whose innocence is testified by thirty witnesses has to make 
restitution—let equal justice be done between English and Irish."— 
(Cal. Papal Reg. 1. p. 283); Davies in his True Cayses puts the 
denial of right to the Irish, “‘an ancient race, not wanting in wit or 
valour, great lovers of music and yoetry,” among the most serious 
1easons whv Ireland was never till his time reduced to obedience 
ander the Crown of England, 
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had as much almost to learn and unlearn as the Irish 
themselves. 

Nor can we say that that English liberty was not 
desired, for O'Neill, O’Conor, and others, had several 
times sought a fixed legal tenure for their lands. To 
the Irish living among the English, the protection of 
State law was a vital necessity, and there is no lack 
of sincerity about the requests made for it by indi- 
viduals or by communities under Henry III. and 
Edward I. 

Not infrequent redress was given by the King’s 
officers and by English junes. Humanity and policy 
were not lacking, but the true resistance came from 
that landlord class which was stronger than Crown or 
people. 

Though the Lordships—there were ten Earldoms and 
Liberties in 1330—came to cover most of Ireland, and 
though they had all franchises saving the four Pleas 
of the Crown, and appointed Seneschals of their own 
who received the royal writs, yet they had not the 
true palatine liberties enjoyed, for example, by the 
Earl of Chester. From Edward I. onwards State 
taxation was levied within Liberties as without; the 
feudal atray of the whole colony, liberties and shires, 
was called out by the sheriffs, the Liberties were repre- 
sented in Parliament from 1297, and few Lordships 
escape the visits of the Justiciar. But while in England 
similar franchises dwindled away from 1300 onwards, 
in Ireland the absence of the Crown allowed the Feudal 
age to survive into the age of the Stuarts.? 

Certainly the “free laws of England" released the 
Englishry in a large degree from baronial courts, but 
the Lords of Liberties claimed a peculiar right in their 

1For great franchises on Church lands see those of Cashel 
even under Henry VI. (Laffan’s Cashel, p. 33). Gormanston Reg. 
p. 17—the court of the lay fief of Herbardestown, Co. Dublin, still 
had in 1410: view of Frankpledge, waifs, strays, wrecks, infangthef, 
utfangthef (the right to hang thieves caught stealing, inside or outside 
‘our liberties), prison, irons, stocks, gallows, and pillory—the Lord 
as all plaints in his court to determine as in Court Baron. 
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Irishmen, and every petty holder of a franchise imitated 
them. Hence their attempts to make betaghs of the 
free Irish and Ostmen, and resistance to royal edicts of 
emancipation, shown in the proviso added to the 
ordinance of Edward III. in 1331, which decreed that 
there should be one law for the English and the Irish, 
“except for the betaghs who shall be to their lords as 
the villeins in England.” 

A judgment in the Lordship of Meath “as to preys 
taken in the Marches’’ makes it clear that border wars 
were frequent and welcomed as a lucrative source of 
horses, arms, and ransoms from the Irish enemy.* 

Even still, a hundred years and more after Strong- 
bow, the English occupation had the aspect of a joint- 
stock enterprise in which the profits of war were greater 
than those of peace, and the great men shared them 
with the small. 

We may add that the mediaeval Crown of England 
had more than one problem of mixed races on its hands 
in Wales, Acquitaine, and elsewhere, and certainly in 
Wales managed to reconcile a Celtic race with fair 
success. Dotbtless some excuses can be made for it 
in its dealings with the unsubdued Irish, The ruling 

chiefs would have been easier to turn into Crown 
tenants had their office been hereditary, but it was 

hard to deal with elective or merely semi-hereditary 
captains whose successors might repudiate bargains and 
treaties. The independent chiefs of provinces or 
countries cared little for Irish betaghs and treeholders 
“‘tnter anglicos,” and, being as they were one of the 
proudest aristocracies in Europe, they fought mainly 
to be recognised as “ sacr-clanna," as “ free races,”” 
equal in status, legal worth, and land-title to the proud 
Norman, and cared little whether a King or a great 
Earl assured them in this. Border chiefs had among 
their followers men who thought it an honourable 
profession to raid the Saxon. Indeed, the chiefs were 
themselves taught in the tradition of foray and fight, 

1 Gormansion Reg., pp. 5, 10, and 176. 
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and, while they complained of reprisals, naturally they 
would not wish, or would not be able, to hand male- 
factors of their race over to the justice of the Saxon, 
aggrieved by cattle-raids or border frays. 

A century of forcible conquest had also filled the 
borders with landless, lordless, and kinless men, expelled 
by Norman and sometimes by Irish enemies, or broken 
men serving conquerors of either race, and while these 
were the worst enemies of the Norman peace, they 
were hardest to call to account, and peaceful Irish 
often suffered for them in repute or in person. It must 
not be assumed that the Irish, independent or con- 
quered, preferred English law for its own sake, for no 
race has ever been more attached to its ancestral code, 
“ the laws of Cormac mac Art.” Certainly the leading 
chiefs and their free clans were always ready to 
welcome an additional title from English authority, as 
Crovderg and Donnchad Cairbrech had done, but they 
did not intend to repudiate their elective kingships, 
which gave them far greater repute with their following. 
In any case, the rigdomnas with their vested right and 
the learned with their tenacious conservatism would 
have combatted their doing so, or would at least have 
set up a Celtic hero against a Normanising chief, even 
as the O’Neills reverted to Shane the Proud after Henry 
VIII.’s Conn, Earl of Tyrone. Still in the Remonstrance 
of 1317 the leading Gaels sought put forward as a 
solution of their dubious position a division of their 
lands between themselves and the conquerors and a 
secure status in chief of the Lord of Ireland. The 
intelligentia supported this claim, and the O’Conor who 
submitted to Richard II. was praised by his bard as 
“a knight of England’s king.”"} But nowhere do we 
find in the bardic poems or the historical tracts which 
are the expression of the Gaelic intellectuals anything 
to indicate that they or their patrons deliberately wished 
to repudiate immemorial Celtic custom or sovereignty 
for the laws or lordships of the Saxon. To be palatine 

+See later, Chap XI. 
° 
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lords supreme over their vassal folk with but a nominal 
King above them was another matter and strongly 
appealed to them—just as the great Hugh O'Neill in 
later times undoubtedly aspired to win the position of 
a palatine Earl of Ormond. 

As yet Anglo-[reland was not lost, and England’s 
superior State machinery, and the ordered energy and 
driving force of the unexhausted colony, offered a 
prospect still of a united and anglicised Ireland. 
Norman, English, Welsh, and Flemish lords, vassals, 
and free tenants, had studded the land from Coleraine 
to Waterford and from the Liffey to the Corrib and 
the Maine. Irish tenants were frequent among the 
middle ranks of the Englishry, and in remote Kerry 
and Connacht far outnumbered them. If no general 
emancipation of the Irish had taken place, yet betaghry 
was already on the wane, and by the system of indi- 
vidual charters of liberty numbers of Irish settled among 
the English were being made equal in law.! 

We have seen how the burgesses of Waterford 
backed the Ostman MacGothmond against the rural 
Englishry, and so did the newly-founded towns of 
Anglo-Ireland welcome the Irish, and offer the old race 

an opportunity to display within their walls its ancient 
industry and skill. 

Before 1170 the towns of Ireland were either 
monastic and episcopal “ civitates” or those urban 
republics which the Norsemen had built from Dublin 
round to Limerick. These Ostman towns could show 
no charter, for their self-government was essentially 
popular and derived from beneath. It was reserved 
for the Norman-English who arrived when the com- 
munal movement was in full flow on the Continent 
and in their own country, to introduce the typical 
mediaeval Rise of Reraueh sprogporation from above, 
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and, by charters which created new boroughs or con- 
firmed the rights of the old, to affirm the Roman-feudal 
conception that all right, to be legal, must come from 
superior authority. 

The century after the Invasion saw the new type 
of town in full growth, favoured by King, lords and 
bishops, as garrisons and guarantees of the conquest, 
as centres of trade and industry, as providing rents. 
customs, and services, 

Henry II. had enchartered Dublin with the liberties 
and free customs of Bristol, and free trade throughout 
his empire. A charter of Prince John in 1192 defined 
the city boundaries on a generous scale, granted the 
citizens a hundred court of their own, freedom from 
extern manor courts, gilds as the burgesses of Bristol 
had, and trade monopolies. In x215 the already 
existing reeve or provost—" praepositus "—was to be 
freely elected, and the fee-farm, viz., the composition 
for all royal dues, was fixed at two hundred marks, 
Another royal charter, in 1229, allowed the burgesses 
to elect a mayor who should govern with the aid of a 
council. The merchant gild had by 1226 two hundred 
and twenty names on the roll, a proof of how strangers 
from England, Flanders, France, and Scotland had 
flocked from every part of the Angevin empire to enjoy 
the above privileges, and had swamped the old Ostman 
population of the town. 

Waterford, Cork, and Limerick retained a far 
stronger Norse imprint than Dublin, for Henry II. 

1 For charters to Irish towns, sce Chartae, Privilegia et Immunitates 
(ager John’s charter to Dublin in 1192 concedes this valuable 
monopol : "no stranger shall buy wool, com, etc., in the city save 
from a burgess, or stay to trade for more than forty days, or have a 
tavern for wins save in his ship where the Lord of Ireland may take 
two hogsheads (dolia), valued at 208. each, for custom.” For the 
history of the towns I use Gilbert's Ancien! Records of Dublin and 
Hist. and Mun. Docs., and the standard works of Lenihan, Hardiman, 
Ryland, D'Alton, Caulfield, Hore, Gate's Ancient i System 

irolend, J. J.,Webb’s Mun Government én Iriland (ror), te 
es of Galway and Waterford are calendared @ 

amazing number of 1200 names. see Orpen, I.. pp. 270-2: 
merchant gild of 1226is given in Hist. and Mun. toes PP. 3, 48 ani 
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took the Ostmen of the first under special protection, 
Limerick retained a “ Liberty of the Ostmen,” and in 
each case the Crown reserved to itself ‘‘ the cantred of 
the Ostmen” outside the city walls. In x2t5 John 
gave Waterford the liberties of Dublin and the right 
to a reeve, who was to be chosen by twenty-four 
citizens forming a council ; a charter of 1222 gave trading 
privileges and free trade through the Angevin empire 
and fixed the fee-farm at a hundred marks, The Mayor 
or Waterford is first heard of in r289. Commanding as 
it did the great navigable rivers of the Nore, Suir, and 
Barrow, Waterford soon became one of the richest ports 
in the three kingdoms. Cork already had a reeve in 
1199, when John granted to it the liberties of Bristol ; 
in 124 its fee-farm was fixed at eighty marks, its 
burgesses were freed from villein status and extern 
courts, and given a hundred court, a merchant gild, 
and a council of four and twenty. By the time of 
Edward IJ. Cork has a mayor of its own. 

The “‘liberties of Bristol,” the summit of civic 
independence under a mayor, were finally enjoyed by 
the five royal cities of Dublin, Waterford, Cork, Limerick, 
and Galway. Limerick got them in 1197 by a charter 
of John, who in 1210 conferred on the burgesses forty 
carucates of land from the ‘‘cantred of the Ostmen,”” 
and by the end of the century Limerick was governed 
by its own freemen meeting in common. court. 

A form of municipal autonomy, less advanced than 
that of Bristol, was “the law of Breteuil.” William 
FitzOsborn, later Earl of Hereford, had enfranchised 

this town of Normandy in 1060. After the Conquest 
of England, he gave the same liberties to his town of 

Hereford, whence the first conquerors brought them to 
Ireland. 

For the laws of Breteuil see Bateson, Eng. Hist. Review, 1900-03. 
The laws of Breteuil have no connection with the laws of Bristol, 
though often confused by earlier writers. By the liberties of Breteuil 
burgesses were freed from villein status, given self-government under 
Rirsoves with « hundred court, fines Limited to a shilling ior ordinary 
offences, burgage rents at a shilling, a frontage and a few acres in the 
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The customs of Breteuil—' conssetudines de Bretotl 
—conferred an extensive, if still subordinate, autonomy 
and most desirable privileges. In 1194, Walter de 
Lacy, Earl of Meath, gave the “ free law of Breteuil” 
to Drogheda “south of the river Boyne,” and in 1213 
King John confirmed them to Drogheda “‘ on both sides 
of the river.” Drogheda “ towards Oriel,” that part 
namely which was north of the Boyne, was recognised 
in 1229 as a “‘liber burgus,” with a merchant gild, a 
fee-farm of sixty marks, and the right to elect reeves 
and seneschals each year, and to choose two citizens to 
hold the pleas of the Crown before the justices on 
assizes. The portion towards Meath secured similar 
rights from Henry III., and in 1253 Drogheda “ towards 
Oriel” got an elective mayor. Drogheda thus became 
a royal town, whose original Breteuil rights had been 
extended into liberties equal to those of Dublin. 

In 1215 John granted Breteuil rights to Dungarvan. 
But in general these rights were given by lay or 
ecclesiastical lords to mediatised boroughs or “' liberty 
towns” whose burgesses secured low rents and limited 
fines, while the lords retained rents and profits and 
that protecting authority which the fortunate burghers 
had no wish to eliminate. 

From Hugh de Lacy, first Earl of Meath, or Walter, 
his son, the old Irish towns of Kells, Duleek, and Trim 
got Breteuil rights ; from the Marshals or their seneschals 
and vassals Kilkenny, Carlow, Kells in Ossory, New 
Ross, Tristledermot, and other places got Breteuil 
rights, or others based on them, till a network of free 
boroughs studded the whole Vale of the Barrow and 
the Nore. Wexford, an old Ostman place, strangely 
enough did not get Breteuil liberties till Lord Eymar 
de Valence granted them in 1317.1 

common field to every burgage, free multure at the lord's mill, and 
limitation of his power to fine. "In all some twenty places in Ireland 
received Breteuil rights. 

} While the royal towns got a mayor, the Br.teuil and lesser 
borne got as chief magistrates a sovereign (superior) of reeve 

‘ovost)—the former having a higher dignity; thus Clonmel, 
(Eikenny, and New Hoes had sovereigns 
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In the Vale of Dublin Ballymore, Rathcool, Rath~ 
more, and Tallaght were thus enchartered before 1240, 
by the FitzGeralds or the archbishops. 

In the South Archbishop Donat O'Lonergan (1206- 
1217) endowed the population of Cashel, which must 
have been an Irish one, with the rights of a “ burgus,” 
a reeve of their own, and fifteen hundred acres of 
common land. His successor, Marianus O’Brien, in 
1230 granted them a hundred court, keeping, however, 
manorial rights and rents. Marianus also endowed 
Fethard in Tipperary with rights like those of Cashel. 
The little town of Mungret in Limerick got Breteuil 

rights from Bishop Robert, who ruled from 1251 to 
3272, and Daniel, bishop of Cloyne, about 1270 gave a 
charter of liberties to the burgesses of his cathedral 
town whether Irish or English—“ cujusque nationis 
sint.”* 

Apart from the true boroughs—numerous open 
places, market towns, and unchartered urban settle- 
ments, rising out of royal grants of markets and from 
the need of the colonists to cluster together, dotted the 
whole country from Dublin to Sligo, Tralee, Dingle, 
and Dunmore. Such were the Earl of Ormond’s towns 
of Nenagh, Thurles, Fymothan, etc., in North Tipperary, 
and still the Irish place-name Borris (buirghéis) found 
in remote places such as Burrishoole in Mayo indicates 
old Norman attempts at borough-making. 

The Ulster earldom had few places to rival the 
southern boroughs, yet in 1260 there was a fair 
population in Coleraine, and Downpatrick was in 1260 
a corporation of the new type, the seat of an English 
colony, whose mayor led the forces that vanquished 
Brian O’Neill.2_ By 1300 the network of Anglo-Irish 
towns stretched from Coleraine—for Derry remained 
Irish under its bishop—to Carrickfergus and Carling- 

+ Laffan, Records of Cashel, R.S.A.I., 1904, p. 33, and article 
on Fethard, sid., 1906, p. 143. | For Mungret, 's Statutes, 3 
Ed. 1V. For Cloyne, the Pipa Colmani in Cork Arch. S0c., 1915, p.93. 

"Orpen, Farldom of Ulster, R.S. A.I., 1913. 
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ford, and thence to Dundalk, to which Theobald de 
Verdun gave in 1283 rights similar to those of Breteu‘l. 
From Dundalk a line drawn to Athlone took in many 
towns, some of considerable size, such as Ardee, Nobber, 
Siddan, Kells, Fore and Mullingar, which with 
the Norman manors formed the long line of defence 
for the colony south of the hills of Armagh and the 
unconquered lands of Monaghan and Cavan. Athlone 
was the English bridgehead into Connacht ; Roscommon 
was the capital of an Anglo-Irish shire, and further 
west still Sligo, Dunmore, and a few other places were 
feudal burgi.? 

Meath had no great town save Drogheda, yet Kells, 
Athboy, Mullingar (Petit’s town), Navan, and Trim 
had liberties derived from their lords, and though the 
western ones dwindled away, still unto the age of the 
Tudors, whenever the Justiciar summoned the array of 
the Pale against ‘ English rebel” or ‘‘Irish enemy ” 
the portreeves of the fourteen towns of Meath led out 
their forces to war.* 

Leinster and Ossory were England’s greatest and 
richest colony, and a belt of incorporate towns encircled 
it from Dublin along the Liffey to Naas and Kildare, 
to Leighlin, Athy, Carlow, and Tristeldermot, com- 
manding the Barrow; and to Kilkenny, Callan, and 
New Ross commanding the Nore down to Waterford. 
Here in Ossory the Butlers had also Gowran, Knock- 
topher, and Carrick-on-Suir. In Ormond Clonmel had 
a charter given by William De Burgo based on the 

' The Issues of Athlone for four years ending 1266 amount to 
£112 odd (Pipe Rolls, 356 Rep. D. K.)._ The firm of Roscommon in 
f333 was £12 (Each, Som, XL ig-x6 Ba. IL). Athlone, however, 
wad no sovereign till 1606. Mey's Reg. (MS. copy, T.C.D., IIL, 

P. 593) shows Ardeo with a reeve in 1444 and with gates the names Of burgesses given are all English. 
Harris, Collect, TV. p. 254, 1H. TV.2 the Justiciar summon 

the Pale, the cities of Dublin’ and Drogheda, and the portreeves of 
seven Meath towns against O'Conor and De Bermingham. Cusack’s 
Coltection (an MS. in TC. D. [E. 3, 33] date 1511)—" the extent of 
Meath" names the following towns as having sovereigns or port- 
reeves: Slreen, Athboy, Mullingar, Fore, Kells, Navan, Ratoath, 
Greenoge, Duleek, Slane, Siddan, Dunshaghlin, Dunboyne, Nev ton 
duets Skreen. 
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liberties of Kilkenny, and had a sovereign of its own 
in 1300, while in the broad plains of Ormond the 
Butlers had manor-towns at Nenagh, Thurles, Ardmayle, 
and other places, and the Archbishop had towns at 
Cashel and Fethard. In County Waterford there were 
but two inland towns, Athmetum and Kilmedan, but 
apart from the capital, Dungarvan and Youghal were 
flo irishing ports. Next came Cork, and beyond that 
was England’s last ontpost along the southern coast, 
Kinsale, at first a mere manor of Andrew le Blund, 
but incorporated finally in 1333. 

Thence stretched an unconquered country as far 
round the coast as Dingle, where began that Geraldine 
lordship which stretched to the eastern borders of 
Limerick and Cork, and here was a fresh chain of towns 
including Tralee, Kilmallock, and Glenogra. Though 
many of these Munster towns were but unwalled urban 
settlements, yet the greater ones were prosperous places 
with many streets and numerous inhabitants, Irish as 
well as English. Dingle and Tralee flourished by trading 
Trish wool and hides against Spanish and French wines 
and cloth, and Kilmallock, for example, had in 1300 
four streets, twenty-seven burgages on the main street, 
a provost, and at least three Irishmen burgesses among 
its chief burgesses.! 

North of Limerick was a ¢erra incognita where the 
Trish blood far outweighed the thin stream of Norman- 
Welsh invaders. Connacht was ill-fitted to sustain on 
its ultimate shores and mountain coast prosperous 
enclaves of English citizens and craftsmen. Yet around 
the old O’Conor fortress on the Corrib arose De Burgo’s 
town of Galway, which grew rich on the fishery of the 
bay and the lake, and on the wines and stuffs which 
its traders carried from Europe to the inland chiefs. 
Tn 1270 began the building and enwalling of the 
remotest town of European civilisation. For over a 

ley, Diocese of Limerick, p. 378. The Irish names in the record (1340) are Robert and Joba Neyi whe have four tenements 
and eight acres, and onc Ney (Midheach or" Meathman"), Tn 1300 lock paid to a subsidy 420. 
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century Galway was a De Burgo town, and its lord 
named the magistrates, till in 1396 the English Crown, 
waving aside the hibernicised race of Clanrickard, gave 
it a sovereign, made it a royal town, and endowed it 
with the liberties of Drogheda. 

Some twelve miles inland, at the “Ford of the 
kings,” the Berminghams founded a Dominican priory 
and built the town of Athenry. But not till 1310 did 
it get its charter of incorporation, nor till 1316 its 
defences, when it was walled with the spoils of the 
Trish slain at the battle of Athenry. 

Sligo marked the furthest limit of the burghal 
movement. FitzMaurice built a castle here in 1245, 
but his race lost its Connacht lands before the century 
ended. The Red Earl de Burgo laid out a town in 
3310, but it could not stand against the attacks of 
O'Donnell, and after 1400 it became the seat of O’Conor 
Sligo, and in Irish hands was still the centre of a 

vigorous fishing and carrying trade. 
Inland, the thirteenth century saw Ballinrobe, Dun- 

more, Kilcolgan, and a few other attempts on the part 
of Burgos, Berminghams, and FitzGeralds to found 
permanent Anglo-Irish boroughs, which failed. So 
with most of the borough-colonies : only those of the 
sea-coast, east and south, flourished, and of these even 
some were destined to strange and picturesque histories 
very unlike their origins. 

Finally we note that in all the country from Sligo 
to Coleraine, not one English town-foundation was 

even attempted, Like the Norsemen the English failed 
to hold the seaboard of Connacht and Ulster, and 
therefore like the Norsemen failed to conquer Ireland. 
In all Ulster west of the Bann, in Longford (spite of 
Tuit’s manor at Granard), in Brefni O’Ruairc, in all 
Roscommon, in the south midlands of Leix and Offaly, 
though a few Norman castles were raised, no English 
towns appeared. A line from Nenagh to Kilkenny and 
thence to Kildare and north to Mullingar marked the 

Laud MS. Annais, sub 1216. 
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advance line behind cover of which the Anglo Irish 
colonies had pushed forward from east and south. 

In the year 1300 the Justiciar, Wogan, visited the 
royal cities and the counties of Tipperary, Limerick, 
and Waterford, raising the quotas of a State subsidy. 
Thirty-three towns in all are named, and as Leinster, 
Meath, Kerry, Connacht, and Ulster are excluded as 
Liberty lands, it is the more remarkable that fifteen 
chief towns of the remaining areas pay from two 
hundred and sixty marks in the case of Cork, to five 
pounds in the case of Kihnedan in County Waterford. 
Of the thirty-three towns Counties Tipperary and 
Limerick have each ten and Waterford seven.? 

Such at the height of English lordship was the tale 
of the boroughs in a part of the South, and far different 
was to be the tale in 1400. 

The Anglo-Irish towns, centres of French and 
English speech, garrisons, depots of an active trade 
and industry, were the only element in mediaeval 
Ireland which remained consistently loyal to the 
English tradition, Their blood was indeed a very 
varied blend of Irish, Ostman, Flemish, Welsh, and 
Saxon elements, but their tradition was unwaveringly 
English and plebeian.* Enemies of feudalism—whether 
of Irish or Norman brand—they naturally allied with 
the Anglo-Irish State and the Lord of Ireland against 

contributed. 41.2438 and the towns £789}-—a very rich, yield from 
only the chief cities and three counties. 
fowns are in order—Cork, Drogheda, Dublin, Waterford, ‘Youghal, 
Kilkeany, Limerick, New Ross, Kilmallock, Cashel, Dungarvan, Emly, 
Kilmedan, and Athmetum, County Kilkenny was not taxed, but 
Kilkenny’ towa was. 

* On the Ostman element we have touched. The Irish is marked 
from the first, and appears often in the civic records. Ia Galway 
even among the famous. Tribes of that city, Lynch is Irish (Loin 
ja matiner). In Limerick Meagh (Midheach, a Meathman) ; in Cork, 
Mead {the same), Ronayne and Morogh were leading names, 
Kilkeany there was great tace-equality, the bishop's vill 
just across the Nore had burgess liberties, and there was a Ville 
Flamingorum, of quarter for Flemish weavers in the city, where 
streot was stil called ia Irish in 1846 Sraid na mPodach (street of the 
bors), see Prim in Kuk. Arch. Soc., 1849-51, p. 37. 

Google 



RACES OF IRELAND 219 

‘English rebels and Irish enemies,” and were as ready 
to fight against O'Neill and Bruce in the earlier period 
as they were against O’Brien, Simnel, and the Geraldincs 
in the later, Without these strongholds, Anglo-Ireland 
would have followed the Gaelicised Normans of the 
fifteenth century clean over to Irish speech and tradition; 
without them in the Tudor age the Re-Conquest would 
have been impossible. 

But theirs was a proud and spirited loyalty. 
Isolated in a country where the feudal enemy was near 
and the Crown an absentee, the Irish towns formed a 
stubborn tradition of republican independence. The 
greater ones resembled more the communes of Italy 
than the sleck boroughs of England. In order to keep 
them, the Lord of Ireland showered on “his good 
towns” abundant rights and responsibilities, they were 
ordered to keep galleys and weapons of offence and 
defence, given murage grants, had taxes remitted, wide 

admiralty and contado jurisdictions given, and had the 
highest local powers vested in their mayors and 
sovereigns, With royal dues based on a stereotyped 
value of money, dues which were indeed often remitted 
or fell into abeyance, taught independence and self- 
reliance by every fact of their situation, the Irish towns 
emerged into the Jacobean age, a sore offence of liberty 
to the New Monarchy and its agents. 

Even the greatest of the Irish towns remained small 
by contrast with a London or a Bristol, yet even the 
smallest of them stood fiercely by their chartered rights.) 

Without voice in the Council of Peers, left to their 
own devices by an absentee Crown, the Irish towns 
formed inter-civic leagues like those of Lombardy. In 
1252 Dublin and Drogheda made a compact by which 
the men of Dublin are made free of Drogheda, disputes 
shall be settled by a common council, there shal] be 

4 Thus in 1207 the burgesses of Kildare claim to have correction 
of all trespasses within the boundaries of the borough by charter of 
the lords of the Liberty except the four principal plens, robbery and 
other felonies, and breach of the assize of wine. (Just. Rolls, 1., 
P. 374) 

D Google " 



220 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

mutual aid against enemies, and petitions to the King 
and other shall be by joint assent. In 1285 a League 
was made which included Dublin, Waterford, Cork, and 
the two Droghedas, whose envoys shall meet annually 
at Kilkenny to discuss common affairs, and if any of 
the leagued towns shall fail to observe the treaty thus 
made and signed at Kilkenny under common seal, they 
shall suffer heavy penalties. 

Warned by such a spirit, the Irish government had 
the wisdom to summon the towns to Parliament in 
1310, and so for a century and more taught them to 
look to the Anglo-Irish State for direction and support. 

In their beginnings the towns rejected that anti- 
Irish spirit which animated many of the rural colonists. 
The earliest population of many of them was of 
necessity Irish, especially in ancient seats such as 
Cashel, Cloyne, Kells, Downpatrick, Trim, Kilkenny, 
and Kildare. The earliest civic records show many 
Gaelic names, Later Irishmen obtained the civic 
freedom with the approbation of all. The general 
mediaeval “ year and a day rule” enabled many betaghs 
and poor tenants to escape from manor servitude. Thus 
an early Dublin by-law of 1305 says—villeins and 
betaghs who by permission of the mayor and commonalty 
remain in the city for a year and a day, are thereby 
freed from their lords.” The charter granted to 
Drogheda “ towards Oriel” in 1253 allowed that if any 
held a tenement for a year and a day it was his against 
all others thereafter. in 1307 the burgesses of Drogheda 
declared: “ Irishmen by custom of Irish towns being 
burgesses are as free as Englishmen.” The charter of 
Bishop Daniel to Cloyne in 1250 was made to all 
burgesses ‘* whatever be their nation.” + 

x Gilbert, Cal, Ancient Records of City of Dustin, p. 224, 
Lawlor, Cal. Sweetman's Reg., P.R. I. A., 1911-12, p. 328. orfane 
Of English liberty, see Gilbert, Hist. and’ Mun. Dees, p. 543! 
Ge Bree, Irishman, is granted English law along with his five daughters 
(1291); and when Hugh Kent, bargess of Galway, petitions for the 
same (circa 1292) it was granted, and in the answer it was stated 
that “ the King commanded his Great Council held lately at London 
that this grant should be made to all who demand it, for his Council 
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As oligarchy grew, in Irish towns as in English, and 
the original free and democratic note faded away, the 
anti-Irish spirit grew, but there is every evidence that 
the anti-Irish acts on the civic Statute books of the 
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries were not seriously 
meant, and anyway could not be enforced. Self-interest 
alone would prompt the recruiting of their worn-out 
blood by the admission and the enfranchisement of the 
skilled and laborious craftsmen of the native race, 

showed him that it would be greatly to his advantage." (C, D.1., 
L., p. 25 and si¢., No. 924, for Bree.) In his excellent little book, 

Municipal Government of Ireland (1918) Mr. J. J. Web! 
maintains that the Irish were treated badly in the towns (Ch 
I cannot agree that this is true of the carlier period at least. 
the trade of Anglo-Ircland see latest edition of Mrs. Green’ 
and Unmaking of Ireland, 9 final chapter in v 
Mediarval Trade.with Ireland, by Westropp, P. 



CHAPTER IX 

THE SECOND IRISH RESURGENCE, 1310-1327 

Tue first few years of Edward II.’s reign in Ireland 
prolonged the aspect of his father's. Wogan held office 
till June 1308, when Piers Gaveston, Earl of Cornwall, 
the first of those favourites over whom the new King 
was to ruin himself, came over as Lord Lieutenant, 
and till June 1309 enlivened Dublin with a gay court 
and an imposing army. Gaveston won a little military 
prestige by subduing the Wicklow clans, but tired of 
Ireland and soon returned to his master, Edward. 

Wogan then resumed control as Justiciar, and 
enlisted the forces of the colony for fresh efforts 
against the Scots. In 1310 the Earl of Ulster was 
appointed “ ductor,” in 1314 “‘ capiianeus” of the Irish 
contingents. In this latter year the appeal of 
Edward II. from Westminster included twenty-six 
Gaelic chiefs, But De Burgo at least must have had 
little enthusiasm, for in 1296 his sister, Egidia, had 
married James the Steward of Scotland, and in 1302 
his daughter, Elizabeth, had married Robert Bruce, 
crowned King of Scots in 1306. 

Never again were the Anglo-Irish lords to be at 
‘once so powerful, numerous, and loyal as now. The 
territorial power of the Red Earl was enormous, for 
apart from his twenty-five cantreds in Connacht, he 
had in Meath, Leinster, Ulster, and Munster more than 
a thousand librates of land in chief of the Crown, and 
a revenue large in money, but far greater in kind. 

Besides the feudal levies of his English, he could call 
up great armies of Irish vassals. 

Edmund Butler was now head of his race after his 
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brother, Theobald, who died in 1299. Geoffrey de 
Geynville in 1308 retired into the House of the Friars 
Preachers at Trim, and left his Liberty of Trim and 
his moiety of Meath to his grand-daughter, Joan, and 
her husband, Roger de Mortimer, for his sons had died 
before him. In 1309 died Theobald de Verdun, who 
had inherited the western moiety of Meath from 
Margaret de Lacy, his grandmother, and his claims 
passed to Theobald, his son. 

Thomas de Clare, Lord of Thomond, had left at 
his death in 1287 two infant sons; of these Gilbert 
succeeded him and died in 1308, then the second son, 
Richard, succeeded. 

Roger Mortimer, who landed in 1308 to take his 
Irish heritage, was an imposing personage. Through 
his grandmother, Gwladys Dhu (the Black), daughter 
of Llywelyn the Great, he was half-Welsh, like the first 
conquerors of Ireland themselves. From his grandsire, 
Roger of Wigmore, husband of Maud de Braose, he 
also inherited Leix, a fifth part of the Marshal earldom 
with its formidable rock-castle of Dunamase. His 
grandmother, Maud, Lady of Leix, was now dead in 
the same year as Geoffrey de Geynville (1308), and 
Roger thus succeeded to a double heritage in Meath 
and North Leinster. 

The return of so great an absentee was watched 
with jealous eyes by the established grandees, and 

throughout his career Roger had to meet their ill-veiled 
hostility, 

It was the standing fear of the First Families that 
at any moment men whom they regarded as foreigners 
would return to claim vast Irish lordships, which they 
did little to defend or administer. But there was a 
second bitter grievance in the feudal custom by which 
Anglo-Irish heiresses carried their fiefs to English 
husbands. Against this the Norman-Irish opposed 
the custom of tail male. The Gaelic law barred women 
from lordship and their sons from chiefly succession, 
and an Irish maxim ran: “ The land which has no 
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lord is a dead land.”* The established Norman-Irish 
readily adopted so convenient a tradition. 

Already the Baron of Offaly dying in 1287 without 
heirs male had left the whole inheritance of the 
Geraldines to his grand-uncle’s son, John FitzThomas. 
Any baron of Ireland might leave only a daughter, 
but there were seldom wanting brothers, uncles, or 

cousins of his, and these defied the English succession- 
law where it was so inapplicable to a land of war, and 
so repugnant to a race which had won the land with 
the sword. For example, when Meath was partitioned 
between the daughters of De Lacy in 1241, and again 
in 1308 between Roger Mortimer and Theobald Verdun, 
the transaction ignored the existing claims of the 
Rathwire or junior branch of the Lacys which sprang 
from Robert, Baron of Fairbill, cousin of the first Earl 
Hugh, These Lacys thought Meath should have been 
theirs, and chafed against these foreign claimants. A 
junior branch of the Verduns themselves, located in 

Louth, openly took arms when the English Verdun 
appeared to take seisin of his lands, Every attempt, 
as that of De Clare in Thomond, to set up a new 
lordship, was bitterly resented by the established. But 
for the time the magnates sank their feuds, and in 
1309, FitzThomas, De Burgo, and Mortimer went to 
the King’s Court together. 

Undoubtedly the pre-occupation of the Anglo-Irish 
with Edward's Scottish wars aided the native resurgence. 
Lacking as this was in apparent cohesion, and devoid 
till now of spectacular events, we cannot doubt that 

a widespread revolt was preparing among the Gaels, 
not only among the chiefs and their fighting-men, but 
also among the spiritual and intellectual leaders of the 
race. 

The question of the Churches was one of the 
bitterest points of contention. Already in 1297 the 

prelates of Armagh and Down had been indicted for 
refusing to receive clerks of English blood. The 

ATi mharbh lir gan tiguearna 
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Gaelic bishops and abbots resisted the influx of men 
foreign in language and sympathy, and the native 
people resented the appointing of foreign prelates who 
were little better than English officials. The colonists, 
on the other hand, feared for the gaelicising of the 
Church, and in time of the whole land, through an 
influx of the native priests and monks. The Govern- 
ment could control Parliament, and still keep the 
colony English, but it was no easy matter excluding 
Irishmen in their own country from Ireland’s branch 

of the Universal Church. 
The spirit of the monastic orders and the Friars 

was particulary bold, and in 1299 the English bishop 
of Kildare fulminated against certain friars ‘‘who in 
the Irish language spread the seeds of rebellion.” * 
The natural rejoinder was to exclude Irishmen 

altogether from the monastic houses, and in February 
1310, the Irish parliament at Kilkenny enacted that 
no pure Irishman (mudlus merws hibernicus) should be 
received into religious houses “among the English.” 
But so openly un-Christian a division was not to the 
taste of the best men of the time, and Wogan revoked 
the act almost at once (May 3x0) by order of the King 
and at request of Walter Jorz, archbishop of Armagh, 
and other magnates.2 

The fault, indeed, was not all on the English side, 
and the oldest Cistercian house in Ireland in the very 
Pale itself reflected in itself the national-ecclesiastical 
feud. In 1297 Edward commanded the Abbot of 
Mellifont that half of the monks in houses under him 
should be of English race, and in 1306 he had the 
temporalities of the abbey seized on the ground that 

4G. D.I., IV., No. 2035. 4 Nullus ‘merus hibernicus, or “ mere Irishman," originally 
simply Gael of the, Tmdoprosent tones which were: ast wabjoct to, 

iclled among, the settlers. The Rev. Mf. Macinerny has treated 
Of this question of the churches in his admirable piece of research 
work, A History of the Irish Dominicans, 1916, Vol. 1. pp. 63:0 
and 574. Wogan’s annulment, however, had 16 be re-confirmed ia 
1336 a tern reqtest of the repwlar slerey of Ireland because the 

had spoken as if the Statute were sfill in force. 
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the monks were mere Irish. In 1322 it was complained 

that the monks would only admit those who swore 
they were not of English race, and the heads of the 
Order in England recorded its detestation of such a 
damnable division wherever practised, and warned the 
Cistercian abbots of Ireland, of whom grievous com- 
plaints had been made, that they should indifferently 
admit persons of all nations.1 

In the lay order the strife was fought out with 
handier weapons. By a single deed of treachery the 
English of Ferns, once King Dermot's capital, removed 
four chiefs of the MacMurchadas (1305) and suffered 

little punishment.* One of the greatest of the Norman- 
Irish was not ashamed to boast openly of a still more 

savage deed. Piers de Bermingham, baron of Tethmoy 
in Offaly, invited the O'Conors, the Irish kings of Ui 
Failghe, to celebrate the feast of Holy Trinity at his 
castle of Carrick, in Carbery, and had his unsuspecting 
and unarmed guests slaughtered (June 13, 1305). 
Murchertach, the O’Conor Faly, his brothers, Calvach 
and Maelméra, and twenty-nine of their chief men, 
were butchered; a ghastly collection of heads was 
sent to Dublin, and Sir Piers received not only approval 
and reward from Wogan’s Government, but the glowing 
eulogies of the Anglo-Irish.* 

That such a general clearance failed to extinguish 
an Irish dynasty alone illustrates the insuperable 
difficulties of a thorough Conquest. Such a slaughter 

+MacInemy, op. cit, pp., 576-5. 
+ Just, Rolls, IL, p. $9, Pleas of Crown. Henry Murght, Donald 

Og, and Murtagh Mor McMorgh all feloniously slain in Ferns, though 
coming under safe-conduct of the Justiciar, The jurors found Jobn 
Hay quilty of murder, but he made fine for 7os, Two other murderers 

over to'the Seneschal of the y of Wexford to do 
justice on, No evidence what punishment they suffered is given. 

+See Clyn, Book of Howth, Laud MS. Annals, and F.M. Just. 
Rolis, 11., p. 82 : it is agreed by the Justiciar, Wogan, and the whole 
Council in presence of the Earl of Ulster that Piers have £100 for 
decapitation of the O'Conars, A. contemporary ballad in English 
praises the exploits of Piers against the Irish (Nas. Fecs., I1I., Pl. IV.), 
and Grace, recording his death in 1308, calls him nobilis 
Hiersiconum. Laud Annals pots the'slaughter down to Jordan 
-omyn. 
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would have more than wiped out the Butlers or other 
such feudal stock, but while the Irish law provided 
the reigning chief with so many rig-domnas the 
complete extinction of heirs to the succession was all 
but impossible. 

‘A general Leinster confederacy answered such deeds 
as this. In 1303 Ballymore, Athy, and other strong- 
holds of the English on the Barrow and the south 
marches of Dublin were burned and “ great war arose, 
and Irishmen came to help the Irish of Leimster from 
all parts of Ireland.” Then in 1311 “a great army 
assembled out of Leinster to expulse and drive away 
the Berns and Toles out of Glandelor (Glenmalure) and 
other strong places, and Sir Edmund Butler, in Lent 
following, did overcome O'Brene in Glendelore, and 
force him to yield.” 1 

Clearly the Irish chiefs were becoming day by day 
more formidable and equal in outward show and 
military prowess to their Norman rivals. Their castles 
rivalled those of the Englishry. In 1300 we hear of 
Aedh O’Conor’s building a “ patiis” at Clonfree, in 
Roscommon, and Donal O'Neill had a castle at Dun- 
gannon, where his race now fixed its seat.* The silver 
seals of Irish princes show them on horseback like 
Norman knights, and in battle they appeared in- 
helmets and coats of steel. The general employment 
of Scottish galloglaigh stiffened the forces of the 
Northern and Western chiefs and made them into 
armies, and more and more did the two aristocracies 
which were to divide Ireland approximate to one 
another. 

The wise statesman, Wogan, now left the Irish 
stage (August 1312). His last public service was to 

1 Laud Annals, pp. 333-342 passim and Book of Howth. In 1307 
Murcod Ballagh * princeps Lagenie,”' head of the MacMurchads, was 
slain at Merton by Sir David Caunton (Dowling and Laud Annals). 

# For the poem on O'Conor’s house at Cluaniraich, see Quiggin in 
Essays, etc., presenied to William Ridgeway (Camb., 1013), p. 333. 
Tt was built by Aedh, son of Eoghan, son of Rury O'Conor, who 
reigned r2oa-1309._ The poet says: "For Aedh of the fair smoot 

to abandon Cruachan’s rampart for Cluanfraich is no reproach.’ 

c Google a 



228 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

lead the royal army against the revolted Verduns of 
Louth. Wogan was defeated, and the whole business 
was most significant. Inured to war and nursed in the 
spirit of feuds, the Anglo-Irish did not hesitate to oppose 
the army of the State under the King’s viceroy himself 
and inflict a shameful defeat upon him. 

Feudal and personal aims were stamped over all the 
actions of that colonial nobility which ruled Ireland, 
and the test of their loyalty to the Crown and to one 
another was now to come. The forces of Anglo-Ireland 
were summoned to Scotland once more, in March 1314, 
but in vain; for Bannockburn was fought on June 
24th; and the Scots now carried the war into Ireland. 

Edward Bruce had played a great part in the victory 
which put the crown of Scotland on his brother's head. 
Robert now looked around him to find a second crown 
for Edward, whose warlike and aspiring character 
might be dangerous if pent up at home. 

‘A fair field for Scottish intrigue lay open in Ireland 
and Wales. Already the Bruces knew Ireland well, 
for Robert was son-in-law of the Earl of Ulster; and 
Robert after his defeat at Methven had spent the 
winter of 1306-7 in Rathlin where the Gaelic chiefs of 
Kintyre and Byset of Antrim protected him and the 
Earl of Ulster must have connived at his safety. 
When in the spring Robert and his brothers sailed for 
Loch Ryan they had Irish allies with them.! Moreover, 
the King of Scots was Earl of Carrick through his 
mother, Margery, grand-daughter of Duncan of Carrick ; 
this title he passed on to his brother, Edward, in 1313, 
and Edward was thus not only in a favourable geo- 
graphical position to invade Ulster, but actually had 
territorial claims there. 

The Irish chiefs had watched the triumph of the 
Bruces with joy, and applied the lesson of Scottish 
resistance to their own case. They were well aware 
that the Bruces on the female side went back to Fergus 

3 Stevenson, Select Docs, of Scottish History, 1286-1306, passim, 
and Ramsay, Dawn of the Constit 
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mac Erca and the Milesian kings of Erin and Alba, 
and within living memory during the coronation of 
Alexander III. as King of Scots at Scone (1249) a 
Highlander had, as was customary, recited in Gaelic 
the young king’s pedigree back to Fergus and ‘' Iber 
the first of the Scots.” The “ lingua Scotica’* still 
meant the common Gaelic language of both countries : 
this was the language of all Northern and Western 
Scotland, and Anglian was confined entirely to the 
South-east or Lothians. The Bruces realised the 
value of their Irish descent in enlisting support both 
from Gaelic Scotland and Gaelic Ireland, and familiar 
as they were with the mixed racial features of their 
own realm, they were prepared for a similar task in 
Treland.t 

The masterly mind of Robert and the adventurous 
heart of Edward Bruce launched the great enterprise, 
but not entirely in the void. Donal O'Neill, who had 
ruled the Cenel Eoghain since x295, along with his 
vassal chiefs bore ill the heavy yoke of the Ulster 
Earl; son as he was of Brian “ of the battle of Down” 
he aspired to fame as a deliverer of his race ; and now 
the moment had come to surrender his hereditary claim 
to the Throne of Tara to ome nobler than any of the 
“Saxon Foreigners” and sprung from Gaelic kings. 
O'Neill and the Lrish chiefs made one further appeal 
to the English “ Lord of Ireland,” but in their hearts 
they accepted Bruce from the moment of his landing 
as an Ard Ri from Gaelic Alba. 

1 For the diffusion of Gaelic in Scotland sos RS, Rait's Relations 
between England and Scotland, 00-1707. Tt seems certain that Gaelic 
was spoken in Galloway and Carrick (the Bruce's own country) till 
the middle of the eighteenth century. Gaelic and French were in 
1300 the languages of the ruling class. Barbour’s Bruce (written in 
1375) is the beginning of the Scottish contribution to English literature, 
he wrote it, as he says, in" Inglis” Kordun (a, circa 1909) in his 
Latin work, Scotichronicon, divides the So either the 
lingua, Scotica or the lingua Teulonica, the viatter being Eagish ie 

forden who describes ine Soetas srentaas  rebuiing Alsenaders 
descent Scatcs serbis. ‘The charters of Malcolm 1V. and William 
‘the Lion, covering 1153-1214, speak of their subjects as 
Anglici, Scoti, Galwogeises et Walenses (the latter being the Saute 
clyde Welsh ” of the South-West). 

c Google " 



230 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

‘A general Celtic league was planned against 
England, and Robert Bruce got into touch with the 
malcontents of Ulster and Wales from Man, which he 
captured in 1313.1 

Anglo-Irish feuds offered further possibilities. The 
Verduns and Lacys were in arms, and the Red Earl, 
who hated new-come Englishmen as much as they did, 
took them under his wing, and knighted Walter and 
Hugh at Trim in 1308, whereupon the two Lacys 
openly claimed western Meath on the death of the 
elder Theobald de Verdun in 1309, besieged the 
younger Theobald in Athlone castle, and forced him to 
surrender. The Irish Verduns, under a Robert of that 
name, also rose against their English kinsman and 

shamefully defeated the Justiciar Wogan himself in 
1312, but in the same year Sir John de Bermingham, 
son of that Piers of Tethmoy who slaughtered the 
O'Conors, expelled the Lacys from Meath. Naturally 
the latter looked for aid to the rising star of the Bruces, 
and a strong faction of the Meath gentry were behind 
them. In Eastern Ulster the male Bysets of the Glens 
had a similar grievance to the Lacys and were more 
than ready to welcome the Bruces, with whom they 
were in immediate touch. A. successful Scottish 
invasion promised to make Sir John, head of the 
Bysets, the greatest man in the North-east, and secure 
to the discontented Lacys the western half, possibly 
the whole, of the former Earldom of Meath.? 

1 Harris, Cillety Tp. 395 (uate): the King's letters “pro 
adhacrentibus Roberts de Brus in Anglia, Hilermia et Wallia arvestandis,”" 
speaks of Bruce's adherents in Man. According to Powell's History 
of Wales, pp. 311-12, Sir Gruflydd Liwyd urged the union of the 
“‘ Albanian Scots '’ with the Britons against the Saxons, and Edward 
Bruce, then in Ireland, agreed to invade Wales on condition he should 
have ‘such lordship over the Welsh “as your prince [the last 
Llywelyn) formerty most folly used to exercise.” Gruffydd revolted, 
but, was defeated by an English army and imprisoned in Rhuddlan 
Castle. 

‘For the earlier Bysets see Orpen, III., p. 256. Walter Byset, 2 Scotnman uf Galloway, had been enfeotled by Hugh de Lacy, Parl 
of Ulster, in Rathlin and lands about Glenarm. When Jobn Byses 
died in 1260 without heirs male his lands by law went to heiresses, 
but his collateral kinsmen held on to the lands, became known at 
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Meanwhile, with De Burgo at feud with Mortimer 
and the lesser magnates taking sides, there was little 

unity in the higher command in Anglo-Ireland. yg 
When it became evident what was afoot, Edward II. 

sent a special envoy to Ireland, namely, John Hotham, 
later bishop of Ely, to discuss the affairs of the realm 
with the magnates ; and in March 1315 gave Edmund 
Butler his commission as Justiciar, and addressed 
general letters of credence to the prelates, nobles, and 
commons of Ireland, and particular ones to twenty-two 
Gaelic chiefs and sixty-three bishops, abbots, lords, and 
town magistrates, enjoining on them to hear and assist 
the Justiciar and his fellow-officers. But the decisive 
interval had been ill-spent, and the storm ‘jnow burst 
on an unprepared country. 

On May 25th, 1315, Edward Bruce landed near 
Larne on the Antrim coast with 6,000 fighting-men. 
With him were the Earl of Moray, Sir John Monteith, 
and other Scots nobles, the Gaelic chiefs, MacDougall 
and MacRury of Argyle, and Sir John Byset. 

Before long a large part of Ireland was for Bruce 

or stood neutral, prepared for his triumph. “There 
adhered to them (the Scots),”” says Clyn, “‘ while they 
were in Ireland almost all the Irish of the land, and 
few kept their faith and loyalty.” ? 

MecEoin, and were lords there till 1400, when their heiress, Margery, 
married Eoin MacDonnell of the Isls. As for Lacys and ‘Verduns : 

uly 1312 Wogan was " miserably overthrown” by Robert and 
as de Verdun and their accomplices (Laud MS. Annals), The 

doath of Thevbald the elder ia top bad rogsed the ¢ hopes of his Irish 
cousins, who seized Ardee and the Lordship of Louth, and im 1312 
defeated a force of colonists, who had the Justiciar’s commission, near 
Ardee. Forty-five chief Anglo-Irish of Louth and Meath were asso- 
ciated with them. See for the whole case of the Verduns and Lacys, 
1342-1317, the law-proceedings in Chart. St. Mary's, I, App. IL. and 
TIE, According to their enemy, Mortimer, the Lacys were the villains 
of the piece ; they themselves denied any real complicity with Edward 
Bruce, but clearly they and the Verduns had, since 1308, resisted by 
arms the legal transference of Irish property to the heirs-atlaw. 

* That Ciyn does not exaggerate is shown by the fact that Dermot 
MacCarthy of Desmond had to be pardoned after the Bruce invasion, 
and it is Zicar that Ulster, Thomond, Connacht, Meath, and Leinster 
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According to a complaint made later by Edward II. 
to the Pope “ the prelates of the Irish race do not 
cease to provoke against us the spirit of the people,” 
and many of the native friars and secular clergy openly 
incited the Irish to renounce allegiance to England.* 

Bruce’s first triumph was an easy one over the local 
levies of the Ulster colonists under Mandeville and 
Logan, whereupon Donal O'Neill, O'Cathain, and four 
other chiefs of Eastern Ulster renounced allegiance to 
De Burgo and joined the Scots. But Aedh O'Donnell, 
who had in his MacDonnell galiéglaigh the most 
formidable troops of any native chief, preferred the 
waiting and isolated policy of his race. 

Bruce’s army was one of tried veterans, no colonial 
force could stand against him, and time and time again 
did the Scots roll over the light armies of the colony. 
Their Irish allies with their mobility and knowledge of 
the country made excellent auxiliaries, though the 
Scots chronicler accuses some of them of treachery, 
and of waiting to see which of the combatants was 
like to prevail. 

On the other side the feuds and divisions of the 
colonial magnates fatally weakened their cause, and 
the English Government sent no troops over till the 
end of 1316. 

Dundalk was the first considerable town to fall to 
Bruce (June 2gth, 1315), but Carrickfergus, which he 
designed as his port of entry from Scotland, though 
close beset, held out against him for over a year. 

contemporary evidence is scanty. The Cath Fhochairte ("" Battle of 
Fangbart "), ed, and trans. by H. Morris in Louth Arch, Soc, Vol, 1. 
Teptesents a’ modernised form of an old Gaelic account of the invasion: 

2 In August 1316 King Edward wrote to the General of the Friars 
Minor ja Ireland complaining that some friars were stirring up the 
lay Trish to rebellion In Apri 1317 John XNIL wrote t0. the 
archbishops of Dublin and Cashel that friars of the mendicant orders 
and many rectors, etc., of parish churches in Ireland labour to rouse 
fhe Irish people ‘to renounce fealty and impugn the royal rights 

1., p. 295, and Naf. Facs., IL, Pl. XII), In the same 
excommunicated Edward Bruce and ail his adherents 
ind all friars minor who preach rebellion” (Foedera, 

UIL,, p. 643, and Cal. Pap. Reg. 1305-42, pp. 127-28 and passim). 
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The Earl of Ulster was now in Connacht, from 
whence he raised a large army and marched against 
Bruce. The Scots fell back and fought their first great 
battle at Connor, in Antrim, on September roth, 1315. 
The Red Earl was totally defeated, but escaped from 
the fight, while his cousin, William Liath (the Grey), 
son of William 6g slain at Athankip, was taken and 
sent captive to Scotland. 

Edward then invaded Meath, where Roger Mortimer 
dared him to battle, but was defeated at Kells, early 
in December, owing, it is said, to the treachery of the 
Lacys, Walter and Hugh. The two latter now openly 
joined Bruce, guided him into the Midlands, and 
brought over to his standard no less than seventy of 
the chief gentry of Meath and four Gaelic chiefs, of 
whom O’Melachlin represented the ancient dynasty of 
the province, 

After spending Christmas at Lochsewdy, Bruce then 
penetrated into the Geraldine lands of Kildare, and at 
Sketherys, near Ardscull, overthrew the royal forces 
under Butler and FitzThomas (January 26th, 1316). 
But to secure the North was his first need, and he 

retired to Carrickfergus. The siege of this place 
became a test of strength; the Dublin government 
sent fifteen ships with men to it, and the garrison of 
the citadel, though their commander, Thomas de 
Mandeville, fell, beat off the determined attack of the 
Scots on Easter eve, April ro. 

At least Edward Bruce had made his claim to the 
Throne of Ireland good. The Ulster Irish urged him 
to take the Crown; Donal O'Neill renounced in 
Bruce’s favour his ancient hereditary right; and 
Edward, therefore, was crowned King of Ireland in the 

open air on the hill of Cnoc Maeldvin (Knocknemelan), 
near Dundalk, on May Day, 1316, amid the plaudits 
of many Irish allies.t 

* Loch Cé: “ the Gaedhil of Ireland proclaimed him King of Erin.” 

Braces marched against Dublin the ear sfing of 1317 they bad 
with them in addition to the Scots the ian" ara ‘of Ulster." 
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The consternation among the Irish magnates was 
naturally great. Each of them boasted he alone could 
raise an army “sufficient in itself to subdue the Scots,”” 
but they could in fact neither win nor unite. Yet the 
tepid government of Edward Il. threw the saving of 
the State upon them. In February 1316 Hotham 

brought the ten chief magnates together in Dublin, 
and made them swear “‘in hfe and death to hold with 
the King of England, to make peace in the land, and 
destroy the Scots.” If the other magnates would not 
swear to this, they were to be held enemies of the 
King. The greatest of them all, Richard, Earl of 
Ulster, was absent, but after the fall of Carrickfergus 
in September 1316 the nobles met again to swear to 
die for their Lord the King of England, and this time 
De Burgo was with them. 

To stiffen their loyalty, Edmund Butler was given 
“ the name and honour of Ear! of Carrick” in September 
1315, and in April 1316 John FitzThomas was made 

Earl of Kildare with the hereditary sherifidom of the 
county, an honour which he did not long enjoy, for he 
died on September 8th of that year. In July 1316 
Theobald de Verdun also died, and though his brother, 
Milo, continued the main line of the family, the 
Lordship of West Meath, or Lochsewdy, lapsed with 
Theobald, who left only daughters who married 
absentees, and thus half this province was finally lost 
to English law. 

Meanwhile an almost universal rising of the native 
people swept the country. A confederacy of O’Tooles, 
O’Bymes, and the hibernicised Ostmen, the Harolds 
and Archbolds, attacked the marches from Arklow to 
Bray. In the north-west Aedh O’Donnell seized the 
moment to level De Burgo’s castle of Sligo and enforce 
the vassalage of O’Conor of Cairbre.! 

It was, however, to Connacht that Bruce looked 

4 Lock Cé, 1316: “ Ruaidbri, son of Domhnall O'Conor, gave to 
O'Donnell the Lordship of Cairbre.” The barony of Carbery, Sligo, 
had been Fitzgerald's till 1299, then De Burgo's. This branch of 
‘the O'Conors were later called O'Conor Sligo. 
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most anxiously, for it was in Connacht that Ireland 
would be lost or won. 

From 1293 to 1309 Aedh, son of Eoghan, descendant 
of Cathal Crovderg, had ruled the O'Conors, and was 
then slain by his rival, Aedh the Brefnian, head of the 
Clann Murchertach. The latter, however, kept power 
only for one year, and was then assassinated by Mac- 
Quillan, captain of his bodyguard. His brother, Rury, 
took up his claims, but Aedh mac Eoghain had left 
two sons, and Felim, the elder of these, was now in 

1310 elected king at the age of twenty by the powerful 
MacDermots of Moylurg. 

The brief career of this young prince was a romantic 
one, and perhaps in the whole Bruce drama his is the 
figure which most touches our emotion, 

‘When Richard de Burgo marched northwards on 
the campaign which ended at Connor, the young Felim 
accompanied him, but before the battle Bruce sent 
secret messages to O'Conor, offering him, if he would 
desert the Earl, the undivided sovereignty of Connacht. 
Felim no longer waited for the battle, but returned 

home, excusing himself to De Burgo on the ground 
that his interests there were in danger from Rury mac 
Cathail. But the crafty Bruce had also communicated 
with Rury, urging him to attack the Englishry of 
Connacht, but to spare Felim. Thus enheartened, 
Rury devastated Athlone, Roscommon, and other 
strongholds of the colonists, and was inaugurated in 
great triumph at Carnfraich. 

When Earl Richard got back to Connacht, he found 
Rury in possession, and the annals of Loch Cé describe 
how the Earl entertained at once four disinherited 
chieftains, Felim O’Conor, Murchertach O'Brien, Mael- 

tuana MacDermot, captain of Felim’s host, and Gilbert. 
O'Kelly of Hy Many, “ But he could do nothing for 
them, for during this year he was himself a wanderer 
through Erin, without sway of power.” 

Early next year, Felim summoned his adhercnts, 
met his rival, Rury, at the Causeway of Méin-coinnedha, 
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and slew him with seven of his chiefs and many besides, 
“noble and commons” (in March 1316). Felim there- 
upon “‘ assumed the sovranty of Connacht from Assaroe 
to Echtge,” forsook the Earl, and aspired to expel 
every foreigner from the province. But this alienated 
from him all save the Irish themselves, and William 
Liath de Burgo, returning ransomed from Scotland, 
mustered the Berminghams of Athenry and all the 
available Englishry of Connacht and Meath. On the 
other hand, a great national levy flocked to O'Conor’s 
leopard banner, and Donnchad O'Brien, O’Melachlin 
of Meath, O’Ruairc of Brefni, and Taig O'Kelly, chief 
of Hy Many, with many other lords of Connacht, 
Thomond, and Meath, assembled in the greatest Gaelic 
confederacy since 1260. 

The two armies, for once clearly divided in race, 
met close by Richard de Bermingham’s town of 
Athenry, Felim commanding the one side, and William 
de Burgo and Bermingham the other, on St. Laurence’s 
Day, August xo, 1316, After enduring a whole day 
the terrible losses inflicted by the English archery and 
horse, the Irish were totally defeated, but the conquerors 
themselves acknowledged that never since the Conquest 
had a native army fought so long and so well. The 
young Felim, King of Connacht, and heir to the 
sovranty of Erin, “from whom the Gaels expected 
more than from any man of his time,’’ was slain with 
his standard-bearer, O'Dobhailin, beneath the royal 
banner; Taig O'Kelly and fifty-six other chiefs also 
fell in the front of the battle; and the losses among 
the native ranks bore terrible witness to their stubborn 
courage,? 

+ The best Irish accounts of the battle are in Loch Cé and n Ann. 
Clon. Gilla-na-naev O Dovailin is called in Loch Cé" the bearer of 

specie 
an 7 onchn Tha best Anplo-Ird account ia Laud Annals, p. 351, 
which says that ‘four Irish kings rose against. the English.” 
that about eleven thousand of the Irish were slain (the figures Fig 
too huge to be possible, but that they were very heavy the severe lomes among the gentles would indicate) 
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The victors, it is said, walled Athenry out of the 
profits of the arms and armour taken from the bodies 
of the fallen enemy: evidently then the Irish were no 
longer the “naked men” of former battles.* 

So was quenched the greatest hope for a century 
of restoring a Gaclic kingdom. The defeat and death 
of Felim at once restored the Burgo Lordship of 
Connacht, the Earl set up a tame O'Conor, Cathal, son 
of Donnell, and the O’Conor “ Kingdom of Connacht '” 
was henceforth but an empty name. 

Carrickfergus finally fell in September 1316, and 
Robert Bruce now arrived to aid the new King of 
Ireland. In the beginning of 1317 the two brothers, 
with a huge army, which included the Ulster Irish, 
invaded the Midlands once more, marching to Slane 
and burning and devastating in the true way of 
mediaeval war, so that their ravages, combined with 
the poor harvests of those years, soon brought about 
a scarcity, and then a famine and pestilence, which 
disheartened even the allies of Bruce. 

From Slane the two kings marched on Dublin 
(January 1317), and for a time English rule seemed 
Ipst. The royal government was paralysed, the Anglo- 
Irish leaders divided and apathetic, and De Burgo’s 
inactivity looked as if he did not desire the defeat of 
the Scots. 

But the citizens of Dublin by their unaided efforts 
saved the Anglo-Irish State. The Earl of Ulster, who 
had sought refuge in the city from the march of the 
Scots, was suspected of wishing to surrender the city. 
The Mayor, Robert Nottingham, therefore boldly 

arrested him in St. Mary’s, and imprisoned him in the 
castle on February 21, 1317. Already the Scots were 

at Castleknock, four miles west of Dublin, and Edward 
Bruce, who had no artillery to reduce so strong a town 
and castle, halted in the hope that the Earl or other 
partisans would deliver the capital to him, But the 
citizens organised their own defence, burned Thomas 

‘Laud Annals sub 1316 (p. 3514 
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Street, and throwing down St. Saviour’s, used its stones 
to extend the city wall on the north. By accident the 
fire spread, and set St. John’s Church and much of 
the suburbs on fire. The sight of the town ablaze 
impressed the Scots with the resolution of the towns- 
men, and when Edward knew how fortified was the 
city, and that the Red Earl was a captive, he turned 
west to Leixlip, and by a momentous decision abandoned 
the hope of taking the capital (February 24, 1317). 
Guided once more by the Lacys, and in a long march 
through Callan to Limerick and Castleconnell and back 
through Cashel to Kells in Ossory, Bruce terribly 
wasted the lands of Fitzgeralds and Butlers. 

The Earl of Ulster was only released from the 
hands of the citizens by a royal order, and the inter- 
vention of the Peers, and after swearing to seek 
redress against them by legal channels only. Finally, 
‘on June 24, he was released in presence of the magnates, 
having first sworn to answer to the law and shun the 
enemies of the King, Scots and Irish. He was further 
relieved of the command of the royal forces, and retired, 
a deeply humiliated man, to his estates. It must 
always remain a matter of conjecture to what extent 
De Burgo favoured Edward, King of Ireland. 

At last the English Government sent a man. 
Roger Mortimer was appointed to the supreme rank of 
Lord Lieutenant in November 1316, while Butler 

remained Justiciar. As a concession to the revolted 
Trish, Mortimer was charged to admit the native race 
to the full use of English laws. Twenty great ships 
were collected at Haverford to transport “‘ the great 
multitude of soldiers, both horse and foot,” who were 
to accompany him, and finally he arrived at Youghal 
on April 7, 1317.4 

*Cal. Pat. Rolls, 1313-17: for Mortimer’s instructions. _Rymer's 
Posder’, 1307-27, p. 30%, says he brought 15.000 men, an incredible 
number. On the question of the Irish and the English law, 
(Dignities, FE, pate) ssomas o peton of the Begieh of Irena, 
to the King and Council of England, that © they had'a law by which 
an Englishman found guilty of a capital offence (¢.g., of theft above 
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The new viceroy hastened at once to join the great 
army which Thomas, the new Earl of Kildare, had 
gathered at Kilkenny, and before this array, Edward 
Bruce, for Robert had departed, fell back unmolested, 
and after spending Easter at Trim, retired to Ulster. 
Instead of following the retreating lion, Mortimer 
turned against his old foes, the Lacys, who had been 
proclaimed “ seductores et felones Domini Regis” at 
Dublin, and expelled “ their whole name and nation” 
from Meath. Flying before him, they sought refuge 
with Bruce in Ulster, but Walter's son, John was taken 
and starved to death in Trim Castle. 

Meanwhile the native princes who had espoused 
the cause of Bruce made their case and their motives 
known to the world in the Remonstrance which they 
addressed to the Avignon Pope, John XXII. The 
latter, who had embraced Edward II.’s cause against 
the Bruces, had sent two Cardinal nuncios to England 
in the latter half of 1317 with a mandate to Bruce and 
his adherents to refrain from invading the King of 
England’s lands in England, Wales, and Ireland, and it 
was probably then, and to these, that the Ulster Irish 
addressed this statement of their case. 

The Remonstrance is evidently the work of some 

12d.) should suffer death, but if an Irishman was convicted of such, 
‘the judge had discretion to condemn him to execution or allow him 
to be ransomed. Now the justices have assumed power to yom 
Irishmen to ransom themselves for a trifle, eg.. for ior slaving an 
Hugiickmsn ‘100, for theft 20s., etc., and evildoers become bold and 
audacious," e King ing therefore issued a writ to the Justiciar directing 

id ees & year and no pardons to be issued itt 

leges in Parliament and then £100 stall be paid to the King, The 
reference is clearly to Irishmen members of organised clans able to 
pay_ fhe eric for their crimes, not to the settled Irish who were 

ming absorbed among the English, 
S'For the text (Latin) of the Remonstrance, see Fordun, ed. Hearne, 

IIL, pp. 908-26, It is translated in King’s History of the Catholic 
Church in Ireland, p. 1136. The exact date of its composition is 
uncertain, but as the Remonstrance was finally despatched to Rome 
through the Nuncios, Cardinals Luke and Gaucelin, the date of 
transmission would seem to be after May 1317, for the commission 
of thess Nuncics was made out at Avignon in that month, and they 
spent the latter half of the year in England and most Of 34h seeking 
in vain to bring Robert Bruce to terms with Edward I 
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scholar accustomed to diplomatic forms, famuliar with 
native tradition and actual conditions, and competent 
to frame a telling indictment. Possibly Bruce had 
also urged upon his Insh supporters the necessity of 
stating their wrongs and their case in a document 
which would reach not only the judgment seat of the 
Holy Father himself, but the Court of England, their 
enemy, and the chanceries of Europe, so making their 
cause an international one. There was the further 
especial significance, too, that the Pope was, by 
Henry IL.’s agreement with Rome, the suzerain of 
Edward as Lord of Ireland. 

The Remonstrance was addressed to the Pope “ by 
his attached children, Donaldus Oneyl, Rex Ultoniae, 
true heir by hereditary right of all Ireland, as well as 
the kings (reguli), nobles, and Irish people in general 
of the same realm.” Donal, speaking in the first 
person, proclaims the high antiquity of the Irish 
Monarchy, and the independence of the Irish realm 
down to Laeri (Legarius), supposed to be the first 
Christian Ard Ri, from whom “I, Donal, derive in 
direct line my origin.” It then continues as follows: 

“After Laeri native kings ruled Ireland till Pope Adrian, on 
false representations and blinded by English prejudices, handed the 
dominion of Ireland de facto over to Henry 11, though he had no 
right de jure to do so, ‘Through the oppressions of the English we 
have been driven to the woods and the rocks, and fifty thousand of 
both races have perished by the sword alone is virtue of Adrias’s 
Bull. The English kings moreover have violated the very Bull and 
narrowed the bounds of the Church, yet our bishops are so slavishly 
timid that they never venture to appeal to your Holiness. The 
Irish have been depraved not improved by intercourse with the 
English who have deprived them of their ancient written laws and 
introduced other infamous ones such as that no Irishman may sue 
an Englishman : no man of this race is punished for the murder of 
an Irishman, even the most eminent: an Irishwoman no matter 
how noble who marries an Englishman in deprived at his death of 
her dowry; om the death of an Irishman the English seize his 
property, thus reducing to bondage the blood which flowed in 
freedom from of old. Many cases of such are given. Further an 
iniquitous statute has of late been passed at Kilkenny forbidding 
Irishmen to be received into monasteries in English land, and this 
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‘by council of certain bishops, the principal being the Archbishop of 
Armagh, a person of small discretion and no knowledge? 

“The English of Ireland ‘the middie nation ' differ so widely in 
their principles of morality from those of England and all other 
nations that they may be called. a nation of the most extreme degree 
of perfidy. Lay and cleric they assert that it is no more sin to kill 
an Irishman than it is to kill a dog. All the land they occupy in 
Ireland, they occupy by usurpation. By their scheming they have 
alienated us from the King of England, hindering us from holding 
our lands as voluntary tenants under the Crown. Aliens from us in 
language, circumstance and actions, all hope of maintaining peace 
with them is out of the question. We have made long attempts to 
obtain legal equality, for example two years ago several of our 
nobles addressed the King through John de Hotham, now bishop of 
Ely, describing our wrongs and offering to hold our lands directly 
of the King—according to Adrian's Bull of which we send your 
Holiness a copy—or that he should, with consent of both parties, 
divide the land between us, but have got no answer from him or 
his Council. Therefore if we are driven to fight against both him 
and our enemies here, we cannot be accused of disloyalty or perjury, 
inasrauch as neither we mor our ancestors ever did homage or fealty 
to him and his ancestors. All this we verify by testimony of twelve 
bishops.* 

2 The bitterness of the Irish chiefs is as pronounced against their 
own bishops as against the Anglo-Irish ones. Englishmen were then 
holding Dublin and zh, bat Malachy MacAedha was Archt 
of Tuam, 1313-1348, and Maurice MacCarvell of Cashel till 1310. 
Maclnerny, Irish Dominicans, pp. 563-6, showa that Walter Jorg (or 
Joyce), Archbishop of Armagh, did dot deserve the above opprobriam, 

he was a learned man and actually got the decree of 
of 15t0 which is complained of rescinded. 

*"Four instances of treacherous murders are given. The murders 
of Brian Rua O'Brien and of the O’Conors of Offaly are referred to. 
A bitter comment is added that the King ignored an indictment 
referred against Piers de Bermingham for the latter crime, Brother 
ge of Se Oiler of Wire Minar, oter of i Bice of Conair, 

is called "chief exponent (dogmatizor) of the above heresy, for he, 
in the year just past, in the court of Lord Edward de Bruce, Earl of 
Carrick, in the presence of the said Lord as witness slates... « 
exclaimed ' that it is not a sin to slay an Irishman, and if he himself 
committed such a deed, he would not on account of it refrain from 
celebrating Mass.’" (Hearne, IIL, pp. 919-20.) 
Br. duodecim episcoporum adminus necnom & aliorum prat- 

laiorum iestimonio” (Hearne, TIT., p. 924), but their names are not 
given. John de Hotham, the King's clerk, was commissioned to go 
to Ireland at Lincoln on’ September 1, 1315, and stayed there till 
September 1316. (Cal, Pat. Rolls, 133-17, pp. 347, 385)—hence the 
final appeal of the Irish chiefs to the King of England was probably 
made late in 1315, and the words “two years ago” would help to 
fix the date of the Remonstrance as 1317. The phrase "we have 
called ip Edward Bruce " would thus seem jostifcation for a fit 
accompli. 

‘Kilkenny 

Q 
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~ Finally despairing of justice, we have called in Edward Brace, 
a descendant of some of the most noble of our ancestors, and by 
letters patent have granted to him our whole right, and, for the 
‘establishing of justice and equity in the land, which have failed 
hitherto for want of a proper supreme authority, have constituted 
him our lord and king by unanimous consent. May it please your 
Holiness, then, to sanction our proceedings, forbidding the King of 
England and our adversaries here from molesting us further, or at 
least enforce from him and them the due requirements of justice." * 

The Irish appeal came a century too late. This 
was not the age of an Innocent or a Hildebrand, but 
that of a feebly-opportunist Avignon Papacy, which 
would no doubt have recognised the accomplished fact, 
had the Irish, like the Scots, first succeeded in de- 
throning Edward Plantagenet. The response was a 
tepid one, as might be expected. John, while excom- 
municating friars mendicant and others who had 
preached rebellion, and issuing a further Bull against 
the adherents of Edward Bruce in Ireland, informed 
the King of England of the complaint of the Irish and 
urged him to carry out the mecessary reforms in 
accordance with Adrian} Bull.? 

So far the Remonstrance seemed to have missed its 
mark. But it had a deep significance—even if Pope, 
King, and Anglo-Irish could not see it—as the first 
united utterance of the Gaelic population since the 
coming of the Normans, as an entire repudiation of the 
English claim as heretofore exercised, and a definite 
breach of sympathy and confidence between the Irish 
people and the English Lordship. 

The retreat of Bruce had now left his southern 

11 have paraphrased closely the main burden and chief points 

oT i It, : 8, 1d 3 Kal. Ul PD 148, 422, 435, 440, and $ K tagiél re the King’ ine Pope has ‘the letters addr 
the Insh magnates an ‘ind people to Cardinale Gauceln and Lake, 
nuncios, touching the Donation of Ireland made by Adrian to King 
Henry, complaining of their wrongs under that and his 
‘successors. urges the King to consult with his Council 

touching correction of the said grievances, and sends him the letters 
of the Irish together with the case containing the said Donation. 
Cardinals Gaucelin and Luke are ordered to assist the King in 
carrying out the necessary reforms. 
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partisans to their own defence, and Mortimer was able 
to subdue the Wicklow clans, He then marched to 
the Shannon, and there Cathal O’Conor, princeps 
Hibernicorum Connaciae, who had succeeded Felim, 
submitted to the King’s Lieutenant. As a result 
Mortimer signed a treaty by which the Government 
surrendered to O'Conor “‘ the lands of Shilmorthy, and 
the King’s lands of Fethys and Tirmany, saving the 
lands of Englishmen or those granted in burgage, all at 
the accustomed rent.” This was in March 1318. The 
legalised acquisition of those King’s Cantreds over 
which such bitter wars had been waged for a century 
was a triumph for the O’Conors, almost enough to 
reconcile them to the death-blow of Athenry.1 For 
the moment, it was a triumph for the Anglo-Irish 
government also, for it completely detached the West 
from Edward Bruce, But it had nevertheless meant 
the abandonment of the Shannon frontier, a fatal 
policy which, followed by later withdrawals, finally 
abandoned most of Ireland to the native race. 

The verdict of Athenry was now reversed in 
Thomond, where Bruce had also hoped for a diversion. 
There King Murchertach, son of Turloch O’Brien, had 
to maintain the old double fight against Clan Brian 
Rua and Richard de Clare. In August 1317 his young 
brother, Dermot, defeated and slew Donnchad, the 
chief of Clan Brian, at Corcomrua; Murchertach then 
unfurled the “ onchu” banner of the Dal Cais against 
Richard De Clare, and was joined by MacCarthy and 
other chiefs of Desmond. De Clare himself marched 

+ Rot. Canc. Hib, Cal., p. 23.“ Shilmorthy ” is of course Sit 
Muiredaigh, the demesne lands ‘of the O'Conors, and the Fethys 
fedha) a wooded district in Roscommon—practically all County 
joscommon now went to O'Conor, Cathal was som of Donnell and 

descended from Brian of Laighni, brother of Rury, the last Ard-Ki 
—he was a pure interloper, for he was not a rig-domna, his great- 
grandfather not having held the kingship, but succeeded owing. to 
the weakness of the O'Conors, Cathal ruled till 1325, when the 
young Turloch, brother of Felim of Atheary, slew him and reigned 
4M 1545, whea his son, Aedh, succeeded till 1356, then Felin's son, 

1368. 
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with a large Anglo-Irish force from Limerick and met 
Murchertach and his brother at Disert O Dea. 

The battle, fought on the roth of May, 1318, went 
completely against the colonists. Their army was cut 
to pieces in close fight, De Clare fell, and was hacked 
to pieces for the hatred the Irish bore to him, and 
Murchertach, marching at once to Bunratty, stormed it, 
and expelled the Englishry at one blow from Thomond. 

De Clare left a young son, Thomas, who died, still 
a boy, in 321, and the Norman race which had striven 
for forty years to make Thomond an English palatinate 
disappeared. 

The O'Briens had triumphed after a war of over 
forty years, and Thomond remained an Irish country 
till the time of Cromwell. Taken along with the failure 
to subject Tir Conaill in the former century, and with 
the voluntary abandonment of Roscommon to the 
O'Conors by Mortimer, more and more was the fact 
emphasised that the Norman Conquest was destined to 
be unfinished, and therefore a failure. 

Mortimer was now recalled, May 1318, and in 
August Alexander Bikenor, Archbishop of Dublin, 
became Justiciar. The famine had now abated, the 
harvest was abundant and early, and suddenly and 
tragically the Bruce enterprise ended. 

‘A colonial army, led by John de Bermingham, Lord 
of Tethmoy, whom the Irish Council had appointed 
commander, now marched north against Bruce, who 
was at Dundalk. The Irish force was mainly drawn 
from the gentry and militia of Meath, Drogheda, and 
the towns, who, unlike the magnates, dared to face 
the Scottish lion. Robert Bruce had promised to join 
his brother, and Edward might have avoided the battle 
for the time, but he was the knight-errant to the end, 
and with his three thousand Scots and Irish allies, 
encountered with a light heart the far greater colonial 
array. At the hill of Faughart, near Dundalk, on 
October 14, 1318, Edward Bruce was slain in the thick 
of the fight by John Maupas, a burgess of Drogheda, 
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whose dead body was found above that of the Bruce 
after the fight; Alan Steward was slain in single fight 
by John de Bermingham ; two-thirds of the Scots fell ; 
the Lacys escaped from the battle and got away to 
Scotland; and the head of the King of Ireland was 
sent to Edward of England. 

There is nothing to show what Edward Bruce's 
designs for the ruling of Ireland were, save that he 
would have rewarded the Lacys and given Ireland a 
Scottish aristocracy instead of an English one. Had 
he been less of a soldier, and more of a statesman, 
had he mastered Ireland bit by bit, taken towns with 
artillery and spared Ireland those devastating and 
useless marches of his and accepted the sage counsel 
of his brother, he might from a secure base in Ulster 
and backed by the Irish race, have conquered all 
Ireland from the disunited magnates and the feeble 
English Government. But already before his death 
the fires of the Irish insurrection were burning low, 
famine and slaughter had exhausted the land, and the 
epitaphs of the native annalists indicate a disillusion- 
ment with Bruce which had probably set in before his 
death. Some of their flimsy comments indeed we may 
discount as being written after the event. But the 
Norman-French had been long enough in Ireland to 
make some of the Irish wonder whether it was worth 
while exchanging them for a new forcign landlordry, 
and this view is expressed in a very interesting 
contemporary Gaelic tract, written to prove that 
O’Madden had a superior claim to Hy Many against 
the O’Kellys. It praises De Burgo who had secured 
the O’Maddens in half of Hy Many, and blames the 
Connacht chiefs for wanting to call in ‘Scottish 
foreigners less noble than our own foreigners, in 
imitation of the Eoghanaigh (the O’Neills).” 1 

So ended the most decisive three years since 
Strongbow arrived. The Anglo-Irish lords and the 
King of England deserved on every count to lose 

+ Tribes and Customs of Hy Many, ed. O’Donovan. 
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Ireland. When a chance victory restored it to them, 
even then the opportunity was lost to issue a general 
Charter of Liberties based on the Remonstrance in 
favour of the whole aggrieved native race. And yet 
in the half-hearted and indirect way which the Anglo- 
Trish State had always pursued, the lesson was taken 
to heart. Mortimer had been charged in 1316 to 
admit the Irish to the law, and among the individual 
charters of English liberty which he issued, one, given 
at the instance of the Earl of Ulster, granted English 
law to Eoghan O’Madden of Hy Many, his brothers, 
and his heirs. The Earl also made a personal concordat 
with this chief, and divided Hy Many between him 
and O'Kelly.“ One-third of the province (of Connacht) 
to be under O’Madadhain, no English steward to 
preside over his Gaels, and he and his free races to 
have equal nobility of blood with his lord (De Burgo) 
contray to the former decisions of these English lords 
that the Gael was bond (deer) while the Saxon was 
noble (saer).""* 

In 1321 a fresh royal edict guaranteed to alll Irish- 
men both within and without the Liberties who were 
already admitted, or should be admitted, to English 
law, the right to the English law of life and limb.* 

Tribes and Customs of Hy Many, op. si, the claim about one- 
third of the province is certain! exaggeration—what the 
O'Maddens received was the South-Fart of Hy Many ( Many (Sil Anmebadha). 
Rot Came. Hib. Cal, pp. 26-28, for charters wzation including 

iden. 
"Cal. Pat. Rolls, 1317-21, p. 563: January 20, 1321, from West- 

amlnater by the King ed pelitie’ of Cound: te for five 
years to the fsticiar that all Irchmen eho Kave been of shall be 

en—an inster 
‘at Michaelmas last a remedy for this state was petitioned for.” The 
words italicised show the dificulty f full emancipation in the way 
of denizened Trish 

bitter charge of the ‘Remonstrance, that killing an Irishman 
neither a sin nor a crime, 
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Similarly the Earl of Kildare on being made Deputy 
for Mortimer in 1320 was empowered to grant English 
law locally to the tenants of his vast estates. It was 
this Earl who began the earliest of those indentures, 
which the Geraldines continued to make for centuries, 
by which they recognised the heads of neighbouring 
or vassal clans as “ capitanei nationum suarum,” and 
received from them in return homage rent and service.* 

The great Norman-Irish thus did locally what the 
Crown should have done as a whole, namely, to declare 
the greater chiefs hereditary and immediate tenants, as 
the Remonstrance had suggested. The Crown neglected 
this obvious policy, and left it to the Normans, who 
soon were as familiar with Irish speech and tradition 
as the Irish themselves, to draw near to the race which 
had so condemned the “‘ middle nation.” 

The native coalition fell to pieces with the death 
of Bruce, and Donal O'Neill, expelled from Tir Eoghain 
by the vengeance of the Red Earl, died in obscurity 
in 1325. In arms the Irish had achieved some striking 
triumphs; O’Brien had recovered all Thomond, and 
O'Donnell had subjected Sligo, Even where there 
were no victories to chronicle, and where the power 
of the English was apparently restored, in fact the 
native resurgence was henceforth inevitable. The age 
of confiscation and land-exploitation was almost over; 
the Norman lords were at home with the native race, 
and preferred more and more to take Irish tenants 
and to come to terms with the unbroken clans. On 
the other hand they forced the English government 
to respect the land settlement as it now stood, and to 
leave Ireland to an Aristocracy which included the 
Gaels as well as themselves. 

For the Crown it remained to reward and punish. 
Walter de Lacy died an exile in Scotland in 1324; 

3 Rental of Earl of Kildare, 1518, Kilkenny Arch, Soe, 1859-65, 
snd, Hist, MSS. Comm. Rep. XXXVIe p. 263/10 ¥3x8 Thomas, 
Earl of Kildare, grants Robertstown in County. Kildare to Hugh ty 
O"Tothill, Hugh to So be responsible for the misdeeds of bis mes, 
the Earl'to help him to punish them. 
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‘Hough returned with a pardon in 1331, and after long 
legal protests against the verdict of treason pronounced 
against them by Mortimer, the family retained a 
portion of their land in Meath. The rebel Robert de 
Verdun had been slain in the course of the war, but 
some of his line continued to hold lands in Oriel, while 
Milo de Verdun, brother of the last Theobald, remained 
head of the family, and was ancestor of the Verduns 
of Clonmore, in Louth, The Irish Bysets retained 
lordship in the Glens. On the whole, Edward II. 
thought well not to inquire too far into a whole 
national movement, and numerous pardons were issued, 
as for example one to Dermot MacCarthy, “ Prince of 
the Irish of Desmond.” Great ruin had fallen upon 
the colony, but beyond compensating Dublin and 
Drogheda for their losses, Edward allowed Anglo- 
Treland to right itself with time. Among the prominent 
Royalists, Sir John de Bermingham, victor of Faughart, 
was made Earl of Louth and got the usual grant of a 
Liberty. The Earl of Ulster had played a curious, 
and as some thought a treasonable, part, but he was 
allowed to retire to to his estates and devote himself 

to rebuilding his lordship in Ulster and Connacht. 
An exhausted country demanded the best states- 

manship, for the Irish question was unsettled, and 
showed itself in the Nationalist section of the 
Mendicants, but Mortimer, who held office again from 
March 1319 to July 1321, was not the calibre of a 
Wogan. He held a Parliament in 1320 which forbade 
the great to quarter their men “ on abbeys and honest 
folk,” and where he proclaimed the royal concession 
that the army of Ireland might not be summoned by 
the Justiciar without consent of the magnates, thus 
pleasing both the Commons and the nobles. But the 
pacification of Ireland needed more force than the 
Government could command, and in fact the Anglo- 

Trish nobles were now the great barrier between the 
Crown and the common folk, English and Irish. 

Every magnate aspired to have armies of his own 
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and by preference Irishmen, thus in 1314 ‘ Edmund 
Butler (Lord of Carrick) gave coyne to the kerne of 
Dermot mac Turloch O’Brien on the English farmers 
(gall-bhrughaibh) of his country.”* The English free 
tenants would not endure these quarterings, especially 
of soldiers of a hostile race, but Irish tenants would— 
hence the lords stocked their lands with Irish tenants, 
and thus decayed that English or French-speaking 
population which in the first flush of the Conquest 
seemed likely to make most of Ireland a second 
England. And yet Butler was a strong upholder of 
the ‘English interest.” 

The militarisation of Ircland was displayed on the 
Gaelic side too. The chiefs had their strong castles— 

thus Eoghan O’Madden, the Red Earl's protégé “ built 
a strong castle of stone and timber at Magh-bhealaigh ” 
—they quartered regular light troops (buannachda) on 
their people, and hired those galldglaigh through whom 
they were able to face the Enghsh with honour, The 
Anglo-Irish also competed for the only professional 
soldiery in Ireland, and fought out their feuds with 
them. Thus did the peaceful or military penetration 
of Ireland become more and more difficult for the forces 
of the Anglo-Irish State. 

Still it was given another fifty years yet to show 
how incapable it was for its great task, and for the 
moment the prospects of English rule and of Anglo- 
French civilisation in Ireland were still fair. An 
attempt had already been made to give the colony a 
culture-centre. In 1310 Clement V., at the request of 
John de Leche, Archbishop of Dublin, who had repre- 
sented that “in Dublin there are some doctors and 
bachelors of Theology who give lectures, but there is 
no studium generale,” ordained, if the suffragans of 
Dublin should consent, that there should be in the 

+ Clyn,_ 1325. Pats discordia ut communiter inter religiosos 
Pauperes ' Hibernine omnes quidam ecorum naciomis sue et 
sempeials Haus item tenentes foventes et promoventes, alii 

acionls et muperiritatis offcia,ambientes, 
Aan. Innisfallen MS., T.C.D. 
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city an “umiversitas" with power to give doctors’ 
degrees. Three years later the new Archbishop, De 
Bikenor, issued an “ordinance for the University of 
Dublin,” and reserved to himself the right to appoint 
secular or regular readers in Theology. In 1320 four 
masters were made, of whom William Rodiard, Dean 
of St, Patrick's, was appointed first Chancellor of the 
University. Bikenor afterwards fell into disgrace as a 
partisan of Queen Isabella, and the infant University 
languished, but at any time under Edward III. it 
might well have come into full flower as a centre of 
culture and civilisation among the colonists, as a 
means for the diffusing of European thought, and as 
the most effective agent for anglicising the native race 
itself, so conservative but yet devoted to learning.* 

In the field of letters John Clyn, a Franciscan friar 
of Kilkenny, whom James, Earl of Ormond, made 
Warden of his Franciscan foundation at Carrick in 
1336, wrote in latin the Annals of Ireland, which are 
of first-hand value, from 1315 to 1349, when he died, 
probably of the pestilence which he describes in a vivid 
passage. lyn alone of the latin annalists of Anglo- 
Ireland deserves the name of historian, but the Annals 
which are attributed to St. Mary's Abbey, Dublin, and 
which begin in 1162, are full and first-hand records of 
the period from 1300 to their close in 1370." 

In politics no great change was possible while 
England was torn with civil dissensions and Ireland 
with feuds. The English parties thought only of 
Ireland as a pawn in the game, hence when Sir John 
D'Arcy came over as Justiciar from early in 1324 till 
the beginuing of 327, and announced certain conces- 
sions, such as that Ireland should enjoy free trade 
with England and Wales, the object was to win the 
Anglo-Irish for the Crown against Isabella and Mortimer. 

4See Grace's Annals, 1320, and notes, also Mason, History of 
se Patrich’s, App. VIL, and Harris’ edition of Ware's Antiyuilies, 
P Simm ed. Butler, Zrish Arch Soe, 1894, and Laud MS. Annals, 
Chart. St. Mary's, II. 
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The greatest figure among the Anglo-Irish dis- 
appeared in 1326 when Richard de Burgo, the Red 
Earl, gave a great feast to peers and people at the 
Parliament of Kilkenny, and with this last gesture 
retired to die at the end of July in his own abbey of 
‘Athassel, leaving as heir his grandson, William Donn, 
“the Brown,” a boy of fourteen. Edmund Butler, 
Earl of Carrick, had died in rjar, leaving a young 
son, James, later Earl of Ormond. 

At the end of 1326 Edward IT. had to fly before 
his enemies. In January 1327 he was deposed, and 
the Earl of Kildare, who was for the Mortimer-Isabella 
faction, was appointed Justiciar in February 1327, and 
proclaimed the young Edward III. Lord of Ireland. 
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CHAPTER X 

THE REBELLION OF THE ANGLO-IRISH, 1327-1360 

Tue long reign of Edward III. again offered a prospect 
of a revived monarchy in Ireland. But Edward was 
as yet a boy of fifteen, and for three years the Queen 
Mother and her favourite, Roger Mortimer, ruled 
England. 

The great nobles were left to govern Ireland. 
James Butler had supported the Mortimer faction, and 
at the Parliament of Shrewsbury in Michaelmas 1328, 
where Mortimer was made Earl of March, was rewarded 
with the earldom of Ormond. As he had married 
Eleanor de Bohun, a grand-daughter of Edward L., 
his heirs were regarded as “ cousins” of the Crown, 
and henceforth took up that leadership of the English 
interest in Ireland which became the tradition of their 
race. In August 1329 Maurice, head of the Munster 
Geraldines, was created Earl of Desmond. William 
Donn de Burgo, the new Earl of Ulster, was now but 
a boy of fifteen. Thomas, second Earl of Kildare, died 
in 1328 ; his son, Richard, succeeded, but died in 1331, 
when his second son, Maurice, became fourth Earl, 
and lived till 1390. 

The fortunes of the First Families were built on 
the ruins of the absentee lordships. In 1307 the 
Bigod family, Lords of Carlow, were extinct; Gilbert 

de Clare, Earl of Gloucester and Lord of Kilkenny, 
died in 1324, and his three sisters divided his Irish 
rea i3 franting the Earldom of Ormond, the Crown reserved the foar 

‘of rape, arson, forestalling, and treasure-trove. 
Ete. ihoperary was cote on the Eat 1347; Parte 

bad Shs ween tetas magia ane (Cal. Inguis., VIL, 
B17: 2 Bd. IIL). Kerry was now (1329) rmads‘s Paladne county 

Earl of Desmond. 
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lands; Aymer de Valence, Earl of Pembroke and 
Lord of Wexford, died in 1324, and his sister conveyed 
his rights to her husband, John de Hastings. When 
their descendant, John Hastings, died without heirs 
in 1391, the Greys of Ruthin took the title Lord of 
Wexford. These English claimants drew rents from 

Treland, but otherwise might as well not have existed, 
and Butlers, Geraldines, and MacMurchadas took their 
empty places. In Munster an even earlier disappearance 
of original grantees took place; the Desmond Fitz- 
Geralds held the extinct De Valognes’ “country of 
Connello,” and in Ormond the Butlers took over the 
vanished lordships of De Worcester and other early 
feoffees. 

The Irish lords grumbled over those absentees, 
“Englishmen by birth,” who drew money out of the 
country and never came near it, so letting the Irish 
enemy in, while secretly they hated the idea of their 
return, built their vast lordships from the ruins, and 
invited the Gaelic chiefs to resume part of their old 
territories. The lesser Englishry in Parliament sincerely 
wished the return of the Absentees as a fresh buttress- | 
ing of the threatened Anglo-French civilisation and/ 
State of Ireland, and urged the Crown at least to turn! 
the dead Liberties into Common-law land. But a 
strong baronial interest both in Ireland and England 
opposed all Resumption ; the King was in the hands 
of his nobles; and actually the growth of feudal 
lordship and immunity was from the beginning of 
Edward III. to the end of the War of the Roses to 
be the leading feature of society in both countries. 

In Ireland the Crown was weaker than in England, 
and the land-feuds of the magnates filled all the first 
years of the reign. Arnold le Poer, lord of Donohill, 

2 In 1348 the English Commons petitioned the King: ‘ Whereas 
Dave been so lavishly hy aed. by our Lord th King that 

the whole of this realm alm: been enfranchised, to the great 
— ot tae poopie aod Kingraces ct tho Common Law, wey 

‘our Lord the King to refrain from such concessions in the 
ture” (quoted in Pollard’s History of Parliament, p. 10). 
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in County Waterford, was at strife with the Earl of 
Desmond, the feud was embittered by Arnold’s calling 
FitzMaurice an Irish “‘ rhymer” at a public assembly, 
and while the De Burgos backed Le Poer, Butlers and 
Berminghams aided Desmond.+ 

Peace was restored at a Parliament in 1329, but 
another Anglo-Irish feud in the North had fatal results 
for the colony. The Englishry of Oriel, Verduns, 
Gernons, Clintons, Cusacks, and others, resented having 
John de Bermingham, the new Earl of Louth, imposed 
upon them; they chafed under his strong hand, and 
there were more intimate grievances, for the Earl had 
taken a girl of the Verduns against her father’s will, 
and would not let an illegitimate daughter of his marry 
another Verdun “ who loved her as his life.” Finally 
the Louth colonists took arms, declaring “ #olumus 
hune regnare super nos,” and in a battle at Balibragan, 
in County Louth, on June 10, 1329, the Earl was slain 
with eight other Berminghams and two hundred 
soldiers of the Pale.* 

“This slaughter,” says the Book of Howth, “ was a 
great hindrance to the North of Ireland, for this was 
the only key and wall thereof, for if the Earl had 
continued in prosperity, Ulster had been civiller than 
Leinster.” 

The Irish themselves had repulsed many attempts 
at conquest: it was something new and momentous 

when English rebels extinguished an Irish earldom and 
left the Ulster frontier open to the revival of O’Neills 
and MacMahons. 

Already the Gaelic influence was stamped on the 
colonists of Ireland. Clyn speaks of the “ naciones a 
cognomina”’ of ‘‘ Geraldini,” “ Poerini,” “‘ Rupenses ” 
thus was the traditional Irish kindred system re- 

+ Laud MS. Ann., 1327. ter enormia verbs quas Dominus 
Arnalidus dixerat vocando sum “* Rymoure.” We have no remains, 
however, of Irish verse by the Earl. 

John left only daughters and the Earldom of Louth lapsed with 
him, but he had a brother William, Lord of Tethmoy, hanged by 
Drarcy's orders in 1332, who left a son, Walter, Justiciar in 1340-7. 
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asserting itself, along with the natural attraction of 
Irish culture, for the Earl of Louth had with him in 
the battle his bard, who perished alongside of his 
master, and earns a striking epitaph from Friar Clyn.’ 

The Englishman, John D'Arcy, son of the former 
Viceroy of that name, held office as Justiciar from 
May 3329 to March 133r. The armed force of the 
Anglo-Irish State was now so lacking that Desmond 
was allowed to raise an army by quartering Irish 
buanachda, or mercenary troops, upon his tenantry. 
All along the borders, in East and West Wicklow, in 
the Dublin marches, in Ormond, and in the midlands, 
the Irish war blazed, now high, now low. In 1325 
John de Bermingham and Thomas le Botiller led an 
army against O’Carroll of Eli “who in this year 
scarcely left a house, castle, or town in Ely O’Carroll 
among the English and lovers of peace (inter anglicos 
et pacis amatores) which he did not destroy by fire.” 
The ‘English and lovers of peace” had to be distin- 
guished from the feudal half-Irishized English of Ely, 
who, says Clyn, aided Bran O’Brien when in the same 
year he ravaged Ossory “ and slew the faithful 
Englishry in the defence of their property.” 

Tn 1327 “the Irish of Leinster assembled and made 
them a king, Donal, son of Art MacMurgh.” This was 
the first inauguration after Brehon fashion of a King 
of, Leinster since Dermot, and a significant event in 
the Irish revival. But Donal, who “ wished to flaunt 
his banner within two miles of Dublin and then to 
traverse all Ireland,” immediately after fell into 
English hands and was imprisoned in Dublin Castle.* 

Edward III. now began his real reign. In October 
1330 Mortimer was seized at Nottingham and executed ; 
and in” May 1331 Sir Anthony Lucy landed as 

4 Cam [recle Mactruanaidh Caech, “the half-blind "”) O’Carwy.l 
-. . a famous tympanist and harper... in his art a phoenix 
who, if he was not the first inventor of the art of string music, was 
of ail who preceded him and all his contemporaries teacher master, 
and director (corrector doctor et divector).”” 

* Laud Annals, 1327, Clyn, 1325, Grace, 1331. 
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Justiciar, abringing with him a programme of reforms 
lately enacted at the Parliament of Westminster in 
March that year. 

Certain advisers—D’Arcy was probably one of them 
—had evidently advised the young King and his 
Council to take the whole Lordship of Ireland into 
review ere it be lost altogether, to bring the Irish 
under the law either by peaceful concessions or armed 
force, to strike a blow at those First Families who 
dominated Anglo-Ireland, to strengthen the royal 
administration, and by compelling the absentees to 
return, to save the fading English colonies from 
extinction. On the point of revenue alone it could 
be shown that the larger part of the colony yielded 

)Mothing. These weighty considerations were placed 
before the English Parliament, and it adopted the 
King’s proposals for emancipating the Irish, compelling 
the absentees to return, resuming the Liberties granted 
by Mortimer, and forbidding the keeping of Irish 
soldiery save in the Marches. To crown all, the 
English Estates begged the King to visit Ireland in 

3 
Of D’Arcy’s ordinances three were of capital 

importance. The first of them brought the Irish and 
the English under the same law excepting the 
‘servitude of the betaghs,” who were to remain 
subject to their lords in the same way as the villeins 
were in England. 

We cannot find that this royal fiat took general 
effect ; certainly it was not ratified by the Anglo-Irish 
Parliament. Yet it was pleaded in the courts of the 
colony, and in a specific case a little later English law 
and liberty was granted to two great chiefs and their 
“‘jraghi,” or chief vassals, namely, Donal Carbrech 
MacCarthy and Dermot O’Dwyer.* 

1 Foedera, U., p. 812, and Lib. Mun., 1, Pt. IV., par 
* Exch. Mem, Vol. 18, p. 603 (7 Ed. III): the petition of Mac- 

Carthy for English law is in French—both take an oath of fealty 
and will be answerable to the King’s Court and his officers. In a 
lawsuit of 4 Ed. IIL. where a colonist had robbed an Trishman and 
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The second edict was a declaration of war upon 
the Irish magnates. 

On the plea that everything done under Mortimer 
was an usurpation the King proclaimed an Act of 
Resumption, revoking all grants made in Ireland during 
his minority. Under the Absentee Act, the Earl of 
Norfolk and twenty-three other titular Irish landlords 
were ordered either to dwell or at least to put garrisons 

in their Irish lands. Lastly, '‘ according to the request 
of the people of Ireland and by advice of Parliament,” 
the King himself announced his intention of coming 
over, and troops and transports were ordered to be 
teady.t 

All this programme for the re-anglicising and de- 
fendalising of Ireland was at once opposed by that 
Norman-Irish baronage whose power it proposed to 
break. An Anglo-Irish ‘‘ Patriot Party”’ formed itself, 
and we hear the first utterance of the spirit that was 
behind Swift and Grattan. The Patriots of the four- 
teenth century, like those of the eighteenth, resented 

English domination from oversea, were bent on Keeping 
the government and power of Ireland in their own 
hands, and while averse to a general enfranchisement 
of the Gaelic population, which might lead to a reversal 
of the Conquest on which their land-titles rested, were 
ready to make their own terms as overlords with the 
Irish and admit them to a guarded equality. Ready 
to obey the King should he come, or any Prince of 
the Blood, they hated those officials, ‘‘ English by 
birth,’ against whom they proudly styled themselves 
“English by blood,” and especially resented the 
authority of English Justiciars, who stayed so short a 
time, oppressed the land with exactions, and did so 

pleaded that he need not answer to an hibernicus the Irishman replies 
dominus Rex statuit in parliamento suo quid omnes hibernici ad 

Err Seiad Feels extents ob commamen legen,” ets., and wine 
1» Dignities, I., p. 292. 

1 Foedera, II., p. 285: the Earl of Norfolk was now Thomas of 
Brotherton, Edward II. half brother, for whom the Bigod Earidom 
and Lordship of Carlow had been revived, with the office of Marshal 
of England. 
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little with the subsidies which the Irish Parliament 
voted for the pressing needs of the State. Their 
political ideal was a Colonial independence, and theirs 
was a half-nationality, “Irish to the English and 
English to the Irish.” 

It was the question of the Absentees which touched 
their self-interest in its tenderest spot. The absence 
of titular lords had certainly let the Irish in to the 
colonial belts, but the FitzGeralds and others had 
greatly profited, and had no real wish for the claimants 
to return, especially as these would form a New 
English interest hateful to the First Families, who 
had never been English in the racial sense, and now 
were becoming Irish. The Crown threatened the new 

Earldoms of Ormond and Desmond, and who would 
now be safe? 

From the Crown’s point of view the Lordship of 
Ireland must now be won or lost. To win it, the 
native race must be brought into a common law and 
loyalty with the settlers, the Liberties must be 
diminished and the shire land increased, the Govern- 
ment must be made as efficient as that of England if 
Ireland were to be the second jewel in the Crown. 

The State's income was steadily falling, only the 
Leinster counties could be relied on to provide revenue, 
and whereas early in Edward I.’s reign Anglo-Ireland 
easily yielded £6,000 from all sources, in 1335 less than 
half of this was raised. The magnates evaded payment 
of their feudal dues, the towns of their firms—all alike 
took the line that the Crown had thrown upon them 
the defence of Ireland and of themselves and nothing 
more could be asked. All accused the Justiciars and 
their officers of appropriating and misspending the 
revenues, and neglecting those remoter areas of the 

colony which it was vital to maintain. 
The winning of Ireland meant a royal army, and, 

save for the garrisons of the King’s castles, there was 
+ In 1334-5 the ordinary revenue yielded £2,766 (Exch. Mem., 18, 

Pe) 
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none. Owing to the grants of huge fiefs for an almost 
nominal return, the total array which the Justiciar 
could call forth by royal knight service was far from 
imposing. When the Justiciar unfurled the royal 
standard only some four hundred military tenants were 
bound to attend him or pay the scutage commutation.! 
Certainly if the magnates were agreeable they could 
bring to his banner thousands of armed tenants, both 
Trish and English, but it was these very lords with 
their armies whom the Crown must break if it meant 
to have a real Monarchy. 

Never was the territorial power of the magnates so 
pronounced as now or their ranks so unbreakable. 
For example, the Geraldine dominion in Munster 
covered all Connello in West Limerick; contained 
numerous manors in East Limerick; had Kerry as a 
palatine county; and from East Cork had extended 
over Decies and Dungarvan, so that, save for the 
Poers, they were supreme in County Waterford. The 
grant of the Earldom gave FitzMaurice such an 
eminence in the four counties as none could approach 
or challenge. The honourable methods of marriage 
and purchase were henceforth supplemented by the 
forceful ones of conquest and imposed vassalage to 
fortify the Geraldine principality and to extend it 
over the old English and the surviving Gaelic chiefs. 

The towns of Dingle and Tralee on the West and 
of Dungarvan and Youghal on the East gave the 
Geraldines open ports towards Spain and France, 
Their junior branches, the FitzGeralds of Kerry, of 
Glin, and of Decies, and the FitzGibbons of Kilmallock, 
whose names became established in this time, were a 
second line of defence. 

Backed by the secondary Poers, Barrys, Purcells, 
and such, the Norman Earls of Ireland were a rampart 
no English King could break down, though many a 

5 Bes Bateaon, 2. Hl , 1905. p. 497. IC Escheyeir Mewierenta 
(MS. ‘Corpus Christi College) : total inight service of the coloay 
Seoaig © grees os Gey oo i tention 
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royal Deputy was to attempt it. By a general under- 
standing with the native race they became all the 
more unbreakable. The hatred of the Irish for the 
“ middle nation” was a passion ill-concealed—it showed 
itself in Art Mér O’Melachlin, chief of the old royal 
race of Meath, who reigned circa 1330, and was the 
son of an Englishwoman, Slany Nugent, yet his bard 
could address him thus : 

0 Son of the Foreign woman, be it thine to expel the Foreigners 
from Uisneach, 

A wedge of itself, thou of the soft fair skin, it is which splits the 
elm.” 

But the struggle became less and less one of race. 
The great Anglo-Irish had harpers of their own and 
loved native music and poetry. The Irish chiefs with 
their galldglaigh and buannachis, their castles and 
armour, were now a foe to be respected, and the 
difference of speech and custom became merely those 
between men whose first speech was Gaelic, and those 
who knew it along with French and English. Since 
the Crown had failed to meet the Irish demand in the 
Remonstrance for an equal division of land between 
Normans and Gaels, it was left for the former to throw 
open their vast lordships to the Irish and by treaties 
of vassalage to recognise Gaelic chieftains as heads of 
territories and of the populations which obeyed them. 
Such bargains cover the pages of the Kildare Rentals, 
and were common, we cannot doubt, in many which 
have perished.! 

Already the Norman magnates had shielded the 
Trish from the armies of the Justiciar, and their oppo- 

sition and neutrality were to make a fresh conquest 
and plantation impossible. Yet they were more Irish 
in upbringing than in politics ; still a half-nation, they 

's Catalogue of Irish MSS. in British Museum, pp. cuchiin’ in advition to ihe Renate of the Far? of 
‘SS. Comm.) and the Red Book of Ormond (described 

in Nat, Facs., 1I1., Plate V1.), we ave in Trinity College Library 
the MS. tract," Historia et Genealogia Familiae dé Burge” in Anish 
and latin, which illustrates the process of vassalage alter 1333. 
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did not repudiate the nominal supremacy of the English 
Crown or their status as tenants under that Crown. 
For the present they were willing to perform the 
duties of that status, and though kings after Gaelic 
fashion to their Irish tenants, they were still Earls and 
Barons to their English ones. It is clear that the 
actual heads of the First Families were far more 
English than the younger, more resident members— 
thus William the Brown Earl of Ulster had an English 
mother, Elizabeth of Gloucester, and was wedded to 
Matilda of Lancaster, the King’s cousin, but he had 
cousins who had never seen England and were all but 
Trish. 

The new viceroy had a dangerous task to perform. 
But his first step was pacific: he summoned the 
magnates to reconcile their feuds, and “on St. Bene- 
dict’s Day (March 21, 1331) the Earl of Desmond and 
Sir William de Bermingham made peace with the 
Justiciar, and swore fealty and peace with the King 
and the people for ever.” Now William, who was 
Lord of Carbery and Tethmoy in Offaly, and brother 
of the dead Earl of Louth, had been Desmond's chief 
supporter in the feuds of 1328-9, and was regarded as 
one of the worst of the feudal law-breakers. Lucy 
then summoned Parliament to Dublin for July x, but 
Desmond and his supporters refused to attend; later, 
however, when it was summoned to Kilkenny, they 
came and were pardoned in the King’s name. Lucy, 
however, meant to strike down these mighty subjects : 
and his officers arrested Desmond at Limerick, and 
Sir William de Bermingham and his son, Walter, with 
many others. Desmond was sent to England and Sir 
William de Bermingham, brother of the hero of 
Faughart, was hanged in Dublin in the next year, in 
spite of the charter of peace granted him, an event 
which shocked the whole colony. “He was a noble 
knight, the noblest and best of thousands of knights 
in the art of war. Alas and alas, who can refrain from 
tears in speaking of his death ?” is the epitaph of the 
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Anglo-Irish annals, which henceforth are for the 
English lords of Ireland against the English Justiciars 
and “the English by birth.” 

‘The English Government dare not proceed further. 
Edward recalled Lucy in November 1332, sent over 
D'Arcy with a general pardon, and Desmond was 
released, though the Crown did not finally pardon him 
till 1355. 

Meanwhile disastrous events in the West and North 
were shaping the fate of the colony. William, the 

Earl of Ulster, had to fight at once the native 
O’Conors, his refractory English tenants, and his Irish 
cousins. Walter, son of that William Liath de Burgo 
who fought at Athenry and his Irish wife, Finola 
O’Brien, having defeated Turloch O’Conor in 1330, and. 
aspiring to become King of Connacht himself, the Earl 
interfered and thrust Walter into Northburgh Castle, 
where he was done to death in 1333. Now, Walter 
had a sister, Gyle, wife of Sir Richard Mandeville, one 
of the Earl’s greatest tenants in Ulster, and by her 
instigation, Robert, son of Richard Mandeville, and 
others of the colonists of Down murdered the young 
Earl, then only twenty-one years of age, at the Ford 
of Carrickfergus, June 6, 1333. 

The Justiciar, D'Arcy, sailed for the North, and a 
dire vengeance was wrought on the murderers, but the 
irreparable evil was done. Maud of Lancaster at once 
took ship for England with the Earl’s infant child, 
Elizabeth, through whose marriage with Lionel of 
Clarence the Earldom of Ulster and the vast lordship 
‘of the De Burgos passed by English law to a royal 
Absentee. 

No such blow had yet befallen the Anglo-Irish 
colony. The whole De Burgo lordship which had been 
the shield and rampart of the English interest in the 
North and the West fell at one stroke. Released from 
a yoke which they alone could never have broken, the 
O'Neills and O’Donnells were able to subject eastern 
and southern Ulster on the one hand, and De Burgo’s 
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lordship of Sligo on the other. Within fifty years 
practically the whole province went back to the Irish 
order.t 

The maritime power of the earls had circled the 
north coast; mow save for Coleraine, to which the 
English clung desperately for another fifty years, the 
sea was thrown open, and the Northern chiefs could 
draw from the Scottish Isles unlimited galléglaigh, and 
knit together again the old Gaelic world of Erin and 
Alba, severed for a time by the Anglo-French wedge 
driven in it by the conguistadors. 

In Connacht, however, the triumph was rather of 
the Norman-Irish. The dead Earl's kinsmen, in the 
true spirit of the Anglo-Irish, were resolved that no 
absentee should succeed, by marriage and by English 
law, to the noble heritage of their race. William Liath, 
cousin of the Red Earl, had left two sons, William, or 
in Irish, Ulick, and Edmund. The latter was still in 
Scotland, whither he had accompanied his father when 
William Liath was taken captive by Bruce at Connor, 
and hence was called “Albanach” by the Irish. 
Returning to Ireland in 1335 to share in the Burgo 

partitionment, Edmund showed how little the Irishized 
Normans cared for feudal baronies compared with 
building up a Gaelic kingship on the hearts of the 
native race. “Twenty years did Edmund remain in 
Scotland,” says the Gaelic history of the later Burkes, 
“when, by the death of the Brown Earl, the son of 
the English countess, tribe-extinction came upon the 
Burkes, and Edmund returned and landed in Umhall 

y tha De Burgo ions are detailed in Cal. 1 VIL, soars? Sve fos teeta, Pte lt CAME aS noes reer oes ie i Mohd Cae fa hana Eat PLR 
fia see aes eG aioe lacs ae cee wllng ot so 

by military service, viz, Henry and Odo O'Neill, Rory Maguire, two 
MacMahons, O'Hanlon,” MacCartan, O'Cahan, O'Floinn, and’ two 
MacGilmores. The total service imposed ax a condition of tenure 
‘on these is 345 foot-men or "' satellites,” or else commutation at £1 
per man. 
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O’Maille (the Owles of Mayo), and his chief poet and 
ambassador to the Connachtmen was Donn O’Breslin, 
and Edmund took to wife Sadhbh, daughter of 
O'Miaille.” 

Thus strangely had the aspect of the Norman 
conquerors of Connacht changed, and Edmund, half- 
Insh by his mother, with an Irish wife, an Irish brehon 
and Scottish galloglass in his train, would hardly have 
been recognised by the William de Burgo of 1200. 
Yet these were the appeals which won the Irish heart, 
and before his death in 1373 Edmund was master of 
Mayo, and founded there the race of MacWilliam 
“‘Tochtar,” or the Lower Burkes. 

His elder brother, William, seized upon the De 
Burgo lordship in the broad plains of Galway; from 
him came MacWilliam “' Uachtar,” or the Upper Mac- 
William, and the Earls of Clanrickard, In Munster 
Edmund “ na féasdige,”’ “ the bearded,’ a son of the 
Red Earl, was already in possession of the Burgo lands 
in mid Tipperary and north-east Limerick, a country 
later called Clanwilliam, and from him came the Burkes 
of Castleconnell.1 

The three Burkes had thus defied the feudal law 
of inheritance. The English Crown, guardian of the 
heiress's right, would give the established Burkes no 
Jegal sanction for their lands, and when the descendants 
of Lionel and Elizabeth became Kings of England, 
the MacWilliams of Connacht were regarded as pure 
usurpers. Hence it was that of all the Norman 
conquistadors the De Burgos became the earliest case 
of “ Hibernis ipsis hibernioves.” ® 

2 We have for these events and later Burke history the evidence 
of the Gaelic and latin historical tract called Historia e Genealogia 
Faniiaa dt Burgo (T.-C. D., F-4.13), not yet published, 

find no evidence for Richey’s picturesque Hegena (Lectures om 
sh ar B, 17) Shat Sir William and Sir” de Burgo 

Stanaon snd in view of the royal of 
‘Rinne dotted their Norman dress, donned the sadton of Sriah chats 
tains, and renounced their English allegiance. Lodge's Peerage, ed. 
Archdall, IIL, p. 41, shows Sir Thomas fitzEdmund Burke acting as 
King’s Justice and other evidence shows other members of the family 
acting as sheriffs, etc, The Galway MacWilliam also remained lord 
of the rich city of Galway. 
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Thus did the western province lose even the thin 
Anglo-French veneer it had. An Irish revival followed 
the feudal one. While Edmund Albanach fought with 
Edmund na fdaséige, who claimed the Burke chieftainry, 
till in 1338 he took him and had him drowned in Loch 
Mask, Turloch O’Conor assumed the sway of Connacht 
again and ‘“‘Leyny and Corran of Sligo were wrested 
from the English and the hereditary native chiefs 
resumed their captainships.”” These two baronies had 
been FitzGerald, then De Burgo lands, and now that 
Donal O’Conor held Cairbre and Sligo town, the whole 
Lordship of Sligo became Irish again. As overlord in 
the North-West, O'Donnell took the place of De Burgo, 
and Aedh O'Donnell, who died in 1333, after a reign 
of fifty years, in his castle of Assaroe, which was the 
centre of his lordship, is called ‘ Lord of Tyrconnell, 
Cenel Moen, Inishowen, Fermanagh, and Brefni.” 

Such an Irish or Norman-Irish revival seemed a 
remote thing to the colonists of Leinster and Meath, 
but this “land of peace” itself was the scene of a 
widespread race revival. The MacMurchadas and 
their vassals reconquered the inland parts of Leinster. 
Uniting in a general Leinster confederacy under 
MacMurchada, the O’Mores and O’Conors of Leix and 
Offaly threatened the towns of Athy, Leighlin, and 
Carlow, and the line of the Barrow. In the heart of 
Ireland, shielded by great woods and moorlands, the 
O’Melachlins, O’Molloys, Macgeoghegans, and others, 
formed a Midland confederacy to destroy the West- 
meath settlements. Longford, a large part of West- 
meath, all Leix and Offaly, and the Northern parts of 
Tipperary and Kilkenny, were thus lost. Not only 
had the plan of a thorough Conquest of all Ireland, 
urged by such men as Maurice FitzGerald a century 
before, failed, but the planted belts were growing 
smaller, and more isolated, and the whole Anglo-Irish 
State was being battered to pieces. 

‘Two striking instances of the Irish revival are given 
by Clyn. Laoiseach or Lysagh O’More, who died in 
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1342, made himself lord of Leix, where the Mortimers 
were titular possessors. “‘ He stirred up to war all the 
Irish of Munster and Leinster by persuasion, promises, 
and gifts, and expelled nearly all the English from 
their lands by force, for in one evening he burned eight 
castles of the Englishry, and destroyed the noble castle 
of Dunamase belonging to Roger Mortimer, and usurped 
to himself the lordship of the country. From a slave 
he became a lord, from a subject a prince.” 

The similar triumph of O’Conor Faly in Offaly 
interposed two modern counties between English 
Kildare and the lower Shannon. 

The land about Slieve Bloom in North Tipperary 
went back to the princes of Eili. In 1346 fell in 
battle Taig O'Carroll, ‘“ who slew or expelled from Ely 
the nations of the Brets, Milbornes, and other English, 
and occupied their lands and castles." An Inquisition 
held in 1337 on the death of the first Earl of Ormond 
shows strikingly how the English line was recoiling in 
that North Ormond which had been so widely enfeoffed 
early in the Conquest. The Earl had seven vast 
manors in Tipperary, viz., Thurles, Ardemaill, Brittas 
and Karkeul, Moyalwy, Carrick-macgriffin, Clonleynan 
and Nenagh. There are burgesses at Thurles, Baly- 
haghil, Moyalwy, and other places. At Nenagh there 
is a castle with five towers, and the manor contains 
seven and a half “ theods”’ and ninety carucates (these 
latter alone make up ten thousand acres or more) in 
demesne, free tenancies, and lands let to farmers, But 
the Irish had thrown off the yoke of the Butlers in the 
northern portions, and the petty towns were decaying, 
for example, “the burgesses at Balyhaghil used to 
render eight marks, but now only twenty shillings in 
time of peace, and nothing in time of war because of 

the Irish.” ‘The heirs of John and Donohyr 
O’Kenedy and Conol O’Kenedy used to hold ten 
carucates at rent and royal service, now they pay 
nothing, for they are at war: so with the heirs of 

3Clyn, 1336, 1342, 1346. 
* Cal. ‘Inquis., VII, p. 117. 
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O’Mathy, O'Hogan, and Macgyltin.” Ten and a half 
carucates held by farmers are also described as in 
decay, so are the lands of the free tenants. 

Henceforth Thurles remained the northern limit of 
the English line in Tipperary; Nenagh, the original 
seat of the Butlers, had to be abandoned ; the line of 
the Shannon about Killaloe disappeared, and the 
O’Kennedys became “ Kings of Ormond" again. 

As for the key-fortresses, Sligo was now the seat 
of an O'Conor; Roscommon fell to Turloch O’Conor ; 
Ballymote, the Red Earl's great stronghold, was given 

by O'Conor to his vassal, MacDonagh; and save for 
Athlone, which was never altogether lost, the whole 
Shannon frontier was gone. In the South, De Clare's 
castle at Bunratty was taken by Murchertach O’Brien 
in 1332, and in the extreme north, the De Burgo 
fortress of Northburgh in Inishowen fell to O’Docherty, 
who was now the lord of Inishowen, under disputed 
vassalage to O'Neill and O'Donnell. 

Thus in thirty years from Bruce's death two-thirds 
of the Western and Northern coast and half the 
interior became Irish or Norman-Irish, and, in both 
cases, was lost to the English law and speech. 

By 1333 the young Edward III. abandoned the 
thought of coming to Ireland in person and turned his 
lance first against the Scots and next against the 
French, It was a fatal decision for the English interest 
in Ireland. The colony was at the crisis of its fate, 
but it was still possible for a royal army to complete 
the conquest of the land. 

Instead the Anglo-Irish at the King’s request sent 
an army under Desmond and Ormond over in 1335 to 
help in imposing Edward Balliol upon the Scots, and 
voted a generous subsidy of two shillings per carucate 
from “all the land of peace,” a tithe from the clergy, 
and an aid according to their means from the towns, 

all of which, however, was a love grant “not to be 
drawn into a precedent or custom.”! 

2 Clyn, 1335, and Lib. Mun., I., Pt. IV., p. 12: 170 leading Anglo- 
Irish Were summoned and 14 Irish chiefs. 
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In spite, however, of Anglo-Irish help against 
Scotland, the firm policy of Lucy and D'Arcy was 
continued, and in May 1338 Thomas de Cherleton, the 
Custos of Ireland, was commissioned to dismiss incom- 
petent officials; put into effect an ordinance of the 
King and Council in England that none but English- 
men born were to hold high legal offices ; and further 
to make strict enquiry into all grants of lands and 
liberties made by the King or his father. 

Finally the long-smouldering resentment of the 
Anglo-Irish burst into flame, when the Justiciar, Sir 
John D'Arcy, who had been given a free hand in 
Ireland, appointed as Deputy in March 134r Sir John 
Morice, a plain English knight, on whose advice King 
Edward had relied for this whole Irish policy. The 
culminating edict, which Morice was charged with 
enforcing, ordered that all officers within the land of 
Ireland, having estates or being married in the country, 
were to be replaced by Englishmen whose estates were 
altogether in England, ‘by whom we think to be 
better served than by Irishmen or Englishmen married 
and with property in Ireland.” It was assumed that 
these would be welcomed as being more honest and 
impartial, more efficient and less easily intimidated, 
but England, then as often afterwards, was to find 
itself baffled between the apparent loyalty, and the 
secret disloyalty, of her own colonists. In face of a 
complete proscription of “the English by blood” the 
Patriot party formed itself again under Desmond, and 
so great was the general indignation that the Anglo- 
Trish annals, which henceforth are all for the Patriot 
side, say of this year 1341—“ the Land of Ireland at 
this moment stood at the point of breaking for ever 
from the hands of the King of England.” 

When Morice, after making a clean sweep of the 
old officialdom, summoned Parliament to Dublin for 
October 1341, Desmond and Kildare, scornful of the 
mere knight who came in the place of a King, 
appealed to the whole colony, and summoned a rival 
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Parliament to Kilkenny in November, where nobles, 
clerics, and burgesses united as one. “ Never,” say 
the Laudian annals, “was there so notable a division 
between the English by birth and the English by 
blood.”” Desmond's parliament resolved to appeal to 
the King in person, and sent to him by two envoys a 
long and searching indictment in French of the Irish 
Government past and present! They could not 
endure, they said, that the realm of Ireland should be 
ruled by the King’s ministers as it had wont to be. 
One third of Ireland was now lost to the Irish, and of 
late the castles of Athlone, Rinnddin, Roscommon, and 
Bunratty had fallen. The cause lay in the neglect 
and corruption of the King’s ministers, as did the 
decay of the revenue. These officials continually 
override the rights and laws of Irish subjects. Cases 
are frequently cited to English courts which could be 
settled in Ireland. Lands are ruined by neglect of the 
absentees, who never come to defend them, but draw 
all the rents they can out of them. Scots, Gascons, 
Welsh, have often levied war against the Crown, but 
your loyal English of Ireland have ever been loyal, 
and, please God, will always be so, Yet in return, 
needy men have been sent from England to govern 
without knowledge of Ireland, and having little or 
nothing of their own, they practise extortion to the 
great destruction of your people. The Act of Re- 
sumption was an injustice, for according to Magna 
Charta no man can be deprived of his freehold without 
due process of law. How is it, they conclude, a realm 
of war can be governed by one unskilful in war, how 
is it that an officer under the Crown that entered 
Ireland poor can in one year grow to greater wealth 
than men of great patrimony can in many years, how 
does it come about that, seeing they are all called lords 
of their own, the Lord of them all is not one penny 
the richer of them? 

4 For legal enactments of this period see Foeaera IT., passim’; 
and Berry's Stasuses, 1., pp. 333-63, for the petition of Desmond s 
Parliament. 
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The first Remonstrance of Anglo-Ireland against 
domination from England struck a note that was often 
to be heard in later centuries. The Patriots of the 
fourteenth, like those of the eighteenth century, were 
loyal to the Crown, but hostile to English Ministries, 
they were strong in protest but feeble in suggestion, 
they were pre-occupied with their class interest, that 
of an Ascendancy bent on the domination of Ireland, 
and they said nothing bout the native race whose 
emancipation they alone could achieve. 

For the moment the protest was successful and the 
King, involved in a war with France for which he 
needed Irish aid, forbade Morice to proceed further, 
and in a reply to the petitions, sent on April 14, 1343, 
repealed the offending statute excluding the Irish-born 
from office. 

But after an interval Sir Ralf D'Ufford, a pure 
Englishman, was sent over to attempt the reformation 
of Ireland, and landed at Dublin on July 13, 1344, 
accompanied by his wife, Maud of Lancaster, widow 
of the late Earl of Ulster, whose lands he was pledged 
to recover, and an army of knights and archers. He 
proclaimed a general pardon for the Anglo-Irish, and 
turned his arms against the Ulster Irish, 
MacCartan of Kinelarty, and deposing Henry O'Neill 
of Tir Eoghain, setting up in his place Aedh, son of 
Donal O'Neill. 

D'Ufford was commissioned to enquire into lands 
given to various lords in Ireland, and in addition he 
was high-handed and severe to the “ middle nation,” 
which his wife detested as the murderers of her first 
husband. “ This justiciar was an invader of the rights 
of the clerics and the lay rich and poor, a robber of 
goods under the colour of good, the defrauder of many, 
never observing the law of the Church nor that of the 
State, inflicting many evils on the native born, the 

poor only excepted, in which things he was led by the 
council of his wife,” say the Laudian annals, reflecting 
the Anglo-Irish sentiment which has so often 

Google alWCETON 



REBELLION OF THE ANGLO-IRISH 271 

thwarted English viceroys when grimly bent on 
crushing the great, whether Irish or Old English. 

‘When, therefore, D’Ufford summoned Parliament to 
Dublin on June 7, 1345, Desmond again refused, and 
called his supporters to Callan, to which he marched 
with thousands of men; but when the viceroy pro- 
hibited this Irish Parliament, Desmond’s supporters 
wavered, for loyalty was still a tradition, and the 
magnates were not yet ready to defy the English 
Crown. The act of Desmond in summoning a Parlia- 
ment, the King’s prerogative, could not be forgotten ; 
he was outlawed and his earldom was declared forfeit. 
Kildare was arrested in Dublin, and D’Ufford, with 
forces raised by commissions of array and the royal 
banner unfurled, marched at the end of June into 
Munster against the Earl, though the Peers refused 
their assent, No Earl or confederacy of Anglo-Irish 
could yet match the forces of the Crown in leadership 
or artillery; Desmond's castle of Askeaton fell; and 
in November Castleisland in Kerry, where the Earl’s 
captains made their last rally, was taken, and D’Ufford 
had the defenders, John Coterel, the Earl’s Seneschal, 
Eustace le Poer, and William le Grant, hanged, drawn, 
and quartered. The first was accused of “ exercising, 
maintaining and inventing many foreign, oppressive 
and intolerable laws,” which apparently were those 
Irish feudal practices of coyne and livery which were 
so odious to the lesser English, the Irish Parliament, 
and the Dublin Government.t 

D’Ufford now returned to Dublin, where a prolonged 
Assize dealt severely with the adherents of the Anglo- 
Irish rebellion, but the viceroy himself died on Palm 
Sunday, April 9, the next year, 1346, to the general 
joy of the Anglo-Irish, who were now placated by the 
appointment as Justiciar of Sir Walter de Bermingham, 
Lord of Tethmoy, son of the William who had been 
executed in 1332, The Crown had too much on hand 

'Clyn, but the extant records for these events are lamentably 
ty. 
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in France, and the aristocratic Home Rulers had a 
viceroy of their own from May 1346 to the middle of 
1349. A general pardon was proclaimed in May 1346, 
and though Desmond was exempted from it, he was 
allowed to lay his case before the King, and along with 
Kildare was taken into favour and served with the 
King at the siege of Calais. 

It is no mere coincidence that the Anglo-[rish 
annals fill the years of the Anglo-Irish rebellion with 
details of a far-spread Irish resurgence, in which in a 
single week of Easter 1346, ‘ O’More, O'Conor, and 
O’Demsy took three castles, Ley, Kilmehyde, and 
Balylethan,” and “all the Irish of Leinster as one man 
set themselves to war against the English and the 
lovers of peace.” At Christmas 1347 Donal O'Kennedy, 
a nominal vassal of the Ormond earl, uniting a con- 
federacy of the Irish of Connacht, Meath, and Leinster, 
burned the town of Nenagh and destroyed all Butler's 
country and castles of Ormond. The Poers, the 
Tobins (aligui de cognomine Sancti Albani) and other 
“‘naciones et cognomina” of the Old English did no 
less damage than the Irish ; and the champions of the 
Joyal English, such as the Wogans, Wellesleys, and De 
Valles, officers and seneschals for the Crown and 
Lordships, spent their days in petty but fierce battles 
against Irish and Norman-Irish 

It was a time of gloom for the colony which 

For example, Fulco de la Frene is expecially praised by Clya. a. ag5g, ewe wis war, Urtweon Une faariay Louagh Oe tad 

war—and only Scanlan Macgilpatricke and Henry O'Ryan took the 
side of the English and of peace.” In 1347 this gallant knight, Fulco, 
went with Maurice, Earl of Kildare, by the King’s summons to France, 
and served at the siege of Calais.” In 1348 Fulco returning and 
“having the care and custody of the lands of the Earl of Ormond, 
then in England, put a strong guard into Nenagh, and restored to 
their homes and lands the banished lieges and forced the Irish to 
rebuild the walls they had destroyed and, by great payments of cows 
and hostages, to buy themselves back into their former obedience."* 
The great raid of Murchad "na Raithnighe" O'Brien in 1376-7, 
referred to later, however destroyed the Butler lordship in this area. 
ef North Ormond, 

Google PR ae 



REBELLION OF THE ANGLO-IRISH 273 

England had signally failed to recruit with fresh blood, 
and which was now further reduced by the Black 
Death, which, according to Clyn, slew 14,000 people 
in Dublin alone from the beginning of August to 
Christmas 1348—true or false the figures express a 

terrible mortality—and finally took off Clyn himself. 
Nevertheless the Government made great efforts to 

hold the English land, and from 1330 to 1375 small 
but efficient armies of light horse (hoblers), men-at-arms 
and archers followed the Justiciar against the “ Irish 
enemy,” and in the year 1344-3 D'Ufford spent some 
£3,576 on a paid colonial army.t 

The recovery of Connacht and Ulster was the 
immediate charge of the Justiciars. Elizabeth, heiress 
of the Brown Earl, was betrothed in 1341 to King 
Edward's third son, Lionel, and in 1347 this young 
prince was created Earl of Ulster. But Burkes, 
O'Conors, and O'Neills stood in the way. In Ulster 

one after another Lacys, FitzAlans, and De Burgos 
had gone and the O'Neills remained. The royal race 
of Tyrone had now divided into two branches, of which 
the senior, under Aedh Mér, son of Donal of the 
Remonstrance, King of Tir Eoghain from 1344 to 1364, 
generally bore among the English the title of “ O'Neill 
the Great.” The second branch, which took its rise 
from Aedh Buidhe, “the Yellow,” who ruled Tir 
Eoghain from 1260 to 1283, being expelled by the 
other O'Neills, sought their fortunes after the Earldom 
fell vacant beyond the Bann and Loch Neagh, where 
in the next fifty years they founded Clannaboy (Clann 
Aedha buidhe), with its capital seat at Castlereagh, a 
land which by 1350 extended from Belfast to Loch 
Neagh, north to the Antrim Glens, and south to 
Strangford Loch. A few families of the Englishry 

1 Exch. Mem., volt. 23, p. 420, 24, P. 185, and. 25, Pp. 132-52. Incidectaly the’ arrays of the Grows’ atcutoined ne Dative 
to the weapons and tactics of European war, which henceforth they 
used against the themselves. Thus O’More of Leix was paid 
(6 as commander of 6 Season 278 Rae aaa eae 
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survived, such as Byset or MacEoin of the Glens, the 
Whites of Dufferin, the Savages and Russells whom 
De Courcy planted in Down; and these families, 
though partly Irish in speech and habit, clung to their 
feudal titles and English tenures. 

After Bermingham, a vigorous English viceroy was 
found in Sir Thomas Rokeby, who arrived in December 
1349 and ruled till August 1355.1 A large part of the 
Justiciar’s duty was now to war on the insurgent Irish 
with troops paid by subsidies from the colony, and 
Rokeby fought a vigorous campaign against Dermot 
O’Brien, brother of Murchertach, who became King of 
Thomond in 1341, and MacConmara, O'Brien's marshal, 
which ended in the submission of these chiefs. 

But peaceful attempts were also made to bring the 
chiefs to honourable submission. Already in 1333 
English law had been confirmed to MacCarthy and 
O'Dwyer with their “ iraghts.” Later in 1346 D'Ufford 
enfranchised Maurice, son of Maccon MacConmara, 
O’Brien’s chief man. Finding it could no longer 

combat that clan organisation which the outlying 
English themselves were generally adopting, the Dublin 
Government decided to work through this system, and 
by recognising the Irish or Norman chief as “ head of 
his nation” (capitaneus nationis suae) to make him a 
stable agent and guarantee for order and peace, while 
the chief himself would welcome an external sanction 
for his office from that Lord of Ireland, whose light 
yoke the Gaelic lords were willing to bear. 

This was especially necessary on the borders of the 
Pale, and in 1350 three border chiefs came to terms 
with the Justiciar, John O'Byrne, “captain elect of 
his clan,” took oath in presence of the Justiciar to 
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observe the King’s peace well and faithfully and if any 
of his progeny or following (parentela) should commit 
felony or robbery on the King’s faithful people he 
should hold them to justice till called upon to surrender 
them to justice. Similar terms were made with two 
English or Ostman families, the Harolds and Archbolds 
of South County Dublin, and the Government con- 
firmed the title of “ capitaneus” to Walter Harold and 
Matthew Archbold, who had been chosen chiefs by 
the leading men of their name. The recognition of 
clan chieftainries henceforth was a common practice, 
adopted by Henry VIII. with great success as a way 
‘of bringing the greatest of the Irish, O'Neill, O'Brien, 
and others, to admit themselves subjects and peers 
under the English Crown But with the Tudor King 
it was a prelude to a greater Conqu The govern- 
ment of Edward III. had no force behind it, and 
Rokeby in effect legalised the triumph of Brehon 
custom and the Gaelic revival and allowed Irish 
and English captains to stand between the common 
subject and the Anglo-Irish State. 

In July 1355 Rokeby retired from office and died 
the next year in Kilkea Castle earning the epitaph of 
a plain and honest minister of the Anglo-Irish commons ; 
who “chastised the Irish well and paid honestly for ali 
the victuals he took” and who said “I prefer to eat 
and drink out of wooden vessels and to pay gold and 
silver for my food and clothing and soldiery.” 

After following Rokeby as Justiciar for a few months, 
the Earl of Desmond died in Dublin on January 25 
1356 and was interred at Tralee. 

The career of the first Desmond Earl is most 
memorable for that Anglo-Irish movement which he 
formed and led not against the English Crown but 
against the domination of — officials and the 

a Exch. Mem, vol, xvi Harris, Collect., IL, p. 203 
and my article in E. H. R., slur 1910, " The Clan System among 
English Settlers in Ireland.” 

race. 
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ruling of Ireland from Westminster. He is the first 
of the Patriot peers of Anglo-Ireland. The ill- 
governance of Ireland certainly justified a Bruce and a 
War of Independence but Desmond and his followers 
could not shake off the spirit of the ‘‘ middle nation” 
which though Irish to the English was English to the 
Trish. Like later Geraldines the Earl might dream of 
a Crown but he could only defy a Crown and lacked 
the iron resolution which alone would have put a 
native lord on the Throne of Ireland. His sympathies 
were with native culture but not with native inde- 
pendence—thus in 1339 he suppressed a native risi 
in Kerry and as his own kinsman, Maurice FitzNicholas, 
Lord of Kerry, had aided the Irish, he took him and 
had him starved to death in prison* Hence the 
Anglo-Irish annals praise him as “‘a just man in his 
office, for he would hang his own kinsmen for their 
evil deeds as well as strangers, and well chastised the 
Irish." Among the Irish, who thought it natural for 
a king to be a stern man of war, the Earl was regarded 
as the greatest of those ‘‘ princely English lords who 
gave up their foreignness for a pure mind and their 
harshness for good manners, their stubbornness for 
sweet mildness and their perverseness for hospitality,” 
and to whom all was forgiven for their love of Irish 
speech, letters, bards, and chroniclers.* Thus did the 
Geraldines, who never were English in England, after 
a short period turn Irish in Ireland, and prove by their 
very versatility their legendary mixture of Florentine 
Cambrian and Gaelic blood. 

The Anglo-Irish party had for the time succeeded. 

From 1356 to 136x the Government was mainly in their 
hands, and Maurice, Earl of Kildare, and James, Earl 
of Ormond, ruled most of the time, either as Justiciars 
or Deputies. A whole body of edicts summed up in 

‘an Ordinatio facta pro Statu Terrae Hiberniae, passed 

1 Laud MS. Annals, 1339. 
4 Laud MS. Annals, 1355. Tribes and Customs of Hy Many, ed. 

O'Donovan. 
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by the King and Council of England, was sent over 
in 1357 with the object of reforming administrative 
abuses, placating the wounded feelings of “‘ the English 
by blood,” and recognising Irish legal and legislative 
autonomy. 

To remedy the general lack of governance, officials 
were to make yearly account and be supervised by 
commissions of the Justiciar and other high officials 
and magnates of the locality concerned. The evils of 
Purveyance were to be mitigated. “ The affairs of our 
Land of Ireland shall be referred to our Council, but 
shall be determined in our Parliament there (i.e., in 
Ireland).” Thus was the internal legislative supremacy 
of the Irish Estates recognised. ‘All English men 
born in Ireland as well as those born in England shall 
be taken to be true Englishmen bound by the same 
laws, rights, and customs ""—these rights were, however, 
to be secundum legem et consuetudinem Terrae Hiberniae, 
a recognition of the legal autonomy of the Anglo-Irish, 

as the former clause was of their legislative. 
More efficiency and force was needed to impose 

these edicts than the State possessed, but they had 
the effect of assuring the loyal English of the nearer 
counties that a government after their own heart ruled 
in Dublin, An edict of 1361 still further pleased this 
Anglo-Saxon element by excluding the independent 
Trish from holding office in the Church, the towns, or 
the State among the Englishry. ‘No pure blooded 
Trishman of Irish nation (nsllus mere hibernicus de 
natione hibernicana) shall be made mayor, bailiff, or 
other official in any place subject to the King, or hold 
canonries or livings among the Enghsh.” “ Yet at the 
request of Irish clerks living among the English we 
have ordered that Irishmen of this sort, of whose 
loyalty our judges are assured, shall not in any way 
be molested.” A clear distinction was made by the 
Crown, if not intended by the colonists, between the 
outer Irish living by Brehon law and the Irish who 

1 Berry, Statutes, T., pp. 408-419. 
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dwelt peaceably in what was called by the English 
“the land of peace.” + 

The bitterness of the colonists towards the “‘ meri 
Hibernici” was natural. Everywhere the colony 
shrank. In 1355 it was reported that ‘Odo O'Neill” 
was at the gates of Dundalk with a great army, and 
the Archbishop of Armagh was commissioned to treat 
with him. In South Munster Dermot MacCarthy, 
called MacDermot by the English, was an especial 
terror to the colonists. Son of Honora FitzMaurice of 
Kerry and married to a daughter of David Roche, 
Dermot aspired to be an Anglo-Irish lord also, and 
though the royal service was proclaimed against him, 
before his death in 1368 he won the Lordship of 
Muskerry by the strong hand. The Justiciar might 
unfurl the royal banner and call out the service of all 
Ireland against such native heroes, but little came of 
their expeditions in a country full of woods, defiles, 
and hills, where, when the Irish turned to fight, they 
proved to be as well-armed as their foes.* 

One element at least the Government could trust. 
The towns were the true strongholds of the English 
Interest, and charters of self-government, fresh liberties, 
and murage grants enabled the burghers to wall their 
towns and entrench themselves like petty republics.? 

There were still the materials for an anglicised 
Ireland, though the greatest of all, an Unversity, was 
lacking. In 1358 the Irish Council forwarded to the 
King a petition from the clerics and scholars of Ireland, 
who pointed out the lack of facilities for learning in 
the country, and the perils of crossing the sea, and 

4 Statutes, I., 8 ce This “* merus hibernicus” which 
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Butler, ee ol Recs Fae y Mor, eg Abs lane Toat, pp. 3248. He was brother of King oi), and 
founded a Moskerry branch of the Maccarthys., 6" 33 
1 at. Cane, Hib. p. 63, In 1356 the right to levy tolls for m is lve for twenty Yeats to" Dungarvan, Tu geet 
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desired to study in Dublin the civil and Canon laws, 
with other sacred sciences. The King in reply took 
under his special protection “all scholars, masters and 
clerics coming to the said city from all parts whatso- 
ever.” But this wide invitation needed the backing of 
generous donors, and found them not. There was some 

small endowment, and a few students continued to 
frequent the scanty “‘domus scholarum,” but that was 
the end of all projects for a Mediaeval University of 
Dublin.* 

+ Harris, Golluct, IIL., p. 27. 
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CHAPTER XI 

THE LAST EFFORTS OF THE ENGLISH LORDSHIP, 

1361-99 

Lionet oF Crarence, the second son of Edward IIL, 
was in 1361 in his twenty-third year, and a most princely 
youth, tall, strong and beautiful. In right of his wife 
Elizabeth de Burgo he was Earl of Ulster and Lord of 
Connacht, once a splendid lordship, but now fallen for 
the most part into the hands of O’Neills, O'Conors and 
Irish Burkes, 

In March, 1361, the King announced that his son was 
about to proceed to Ireland and sixty-four Absentees 
were summoned to Westminster for Easter, to give 
counsel, to provide troops, and to come in person or 
proxy to Ireland. The preamble, as addressed to Hum- 
frey, Earl of Northampton, Constable of England, ran 

thus : 
“ Because our land of Ireland—by the attacks of ~ 

Irish enemies and through the impotence of our lieges 
there, and because the magnates of our land of England, 
having lands there, take the profits thereof but do not 
defend them—is now subjected to such devastation and 
destruction that, unless God avert and succour the same, 
it will be plunged soon into total ruin, we have therefore, 
for the salvation of the said land, ordained that Lionel, 
our very dear son, shall proceed thither with all despatch 
and with a great army.” 

‘Among the absentees named were Ralf, Earl of 
Stafford, and Edward le Despenser, heirs of the Liberty 
of Kilkenny ; Lord Manny and his wife the Countess of 
Norfolk, heirs of Carlow ; the Countess of March, mother 

of Edmund Mortimer, Lord of Leix; and Agnes de 
Valence wife of John Hastings, Lady of Wexford. If the 
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Re-conquest were achieved, four Lordships of Leinster 
would be recovered.? 

Lionel was appointed King’s Lieutenant on July 11, 
136x, and proclamation was made that all Crown lands 
occupied by the Irish, and all domains of non-residents 
were to be granted to English subjects who would dwell 
upon them. Finally Prince Lionel sailed from Liverpool 
and landed in Dublin on the 15th of September. He 
had with him 1,500 men—knights, esquires, hoblers, 
and archers, under command of the Earl of Stafford. 

The policy of the Prince revived at once the fears of 
the Anglo-Irish nobility. It was obvious that what was 
chiefly intended was the Recovery of Leinster where 
not only had the Irish reconquered the Crown lands of 
Wicklow and occupied North Wexford, but the resident 
Butlers, Geraldines and others had appropriated most 
of the vacant Lordships of Kilkenny and Carlow. 

Lionel had come, like D'Arcy and D’Ufford, to break 
the wings of the Anglo-Irish ; hence, when he moved out 
on his first campaign against the O’Byrnes, he forbade any 
of Irish birth to approach his pure English camp, and the 
result was that a hundred of his men were cut off, either 
by treachery or through neglect of advice from the Anglo- 
Irish who were better versed in the tactics necessary to 
Treland. “' Seeing this,” say the Laudian annals, “ he 
collected all the people, both of England and Ireland, in 
one, and prospered well, and made many wars everywhere 
with the Irish.” 

Lionel remained here for five years, save for eight 
months’ absence in England in 1364. We know little 
of his campaigns save that he led armies into Desmond 
and against the Leinster clans. Froissart tells us how 
MacMurchada dared to face the King’s son in open field : 
“One of their kings, Arthur Maquemaire, King of Lein- 
ster, fought with Duke Lionel near the city of Leinster ; 
in the battle many were slain and taken on both sides, 
but the King of Leinster escaped.” The Four Masters 
record that in 1362 ‘‘ Art MacMurchadha, King of Lein- 

* Foedera III, Pt, I: p. 609 seg. 
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ster, and his son Domnall Riabhach, were made prisoner 
treacherously by the son of the King of England and died 
in prison.” 

Having cleared the line of the Barrow, Lionel spent 
£500 in walling Carlow, and re-fortified the castles of 
Dublin, Trim and Athlone. In Ulster he had a Seneschal, 
and a Constable at Greencastle. Beyond Carrickfergus 
most of the Earldom was practically lost, but Aedh 
O'Neill and his son Niall Mér, it appears, did homage and 
swore fealty. 

Connacht was even more lost, but Lionel deprived 
William, son of Raymond de Burgo, of the custody of his 
wife’s lands there, and appointed a Treasurer of his own, 
one Sir William de Karleil, an Englishman, who probably 
had little success in enforcing rents and services.» 

Lionel’s success was indeed but partial ; his troops 
were few and absentees reluctant to retum; and in 

February 1362 the King had to order those who lingered 
“to proceed with troops to Ireland where my dear son 
and his companions stand in imminent peril.” 

It is significant of the decay of the colony that the 
parliamentary subsidy had to be reduced, a royal pro- 
clamation forgave the earls, prelates, barons, magnates 
and commons of Ireland, both lay and cleric, all their 
debts and accounts, reliefs, escheats, firms, fines, etc., 
even to October, 1362. The state to which the revenue 
had fallen is shown in 1360 when the gross receipts for 
the year came only to some £2,140, and the expenses 
were £1,945 odd.® 

In 1362 Lionel’s wife Elizabeth died, leaving an only 
child, Philippa, who later married Edmund Mortimer, 
Earl of March. In memory of his wife, Lionel made 
certain endowments to St. Patrick’s Cathedral to have 

+ For Froissart see later. What the “city of Leinster” was we 
cannot guess. Niall O'Neill, in his submission to Richard II. in x 

Shat hie father and he bad submitted to Lionel at this 
For Lionel’s officers in Connacht and Ulster see Cal. Reg, Ai 
Secloman of. Lawlor PLLA. ( pny P.259, 283 : the later mentions 
an indenture of peace made between the Da 

"Esch. Mem, 28, pp. 62, 77, and 29, p. fas 
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daily Mass said, and endowed a lectureship in Theology 
there, so keeping the feeble lamp of Anglo-Irish learning 
alight. 

At the Parliament of England in November 1362, he 
was created Duke of Clarence. 

‘The royal viceroy was already wearying of his un- 
attractive office, and in particular of the dissensions 
between the new-come, and the native-born, English 
of Ireland, which made it necessary in June 1364 by 
royal writ to order “ that none of the English, born in 
England or Ireland, shall make any dissension, reproach 
or debate among themselves on pain of fine and punish- 
ment.” 

Anglo-Ireland was already divided into the two clear 
elements of “ the march lords ” or “ degenerate English "” 
and the still loyal people of the towns and the nearer 
shires. It was on these latter that Lionel had learned 
and it was their spirit, anti-Gaelic and anti-feudal, which 
triumphed in the Parliament of Kilkenny which Lionel 
summoned to meet him on the 18th of February, 1366. 

Though many magnates were present, the shire and 
town deputies formed a majority ; the Council would re- 
inforce them, and it is to these elements that we must 
attribute the Anglican spirit of the enactments. The 
preamble of the thirty-five enactments was as follows : 

“* Whereas at the Conquest of the land of Ireland and for 
a long time afterwards, the English of the said land used 
the English language, mode of riding (monture), and 
apparel, and were governed, both they and their subjects 
called betaghs, according to the English law . . . . now 
many English of the said land, forsaking the English 

2 Alan's Reg. 36 4: Licence by Ed, IIT. to Lionel to grant ro acres. 
ivowson of the Church there to the Dean and 

‘allowance for both duties of 1o marks for ever. (July, 1364) 
2 The original roll of this parliament is lost, but a transcript exists 

beth published and edited io 
ip tam iter Gu ae “Archavological Soc). 
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language, manners, mode of riding, laws and usages, live 
and govern themselves according to the manners, fashion, 
and language of the Irish enemies, and also have made 

divers marriages and alliances between themselves and 
the Irish enemies, whereby the said land and the liege 
people thereof, the English language, the allegiance due 
to our Lord the King, and the English laws are put into 
subjection and decayed, and the Irish enemies exalted 
and raised up contrary to reason.” 

To prevent which, and to recall the English to 
‘obedience and the law, certain enactments were passed. 
The English are forbidden to make alliances by marriage, 
gossipred, and fostering with the Irish, or in their law- 
‘suits to use “‘ March law,” or “ Brehon law” (lei de 
Marche ni de Breon) “ which rightly ought not to be 
called law, being bad custom.” They may not entertain 
or make gifts to Irish minstrels, rimers or story-tellers. 
All Englishmen, and Irish dwelling among them, must use 
English surnames, speak English and follow English 
customs. If any Englishman or Irishman dwelling 
among the English, use Irish speech, he shall be attainted 
and his lands go to his lord till he undertake to adopt and 
use English. Irishmen are excluded from cathedrals, 
benefices, and religious houses. In order to make joint 
resistance to the Irish, parleys and treaties with them 
must be in common by legal permission, The English 
must not break peace legally made between English and 
Irish. In every county four of the most substantial 
men are to be made wardens of the peace, with power to 
assess the inhabitants, to provide horsemen, hoblers and 
foot, and review them from month to month. Kerns 
and hired soldiers may only be maintained on the marches. 
Every chieftain of English lineage (chieflayne de linadge 
Engleis) shall arrest and detain malefactors of his own 
aineage, adherence or retinue, till delivered by the law. 
The colonists are to forsake hurleys and quoits and learn 
the use of the bow. There is to be but one peace and one 
war throughout the whole of the King’s land of Ireland. 

The “English” or “ obedient ” land was reckoned 
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as the Counties and Liberties of Louth, Meath, Trim, 
Dublin, Kildare, Carlow, Kilkenny, Wexford, Waterford 
and Tipperary. 

The evident purpose of the Kilkenny statutes was not 
to declare war upon the Irish race as such, but, at the 
cost of abandoning a large part of the “' English land '* 
to the Irish and the “chieftains of English lineage,” 
to preserve the remainder for the English speech, race 
and law. Inside this “land of peace” all Irish in- 
habitants were to be forced into English speech and 
custom, so that they should not impair that purity of 
English tradition which the Statutes aimed at securing for 
ever. Such Irishmen could without difficulty secure 
or buy “ English liberty.” The Irish living outside the 
chosen land were not entirely rejected as we see by later) 
Kings and Viceroys taking their homage, and granting 
them charters of denization, but the Statutes were so 
interpreted that even the Five Bloods lost after 1366) 
that unwritten privilege of English liberty which up to 
then in theory they had enjoyed.’ 

No general edict of admittance to English liberty was 
included among the Statutes of Kilkenny, and the reasons. 
are clear, By this time the Irish themselves had ay 
to make the general demands on that point which they 
made several times between 1270 and 1320. Betaghry 
was dying out in the English land, and the former 
betagh population slipped into common freedom. 
Great numbers of the Irish living “ inter anglicos" had 
been emancipated by individual charters of freedom for 
which there was a fixed charge and formula. The outer 
Irish who had preserved the old order in the West, or 
on the borders of the Englishry, had by now either won 
complete independence, or the earls and great lords, 

1 We find the Justiciar in 1375 making » grant of English law to 
Nellaad Dermitus bis broth Tigei Domtal Ragts devene. runt ol ad fidem af Pacem area faye crplatet tose bosa et 
‘fal canfemarved-—at Chonaal, by request of the Earl of Demoad. 
Harris, Gollect., Il.,.p. 203, and Excheg. Mem. 18, p. 603. Yet Art 
MacMurchada ia ter was not admitted to the barony of Norragh, in- 
herited by his English wife, ‘4 
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incapable of subjecting so large a population of Irish, 
made indentures and treaties with them by which the 
chief, in return for certain services, ruled his own people 
‘undisturbed. Abandoning all thought of a revived Ard 
Ri and a general expulsion of the Saxon, the Gaelic 
chiefs were content to share with these Normans who had 
become so Celtic the lordship and spoils of Ireland. 

‘That the Statutes of Kilkenny were essential to their 
peace and freedom became the idée fixe of the common 
Englishry of Ireland; like Magna Charta, they were 
confirmed again and again, and the last time was at 
Poyning’s Parliament in 1494, but then was it shown how 
futile they had been, for the clauses against the use of the 
Trish language by the Englishry had to be repealed, 
since they could no longer be enforced among the 
bilingual people of the “‘ obedient shires.”1 The acts 
against fosterage and alliances were soon set at nought 
by collusion of the Anglo-Irish and the Crown itself. 
‘The very successor of Lionel in the vice-royalty, Gerald 
Earl of Desmond, in 1388 got the royal licence to have 
his son James fostered with Conor O’Brien, The English 
had failed to plant their own culture and it was inevitable 
that they should yield to the flowing tide of Irish speech, 
music, and minstrelsy. Ten years after the statutes 
of Kilkenny the Irish Parliament itself got permission 
to enact “ that Donal O’Moghane, Irish minstrel, may 
dwell among the English and be in their houses.’” ? 

Prince Lionel’s task was now finished, and he left Ire- 
Jand for good on November 7, 1366. Of his further career 
little need be said. A splendid marriage was arranged 
for this handsome young widower, with Violante, niece 
of Bernabo Visconti, lord of Milan. The marriage was 

celebrated with great pomp at Milan, 27 May, 1368, and 

» Statutes of Irish Parliament (1786): Chap. VIII. of Poynings’ 
Pasllament, k cya me goats Chatter" how thet il 
‘that every subject shall ride in @ saddle and those that speaketh of the 
donguage of the Virih ‘alone excepted.” 

IIL p. 220 and Pat, Rolls 49 Ed. TIL. For licence 
to Desmond soo Rel Come Hak B. 439. ‘The foster lather wes Conor, 
brother of Brian King of Thomond 1369-99. 
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Petrarch recited the bridal ode. But after five months 
of feasting and extravagance, Lionel was taken ill, and 
died October 7 in that year, leaving no child by his 
Italian bride. Thus the hope of re-anglicising the colony 
faded, and the titular Lords of Kilkenny, Carlow and 
Wexford left their Irish lands to the practical possessors.* 
Gerald, third Earl of Desmond, who succeeded to a short- 
lived brother Maurice in 1359, ruled as Justiciar from 
1367 to 1369; he was the natural head of the Patriot 
party, and, known to the Irish as “ Gerald the Poet” 
because he composed in Irish verse, he became in later 
days the hero of both races.* 

In several fields was it now shown how formidable 
the native chiefs had become. Brian O’Brien, the new 

of Thomond, overthrew the Earl of Desmond 
“with all the English of Munster” in battle at Monas 
teraneany near Croom, and took the Earl prisoner, 
while ‘‘ his army was cut off with incredible slaughter" 
on July 10, 1370.* Brian then pushed on and captured 
the mainland part of the city of Limerick ; the citizens 
capitulated ; and O’Brien set Sida Og MacNamara as 
Warden over them. But MacNamara was slain in an 
immediate rally of the burghers, and O’Brien retired with 
the spoils of the fifth richest city in Ireland. 

It was ever the wish of the Council and loyal English 
to have an English viceroy, and in June 1369 Sir William 
de Windsor, one of Lionel’s Knights, arrived with the 
high title of King’s Lieutenant, with a salary of a thousand 
marks yearly. De Windsor had to cope with the Irish 

+The Irish Parliament did again in 1368 petition for the return of 
‘the absentees, and a statute was enacted at Guilford that absentees 
should retum before Easter 1369 with their families and with armed 
forces, or forfeit their Trish lands. By Act of 3 R. 2 two-thirds of the 
‘estates of persistent absentoes should revert to the Crown. There is 
spo evidence of any, ble return however, and estates were often 

seized. Seneschals however continued to be appointed 
for abventee Lorde of Liberties. Gilbert's Viceroye p. 30 and. Berry 

op: 
Irish in Knowledge of the Irish lanj 

"Laud Annals, ie gta py a Loy on 
‘The King’s Lieutenant, De Windsor, had to ransom Desmond from 
O'Brien. 
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resurgence, and make the colony pay for the wars 
necessary against the Irish enemy. The sums which he 
wrung out of the dwindling colony, however, made the 
whole Anglo-Irish cry out against him. Treating apart 
with the citizens of Dublin and Drogheda, the knights 
of Louth and Meath, and the prelates, he extorted their 
consent to money-grants which should only have been 
made in the full Estates. Again at Kilkenny, in Hilary 
1371, the prelates, peers, and commons of Parliament 

were forced into granting £3,000 “ of their own pure and 
spontaneous will” and, to complete the terrorism, 
Windsor summoned a parliament to Baldoyle in Trinity 
of the same year, and in this poor village the chapel where 
the Estates met was so small and lodging so difficult that 
the Commons “' worn out with the tedious stay " granted 
a further £2,000 so as to be able to depart. These sums 
were professedly for the defence of the “ English land ” 
but the amounts, and the method, revived Anglo-Irish 
sentiment ; the King was appealed to, and in October 
1371 revoked all Windsor’s exactions, and recalled him 
in March 1372. 

The Irish danger, however, soon brought him back 
again. The Council had reported to the King in 1371 
that “ O’Brien, MacNamara, and nearly all the Irish of 
Munster, Leinster, and Connacht, and many English have 
risen and are confederated to make an universal conquest 
of all Ireland.” The very Government, under one of the 
Trish earls, stooped to buy off a chief who threatened the 
capital itself, and Black Rent began as. a way of staving 
off the ruin of the Anglo-Irish state. For in 1372 the 
Earl of Kildare, Custos of Ireland, and the Council offered 
Donnchad MacMurchada twenty marks as a reward for 
“ the safe keeping of the royal roads between Carlow and 
Kilkenny ” and the triumphant chief gave his receipt 
in royal style from his seat at Fynnor, as “ Donat 
Kevenagh called MacMurgh.” ? 

4 
tere at gl li woth 7 ven a Dosa MER nf 
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In 1372 a “ Great Council ” met at Dublin to consider 
the state of the realm, and the assembly called upon the 
King to send over Edmund Mortimer, Earl of March, 
who was now twenty-one years of age, married to Lionel’s 
daughter Philippa, and thus made Earl of Ulster But 
Mortimer was engaged with his Welsh lands, and instead 
the English government, for the King was sunk in pre- 
mature senility, sent De Windsor over again as “ guber- 
nator et custos"” He was to receive some £11,250 from 
the English Exchequer and was empowered to levy the 
subsidies extorted n 1370-1 though the King had repealed 
them. 

Naturally his two years of office (April 1374 to July 
1376) were stormy years, for, if the bankrupt English 
government was resolved that Ireland should pay for 
itself, the Patriot party was determined to have no mere 
English knight over-riding their parliamentary liberties 
‘A Great Council at Kilkenny, in the summer of 1374, 
where the magnates were especially numerous, rejected 
the demand for a subsidy, and the Archbishop of Armagh, 
Milo Sweteman, took the chief part in opposing the 
viceroy. 

It is possible that a despotic government on French 
lines would have better suited the needs of Ireland; 
at all events the gift of representative institutions to the 
English colony barred out all vigorous action on the 
Crown’s part. Advised by the returned De Windsor, 
the English government in 1376 tried the way of a legis- 
lative union, and issued writs to James Earl of Ormond 
as Justiciar to cause sixty representatives of the Irish 
Estates to appear before the Council of England, to treat 
with the latter on the affairs of Ireland, for the latter end 
of July 1376. The sixty were to be elected, two from 
each county as representing nobles and commons, two 
clerics from each diocese, and two members from each 

1 The Great Council (Magnum Concilivm) was an ed and 
oligarchic form of Parliament, To that of 1374 were summoned 16 
Drelates, 16 abbots and priors 3 earls, 39 barons, members for 6counties 

liberties and the mayors or sovereis rele Of Edmund 
Morciner was grandsoa of the frre Bar of is father Roger had 
died in 1360, 
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town. The Anglo-Irish at once sensed a design to abolish 
their parliamentary institutions, and rule them directly 
from England with advice of occasional delegates from 
Ireland. They were indeed as little disposed to abate 
their constitutional liberties as the Parliament of England 
itself, and in the Irish parliament the Archbishop of 
Armagh answered for the clergy that '“ we are not bound 
according to the liberties, rights, laws and customs of the 
Church and land of Ireland to elect any of our clergy and 
send them to England for the purpose of holding parha- 
ments or councils in England,” and the whole body of 
nobles and commons of Ireland declared “‘ unanimously 
and with one voice” that, according to the rights and 
liberties enjoyed from the time of the Conquest and 
before, they were not bound to send such representatives 
and though they now elected such, they reserved the right 
of assenting to any subsidies made in their name, more- 
over their present compliance was not hereafter to be 
taken in prejudice of the rights, laws and customs 
which they had enjoyed from the time of the Conquest 
and before. 

Before such a firm and universal protest recalling that 
of 1341, the English government withdrew ; the first 
attempt at an Union failed; and though the delegates 
went to England, we hear of no results either by way of 
ordinance or subsidy from their errand.! 

Of the two patriotisms in Ireland, that of the Anglo- 
Trish, which Desmond had headed in 1331-41, had scored 
once more over a centralising viceroy ; in the struggle 
for constitutional rights the Anglo-Irish followed the 
mother country and could boast a legislature as pre- 
cociously mature as that of England was. That their 
lives and lands were in danger from the Irish enemy 
seemed of little importance to them beside their con- 
stitutional liberties. 

| For the whole matter of 1374.6 see Fosdore. 111. R: Il p. 1059, 
and Lynch's Legal Institutions p. 29. The writs summon the Irish 
Fepresentatives ad parliamentum Angle, the text penes Comite 
nosirwm. The English parliament of that year ended on July 10, 
1376, and so apparently the Council was meant ; it is not clear there- 
fore whether the idea of the English Government was to re-inforce the 
English parliament as such with elected members from Ireland. 
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Luckily for the threatened colony, the Irish chiefs, 
though they might take towns (and never again was a 
place so great as Limerick taken) could be bought off 
by Black-rents, and as they were all battle-leaders they 
fell frequently in those battles which they waged with 
the loyal Englishry. Thus the Donnchad MacMurchada 
whom we saw bought over in 1372 was slain in 1375 
by Geoffrey de Valle near Carlow. In 1377 the very 
Parliament of the Pale bought off out of a depleted 
Exchequer one of the O'Briens, and the transaction 
perhaps marks the lowest point yet reached in dignity 
by the Norman conquerors of Ireland. The Close Rolls 
record how, at the Parliament of Tristeldermot in Lent 
1377, the Justiciar, James Earl of Ormond, the Chancellor 
and other officers, with the Council and the prelates, 
magnates, nobles and commons of Ireland, considered 
among other things how Murgh O’Brien,” who with a great 
force of Irish of the parts of Munster is now in the parts 
of Leinster in aid of the Irish of Leinster, and meditates 
making war on the King’s lieges there, might best be put 
back from Leinster,” and it was agreed that the said 
Murgh should have 100 marks on condition he would 
withdraw without delay from Leinster—for doing which 
the said Murgh, before the said Justiciar, Chancellor, 
etc., took his corporal oath on the Holy Gospels, where- 
upon the clergy, magnates, and commons of the counties 
of Dublin, Kildare, Kilkenny and Wexford freely granted 
the said 100 marks save nine—“ but as the said Murgh 
would not depart unless full satisfaction were made it was 
agreed that the said nine marks be paid to the said 
Murgh out of the Treasury of the Lord the King.” » 

Lieu Stetsive MAT “ Murgh " O'Briea was Murchadh “ na 
Raishnighe,” son of ‘Ban and head of the dispossessed Clan- 
Brian-Rua which had located itself east of Loch Derg in Aradh and 
were latter called Mac-Ui-Bhriain or MacBrien of Ara, The exag- 

‘of Murchadh's great raid were still vivid in Munster 
Ee" Spenser’s day, for he says in his View of the Stale of Ireland that 

‘“Morrice of the Fern,’ made himself master 

Titer which with = mighty erm 
3a soon after created bimsell King, and was called King of Ireland,” 
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James Earl of Ormond succeeded De Windsor as 
Justiciar from 1376 to 1379, at the old salary of £500, 
for the English government, bankrupt at home, thought 
only of getting an Irish viceroy cheap, since, while no 
Englishman would serve on the unattractive service of 
Ireland for such a pittance, a native nobleman could treat 
the highest office of State as. a mere appendage to his great 
hereditary dignities, 

The Leinster colony, the true stronghold of Anglo- 
Ireland, was at this moment threatened by the rise of the 
greatest hero that had appeared among the native race 
of that province since Strongbow. This was the famous 
Art MacMurchada Caemhanach. 

The descendants of Donal Kavanagh, son of Dermot 
last king of Leinster, had in the first century after the 
Invasion, been vassals, tenants, and officers, willingly 
or unwillingly, of the Marshall Earls, of Bigod and De 
Valence, Lords of Carlow and of Wexford, but through 
all this. time they never abandoned their claim to be 
Kings of Leinster. This claim, never quenched by their 
subordination to Earls and Lords, the decay of English 
power and the absence of the titular Lords now enabled 
them to display. 

In 1281, as we saw, Murchertach MacMurchada and 

his brother Art were slain by the Englishry at Arklow. 
A son of this Art, Donal, was chosen king by the Irish of 
Leinster in 1327. The eldest grandson of Murchertach, 
Murchertach Rua, had a son also called Art, king in his 
turn, who, with his eldest son Domnall Riabhach, was 
captured by the English under Lionel of Clarence, and 
both died in prison. Then a younger grandson of Mur- 
chertach Rua, Dermot “ Lamhderg” or “ Red-hand, 
called ‘‘ Airdrig Laighen” or “ arch-king of Leinster 
by the native annals, ruled till in 1368 he also was cap- 
tured by the English of Dublin, treacherously it is said, 
and barbarously executed next year. 

Another MacMurchada, Donnchad, succeeded but 
was slain in 1375. Thereupon Art Og, the younger son 
of that Art who died in prison under Lionel, became 
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rightful heir, and for the next forty years stands out the 
foremost of Irish Kings. 

It was natural policy for the Government to play one 
chief off against another, and Dermot’s son, described as 
“Arth films Dermicii McMorghide Kenseley” was sum- 
moned in person to a parliament at Dublin held under 
the Earl of Ormond in Epiphany 1377, and undertook in 
the name of his “ nation and adherence” to take the 
King’s side against the insurgent Irish of Leinster, and 
was taken into service for a year at pay of forty marks. 
But the rising star of Art, son of Art, indicated him as 
the man to make terms with. Art Og, describcd by the 
Government as “Art Kevenagh, pretended captain of 
the Irish of Leinster,” immediately after his inauguration 
had taken the field with a great army of Irish and now 
demanded Black rent paid to his predecessor Donnchad 
in 1372, and, as the Government hesitated to pay, ravaged 
the counties of Wexford, Carlow, Kildare and Kilkenny. 
The Justiciar and Council therefore gave way, and later 
in 1377 paid the retaining fee which at the rate of eighty 
marks per annum became in the hands of MacMurchada 
the earliest of those hereditary black rents which till 
Henry VIII.’s time were duly and shamefully paid by 
the Pale.* 

It was at this time, for 1375 is generally reckoned as 
the year of Art's inauguration, that a bardic poem to 
celebrate the occasion was written by Eoghan MacCraith, 
and the significance of the poem is greater than its merits 
as poetry, for it signalises the return of Gaelic culture, 
which had disappeared from Leinster since the days of 
Strongbow.* 

The recognition of important chiefs as captains of 
their “ nations” or clans now became a settled policy ; 

+ Lrely on the Irish Annals, the Justiciary Rolls, Keating's Pedigrees 
and thoes of O'Clery (in the R.f.A.) for the Tiatonstip of these 
‘Kavenaghs and other facts about them. 

* Rot. Canc. Hib. p. 100 6, The biack rent of 80 marks was paid 
Fegularly to the Kavanaghe tll 1508, 

*R.LA. 23, F. 16, MacCraith speaks of Leinster as “ the golden 
Province "(nf leas-ainm Laighnidk an, Oi)” Srom its gold deposits, 
‘and by a piay on words, calls bimselt: the Gilder,” (om f-Orihir) 
Bieanor Hacks Kindly indicated the poem to me. 
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about the same time, 1377, the Earl of Ormond made 

certain payments to Turloch O’Brien “ constitutus per 
Curiam Hibernias cafitancus nalionis suac” for which 
he claimed repayment later in 1380, when he demanded 
also payment for troops maintained by him against 
“MacMurgh, styling himself King of Leinster.’ ? 

As the Normans had now abandoned the idea of a 
final Conquest, so the Gaels had abandoned the idea of a 
final Deliverance. They were, in fact, all through the 
14th and 15th centuries unable to uproot the great 
Norman families of Ireland. The class that did perish 
before them was the small nobility and the free tenantry 
whom the absentee Lords and the Crown of England left 
shamefully neglected. Such of these as did not disappear 
had, after another half-century, to turn Irish themselves 
in mere self-preservation, or take shelter under the great 
Norman families. 

For the Gaelic chiefs preferred, in isolated con- 
federacies, to ruin the towns, drive in the border settle- 
ments of the Englishry, and plant their people back again 
in districts apparently long feudalised. True the greater 
‘ones took openly the name of Rex Lagenie or Rex Ultonie, 
and occasionally such an one, invading deep into English 
land, was urged by his bard to proclaim himself High 
King at Tara, but even such a vain ceremony on the 
famous but abandoned hill was never achieved, and the 
hero would turn back content with Black Rent from the 
colonists, and a scarlet cloak, a fee, and the empty title 
“chief of his nation,” from the Dublin government. 

But though the military triumphs of the Irish were 
but partial, the revival of Gaelic tradition, language, and 
habit was universal : it captured the palatine lands and 
finally even the guarded Pale itself. Left without a 
University or the apparatus of culture, never reinforced 

1 Exch. Mem. 33 p.13: 3 R. II. Turloch, who died in 1308, was 
i claim of Tanistry 

‘Mahon, King of Thomond. Turloch was however driven out by Brian 
aud the Fail of Desmond gave him land fa the ‘Comeraghs, County 

faterford. 
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by fresh blood from England, the once promising Anglo- 
French civilisation of Ireland steadily decayed. 

The heart had indeed gone out of the English colony. 
When the historians cease the end of a State is at hand. 
Clyn ends in 1348 and the Laudian annals in 1370 ; the 
fruits of Anglo-Irish poetry in either French or in the new 
English had been few; and now the “‘ English land” 
could inspire neither historian nor poet. For the once 
wide-laid veneer of Anglo-French civilisation was wearing 
thin, and this is the burden of one of the few contemporary 
songs of the English in Ireland.* 

By graunting charters of peas, 
To false English, withouten leas, 

This land shall be mich undoo ; 
But gossipred and alterage, 
‘And leesing of our language, 
Have mickly holp thereto. 

In the vacuum of their own culture, the Anglo-Irish 
naturally turned to the wells of native culture, though 
their own statutes of Kilkenny forbade them to drink 
thereof. In the clash of the two civilisations, it was 
the Irish world alone which moved. The native princes, 
though content politically with their local lordships, 

aspired to rebuild the common culture of the whole race, 
of which they were the natural patrons. Numerous 
entries in the annals now suggest a revival in the fields 
of medicine, law, poetry, history and imaginative litera- 
ture which contrasts strongly with the silence of the two 
former centuries. 

‘As a symbol, for instance, of this revived spirit, 
Niall O'Neill king of Ulster, built in 1381 ‘‘ a house for 
the entertainment of the /iterati of Erin” at Emain 
Macha near Armagh, the most famous traditional site 
in Ulster, once capital of Concobar MacNessa the hero- 

1 Quoted by Davies “ Discovery of True reasons,’ ed. Morley, p. 
‘The verse charges the Government with countenancing " de- 

encrate English " and blames these {for resorting to Irish speech, 
Enternge, te 
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king of the Tdin B6, which had lain in ruins for a thousand 
a 

Edward III. died on June 21, 1377, and his grandson 
Richard, a boy of ten, began his reign on the next day. 

Edmund Mortimer, third Earl of March, was in 1379 

a young man of twenty-eight. Through his wife, Philippa, 
daughter of Lionel of Clarence, he was Earl of Ulster 
and Lord of Connacht, and on the Mortimer side he was 
Lord of Trim and of Leix. As husband of a royal prin- 
cess who combined the names of De Lacy and De Burgo, 
and as a great Irish magnate, his pre-eminence among the 
Anglo-Irish was admitted by all, and the Celts them- 
selves honoured a prince whom they looked on as first 
among the “ Old English ” of Ireland. 

The young Earl’s commission was made out on 
October 22, 1379, as Lord Lieutenant ; he was to have 
the revenues of Ireland, and in addition 20,000 marks 
from the English Exchequer to be spread over his three 
years of office. 

Landing at Howth in May 1380, and after collecting 
an army, Mortimer marched northwards and at Coleraine 
build a fortified bridge over the Bann and recovered this 
old outpost of the North. There the Ulster chiefs, once 
vassals of the De Burgo earls, came in and did homage in 
old Irish fashion :—“ The nobles of the Gael came into 
his house headed by the heir of the king of Ireland, 
namely Niall O'Neill. But Art Magennis of Iveagh, was 
taken prisoner by treachery in the house of Mortimer, 
and the Gael of Ireland took fear of him from that out, 
so that they and the Foreigners of Ireland avoided him.” 

Mortimer then invaded Tyrone; marched to the 
Shannon, where he recovered the royal castle of Athlone, 
and, continuing into the midlands, made war on “ rebel 
English '’ and forced O’More of Leix to admit that he 
was the Earl's vassal for hislands there. Finally entering 

1 eros Seictannia” 
by Lawles BRIA, spit), unter date Auge 74 Nal Oeil 
charged with threatening to make his manor-residence (manerium) 
at Hewynnas near Armagh, which is the Archbishop's land, Hewynnce ‘latly represents dm Eamhein now cniled the Navan Ring. 
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Munster, the Earl reached Cork, but died suddenly there 
from the effects of crossing a river in mid-winter, Decem- 
ber 26, 1381. 

Edmund died “* Lord of all the English of Ireland "— 
so the Gaelic annals call him—but now the lord of these 
‘was gone, and it was long before a viceroy was to make 
such an imposing march across the island. 

‘The Earl’s infant son Roger, now eight years of age, 
was left heir to the Mortimer lands, and later, in 1385, 
was also declared Heir to the Throne next after his cousin 
Richard. 

Under a new Lieutenant, Philip de Courtenay, the 
Trish Estates, in 1385, petitioned that in view of the great 
power of Irish enemies, English rebels, and enemies of 
Scotland and Spain, the King himself or the greatest and 
most trustworthy lord of England should be sent over. 

Sir Robert de Vere, Earl of Oxford, now had “ all the 
heart of the king” and in December 1385 Richard made 
him Marquis, and in October 1386 Duke, of Ireland, 
with almost full royal rights, But the King’s uncles 
would have no minion of the King, and in 1387 De Vere 
was an exile in the Low Countries, never having seen the 
realm of Ireland. 

So did ineffective viceroys fill in the time till “ the 
Lion himself came to the hunt” in 1394: and here we 
May pause to survey the state of Ireland when Richard 
II. visited his Lordship in person. 

Richard himself in a letter from Ireland, at the end 
of 1394, divided the people of Ireland into “ three kinds 
of people :—wild Irish, our enemies ; Irish rebels ; and 
obedient English,” the second being the hibernicising 
Norman-English, and the third, of course, the English of 
the towns and of the Pale. 

It was in truth the second class which had fatally 
thwarted the hope of a thorough conquest and anglicising 
of Ireland, for their lands “in the marches of war” 
resisted royal writs, refused royal subsidies, and evaded 
reliefs, homages and feudal duties. They stood between 
the Dublin government and the Irish who had recovered 
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so much of Ireland ; for the Irish could not be subdued. 
or brought under the Crown without the co-operation of 
the march lords, and so far from helping they had, as we 
have several times noted, stood between the warlike 
Justiciars and the Irish confederacies. Without the 
consent and aid of this “ middle nation ” Ireland could 
not be reconquered, and so far from reverting to English 
allegiance, this great class, which held a third of Ireland, 

was becoming more and more Irish in habit, speech, 
custom and sympathy. 

There was the point—the Normans in England, after 
being French till 1360, turned English and spoke the new 
English of Chaucer ; in Ireland the Normans, after being, 
and speaking, French ti!l 1360, turned first out of 
necessity, then with real affection, to the ancient un- 
broken speech and traditions of the Gaelic majority. 

It was at this time that the Butlers, though they lost 
north Ormond to the Irish, were generously compensated 
in the south and east. In 139x Sir Hugh le Despencer, 
younger brother of Thomas of that name who was created 
Earl of Gloucester in 1397, sold to the Earl of Ormond 
the castle and manor of Kilkenny, with Callan and many 
other fiefs, which he had inherited from Gilbert de Clare, 
that Earl of Gloucester who died childless in 1324. In 
1392, at the request of the Earl of Stafford, the King 
also granted to Ormond the custody of Stafford’s portion 
of the Liberty of Kilkenny. Thus did the Butlers com- 
plete their lordship in Ossory, and make Kilkenny city 
the home of their race.* 

The warfare of two hundred years had shown that the 
Irish could not be enslaved and the Normans recognised 
the fact. Thus in 1359, Ormond, being then Justiciar, 

1 Trish was now a companion language to French, and sometimes 
English, with the Normans of Ireland. Thus the Exchequer Roll 
which records the submissions of the Irish Chiefs in 1395 states that the 
Earl of Ormond spoke both languages (Irish and English) fuently— 
“gi bina édtomate sulgarite loguitr.” 

Carte Life of the Duke of Ormond (Oxford, 1851), pp. LXV.— 
LXXII, The FitzWilliams, barons of Knocktopher, and the Fits 
Davids of Iverk, both Geraldines, were bought out by Butler, Earl 
of Carrick, circa 1320: see Geraldines of Cownty Kithenay by Burt- 
chaell R.S.4.1. 1892-3. 
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made an agreement with Murchertach O’Brenan, lord 
of Idogh, the hilly district around Castlecomer in Kil- 
kenny; by which agreement, drawn up in latin at 
Kilkenny, O’Brenan swore to serve the Earl against Irish 
foes or English rebels, and himself keep the peace, re- 
ceiving from the Earl five marks of silver yearly. Again 
in 1400 Geoffrey O’Brenan for himself and his heirs 
became the liegeman and tenant of the Earl at six marks 
rent per annum, and bound himself to pay double fines, 
in Irish cdin. if he or his men should make transgression 
on the Earl's tenants; the Earl on his part to make 
amends for trespasses of his own men. 

The same tale may be told of the Kildare earls. That 
rich plain where they began was admirably adapted from 
which to spread into Carlow, Leix, and Offaly, and make 
retainers of Old English and Irish clans. We find in 
1351 Maurice, Earl of Kildare, and James, son of Lord 
William Bermingham of Tethmoy in Offaly, entering 
into an agreement by which the Earl forgives all actions 
that he has against Bermingham, and if the Ear] have 
wardship, by gift of the King, of Carbery and Tethmoy 
[for Lord Walter Bermingham the Justiciar, head of the 
family, had just died] he shall grant these lands to James 
at twenty marks yearly up to the majority of the heirs. 
‘James with all his forces and clan (‘cum omni posse suo 
et natione ”) shall oppose all and sundry from taking these 
wards—the King and Walter, heir of Lord Walter, alone 
excepted. If the Earl have not the wardship of the 
King’s gift, James shall hinder all others from taking 
them in the Earl’s interest and the latter shall reward him 
and maintain him and his lands in justice against all 
men—the King alone excepted. In later deeds of this 
kind even the King’s name is ignored, and it is a pure 
specimen of the kind of Livery and Maintenance agree- 
ment which was the chief barrier to royal law and 
authority in England of the age of Lancaster and York. 

Agreements with the Irish chiefs of the Midlands 
+ Carte op. ext. ; and Kil, Arch-Soc 1849-51, Pp 237—j and King’s 

Council in Ireland (R.S.), p. 52. 
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and Wicklow also stud the pages of the Kildare Rentals ; 
thus in 1358 Earl Maurice grants lands in Hy Many in 
Connacht to Donogh O'Kelly, free from rent for two 
years, and then for ever at rent of ten silver pence per 
annum. If the rent be not paid, the Earl can enter the 
land and distrain. He constitutes Donogh “ capitaneus 
nationis suae.”* 

Along with such terms these indentures provide for 
a whole catalogue of quarterings and tributes summed 
up by Tudor officials later as Coyne and Livery—exactions 
unknown to the feudal, but well known to the Brehon 
law. 

Compared with such lordships, the Crown in Ireland 
had as little dominion in Ireland as the last Carolingians 
had beside the Dukes of Francia, Burgundy, and 
Aquitaine. 

Such charters and indentures, the expression of 
sovereign right and the mark of practical independence, 
are found also among the Gaelic princes. Thus by written 
understandings O’Neill and O'Donnell strove to arrange 
that standing dispute over Inishowen, the vassalage of 
O'Doherty now Lord of Inishowen, the lordship over 
Fermanagh, and the homage of O'Donnell himself for 
Tir Conaill and Cenel Moen (the plain of eastern 
Tyrconnell) all of which O'Neill claimed as senior in race 
to the head of Cenel Conaill, and because Inis Eoghain 
and Cenel Moen had been four centuries ago the home- 
land of the Cenel Eoghain. The whole body of claim 
was an endemic cause of feud, but peaceful and legal 
‘ways were sought, as we see by various entries in the 
annals.* 

The new relations of Gaelic chiefs with the old hated 
“middle nation" were also based on fosterage and 
marriage. 

+ Rentals of the Earl of Kildare 1503 and 1518: Hist, MSS Comm. 
9th Report, 1883: part Il, XXXVIT. : passim. 
'* Ann, Ul, In 1412 Niall Og, the O'Neill, met Tarloch O’Dennell 

at Cacl-uisce and peace was made and O'Donnell rendered submission. 
In 1514 Aedh O'Donnell and Art O'Neill made peace on the bridge of 
Ardstraw and sew charters were granted by O'Neill along with con- 
irmation of the old ones, for Conch Moen, Inisbowen and Fermanagh. 
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So far the heads of the two Geraldines and of the 
Butlers had married English wives but they gave their 
daughters liberally to the Irish chiefs. Thus Joan, 
daughter of Maurice fourth Earl of Kildare, the first 
“ hibernicising " earl of his race, married Donal Cair- 
breach, the head of the MacCarthys, and their son Taig 
succeeded to the Irish kingship of Desmond. Another 
daughter, Elizabeth, marrying first Robert de Veel or 
Calf, baron of Norragh in Kildare, then, being widowed, 
married Art Og, son of Art MacMurchada, King of 
Leinster. Joan, daughter of the second Earl of Ormond, 
married Taig, chief of the O’Carrolls of Eli. 

In July 1392 James, third Earl of Ormond, was 
appointed Justiciar and ruled till the King’s coming. 
Son of the second Earl who died in 1382, Ormond was 
popular with the Irish, he spoke their language fluently, 
and was brother-in-law of one of their great chiefs, Taig 
O’Carroll. In 1392 the Anglo-Irish requested the per- 
sonal coming of the King, and Roger Mortimer urged the 
recovery of his Irish lands. The young King himself 
badly needed the prestige of some great military or 
diplomatic triumph ; of all urgent affairs those of Anglo- 
Treland cried most loudly for cure, and Richard, a true 
Renaissance prince, sensitive and subtle, seems to have 
felt deeply the reproach of Ireland, especially of the 
failure to conciliate the Irish race. 

Later, a private grief also, the death of his wife Anne 
of Bohemia, in June 1394, made him seek distraction, 
and the English Parliament at Winchester, anxious to 
see the prestige of England restored somewhere oversea, 
willingly voted a subsidy for the Recovery of Ireland. 

The English government had been kept well-informed 
of the state of Ireland and luckily the proceedings of the 
Trish Privy Council for the two years before Richard's 
arrival have come down to us. They enable us, with 
other evidence, to draw a picture of the problems which 
Richard had immediately to face in Ireland. 

1 Rall ofthe proceedings of the Kong's Comet in Tested, 39 od. Genres (OS bree f 6 1392-3! 
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The elements that the King could rely upon were 
found in the towns and the “ obedient shires.” But 
this area was dwindling, and the key-towns and castles 
were in danger. Thus the Dundalk to Mullingar line, 
which protected the colony of Meath and Louth, was 
threatened by the MacMahons of Monaghan, entrenched 
in the vacant Earldom of Louth, and by the O’Reillys 
of Cavan, who had to be bought off by the county of 
Meath in 1392, by permission of the Council, with a sum 
of eighty-four marks. 

Carlow town was now so hard pressed that in 139 an 
armourer was engaged to dwell there at wage of a shilling 
a day for three months to make arms “ against the Irish 
then proposing to destroy the town.” Next year the 
Council orders Carlow “ the head and comfort of Lein- 
ster" to have {20 in aid, and Tristeldermot is empowered 
to buy off Art MacMurchada with eighty-four marks. 

Yet the available Lordship of Ireland was still no 
small thing. Seven counties contributed whenever a 
parliamentary subsidy was struck. Though many inland 
boroughs were decaying, the towns were numerous, 
prosperous, and loyal. Athenry and Galway sent 
members to Parliament. Kinsale, the last great town 
along the southeast coast, was walled in 1361; and in 
accordance with the old policy charters of murage and 
privilege were given to fourtcen boroughs in this reign. 

Leinster and Art MacMurchada stood in the fore- 
front of Richard's survey of Ireland. 

‘Art Og had not only many family grievances against 
the English, but several of his own. The rich and 
important barony of Norragh in Kildare had come to 
him by his marriage with Elizabeth de Veel or Calf, 
heiress of Robert of that name, a barony held in chief of 
the Lords of Carlow by service of three and a third 
Imights. But, since the Statutes of Kilkenny, Art, 
though one of the Five Bloods, was an alien and was 
judged by English law incapable of succession to a feudal 
barony, though in fact it was in his hand. 

Norragh thus was a test case—can the “‘ mere Irish” 
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inherit and acquire English land? If Norragh should 
go to MacMurchada, then other such baronies would go 
the same way into Irish hands, and the work of the 
Conquest be undone. 

Well had it been if the Crown had divided the vacant 
Lordships of Leinster between the occupying English 
and the ancient Gaelic proprietors, but it would never 
allow the rights of its feudal peers to suffer, even though 
they never saw Ireland. Reginald, Lord Grey de Ruthyn, 
got the Hastings Lordship of Wexford in 1390, and 

Thomas Mowbray, Earl of Nottingham, got the Liberty 
of Carlow in 1394. The solicitude of the Crown for 
feudal absentees did more to ruin it in Ireland than any 
other thing. 

Turning from Leinster, the King found another 
derelict “English land "—the Lordship of Westmeath, 
once De Verdun’s land, now possessed by O’Melachlin 
and other Irish lords, 

Further afield, in Connacht, the two chief O’Conors, 
in order to end a succession dispute, had, in 1385, divided 
the old Sil Muiredaigh between them. From the first 
of them, Turloch Og or Donn (‘‘ the Brown,”) grandson 
of Turloch, younger brother of Felim of Athenry, came 
the race of O’Conor Donn. The other, Turloch Rua “‘ the 
Red,” grandson of Felim himself, founded the race of 
O’Conor Rua. A third branch was that of O’Conor Sligo. 
In spite of this one instance, the Irish dynasts were much 
more powerful than a century before, for the old king- 
ships had been restored with the old tributes and pre- 
rogatives. The practice of Tanistry (tamaiseacht or 
“ right to succeed,”) now generally adopted, in imitation 
it would seem of English primogeniture, did much to 
strengthen the ruling races. Succession wars, which 
had been so often raised by ‘ rig-domnas’ and members 
of the ‘ derb-fine,' did not cease even now, but at least a 
chief's rivals were fewer, and limited to those nearer 
kinsmen who were eligible to succeed by tanistry, whether 
brother, son, or uncle.! 

1 See MacNeill Phases p. 295. The Tenist or “next successor "” 
was legally appointed during the chief's lifetime. 
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Not the O’Conors but the Irish De Burgos were now 
the chief lords of Connacht, and the heirs of Edmund 
Albanach and of Sir William in Mayo and Clanrickard— 

of whom the latter “ MacWilliam Uachtar ” was regarded 
as senior—extended on every hand. But it was as Irish 
chiefs rather than feudal barons, and by much give and 
take with the Irish clans. Thus in 1340 MacDermot, 
O’Conors marshal, chief of Moylurg and Airteach in 
northwest Roscommon, “ extended his sway over Sliabh 

Lugha [formerly De Angulo's country] by the strong 
hand,” and in 1371 O Dubhda of Mayo “ recovered 
Tirfhiacra from the English and divided it between his 
kinsmen.” 

In the strict legal sense the Burkes were intruders 
upon the Mortimer lordship, but events showed how 
strongly they were entrenched there. 

On the death of the Earl of March in 1381 the Crown 
became guardian of the Mortimer estates, and in 1385 
appointed one Thomas O’Casey to be Seneschal of Galway 
city and receiver of the King’s rents in Connacht, with 
power to hold courts, levy the royal rents and appoint 
officers. The Burkes took up arms against this attempt 
to restore the authority of the Crown and of Mortimer, 
and in 1388 Galway revolted under the lead of Henry 
Blake and others, who delivered the keys to William, son 
of Richard Burke, and transferred to him the allegiance 
due to the King. 

The King’s justices, Milo bishop of Clonmacnoise and 
Thomas Hill, were sent to investigate the case at Ballin- 
robe circa 1390, when Blake and others were indicted 
for treason in joining William Burke “ the King’s enemy,” 
but it is significant of the ceasing of royal law beyond the 
Shannon that the sheriff, Walter Bermingham Lord of 
Athenry, refused the bishop escort, and the latter had 
to give the son of O’Kelly chief of Hy Many ten pounds 
in silver for his safe-conduct. The King’s justices could 
no longer make their eyre safely in the former counties 
of Roscommon and Connacht. The facts had to be 
accepted; the Burkes were pardoned and left in pos- 
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session, but Galway city was won back to allegiance 
by a fresh charter, making it a royal instead of a “‘ lord's” 
town, with a corporate body under an elected Sovereign. 
(January 1396). 

In the earldom of Ulster FitzUgolin or MacQuillan 
of the Route in North Antrim, Byset or MacEoin of the 
Glens, Savage of the Ards and a few other feudal families 
of Lecale in eastern Down with the burghers of Dowa- 
patrick and Carrickfergus were practically all that was 
left of De Courcy’s Englishry.2. The Clannaboy O'Neill 
ruled all the interior of south Antrim and north Down; 
O'Neill “ the Great ” of Tyrone ruled all central Ulster ; 
and Turloch ‘‘ an fhfona” O'Donnell, who reigned over 
Tyrconnell from 1380 to 1422, was also lord paramount 
over Fermanagh and O'Conor Sligo. 

Niall Mér “‘ the elder,” son of Aedh, had been chief 
of Tyrone since 1368; his eldest son, Niall Og “ the 
younger,” was now acting for him. 

The military strength of the Ulster chiefs rested 
mainly on these freelance mercenaries, the Scottish 
galloglass, who had not yet spread further south than 
North Connacht. The O’Donnells, who had first brought 
them in, remained the greatest paymasters of galldglaigh 
in Ireland. Their marshals were the Clann t-Suibhne or 
MacSweeneys, lords of Fanad in North Tyrconnell. 
With the Clan Sorley, or MacDonnells, who served 
O'Neill, came kinsmen called MacDugall, MacRory, 
MacGill and much later the MacSheehys. Some time 
before 1400 the marriage of Eoin MacDonnell, brother of 
that Donal of Harlaw who was King of Argyle and the 
Hebrides, with Margery, heiress of Bysct or MacEoin of 
the Glens, led the Island Scots to enter Antrim in in- 
creasing numbers and settle under this ancestor of the 

4 Hardiman's Galway, pp 160-1, and King's Council op eit p. 230. 
* The origin of eta is obscure. ‘thinks th 

came from Hugo (hence the diminutive * Ugolin ’) de Mandeville, 
wrhose lands lay inthe Route (Rita) of North Antrim. A Welsh origin 
“son of eee hhas been given, and the MacFirbis’ Pedigrees class 
* Clan Uighilin’ among the “Breathnaigh ' or Welshmen of Ireland, 
the others being Di Poer, Nugent, Eustace, Barrets, Toimin, 
Hodhil (MacHale), Lawless, Joyce, Clan Uilcin, and Gogan or Wogan. 

u 
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Earls of Antrim. Another Scottish race, the MacCabes, 
came about 1350 from the Isles, and became hereditary 
marshals to the O’Ruaircs, O'Reillys, Maguires and 
MacMahons, just as MacDonnell became hereditary 
“ High constable (drd consdbla) of Ulster,” and MacSui- 
bhne ” High constable of Connacht.” 

Such was the Ireland to which came Richard the 
Second, the first English King to land since John,and the 
last till James. 

He arrived at Waterford on October 2, 1394, with an 
army, we are told, of 30,000 archers and 4,000 men-at- 
arms.’ There came with him the earls of March, Notting- 
ham, Huntingdon, and Albemarle: this latter, Edward, 
son of the Duke of York, and the King’s cousin, was also 
Earl of Rutland. 

Richard had in 1394 restored the Lordship of Carlow 
to Thomas Mowbray, Earl of Nottingham and Marshal 
of England, husband of the grand-daughter of Thomas 
of Brotherton. Finally in 1397 Thomas Mowbray was 
created Duke of Norfolk. To this great lord fell the 
negotiations with the Leinster chiefs. 

It is clear that Richard's chief design was to recover 
Leinster by force or persuasion or both, and make it 
again an “English land,” then to bring the English 
line up along the Barrow to the sources of the Boyne and, 
abandoning Westmeath, to prolong that line to Dundalk ; 

thus taking in “‘ obedient land ” of all the counties from 
Kilkenny to Tnm, Kells, and the foot of the Ulster hills. 
With the disobedient English and the hostile Irish chiefs 
he would make other terms, but first he must secure what 
could be saved of the Pale. 

Art MacMurchada, aggrieved about Norragh and 
fearing a reconquest of Leinster, very naturally took arms 
aud burned New Ross before the King; but Richard 
sending Ormond and the Marshal off westward against 
Art's allies O’More and O’Carroll, cut his way through the 
vale of the Barrow and arrived in Dublin, where, at the 

+ So Froissart, but the Book of Howth (p. 453—extract from archives 
of King’s Remembrancer at W cheno oko pornten 
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Christmas season, he took the whole Irish situation into 
review. 

To his uncle the Duke of York in England he wrote 

us: ‘‘ There are in the land of Ireland three kinds of 
people ; the wild Irish, our enemies; Irish rebels ; and 
obedient English (irrois savages, nos enemis ; irrois 
rebelx ; et Englois obeissantz). To us and our Council it 
appears that the Irish rebels have rebelled because of the 
injustice and wrongs practised upon them for which they 
have had no redress, and unless they are wisely treated 
and given hope of grace, they will most likely ally them- 
selves with our enemies.” 

Judging by a later message from the Irish Council, it 
was precisely these “Irish rebels” or hibernicized 
English who were the true danger to the State, and it is 
notable that while Ormond actively aided the King, 
Desmond and Kildare gave no help. 

Richard now determined to do what no King or 
viceroy had done since the Conquest, and admit the kings 
oe primary chieis of the. to full le; Jegal status under 

the Crown. In token of his grace, he substituted for the 
leopard fag of England the arms of Edward the Con- 
fessor, a saint much venerated by the Irish. So says 
Froissart, and thus did “four of the princypall kynges 
and moste puyssaunt after the maner of the countrey 
come to the obcysaunce of the Kynge of Englande by 
love and fayreness, and not by batayle nor constraynte.” 
There followed a remarkable series of submissions, 
attested by legal instruments, by which the kings of 
provinces and some fifty of their “' urrighs "" submitted 

roto posi 

are in truth nothing bat sturd; besa (cig Coun Irland, 
P-255). Iquote ote Feoioect it ‘s translation (Tudor Trans- 

7 Vol. vi )e 
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and did homage. Richard renounced all idea of a Con- 
quest, and the Irish, under their natural leader O'Neill, 
decided to make a national act of submission, such as 
their ancestors had formerly sought in vain, to the 
English Lord of Ireland.* 

During the first four months of 1395 Richard received 
the Irish princes in person at Drogheda or Dublin, Kil- 
kenny or Carlow. The submissions were made province 
by province, and the royal Bloods were treated as 
suzerains over their “ urrighs.” The King as Lord of 
Ireland, and Mortimer as Earl of Ulster, received the 
homage of the Northern chiefs, save Turloch O'Donnell, 
who stood aloof and forbade his vassal Maguire to submit, 

Niall Og was now acting chief of Tyrone, his father 
Niall Mor being infirm. At the end of 1394 Niall wrote 
to “his most excellent lord Richard, King of England 
and France, and Lord of Ireland,” styling himself “ your 
most humble liege subject, Nellanus Oneyll, Prince of the 
Irish of Ulster,” and going on : 

aia faa got justi trea ora ministers for the wrongs 
satisfaction, as I have done. 

requital, begging you to receive me, into 
an 

‘he Tari of Uiter case he exact Som m 
fight to. And I am prepared to render to the Earl all rights which 
‘aro justly his.” 

Then, on January 19, 1395, in the Dominican convent 
at Drogheda, in the presence of the King, Niall senior 

2 The following pages are bases on a careful study and abstract of 
Exchequer K. R. Mem. Roll (18 K. 11.) in P, R. O. L., a roll of 17 mem- 
branes beginning “de insirumentis publicis indenturis et aliis muni- 
‘mentis tangent. terram de Hib, ad Scacc. per episcopum Johannem Sarum 
Thes. ‘Angie ‘beret, srotwatis."” The Roll of course contains 
Botary's Copies, co1 course, of the original submissions, 
and Mr, S. c, Ratclif of the P. Ee Kindly writs 1 9 a: 
yuiry of mine about the originals ;—" In Chan . Bundle 10 
Bie’sy we have an original decd (that of Nellancs O'Neyll the ekder 
for himseli and as proxy for his son), and ten notarial instruments 
recording and certifying other submissions. They are all unfortunately 
in a poor state of preservation.” I have not had time to examine the 
deeds thus described, 
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presented letters patent in latin from his son, which ran 
thus : 
2 ‘Niall O'Neill fhalerp ren captain of my nation, have ordained in my 

father, Niall senior, giving him power in my name, to 
dy 

, homage 
Sing und Eck In weno» Tae sey Eat te there pro: 
sents. Given at Maddoyn, the fifth of January.” 
‘On March 16, 1395, Niall, or “* Nellanus juvenis Oneyll 
capitaneous nationis suae,” did homage to King Richard 
in the Dominican convent at Drogheda, the oath being 
interpreted from Irish by O’Lacheran, a priest of Armagh 
diocese. Niall admitted himself Richard's liegemen, 
and swore to obey the King and his deputies, and come 
to parliaments when summoned by the King or his 
deputies. 

The rest of the Irish kings followed the lead of O'Neil 
the Great. Those of Ulster, who looked on O'Neill as 
their racial head, “ gubernator ” or “ princeps,” on the 
Earl as their overlord, and on the King as Lord para- 
mount, and who submitted at Drogheda during March, 
were Magennis, O’Cahan, O'Hanlon, MacMahon, MacGil- 
more, MacCabe, a galloglach captain, and John MacDon- 
ell’ chief of his nation, and Constable of the Irish of 

Ulster.” This was Eoin Mér, husband of Margery Byset. 
From Meath and south Ulster O Melachlin, Macgeo- 

chagain, O'Molloy, O'Farrell of Annaly, O'Reilly of east 
Brefni and others came in and submitted at Drogheda. 

Brian O'Brien, “ Princeps Tothomonie,” wrote to 
Richard early in February, offering to submit, and 
affirming that “ among all the English and Irish of your 
land of Ireland I have acquired no lands or possessions 

Maddoyn 1 cannot identify. Possibly it is Mag-duma, which 
Kogaa’s Onomastcan ghvas as he'namea of © aia cans oo -Artaaghe 
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by conquest, but only such as your predecessors, Kings 
of England, granted to my ancestors, and whatever 
complaints English or Irish have against me in this 
matter, I submit to be judged in the presence of your 
Majesty.” 

‘On March r, Brian did homage to the King in a room 
of St. Thomas's abbey, Dublin, his interpreter being the 
Earl of Ormond, ‘ lingua hibernica bene eruditus.”” 

Turloch O'Conor Donn, who claimed to be the true 
King of Connacht, delayed submission till he feared that 
Turloch O’Conor Rua would find favor with the King, 
and then wrote on April 3, from Roscommon as “ Teo- 
tricus O'Chonchowyr, Major Hibernicorum Chonachie 
dictus, vesier semper humilis obediens subditus” stating 
that the greater part of the Irish of all Connacht were 
subject to him (ymichi subswnt). Finally he appeared on 
April 29 in the Friars’ Minor at Waterford, and did 
homage on bended knee to the King, along with Brian 
O'Brien who now renewed his submission. Turloch’s 
oath bound him to be faithful in all things, and to come 
to the Lord Richard, King of England and Lord of Ire- 
land, and to his heirs, and to their parliament and Council 
whensoever they should summon him, and to do all that 
a good and faithful liegeman ought, and is bound, to do to 
his natural liege lord. 

At this imposing ceremony, which was attended by 
the Archbishop of Dublin, five bishops, and three earls, 
after homage had been rendered, the bishops of Kil- 
fenora, and Kilmacduagh, both Irishmen, attested that 
O Conor, as king of Connacht, had power to do liege 
homage for these nations—O’Hara, O’Gara, MacDermot, 
O’Madden, O’Ruairc, O’Kelly, O’Dowda and four other 
chiefs of Sil Muiredaigh, Also that O'Brien had power 
to speak for these—MacConmara, MacMahon, O’Conor, 
O'Lochlin, O’Hechir, and O’Dea. Of these, Tadhg O 
Kelly and Taig MacConmara submitted at Kilkenny. 
The chiefs of Upper Ormond submitted as vassals of the 
Earl of Ormond. Turloch O'Brien, son of “ Murchadhna 
Raithnighe,” Taig O’Carroll, king of Eli, two O’Dwyers, 
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and Philip O’Kennedy submitted at Kilkenny, on April25. 
“Tatheus Makarthy, Princeps Hibernicorum Desse- 

monic,” that is Taig MacCarthy M6r or Major as he styles 
himself, also wrote to Richard in a letter dated February 
13 from Ballaghath thus : “I submit myself and all my 
goods to your domination; I and my ancestors from 
the time of the Conquest were faithful to you and your 
ancestors ; I will attempt nothing against your Majesty, 

nor will retain any lands save those I hold from you and 
from my Lord, the Earl of Desmond.” Next, at Kil- 
kenny on April 6, Tadhg did homage to the King, under- 
taking like others to attend Parliaments when summoned. 
‘Two other MacCarthys also did homage. 

So far the terms had been honorable and advantageous 
to the Irish, but a different note was struck in those made 
with the Leinster chiefs from whom the King and the 
absentees designed to recover the old earldom of the 
Marshals. The natural chief of these was Art MacMur- 
chada who was recognised as Prince of, and answerable 

for, the ‘ urrighs ’ of the province. 
iyi dadentere made the 7h Gay of Jamnacy (tpi In a Stl et 

Property, and shall have, both he and hit men, wages from the King 
rm lands occupied by rebels against the ; 

"arthur and his men shall have and hold such lands as they may 
Conquer of the King and his successors as his true lieges and sudjects, 
dv enjoy thom. for ever in hereditary right. “Alo the King ball 
pews ighty sarin x your for ever together with the 

itage of his ‘wile ia the ony of Norragh.”"* 
By the same indenture were pledged Art’s “' urrighs"” 

in Leinster, O'Byme, O’More, O'Nolan, O'Murchada, 
‘Richards patent for Norragh is referred to in Rot. Cane, Hibs, 

156, under 1400, when it was confirmed by Henry IV. 
men.” etc., are in the text “ re hominy arma ator sn fen pio 
vantes de comitiva familia sew ajusdem Arthuri’’: like the 
transplantation to Connacht under fer Cromwell, the fighting arist« 
was to migrate and the pracefal labouring irish ri remain. The g 
gleigh bad not yet got to Leinster and Art’ 's troops are called in tn Lech 
co aa 1398, “retained kerns" (ceitherna congbhala), vit., light 
fan 
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O’Dunn, MacDavy More and others of Hy Kinsella ; 
they are to abandon Leinster at the date fixed and be at 
the King’s pay till they conquer fresh lands, 

These oaths were pledged on the Holy Scripture and 
the cross, and the Earl affixed his seal on one hand and 
MacMurchada and O'Byrne on the other ; the witnesses 
being Brother Edmund de Valle, Master of the Hospital 
at Kyllergy, and fourteen knights of the Leinster English. 

Then “ in a field at Balygory on February 16, Gerald 
O'Bryn, Donal O’Nolan, Malachy O’More, Murgh O'Conor, 
and other chiefs of Leinster did homage to the Earl 
Marshal, and thereupon Arthur MacMourgh captain of 
his nation, seated on his black horse, did liege homage 
under the same form as the rest, and bound himself, if 
he should not observe the conditions already entered into 
with the Earl, to forfeit to the Papal camera twenty 
thousand marks.”” 

Successively and at various places, Dublin Castle, 
Carlow, Leighlin and Tristeldermot there submitted to 
the King or the Earl, the petty chiefs of Hy Kinsella, 
MacGillapatric, O'Toole, O’Brenan, O'Demsy, O'Nolan, 
and the powerful captains of Leix and Offaly, viz. : 
Malachy O’More and Murchadh O'Conor Faly. 

All the submitting chiefs left hostages in the King’s 
hands, for the performance of their contracts; Art's 
hostage being the son of his brother Thomas Carrach 
Kavanagh. 

Finally “‘ on the first of May in the King’s ship called 
Le Trinitie in the port of Waterford came Terrelagh 
O'Concor Don de Conacia, William de Borgo, and Walter 
Bermygam who formerly, as was said, were rebels against 
the said King, who came on board and were created 
knights by the King.” Of these the second was the 
Clanrickard Burke or MacWilliam Uachtar, whose prac- 
tical possession of Mortimer’s nominal lordship in Galway 
was thus admitted. 

To crown the whole entente with the royal races of 
Ireland, King Richard during the negotiations, invited 
O'Conor, O'Neill, O'Brien, and MacMurchada to Dublin, 
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entertained them nobly, and on Lady Day made them 
Amights in St. Patrick’s Cathedral! The ceremony is 
described by Froissart from the relation of one Henry 
Christede, a squire of King Richard whom Froissart 
afterwards met at Eltham. This Christede told the 
chronicler that he spoke French, English, and Irish, for 
from his youth he had been brought up in Ireland and 
had spent many years among the Irish, for, one day while 
riding to war against the Irish with his master the Earl 
of Ormond, his horse took fright and carried him among 
the Irish of whom one, by a great feet of agility, jumped 
on the back of his horse, held him fast and carried him 
to his house ‘* which was strong, and in a town surrounded 
with wood, palisades, and still water called Herpelipen.” 
With his captor, who was a very handsome man, called 
Brin Costerec, Christede lived for seven years, married 
Costerec’s daughter and had two girls till “ Art MacMur- 
chada King of Leinster raised war against Lione! Duke of 
Clarence, and, the English prevailing, my father-in-law 
was taken, but was released on condition he would free 
me, which at first he would not do, because of his love 
for me, his daughter and our children, but finally accepted 
‘on condition he might keep one of my daughters. So I 
returned to England with my wife and the other daughter 
and dwelt at Bristol. My two children are married, the 
one in Ireland has five children and the one with me has 
six, and the Irish language is as familiar to me as English, 
for I have always spoken it to my wife and introduce it 
as much as T can among my grandchildren.” 

Expe. 
gf Meath (rece Ulster) Brian O'Brick, MacMurcoade and O'conor of 
Connacht. But which O'Conor was it? O'Conor Don, if he was 
ete on Lady Dey, would hardly be knighted again’on May I. 

fatertord. Possibly his rival, Turloch O'Conor Rua, came with 
the other three kings and was accepted as chief of the Connacht Irish 
by Richard. | Froissart’s “ Contruo”” suggests the Irish ‘O Concho- 
bhair Ruadh’: this would explain O’Conor Don's hurried submission 

extacions miles (Exchequer K. 
BIA. 25, HL. 8 fol, oy calls Tarloeh O'Concr * 
Iknight—Ridire Righ 
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“Ireland” continued Christede “ is one of the evil 
countries to make war upon or to conquer, for it is closed 
strongly and widely with high forests and great waters 
and marshes and inhabitable places. A man at arms 
being never so well horsed and ride as fast as he may, 
the Irishmen will run as fast as he and overtake him, 
leap upon his horse, and draw him down. They be hard 
people of rude engen and wit, and set nothing by jollity, 
fresh apparel or nobility.” 

It was Chri tede and the Earl of Ormond who in- 
terpreted for King Richard to the four Irish kings, and 
induced them to accept knighthood after feudal fashion, 
though they answered proudly that it was their custom 
for every chief's son to take arms at seven years of age. 
The haughtiness of the Norman towards his inferiors was 
foreign to these elected chiefs; they sat at table with 
minstrels, servants, and retainers, and ate and drank 
with them. Attached to their Irish raiment, these kings 
accepted with reluctance from Christede the linen breeches. 
and gowns of silk, furred with minever, which were 
necessary for the ceremony of knighting. So afterwards 
they departed, having asserted in a dignified aloofness 
the tenacious traditions of their race.’ 

So the King of England sailed from Ireland on May 
15, 1395, after eight months stay in Ireland. 

With the exception of the Leinster chiefs, the settle- 
ment had been a triumph for the Gaelic chiefs—indeed 
it amounted to that solution which the authors of the 
Remonstrance had proposed, of dividing Ireland between 
them and “ the middle nation." They established their 
argument that they had always held lands from the 
English Crown: whatever they had usurped they would 
surrender, and MacCarthy, O’Kennedy, and O'Neill 
clearly admitted respectively Desmond, Ormond, and the 

* The illumination in Creton of Art's meeting with Gloucester in 
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Earl of March, as mesne lords between them and the Lord 
of Ireland. After such binding instruments, no doubt 
could exist that now they had received legal status for 
lands and captaincies. That the Gaelic lords of land did 
not seek nor obtain such legal title tili Henry VIII. is a 
statement that cannot be maintained, though it has been 
asserted. 

But the settlement with MacMurchada and his 
“ urrighs ” makes one wonder how the English king could 
suppose, or the Leinster chiefs undertake, that such 
sweeping conditions could be fulfilled. Could Richard's 
parchment deeds effect it, the whole of modern Leinster, 
including Offaly and Leix, remote places which even the 
Norman conquerors at their best could neither conquer 
nor inhabit, would know the captains of nations and their 
swordsmen no more, and such humble and toilsome 
Irish churls as should be left would not debar Leinster 
from becoming once again an “* English land.” 

But where would MacMurchada lead his Irish captains, 
and where were the lands of “ rebels ” whdm they could 
dispossess ? We cannot suppose that the Leinster chiefs 
seriously meditated leaving the fair hills of their here- 
ditary province, to adventure among the O’Briens and 
O'Carrolls of the West or the soldier races of the North; 
and to oust Geraldines and Burkes, even where these 
were “ Irish rebels,” would have been equally hard. 

Whatever may have been intended, we know that 
Richard’s high hopes came to little. The Trish dynasts 
were glad of the additional prestige of a title trom the 
Crown, and were flattered when bards addressed them 
as “‘ knights of England's king.” 

But the Anglo-Irish Parliament, with its French and 
English speech, its feudal peers and bourgeois commons, 
was not an assembly where they would have felt at home 
any more than they would feel secure in the streets of 
Kilkenny or Dublin, and till the age of Henry VIII. that 

assembly remained devoid of Gaelic peers and commons, 
Art and his “‘ urrighs ” took no step towards vacating 

Leinster, and the Lordships of Carlow and Wexford, 
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like the Earldom of Ulster, for the most part remained 
Irish with but an English fringe, the nominal tenants of 
an absentee lord. 

‘The Gaelic annals pay little regard, and that partisan 
and vague, to these weighty diplomatic events of Dublin 
and the Rf Saxan. Indeed they seem to regard Richard 
as a foreign conqueror whom it was legitimate both to 
fight and to outwit. Thus they say of Art MacMurchada 
that “ he went into the King’s house at solicitation of the 
English and Irish of Leinster, but he was detained a 
prisoner on the complaint of the Earl of Ormond. He 
was afterwards liberated but O’Byrne, O’Nolan, and 
O'More were kept in custody.” Thus they justify Art's 
not keeping faith with Richard later. 

On Richard’s departure, the Earl of March was left as 
the one hope of the colony. He was created Lieutenant 
in April 1396 and held the office till his death. Leinster 
was still the test of power. Here Art MacMurchada still 
held Norragh, but he and “the Irish of Leinster” refused to 
depart according totheir engagements. The Ear] of March, 
therefore, backed by Ormond, made war on the clans of 
Leix and Wicklow, and finally in a petty encounter was 
achieved the ruin of the two Houses of Plantagenet and 
Mortimer. An Irish army under O'Byrne and MacDavy 
Mor menaced the Carlow settlements, and the Earl of 
March engaged them in battle at Kellistown near Leighlin. 
But his little force was overwhelmed, and Earl Roger, 
who wore, it is said, only the linen dress of an Irish chief, 
was slain, on June 10, 1398. The ill-omened name of 
Mortimer, to which Ireland had been so fatal, devolved on 
a young son, Edmund and a daughter Anne. 

Thus in an obscure Irish battle died the Heir to the 
throne of England, and the way was clear for the usurping 
Honse of Lancaster. Filled with fury and despair, 
Richard declared MacMurchada’s lands in Norragh 
forfeit, bestowed them on his half-brother Thomas 
Holland, Duke of Surrey, and granted the lands of Hy 
Kinsella, forfeited by the false Irish, to one John de 
Beaumont. Surrey was created Lord Lieutenant, and 
landed at Dublin October 7, 1398. 
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The Irish Council later informed the King: ‘‘ O'Neill 
is threatening war unless his hostages are released ; 
MacMurchada has told his wife that he means to have 
the barony of Norragh, and the arrears of his annuity ; 
meanwhile he has gone to Desmond to aid the Earl there 
against the Earl of Ormond.” * 

‘Under the insistence and obsession of Irish affairs, 
Richard made the fatal decision to return to that damnosa 
hereditas, to avenge Mortimer and vindicate the royal 
majesty against the Irish. 

A fresh army was raised and Richard, leaving his uncle 
the Duke of York to guard England, landed at Waterford 
on June 1, 1399, accompanied by the Dukes of Exeter, 
Salisbury, and Gloucester, and later by his cousin the 
Duke of Albemarle whom in 1397 he had created Earl 
of Cork.® 

From Kilkenny the whole army marched against 
MacMurchada, suffering terribly in the townless and 
trackless hill country of Wicklow, and as Art could not 
be drawn to battle, the King sent Thomas Ear] of Glou- 

cester to meet the King of Leinster, who, rejecting all 
ideas cf pardon and submission, declared “ I am rightful 
King of Ireland, and it is unjust to deprive me of what is 
my land by conquest.” 

The m eting between Gloucester and Art with his 
three thousand men, in some unnamed glen in Wicklow, 
as graphically told by Creton, and pictured in his text, 
gives us one of the few personal pictures we have of a 
mediaeval Irish king. Art is described as a fine large 
handsome man, of stern indomitable mien. His horse, 
which had cost him the price of four hundred cows, 
had neither saddle nor housing and rushed down the hill 

* King’s Council op. cit., p. 261, O'Neill above was Niall Og, for 
the elder Niall had died in 1397. 

"Richard's second visit is described ia a contemporary French 
poem by Creton, alxcady noticed. The Loch Gé annals 1398 (recte 
399) say: King Richard came to Treland and MacMurchads, King 

Leinster, was much weakened. MacMurchada went on a hosting, 
‘and the English of Leinster and Meath overtook him, and a great 
maay of the Saxons fell and many of MacMurchada’s hired keras, and 
four chicfs of Leinster.” 
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faster than any deer or hare. Facing the Irish king who 
was dressed and mounted as his ancestor Dermot had 
been, the illumination shows the serried ranks of Glou- 
cester’s mailclad English knights, the heroes of 14th 
century Europe, but useless in Irish war.1 MacMurchada 
demanded peace without reservation, and when Richard, 
who with his sorely-tried army had reached Dublin on 
July the first, heard this, he paled with anger, offered 2 
hundred marks for Art alive or dead, swore he would burn 
him out of his woods, and marched fruitlessly back to 
Waterford. There the news of Derby's landing et 
Ravenspur reached him, and the last of the Plantagenets 
sailed for Milford Haven on August 13, 1399, to meet 
his tragic doom in England. 

So Art Kavanagh, having first wrought the death of 
Mortimer, now by delaying Richard in ‘the wilds of 
Leinster let in usurping Bolingbroke and wrecked the 
unity of England for a hundred years. We may say 
that after Richard the English Lordship of Ireland in 
any real sense ceased to exist. Never again till Tudor 
times was such an attempt possible. Henceforward a 
Gaelic and Norman aristocracy divided the land, and only 
a few towns and eastern shires stood for that “land of 
peace ” which a century before had embraced the greater 
part of Ireland. 

1 The jiluminations to Creton’s poem (Herision MS. Brit. Mus.) 
has rveral tit been ilh fated ed. 1898, "em "eprodues al a 
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CHAPTER XII 

THE GAELIC REVIVAL, 1399-1449 

Tue year 1400 marks a new age for both England and 
Treland. For England, after one more brilliant thrust, 
came the end of her imperialistic adventures in France, 
dearly paid for at home by the wreck of internal unity, 
by the decay of all governance, and growth of local 
lordship, and by all those evils which culminated in the 
grand dynastic and aristocratic feud known as the Wars 
of the Roses, The realm of “ usurping Lancaster” 
was not only feeble in itself, but in actual extent was 
smaller than England had been for two centuries, with 
France lost, Scotland free, and the royal power only a 
name in most of Wales, the North and the West. 

For the Lordship of Ireland, we have a similar picture : 
an ever-dwindling ‘‘ English land,” the Celtic fringe 
growing into a broad mantle covering half the island, and 
in the rest, the once-Norman barons reproducing that 
particularism which was the general feature of Europe 
at that age, and showing as little reverence for legal 
Monarchy as Percy did in Northumberland or the Valois 
Dukes in Burgundy. 

The dismemberment of the imperial England of the 
Plantagenets was linguistic as well as political and racialp 
The new English of Chaucer became by 1400 the official 
and national language of England, and the worn-out 
French of the once-Norman court and nobility was put 
away.* 

But in Ireland neither English nor French had struck 

3On petition of Parliament in 1362 King Edward IIT. enacted 
that ‘ as the French language is much unknown in the realm, all pleas 
thall be pleaded before the King’s Justices or in the courts and places 
of other lords in English and enrolled in latin’: English Comstit. 
Docs. Adams and Si p. 128. 
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deep root and had a Statute of Parliament imposed the 
“mother tongue” on Ireland in 1363 it would have 
been Irish. Never officially recognised, Irish did in fact 
become the almost universal speech of Ireland in the two 
centuries from 1350 to 1550. An antiquated English 
survived in the towns and a few rural areas, and the 
heads of the Irish Government had to correspond with 
England in the new English. But the language of 
parliamentary statutes remained French or latin till 
Poynings’ Acts of 1495, and the nobility continued a 
form of the French which their ancestors had brought to 
Ireland, using at the same time the language of their 
Trish tenants and allies. 

Down to Richard IT., the kings and noblesof England 
had been Frenchmen, with a certain cosmopolitan 
breadth and tolerance. Now from the gloomy Henry 
IV. onwards, who adopted the new English tongue as 
one way of bolstering up his unreverenced throne, we 
have an Anglo-saxon England, hard, nationalistic, 
military, and insular, 

The new Lancastrian England had at first little time, 
and later little heart, to adventure on a Re-conquest of 
Ireland. While the revived French wars were on, from 
1415 to 1447, she had few troops to spare, and if hard- 
faced generals trained in France came over as viceroys, 
it was with small array and rather to carry out strafing 
expeditions than to make a gallant war and a noble peace. 

Gerald third Earl of Desmond, who died in 1398, 
after forty years in his earldom, illustrates how far by 
this date the Anglo-Norman of Ireland had become 
Irish. His affection for the native race was displayed 
when he procured permission for a MacNamara, though 
one of the Irish enemy, to go to Oxford to study, or 
again when he got royal licence for his son James to be 
fostered with Conor O’Brien.* 

+ Harris Collect, IIL, p. 209: De Windsor, by intervention of 
Desmond and” at request of our dear and faithiul son Conmar MacCon- 
marte chief of his nation,” grants permission to Matthew MacConmarre, 
cleric of the diocese of Killaloe, to go to England and study in the 
schools of Oxiord and elsewhere :, given at Limerick, 1375. 
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We find in Earl Gerald that sensitive temperament 
which, whether it came from their fabled Italian, or their 
actual Irish and Cambrian blood, recurred constantly 

among the Geraldines, and made them the most loved and 
longest lamented of the “Old English.” His father 
Maurice had been dubbed a “ rymour” by Amold le 
Poer, but we do not know whether he rhymed in French 
or Irish, But Gerald’s Gaelic verse was admiringly 
preserved both in Ireland and in the Highlands, and if 
it is not of much merit, we find it in the Earl's sensitive 
and reflective mind, His epitaph in the Amnals of 
Clonmacnois—“ he was a nobleman of wonderful bounty, 
cheerfulness in conversation, easie of access, charitable 
in his deeds, a witty and ingenious composer of Irish 
poetry, a learned and profound chronicler, and in fine 
one of the English nobility that had Irish learning and 
the professors thereof in greatest reverence of all the 
English of Ireland ” makes him a man after the heart of 
those Gaelic literati who so powerfully controlled Irish 
opinion.? 

The popular imagination took hold on Gerald and 
made of this princely and generous personality a race- 
hero alike of Gael and Old English. Like the Celtic 
Arthur among the Britons, it was believed for centuries 

that ‘“ Gearéid larla,” who was but asleep, would rise 
again on an enchanted steed from beneath the waters of 
Loch Gur to save Ireland in her extremity. 

Gerald’s son, Earl John, was drowned in the Suir 
within a year of his father’s death, leaving a young son 
‘Thomas, and between the youth of Thomas and the Irish 
fostering of James, son of Gerald, was acted afterwards 
a strange drama, 

More Irish even than Desmond, Clanrickard in 
the. West took the place of O’Conor ss King of 
Connacht. 

1 The Earl's verses are found in the Book of Fermoy and in the“ Dean 
of Lismore's Book "’—a latter a Scottish Gaelic compilation of 1512, 
and his French ones in The Book of Koss: see Croker's Popular Songs 
of Ireland, p. 287. 

x 
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In r400 the city of Galway was again in rebellion 
under Sir William de Burgo of Clanrickard, and in vain 
did the Government licence one Philip Taylour of Swords 
and others to reduce it and make what gains they might 
out of their privateering, for the land beyond the Shannon 
was lost, and in 1403 Sir William was himself made 
Deputy for Connacht and charged to enquire into Mor- 
timer’s lands there. His successors made the title 
hereditary, though without leave, and except that Galway 

city remained true to English speech and law, and the 
English and Welsh baronage preserved primogenitary 
succession, Connacht became practically an Irish land, 
To the Irish long accustomed to a racial division, 
MacWilliam was “ Lord of the Foreigners of Connacht ” 
as O’Conor was “ Lord of the Gael of Connacht.” So 
did Irish captaincy assert itself with the Burkes, and in 
3402 Walter Burke, grandson of Edmund Albanach, 
was made MacWilliam Iochtar, and Ulick or William 
Burke was made MacWilliain Uachtar and the former 
acknowledged the latter as his lord.t 

In central Ulster O'Neill of Tyrone reckoned seven 
urrighs, Maguire, Magennis,O’Cahan, MacMahon, MacDon- 
nell, O'Hanlon and MacQuillan, as his vassals, though their 
military service or “ bonnacht” rightly belonged to 
Mortimer. In Antrim MacDonnell, MacEoin, and Mac 
Quillan ruled. O'Neill of Clannaboy, Magennis of Iveagh, 
and other Irish races hemmed the English of Downinto the 
seaboard, where Savage of the Ards, White of Dufferin and 
other landed Englishry, with Carrickfergus, Carlingford, 
and Down represented almost all that survived of De 
Courcy’s time till the age of the Tudors. The Savages 
became practically hereditary Seneschals of Ulster, and 
in or about 1410 the Ulster colony sent a petition to the 
Government, praising the Seneschal, Janico Savage, for 
his noble defence against Irish, Scots, and Bretons: the 
signatures were almost all that stood for the Crown 

1 D'Alton Hist. Co. Dublin, p. 201, and Harris Collect: IV. p. 138, 
Deeds of Blakes of Athenry ed. iman p, 20, a de a dood of 1548 begins 

‘illelmus de Burgo miles ‘ictardorum dominus ac Regis 
axcellenciaa im Conacia captianeus.” 
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there. In the same year, the provost and commons of 
Carlingford wrate to the King : ‘ Our town lies in a valley 
between mountains and sea, facing the marches of Louth, 
and contains only twenty carucates of lowland and is 
often plundered by Irish and Scots "so the King freed 
it for a number of years from subsidies and military 
service. So the South Ulster border, a vital point, ‘“* the 
Gap of the North,” was lost, and communication with the 
northern colony had to be by sea. In 1302 Ralf Pipard 
had surrendered his lands about Donaghmoyne to the 
Crown, and how to get a defender for this marchland at 
the foot of the Ulster hills became a problem. Twice 
under Edward III. Donaghmoyne was let to Anglo- 
Irishmen, charged to build a castle there and settle 
English tenants. But finally the Lieutenant, Thomas of 
Lancaster, let it with the lordship of Farney in South 
Monaghan to the local chief, MacMahon, 

Of the lost provinces, John Talbot, later Earl of 
Shrewsbury, claimed the manor of Lochsewdy through 
his wife, a descendant of the last Theobald de Verdun, 
but in fact the Lordship of Westmeath had gone derelict. 
De Lacy’s baronage, Tuits, Petits, Tyrrels, Daltons, 
Herberts, Dillons and such still held their ground 
tenaciously there, save for the south-west corner along 
the Shannon, but they were now “nations,” almost 
oblivious of English law and feudal duty. 

So were most of the further colonists. Only by 
connivance of the great Earls and March lords could 
royal writs run and state taxes be collected in the inland 
territories, a connivance not always given. 

In 1399 the Council had complained to the King: “ the 
counties of Meath, Ulster, Wexford, Tipperary, and Cork 
which have been given as palatinate liberties yield no 
revenue to the Crown, which also gets nothing from 
counties Carlow, Kilkenny, Waterford, Kerry, Limerick, 

- ‘ 
Gomer Vp 342 nat fo fe petition soot ance Savage re 
the bishop, the Prior, and Archdeacon of Down, the Abbots 
aad Grey’ Abbey, the Sonuniey of the eity of Dow, te tows of 
‘Ardglas and Kilclief, and George Russell, baron, 
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Connacht, and Roscommon.” No doubt this was some- 
what exaggerated but substantially the nearer parts of 
Meath and Leinster were now all that was left of the true 
“‘English land.” The Absentees had ceased to count, 
and in Leinster the titular Lord of Carlow, now Duke of 
Norfolk, the Lord of Wexford, now Grey of Ruthyn, 
and Edmund the last of the Mortimers, Lord of Leix, 
were but empty names. When Richard, only son of 
Thomas le Despenser Earl of Gloucester, died in infancy 
in 1414, the Earl of Ormond became complete master 
of the Kilkenny liberty. 

It was to retain and reinforce the “ English land” that 
the martial viceroys of the next half-century came, 
But the race-recovery of the Irish and the rapid 
hibernicizing, which meant also the feudalizing, of the 
“Qld English’ made Anglo-Ireland even less sub- 
stantial than it seemed. No laws for defence of the Pale, 
nor absentee acts, numerous as these were, could check 
the flight to England, or into the towns, of the labourers 
who could not endure a land of war, of priests who would 
not dwell among the Gaelic-speaking people, and of free- 
holders whose places the lords preferred to fill with Irish 
tenants. The exodus of the lesser Englishry became 
marked, and the rural population became Irish again, 
for, as farmers, they were willing to bear heavier burdens 
than the colonists, and as fighting men they suited better 
the traditions of Irish war. In vain did statutes strive 
to check this many-sided emigration, and it would be 
hard to estimate which did more to ruin Anglo-Ireland, 
the flight of the freeholders and cultivators, or the de- 
parture of the learned. Lest the supply of lawyers, 
scholars and theologians should perish and as Anglo- 
Ireland had no University, the Government granted 
licences to spend a term of years at Oxford, Cambridge 
or Paris, but always with a fear, often justified, that the 
absenting one would never return. It is noticeable that 
the flight of ecclesiastics was mainly from Wexford, 
Waterford, Kilkenny and Louth, counties where the 
alternatives for the Englishry were to turn Irish or 
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emigrate. In spite of all penalties, there was a constant 
departure without return, and the English blood decayed 
rapidly in the “ obedient shires” themselves. Against 
such a tide all re-issues of the Kilkenny statutes or other 
such attempts to keep an all-English land were futile. 
For the Anglo-Irish lords themselves fostered the Irish 
revival, largely because they found the prerogatives of 
Irish kingship more lucrative and suited to native tra- 
dition than their feudal ones. Their ever-growing 
lordships naturally took a shape here after the traditions 
of Ireland and hence arose all those exactions—‘ coign, 
livery, mart, bonnaght, kernty,” etc.—which the English 
tenants would emigrate rather than endure. Coign 
and livery together meant the exacting of pay and 
provender for horse and man, and the quartering of 
troops. Coign—“ coinmhedh ” or maintenance—was the 
right of Irish kings to be maintained, as they travelled, 
by the country, and is parallel with the Anglo-saxon 
“* feormfultum ”’ and Anglo-Norman “‘ purveyance.”* 

Tomaintain thechief’s mercenariesand provide him with 
food-dues were acknowledged obligations that lay on the 
chief’s whole “country,” for he had but a private demesne 

apart from these prerogative rights. The hibernicizing 
English, who were already possessed of vast feudal rights, 
sought to add to them the prerogatives of Gaelic chiefs. 
The southern Earls, the Burkes of Connacht, and other 
great lords already had such rights over their Irish, and 
henceforth extended them over their English, tenants. 
The pitiable necessities of State aided gave colour to 

Pe achat a aermlog kgnepg eee epetnat to 
and government permission to go to English universities 

ek tig ate re aden roid Pak eet 
feave pote English aniveraies or at all events went there, we fe 
set cs Masinsanen Sorry, sl) Aree. HC 48a Meter Ue 

"the Great Master.” archdeacon of Devenish on Loch Eme, 
who spent Jourteen years continuously at Oxiord reading and lecturing 
(ag eum nn). 

‘erection from * coign is given in Nat, Fact, II. pl 
LXI cco 1160, from the Book of ‘the church of Ardbreccan 
is exemy by deed of the High King and the King of Loeghaire i in 
Meath from a tribute due to the latter, viz., one night's ‘ coinmhe’ 
every quarter of a year. 
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practices so hateful to r6th century Deputies and re- 
formers of Ireland, The revenues were so small and the 
Crown lands so negligable a quantity that the very 
ministers of the Crown had to fend where they might. 
The very act of the Parliament of 1297 that for the defeace 
of the English land “ each holder of twenty plow-lands 
shall provide a horseman fully equipped” was turned 
against the common Englishry, for the officers of State 
began, in default of an honest revenue, to quarter their 
troops on the English of the Pale, and thus put the act 
to strange effect. In 1404 the Estates, in granting a 
carucage of half a mark on the plow-land, made a con- 
dition that coign and livery be not exacted, and in 1410, 
that “ no Lieutenant or Justiciar shall put coign or livery 
upon the people.” But they had finally to connive at 
this convenient if hated method of providing for the 
defence of the Pale, and the great lords took example 
thereby. For by now every march lord had his hired 
kers or galléglaigh, the heads of Old English families 
became practically chiefs of nations, and the quartering 
and enforced payment of these troops at the expense of 
the tenantry, Irish and English, became universal. 

‘The change from seignory to chieftainry is seen most 
clearly in the Connacht Burkes. A Gaelic tract of this 
family in recording their mensal lands, rents and rights 
“ according to testimony of O’Dowda and the brehons ” 
gives eighteen score men as the “rising out” from 
Tirawley, and states that “the chief lord gets his rent 
first and every land whose inheritor could not pay his 
due tributes is proclaimed MacWilliam’s.” The March 
English now had their galloglass like any Gaelic chief. 
In 1399 the Mayo Burke brought the MacDonnells into 
Mayo, in 1420 the Earl of Desmond brought MacSheehy 
into Desmond, and by the sixteenth century there were 
six MacDonnell septs in Leinster. Well did these “ Norse 
warriors” earn their pay, thus in a famous fight at 
Atbligen in 1419 between the two MacWilliams only 
two of the galloglass on either side survived.! 

1 Historia familia de Burgo op. cit. For the spread of the Mac- sweenys see Paul Walsh Lesbnar Chiotene Sabina which (p. XXV.) 
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And yet in all the swollen lordships of the Old English 

there is little that cannot be found among the “ over- 
mighty subjects” of the England of the same age.’ 

Embarrassed as it was at home, Henry IV.’s govern- 
ment had to turn its eyes towards Ireland. For one 
thing, that formidable rising of Owain Glyndwr in Wales 
seemed like stirring the troubled waters of Celtic Ireland 
too. This great Welshman tried to bring malcontent 
Treland into a league of Welsh, Scots, and French against 
the Saxons of England. In November ror he sent 
messengers with letters in latin to the “ lords of Ireland ” 
urging them to send him aid against “ our and your deadly 
foes, the Saxons,” and though we do not know who these 
were, it is probable that Art MacMurchada whose armies 
held the field within a short sail of Wales, was among 
them. But Owain’s messengers were captured ere they 
got oversea, and executed without pity, and Glyndwr 
afterwards neither sought nor found help from Ire- 
Jand.* 

In effect, the formidable Art had been mollified by a 
re-grant from Henry of Richard’s patent of January 1395, 
securing to him the fee of eighty marks per annum, and 
the heritage of his wife in the barony of Norragh. This 
was done at the request of Sir John Stanley, who came 
over as Lieutenant in March 1400, who wrote that 
MacMurchada was “the most dreaded enemy of the 
English in Leinster.” Thus Art became a feudal baron 

records Turloch O'Donnell’s terms with his galloglaigh between 1380 
and 1399. ‘O'Donnell bestowed on Clann Suibhne six scores of axes 
of buannacht bona (maintenance at cost of O'Donnell’s subjects) out 
of Tyreonnell in. perpetuity for ever, also the right to & crcat 

I once a year (at the people's expense). the spending of 
in each manell, two ballybetaghs in Fanad, 

ted wert ost by OD Peright side when visiting him. Mac: 
Suibhne to furnish to O'Doanell’s rising out two galloglaigh for every 
quarter he held.” 

3" The Earl of Devon and Lord Bonville carried on a quarrel of 
such ferocity from 1440 to 1455 that the law was unable to stem the 
torrent of murders, robberies and devastations that resulted. The 
Earlof Devon alone was said to be followed by eoo horsemen and 4,000 
foot" (quoted in Bennets’s The Pastons and their England. p. 191). 

5 Adam of Usk ed, Thompson pp. 72:3. 1 owe this note to the 
kindness of Professor J. E. Lloyd of University College, Bangor. 
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but it did not prevent bis making constant war upon the 
English.+ 

To satisfy the demand of the Anglo-Irish for a Prince 
of the Blood, the King’s second son, Thomas of Lan- 
caster, was made King’s Lieutenant in July xgor, and 
held this office nominally till 1413. 

A mere boy of fourteen, the Prince arrived in Ireland 
on November 13, ror. His chief support was in the 
gallant burghers of Dublin, who under Mayor Drake and 
carrying the time-worn black flag of their city, marched 
out against O’Byrne and slew near five hundred of his 
men near Bray? But the mere advent of the “ King’s 
son” alone reminded some of the Insh chiefs of 1395, 
and in December 140r Maurice O’Conor Faly, Donal 
O'Byrne, and two Ulster chiefs, Eoghan O'Reilly and 
Eochy MacMahon, submitted on very honorable terms. 
Thus after MacMahon had by indenture bound himself 
to be in future the King’s faithful liegeman against all 
his enemies and rebels, Lancaster granted to him the land 
and lordship of Farney in South Monaghan, the castle 
of Louth alone excepted, for life at rent of ten pounds per 
annum. Thus the whole lordship of the Pipards went 
to an Irish chief by English law, and the South Ulster 
frontier was abandoned.* On November 8, 1403, Lan- 
caster left Ireland and his Deputy, Sir Stephen Lescrop, 
and James fourth Earl of Ormond, who succeeded his 
father in 1405, ruled the English colony. Along with 
the Earl’s brother Thomas le Bottiler, Prior. of Kil- 
mainham, called “ bacach” or “lame,” they won a 

Trestcoanta, poll in (art trom the English’ Bxchewes 
generally su] le the older Justiciars paid at the inadequate sum of 
£500 p. &. In 1425 the fee of Lord Talbot was fixed at £1,000, the old 

being inadequate (Harris Coll: IV. pp. 288-90). 
"Rot, Canc, Hi. p. 155. Final in May, 1425, James Earl of 

Ormond, Kin, a Laculaat ranted, the whole teritry af rent, to 
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smashing victory at Callan on September 14, 1407, when 
Taig O'Carroll, the Earl's brother-in-law, fell on the Irish 
side—a hero of the native literati and “a man of great 
accoumpt and fame with the profess ors of poetry and 
mousic in of Ireland and Scotland."! 

Again on August 2, 1408, Prince Thomas returned 
charged to make war on MacMurchada, to resume the 
Crown’s demesnes, enforce the absentee acts, and bring 
two families from every parish in England to re-plant 
Ireland. But it was too late for such a programme. 
Lancaster’s servants having come to blows with those of 
Kildare when this earl had come to kiss hands, the Prince 
imprisoned Kildare in Dublin castle and only released 

him for a fine of three hundred marks. The pride of the 
“English by blood” was roused, and Lancaster, tiring 
of his duty, finally departed in June 1409, Made Duke 
of Clarence in 1412, his fate was to fall at Beauge in 
1421, in one of those wars of France which the princes of 
England ever preferred above the dull stateman’s task 
of saving their Irish Lordship. 

On March 21, 1413, Henry the Fifth ascended the 
English throne and with him a narrow and aggressive 
English patriotism measured itself against French, 
Scots, Welsh and Irish. A premature “ constitu- 
tionalism ” in fact meant the triumph of an oligarchic, 
anti-Lollard, anti-labour, land-enclosing upper class. To 
these and to Englishmen generally, the non-English 
parts of the Three Kingdoms were proper subjects for 
horror and fear, and it must be allowed that what the 
English heard and saw of the raids and ravages of Scots, 
Welsh, and Irish on the hard-pressed Anglo-saxon race 
almost justifies the sturdy Englishism which was still 
traditional in Shakespere’s day.? This England made 

1 Ann. Clonmacnoit. While the fourth Earl of Ormond, “the 
White Earl,” succeeded in 1405, Gerald fifth Earl of Kildare was suc- 
ceeded in 1410 by his son John, and he in 1427 by his son Thomas who 
mabe 2487-7. 

Celtic bards, ax inciters of the patriotic fighting spirit, were 
especialy obnoxious to the Englih. In 1409 a statute forbade the 
bards to follow their vocations in North Wales. This was in the mind 
of Sir John Stanley who came over as King’s Lieutenant in October, 
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however one gift to Ireland, that of Lancastrian par- 
liamentarianism. The Anglo-Irish secured the full 
triumphs of the years 1399-1435; and the smaller grew 
the Pale the greater was the Home Rule it enjoyed. 
But soon to their surprise the Anglo-Irish found that their 
neighbours confounded them in a common dislike with 
the native Irish. The Dublin parliament of 1409-10, 
held under Thomas le Botiller, Prior of Kilmainham, 
reflected all the ills and prejudices of the English colony. 
“The exacting of coign and livery by Lieutenants and 
others is declared treason. Parliament shall not be 
adjourned or discontinued without cause shown. Mariners 
may not convey labourers or servants beyond sea. No 
Irishman adhering to the enemy may pass beyond sea 
by colour of going to the schools of Oxford, Cambridge 
or elsewhere, and no one such shall have letters of deniza- 
tion unless he give security not to adhere to the Irish 
enemy.”” To the second of these the King replied “let 
the form of adjournment be after the manner of England.” 
But England was more interested in the labour problem 
and how to rid the land of aliens and vagrants than in 
backing the anti-Irishism of the Irish parliament. In 
May 1413 the Estates at Westminster enacted that 
“Trishmen and Irish clerks, beggars, shall depart out 
of England, save graduates, sergeants and apprentices 
at law, religious and merchants born in Ireland for quiet 
and peace within this realm of England and for the 
increase and filling of the realm of Ireland.” This was 
followed by a similar act in 1476. The Irish parliament 
had enacted in 1380 that men of Irish nation and enemies 
of the King should not obtain Church promotion, which 
the King granted. In 1416 the Parliament of England 

1413. The Four Masters say: “he was a man who gave neither 
mercy nar protection to jen hea ee the poets), 
bat fubjected a8 many. as he could to cold, hardship, and famine. 
He plundered Nal GHiggin at Unneach is ‘But when 
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confirmed this ‘* because men of Irish nation being pre- 
lates, abbots or priors bring Irish servants to Parliament 
and these find out the secrets of the English.” 

This was complying with a vengeance. Again, in 
the first year of Henry VI., 1422, the English Parliament 
declared :—‘‘forasmuch as divers manslaughters and 
other felonies have been done of late in divers counties of 
England as Oxford, Bucks, Wilts and Berks, as well by 
divers persons resorting to the town of Oxford as by others 
dwelling there under jurisdiction of the University, of 
whom some are lieges of our lord the king born in Ireland, 
the others are not lieges at all but enemies to him and his 
kingdom called “ wylde Irishmen,” and their malice and 
misdeeds continue from day to day to the great slander 
of the said University which is the fountain and mother 
of our christian faith . . . therefore it is enacted that all 

_ people born in Ireland shall depart out of the realm within 
a month after proclamation, except graduates in the 
‘schools, men beneficed in Ireland, men of the law, mer- 
chants, religious and burgesses of Ireland, Irishwomen 
married to Englishmen and Irishmen to English women. 
Irishmen graduates are not to have hall or hostel of their 
own but to abide among English scholars under prin- 
cipalty of others. Irish scholars shall only be entered 
into Oxford or Cambridge by letters under seal of the 
Lieutenant or Justiciar of Ireland brought to the Chan- 
cellor of England, otherwise they shall be treated as 
tebels.” ? 

The results of this exclusion policy were disastrous. 
Badly did Anglo-Ireland need men trained in law, letters, 
and the sciences. The project of a Dublin university 
had failed. The Anglo-French culture of Ireland had 
run dry, and if it was to be saved must be saved from the 
mother country. Even for the mere machinery of 
administration, Anglo-Ireland needed a supply of sons 
trained in English theory and practice. True, the 
measures seemed to hit only the ‘ Irish enemy,’ but it is 
clear that they hit the Anglo-Irish too who even when 

1See Berry I. p. 560-1, and Rol. Parl, IV. pp. 13 and 199. 
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they spoke their antiquated English were looked on as 
aliens in England. 

These answers from Westminster touched the Anglo- 
Irish on a very exposed nerve. England had in parlia- 
ment legislated sweepingly and ungenerously on a matter 
vitally affecting Ireland. In defiance the English of 
Ireland asserted their colonial nationhood and became 
more and more Irish as the century went on. 

Henry the victor of Agincourt had little thought for 
England's only colony. Yet the Lord of Ireland had 
no small pride in his other realm and on one 5] 
occasion the name of the Kingdom of ireland was proudly 
uttered among the kings and bishops of Europe. At the 
Council of Constance in 1415 over which the Emperor 
Sigismund presided, was debated a point on which the 
Cardinal of Cambrai had written learnedly but with 
French bias, namely whether the envoys of France had 
precedence over those of England “a mere German 
province,” and the English ambassador gained his point 
thus :—" Europe was from of old divided into four 
empires or regna, that of Rome, that of Constantinople, 
that of Ireland and that of Spain ; but as that of Ireland 
has been by Adrian's Bull translated to England, it is 
manifest that the King of England and bis kingdom are 
among the more eminent and ancient kings and kingdoms 
of Europe, which prerogative the kingdom of France is 
not said to obtain,” * 

‘Again a great viceroy was found in John Talbot, 
Lord Furnival, who landed on November, 1414, as Lord 
Lieutenant for six years with a yearly salary of 4000 
marks paid from the English Exchequer. This“ ancient 
fox and politique captain ” as Hall calls him, made later ~ 
Earl of Shrewsbury, was now thirty-six years of age, and 
was the born soldier to the end till he fell at Castillon 
forty years later. Talbot had a lear idea of what Ire- 
land wanted or rather what he meant to do with Ireland, 
and it was D’Ufford’s and D’Arcy’s idea of a century 

+ See Ware's Works concerning Ireland Il. p. 173, and" Ireland and 
the Making of Britain” by Benedict Fitzpatrick (1922), pp. 190-2. 
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before—to crush the Irishizing March lords, and to clear 
the frontiers of the English land. A man of action, he 
Plunged at once into his policy of an Ireland made English 
again, and carried the royal banner far into Meath, 
Ossory and Munster, so handling Irish and Normans in 
these strafing expeditions as that the Annals of Ulster 

say “ from the time of Herod there came not anyone so 
wicked.”? But most of his energies went into a long feud 
with. the Anglo-Irish. Talbst was doubly a returned 
Absentee, his wife Joan Neville being claimant to part 
of the Verdun lordship of Westmeath, and himself by 
descent from De Valence a claimant to the Honor of 
Wexford as against Lord Grey. The Old English could 
never stomach returned absentecs, and the Earl of 

Ormond headed a Patriot party which asserted against 
this heavy-handed viceroy the rule of Ireland by the 
Irish. Talbot being absent from February 1416 to April | 

1418, the Patriots held a parliament at Trim in 1417 
where Cranley, archbishop of Dublin, indicted Furnival 
for the usual viceregal oppressions and unpaid debts, 
but the true bond of the Patriots was in a movement to 
proclaim the Irish parliament internally sovereign. 
Returning to Ireland, Talbot on June 26, 1418, arrested 
Kildare, Christopher Preston of Gormanston, and other 
magnates at Slane for plotting with the Prior of Kil- 

_ mainham against him. In Preston’s possession was 
found a copy of that Modus tenendi parliamentum on 
which was. based Lancastrian constitutionalism, and as 
Talbot could not refuse to the Anglo-Irish what his royal 
master accepted for England, he had the great Seal 

affixed to this document which gave Ireland its replica 
of Westminster.* 

But a warrior viceroy, the enemy of great lords, was 
ever the hero of the lesser folk, and an assembly of some 

LEM. 14ug : He plundered Leix, Oriel and Mic ne mBrethoach 
{he Walahee “Thomas Cavch of the Geraldine 

ed and Slundored the O'Dalys, poets, of Meath." 
‘The argument of the Modus was used by Molyneux for his Case 

of sand et aig to bound, ete. (1698). The Modus is given in full in 
‘hortrs, its date is nct earlier than 1350, 
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hhundred of the obedient English, recking little of the 
parliament of Trim, wrote to the King in June 1417 
praising Talbot for his vigorous action against “ English 
rebels and Irish enemies.” ‘He marched against 
O’More, MacMahon, O'Reilly, O'Farrell, O'Conor, 
O’Hanlon who all made peace by indenture. In Ulster 
he cut a great pass through woods two leagues or more, 
and O'Neill the Great, O’Neill-boy, Magennis, Maguire, 
and O'Donnell sent to have peace, Morice Keating, 

chief of his nation, traitor and rebel, yielded himself and 
peace was granted him. He repaired Athy bridge and 
built a tower there against Leix.””* 

Meanwhile Art Kavanagh from his capital at Ferns 
was leagued with Calvach O’Conor Faly against the 
English. Of his two sons, Donnchad and Gerald, the 
latter would seem to have been Art's son by Elizabeth 
de Veel. But Art was no inveterate foe of the English, 
and in a deed of July 417, through his deputy John 
Doun, abbot of Duiske, he admitted himself to be liege- 
man and subject of the King, “who thereupon takes 
Art’s son, Gerald Kavanagh, into protection, and grants 
him safe-conduct to come and go through all Ircland 
and the King’s dominions by land and sea with all his 
retinue.” 

Early in 1418 Art died in his own fortress,“ the wisest, 
most generous and charitable province-king of his time,” 
say the Annals of Ulster. To Art must be ascribed the 
restoration of the MacMurchada kingship of Leinster, 
and the ruin of the English colony in its earliest conquest. 
Master as he was of most of Carlow and Wexford, he 
could well afford to recognise that suzerainty of the 
English Lord of Ireland to whom he and his peers had 
submitted in 1395. His son Donnchad however began 
badly. In May 1419, says Dowling “ Donatus More 
Cavenagh MacMurchardus, chief captain of the Leinster- 
men, whom they had named King of Leinster, was taken 
and sent to England, where for seven years he was laid 

+ Ellis original letters illustrative of English history, 2nd Series, 1. 
PP- 53-63 
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in the Tower, till afterwards he was sent back to Ireland 
on certain terms.” ! 

With this last triumph Talbot departed in July 1419, ~ 
leaving his brother Richard, Archbishop of Dublin, and 
Chancellor in 1423, to uphold the “ English interest.” 
Richard lived till 1449, and all that time waged a long 
feud with James fourth Earl of Ormond, who headed the 
“ English of Ireland ” till his death in 1452. 

Ormond was a gallant knight who had won his spurs 
in France, and a man of education and refined culture, 
whose castleseat at Kilkenny was the centre of a 
flourishing Anglo-French civilisation. He was a great 
lover of history, antiquity and heraldry, and left some 
of his English lands to endow the College of Heralds, 
so much did he love this science of chivalry. His 
secretary, John Yonge, dedicated to him his English 
translation of the Secretum Secretorum '—one of the few 
surviving pieces of medieval Anglo-Insh literature— 
which treats of Prudence, justice, fortitude, temperance, 
chivalry, the King’s title to Ireland and other themes.* 

Even more “ Old English " than Ormond—for Yonge 
calls English the Earl's ‘‘modyr tongue ”"—was that 
James, sixth Earl of Desmond, a remarkable character, 
who now appears among the great lords of Ireland, and 
whose name takes us back to 1400. 

Sir John, fourth Earl, son of Gerald the Poet, had 
been drowned in 1399, and left a re hs then ier 

homagio ab cvdbure.‘Mabmurgh fess, gh boar iy Ai Makmur Wen at Southampiba Jul streets Lire cre eters ie 
some assert from poison given him by a, woman. 

of the safe conduct would make the date of Tait caty in gate 
for the mediaeval year began on March 25 instead of our Jan, 
ng indeed makes Ary fran rebel ain potenti omits 

potuerunt," surreader to the royal grace in 1420, but as 
Bn tae Sag, Se car ect ‘ra ite, 
Eiksabeth baronees of Norragh, was stil live in 1441, ste Rot Canc. 
HN Fad Face, 11. pl, XXXVI. Vonge's translation, made about 
1420, is entitled * privytie of privyties.’ See Secretum Secretorum ed. 
Fulton (1920) ; euppomed to have been written for Alexander by Aris 
totle, it was ited from Arabic into latin by Philip of Tripoli, 
in the 13th century. Yonge is supposed to be the author also of an 
English version of Giraldus Cambrensis, eee Nef. Fees. Til. pl. 
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teen years old. For over ten years Thomas held the 
Desmond earldom, and then was expelled under circum- 
stances very difficult to verify. Legend relates that the 
young Earl fell into unknightly and un-English ways, 
wrote Irish verse, and married Catherine MacCormac, 
the beautiful daughter of a common Irish tenant. James 
therefore, that son of “Gearéid Iarla” who had been 
fostered among the O’Briens, seized the opportunity very 
welcome to his ambitious mind, and ousted his nephew 
from the earldom. 

The English records give us nothing of this. In 
them Thomas is undisputed Earl till 143, and his rival 
is only James “de Dessemond.” On August 14, 1413, 
we find Thomas in England about to proceed to Ireland 
along with Ormond for the defence of the same, with a 
hundred men-at-arms and four hundred and sixty archers 
between them. According to the Four Masters, in 1411 
Thomas was expelled by his own kinsman, James son 
of Gearéid. Possibly the forces of 1413 were intended 
to recover his right as well as succour Ireland, at least the 

Four Masters put it in their own way under 1414; “‘ the 
Earl of Desmond came to Ireland with many Saxons to 
devastate Munster.” Evidently James was too strong 
for him and took the young Earl prisoner, for the letter 
of the Irish assembly praising Talbot, which we have 
quoted above, says that Talbot “ bore greate labours 
and costes about the deliverance of the Earle of Desse- 
mond who was falsely and deceitfully taken and detayned 
in prison by his unkle to the great distruction of all the 
contry of Mounstre until now that he is delivered by the 
said leiftenant.” 1 

But though set free, Thomas could not recover his 
ground, and went off to England, then to France where 
finally he died and was buried at Paris on August ro, 
1420, the King of England attending his funeral at the 
Friars preachers cas a 

3 See Ellis Letters op. ci 
* See for the whole matter Rot Ganc, Hid, 18, 204 # passim, an 

Chronicles of Maribarrough, Dowling, Holinshed, Hal. ‘Also Viary 
Gibe.ed. of Cokayae's Complete pape Tish poem attributed + 
2 iSonas is ta Hasalcan's Irth" Miasiely Ee pe 305. 
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‘As Thomas left no legitimate sons, James quietly took 
the Earldom which he ruled till 1462. The English 
Crown had lost all control, and though it gave James no 
legal patent, had to accept what was in effect a pure 
usurpation or rather an assertion of tail male which the 
Anglo-Irish had always fought for, or even an assertion 
of Tanist-right. Certainly it seems hard to believe that 
the unfortunate Thomas’ Irish sympathies and Irish 
Marriage gave James anything but an excuse, for James 
was Irish-fostered and probably spoke the Irish language 
better than any other. But while the Normans thought 
it no dishonor to marry a princess of the Five Bloods, 
a plebeian Gaelic marriage was an offence to the proudest 
of the “ Old English ” and possibly Catherine MacCormac 
lost her husband the loyalty of his Englishry and the 
respect of his Irish, and thus enabled James as tanist or 
next in blood, to depose a nephew unworthy, according 
to Irish law, of chieftaincy. 

Thus did a whole province go over to the 
Norman-Irish order, and Ireland entered on a new 
age. The alliance of the great earls, whether semi- 
English as Ormond or semi-Irish as Desmond, and 
of aristocratic Home Rule had begun. Ormond, 
arriving at Waterford as King’s Lieutenant on April 4, 

3420, allied himself at once with James, procured him 
practical recognition from the Crown, and in December 
1420 made him “Custos” and justice of the peace 
in counties Waterford, Cork, Limerick and the Cross of 
Kerry, and on January 31, 1422, made him Governor of 
the baronies and lordships of Inchiquin and Imokilly 
and of the town of Youghal, for life with half the rents 
and profits of the same. When in 1422 Ormond called 
on James to aid him against Calvach O’Conor Faly and 
Meiler Bermingham (MacFheorais) “then designing to 
make a final conquest of Meath” Desmond came with 
5000 horse and foot and was paid out of a State subsidy 
and further rewarded with the Constable-ship of the castle 
of Limerick and fifty pounds annual rental out of the city. 

4 Cokayne’s Complete Peerage ed. Gibbs, 
Y 
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The rule of Ormond as Lieutenant, 1420-23, shook 
with the commotion of all the feuds, that of the Talbots 
and the “English interest” against Ormond and the 
Patriots, and the bitterness of the Anglo-Irish against 
England, The Parliament of 1421-23 was the arena of 
these battles. In 1421 the archbishop of Cashel, Richard 
O’Hedigan, and FitzJohn bishop of Cork were accused 
by the bishops of Lismore and Cloyne of having Irish 
hearts. O’Hedigan “ made much of the Irish, loved 
none of the English and gave no benefices to them, 
and went about to make himself king of Munster.” 
O'Hedigan was in fact an enthusiast for Gaelic studies as 
we shall see later, and a Gaeliciser too of the Old English 
of his see. As for the “‘ English interest ” they wished to 
put the anti-Irish statutes of 1380 and 1416 into force. 
The Talbot party sent over a whole body of charges 
against Ormond, accusing him of treason, of setting the 
laws at naught, and favouring the Irish enemy as by 
allowing Calvach O’Conor to impose black rent, but when 
Furnival raised these matters in the English Council in 
1422 the Duke of Bedford, weary of the ‘many dis- 
sensions, commotions, lawsuits, scandals and intolerable 
evils” caused not only by this but by endless other feuds 
of England’s fractious nobles had the proceedings stayed. 
Then the Patriot party in April 142 sent a memorandum 
to the Crown, attacking Lord Talbot for his late mon- 
strous oppressions, and praising Ormond as the model 
viceroy. But their complaints were many, bitter, and 
unmanly. ‘English lieges, born in Ireland of good and 
gentle families, are no longer received at the English Inns 
of Courts. Landholders, artificers and labourers are 
leaving the land in great numbers being laden with 
charges and wars ; the land is destroyed by Irish enemies 
and English rebels ; and if the King himself come not, 
the land is lost.” Finally “as the great chieftains of 
Irish nation, MacMorogh, O’Breene, O’Conor and others, 
did become liegemen to Richard the Second and for 
themselves and their kindred for ever and bound them- 
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selves thereto by divers instruments, but are now at war 
and have become open rebels and broken their oaths, 
may it please the King to seek power from the Pope to 
proclaim a Crusade against them, for the relief and safety 

of his said land and with God’s help for their perpetual 
overthrow.” This was the most savage note yet raised 
among the assembled Englishry. But, for all his militant 
orthodoxy, it is doubtful whether Henry V. would have 
wished to crusade, as if they had been heathen Prussians 
or heretic Hussites, the christian race of Ireland. In 
any case he was a dying man and on August 31, 1422, 
the hero of Agincourt made way for the infant Henry the 
Sixth. 

For all the charges against him, Ormond, who con- 
tinued as Lieutenant, made vigorous wars against the 
Irish. His most famous fight was at the Red Moor of 
Athy in 1420 when he slew “ many of the kin and the 
terrible army of O’More”’ and the sun, so said the Anglo- 
Irish chroniclers, stood still for the space of three hours 
till the English destroyed the Irish. 

Edmund, Earl of March and Ulster, son of the Roger 
Mortimer slain in 1398, was now a man of thirty, and 
would have been a very great personage had not his 
unaspiring nature made him a man without a party, 
for many thought him a truer heir to the Throne than the 
infant Henry himself. But in Ireland his name alone 
bore weight ; he was “the Lord of the English of Ire- 
land” and a more royal personage than any man of 
England could be. In Michaelmas, 1423, Mortimer 
landed as King’s Lieutenant with a maintenance of five 
thousand marks per annum. No one was so fitted to 
reconcile aJl Ireland, and when Roger held the court of 
his Liberty at Trim, the northern chiefs came in and 
Eoghan O'Neill of Tyrone, son of Niall Og, Neachtan, son 
of Turloch O'Donnell, Brian O’Neill of Clannaboy, 
MacDonnell of the Glens, and MacQuillan did homage to 

Berry I. 563-583. Rot, Pari, IV. pp. 198-9. 
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him as Earl of Ulster! But Edmund died suddenly of 
plague, on January 19, 1425, and so in the iand which 
had been so fatal to his race was extinguished the all- 
but-royal name of Mortimer. 

The Irish Council at once appointed Lord Furnival 
Justiciar, he being then in Ireland, and Talbot marched 
north to complete the submission of the chiefs. Ac- 
cording to the Four Masters, “the English of Meath 
captured [treacherously] Eoghan O'Neill, Mac-I-Neille 
buidhe, Neachtan O'Donnell, MacUighilin, and MacDon- 
nell”; this is the common charge ; anyway the leading 
chiefs were brought to Dublin and there or elsewhere 
entered into indentures of fealty. 

Talbot had been made in 1421 Lord of Wexford as 
against the claims of Lord Grey; to make him an Irish 
magnate was the straightest way for the Crown to interest 
this hardy soldier in Ireland. But he now surrendered 
his temporary office to Ormond who ruled as King’s 
Lieutenant from April 13, 1425, to the end of July 1427, 
and as such received the final submissions of several of 
the great chiefs on terms similar to 1395. 

At Dundalk on July 23, 1425, Eoghan O'Neill “' not 
impelled by fear or force but freely, spontaneously, and 
of his own pure will” admitted himself liegeman of the 
King and tenant, subject and true man of Richard Duke 
of York, heir of Edmund late Earl of March. O'Neill 
was confirmed in all the Irish lands “' terrae hibernicales ” 
—which he then held and these he should hold im- 
mediately of the Duke. All lands held by him and his 
adherents and subjects which they have occupied before 
the date of the present indenture are confirmed to them. 
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O'Neill pledges himself to surrender the rest of the Duke’s 
lands and those of the Englishry, and to render to Richard 
when he shall come of age the “ bonnachts ” which his 
ancestors owed to the Earl of Ulster, to ride with him 
against all enemies, to forswear the Blackrent levied on 
the English, and to restrain his people from injuring 
the King’s lieges? 

Brian MacMahon chief of Monaghan and his two 
brothers, Dermot O'Toole, Donogh O'Byrne, and Calvach 
O'Conor Faly made similar terms. Calvach O’Conor, 
who was the deadliest enemy of the Pale, for he could 
strike both at the Barrow and at Meath, at Dundalk 
on July 23, the same day as O'Neill, renewed terms made 
by him at Trim on March 27 with Talbot. He restored 
“‘all English lands and the tribute called blackrent [on 
Meath] excepting certain lands which he, Calvach, 
claims by feoffment of various persons but if these are 
found invalid he binds him self to restore them. He 
promises a thousand marks for peace, gives hostages and 
may come to the presence of the Justiciar at pleasure.” 

O'Byrne swore to protect the loyal English of the 
Lordship of Wexford (Talbot’s new lordship), and re- 
cognised the right of the Archbishop of Dublin, Talbot's 
brother, to have jurisdiction and collect his rents among 
O'Byrne’s subjects. MacMahon, on submitting, had the 
barony of Farney confirmed to him. 

The indentures are so clearly an admission of liege 
homage on the part of these great chiefs that and re- 
cognition of them in return as legal tenants for their 
native lands with a right of appeal to the Viceroy that the 
terse remark of Sir John Davies on the matter, and the 

LONNeil’s submission is printed in vol. iv. of the Trish Record 
Commission x810-15, p. 54. Eoghan’s submission warn way of dishing 
His rival Donal,” Certainly it was a great triumph tor him and his 
Murrighs,” for aot only were they confirmed in such hinds as Tyrone 
od Berry, which had nover besa conquered, but the lands ef the 
Earldom occupied since 1333 were surrendered to him and them. 
Richard Deke of York, born 1411, was son of Richard Dake of Cam 
bridge and of Ann, sister of Edmund Mortimer who died in 1425, 
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Four Masters’ view that the whole thing was a forced 
submission and one of ill-faith, seem equally unfounded. 

Meanwhile the Talbot-Ormond feud smouldered, 
and the wounded pride of “ the English of Ireland” 
found food in the conduct of the English parliament. 
The statutes excluding the Irish from Oxford, which hit 
all Irishborn without much distinction, were reinforced 
by an act of 1423 making it necessary for all Irishmen 
dwelling in England to-carry as in the Act of 1422 letters 
testimonial which must be presented to the Chancellors 
of those Universities, Justices of the Peace, and mayors 
and bailiffs of towns. 

Thus were the subjects of the Lordship of Ireland 
treated as aliens, and with a special emphasis, for similar 
disabilities against Scots and Welsh did not stand.? It 
was a far other spirit than that which by giving the people 
of Wales a hall of their own at Oxford helped to win over 
another Celtic race then in arms against the Saxon. 

The Gaelic Irish had their own traditional world of 
learning and law; and it was the Anglo-Irish who 
suffered. Flung back into ignorance, with no centre of 
education at home and debarred from, or unwelcome in, 
those of their mother land, their alternative was to 
embrace native arts and letters, England's cry of 
“ down with all foreigners,’ when applied to men who 
owned liege homage to the English King, was naturally 
answered by the cry of ‘Ireland for the Irish-born” 
and an emphasis on the distinctness of the King’s Lord- 
ship of Ireland from his Realm of England. 

‘When Ormond retired from office at the end of July 
1427, Sir John de Grey, Sir John Sutton, and Richard arch- 
bishop of Dublin successively ruled the colony till 1437. 
The bold front of the Leinster Irish and the perils of the 

4 For the submissions see Rot. Canc. Hib, pp. 238-9 and 245. Davi 
says of Talbot—"' he had power to make the Irish seck the King’s 
Peace, but not to reduce them to the obedience of subjects.” F. M. 
and Ann, Ult under 1425. F. M. say that Eoghan had to be ransomed 
in 1425 and that in 1426 Neachtan was ransomed by his brother Donal. 

* Rol, Parl. 1V, p. 254. Lib. Mun. 1. Pt. IV. p. 44: Scots and Welsh 
scholars were petitioned against, but the King’s answer was: let the 
Matetes Jormolly made eptinel Trish ccholare be observed, 
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colony at this time are portrayed in a letter addressed by 
Swayne, archbishop of Armagh, to the English govern- 
ment protesting because Grey had come with so few 
troops. Grey had brought back to Ireland the prisoner 
Donnchad MacMurchada, son of Art Og, and released 
him, but Donnchad was in arms the next year and, says 
Swayne, “ the kyngys enmys of the south partis, seeing 
that he (Grey) had fewe men with hym, all of oon consent 
they went to were and Makmorth was their captaine, 
and he haide with hyme as men seyde eight battayls of 
fotmen arrayede of the gyse of this countre, that is owery 
man acton, habirchon, pischane and basnete, and in 
every battayle they commonly have men two hundred ; 
and this Makmorth with his men came into the Englishe 
countre to a towne callede Connail, and there they brent 
the ouses of offyse of the abbey but the grete churche of 
the same and the cloyster, and brent that day many 
other townes "—after which, he continues, MacMurchada 
raided Kildare, forced Wexford county to pay him two 
hundred and forty marks ransom, took Tristeldermot, 
a walled town, and captured its lord Sir Thomas Wogan, 
till at last the King’s Lieutenant had to pay MacMur- 
chada the eighty marks yearly his father had, Another 
graphic despatch of the same archbishop at this time to 
Ormond states :—“ in good faith the englisch grounde 
that ys obeying to the kyngis laue in this lande I suppos 
is not so moche of quantite as on schir in Englonde.” 
Because the purveyers of chief governors exact “ hors- 
mete and manmete,” and pay in tallies rarely honored, 
“* there is owing in this lande by lieutenants within these 
past fewe years {20,000 and more. And the housbonde 
pepill for the mischefe and governance aforesaide be 
gone out of the londe within fewe yeris into Englonde and 
oder countreys so that in good faith as I suppos there is 
more] gone out of the londe of the Kynges lege pepyll 
than be in it.” + 

+ Reg. of Archbishop Swayne: transcript in T, C, D. I, pp. 419- 
421, Acton, habirchon, pischane and basnet are respectively body- 
armour, sleeveless coat of plate or chain mail, gorget and light helmet. 
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The parliaments of the time echo the same “ tout 
est perdu ” cry, In 1428 it is enacted that laborers and 
servingmen leaving Ireland without licence shall be 
arrested, None may sell corn, iron, salt and other 
victuals to the Irish enemy without leave. In 1430 the 
old penalties of treason are affirmed against those who 
practice coign and livery or marriages, fosterage and 
gossipred with the Irish enemy. It is forbidden to 
entertain or let land in the marches to “ Irish rymers 
and others, outlaws and felons, who come with their 
creaghts (keryaghtes) into the land of peace called the 
Maghery.” in 3431 it is forbidden to merchants and 
other lieges to frequent Irish fairs and markets and buy 
or sell there divers merchandises ‘' whereout the enemy 
take great customs and benefits to the depression of our 
Boroughs and trading towns.” 1 

In 1428 parliament complains to the King that clerks, 
merchants and other honest men of Ireland, going to 
Chester, Coventry, Oxford and London have been robbed 
and beaten, and men of Ireland hindered from going to 
inns of court in England.* 

Touching matters of state, the parliament under 
archbishop Talbot in 1430 complained that Lieutenants 
were changed too often : ‘* we beseech the King that while 
we stand well such change be not made hereafter for 
fear of Josing this jand as it hath been of late.” Com- 
plaints against governors, they add, should be examined 
by the Parliament or Great Council of Ireland and the 
result certified under the Great Seal of the same. Against 
this demand of the Home Rule party that the King’s 
ministers in Ireland should be primarily responsible to 
the Estates of Ireland, the ‘ English interest ” petitioned 

3 See Berry II, pp. 11-43 for these enactments. The % 

* See Nat. Facs. ae pl. XXXIX, Rot Canc. Hib. p. 263 (1442) 
‘Thomas Chace, Chanceilor of Ireland, sent by the Council to ask that 
ieges of Heelan may travel vo Ragland nd and stay there to study the 
‘aw, brought back a full and effectual the Great Seal of 
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the King never to abandon his power to change viceroys 
and to examine into their conduct: as for Parliament 
doing this, the truth would never be discovered, “ for 
the nobles and great men fill parliament with their 
nominees who little regard the weal of the King or his 
subjects.” 

‘A further complaint of parliament in 1430 that 
“nearly all the loyal counties are Irish or rebellious ” 
was emphasised by a royal hosting of Eoghan O'Neill 
of Tyrone who hurried and burnt the plain of Louth, 
put Dundalk under blackrent, in spite of his oath of 1425, 

descended into Annaly where O'Farrell submitted, then 
into Meath and at Fremainn gave ‘‘stipends to the 
Gaels of the South of Meath, viz., Calvach O’Conor, 
O’Molloy, O’Madden, Macgeoghegan and O’Melachlin,” 
who thus became his men. Moreover “ there came the 
Baron of Delvin, the Plunkets, the Herberts and the 
English of the west of Meath in general to meet that 
Eoghan to submit to, and honor him, in respect of their 
own lands.” 

That De Lacy’s barons should in a body thus ack- 
nowledge an Irish king was unprecedented. But on this 
richest plain of Ireland were many walled towns and 
castles and numerous colonies of the Englishry, and so, 
for all their hostings and blackrents, the Irish chiefs never 
subdued a country of which the control would have 
carried them up to the gates of Dublin 

In 1432, his rival Donal O’Neill having been slain by 
the O’Cahans, Eoghan was made king of Ulster on the 
“ flagstone of the kings at Tulach-oc by the will of God 
and men, bishops and sages.” In September 1434, along 
with Niall O’Donnell of Tyrconnell, he descended to. 
levy the blackrent on Dundalk, but the King’s Lieu- 
tenant, Sir Thomas Stanley, engaged them on Michaelmas 
day, and Niall O'Donnell was taken and spent the rest 
of his days in captivity in Dublin, London, and Stanley’s 
kingdom of Man. 

Stanley was King’s Lieutenant from 1431 to 1437 and 
during his absence from autumn 1435 to November 1436, 
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the Irish Council reported thus to Westminster :—" In 
the nether parts of Meath, Dublin, Kildare and Louth, 
there is scarcely left out of the subjection of enemies and 
rebels thirty miles in length and twenty in breadth as a 
man may safely ride or go to answer to the King’s writs. 
The county Carlow was within these thirty years one 
of the keys of the land between Dublin and the outer 
parts; it is now inhabited with enemies and rebels ; 
of 140 castles defensible therein only two now are left 
(in loyal hands) namely Carlow and Tillagh. Counties 
Kilkenny, Wexford, Waterford, Cork, Limerick, Tip- 
perary and Kerry are destroyed, and the lieges dwelling 
there are too few to victual the cities of Waterford, Cork, 
Limerick and the walled towns of those counties. So 
with the provinces of Armagh and Tuam—all are lost 
save for Galway, Athenry, and the castles of Carrick- 
fergus and Ardglas. For thirty years no Lieutenant or 
other governor has gone thither save for a sudden hosting. 
We pray that the Lieutenant may receive homages in 
Ireland. Our seas are scourged by Spaniards, Bretons, 
and Scots. The Admiral of England should visit our 
coasts, Ireland should be under the same peace and 
truce with England by special word. Let the Lord 
Lieutenant that now is come with sufficience of goods 
and men, or else some other great man of the King’s 
blood.” 7 But the bankrupt England over which the 
young Henry was king, engaged in a losing war with 
France, had no men or money to spare for Ireland. 
While Lionel, Lord Welles was Lieutenant (1438-42) a 
fresh attempt was made to overthrow Ormond, who was 

Welle’s Deputy during absence in the autumn of 14x. 
Parliament meeting on Martinmas that year, Arch- 
bishop Talbot, who was Chief Justice, and the Chancellor 
Wogan induced the Estates to transmit certain charges 
against the Earl of the King by Giles Thornton, Treasurer 
of Ireland, and other envoys. The tenor of these was :— 
“ The ear] is old and unwicldly and not able even to defend 
his own lands. He has made Irish grooms and pages 

4 Gilbert's Vicoroys p. 330-3 
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knights of the shire so that they might support him in 
parliament, and allowed spiritual and temporal lords to 
absent themselves from parliament. Among other ill 
deeds he handed the Prior of Conall over to O’Dwyer, 
an Irish enemy, for ransom purposes. He has never been 
absolved from charges of treason brought against him 
‘by the Earl of March and Lord Talbot. The discords 
‘between him and Lord Talbot and his brother are so 
great that no suit touching the other can have due process 
in Ireland. The substance of the gentles and commons 
of Ireland, at Lord Welles’ departure, desired that the 
Earl should in no wise be his deputy ; please the King 
therefore to discharge him, and to send a lord of the birth 
of your noble realm of England whom your people in 
Ireland will obey, for men of England keep better justice 
in Ireland and execute your laws and favour more your 
common people and have ever done so more than ever 
did any man of Ireland or is ever like to do.” But 
Ormond was appointed Lieutenant in place of Welles 
in February 1442, and the charges, returned under Privy 
Seal, were tried before the Irish Council, according to 
the demand of 1429, at Trim on June 5, 1442. 

‘The Home Rule aristocracy was too strong for Talbot’s 
Unionist faction. The Council, nearly all Old English, 
repudiated the charges and denied that the Martinmas 
parliament ever desired them to be drawn up. Wogan, 
having fled to Wales, wrote thence to the King pleading 
that the charges were truly drawn up and that the acts 
at Trim clearing Ormond were enrolled by the Clerk of the 
Rolls “ for drede of his life of the seide erle ” and pleaded 
i ce, because of “his newe comyng into yower 
seide lande of Ireland ” of the custom by which in the Irish 
parliament one man could appear as proxy for two lords 
spiritual or for two shires or two towns, Wogan was 
deprived of the Great Seal and Ormond bestowed it on 

1 King's Council in Ireland (RS.) appendix p. 304 and Carew 
Miscell, pp. 391-4. at oe tinted ee Talbot teed party addressed the 
demand ior “a lord of the eaiand, , 
*ipe men of this land (.., aglaad) cep etc.”" ead speak of ireland 
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Sir Richard FitzEustace. Although summoned to Lon- 
don, the Earl returned in triumph and acted as Lieu- 
tenant till November 1444. In August 1445, he pro- 

eared for his ally, James Ear] of Desmond, royal licence 
“to appear in parliaments and Great Councils by proxy, 
whenever he cannot attend in person, and to acquire 
lands and rents held in chief of the King by any tenure 
whatsoever—the King having learned of his great labours 
in preserving and keeping the King’s title in the counties 
of Waterford, Cork, Limerick and Kerry from the King’s 
Irish enemies and rebels.” * 

In 1444 the King sent an Usher of the Royal Chamber 
to summon Ormond before the English Council, where- 
upon the Earl assembled a Great Council at Drogheda 
where his conduct was eulogised by Sir James Aleyn, 
elected speaker of the Commons, by the bishop of Cork 
and his clergy and by Lords Barry, Roche and other 
vassals of Desmond. The game old ear] then crossed to 
London to fight his chief accuser, Thomas Fitzgerald 
Prior of Kilmainhasn, but the King, wearied to death with 
noble feuds, stopped the combat. 

Although the Talbot party was now re-instated with 
the archbishop as Justiciar, and Lord Furnival, made 
Earl of Shrewsbury in 1442, ruled again as Lieutenant 
for part of 1446 and 1447, the First Families henceforth 
ruled Ireland, made the parliament their court of re- 
gistration, divided offices of State among them, called 
officials to account in the Estates, and took into their 
hands all the high prerogatives of the Absentee monarchy.* 

4 Cal. Pat, Rolls Eng. (1441-6), 
4 See'the oath taken in 1462 é2 by bland FitzEustace, Lord of Fort- 

lester, as Deputy to George of Clarence, King’s Lieutenant :—" I will 

customs which the ancient Kcings of England, progenitors and pre- 
decessors of Edward the Fourth now king, granted to God and to the 
people of England and of the land of Ireland, and I will observe peace 
and concord to God, the Church, the clergy ahd and {he people as fully and 
Molly as 1 can, according to my power make to be done 
in all my judgments waht tad due Jurtce aad will hod snd beep the 
right laws and customs which the people of the land of Ireland have 
chosen to be held to themselves as { ought to defend and maintain the 
same.” (Rot, Canc, Hib, p. 269), 
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From this time the old opposition of the common 
Englishry to the “ great chieftains of lineage ” disappears, 
and the mass of the Anglo-Irish accepted, or dare not 
oppose, the leadership of the great Earls who, with an 
aristocracy behind them in which the Gaelic chiefs played 
no small part, built up a rampart of native rule which 
till 1534 no English government was able to break. 
This race which, says Davies, “‘ did ever, both English 
and Irish, desire to be governed by great persons” found 
them, not in English viceroys, but in Butlers, Geraldines 
and Burkes. The very longevity of the great magnates 
at this time alone made them formidable. James 
“‘ the White Earl” of Ormond lasted from 1405 to 1452 ; 
James earl of Desmond from about 14r2 to 1462 ; Thomas 
seventh earl of Kildare from 1427 to 1477; Aedh Rua 
O'Donnell from 1461 to 1505. 

The parliament of this Home Rule oligarchy was a 
very restricted representation, both in area and deputies, 
The Great Council was a favorite substitute for a true 
parliament, and to a “Magnum concilium” in June 
1444 at Drogheda Ormond summoned “ by prive seale 
as the custume of the land is” the archbishops of Armagh 
and Dublin, the bishops of Kildare and Meath, twenty 
seven abbots and priors, four archdeacons and one dean, 
the five barons of Slane, Delvin, Galtrim, Navan and 
another Meath barony (illegible in the roll), the sovereigns 
of Kells and the provosts of Athboy, Navan, Trim and 
Naas, ninety-seven knights and gentry from counties 
Dublin, Kildare, Louth, and the Cross and Liberty of 
Meath, and the mayors and bailiffs of Dublin and 
Drogheda! The total was some hundred and twenty- 
five, apart from the Council, but we do not know if all 
attended, and Wogan’s statement in 1442 would indicate 
that half this number might be proxies for the rest. The 
electing areas had shrunk to the four Leinster shires, 
though Cork county was represented in 464, and the 
Trish Parliament in which the superior churchmen were 
over-represented and the towns certainly under-re 

3 King's Council op. cit. p. 305-8. 
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presented, resembled rather a large County court than a 
national assembly. Yet in law no Parliament was 
regarded as complete, even in the lowest ebb of the Pale, 
unless all the English land was summoned and the Parlia- 
ment of Drogheda in 1495 declared void the proceedings 
of a parliament of 1494 under Lord Preston because only 

‘the four shires were summoned. 
“\_ The Crown demesnes of the Lordship of Ireland, 

generally Jet to farm, in the Vale of Liffey, now only 
yielded some £120 yearly. The shrinkage of feudal 
dues, the firms of cities, and customs was continuous. 
In 1441 Thornton had told the King—‘ the king hath 
no custom of any manner of merchandise in Ireland save 
only hides, wool and fells’ and “the charges of the 
Justiciar of Ireland and his officers this year exceed the 
Tevenues by {1,456."" About 1442 the total revenue 
for four years came to £5,380 or some £1,340 per annum. 
and in 1420 Ormond with difficulty procured from parlia- 
ment a subsidy of a thousand marks. Later, in 480, 
Edward IV. directed the Deputy Kildare not to demand 
more than 1200 marks as a subsidy in any one year “as 
hath been accustomed.” ? 

In extent and power the lands of the Marcher lords 
and palatine earls grew as fast as the “ obedient shires ” 
decayed. Thus under James of Desmond most of Mun- 
ster formed what was in effect a small kingdom, None 

- of the Old English had so completely subjected English 
and Irish, vassal», towns and tenants under one seignory. 
In the southwest the MacCarthys, O’Sullivans and other 
Trish lords owed military service and headrents to the 
Earl? Norman and Gael came in by indenture and 
commendation. Thus in 1421 an indenture between 
the earl and Patrick FitzMorys ‘‘ captain of his nation” 
and Knight of Kerry, made at Castleisland, binds Patrick, 
his heirs, and his people to answer the carl at all his 
assizes for all assessments, burdens and levies whatsoever 

39 
wate bate er Lt acm estes Maid by Macca 1906-7. pt 
Miscell : vol. I. p. 4t y Reagh ot 
the Earl for 67 beets yearly 
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as all other tenants and subjects of the earl in Kerry are 
bound, namely upon a cantred and a balf, unless he has 
more. If any contention arise between the two parties 
or between Patrick and the sons of Gerald MacMorys or 
the sons of Richard MacMorys, the earl shall decide, and 
if the said Patrick shall not pay the said burdens then he 
binds himself and his lands in the sum of £300. The 
earl promises him protection and security ; he shall not 
be taken or attached coming to assizes ; all offices of his, 
accustomed from of old, are confirmed to him. The 
earl guarantees him his “slanyaght.” The witnesses 
are all Anglo-Irish, but the whole transaction and its 
wording imply how far in independence and Celtic custom 
the earl and the once feudal Englishry had gone. 
fj Others of the Barrys, Roches, Barrets are found 
transferring to the earl their lands or the liege homage 
which they owed only to the Lord of Ireland. Thus in 
x42 Robert, son of Geofirey Cogan, “captain of his 
nation” granted to Earl James all his possessions in 
county Cork, viz.: fifteen manors in the barony of 
Ciarraighe Cuirce, including Shandon, and the manor 
of Cogan in Glamorgan, with advowsons, services of 
free tenants, etc. As Cogan’s land included the castle 
of Carrigaline which commanded Cork harbour, the earl 
had most of the ports of Munster at his disposal, Limerick, 
Tralee, Youghal, Dingle and Cork, Master of counties 
Limerick, Kerry and Cork, the west half of Waterford, 
Decies, was his also. Dowling, writing in the next 
century, significantly if incorrectly calls him ‘ Comes 
Momonie’’ and the native annalist says of him :— 
“ he enlarged the earldom and made conquests on many 
lands, such as Ciarraidhe Cuirce, the baronies of Aine, 

a Harris Coll: IV. p. 217. 
and equates with saxon “ 
fuarunte, Seo alto Vicary ‘Tinos ‘Complde = je ‘under Desmond, 

1 Sarre Miao: pa Sumerians sof Conat rant at Crk 
‘the Official general of uses of diocese of Lime 

une, 1421), Coulies ( rae de Be “r807-8), asserts that in tase 
from Myles the Great Cogan who died 
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Ui-mac-Aille and Airinidhe.”? James was a great 
builder and restorer of castles which were noble residences 
as well as fortresses, such as Askeaton, Imokilly and 
Newcastle Connello with its noble hall called by the 
people, as long as Irish was spoken, the “ Halla Mor.” 
Their splendid ruins with those of many an abbey attest 
that a true civilisation flourished in Desmond under this 
great earl. 

The careful compilation of rentals and terriers had 
already begun among the First Families, and Earl James 
had drawn up about 1452 Rental of Connello, the cradle of 
his race. But for the whole complex of Desmond rights 
and revenues, we must go to the Inquisitions of circa 
1583 when by one stroke of the pen half a million Irish 
acres was confiscated to the Crown.* Many of the Irish 
exactions for which his son later suffered death were 
obviously imposed by James. The Elizabethan In- 
quisitions record that everywhere the Earl slain in 
1583 had had on his Irish and some times his English 
tenants “shragh, marte, sowth, repaste, gillycon, 
kernety, sorrowen, koonebeg, coyne and livery.” From 
the Burkes of Clanwilliam the Ear] could summon 100 
galloglass and 40 horsemen. The free English had to 
maintain the Earl's fortresses by duty of ‘‘ musteroon.” 
From Irish “ twoghes” (“tuatha”) came tributes of 
kine. Here tenants pay money rents; there the earl 
has out of certain forests “‘ howsebote, firebote, hedgebote 
and timberbote”’; and the “ rising out of the sixteen 
twoghes of the patria of Connello” is due to him. The 
“royal service” of Connello is worth £22. Thc burghal 
organisation survived till 1383 when the Inquisitions 
record that the earl had dues from shops in Rathkeale, 

and a sergeant of his was wont in the Court baron to 
, Punish frays and bloodshed and pay the fines to the earl. 
2 Senchus Gevaltach (R. Hist, and Arch, Soe., Ireland : x882).Cias- 

raidhe Cuirce is a barony lying on the West side of Cork harbour. 
* Rental of Conall given ia Boglay's Dincass of Lim. pp. 985-93. 

Since writing the above, the Desmond Inquisitions preserved in 
Public Record Office, Dublin, have perished, unless some extraordinary 
chance, has preserved them, with all cur’ National records, im the 
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The Liberty court of Kerry at Tralee and the Honor 
Court of Any in Limerick provided the earl with a sub- 
stantial income and guaranteed justice in two shires of 
Munster. The estimated money rental was, however, 
small (£7000 odd) in 1583, which implies that however 
oppressive the “Irish impositions” were the tenants 
of this wide demesne were at least not rackrented.? 

Such was the state of this usurping Geraldine, the 
first of the Old English to display fearlessly a power 
derived from feudal grants, Brehon custom and usurpa- 
tions on Crown rights, to rule most of a whole province 
as palatine earl, to reign over an Irish population like a 

Gaelic “ Ri” and yet in Dublin to be of the Council and 
among the peers of the Anglo-Irish State. 

Like his descendant, the “ Fair Geraldine” whom 
Surrey sang, “ fostered he was with milk of Irish breast,’” 
a hero and a patron of the Celts. To his foster-brother 
Brian, son of Conor O’Brien he made over the warden- 
ship of Carrigogunnell, and enfeoffed him in an area of 
county Limerick afterwards called “ Pobal Bhriain,”” 
now the barony of Pubblebrien, with Carrigogunnell as 
its capital, About 1420 Earl James brought in 
MacSheehy to be his captain of galloglaigh; and his 
household poet or “dan maker” was an O'Daly, of 
a famous hereditary bardic family." Married to a 
daughter of Clanrickard, a stock already more than 
half Gaelic, he had the Burke alliance as well as the 
O’Briens. On the other hand, the Earl of Kildare was 
his son-in-law nor could any open fault, after his usurpa- 
tion, be found in James, for in person or proxy he attended 

4 Carew Miscell: p. 304. Holinshed says 

and 
kinsman, did put upon the subjects within the counties of Cork, 

x and Waterford the Irish impositions of quinio (coign] 
cartings, carriages, 8, cosherings, bonnaght and such 

Une, which customs are the wery Dreeders, maintainers ad upbolders 
‘MacFirbis annals sub. 1450. F. M. 1502: death of Donnchad 

OrBrten lod of the ‘country from Adare to Limerick, and from Baile- 
nua to Maiaistir-an-enaigh, also lord of Aherlow. The former district 
represents Pobal Bhriain of lordahip of Carrigogunnell and Donnchad 
ras grandson of Conor O’Brien, the Earl's foster fa 
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parliament, preserved Munster for the Englishry, and 
went no further in his nationalism than to support 
Ormond and the Home Rule party. 

The fame of the Geraldines now circulated in the 
Italian cities and especially in Florence from which, 
according to tradition, Otho of Windsor, the first of the 
race, had come. In 1413 an Irish bishop and a priest, 
Maurice Fitzgerald of Ardfert diocese, had visited the 
Gherardini of Florence reminding them of a distant 
kinship. And now Earl James, lord of the noblest 
harbours of Munster, was all the more worth 
In 1440 Leonard Bruni, Secretary of State to the Signory 

of Florence, wrote to the Earl in the name of the Republic. 
“Tf it is true that your progenitors were of Florentine 
stock and of the right noble and ancient stock of the 
Gherardini, one of the greatest families in our State, we 
have ample reason to rejoice and congratulate ourselves 
that our people have acquired possessions in Apulia, 
Greece and Hungary, but also that our Florentines, 
through you, bear sway even in Hibernia, the most 
remote island in the world. We therefore send to you 
Giovanni Betti di Gherardi noble youth, whom his 
father wishes should become better acquainted with you 
and his kinsmen of your stock."! We hear no more of 
Giovanni, but the connection with Florence became for 
the FitzGeralds a family legend refreshed from time to 
time by letters of Desmond or Kildare to the Signory, 
while Florentine traders gladly availed themselves of the 
trade with Munster where Desmond was real king, 
From November 1446 and for part of 1447 Talbot, now 
Earl of Shrewsbury, was Lieutenant again, and in 1447 
was created Earl of Waterford and Baron of Dungarvan 
with regalian rights over the whole coast from Youghal 
to Waterford city, this being ancient Crown demesne. 
But the Desmond earl and the Poers and hibernicised 
Old English saw to it that this “ new Englishman” got 
little profit therefrom. Against such “ degenerate 

"For Italian trade with Ireland in these centuries see Westropp 
Early Maps of Ireland PRA, 1912-13, 
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English " Talbot had fought for thirty years, and at a 
parliament under him at Trim in January 1447 it was 
enacted that all who would be taken for English must 
abandon the Irish “ crombeul ” or moustache, and shave 
both lips “ for there is no diversity of habit between 
English marchers and Irish enemies.” Shrewsbury 
retired in 1447, leaving his brother Richard as Deputy, 
and saw Ireland no more. A headlong fighter of Edward 
III's school, Talbot could scatter Irish armies and bring 
tebels to heel but he had not the constructive genius 
which his office needed. Nevertheless he is interesting 
as the last of the old viceroys till Henry VIII.’s time— 
when the Skeffingtons and Greys had more resources and 
better fortune—who strove by warring down the great 
lords, English and Irish, to keep England's colony in 
Treland true to the English tradition. Great as the Irish 
lords now were, they were all overshadowed by that 
Prince who in person or by proxy ruled Ireland for 
thirteen years. Richard, Duke of York, was in 1447 a 
man of some thirty-seven years of age. As heir to his 
uncle Mortimer, he was Earl of March and Ulster and 
Lord of Trim and Connacht. The Irish Celts saw in 
him the true heir of Lacy and De Burgo, names that now 
sounded Irish. As for the ‘‘ English of Ireland” here 
was one before whom all could bow, that Prince of the 
King’s Blood whom they had often asked for, indeed one 
who a large part of England thought had a better right 
to the Throne than the feeble Henry himself. Richard, 
appointed King’s Lieutenant in December 1447 for 
a term of ten years, with all the Irish revenues and four 
thousand marks out of England for one year and two 
thousand pounds yearly afterwards, did not actually 
arrive till July 1449. When he came into what the 
Lancastrians hoped was an honorable exile for the most 

us man in England, he saw in Ireland a jumping 
off ground for his party. Hence the facile charin with 
which he won Irish hearts to the White Rose of York, 
hence the indifference with which he abandoned Ireland 
to its Home Rule earls. 



CHAPTER XIII 

ARISTOCRATIC HOME RULE, 1449-77 

Save for the few “ obedient shires” Ireland had now 
lapsed into the aristocratic rule of three centuries before. 
Having fought the race-quarrel to a standstill, bred in 
mutual toleration by marriage, fosterage, and the 
acceptance of Irish speech and custom, the Old English 
and Gaelic lords were now united in a common self- 
interest to dominate each his own country and all to 
dominate Ireland. The recovery of the Gaelic chiefs 
‘was especially marked. Their indentures with King 
Richard and with Lancastrian viceroys had made them 
vassals of the State and ratified to them not only their 
ancestral demesnes but even the lands recovered from 
the colonists. While they admitted the pre-eminence 
of Butler, Burke, and Geraldine, they had attained full 
equality with the lesser baronage of the Englishry. 
Thus, to take the MacMurchadas, Donnchad son of Art 
Og had been in 1428 confirmed in the eighty marks 
yearly paid to his father, and in 1440 was, in consideration 
of reforming himself and other Irish of Leinster, taken 
into grace by the Lieutenant, Lord Welles, and paid a 
fee of forty marks, His brother Gerald, lord of Ferns, 
died in 1431, and Donnchad was succeeded by Gerald's 
son, Donal Reagh (Riabhach) or “ the swarthy,” who 
Teigned till 1476. The Kavanaghs became linked by 
marriage to the noblest of the Gael and Gall. Gormley 
“ daughter of MacMurchada, king of Leinster” was 
stepsister of the White Earl of Ormond and married 
Henry, son of Eoghan O'Neill. Later, about 1460, 
Saiv, daughter of Donal Reagh, married Sir James Butler, 
son of Edmund MacRichard Butler. The revived 
MacMurchada power reached its height under Donal 
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Reagh, who dwelt at Enniscorthy castle, once the seat 
of the Prendergasts. His style was that of a king— 
“ MacMurchada vex Lagenie,” and even as late as 1522 
Gerald Kavanagh MacMurchada called himself “‘ king of 
Leinster and leader of the Leinstermen.” ! 

The wide extent of the Kavanagh lands and their 
“‘urrighs"’ in Wexford and Carlow in the sixteenth 
century made their chief one of the great captains of 
Ireland. About 1550 MacMurchada from his name 
and nation alone could raise two hundred horse, eighty 
galloglass, and three hundred kern.* Donal founded a 
Franciscan House at Enniscorthy and in 1475 granted to 
the Cistercian abbey of Duiske or Graig eightpence per 
annum from each plowland tilled of all his lands, binding 
to continue the same his heirs descending in the lordship 
in male descent. 

The history of this famous abbey alone testifies how 
the Irish resurgence had covered the land. Dedicated 
to St. Saviour it had been founded in 1204 by the elder 
William Marshal and retained till the close of the four- 
teenth century that English character which an early 
grantee, Adam fitz Sinnott, a Fleming, meant it to have 
when in 1204 he made certain lands over to it on condition 
that he and his heirs might for ever appoint a monk to 
the abbey who should be English (de lingua anglica). 
Then with the fifteenth century the abbey and its dau- 
ghters go over to the Irish tongue. In 1424 Henry 
O’Ryan lord of Idrone confirms to the daughter house 
at Killenny, which had been absorbed by Duiske, a 
grant of lands made by his ancestor Dermot, lord of 
Idrone, about 1164 and confirmed by King Dermot. 
In r4r7 John Dound, abbot of Duiske, had been Art 
MacMurchada’s deputy in his act of submission to Henry 
V. Now in 1475 Dermot MacMurchada’s descendant, 

2 Rot Cane, Hid. pp. 246, 261. F. M. 1452 for Gormley, and 
Dowling 1524, Apparently the third Earl of Ormond’s widow married 
a Kava a, ether Donnehad or Gerald sons of ‘Art Og, and had Gor- 
miley by him. 

*Hogan Description of Ireland (an MS, of Elizabeth's reign), p. 
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Donal Reagh, signing himself ‘* Dominus totius Lagenic” 
makes a princely grant to Duiske, sealing it with  sigillum 
Donall MeicMurachada segis Lagenie” and the nine 
witnesses named, of whom two are his sons Cathal and 
Gerald, are pure Irish.? 

In the revival of Irish lordships the O’Neills 
of Tyrone, the hereditary royal blood of Ireland 
as most Irishmen thought them, climbed highest. 
Eoghan O'Neill, having been enkinged at Tullahoge on 
the “ Flagstone of the Kings ” in 1432, spent a vigorous 
reign warring on the English of Louth and Meath on one 
hand and the O’Donnells on the other, and finally, when 
in 1439 Nechtan O'Donnell succeeded in Tyrconnell to 
his brother Niall who had died in captivity in the Isle 
of Man, Eoghan scored a triumph over the new 
chief by aid of English forces enlisted by Eoghan’s son 
Henry. Nechtan came to them at Castlefinn “ and made 
peace with O'Neill and surrendered the castle and all 
Ceniel Moen and the tribute of Inis-Eoghain to O'Neill” 

(1442). 
In July 1455 Henry took the place of his father, now 

old and incapable, and was made king at Tullahoge by 
O’Cahan, Maguire, MacMahon, all the O'Neill clans and 
“ the Successor of Patrick,” viz., John Mey, archbishop 
of Armagh. This enkinging by ancient Irish law was 
followed by institution and confirmation at the hands of 
the Archbishop in his hall of residence at the abbey of SS. 
Peter and Paul at Armagh on August 4, 1455, recorded 
thus in Mey’s Register :  Eugenius O'Neill captain of his 
nation having lately resigned because of the failure of 
his bodily powers—Henry his firstborn, having been 
elected captain and principal of his nation, came before 
our Lord the Primate in his hall in the monastery of SS, 
Peter and Paul, saying and seeking that his election 
should be confirmed and instituted by the Lord Primate 
as his temporal lord. The said Primate, believing him 
to be a good man and likely to be of good to the Church 

‘Charters of Duishe e4. Dr. Bernard and Lady Constance Butler 
BAR.LA. (1918), pp. 5, 16, 139, 149. 
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and people of Ulster (Ultonia), held, approved, and 
confirmed him as O'Neill and captain and principal of 
his nation before all then present, cleric and lay, in great 
multitude.” Such a blending of ancient Celtic law and 
Christian benediction had not been done with an O'Neill 
for centuries, and it evidently indicates a desire on the 
part of 15th century O’Neills to establish primogeniture, 
and to fix a succession more strict and modern than the 
traditional inauguration and the practice of Tanistry. 
Later, this year, on November 14, the archbishop con- 
firmed the entente by settling on Henry an annual 
pension and a gift of russet cloth for himself and his 
queen, while O'Neill through Arthur McKathmayll 
“his judge ” and others, swore faithful service for him- 
self, his brothers, kinsmen and subjects, to the Primate, 
his church and clergy.1 Henry ruled the Cenel Eoghain 
for the long reign of 1455 to 1489 and achieved great 
glory. In 1463 King Edward sent him, as greatest of the 
Ulster Irish who owed traditional allegiance to the Earl of 
Ulster, a present of scarlet cloth and a collar of gold of 
the King’s livery. Among his many victories and 
augurations of vassal chiefs we find him giving a stipend 
to Taig son of Turloch O’Brien, king of Thomond, in the 
same year as Edward sent him this donative and pro- 
bably through the prestige thus gained.* Finally in 
1480 the marriage of his son Conn to Eleanor, daughter 
of the seventh Earl of Kildare, united in honorable 
alliance the two greatest names, Norman and Gaelic, in 
Treland. 

Up to this a succession war had enfeebled 
Cenel Conaill. Nechtan O'Donnell had ruled “Tyr- 
connell till 1452, when the two sons of Niall Garbh 
claimed their father’s throne, whereupon Eoghan O'Neill 
interfered and got Rury, son of Nechtan, made king while 
half Tyrconnell went to the sons of Niall, and Cenel 
Moen, Castlefinn and the tributes of Inishowen for him- 
self. But in 1461 Aedh defeated his rival Rury, deprived 

's Register (copy T.C.D.. p. 400). Ibid, p. 402. 
ve dittaes 
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him of a hand and a foot so as to make him incapable to 
reign, and thus, with a brutality worthy of the Wars of 
the Roses, began a long reign which ended only in 1505. 
Like Henry O'Neill, Aedh marked a new type of Irish 
chief, establishing the succession in his son, communi- 
cating freely with the earls of the South, going to the 
Court of Scotland for alliance, and while still calling him- 
self “ King of Tir Conaill ” proving himself that modern 
type of “ Irish lord ” with whom the Tudors had to deal, 
a type quite as warlike as their ancestors, and far better 
equipped for war, but more subtle and tenacious, and 
boldly claiming their place in the Ireland of their day. 

Aedh's achievement was to break the supremacy of 
the O’Neills over the North and to establish his race as 
the great name in Tyrconnell, Fermanagh and North 
Connacht, 

Turning to Connacht, we read that in 1464 died Taig 
O'Conor, son of Turloch the O’Conor Rua, half king of 
Connacht, and that after him there was no King of 
Connacht, only the chiefs of O'Conor Don and O’Conor 
Rua.! The Clanrickard Burke was now the true king of 
Connacht. William or Ulick, the Upper MacWilliam, 
had become a kind of hereditary Seneschal for the King 
and the heirs of Mortimer in Connacht, and when Edward 
IY. united the Earldom with the Crown he was content 
to leave the Burkes in practical possession. In fact, 
though not in law, Ulick was the lord of Galway city ; 
he had the profits of the custom or “ coket ” of Sligo and 
Galway, and in 1444 was Sheriff of County Connacht.* 
At the battle of Magh-cronn in 1467, where eight score 
galloglass fell, he affirmed his supremacy over Ricard 
the Lower MacWilliam with whom he was often at war, 
O'Conor Donn being his ally, and O’Conor Rua ally of the 
Mayo Burke. His wife was Slaine, daughter of Conor 
O'Brien, and he “ rested in a good old age” in 1485. 

Generally speaking the Irish wars were fought in 

iden : Apsmrra Rig Moterials p. 115. 
Records cd, Martin Blake vol. i, 1300-1600, 

Non gustandane 
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confederacies, and while O'Neill led one Ulster group, 
O'Donnell led another; in his wars to secure North 
Connacht, O'Donnell was generally with the Lower 
MacWilliam against Clanrickard, and Clanrickard was 
backed by O’Brien. 

Conor O’Brien, foster-father of Earl James, ruled 
till his death in 1426, when three sons of his elder brother 
Brian followed in succession till 1458, when Taig son of 
Turloch the youngest of these, su 

We must now glance at the Anglo-Irish towns to 
envisage their place and peril in the State. The Irish 
resurgence had wiped out many an old foundation and 
driven the English castles and boroughs far to the south 
and east. Carrickfergus, Downpatrick, Ardglas, Car- 
lingford and Dundalk were now the furthest outposts in 
the North, for the archbishop’s town of Armagh was 
reckoned “inter hibernicos.” Then ran inland a line 
through Ardee to Kells, Trim and Mullingar, continued 
to towns of the Nore and Barrow. 

It was in further Munster that the towns suffered 
most or disappeared most completely, for example in 
North Ormond. Save for Kinsale, no borough survived 
in Cork west of Buttevant and Mallow, and Kerry had 
but two, Tralee and Dingle. In Connacht, Galway was 
always a flourishing entrepot for the outlet of native 
wares and the inlet of foreign goods. It had always 
been favoured by the Dublin government, anxious not 
to lose this western outpost, and in 1484 Richard III. 
finally gave it an ample charter, with the right to a mayor 
instead of the former sovereign, without whose leave no 
foreigner might enter, and forbidding Clanrickard to 
exercise any sovranty within the walls. Athenry backed 
it inland, and Sligo remained at least an open port with 
a resident chief, O’Conor Sligo, a noble Dominican 
priory, and houses of Irish merchant princes such as 
O’Crean, whose monument is still seen in the 
priory. 

Such records of Connacht will give us an impression 
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of trade and peaceful civilisation there that the battle- 
filled annals will not.* 

It was the constant cry of the Anglo-Irish towns that 
they were in imminent peril from “ Irish enemies” and 
“ English rebels ” and they made no distinction between 
these—the feudal lord being the common foe of towns 
all over Europe. With warlike gentlemen and their 

swordsmen ever at their gates, and the seas haunted by 
those Spanish, French, Scots and Irish semi-pirates 
whom the neglect of the imperial government allowed to 
ride the seas, the position of the Irish towns was far 
from happy. 

In 1423 the mayor and commons of Cork petitioned 
the King that their city was continuously beset by Irish 
rebels so that none could go in or out without paying 
tribute to the said rebels, and the inhabitants had become 
so impoverished that they could no longer pay their fee- 
farm of eighty-six marks. Wherefore the King granted 
them a respite of the fee-farm and all arrears of the same 
for three years, and as the gates and walls were in urgent 
need of repair, he granted also to the said mayor a grant 
for this purpose of twenty marks a year for three years 
out of the Great Custom called the “‘ coket.” * 

Waterford city had a feud with the Poers of Donohill— 
the“ degenerate ” descendants of Henry II.’s Custos over 
this original demesne of the Crown—going back to 1345 
when says Clyn “ the Poerini burnt and destroyed almost 
the whole country round Waterford and some of them 
were taken and hanged, drawn and quartered in the city.” 
Later these Norman gentlemen threw in their lot with the 
strong maritime clan of O'Driscoll of Baltimore and in 
1368 assailed the city, routed the civic array, and slew 
the mayor, sheriff, thirty-six burgesses and sixty strangers, 

* The Blake Family Records shed much light on the state of English 
Connacht in the period 1315 to 1600. In 1416 Brian MacDonogh rev t rel > 
> s; 
‘The Priory contains a beautiful altar tomb of the O'Creans (O Craian) 
dated 1506 (sce Crawiord Mural Monuments of Sligo Abbey, mith plates ; 
RB. SSA. I. June, 1921). 

“Cal, Pat, Rolls Eng. 1412-29, p. 105. 
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then trading in the city, losing on their own side the Baron 
of Donohill, his brother, and many more. A song once 
current among the townsfolk commemorates such 
troubled times : 

Young men of Waterford, learn now to play 
For your mares and your plows have been alll led away 
‘So scour ye your weapons that have been long laid away 
And defend you from the Poers that walk by the way. 
For if they take you one by one 
From them there scapeth never a one 
I swear by Christ and St. John 
That off goes your head.1 

But the burghers of Irish towns had sturdy hearts and 
good armour to buckle upon them, as they had shown 
against Bruce and many an Irish king. Waterford was 
the “ urbs intacta”’ that boasted it was never taken by 
Irish chief or Norman ear] all through the Butler-Geraldine 
wars and the age of the Tudors. 

In 1413, and several later battles, the Waterford men 
more than held their own against “ Irish enemy and 
English rebel,” and finally in 1538 “‘ the great galley of 
Waterford with two other ships, having four hundred 
men on board, commanded by the mayor, sailed to 
Inisherkin to avenge the plunder of a wineship, took 
Finghin O' Driscoll’s castle, and destroyed all the villages 
of the island, Finghin’s most privy habitation end 
pleasant dwelling with its orchard, the abbey of Friars 
Minor, and the mill ; took his chief galley of thirty-four 
oars and many pinnaces; and so returned on Good 
Friday with great joy and comfort.”"* It was hard, 

etc, The is 14-15th century English, I owe the translation fo the indus of Profesor Mawer of Liverpoo! University. 
* Carew Miscoll : pp. 47%, 474- 



364 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

however, to shake off the local tyrant, and we find in 
1475 that Richard Poer had been sheriff of the city for 
20 years and “ has inflicted great injuries by land and 
sea on the citizens and strangers resorting there, aud 
since in all the counties round the said city there live no 
lords, gentlemen or commons arrayed in English habit, 
or submitting to the King’s obedience, or governed by 
any other laws save those called Brehon . . . therefore, 
as the mayor and commons of the said city are faithful 
subjects, it is enacted that henceforth they elect the 
sheriffs of the said city.” 1 

The worst time for the towns seems to have been this 
age of the Lancastrians from 1400 to 1460; then the 
epoch of Home Rule, many as its defects were, did 
something to strengthen these buttresses of Anglo-Ireland 
and, weary of a long struggle with petty tyrants, Cork, 
Limerick, Galway, Youghal and the rest were fain to 
shelter under the great hereditary lords of Desmond, 
Ormond, Clanrickard who were the true sovereigns 
of Ireland. 

Richard Duke of York finally landed at Howth on 
July 6, 1449. The personal appeal of so great a prince 
who flew the black dragon standard of the old earldom 
of Ulster was so potent with all the Irish that within a 
month Magennis, MacMahon and MacCartan of Down 
and Monaghan, and two O'Reillys of Cavan, joined him 
with some three thousand men “ well harnessed, both 
horse and foot,” so that he was able to bring Brian 
O'Byme of Wicklow to swear allegiance and to promise 
to provide six hundred men for service, to pay a tribute 
of two-pence per acre on his lands, to let the law run 
therein, and to learn English. Before Michaelmas 
Henry, son of Eoghan O'Neill, with O'Farrell, O’More, 
O'Demsy, O’Nolan, Macgeoghegan and Donal Reagh 
MacMurchada sent tributes of beeves for the Duke's 
kitchen and James, Ear! of Desmond, with his Old English 

+ Dalton’s Drogheda II. p, 169, from an unpublished statute. 
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vassals, Cogan, Roche, Barret, the White Knight and 
others came in along with thirty-four Irish chiefs and 
swore fealty! As a son George, afterwards Duke of 
Clarence, was born to Richard and his wife Cecilia in 
Dublin Castle on October 21, 1449, the opportunity was. 
seized to make Desmond and Ormond “ godsib ’’ to York 
by their standing as sponsors at the baptism. 

In the Parliament held under Richard in April, 
1450, at Drogheda, the Commons elected a Speaker, 
John Chever, “ to show and declare in the said parliament 
for them all manner of business which they have to 
declare, and to answer for them in matters moved or to 

be moved . . . but if it happen that the said Speaker 
show or say anything to the displeasure of the most high 
and puissant Prince, Richard, or of the prelates, lords and 
peers from ignorance or otherwise without assent or by 
assent of the said Commons, let it be not recorded or 

Teported.” * 
Like many before and after him, the Duke found 

himself “‘ mocked by the light submission of the Irish,” 
and Macgeoghegan, who had been so complaisant at his 
arrival next year invaded the lands of Trim with such 
forces that the Duke could do nothing but come to terms 
with him.* 

Finally in September 1450 Richard departed for 
England, where an Irish kinsman of his known to history 
as Jack Cade, but whose true name seems to have been 
John Mortimer, a base son of the late Earl of March, 
had shortly before raised a rebellion in the Duke’s favour 
and actually on July 2, at the head of the Kentish rebels, 
took London town, but was soon after hunted down and 
slain. As Deputy, York left behind him Sir James 

4Nat. Facs. Ir. plate XIII. XXIX. 
. IL, p.r79. 
sbackinbis Arnel under 1450: MacEochagain’s son took grest spoils from the English and preyed and burnt Kathquary and Killu- 

cain, Kilbigsy and other towns. Then came the English of Meath 
and the Duke of York and the King’s colours to Mullingar and Mac- 
Eochagain’s son with a great many horsemen well-armed and mounted 
‘came to Belatha-glasarmagh to meet the English, but they made peace 
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Butler, eldest son of the Earl of Ormond, who had been 
1m 1449 created Earl of Wiltshire and was married to 
Eleanor, sister of the Earl of Somerset. His father, the 
White Earl, closed his long life at the end of August, 
1452. MacFirbis’ quaint annals record his last deeds 
thus: ‘‘the Earl of Ormond, the best captain of the 
English nation that ever was in Ireland, died at Ardee, 
after he had broken the castle of Owney on Mulryan and 
taken Ley castle from O’Dempsey and so against O’Connor 
Lfally and O'Farrell of Annally, and then to Muintir 
Reilly, and MacMahon’s, and caused Henry O'Neill to 
divorce MacWilliam Burke’s daughter and take to him 
his own married wife MacMoragh’s daughter, sister to the 
said Earl, and so to Ardee and there died.” Thus died 
in harness perhaps the best type of the ‘‘ Old English” 
that Ireland could produce, and we may regret that the 
Ormond line, which was so eminently fitted to inter- 
mediate between England and Ireland, did not continue 
to serve Ireland. But his son James, the fifth earl and 
also Earl of Wiltshire, was dragged into the York- 
Lancaster fight, spent most of bis time in England and 
was beheaded with others of his party after Towton in 
May, x46r. 

The leadership of the Patriot party passed first to 
Desmond, and then to Kildare, and the heads of the 
Butlers became English absentees. 

The fourth earl of Ormond’s brother, Sir Richard of 
Polestown, illustrates the tendency for the cadets of the 
First Families to become Irish. No senior Butler had 
ever yet married Irish, but this Richard had wedded an 
O'Reilly, and had by her a son Edmund MacRichard, 
who also wedded an Irishwoman, Catherine O’Carrall. 
Edmund's son James, generally called Baron of Dun- 
boyne in Meath, fellin love with Saiv Kavanagh, daughter 
of Donal Reagh MacMurchada, finally marrying her, 
and had by her two sons, Esmond and Theobald, ‘' born 
in affiance of the two before espousals” and a third, 
* born after espousals,”’ who was therefore held legitimate, 
called Piers the Red (“Rua.”) Piers was created by 
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Henry VIII. in 1527 Earl of Ossory, and finally on the 
death of his English kinsman Sir Thomas Boleyn, Earl 
of Ormond, was acknowledged Earl of Ormond in 1537, 
and so is ancestor of the later Earls. 

As Edmund MacRichard was baron of Dunboyne 
and as this manor was within a few miles of Maynooth, 
it was a natural casus belli between these Butlers and 
the Kildare earls. 

The disputes of Butler, Kildare, and Desmond over 
borderlands in Leinster and in Munster were aggravated 
by the numbers of their cadets, inordinately proud of 
their name, much in need of fiefs, and able to call on 
Gaelic allies. The fatal feud of Ormond and Kildare, 
which went on nigh a hundred years and ended in the 
ruin of the latter race, had already begun. 

A memorial from county Kildare to the Duke of York 
in 1454 stated that “the land of Ireland was never at 
the point finally to be destroyed since the conquest of 
this land as it is now,” and complained of the “ misrule 
and misgovernance of divers gentlemen of the county 
and liberty of Meath and the counties of Kildare and 
Uriel,” and of : 
“A variance betwixt therle of Wiltshire, Lieutenant of this lande, and 

A hundred years after, the fruits of this land-profi- 
teering were still visible in vested abuses, Thus the 
gentry and freeholders of County Tipperary wrote to 
Henry VILL. in m4 

heritance, and so the q eet 
wi te ih, Salata by the Ear ‘Desmond, which brought the 

4 Round Early Life of Anne Boleyn pp. 29-31. 
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‘Thomas Earl of Ormond who abode all his life eee 
Ba Se Hamed tg by sure poe ote 

After various Deputies of his, the Duke of York was in 
March, 1457, again created Lieutenant of Ireland, but 
the Wars of the Roses were already launched on their 
bloody course and his party needed him, therefore he 
continued Thomas, seventh Earl of Kildare, as his deputy. 
This was to put into the saddle the Home Rule party, 
united on one point—the domination of Ireland. It 
was now that we find native Lieutenants appointing 
their own deputies, and installing their own Chancellors ; 
and Chancellors and Treasurers holding for life, in dead 
defiance of the most essential prerogative of the Crown.? 

It mattered little to the York-Warwick faction, for 
these bad Englishmen cared only to win another aris- 
tocracy, that of Ireland, to their side, and the government 
of Henry VI., which foolishly supposed sending York 
to Ireland was getting him out of the way, was in reality 
making Ireland a scourge to themselves and to England 
for fifty years.* 

Then came “ the Rout of Ludlow” on October 12, 
1459, followed by the attainder of York and his sup- 
porters at the parliament of Coventry, and at the end of 

} Nat, Facs. IIL p- LXIanp LXXY. 
4 The most striking case of long tenure is that of Roland FitsEustace 

Portlester, who ly om 1454 to 1452. 
In 1483 Robert St. TPaurence, Lord Howe, was by 
Chancellor for with powe: toname a deputy (0 ‘Mun, 1. Pt. IV. 
Bal As actot IIL. allowed the chief officers of State to 

jor life. 
extract from Record. Twrr. Lond. given in Carew Miscell : p. 

478 puta the inal tow of Ulster down to ‘ork :—" In fine during his 
government there, he 80 gained the hearts of the Irish nobility that 
divers of them, especially those of Ulster, Clandeboye, the Glins and 
the Ardes, which at that time were better inhabited with English 
nobility than any part of Munster or Connaught, came over with him 

ainst King Henry VI. to wit famous battles, as to Blorheth, Barnet, 
Northampton, and lastly to Wakeficd, where they not only iost thelr 
lives with him but also left their country so of defence that the 
Irish cast up their old captain O'Neale, relyed themselves with their 
ancient neighbours the Scots and repossessed themselves of almost 
the whole country, which is the utter ruin of Ulster.” 
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the year Richard landed in Ireland, a defeated refugee 
to throw himself, like King James in 1689, on the generous 
hearts of the Irish people. 

But no more than in 1689 did Ireland’s ruling class 
intend to declare unconditionally for a refugee Prince. 
The unexampled moment was seized to declare the full 
internal autonomy of the Lordship of Ireland. At the 
Parliament of Drogheda called by York early in February, 
1460, the Irish Estates answered the English attainder 
of their hero and his side by attainting the heads of the 
Butlers and other Insh enemies of the Duke, confirmed 
“the most high and puissant prince, Richard Duke of 
York" as viceroy; made it high treason to compass his 
death or provoke rebellion against him; and, having 
thus defied the judgment of England, proceeded to 
declare the legislative and legal independence of Ireland, 
as follows : 
" The subjects of Ireland need not answer writs save under the Great 
Seal of Ireland, and all sppeals of treason shall be determined in the 
Courts of the Constable and Marshal of Ireland, unless they touch the 

The land of Ireland is bound only by the laws of its own parlia- 
‘ment, for “ the land of Ireland is and at all times has been corporate 
of itself by the ancient laws and customs used of the same, freed of the 
burthen of any special law of the realm of England, save only such 
lawa as by the lords spiritual and temporal and the commons of the 
said land have beca, in Great Council or Parliament there held, ad- 
mitted, accepted, affirmed and proclaimed, according to sunt ancient 
statutes thereof made," * wi 

So bold an assertion of equality with England under 
one Imperial crown had never before been advanced. 
Richard had to accept it though probably with little 
satisfaction for after all he was an Englishman. But 
his party was scattered and Ireland was his greatest 
asset. 

In June, 1460, Richard left for England, with many 
Irishmen in his train, but, after having seon the Crown 
almost within his grasp, he was slain in a surprise battle 
at Sandal near Wakefield on the last day of 1469. Thus 
perished with Irish troops around him the hero of all 

4 See Berry Statuies Il. for the acts of this parliament pp. 639-801, 
and p. 645 for the words quoted. 
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Ireland. But at least he had won almost all Ireland to 
the cause of the White Rose for some forty years to 
come. 

The Duke's eldest son Edward proved himself a 
brilliant soldier, and was crowned King of England on 
March 4, 1461, and established his throne at Towton 
field, on March the 29th. James Earl of Ormond, had 
been on the losing side, was taken, and executed later 
at Newcastle; and at the Parliament of Westminster 
in November himself and his brothers John and Thomas 
were attainted with other Lancastrians. 

With Edward IV. the whole Mortimer heritage in 
Ireland and Wales merged in the Crown. The first 
Yorkist king owed a family debt to Ireland, and so had 
perforce to leave the Home Rule lords in power. Under 
him indeed the Anglo-Irish nobility was reinforced by 
new creations, such as Sir Robert Barnewall, Sir Roland 
FitzEustace, Sir Robert Bold and Sir Robert Preston, 
who became respectively Barons of Trimleston, Port- 
lester, Ratoath, and Viscount Gormanston. 

The Earl of Kildare, whom the Council elected Jus- 
ticiar on York’s death, ruled till March, 1462, when the 
King’s brother, George Duke of Clarence, was made 
Lieutenant, but did not come over and left the govern- 
ment to Irish Deputies, 

Thomas, son of James Earl ot Desmond, succeeded 
his father in the earldom in August, 1462, his father 
dying in that year at Newcastle and being entombed at 
Tralee. Thomas had at once to unite with the Earl of 
Kildare to oppose a Lancastrian or rather Butler in- 
surrection led by Sir John of Ormond, brother and heir 
of Earl James slain after Towton. Attainted in England, 
the Butlers, both the senior and the MacRichard line, 
were also attainted at a Dublin parliament in October, 
1462. But the titular Earl sailed for Ireland and proved 
how formidable a Butler league could be. In 1462 
Waterford, Kilkenny, New Ross and other towns declared 
for him, Edmund MacRichard and the junior Butlers 
of Kilkenny and Tipperary rose, and an army of 5,000 
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men took the field for him in Meath led by Bermingham 
and others of the Old English reinforced by O’Conor 
Faly2 The new Desmond Earl, however, saved King 
Edward’s cause and his own by raising 20,000 men at his 
‘own cost; wasted Ormond’s country for seventeen 
days; reduced the Meath rising without bloodshed ; 
and at Pilltown or Baile-an-phoill near Carrick-on-Suir 
defeated Ormond himself so completely that “ for certain 
it might not be known how great a number was slain, 
and Sir John himself was discomfited and put to flight ” 
(1462). In this battle Edmund MacRichard, who was a 
famous warrior, followed by a thousand horsemen with 
helmets, and a hero of the Irish poets, had four hundred 
men slain and himself taken, and as part of his ransom 
paid over to the victor Desmond, who could appreciate 
them quite as much as he, two great Irish books out of his 
library, the Book of Carrick and a copy of the ancient 
Psalter of Cashel, made for him at his castle of Rath-an- 
photaire in 1454, and dedicated “with a blessing on 
the soul of the archbishop of Cashel, Richard O’Hedigan, 
for it was by him the owner of this book was educated.” 2 

In 1465 this MacRichard’s attainder was reversed 
by the Irish Parhament, and in 1468 that of his son 
James, Edmund himself having died in 1464 or 1465, 
James took his place, and maintained the cause of his 
senior, John Earl of Ormond. Sir James had loved and 
then married Saiv or “ Sabina ” Kavanagh, and had by 
her three children, Esmond, Theobald, and Piers Rua. 
These two former were legitimated by Parliament in 
1467 as being born “‘in affiance between the two before 
espousals,” and a royal patent, given by Desmond as 
Deputy in that year, freed Saiv and her issue by James, 

a ent in x 272) kenny ed an rar eat it 
Meath, forty in all inclnding John Bermingham of Carbery “ chief 
eM and MacFirbis 1462, and Tish parliament to King, in 

IIT. pp. 180-88. The Saltair Chaisil, compiled circa 900, 
till 1454 when O'Clery made a copy of what survived of it for Edmund 
MacRichard—of this copy a fragment is in the Bodleian. The Sal- 
tair contained inter alia a great collection of royal Irish pedigrees. 
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begotten or to be begotten, from all Irish servitude and 
enabled her and them to enjoy English laws, acquire and 
purchase lands, and answer and be answered at the 
King’s courts. Piers, however, born about 1467, in due 
wedlock, regarded his elder brothers as illegitimate and 
himself as his father’s lawful heir.? 

The attainder of Ear] John himself was reversed by 
the Irish Parliament in June, 1476, but this Earl, whom 
King Edward praised as “the goodliest knight I ever 
beheld, and the finest gentleman in Europe,” spent most 
of his life in England and abroad, and died in 1478. 
His brother and heir, Thomas, was also generally absent 
till his death in 1515, and thus was completed the 
absenteeism of this great Old English race. James of 
Dunboyne, MacRichard’s son, led the Irish Butlers till 
his death in April, 1487. A deed of his calls him “ chief 
captain of his nation” ; so far in the Celtic direction had 
this great-grandson of a Norman earl gone. After him, 
his son Piers Rua “ the Red,’’ was practical head of the 
Butlers till the death of Earl Thomas in 1515, and then 
defied Henry VIII. when that monarch made Sir Thomas 
Boleyn, son of William Boleyn and Margery daughter of 
Earl Thomas, Earl of Ormond, but was pacified by the 
earldom of Ossory in 1527, and finally was created Earl 
of Ormond in 1537. 

Such were the cadets of the Butlers who now spread 
far and wide from the Ormond country into Meath, 
Carlow, Wexford and Tipperary. Hemmed in by the 
Kildare earldom on one hand and that of Desmond on 
the other, mearing and border disputes kept up a friction 
between these great families which was accentuated by 
the Yorkist feelings of the Geraldines and the rather 
tepid Lancastrian feelings of the Butlers. 

Thus at Castledermot the Ormond touched on the 
Kildare palatinate, and at Clonmel Desmond and Ormond 
clashed over the lordship of this important town which 
the Earl of Desmond had bought from Peter Grandison 

4 Round Early Life of Anne Boleyn pp. 20-31: Berry IIT. p. 487: 
and Carte’s Tie of the eet" Duke of p. EXXXVEVL. 
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in 1338, and in virtue of this held courts leet there, while 
the Earl of Ormond, as Palatine lord of Tipperary, had 
cognisance of all save reserved Crown pleas, and, while 
Desmond appointed the provost of the town, Ormond 
appointed the sovereign, till finally in 1371 the Lieu- 
tenant Windsor granted the burgesses the right to elect 
the sovereign themselves * 

In April, 1463, Thomas earl of Desmond became 
Deputy for the Duke of Clarence and held till 1467, 
while in January, 1464, the other head of the Patriot 
party, Thomas earl of Kildare, was made Chancellor. 
At Desmond’s first Parliament, held between Martinmas 
1463 and St. David’s Day, 1464, the rewards made to the 
Earl “ for his notable services against Sir John of Or- 
mond ” included a grant of the custody of the ruined 
lordships and lands of Carlow and Ross, and the seignory 
of Dungarvan for sixty years. 

Desmond’s good sense, more perhaps than his Irishism, 
was shown in a statute there passed that “as the profit 
of every city and town in the land depends principally 
on the resort of Irish people bringing merchandise there- 
into, the people of Cork, Waterford, Limerick and Youghal 
may trade with the Irish, in spite of all statutes contrary.” 
Again in August-November, 1465, Desmond held a 
parliament at Trim and Drogheda which passed acts of 
pardon for Edmund Butler, and the revolting towns of 
1462. In the spirit of Kilkenny the Irish among the 
English of Meath, Louth, Dublin and Kildare—which 
are thus for the first time recognised as the Pale, the only 
portion left of the true ‘‘ English land "—were ordered 
to take English surnames, to go as English, and be sworn 
as lieges within a year. Fishing in the waters of Irish 
enemies without licence was forbidden for by this “ large 
tributes of money come to the Irish from foreign ships.” 
To terrorise evildoers, Old English or Irish, a ferocious 
act was passed allowing any liege man “ without fear of 

impeachment " to lay any thief or thieves going in or 
out to steal, especially in the land of Meath, having with 

4 W. P, Burke Hist, of Clonmel p. 15-16, 
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them no faithful man of good name and fame and in 
English apparel.” 

That Desmond was a statesman ready to enlarge the 
“ English land,” while at the same time he won the 
hearts of the Irish, is shown in that for the first time for 
many years County Cork was in 1463-4 represented in 
Parliament by two knights, Robert Rochford and Edward 
Penkeston. That he was a cultured and thinking man 
is shown in his attempt to provide the Anglo-Irish race 
with an University. At this parliament of 1465, then 
sitting at Drogheda during October and November, it 
was enacted that “ inasmuch as the land of Ireland has 
no university within it, which if it had would promote 
as much the increase of knowledge and good governance 
as avoidance of riot and misgovernance, it is ordered 
that there shall be an university at Drogheda where may 
be made bachelors, masters and doctors in all sciences 
and faculties as at Oxford.” * This design cf a studium 
gen-rale for Ireland was inspired as much by the pre- 
valent nationalist sentiment as by wounded feeling over 
the exclusion of Irishmen from English universities. 
Not followed up, in itself it came to nothing. But 
shortly before this Earl Thomas had himself founded in 
his town of Youghal on December 27, 1464, a single 
college of the All Souls type. Called by him the Church 
of the Blessed Virgin at Youghal, its community consisted 
at first of a warden, eight fellows, and eight singing men, 
living in collegiate manner and having a common table. 
Endowed by the Earl with lands, etc., yielding £600 
per annum, the foundation was confirmed by Thomas’ 
son James in 1472, and by Papal Bull of Alexander VI. 
in 1494 which gave permission to the warden and fellows 
to purchase more lands, Till Trinity College arose, it 
was the nearest thing to an Irish university that existed 
and, had 16th century Ireland known better fortune, 
might have anticipated the later foundation. Surviving 
the Dissolution, it had in 1602 a warden Meredith Hanmer, 

Berry IT pp, 4-263 and 272-360. 
‘Dery HEP 
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who at least wrote a chronicle of Ireland not without 
merit ; but after the ruin of the Desmond house it fell 
a prey to the fortune seekers, was granted in 1598 to 
Norris Lord President of Munster, and finally came to 
that most successful of all land-monopolisers, Richard 
Boyle Earl of Cork! 

Meanwhile the Earl of Desmond's dealings with the 
“Irish enemy ” and the constant extension of his vast 
Irish lordship were rousing suspicion and fear in the 
Council room of England. 

Desmond’s earldom, which embraced all Munster 
west of a line drawn from Limerick to Clonmel and 
Dungarvan, was in truth a small kingdom which had few 
equals even among the great earldoms of England. 
And it was an Irish kingdom, for the Gaelic vassals and 
subjects of the Earl were more numerous than his 
Englishry. Son of the O’Brien-fostered James and of a 
Burke lady, it is certain that Thomas spoke Irish and had 
strong native sympathies. When he held Parliament in 
Dublin in 1464, MacWilliam of Clanrickard his cousin, 
Aedh Rua O'Donnell, and ‘‘ many of the English and 
Irish” attended him there, and the unusual sight was 
seen of’ Irish chiefs with their galloglass walking the 
streets of the capital—a token that Norman and Celtic 
chiefs were now joint lords of Ireland. Though the 
Desmond records have mainly perished, their rentals 
must have recorded numerous grants to Gaelic chiefs, 

and concordats made with them in this earl’s time, as 
under his father, in a sense contrary to anti-Irish statutes, 

Thomas had allowed the race of Conor O’Brien to 
keep the Lordship of Carrigogunnell and Pobal Bhriain 
in Limerick, founded under his father earl James, which 
stretched to within a few miles of Limerick city. Then 
in 1466 Taig son of Turloch O’Brien, king of Thomond 
since 1458, 1t would seem retaliating because the Earl 
had sheltered this rival branch, invaded the earldom and 
marched southwards over the Shannon, “and,” says 

4 Dalton’s History of Drogheda, p. 150 and 157, and Smith's Hist, 
(of County and City of Cork, p. 55. 
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MacFirbis, “ we heard not of such an host with any of 
his name or ancestors since Brian Boro . . . so that the 
Irish of Desmond and Iarmond all obeyed him; he 
bribed the Old Irish of Leinster so that they were working 
his coming; but he retired to his house after he had 
conquered the country of Clanwilliam all, and the county 

of Lymbrick, it being made sure to him from the Earle in 
lieu of granting peace to the said Earle and to his country, 
and the townsmen of Lymbrick gave sixty marks yearly 
to him for him [i.e., to the Earl for O'Brien], but he after- 
wards died of a fever in his own house” (1466).! Such 
were the terrifying triumphs of native chiefs at this time 
and if Taig’s brother and successor Conor did not keep 
County Limerick, at least he and his successors kept till 
the next century that Blackrent upon Limerick city to 
which the Earl had had to consent. 

That Desmond had by vote of Irish parliament added 
Dungarvan and Carlow and other rich lordships to his 
princedom could not be directly charged against him for 
the Crown had approved, but such “ overmighty sub- 
jects” the Yorkist monarchy, once it got its feet, was 
bound to challenge both in England and Ireland. In 
Desmond it was an especial offence that he was obviously 
more Irish than any Patriot leader had yet been, and the 
Irish exactions of coign, livery, etc., begun by his father 
and continued by him, were of all offences the most 
heinous—a surrender of the citadel to the ‘ Irish 
enemy.”’* Later Sir Roland FitzEustace was accused 
of having incited the Earl to take the Throne of Ireland, 
and whether the idea ever entered Desmond's head or 
no, it is certain that for over seventy years it was the 
constant fear of the English crown that some “‘ Irish 
wyrling ” would take it on him to assume the Sovereignty 
of Ireland. 

aiSee F. M. 1464, 1466, and 1502, We find the County Limerick 
under He 40 a rent to eary VII. paying {40 8 year 

some say it was on account of tg Ms i eban coniees toe 
‘King’s peace and the laws of Ireland that he was decapitated.”” 
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By one of the most dramatic surprises in Irish his- 
tory, the pride of the greatest Old English and Irish lord 
in Ireland was suddenly quenched in his own blood. 

Sir John Tibetot or “ Tiptoft,” Earl of Worcester, 
was ‘the most learned nobleman in England.” An 
art lover and true child of the Renaissance, he was 
educated at Balliol college ; went on pilgrimage or tour 
to Jerusalem, and while sojourning at Rome delivered 
a latin oration which moved to tears the great Aeneas 
Sylvius himself, Tibetot translated “‘ Tullius’ his book 
of friendship,” and Caxton published it in 1481 with a 
lament for the noble earl cut off in early manhood in 
these bloody wars of York and Lancaster. 

‘As if to show how Art and political ferocity could 
animate the same Renaissance breast, Tibetot as Con- 
stable of England adjudged to savage execution by “ the 
Law of Padua,” which he had studied to good effect in 
the Italy of Machiavelli, so many noble victims of the 
Yorkist triumph that he earned the name of “ the 
Butcher.” If the New Monarchy, which France now 
had and Worcester wished for England, could have been 
founded in a shambles of the nobility, Worcester would 
have done the work without a qualm. But when his 
master Edward was for a time overthrown in 1470 the 

“Butcher ” and translator of Cicero was pitilessly and 
ignominiously despatched to join his victims in the 
shades. 

This was the man who found time in his brief career 
to strike down the greatest of the Anglo-Irish, and that 
with a sudden ruthlessness not witnessed again till 
Henry the Eighth. 

Appointed Lieutenant of Ireland in 1467, Worcester 
was evidently given a free hand to conciliate the Irish 
Butlers—for Edward had taken the Earl of Ormond, 
though still attained, into grace—and to make a de- 
monstration of English power, even if it meant a blow at 
that nobility which had embraced the cause of York. 
Tibetot reserved this demonstration for an Irish parlia- 
ment held first at Dublin and then at Drogheda between 
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St. Nicholas’ day 1467 and early November, 1468. Here 
the sovereignty of Edward as Lord of Ireland in virtue 
of Adrian’s Bull was re-asserted and the bishops were 
ordered to enjoin general obedience to him as such. A 
formidable list of English, with some Irish, of the marches 
of Meath, Kildare and Dublin, guilty of extortions and 
robberies against the liege people were sternly ordered to 
surrender. The shame of “le blake rente” to Irish 
enemies was to be ended and the subjects were ordered 
te pay it to the viceroy—a vain command of course. 
The attainder of James Butler of Dunboyne was reversed 
and his Irish wife Saiv Kavanagh and her children by 
him legitimised. But the thunderbolt was fired at 
Drogheda, whither the earls of Desmond and Kildare 
came to justify themselves before Tibetot. An act was 
suddenly passed—and that it was passed is significant 
of the way this tiny Parliament could be packed—against 
the heroes and leaders of nearly all Anglo-Ireland, and 
at the instigation of Sherwood bishop of Meath, a poli- 
tician of the Talbot school, the Earls of Desmond and 
Kildare and Sir Edward Plunket were, on February 4, 
1468, attainted ‘‘for horrible treasons and felonies as 
well in alliance fosterage and alterage with the Irish 
enemies of the King as in giving to them horses, harnesses 
and arms.”” Before he could escape or appeal, Desmond 
was taken and beheaded at Drogheda on February 14, 
1468, while Kildare escaped to England and procured the 
reversal of his attainder at this very parliament of 
Drogheda later in the year, binding himself however to 
do faithful service and bring the Irishmen of Leinster 

to peace to the best of his power. 

The judicial murder of Earl Thomas, which was 
paralleled a hundred times in England during these fifty 
years, struck both Irish and Anglo-Irish with horror. 
“ Slain by the swords of the wicked or shall I say rather 
made a martyr in Christ,” is one epitaph upon him, 

while MacFirbis’ annals praise him as a native hero, 

“ bountiful in bestowing good gifts on both laity and 
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clergy and on all the learned, both antiquaries, poets and 
aesdanas of all Ireland.””* 

The dead man’s son James, who took the title after him 
at once raised the Geraldines of Munster, ravaged Meath 
wherein was King Edward's land of Trim and, enlarging 
on the Royal privilege of 1445, swore that he and his would 
never attend Parliament or Great Council again, or enter 
walled town of the King’s allegiance, except at their own 
pleasure, a “ privilege” only renounced by his successor 
in 1540. James, who reigned till December, 1487, went 
even more Irish than his father, for he married Margaret, 
daughter of that Taig O'Brien who had made the great 
raid of 1466. For the English interest it was certainly 
no triumph to drive the greatest of the Old English of 
Munster, even when it remained sporadically Yorkist, 
over to Irishry. 

But the idea of a Re-conquest of Ireland was bound 
to present itself to the first established king of England. 
If Edward's father had acted on the maxim “ he who 
would England win, must with Ireland first begin,” 
later kings of England could turn the lesson the other 
way round, and, from a united England, conquer a still 
feudal and Yorkist Ireland. Moreover the Libelle of 
Englyshe Policye, published already in 1436, had advised 
the rulers of England :— 

Remember well with all your might to hede. 
To keepe Irlande that it be not lost. 
For it is a boterasse and a post 
Under England, and Wales another : 
God forbid but ech were other’s brother 
Of one ligeaunce due unto the king. 
Obits at end of Grace's annals p. 165, from a Mortiloge of Askeaton 

or other Desmond abbey; The " aesiina ” were the 
“men of science.” See Gilbert's Viceroys p. 386 for Holin- 

Dok to marry Be T agree with Orpen (Eng, Het, Rv. (1015, 242) 
that there is nothing in the story and that Desmond's real offence 
in his adoption of Irish custom, For, example. presents, of hore 
ams, etc., to Irish chiefs were simply the old customary Brehon 
‘feonGrming their vassalage to the * RI” who bestowed ouch stipends, 
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But I have pittie in good faith of this thing 
That I shall say it with avisement, 
I am afearde that Ireland will be shent, 
It must away, it wol be lost for us.! 

But for a truly established King, England had to 
wait till 1509, and Edward the Fourth himself for six 
months of 1470-1 was a fugitive in Holland before the 
union of Warwick with Henry VI., and the ear] of Wor- 
cester was taken and slain. Hence, in the unsteady years 
before that debacle and for fourteen years of the Yorkist 
Restoration, Ireland had to be left to the Patriot party 
and to Kildare who now took the leadership formally 
held by Ormond and Desmond. 

Tibetot returned to England in the end of 1468. In 
the troubled year of 1470, Thomas of Kildare ruled as 
Justiciar by the will of the Irish Council, for the titular 
Lieutenant Worcester was with the overthrown Yorkist 
party. On Edward's restoration, Clarence became 
nominal Lieutenant again till his execution, but Kildare 
held as Deputy most of that time till his own death in 
March, 1477. 

From this time on the House of Kildare is more and 
more the ruler of Ireland. As the Irish parliament was 
the body through which the Kildare earls clothed their 
doings with legality, let us survey the proceedings of this 
assembly in the ten years from 1470 to 1480. It wasa 
parliament now representing little but a few towns of 
Leinster and Munster, the commons of four shires, viz., 
Dublin, Meath, Kildare and Louth, and such bishops and 
“‘Jords of parliament” as still performed their parlia- 
mentary duties. It had mnch of the outward appearance 
of its English prototype ; payment of members, immunity 
from arrest, a Speaker, recognition that laws were made 
at the request of the Commons. By the declaration of 
Right in 1460 the Irish parliament had claimed to be 
supreme over the internal affairs of Ireland, and thus, 
when in 1468 the Irish house ratified an English act of 6 
2 Printed in Principal Navigations of the English Nation, London 

1599, and in Wright's Political Poems. 
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Richard II. concerning rapes, it laid down the principle 
asserted in 1460, that English acts could only bind 
Ireland when accepted by the Irish legislature, by adding 
“from henceforth the said act and all other statutes and 
acts made by authority of parliament within the realm 
of England, concerning all manner of rapes, are ratified 
confirmed, and adjudged by authority of this parliament, 
from the said sixth day of March.” Willy nilly the 
English Crown and Parliament had to accept these 
claims for another twenty seven years. 

To crown this framework of Home Rule a kind of 
native king was needed. On Worcester’s death in 147r 
the Irish Estates, acting on a supposed statute of Henry 
FitzEmpress giving them the power, made Kildare 
Justiciar by simple election of parliament and added, 
“this election—the land being without a governor by 
avoidance of the Earl of Worcester—is declared by 
authority of parliament to be good and effectual in law, 
and by the same authority is ratified and approved.” 

If avoidance of taxation be a token of freedom, the 
freedom of England’s colony was now almost perfect. 
Owing to the Irish re-conquest, rents and profits from 
feudal tenures ceased to count for much in the revenue. 
The parliamentary carucage which occasionally supple- 
mented the State resources fell so greatly in amount that 
in 1480 the Deputy Kildare was instructed by King 
Edward not to demand more than one subsidy in the 
year and this not to exceed twelve hundred marks “‘ as 
hath been accustomed "—thus a sum of £800 per annum 
was as much as could be got to supplement the standing 
income from customs, Crown lands, feudal dues, firms, 
rents and profits of justice. 

To maintain the dignity of their vice-king, the Irish 
Estates in 1472 granted him a retinue of eighty archers, 
increased in 1474 to a hundred and sixty-three spears, 
Much more impressive was the Guild of St. George, 
established in 1474 by Act of Parliament for the defence 
ofthe Pale. By thisa force of two hundred fully equipped 

men, namely of archers on horse one hundred and twenty 

Google sie 



382 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

of horse forty, and of pages forty, paid out of the customs, 
was to be commanded by the Deputy and twelve of the 
most honorable persons of the four Pale counties who 
should elect a Captain every year in Dublin on St. George’s 
day. As the next earl, Gerald, when he was confirmed 
Deputy in 148x was further granted a retinue of forty 
spears by the King’s orders, and as the Guild of St. 
George was really a force maintained for this native 
viceroy, it meant that a far from contemptible royal 
guard of nearly five hundred of the best troops in Ireland 
rode ever at his command. True the salary granted him 
in this same year, £600, was but small, but then he had 
the profits of the whole Lordship of Ireland.* 

The nature of enactments in these native parliaments 
can be seen in the proceedings of the Estates as summoned 
by Kildare and the bishop of Meath in the years 1472 to 
1475.2 In that held under Kildare, from December to 
March, 1472-3, it was enacted that the Deputy may 
appoint to offices of State. At Dublin and then Kil- 
mainham, in March, 1474, the Brotherhood of St. George 
was established. At Dublin in July, 1475, before Sher- 
wood bishop of Meath, Deputy for Clarence, the attainder 
of Sir John, Earl of Ormond, a favourite of king Edward, 
was reversed. In the parliament of 1472 Collon in Louth 
is described as “ on the frontier of the marches of Uriel, 
and is the key of that part of the country"; in 1475, 
Siddan, “ which is the key of the country there, and is 
surrounded by lords who take coign and livery and leave 
English conduct " has confirmed to it the liberties granted 
to it in circa 1290 by Philip Telyng, and may impose 

customs for murage as it has never been walled. In 
1472 bitter complaint is made that “‘ the writs of the 
king nor the law of the king nor his court is not used 

1Gilbert's Viceroys App. 592-9, for the instructions of the King 
in 1480, and p. 600 the viceregal indenture between the King and the 
Earl of Kildare in 1481, 

1 Tomas O’Muirgheasa of the P.R.0.1. has kindly allowed me to 
see a most valuable table of Contents which he has made of the Sta- 
tutes beginning 12-13 Ed. IV., the originals of which have, it is to be 
feared, perished in the Four Courts. 
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betwixt the people of the king in Ulster ”—so justices 
may enquire by juries of men of the next county just as 
if they were in Ulster. All Ulster is lost save for Carrick- 
fergus and Ardglass., 

This picture of the loss of the northern frontiers 
brings us back to the Gaelic lords of the North. 

Aedh Rua O'Donnell, whose long reign covered 146% 
to 1505, had in 1464, as we saw, marched into Dublin 
as an adherent of Thomas earl of Desmond. In 1469, 
having got Richard, the Mayo Burke, to submit to him, 
he marched against Ulick of Clanrickard, and Conor 
O'Brien of Thomond came to the help of Clanrickard 
who had married Conor's daughter Slaine, but the 
two latter were defeated at Glanog. Next year O'Donnell 
took Sligo castle from Donal O’Conor, the reigning chief, 
and got submission and tribute from Lower Connacht, 
while O’Conor had also to surrender precious books— 
the Lebhor na h-Uidhre his ancestors had had since 1345 
and the Lebhor Gearr with the chair of Donal 6g, king of 
Tyrconnell circa 1260.2 Thus did O'Donnell affirm his 
paramount lordship in the borderlands of Ulster and 
Connacht. 

It was this Aedh Rua who built Donegal castle and 
the fine abbey of the Franciscans there, and made this 
his “manor of Donegal,” just as Dungannon with its 
castle was now O’Neill’s seat. 

Meanwhile Henry O'Neill strove to command central 

Ulster, and in 1470, backed by a great alliance of O’Don- 
nell, Maguire, O'Cahan and MacQuillan,- forced the 
Clannaboy O'Neill to submit. A curious incident, 
related in the Ulster annals, attests how lost even Down 
was to English ideas. In 1459 Patrick White, lord of 
Dufferin in Down, captured Patrick Savage, whose 
family generally held the office of Seneschal of Ulster, 
and assumed the Lordship of Lecale and “ the Senes- 

4 Compare with MacRichard and the Psalter of Cashel formerly 
‘this Chapter. “Lethor na hUidive ” or " Book of the Dun,” compiled 
about 1100, contains a version of the great Conchobar epics. Nothing 
is known of Lebhor Gearr, 
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chalcy of the English of Ulidia,” as though it were a 
matter of elective chieftaincy. But next year the 
Savages took Patrick White prisoner in his turn, ex- 
changed him for Patrick Savage, and ‘‘ Lecale and the 
Seneschalcy were given to the son of Savage again.” 
In 1472 “ Rury MacQuillan was made The MacQuillan.” 
No wonder the Dublin parliament thought Ulster lost. 
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CHAPTER XIV 

THE ALL-BUT-KINGSEIP OF KILDARE, 1477-1513 

Tuomas seventh Earl of Kildare died on March 25, 1477, 
and Gerald his son a man of twenty-five, succeeded. 
This, “ the Great Earl,” ‘‘ Geardid’” or ‘‘ Garret Mér,” 
was to be the real king of Ireland till his death in 1513. 
Married to Alison FitzEustace, daughter of Lord Port- 
lester, he had almost all the Anglo-Irish save for the 
Butlers with him, and wielded a sway over the Gaels 
that none of the Old English had yet had. The marriage 
of his sister Eleanor in 1480 with Conn, eldest son of 
Henry O'Neill Lord of Tyrone, united the two greatest 
houses, English and Irish, in Ireland. The marriage 
defied the statutes of Kilkenny, but an act of parliament 
in 1480 covered the flaw, and made Conn and his issue 
by Eleanor of free estate and condition in law. In later 
years, one daughter of Garret Mér married Donal 
MacCarthy Reagh, a second Maelruana O'Carroll, chief 
of Eli, a third Manus, son of Aedh Og O'Donnell, who 
became chief in 1537. The present lord of Tyrconnell, 
Aedh Rua O'Donnell, father of Aedh Og. entered into an 
alliance with Garret which remained unbroken till his 
death.* 

Backed by such resources, Kildare contrived to rule 
Ireland in the name of York, then, getting the better of 
Henry the Seventh, to rule Ireland in the name of Tudor 

oe ack Gt 30 Bi. TV, snes 2 1a eocedainitn’ of Joyal oaryicn 



386 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

and to establish a practical sovereignty which, continued 
by his son, was only ruined by the folly of his grandson 
Silken Thomas in 1534. The last three earls of Kildare 
were, in short, true Mayors of the Palace to an absentee 
Lord of Ireland. 

Almost at once Garret Mor had to face, and dared 
to defy, the Crown of England. The Irish Council 
elected him Justiciar as they had done his father in 
1472. The Duke of Clarence, nominal Lieutenant, 
being attainted and done to death in February, 1478, 
Edward by Privy Seal deprived Kildare of the 
Deputyship and sent Henry Lord Grey over instead. 
But Home Rule had gone too far for such an ukase ; 
Portlester would not surrender the Great Seal, nor 
Keating, Prior of Kilmainham and Constable of Dublin 
Castle, admit Grey, while Kildare on his own respon- 
sibility called a parliament to Naas which protested 
against his dismissal by mere privy seal, voted a subsidy, 
and gave him power to adjourn and prorogue parliament 
at pleasure! Grey had to yield, and by royal command 
had a new Great Seal made, while a parliament summoned 
by him at Trim enacted that in future election of a tem- 
porary Justiciar should be by majority of the Council, 
and by consent of Parliament till the King’s pleasure 
should be known. 

Although royal princes, George and Edward, infant 
sons of Edward, and King Richard’s son Edward, and 
then John de Ja Pole, Earl of Lincoln, became nominal 
Lieutenants, in fact Kildare ruled Ireland till the fall 
of the House of York, Edward confirming him as Deputy 
in May, 1482. 

Meanwhile in 1478 John sixth Earl of Ormond died 
and his brother Thomas succeeded, whose absence till 
his death in 1515 and the marriage of his only child 
Margaret to Sir William Boleyn completed the disap- 
pearance of the senior line from Ireland. As no Irish lord- 
ship could exist without visible head, the Insh Butlers 

1The of this “ pretended parliament ” were valled 
in Nov. 1478: see Kg. Alani tal 138. gual 
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under Sir James of Dunboyne, and his son Piers Rua 
after him, filled the vacuum, and built up a lordship in 
Ossory and Ormond which had a strangely un-English 
and un-feudal look in Henry VIII.’s time. The com- 
plaint of the Englishry of Tipperary in 1532, which we 
have quoted, traces the history of their Butler lords up 
till Earl Thomas’s death : 
“ who abode all his life in England when Sir Piers recovered much of 
bis power . « -,Uat Sk Emnond [Pew elder brother, soa of Sav 

‘cont usurped power to charge complainants: 
Tress, coadics, Soygecth beunds, bouts stodelepern, aseot 

‘coyne and livery Tox yorascon vector 28 , also exactions 
for wine at Christmas, maintaining garrisons and castles, with aid 
towards . 

la of a for ministrations of justice and executing of 
pe gg oe sen Hence Petitioners are not able to bear the 
Kings nboidy late granted 

Piers, who fairey saw, and aided in, the fall of the 
House of Kildare, and in 1537 got the Ormond earldom, 
is generally called a Lancastrian, but his sympathies for 
the Red Rose and for the House of Tudor afterwards 
were but a mask; his real quarrel with the Geraldines 
was one of lordship and land and the domination of 
Treland. 

The Butlers had Irish connections no less powerful 
than those of Kildare and Desmond. Piers Rua was 
grandson of Catherine O’Carroll, the wife of Edmund 
MacRichard and daughter of Maclruana O’Carroll, 
whose sister Margaret, wife of Calvach O'Conor Faly, 
had earned the encomiums of all the learned of Ireland 
for her princely entertainment of them in 1434. The 
father of Maeluana O’Carroll, Taig, slain in 1407, had 
married Joan daughter of the second earl of Ormond. 

Nal. Facs, TU. pl, LXXV. Esmond's branch of, the Butlers 
established itself ‘and Cloamel and coatinued the Gaelic 
faterest frst shown by Edmund Maciichard’s the F Mf, record under 
1596, the death of Theobald son of Piers son of Edmund Butler, lord 
of Cahir and of the cantred of Clonmel, who had the greatest collection 
‘0f poem-books (dis naire) of almost ali the old English, 
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The famous Calvach O’Conor, allied by marriage to the 
Butlers, after building up a formidable power in Offaly, 
died in 1458, having first—it is significant of the decay 
of elective chieftainry—ordained his son Conn to take 
his place Piers himself was son of Saiv Kavanagh 
whose father Donal Reagh died in 1476. Donal was 
succeeded in order by his sons Art Buf and Gerald, and 
as these were descended from Elizabeth de Veel, daughter 
of an earl of Kildare, and as Sir Piers Butler was their 
nephew, the MacMurchadas were now closely connected 
with the two great Norman houses. They too showed 
the more modern touch even if till 1522 they boasted the 
title “Rex Lageniae” Donal Reagh’s younger son, 
Cathair or “ Carolus,”’ was last abbot of Duisk, elected 
in r50r and surviving its dissolution till after 1555. 
Stanihurst calls him “a man of learning and virtue and 
a surpassing divine.” At his command were drawn up 
 cartulary and annals of the abbey, of which however 
only a fragment survives. In this fragment is given 
a patent of Henry VIIL,, in his fourteenth year, granting 
to ‘‘ Karolus Kavanagh, abbot, of Irish nation, by special 
assent of our cousin, Piers Earl of Ormond, that he and 
his issue shall enjoy the laws of England.”* 

Great as were Irish chiefs and Norman lords, there 
was no lack of fighting spirit in the Pale, and English 
bow and spear could still prevail against the light Irish 
array, so that when O'Reilly of Cavan with two thousand 
men ravaged Louth in 1470, John Bole, archbishop of 
Armagh, and the mayor of Drogheda collected five 
hundred archers and two hundred poleaxe men, who were 
joined at Ardee by Sir Robert Taaf with seventy horse, 
which little force of near eight hundred men the arch- 

arceTigh: Hp tnd MacPirbis Aanale ngsy- Q Carll of Ely, Ka 
1435. "In 1513 "the sons of MacMurchada 

Blom’ Raa ip aa attack oa Desmond's and of Imokily. Camploa's 

Irishm 0d at St, Mary iby waa chowen Deputy by the King’s Conse 
‘Seo Tigest ‘of Abbot Kavanagh's Registry the Charters 
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bishop blessed; then they marched to Corbally near 
Malpas bridge and there put O'Reilly to rout and slew 
four hundred of his men. 

By coign, livery and the like the great lords now 
commanded whole armies of men. According to later 
evidence, Earl Garret was the first who openly dared to 
impose Irish “cuttings and cessings” upon the Pale. 
“The first coin of galloglasses called coin bon that was 
cessed within these fifty years in these quarters that 
Gerald, father to Gerald late earl of Kildare, cessed in 
the county of Kildare was one Barret having but twenty- 
four sparrs (axes), who came to him being exiled out of 
Connaught. The said galloglasses so increased in the 
time of Gerald his father that in his time they came to 
120 sparrs.”* 

With these dreaded galloglass did chief and lord 
alike fight their deadliest battles. Conn, son of Aedh 
Rua Lord of Tyrconnell, was famous for his “little 
great army” as he proudly called it (“" fheadhain bhece 
mhér,”) ‘‘ namely, twelve score axemen for making a 
standing fight and sixty horse to follow up the rout and 
take prisoners.” But no force could rival that of 
Garret Mor, who was at once a palatine earl, a Gaelic 
“* Ri,” and viceroy for the Crown. As such he interfered 

the wars of West and North in a way no “ English 
Foreigner ” had done for two centuries, and while this 

spread a Geraldine hegemony over all the island, it did 
also enforce a kind of central authority which apparently 
most of the combatants welcomed. 

Thus in Tyrone he supported Conn Mér, his brother- 
in-law, against his rivals till in 1483 Henry, now aged, 
resigned his captaincy to his son Conn, and this brother- 
in-law of Garret Mér was enkinged at Tullahoge “ by 
will of his father and of all Tir Eoghain.”” 

‘ Dalton's Drogheda 11. p. 160, quoting from a lost * Register of 
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But now the fall of the House of York was to make 
a new age, not only for England, but for Ireland where 
the mediaeval mould was even more unbroken. On 
July 6, 1483, Richard the Third was crowned king, and 
soon after his nephews Edward and Richard disappeared. 
Richard's short reign allowed Irish Home Rule to reach 
its zenith. The King’s only son, Edward, who died next 
year, was named Lieutenant, but Kildare’s deputyship 
was confirmed and continued also under the next Lieu- 
tenant John de la Poie, Earl of Lincoln, Richard’s nephew 
and heir to the Crown. An Irish parliament under 
Garret in 1485 enacted that the existing Chancellor, 
Treasurer, Chief Baron of the Exchequer, the Clerk of 
the Rolls, and the King’s Sergeant should hold for life, 
and together with the Peers, might, according to the 
“Statute of FitzEmpress” elect a Chief Governor in 
time of vacancy. 

The rule of Kildare showed his usual mixture of self- 
interest and statecraft. In 148r Parliament empowered 
him to appoint receivers over two-thirds of all manors, 
rents, etc., of persistent absentees, and appropriate them 

to the defence of the land. Further, he was empowered 
to take possession of the vacant lands in Kildare and 
Carlow “namely, from Calveston to Carlow castle and 
thence to Leighlin bridge which the Earl had recovered 
from the Irish ""—the absentee proprietors to forfeit all 
right if they did not make good their claim within six 
years. The result was that the Earl added vastly to his 
Kildare lordship in Wicklow, Carlow and the marches 
of Dublin, and, like the English landlord of his time, 
enclosed and appropriated land in every direction.? 

To defend Carlow the Earl built a castle at Tristle- 
dermot “‘ as a true means of causing the waste lands of 
Carlow to be inhabited by the English subjects.” But 
the whole pretence of a “‘ pure English land ” was wearing 
very thin, Castledermot, Carlow, Leighlin, Bray, Trim 
in Meath and Collon and Siddan to the north, were 

1 ? soa, IEE eons pape far nk 4g =: sa Rag. Aten 
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the outposts of the Pale, but in 1515, wrote Chief Justice 

Finglas, “' all the King's subjects of the four shires be 
near hand Irish and wear their habits and use their 
tongue.” 

We cannot doubt, had Richard III. firmly established 
himself, that this ablest of the Yorkists would have set 
himself to the Reconquest of Ireland. But in his diffi- 
culties he still had to woo Irish hearts. In 1484 a special 
commissioner of his, Thomas Barret, one of the Con- 
nacht family of that name, and bishop of Annaghdown 
(‘‘Enachdun”) appeared in Ireland with letters royal 
to Kildare, Lords Barry and Roche of Munster, the 
Baron of Delvin and others in Meath, and Lords Ber- 
mingham, Barret and others of Connacht. Kildare 
was told that the King specially desired to recover his 
earldom of Ulster, and that he, Kildare, could the more 
aid in this “‘ because the Great O'Neill, who now has and 
occupies the most part thereof, has married the Earl’s 
sister, and for the sake of this marriage the King’s Grace 
will incline to accept O'Neill into favour, as his brother 
King Edward before had his father and gave him his 
livery.” 

The Burkes, however, of Mayo and Clanrickard were 
not included in the letters addressed to the chief Anglo- 
Welsh of the west, and evidently they were regarded as 
usurpers on the King’s Lordship of Connacht. In the 
charter which Richard gave to Galway city this same 
year (December, 1484), Clanrickard’s rights of sovereignty 
over the city were expressly abolished, and the citizens 
were empowered to elect annually a Mayor and two 
baillifs. 

To conciliate James Earl of Desmond, still sore over 
his father’s execution, was also part of the bishop’s 
mission. Royal letters ‘to be showed to the King’s 
cousin, the Earl of Desmond, and all other nobles and 
gentles of the land of Ireland" thanked Desmond for 

Seo Elis Laturs iatatoe of Eng. Hist Y. pp. 122-4, for the bishop of Eatchdur's mini. 0c i etarie Co Bai soe man. 
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the manifold services and kindnesses done by the Earl’s 
father to Richard of York, condemned the extortionate 
slaying of the late earl, promised all possible satisfaction 
in law, and tendered to the Earl an oath of allegiance. 
The earl is to be shown the King’s pleasure that he shall 
not enter into marriage with any blood without the 
advice and knowledge of his Grace who will provide for 
him a wife of noble blood. The King desires also that the 
Earl shall renounce the wearing and usage of the Irish 
array and sends him by hands of the bishop a gown of 
cloth of gold, two doublets of velvet and crimson satin, 
hose, bonnets and other apparel, and the King’s livery, 
namely a collar of gold with the White Boar of Warwick 
pendant from a collar of roses and suns.” ? 

What the immediate results of Bishop Barret’s 
mission were, we know not ; but the general result was 
to strengthen the old devotion to the house of Richard of 
York who, says Stowe, “ being sent to Ireland, won such 
favour among that people as could never be separated 

from him and his lineage.” 
But on August 21, 1485, at Bosworth Field the last 

Plantagenet “died a king,” and Henry Tudor, whose 
claim to the Crown was the poorest since William the 
Conqueror, ascended the Throne. With Henry the 
Seventh began a totally new age; England declined to 
be any longer one great dynastic slaughter house, and 
accepted this uninspiring victor with his dubious claim. 
With a New Monarchy came a New Nobility, creations 
of Henry and his son, subservient to the King, selfish, 
unscrupulous and tyrannical to all beside. The true 
medizval Baron was dead or all but dead, for the Star 
Chamber had yet to finish him off, on the battlefields of 
England or by the headsman’s axe. 

In Ireland the New Monarchy did not dawn for fifty 
years yet, the mediwval age went on, and the romance 
of the White Rose died hard among a tradition-loving 

i 
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race “‘ which did ever, both English and Irish, desire to 
be ruled by great persons.” 

Garret of Kildare now had to consider the results for 
him of so thorough a revolution, which like most of the 
Old English he could not believe would endure, for was 
there not abundance of better blood alive than Henry’s ?— 
such as John Earl of Lincoln, Edward of Warwick, son of 
George Duke of Clarence—perhaps even the Princes of 
the Tower? 

Henry anyway had too much on hand in England, 
and though he displaced Lincoln as Lord Lieutenant by 
his uncle Jasper Duke of Bedford, he confirmed Kildare 
as Deputy, and Garret remained the all-but-king of 
Ireland till 1492. It was obvious policy for Kildare to 
conciliate the Irish Butlers whom the new dynasty would 
obviously favour. He therefore effected a marriage 
between his sister Margaret and Sir Piers Rua. Margaret 
“ the Great Countess "’ as she was called for her great and 
rather masculine gifts, lived to an advanced age in 1542 
and saw the total ruin of her house. For the present at 
least, up till 1492, the two rival houses had peace. 

For some twelve years Anglo-Ireland was the stage 
for successive attempts against the Tudor throne. Mean- 
while the Gaelic chiefs exhibited almost total indifference 
to what went on in London and Dublin. 

Since the middle of the century O'Donnell had fought 
a continuous war with Clanrickard, of which the battle 
of Glanog in 1469 had been the chief incident. Ulick 
“MacWilliam Uachtar,”’ as the Irish called Clanrickard, 
dying in 1485, his son Ulick succeeded and as he was 
grandson of Conor O’Brien, who ruled Thomond till 
1496 when Turloch “ Gilladuv,” Conor’s own brother, 
succeeded, he had the continued O'Brien support. This 
was the great quarrel in the West as that of Butler and 
Geraldine was in the South. In Ulster Conn Mér O'Neill 
was greatly weakened by a wicked brother, Henry, and 
other O'Neill rig-domnas, But Kildare exercised a 
weighty influence in the North, where Conn’s infant 
children, Art, Brian and Conn, were his nephews. Of 
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these the first and the last became chiefs of Tyrone 
through his aid. But Garret interfered in the petty as 
well as the grand feuds, and the annals record his endless 
hostings. Thus in 1489, he interfered in Annaly, and 
divided the disputed chieftainry between two O'Farrell. 
The use of light guns, now for the first time seen in Ire- 
land, gave him a striking force few could equal, as when 
in 1488, disdaining the customary siege, he broke down 
Balrath castle on its lord Mageoghegan of Westmeath. 

In June, 1489, died Henry O'Neill whose long reign 
had begun with recognition by both Archbishop and 
King, and ended with the denization of his son in 1480. 
Conn Mér ruled till January, 1493, when his own brother 
Henry slew him and ruled Tyrone till 1498. Then 
succeeded another brother, Donal, till 1509, then Art, 
grandson of Eoghan, and Conn Mér’s son, Art Og, followed 
one another till 1519 when finally, after a long period of 
decline for the O’Neills, Conn “ bacach” the Lame, 
youngest son of Conn Mor and Eleanor FitzGerald, was 
inaugurated king of Ulster and finally in 1541, sur- 
rendering his claim to the High Kingship of Tara, accepted 
Henry the Eighth as King of Ireland and was made Earl 
of Tyrone. 

Meanwhile the first revolt of Anglo-Ireland against 
Henry Tudor took place in the south. 

Early in 1487 a priest of Oxford, Richard Simons, 
brought to Dublin a boy of ten years or so, ‘a comely 
youth well favoured and not without some extraordinary 
dignity and grace of aspect,” who he claimed was Edward 
Earl of Warwick, son of George of Clarence. Historians 
have generally decided that the boy was really Lambert, 
a son of Thomas Simnel of Oxford, and that he was but 
a stalking horse for a plot intended to put on the Throne 
of England either John, Earl of Lincoln, or the real 
Edward of Warwick, then in the Tower. The Lords of 
Ireland decided that the lad was Warwick, and pledged 

1 Profesor: 
has an thteneog stauy ot Lambert Sianeli ilaad Sitar 
1915, and another ou Perkin Warbeck, as yet unpublished, both of 
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THE ALL-BUT KINGSHIP OF KILDARE 395 

their support to him at a meeting in Dublin attended by 
Del Palacio, archbishop of Armagh, Fitzsimons, arch- 
bishop of Dublin, the bishops of Meath, Cloyne and 
Kildare, Earl Garret himself and other peers. 

.The Earl of Lincoln now betook himself to the court 
of Flanders where Margaret, sister of Edward IV, and 
widow of Charles the Bold, stood by the White Rose with 
all her woman's heart. She hired two thousand German 
“*lansknechts ” under a famous captain, Martin Swartz, 
who landed in Dublin on May 5, 1487, along with the 
Earl of Lincoln. It was spread about that the prisoner 
in the Tower whom Henry had shown to the people as 
the true Warwick was “a boy whom the King had 
schooled to take the Earl of Warwick's name, to blind 
the eyes of simple folk and to defeat the lawful inheritour 
of the good Duke of Clarence, their [i.e., the Irish] country- 
man and protectour during his life.” So on May 24, 
1487, the “ lad” whom almost all Ireland believed to be 
the true Prince was crowned King Edward VI. of England 
—* and he was surely an honorable boy to look upon ""— 
with a golden circlet taken from a statue of the Blessed 
Virgin at St. Mary del Dam. 

The Home Rule lords thus had got a king of their 
own, A government was instituted which—according 
to the acts of the Parliament of Drogheda 1495, which 
ordered all the records thereof to be destroyed—" dyde 
kepe courtes, parliaments and made styles and processes 
in the ladde’s name.” Only Waterford stood out boldly 
for King Henry and was besieged for six weeks in July- 
August by Sir Maurice, brother of the Earl of Desmond. 
The Butlers and the Butler towns, Kilkenny, Callan, 
Clonmel, Fethard, ete., took arms, The Yorkist cause, 
though dominant in Ireland, had moreover to stand the 

test of battle in England. 
Early in June the combined army landed at Fur- 

ness, and at Stoke near Newark on June 16, 1487, the 
ordered valour of the Germans and the desperate courage 
of the Irish were shown in vain, and the leaders, Swartz, 
Lincoln, Thomas FitzGerald of Laccagh, brother of the 
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Earl of Kildare, and Edward Plunket died along with 
their men after a battle in which says the Book of Howth 
—‘they fought very valiant on both sides, for that 
Allmaynes [i.e., because the Germans] wear very good 
and apt soildoures and so wear their captens. The 
Irishmen did as well as anie naked [unarmoured] men 
would do, and at length they wear slaine about 4,000 and 
more,” ? 

The end of the poor “ lade,” captured in the battle, 
was to beascullion in Henry’s kitchen. It wasimpossible 
to punish his Irish supporters, and after the Pope, who 
was quite convinced of Henry’s hereditary right to the 
Crown, had issued a Bull in January, 1488, against the 
Irish bishops who had crowned Lambert, the King 
pardoned Kildare and left him in the Deputyship. 

Mcanwhile, in December 1487, James Earl of Desmond 
was murdered at Rathkeale by instigation of his brother 
Sir John, and was succeeded by his second brother 
Maurice “ bacach ” the Lame, who put John to death and 
reigned till 1520. 

Henry now sent over a commissioner, Sir Richard 
Edgecomb, to bring the Irish lords to their allegiance. 
Arriving at Kinsale with five hundred men on June 27, 
1488, Edgecomb took the allegiance ‘of Lords Courcy 
and Barry, and so by Waterford came to Dublin where 
he lodged at St. Saviour’s on July the sth. Kildare, 
scorning a mere knight, did not arrive till July xz, and, 
taking up his quarters at St. Thomas’, for nine days 
along with the assembled lords stood firm against an 
oath of fealty which would make their lands forfeit 
should they again rebel, “ whereat they declared with 
one voice they would sooner turn Irish every one.” 
Finally however on July 21, the Lords spiritual and 
temporal, assembled at St. Thomas’ abbey, swore 
allegiance, whereupon a full pardon was proclaimed 
under the Great Seal to Kildare and the forty or more 

1 Book of Howth pp. 473-4. 
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chief supporters of Simnel. On July 30, Edgecomb sailed 
for England.’ 

In the late autumn of 1491 there arrived at Cork in 
a trading ship from Lisbon, a handsome youth of seven- 
teen under care of a Devonshire man, John Taylor, 
formerly a servant of King Edward. According to 
Margaret of Burgundy, a few English Yorkists, Charles 
VIII. of France, the Emperor Maximilian and later 
James IV. of Scotland—for the ring was now wider than 
ever—the youth was Richard, King Edward's second son, 
escaped from the Tower. To Henry's supporters he was 
Perkin Warbeck or Osbeck of Tournai, an impostor. 

The Irish at least believed him to be Prince Richard 
and a large party, not less formidable than that of 1487, 
declared for him, led by John Waters mayor of Cork, 
Maurice, Earl of Desmond, lords Barry, Roche and 
Courcy, the White Knight and the Knights of Glin and 
Kerry, David Creagh, archbishop of Cashel, and the 
bishops of Waterford and Cork-Cloyne. This time 
Munster was the seat of the movement and Desmond 
the leader. 

After a short stay, Warbeck departed from Ireland 
for France and Flanders, where Maximilian recognised 
him King of England, and did not return to Ireland till 
1495. 

Henry's keen eye realised fully the Irish danger. 
In June, 1492, he removed Kildare and made Fitz- 
Simons, archbishop of Dublin, and then William Preston, 
Lord Gormanston, Deputy. In the same month of June, 
1492, Henry also sent over, as Treasurer of Ireland, Sir 
James Butler, called ““ Dubh ” or the black, an illegitimate 
son of John Earl of Ormond by O'Brien’s daughter. 
The present Earl, Thomas, also made James guardian 
of his Irish lands and the latter was clearly expected to 
work up the Butler and royalist cause in Ireland. Sir 

1 The chief of those pardoned were Kildare, Portlester, Lords 
Gormanston, Howth, ay, and the prelates of Meath, iets 
Dublin. Nearly all are farris Coll. : i TV. pp. ts Vojage is found’ in a MS, ofT. €, D. aad gives in Hass 
Hidornica, Paste ° 

Google BREE 



398 HISTORY OF MEDIAEVAL IRELAND 

Piers, who looked on himself as Thomas's heir, naturally 
resented this newcomer and swung over to Garret Mér, 
while Roland Lord Portlester, Kildare’s father-in-law, 
was angered by his removal from the Treasurership which 
he had held on and off for forty years. Sir James how- 
ever showed great courage and tenacity, brought in 
Kavanagh and O'Brien allies against Sir Piers and the 
Geraldines and planned to become the next earl of 
Ormond. 

Bitterly piqued, Kildare turned to aid “ the French 
Jad” and seems to have plotted bringing in the King of 
Scots. In July, 1495, his ally, Aedh Rua O’Donnell 
“went to the house of the King of Scotland and they 
formed a compact and league to assist one another 
mutually in their need.” Scottish state accounts record 
a visit of “ the Great O'Donnell ” to James at Edinburgh, 
and the Scots King hesitated whether to invade England 
or Ulster in the Yorkist cause.* 

But nothing came of the compact, and immediately 
on his return from Scotland on August the 7th, Aedh 
marched from Donegal town to assist his son Conn against 
O'’Conor Sligo, who was in revolt against O’Donnell 
suzerainty and on this occasion, backed by Ulick of 
Clanrickard, did recover Sligo castle and defy Tyrconnelly 

There now arrived at Howth on October 13, 1494, 
as Deputy to the new Lieutenant Prince Henry, a governor 
whose advent gave the later headline to the Tudor Re- 
conquest. The new type of servant to the new type of 
King, Sir Edward Poynings had the will, if not the power, 
to crush “the overmighty subjects” of Ireland. But 
with his petty force of a thousand men, he could only do 
what he did, namely, to annul the Home Rule triumphs 
of a century. 

To replace the Anglo-Irish, Poynings brought with 
him one Englishman for Chancellor, another for Treasurer, 
and others as the two Chief Justices of Common Pleas 

> Gilbert Vicereys corrects Carte as regards the pareatage of Sir 
James Dubh. 

* Tytler Hist, of Scotland IV. ¢. 3. and F. M. 1495. 
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and King’s Bench, and Chief Baron of the Exchequer, 
the names of the two first being Henry Deane, bishop of 
Bangor, and Sir Hugh Conway, while William Hatteclyfie 
came as Sub-treasurer and financial expert. 

One step in the way of “ Thorough ” was to raid the 
Northern chiefs who held the King’s earldom there, and 
Poynings made an expedition against O'Hanlon and 
Magennis, the Earl of Kildare being with him and gravely 
suspect, and so back along the Barrow where Sir James 
FitzGerald, Garret’s brother, defied the Deputy and held 
the castle of Carlow against him till forced to surrender. 

The next step was to bring down “ the King of Kil- 
dare” himself. 

A parliament was summoned to Drogheda on De- 
cember 1, 1494, and its first proceeding was to attaint 
Earl Garret “ for treason and rebellion, taking coign and 
livery in the English shires, inciting Irish enemies and 
English rebels to war against the King and his Deputy, 
and agreeing with the King of Scots to send an army into 
Ireland to aid him and Desmond to the destruction of 
the Deputy and all true subjects.” 

It certainly was a packed house which thus could 
impeach the greatest man in Ireland. After some 
resistance, the Earl was arrested in Dublin on February 
27, 1495, and on March § was sent to England and lodged 
in the Tower. 

Poynings’ commission was to reduce the Lordship 
of Ireland to “whole and perfect obedience” and to 
‘suppress those who practised on “ the innocent and true 
English subjects, great and divers robberies, murders, 
burnings, and the universal intolerable and damnable 
extortions of coign, livery and pay.” For this purpose, 
the Lord of Ireland went back to the rights he had in 
1327, when the First Conquest began to be undone. An 
act of this obsequious parliament revoked every royal 

1 For the acts of this famous * Poynings' parliament” see Statutes 
of Ireland (1786) nat alice ine 2 The attainder of Kildare was on the 
Monday next ‘Andrew's, Day (which falls on November 30). 
It is +t that the acts are in English for the first time since the 
Irish parliament began, 
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grant made during a hundred and sixty cight years, 
The Lord of Ireland repented him that be had ever 
created earls of Ormond, Desmond and Kildare, and 
other lords of Liberties. 

So far as Sovereignty could be restored by acts of 
Parliament it was now done. The Crown resumed the 
judgment of treason and rebellion, the command of the 
royal castles (now shrunk to eight), the choice of officials, 
and the control of the legislative body The Chan- 
cellor, Treasurer and other chief officers, who by custom 
and an act of 1485 had formerly held for life, were hence- 
forth to hold only at the King’s will and pleasure. The 
act of the parliament of 1460 “ that no writ of treason 
under the Great or Privy Seal, nor letters missive out of 
England, shall be of effect in the land of Ireland ” was 
repealed —‘ which said pretensed and unlawful pre- 
scription was approved, ratified and confirmed by 
authority of parliament late holden within the said land, 
before Richard, Duke of York, being then in rebellion 
and pretending himself Lieutenant of the land of Ire- 
land.” Henceforth such English writs should be of 
force. 

To break the power which an almost hereditary 
Deputy had assumed, the “Statute of FitzEmpress” 
was annulled, and in future the Treasurer should fill up 
the office in a vacancy till the royal pleasure were known. 
The Guild of St. George, which gave Kildare a royal 
bodyguard, was dissolved. 

But the most memorable and lasting acts of this 
parliament were the fourth and twenty-second, generally 
associated together as ‘‘ Poynings’ law.” The former 
states that no parliament shall be held in Ireland “‘ till 
the Lieutenant and Council of Ireland shall first certify 
the King under the Great Seal of such causes, acts, etc. 
as them seemeth should pass; then the King and his 
(English) Council, after affirming such causes etc to be 
good and expedient for the said land, shall send his 

! Cap, XIV; says Eogiki-born mea are to be constables of Dublin, 
Trim, Ceili, ficklow, Greencastle, Carlingford, and Carrick: 
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licence thereupon, as well in affirmation of the said causes 
and acts as to summon the said parliament under his 
Great Seal of England : that done, a parliament shall be 
holden after the form and effect afore rehearsed—any 
parliament to be holden hereafter contrary to these forms 
to be void and of no effect.” The twenty-second declares 
that ‘‘all statutes concerning the public weal, made 
within the realm of England as well in the time of our 
Lord the King as in the time of his progenitors, Kings 
of England, be by authority of this present parliament, 
deemed good and effectual in law and be accepted and 
used within this land of Ireland.” 

Thus was wiped out fifty years of Home Rule, The 
fourth act rendered it impossible for a native Deputy to 
make a parliament his creature or for that parliament 
to offer a native earl, a Yorkist claimant, a Scottish or 
French king, the Crown of Ireland. If the King of 
England could secure a line of English viceroys, then a 
double authority, beyond Ireland’s control, would decide 
what laws might be passed for Ireland, namely, the King 
in his Privy Council and the Crown-appointed Deputy 
and Council of Ireland. 

But it was clearly not intended that the Parliament 
of England had power to bind Ireland. The Tudors did 
not intend to share the throne with Parliament either in 
England or in Ireland. Holding their Imperial crown of 
God alone, they regarded their Lordship of Ireland as 
annexed to that Imperial crown but otherwise a sister and 
equal of the Realm of England. The “ acts concerning 
the public weal ” made in England for an indefinite time 
back were only extended to Ireland by ratification of the 
Irish Estates. The whole wording implied that any 
future act of the English legislative to be effective in 
Ireland must be ratified here, and that, for purposes of 
internal law, taxation, and government the Parliament 
of Ireland was within the land of Ireland, and subject 
to the royal veto, supreme. 

Poynings’ work was completed and crowned by Henry 
the Eighth’s assumption of the Crown of Ireland in 1541, 
and it is to the two first Tudors that we owe the Kingdom 

2c 
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of Ireland with its full machinery of self-government as 
it existed till that Kingdom ceased to be. 

Other acts strove to recall the “ English of Ireland” 
to English law, speech and loyalty. The great warcries, 
so often heard in battles of Butler, Burke and Geraldine— 
“ Cromabu,” “ Butler abu” etc—were forbidden. No 
‘one, following Brehon custom, should take money or 
amends for the death or murder of his friend or kinsman 
other than the King’s laws allow. The statutes of 
Kilkenny were re-enacted, but as a commentary on their 
futility—for by now even the four shires spoke Irish— 
it was added—“ those that will, that every subject ride 
in a saddle and those that speak of the Irish language, 
alone except 

The Pale having dwindled to the nearer areas of 
counties Meath, Louth, Dublin and Kildare, it was 
ordered that the inhabitants of the same, from the Anna- 
lifiey to “‘ the mountain of Kildare” and from the Liffey 
again to Trim and so to Meath and Uriel (Louth) should 
make and build a double ditch of six feet high above 
ground on the part “ which mereth next unto Irishmen ” 
The object of course was to prevent reivers driving cattle 
out of the Pale since cattle could not pass such a stockade 
at night, when reivers, English and Irish, were most 
abroad.’ A political tract of 1515 gives Dundalk, 
Derver, Ardee, Siddan, Kells, Dangan, Kilcock, Clane, 

>For the actual wording see t Richey I Lectures om Irish History 

i ST ota pecan ees oes BPP Ory SPR Oo ee eet 
|, Saggard, castle Lyons, to ‘and so by the mountain to Ballymore 

[Eustace] and there (the line] joins Avenliffey, and so as the 
uns to Clane and Maynan and so to the water of Rye by Kilcock also 
Ballyfeghane, and s0 to Laracor and Bedloweston and so as the Black- 
water runs to Athboy and so to Blackcauscy by Rathmore to the hill 
of Lyde, thence to Muldaghcheghe and the parish of Teltown and 
Donapatrick and Clongall and 20 to Siddan and down to Mandoweston 
by wert (of) Ardee and so to the water of Dongowgyen and 90 as the 
ater focth to the sea.” The line therefore rested on these points 

iblin Bay, the modern road to Blessington, the upper Liffey, 
Giane, Kilcock and Larucor in Kildare, and sorby Tries €2 Aehboy i 
Meath, thes to Mulagh end 10 teraing eastward to Ades 
reaching Dundalk bay. ane 
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Naas, Kilcullen, Ballymore-Eustace, Rathmore, Rath- 

coole, Tallaght and Dalkey as the then frontier towns 
of the Pale, which actually dwindled even after 1495.1 

Thus a territory only fifty miles long by thirty broad 
now represented ‘‘ the land of law,” the old “ English 
land” which in 1366 had embraced at least ten shires. 
And though it was said to “mere upon Irishmen” 
actually, though MacMahons in the north and O’Byrnes 
in the south menaced it, almost everywhere the “ March 
English” were the immediate foes of its peace. Most 
of Kildare’s land lay outside it; on the Meath side 
Nugents, Petits, Berminghams and others of De Lacy’s 
men were the enemy; and, south of Dublin, the hill 
country but a few miles away was held against the 
‘Common law by Harolds, Walshes and Archbolds, with 
the O’Tooles and O’Byrnes behind them.* 

Parliament ended, Poynings stayed in Ireland till 
January, 1496, maintaining a small but effective body 
of trained English soldiery, and through Hatteclyfie 
enquiring into the woefully shrunken finances of the 
Lordship of Ireland. This English financial expert found 
that the subsidy which the seventeen baronies of the old 
earldom of Meath paid, or used to pay, on its two hundred 
and thirty six carucates of geldable land, (viz., some 
33,000 acres of cultivated land) came with a clerical 
grant to £457 odd, that Dublin county, taxed on a 
hundred and fifty-four carucates, should pay £454 odd ; 
that Kildare and Louth were the only two other counties 
which could, or would, meet the demands of the State, 
and that the total parliamentary subsidy on lay and 
cleric of the Pale, reached at best only £1,293 13s. 44.3 

* Ravace fs Frenen) of the that pe cent in ta abyss asthe 
barony of Newcastle is in the March of the County of Dubl Har- 
‘old's country” below the mountains there, which country is ia re- 
bellion, and as no man dares to go there to distrain for any subsidy 
granted by parliament . . . it is ordained that the collectors in said 
Barony be discharged from the duty of collecting current subsidies in 
Harold's country, which extends from Sa to Kilmashogue, 

* Gilbert's Viceroys App. p. 610 gives the accounts of Poynings' 
force, commanded by Captain Garth, for which Poynings’ pariament 

f £454. beidy accounts I derive from 
Survey of Hatteclyfie's Compotus in Britt, Mus, MS. Rag. 18. C. XIV, 
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The royal manors in the Vale of Liffey, Crumlin, 
Chapelizod, Leixlip, Saggart, Newcastle and Esker, 
with Trim and six others, yiclded only £134 13s. 4d. in 
the year. A shameful feature for royal pride was the 
fees or blackrents paid to Irish chiefs out of a depleted 
Treasury, such as £106 odd paid to “ MacMurro captain 
of his nation ” and £40 to O’Conor Faly.! 

In July, 1495, Warbeck landed at Cork and with 
eleven ships besieged Waterford while Desmond blockaded 
it by land. From July 23 to August 4 the “ urbs in- 
tacta "’ held out, till Poynings arrived from Dublin, when 
Warbeck threw up the game and sailed for Scotland 
where James gave the “ White Rose prince of York” 
his own cousin, Lady Catherine Gordon, to wife. 

Meanwhile Henry of England found that only Kildare 
could govern Ireland, so Parliament annulled Garret’s 
attainder and he was restored to the Deputyship on 
August 6, 1496, and held it till his death. Further, as 
Alison FitzEustace had lately died, Henry gave in mar- 
riage to the Earl his cousin Elizabeth St. John. 

‘On August 26, 1496, Henry issued a general pardon 
to Warbeck’s supporters, from Kildare and Desmond 
down, and so with a contemptuous tolerance, which 
along with his “ they will crown apes next ” must have 
stung deep, took into grace and restored to power that 
Irish noblesse which still hoped to see the true House of 
England restored. 

Again in July, 1497, Warbeck with his wife and 
infant children arrived at Cork, but the troubled waters 
would stir no more, and embarking for England his 
enterprise came there to a miserable end. Surrendering 
to the royal grace, he was at last in November, 1499, 
executed at Tybum with John Waters, and five days 

1 Among the Black rents paid to Irish chiefs we find Lecale paying 
to the Clannaboy O'Neill {20°p. ‘a., County Louth to O'Neill of Fyrone 
re j Baath and Esiuare Conor aly, £90: Kilkenny 

lrchads chad got £34 a ike Excheg egies 53, from wer 
atone (see Davies’ Discovery) me 

"Lid, Mun, I, pt. LV, p, 102: pardonatio pro hibernicis. 
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later Clarence’s only son Edward of Warwick was be- 
headed. Yorkist hope in Ireland, if hope there was, 
had to feed on other sprigs of the Plantagenet blood. 

But the time for “ great chieftains of lineage” was 
nearly over and Garret of Kildare had the sense to per- 
ceive that a new age was come. Even in Scotland the 
Crown dared to lop off the noblest heads, and in 1499, the 
Annals of Ulster record with horror, ‘a deed was done 
by the King of Scots, namely John Mér MacDonnell, 
king of the Hebrides, and John Cathanach his son and 
two other sons of his, were hanged on one gallows a 
month before Lammas.” Now, if James of Scotland 
could thus ignominiously extinguish the MacDonnell 
“kings of Innsi Gall” or Lords of the Isles as they were 
in English, whose blood and title went back to the Norse- 
Gael Sumerled of 1160, no doubt but a King of England 
would ere long overthrow a Percy in Northuinbria, a 

Kildare in Leinster and an O'Neill in Ulster. 
Yet Poynings had only touched the fringe of that 

Norman-Gaelic Ireland which took the Tudor monarchy 
a whole century to reduce to English law and obedience. 
Till the revolt of Silken Thomas in 1534 nothing essen- 
tially seemed changed : then Leinster fell to the Crown ; 
but till 1576 Munster, till 1585 Connacht, till 1603 Ulster, 
were in governance, law, speech practically feudal- 
Gaelic as in 1494. What had been gained was a sally- 
port for an English reconquest in eastern Ireland, a 
lightening of the aristocratic yoke, a releasing of that 
long-stifled voice of the ‘true English commons” who 
looked to the Crown against Irish enemies and English 
rebels. 

Actually Poynings’ acts aided Kildare rather than 
otherwise, an unexpected effect, for while formerly he 
had played the role of a rebel or semi-rebel at the head of 
a sovereign Parliament which might have gone too far 
for him, he was now left master of Ireland with King 
Henry’s full approval, and a crippled parliament, fully 
at his control, left him free to pursue his private designs. 

More than ever, Garret dominated Old English and 
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Trish. With subtle skill he kept Butlers and Geraldines 
at peace, and backed Piers Rua against Sir James Duv 
till Piers slew his rival in an encounter between Dun- 
more and Kilkenny on July 17, 1497. 

Garret’s hostings into Desmond, Connacht and Ulster 
were constant and imposing. But they led to no great 
piece of state-craft, such as would have been the sub- 
mission of the greater Irish chiefs to English law or their 
conversion into Peers and barons under the Crown. 
Kildare was in fact what the Irish thought a true “ Ri” 
and the Old English a great lord, splendid, imposing and 
affiuent, ever visible in hall to his subjects and in the 
field to his enemies, a patron too of those bards and 
senchaidhe whom both Irish and English now delighted 
to honour. Garret doubtless believed himself to be 
nursing a second realm for the True King when he should 
appear,who, once the rightful blood was restored, would 
richly reward Ireland and Kildare. 

Conn Mér O'Neill having been slain by his younger 
brother Henry on January 8, 1493, Aedh O'Donnell set 
up a third brother, Donal, who was older than Henry, 
and a battle was fought at Glasdrummond near Dun- 
gannon on June 28 where Donal was defeated, and 
Raghnall MacDonnell, Constable of galloglass, with his 
three sons and four others of his name were slain. Henry 
held the kingdom till on July 2r, 1498, at Tuath-Echadha 
near Armagh, Turloch and Conn, sons of Conn Mér and 
nephews of the earl of Kildare,avenged the murder of their 
father on him. On Henry's death Donal was re-instated 
by Garret Mér then Deputy, who joined with Aedh Rua 
O'Donnell, the sons of Conn Mér, John Maguire, “ and 
very many of the Gaedhil of the South” and at the end 
of October took the castle of Dungannon from Henry's 
men with a new weapon, those great guns, whose black 
muzzles, we may say, Were finally to prove the ruin alike 
of Norman and Gatelic chiefs.* 

Big guns were used first in Ireland at the siege of Waterford in 
1495+ 
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Donal ruled Tyrone till his death in January, 1509, 
and was succeeded by Art grandson of Eoghan. 

This was only one of the triumphs that marked 
Aedh Rua O'Donnell’s later career. In 1496 he 
nominated an O'Doherty as chief of Inishowen. In 
1499 he went into the Pale to meet Earl Garret and the 
latter gave him his son Henry to foster. Then Garret 
made a great hosting through Connacht, and to show 
what his new guns could do, took the four castles of 
Athleague, Tulsk, Roscommon and Castlereagh. 

During these years, King Henry left Kildare almost 
afree hand. In 1503 Garret was summoned to London 

whither he sailed on April 30, and returned in the autumn 
with great honour. 

The activities of the Earl, and the confederacy- 
wars of the Irish and Norman chiefs finally culminated 
in the greatest and fiercest battle that had been fought 
in Ireland since Faughart. Ulick Burke, Lord of Clan- 

rickard, who was married to Kildare’s daughter, Eustasia, 
had illtreated her ; he had taken three castles on Melach- 
lin O'Kelly of Hy Many, who went to Garret to com- 
plain; he hud also occupied Galway town, and anyway 
he was the life-long foe of O’Donnell who was Kildare’s 
ally and friend. Therefore in 1504 both sides mustered 
for a fight which brought in half of Ireland under one 
banner or the other, The Earl, who thought also to 
please King Henry by chastising the usurping Burkes, 
was backed by the aged Aedh Rua O'Donnell, O’Conor 
Rua, MacDermot, the Irish of Ulster led by Art O'Neill, 
Kildare’s nephew, O'Reilly, O'Farrell, O’Kelly, the Mayo 
Burke, many English of the Pale and O’Conor Faly. 
To Clanrickard rallied Turloch son of Taig O’Brien, 
O’Carroll and the chiefs of Ormond. The two armies met 
at Cnoc Tnagh, now Knocktoe, eight miles east of Galway 
on August 19, 1504, and never since the Conquest had 
Irish armies presented so formidable an array or fought 
so desperately. The galloglass who were now the core 
of Irish armies bore the whole brunt: of Clanrickard’s 
nine battalions of these fighting men only one thin 
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battalion escaped alive, and the battle went completely 
against De Burgo and his Thomond and Munster allies. 
If the Book of Howth speaks true, the old hate of English 
against Irish divided even the victors, and Lord Gor- 
manston said to Earl Garret after the slaughter “ we 
have for the most part killed our enemies, and if we do 
the like with the Irishmen that are with us, it were a 
good deed.” ? 

Next day Kildare and O’Donnell entered Galway 
and then Athenry and so returned home. 

Stirring as a mere battle though it is, Knocktoe was 
after all only the final explosion of feuds which had gone 
on for half a century among the Western lords. It was, 
in the eyes of the Gaelic annalists, a war of province 
against province such as earlier history had often re- 
corded, a triumph of Leinster and Ulster over the Con- 
nachtmen and the Momonians. To Kildare in his more 
English mind it was the crushing of a great rival, a rebel 
rather against the Geraldine hegemony than against the 

English king. It is certain that with the prestige of his 
name and with such forces as he mustered against his 
fellow English and Irish at Cnoc Tuagh, Earl Garret 
could have destroyed England’s petty forces in Ireland 
and made himself a King. But he was not of the Bruces 
and Vasas of History. To be actual Lord of Ireland, 
while a Henry had the name, was enough for this subtle 
and self-ambitious man, and the Old English of whom he 
was the Head and the type preferred their “‘ middle 
nation’ autonomy under an Absentee Crown to all that 
Independence could offer. 

In July, 1505, died Aedh Rua O'Donnell after a 
reign of forty four years and in his seventy-eighth year. 
Heis described as “ Lord of Connacht from the Mountain 
dowa (i.e., from Boyle northwards to the Eme), and the 

1 Amn. Ult. and F. M.1504 and Book of Howth which makes a 
epic of the battle. if as is generally stated a battle " of lass 

Continued till Garret's death and in 1510 the Earl suffered defeat at 
‘Méin-na-mErathair near Limerick when invading O'Brien's country. 
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rent of Inishowen and the bonnacht of Cene] Moen were 
due to him.” It is certain that the O'Donnell power 
over Fermanagh and North Connacht as well as over 
Tyrconnell, which took over a century to break, was built 
up by Aedh who made the Cenel Conaill at least the 
equals of the O’Neills, 

His son Aedh Og was proclaimed king after the old 
fasion at Kilmacrenan on August 2 that year. 

Kildare had some nine years yet of life and fame after 
Knocktoe. The accession of Henry VIII. in April 1509 
made no difference to this real King of Ireland, for 
Henry, not yet eighteen years of age, was much too full 
of exuberant youth and a desire to shine in tourney and 
war with the princes of Europe, to care who ruled Ireland. 

The Great Earl's latter years were filled with marches 
into Munster, Connacht and the Midlands, succouring 
his allies and enforcing a rough justice among English 
and Irish. Meanwhile his ally Aedh Og O'Donnell had 
shown himself as a great Irish lord at Rome—whither 
he went on pilgrimage in 1510, and received great favors 
from the Pope—and in Henry's court, for he spent four 
months in London in going and four in returning from 
Rome, and was knighted by King Henry in February, 

11. The Ulster record impressively that he was able, 
in the midst of his age and power, in despite of every 

one,” to leave Tyrconnell for a year and a half. Certainly 
this would have been a dangerous course in earlier times, 
and we see in these latter O’Donnells, who visit Edin- 
burgh, Rome, London, Dublin and are received every- 
where as great lords, a type of chieftain, far removed 
from the elective patriarch of old even though the tra- 
ditional “ enkinging " gave them their primary authority. 

Finally, in an affray near Kilkea with the O’Mores 
whose country he had brought into subjection, Earl 
Garret received a death wound and died September 3, 
1513. 

2 Ann, Ult, and F. M. 1510-11. Hall's Chronicle states that “a 
Gent man or lord of Ireland called ‘Donnell ” was imighted by Henry 

TIT, on Feb. 13, 1511 (see Ellis Letters op. cit. Ser. 1. 1. 186). 
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Tt was a great and critical moment in the history. of 
the Three Kingdoms and once again England’s luck pre- 
vailed. James IV. of Scotland, Henry’s enemy, had 
thought of attacking England through Ireland. O’Donnell 
had been at this court and could Earl Garret have been 
brought in, it is possible that Ireland might have had a 
Scottish sovereign again as in 1315 or Kildare have taken 
the actual title of King. But just as James decided to 
invade England, the greatest man in Ireland died; on 
September 9 the King of Scots with all his chivalry was. 
slain at Flodden Field, and Kildare’s ally, Aedh O’Donnell 
who could have roused Ulster could only write to Henry 

on January 12 1514, from his manor of Donegal, and 
explain that he had had no sinister designs in visiting 
the Scottish king? 

The vast estates and lordships, English, Irish, feudal, 
legal, and usurped, which Garret Mér handed on to his 
son Gerald, a man quite as great who carried the burden 
of his power very skilfully till his death in 1534, are 
detailed in the Red Book which was drawn up under him 
about 1503, and continued in the Renta! of his son.* 

Kildare's lordship, so great in North Leinster, included 
also Adare and Croom, manors of the old Geraldine 
origins in Limerick. The absence of English claimants, 
the concession by King and parliament of ‘‘ lands waste 
and occupied by the Irish,” the surrender by the Old 
English of their lands to the Earl, the process of indenture 
and vassalage by which English and Irish alike sought the 
protection and good will of Kildare, and the survival 
or resurgence of Irish custom in lands once Norman- 
feudal, all enabled this great House to weld round its 
nucleus in Kildare a vast, if ill-compacted, princedom 
such as no subject of the Crown enjoyed. Indentures of 

LEllis sid. 224-5. Under 1513 Ann. Ult. record "* O'Donnell 
‘went with a smalll force to Scotland at invitation by letters of the 

- and after spending a quarter of a year there with the King, a 
having changed the King’s intent to go to Ireland, he came home safe 
to his own house,” 

Rentals of the Eats of Kildare, in Kilkenny Arch, Soe. Journal 
stato and 1862 3 ed. calendared in Hist, MSS. 
Core. 5th Report PL IL KEXVIE 1885. 
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commendation and suzerainty, going back to 1318, bound 
to the Earl the Berminghams of Carbery, the O’Kellys 
of Hy Many, the Foxes, Macgeoghegans, and O’Demsys 
of the Midlands. The entries called “ Therll of Kyldar’s 
duties upon Irishmen ” are sometimes the work of later 
earls, but many of them are of Garret Mér's time and 
earlier. They embrace military duties, tributes in kine 
and money, money atonements for crimes called in Irish 
“ c4in" “eric” and the like, and extend over MacMur- 
chada’s country, Hy Kinsella, Macgeoghegan’s country, 
and MacGillapatraic, O'Byrne, O’More and chiefs 
further afield, Murchad (‘Morgh Ballagh”) MacMur- 
chada, whom Dowling calls ““ Rex Lagenie” and who 
died in 1512, paid to the Earl fourpence every Michaelmas 
upon every head of cows on certain townlands. Irish 
words such as “ tuath” etc., stud these curious pages and 
there are a few Irish agreements such as that by which 
Garret Mér got the castle of Killtobber from 

an on condition he would force the 
ae of Offaly to make peace with Macgeoghegan. 
A partiality for Irish ‘literati’ shows itself—lands in 
Cromlin and Ballysallogh are let to Teig O’Rono and 
Dermot O'Cofy, “ rimors.” In 1500 an Irish bard came 
in the name of two O’Reillys to the Earl to say that the 

two chiefs had put themselves under “‘slantyacht” 
or protection of the earl, and if they invade one another's 
property, he that breaks the peace shall pay a fine—this 
is signed by the bard and a servant of O'Reilly, and by 
five Old English, namely Delahyde, FitzJames, Tuyt, 
Rothe and Hussey. Everywhere the earl had rights of 
military service and to cess horsemen; and the armed 
forces at his disposal, had he called out the whole ban, 
would have been imposing in numbers if not of the finest 

quality. Garret was the true “ Ard Ri” of a large part 
of Ireland, and the chiefs to whom he presented the 
horses, coats of mail, gorgets and pisans recorded in the 
Rental looked on these as the customary “stipends ” 
due from an over-king. 

Garret was happy in the moment of his death. It 
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was in 1513 that Wolsey first gained all the ear of Henry 
VIII., and till his fall in 1529 this great minister ceased 
not to inveigh against Garret Og and urge upon the King 
the overthrow of the “‘ King of Kildare,” a subject far 
mightier in Ireland than the Crown. Then in 1515 Earl 
Thomas of Ormond died, and his rights went to his grand- 
son Thomas Boleyn. Piers Rua Butler, content with the 
hope of a new earldom of Ossory, came out openly against 
the new Earl of Kildare, and later Anne Boleyn threw a 
true woman’s spite into the vendetta which had waged 
for sixty years between Ormond and Kildare, The 
combination of these foes wrought the ruin of the House 
of Kildare in 1534, in spite of all the skill and patience 
of Garret Og, and though Henry VIII. determined that 
“ Treland should be governed ” by sober waies, politique 
drifts, and amiable perswasions “it was not till the 
All-but-Kingship of Kildare perished with Silken Thomas 
and five of his uncles on the scaffold at Tybum in February 

1537- 



CHAPTER XV. 

VIEW AND REVIEW OF IRELAND circa 1500. 

Tue Ireland which Strongbow entered in 1170, though 
in many ways and for many reasons isolated from Europe, 
had already felt the pressure of those great forces which 
were re-making r2th century Europe, the Reform in the 
Church, the development of State monarchy, and less 
calculable changes in the field of art and thought. Then 
suddenly broke in the Cambro-Normans, and next, in 
the breach made by their swords, entered the Angevin 
Monarchy of England. Henceforth for good or evil, 
there was a new Ireland, and though the Celtic revival 
in some ways restored the old order, its real day was 
over, and by 1500 the Gaelic princes themselves ceased 
to look back to the Monarchy of Tara. 

For into the Ireland of 1500 were already entering 
the forces of the new, the Renaissance, Europe. The 
New Monarchy of the Tudors had taken its first hold. 
In the brief spell of 1450 to 1530 while Ireland was 
ruled by an native aristocracy, she progressed in art 
and literature, in the amenities and luxuries of life. 

We have shown what a flaw in the Anglo-Irish state 
was the absence of an University and of the higher 
education. Yet it seemed as if the great lords of this 
time meant to put the land of Ireland on an honourable 
level with other lands. Thomas, Earl of Desmond, in 
1464, founded at Youghal a college which had a true 
existence for most of acentury. The project of a Studium 
generale for the colony at Drogheda, broached at the 
parliament of 1465, unhappily came to nothing. But 
even Bikenor's foundation of an university at Dublin 
in 1320, though it had a transitory and vague existence, 
and unlike Youghal has left no recorded buildings, did 
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in a sense continue to exist, and might, with any slight 
good fortune, have anticipated Elizabeth's University. 
Thus Archbishop Alan's Register records that at a 
Provincial Synod held at Christ Church Cathedral in 
1494 under Archbishop Walter Fitszimons, certain sums 
were voted by the suffragan sees of Dublin for the support 
of lectures in the University, for a term of seven years, 
the total annually from five sees being some £27, a trifling 
endowment certainly but which, with others not 
recorded, must have kept a certain life in the “ domus 
scholarum " of the capital? 

It was the great Earls however, who were now the 
head and hope of Irish, and even of Gaelicculture. Garret 
Mor aspired to have on his lands a college as notable as 
that of his cousin Desmond at Youghal. Though he 
himself did not live to see it done, yet before his death he 
assigned certain lands to endow a college at Maynooth, 
dedicated to the Blessed Virgin. In 1515, at the Earl’s 
request, Henry VIII. granted him leave to found a 
“* perpetual College” consisting of six chaplains, of 
whom one was to be master, and two clerks to celebrate 
Masses for the souls of the founder and his ancestors ; 
the eight to form a college of the Blessed Virgin, and to 
be a corporate body for ever. The Archbishop of Dublin 
confirmed the foundation, and Earl Garret Og built a 
beautiful chapel and endowed the college which flourished 
for some twenty years, but was dissolved and surrendered 
to the Crown in 1541. 

To these foundations we may add Kilkenny School, 
founded by Piers Rua, Earl first of Ossory and then of 

Jegentium) and in order that lectures might be continued ‘here i 
certain faculties, it was granted for a term of seven yeary 
Archbishop, his chay id clergy should Mey anneal Zoe the b Bitep 

8 £5, 
A. provincial synod is recorded at Christchurch in March, Dg 
under FitzSimons (Cal. Christchurch deeds: 20th Rep. D. K. m0. 
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Ormond, early in this century; a school which had a 
famous history and produced many famous men. 

A notable Anglo-French civilisation had flourished 
ever since the Conquest around Kilkenny, the capital 
of the Ormond Earls. It is true that from early 
times they spoke Irish. The third Earl was interpreter 
for MacMurchada and the other Irish kings in 
1395. But the Ormonds were the most English of 
the First Families. Piers Rua, though since Edmund 
MacRichard, his grandsire, the family sympathy for Gaelic 
things had been pronounced, followed the earlier 
tradition, and with his Grammar school at Kilkenny 
welcomed the Tudor peace as an opportunity to bring 
in foreign refinements. His Fitzgerald wife, the great 
Countess, was the inspirer of this war-like earl. Together 
they introduced into Kilkenny Flemish weavers of carpets 
and tapestry, some of whose work survives at the Castle 
there, though unhappily the later troubles did not allow 
the colony to survive.* 

‘The Kildare Earls, though more pro-Ireland than 
the Butlers, and less Gaelicized than the Desmonds, 
showed a generous sympathy for the three cultures of 
Ireland, and the three spoken languages on which they 
rested, namely Irish, French and English. The ninth 
Farl’s library at Maynooth contained 112 parchment 
books, a very considerable collection for those times, 
many of which had belonged to Garret Mor. Of these, 
34 were Latin, 36 French, 20 Irish, and 22 English.* 

We have dealt with the effects of the continued 
absence of the Crown. One of the greatest of these was 
the growth on a vast scale of Lordship expressed in land- 
power and man-power. “The Lion himself came not 
to the hunt” says Davies, “' but left the prey to the 
inferior beasts.” Ravenously did the First Families fall 
upon the spoil, and since the Crown would neither come 
with a new Plantation, nor compel the absentees to return 

2 Nat, Facs, Il. pl. XVII. and Corcoran State policy in Irish 
education p. 45. 

See Nat. Facs. III. plate LXXI-IIL; Ledwich Hist, of Kilhenny 
and Healy Hist, of (orarre Ep. 876 ete. 
‘i \OGrady Cat, Irish MSS. im Brit. Mut, p. 154. Nat, Fact, IIT, 
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nor create new Peers out of the Anglo-Irish themselves, 
the result was that by 1500 three families alone, Butlers 
and two Fitzgeralds, divided between them all Ireland 
south of the Upper Boyne and Limerick. 

Ireland had completely fallen into the hands of a 
warlike noblesse—“ the great of lineage.” Of course 
Britain itself showed the same phenomenon. The greater 
part of Wales and the Southwest, and almost the whole 
North above the Mersey and the Humber was a 
medley of palatinates, baronies, and liberties, ruled by 

feudal and march law. 
The reduction of these to Common law was one of 

the first tasks of the New Monarchy. The reduction of the 
Irish palatinates seemed a similar task, just as essential 
to law and order. But in Ireland the feudal lords 
were able to call to their defence national and religious 
passion, and the suppression of these great Liberties 

had to become operations against Irish speech, custom, 
popular feeling and Catholic sentiment. 

Another result of the Absenteeism of the Crown was 
the general revival of the Irish world, in speech, law, 
land tenure and the social order. The Norman-English- 
Welsh who effected the temporary conquest of two-thirds 
of the island, few in themselves and never reinforced 
by fresh colonies, were inevitably destined to become 
a semi-Gaelic aristocracy ruling over that mass of 
Gaelic humanity which swamped the Englishry. 
Inevitably, after the moment passes in the 13th 
century, when Ireland might have been made a second 
England, the dominant English, where they did not 
emigrate or died out, turned Irish as surely as the Franks 
in the Holy Land turned into Orientals. 

This is not to say that the masses of the colonists 
lost all pride in their Englishry. Right up to the fall of 
the House of Kildare, the Old English prided themselves 
on a sort of colonial or ‘middle nation” patriotism much 
like the 18th century patriotism of Grattan and Char- 
lemont. A dozen times between 1200 and 1500 they 
might have rejected England as Scotlend under the 
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Bruces did, but, high as their resentment rose and great 
as their Home Rule independence grew, they never 
openly broke with England. But under cover 
of this Old English nationalism the Anglo-Irish 
developed a great if unpolitical affection for native 
things. Some of their Gaelic aspects were of necessity. 
Thus, while everywhere, even in Connacht, they retained 
English feudal tenures, rules of land-succession and 
inheritance, and much manorial jurisdiction and custom, 
they took over, as something too deeply rooted and indeed 
too suited to the country to be displaced, the old Gaelic 
communal organisation. The betagh system indeed 
practically disappeared, even as villeinage did in England, 
but the old Irish rural economy, the renting of stock and 
land on short leases, based on the old “ saer” and “daer- 
chéile” tenures, survived, and indeed displaced English 
innovations. 

Everywhere after 1330, underneath the surviving 
English socage, free-hold, burgage, and knightly tenants, 
we find on the great lordships inferior tenants, generally 
Irish, called “‘gabelarii” or gavellers, “‘firmarii’” or 
farmers, and “‘catalarii.” They hold demesne land, 
land taken into cultivation, and former betagh land. 
Correlation of entries about them in the manor surveys 
supports the view that these were free tenants holding 
land or stock of the lord subject to money rent, to works, 
dues in kind, and heriots similar to those of villeins. 
They held their land in common in the firm-rooted Irish 
way, and favoured short leases which allowed them if 

unsatisfied to find other lords and get better terms." 
As with land, so with Brehon law; the Anglo-Irish 

adopted it, partly of necessity, partly because their 
subjects had an invincible attachment to it, partly 
because the profits were so great, and besides, their own 
origins dated back to a time when primitive feudal 

1 For gatelarii etc see Cal. Docs. Ir. passim and Just. Rolls. Cal. 
Gormansion Ree. p. 21: from the manor of Gormanston . . . fines of 
famaera at will received every twelve, years by the custom there” 
1363). 
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Celtic and Germanic law had nothing repugnant for one 
another. 

‘Everywhere in the 16th century the Tudor officials 
found the “degenerate English” using Brehon law. 
Even Sir Piers Rua, afterwards Earl of Ossory and 
Ormond, had an Irish brehon over his country, one 
“Rory MacLaughire.” The Desmond earls before 1500 
had adopted as their chief “ ollav ” or professor of native 
law, one of the famed O’Maelconaire family. 

That form of patriarchal union which we call for want 
of a better word, the clan system, had by now asserted 
itself among all the old English, even in the towns and 
‘the Pale. Under the circumstances of Ireland it was an 
inevitable development. Thus in 1543 we find several 
Burkes, chiefs of five small septs of that name, 
accepting the arbitration of the King’s Deputy, 
Clanrickard, the Archbishop of Tuam, the Bishop 
of Clonfert, and a famous brehon, Boethius or 
“ Bathghalach " MacEgan, over a townland in dispute 
between them and Galway city. The award being duly 
given was signed at St. Francis’ monastery in Galway 
by the arbitrators, and Boethius signs and agrees in 
Trish. 

So in the deeds and wills of the Blake family 
of Athenry, we find strict entail on the male line, 
alienation to strangers of family property barred, females 
excluded from inheritance. This family becomes a 
clan making laws for itself, and a latin deed of as late 
as 1527 says—-‘a woman ought not and cannot be heir 
according to the custom and ordinance of the Blake 
nation.” * 

But it was in language above all that the old English 

*MacLaughire’s true name was Ruaidhri Mag Fhlannchadha: 
‘gee O'Ranlly irish posts ec tm English documents F.R-LA: 1922. Ans. 
Loch Cé 1519: “died Maitin, son of Torna 0” 

‘the Geraldine English chose before all the ollamAs of ‘enn” 
many lords even within the English counties do 

ammenis) air Hy besos law and keep brehons” 
343) 

os. 65, 84, 03-5, MacFgan, is described ax 
“arbiter secudaris"” which just expresses what the Irish brehon 
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became one with the native people. French died out» 
and English became limited to the towns, the southern 
baronies of Wexford where Strongbow’s colony preserved 
till the 19th century a curious composite speech mainly 
derived from Somerset and the southwest of England, 
with some Flemish and Irish thrown in, and Fingall 
with the eastern portions of the pale reaching from Ardee 
to Dublin. The rulers of Anglo-Ireland under Home 
Rule, such as the Ormond and Kildare Earls and the 
nearer gentry, certainly adopted and spoke English, but 
in the r6th century, among the Burkes and Desmonds, 
it was an accomplishment to be remarked upon. 
Thus when Henry VIII appointed Roland de Burgo, 
grandson of Ulick Lord Clanrickard, bishop of Clonfert 
in 154r, Roland could ueither understand nor speak 
English. A little earlier it was reported as some- 
thing unexpected among the Munster nobility, 
that Sir John of Desmond, an old man, and son of 
Ear] Thomas executed at Drogheda, “ could speak very 
good English,” and so could his nephew James, rath Earl 
though his mother was a MacCarthy, and “ wore his 
hair and cap English fashion.” * 

The affection of the Old English for the native tongue 
and no less for the literature and culture it enshrined 
was scarcely less now than that of the native chiefs 
themselves.? And this affection which at first had been 
a necessity soon became a passion, as the Tudor Recon- 
quest degenerated into a crusade against not only the 
oldtime liberties cf Gaelic and Norman lords, but against 
the language, lore, culture and faith of most Irishmen. 
The Irish language then became the passionate symbol 
of a patriotism which now England's first colonists had 
embraced little less warmly than the Old Irish themselves, 

In 1600 a spy unnamed wrote to Cecil— there is 
great danger to the English Pale from the Irish house 

1 For Roland sce Haliday MSS. Hist. MSS. Comm : 15th Rep. 
Pt 3p. 226, Cokayne’s Complete Peerage od. Gibbs under Desmond i 
report of Captain ap Parry to Cromwell in 1535. 5 * For some illustrations see my Spoken languages of medieval Ire- 
Jond ia Studies: 1919. 
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at Douay, of which Christopher Cusack is chief. Sixty 
young gentleman are here, eldest sons of the/principal gentry 
of the Pale, namely Plunkett, Barnewall, Rochefort, and 
many merchants’ sons of Dublin and Drogheda; they pray 
for Tyrone and speak all Irish, and it is to be feared that 
these offspring of the colonies of the English conquest 
may become in language and disposition fermented with 
the ancient hatred of Irish to English. 

While, however, all the “ march English” and an 
ever-growing portion of the Pale accepted Irish habit 
and speech, the towns remained a stronghold of 
Englishism. 

By 1500 the Anglo-Irish towns had dwindled very 
greatly in number. Generally the more flourishing ones 
were along the sea, and on the great river systems of the 
Nore, Barrow, and Suir. But Meath, lowland Leinster, 
and the Desmond lands still contained many prosperous 
and highly privileged boroughs. 

As with England and other medieval countries, an 
ever-growing oligarchy got hold of the town governments 
and concentrated into the hands of a few families powers 
based on successive charters of liberties, and on the policy 
of government to throw responsibility upon the towns 
and their ruling class. 

In many cases the local gentry got freeman rights, 
enlisted the burgesses in their ware, and put the town 
government into their pockets, so that acts of Poynings’ 
parliament had to prohibit citizens of any town from 
receiving livery or wages of any lord or gentleman, and 
forbade admission of any one as alderman, juror, or 
freeman, save he have been prentice or inhabitant of 
the town. 

These town oligarchies, of whom the most familiar 
instance is the Old English or Anglo-Welsh Tribes of 
Galway, were far more English than the population they 
ruled, Thus in 1402 the Provost and twelve chief 
burgesses of Cloyne, elected by the burgesses and approved 

2 State Papers Domestic 1508-1601 p. 496. 
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by their lord the Bishop, are all English.t So in 1444 
when there wasa dispute between the Prior of St. John’s 
at Ardee and the burgesses, which was settled by the 
archbishop of Armagh, the reeve or provost is called 
Nicholl, the proctor for the burgesses is one Lovell, and 
of the witnesses fifteen names are English.* 

‘These oligarchies were officially supposed to be anti- 
Irish, but there is plenty of evidence that members of 
the Irish race were numerous in the boroughs, sometimes 
in the upper orders, and clearly in the less privileged 
By 1350 we find many Irish names among the officers 
of the boroughs, and later some of the most famous civic 
names were of Gaelic origin, such as Lynch, Kirwan, 
Nolan, Fallon, Tully of Galway; Creagh of Limerick, 
and Meagh of Cork Among the grants of English 
liberty to Irishmen, many are to people already domiciled 
in the towns, and we have shown in an earlier chapter 
that the towns were liberal in admitting Irishmen. 

The towns being so favoured by government and 
within its reach, the civic rulers were bound officiaily 
to put anti-Irish statutes such as those of Ki'kenny into 
effect. Waterford and Dublin being the most English 
did this with readiness and added ordinances of their 
own. Hence in Waterford, by ordinance of 1384, it 
‘was an offence to call another citizen “ Irishman," the 
punishment being fine of a mark, to be paid to the victim. 
In a later ordinance of 1482 it was enacted that “no 
manere man, free or foreigner, shall plead or defend in 
the Irish tongue,” but must have an interpreter, ‘* except 
one party be of the countrye, then every such dweller 
shall be at liberty to speak Yrish."” But even this shows 
that the use of Irish was so common as to need restricting. 
There was clearly no animus against peaceful domiciled 
or denized Irishmen, but only against “Irish enemies’ 
and such Old English as embraced Irish law. In 1459-60 
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it was enacted that civic freedom and admission to trades 
could only be obtained by Irishmen after they had got 
English liberty from the King, and undertaken to be of 
Englisharray, habit andapparel-no unreasonable demand. 

The mediaeval town, jealous of its monopolies, looked 
with suspition on all “ foreigners,” which meant all men 
from without. Especially was this so in the Irish towns, 
surrounded by so many grasping Norman and Celtic 
lords. But once you were free of the borough, your 
origin and ancestry became unmportant, and a domiciled 
Trishman was no longer an “ Irish enemy.” It is clear 
from our evidence that most of the excluding statutes of 
the 15th century were dead letters and meant to be so. 
As for the Irish language, it was the mayor and citizens 
of Limerick, and Wellesley and Lenfaunt, knights of 
Kildare, who interpreted the submissions of several of 
the great chiefs to Richard II.1 Much later, early in 
‘James I’s reign, Fynes Moryson wrote in his Commonwealth 
of Ireland thus : “ the English-Irish and the very citizens, 
excepting those of Dublin where the Lord deputy resides, 
though they could speak English as well as we, yet 
commonly speak Irish among themselves, and were hardly 
induced by our familiar conversation to speak English 
with us.” This was the culmination of the floodtide of 
Irish revival which began about 1300, and reached the 
towns last of all. 

“Old Irish” and “ Old English” was in the 16th 
century the recognised distinction between the two races 
of Ireland. In a fragment of Ulster, in Louth and most 
of ancient Meath, in lowland Leinster, and all Munster 
save Kerry and Clare, the English were the dominant 
upper class. In county Limerick in Elizabeth's reign, 
we find that out of thirty-eight chief names, thirty-two 
are Norman-English, and in twelve Norman manors 
in Kilkenny and Tipperary, out of 198 chief tenants, 
only twenty are Irish.? 
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The “ degenerate English ” had never been deprived 
of their legal rights, while the mass of the Irish, living 
under Brehon law, remained till James the First’s reign 
excluded from the Common law. To be of the blood of 
the conque-t was the boast of all who could assert it ; 
@ traditional dislike of Irish enemies was maintained, 
as we find in Lord Gormanston’s remark after Knocktoe ; 
and sometimes Anglo-Irishmen by their wills sought to 
confine the benefits to their own “ English nations."’ * 

Every effort on the part of the State was made to 
prevent feudal land passing into Irish hands. Yet 
certainly in Munster and Connacht free trade in land 
broke down the racial barrier, and we find in 1488 John 
Baret, Lord of Cloch Philip, granting the “ vill of that 
mame, with meadows, mill, etc., to Eugene, son of 
Thadeus, son of Cormac MacCarthy and his heirs for 
ever.” # 

But indeed the distinction between the races was fast 
becoming a distinction without a difference. To Tudor 
Englishmen there was little todistinguish the once-Norman 
colonist in speech, dress and habit from the Celt, and even 
when the former spoke English it was of a kind so isolated 
and pre-Chaucerian, as scarce to be understood. 

As for blood, few of the Old English were without 
a Gaelic strain, and many a Gaelic chief had wedded an 
earl’s daughter or had an Englishwoman for mother. 
Shane O'Neill is often taken for the typical Irish Celt, 
yet in fact his grandmother was a FitzGerald. Red 
Hugh O'Donnell, the hero and embodiment of Celtic 
Ireland, was descended on one side from Thomas, seventh 
Earl of Kildare, while on the other side, an earl of Argyle 
was his great-grandsire. Certainly the Kildare carls 
after the Conquest had always married Anglo-French, 
and Silken Thomas had an Anglo-Irish grandmother 
and a pure English mother. But as for the Munster 

2 Alan's Reg. op. cit. fol. 133° will of John Aleyn, Dean of St. 
Patrick’s Dublin—a house to be built for eleven paupers who shall be 
eet cathlics, of English desent, and chicly ofthe mations of the Barres, 
Sage Hillis, Dylions and Rodiers. 

Canliield in Cork Arch, Soc, 1904 p. 259. 
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Geraldines, four earls between 1470 and 1540 married 
Irish, and two had Irish mothers. 

So tenacious was the Irish tradition that still most 
of the Gaelic stock lived in the thoughts of five centuries 
gone. Till Elizabeth's reign their chiefs fonght battles 
over quarrels older than the Conquest. In 1543 the 
Deputy St. Leger and the Council intervened between 
Conn O'Neill and Manus O'Donnell as to which of them 
was rightly suzerain of Inishowen, lord of Cene! Moen, 
and overlord of Maguire, O’Ruairc,and Mac Mahon ; 
and further whether O'Donnell himself did not owe 
homage to Tyrone? The Viceroy and Council con- 
temptuously reported that these claims were based on 
“certain parchments and old tracts (libelli) composed 
by vain poets and ploraiores of Irish history, hired for 
small reward and blinded by affection for their lords.” 
But they awarded Inishowen to O'Donnell with a head 
rent to O'Neill, declared O'Donnell independent, and 
forbade both to exact tribute, bonnacht or service 
outside their own territories.? 

Still, to the close of the sixteenth century the office of 
the “captain of his nation” remained an elective 
patriarchal one, and Shane O'Neill, that great champion 
of the old racial order, boldly declared that the chief had 
no interest but for life, and that the King could not make 
an earl of a chief.* 

Still was the Irish ‘ country,” which was scmetinies 
as great as modern Clare or Donegal, divided into the 
lord's demesne land; the lands of the freeholders such 
as near kinsmen, brehons, poets, galloglass chiefs; and 
“ chargeable land ” which provided the lord with tributes, 
services and quarters for his fighting forces, Sometimes 
the demesne was small, as five thousand acres in Maguire’s 
country of Fermanagh ; sometimes large, as thirty-seven 
plowlands out of the ninety-three which made up Ely 
O'Carroll; or seven and a half quarters (27,00 acres) 

1 Cal. Carew MSS. 1 p. 204. 
+t Ibid. pp. 305, 307, 312, 314 
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which O'Sullivan Mér in 1586 had out of the total of 
fifteen quarters which made up his country. 

For all that, things were moving towards a more 
modern, feudal, and State chieftain, an hereditary 
landlord after the European fashion. Naturally the 
weight of the powerful Tudor Monarchy was thrown into 
the balance. Thus when Sir Cormac MacTaig MacCarthy 
of Muskerry made his will in 1583, he placated both the 
State and vested clan-interests by leaving the lordship 
to three Tanists in succession, his brother and two 
nephews, then to his son Cormac 6g and his heirs male, 
so that Irish Tanistry should then expire? 

Far greater, too, than in 1100 was the chief's personal 
power in men and revenues, in private property, in war 
strength, in the so-called Irish “‘ cuttings and ce:sings,” 
such as we have described touching the Old English 
lords. Thus while O'Sullivan Mér in 1586 had half the 
country for demesue, the rest going in shares to the Tanist, 
to the next in claim to the Tanist, and then to the nearest 

of the royal kin, yet the chief had also four quarters 
of land belonging to his lordship of Dunboy—" dibadh,”” 
private, or “‘ sword " land, the brehons would have called 
it. 

Out of such a traditionalistic world and race came 
that Gaelic literature which, in its imaginative, its 
rhythmical, and its scholarly expression, kept the Gaelic 
race of 1600 in direct touch with the Ireland of a 
thousand years before, and enables us moderns to 
read our history back to days even before the pagan 
Celts, the most remarkable literary succession in modern 
Europe. 

To the casual unsympathetic eye the dry annals tell 
little of most Irish chiefs to boast of, yet when we read 
that the great book of Ballymote, only one among the great 
survivors, was written for MacDonagh, chief of Tirerril, 

2 See Bonn Englische Kolonisation, Mrs. Green on“ Irish land in 
the roth ceatury,” in Eri 1907, and the contemporary works of 
Davies. 

* Cork Arch, Soc. 1892 p. 193. 
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Corann and Airtech, in Sligo and Roscommon, about 
1390, we find that this book-miscellany of five hun- 
dred pages of the largest folio vellum contains among 
other things the Leabhar Gabhdla or story of the first 
pre-Celtic conquests of Ireland, the history of Niall 
Nine Hostages, the Book of Rights, a translation into 
Irish of Nennius’ Historia Brittonum. 

The Irish pre-occupation with antiquity may have 
been a fault in the Gaelic aristocracy, making them in- 
capable of that compromise with the modern world of 
the Tudors which alone could have saved them ; yet if 
we could read of an English nobleman of 1400 having 
preserved to us some work, part legend, part history, 
of Britain before Cesar, scholars and patriots would at 
least in their gratitude ask no more.* 

But in literature as in all else, the native race of 1500 
was taking the impress of a new, a Renaissance Europe. 

Not a single Gaelic chief in 1395, among the many 
who came to King Richard, took his oath of submission 
in any other language than Irish. Yet at the end of 
the following century the upper classes of the Irish were 
studying English, French and Spanish. The Book of 
Lismore, compiled circa 1300 for Finghin MacCarthy 
Reagh, whose wife was Catherine, daughter of Thomas 
earl of Desmond, contains a translation of the book of 
Marco Polo. Finghin O'Mahony about 1475 translated 
Maundeville’s Travels from English, and Irish versions 
of Turpin’s Chronicle, the Adventures of Guy of Warwick, 
the triumphs of Charlemagne, etc., show that Southern 
Ireland had its window towards Europe. 

But as the type par excellence of the new Gaelic 
lord we may turn to Manus O'Donnell, son of Aedh Og 
and grandson of Aedh Rua. Manus, who became chief 
in 1537, was first wedded to Joan, sister of Conn Bacach 
O'Neill and granddaughter of Thomas, seventh earl of 
Kildare. His second wife was Eleanor FitzGerald, 

1 See O'Curry's MSS. Meterials p. 189, and for an Scat sas 
stirring appreciation of Gaelic literature and Irish in these 
and earlier dimes Mrs. Green's Making of Treland and Old Trish Worl. 
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daughter of the great Earl of Kildare. Both Manus’ 
father and grandsire had visited the courts of England, 
Dublin, Scotland and Rome, and if when the Deputy St 
Leger met Manus in 1540 at Cavan, he expected to meet 
some rude Irish lord, he was instead greeted, as he records, 
by an elegant gentleman, magnificently dressed in crimson 
velvet, whose chaplain was “a right sober young man, 
well learned and brought up in France” and who undertook 
to accept Henry as King of Ireland, asking in return 
a title worthy of his rank. 

But English or annalistic records would not give us 
the true civilisation of a personage such as Manus. For 
him was compiled in 1532, and he himself did much of 
the editing, a voluminous Life of Colmcille, the patron 
saint and legended hero of Tyrconnell.t 

Manus was further a charming poet in the native 
tongue, and of the love verse which has come down to us, 
four poems of his, one of which is addressed to that 
“daughter of the Earl” whom he wedded, are among 
the most charming and heartfelt.* 

Thee seemed little reason why both the English and 
the Irish of Ireland should not be happily and honorably 
reconciled with one another under that hereditary Lord 
of Ireland, whose claim both had constantly admitted. 

In spite of a Chinese persistence in venerable custom, 
in spite of the adherence to “‘ the laws of Cormac Mac Art,” 
which, wrote the Four Masters in 1616, “have bound the 
Irish to this day,” against the personal and patriotic 
opposition of that great class of Gaelic literati, it is 
probable that the chiefs, won over by royal peerages, 
would have won over their people to accept the kingdom 
of Ireland. Henry VIII, “by sober waies, politique 
drifts, and amiable perswasions ‘‘did indeed induce them 
in 1547 to confer on him the Crown of Ireland “ as united 
and knit to the Crown of England,” and to accept in 

 Betha Colaim Chille, now published by A. O'Kelleher (1918) 
from the MS. in the Bodleian—text and translation making 445 pp. 
of large octavo. 

* Ddnta gradha : a collection of Irish love-poetry of the 16th and 
17th centuries, edited T. F. O'Rabilly (r916). 
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return earldoms of Tyrone, Thomond, Clanrickard, 
baronies of Upper Ossory and the like. 

As the Irish Lords had in Henry FitzEmpress accepted 
a foreign Ard Ri, so in Henry VIII they accepted a King 
of Ireland who was a foreigner indeed, but also a great 
grandson of the beloved Richard of York, and in whose 
veins flowed richly the blood of Mortimers, Burgos, 
Lacys and O’Briens. To win over the Norman and Celtic 
lords to that loftier dignity of King which he took instead 
of the old Rome-given Lordship was a master stroke. 
And hac Henry Tudor seized the moment, as unhappily 
he did not, to bring all the Irish into the law, to form the: 
government of native born, to care as much for raising 
the poor as for bribing the rich; had he set a model to 
his successors to deal tenderly with the land, language and 
race-traditions of the people, to admit Catholicism as 
compatible with loyalty, and to touch the national pride 
by a separate coronation and frequent visits of the 
Crown in person—no doubt can exist that the Kingdom 
of Ireland, revived after four centuries, would have rooted 
itself deep in the hearts of the fast-blending races of 
Treland. 

But before it was even tried, there came successively 
the Reformation, the Re-conquest, the Confiscations, 
driving Old English and Irish into a common union and 
a common resentment, and deferring to our own time 
the honorable reconcilement of Ireland with England. 
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ey ‘ater 3se sot 
‘athair (Carolus), Abbot 

. 388; —, Art Bul, son 
of Donal, King, 388; —, Mur- 
chadh Ballach, ‘King, g11. 

MacNamara. See MacConmara, 
MacQuillans, 305. 340, 384, 

wuibhne “(Clann ' Suibbne _or 
MacSweeny), 138, 161, 183, See 
Gi 

MacTorcaill, Ostman Earls of Dub- 
lin, 21, 34, 35. 40, 41, 45, 196; 
=, Asgail or Hascull, 35,45, 54, 55 
57, 62, 03, 82, 83, 196 ;—,Hamund 
brother of Asgall, 67, 53, 196. 
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MacUchtred or FitzRoland, Tho- 
mas, Earl of Atholl, 106, 130, 132. 

MacWilliam, Uachtar and Tochtar. 
See Burgo. 

Maguires of Fermanagh, 182. 
Magne Carta, sent over, 134. 

lachy (Maelmaedec),’ Saint, 5, 
4. 8, 23, 38, 68. 

Mandevilles, 166, 167, 262, 305. 
Marisco, Geoffrey de, or Marais, 

Justiciar, 131-5, 141, 143-5, 153. Marshal, Earls of Pembroke, "79, 
451, 152, 171; —, William 

farl, “102-4, 122-4, 127-9. 
130) —, William TL, Earl, 141-5 2 
—, Richard, Earl, 135, 145, 146, 
151; —, Anselm,’ Earl, 151. 

‘Earl of 
—, Alice de, 

wife of Maurice FitzGerald, 50. 
Montmorency, Hervey de, 53, 75. 

81, 
Morice, Sir John, Deputy, 

Montgomery, 
Shrewsbury, 49, 50; 

Robert de, 

268-70. 
Mortimer, Roger, Lonl of Lete aod 

Trim, 152; —, Roger, first Earl 
224, 231-3, 238, 

266; 
of March, 225, 
239, 243, 244, 240-8, 255-3 
—, Edmund, third 
296, 297, 3043 —, Roger, fourth 
Earl, 297, 306, 316 
filth Earl, 338-41. 

Mowbray, Thomas, Earl of Notting- 
ham and Lord’ of Carlow, 303. 
306, 31, 312 

O'Bric of Dési, 115, 137. 
O Briens of Thomond, 13, 25, 26. 
OBrien, Turloch, Ard-Ri, 11, 25; 

Murchertach, Ard-Ri, 6, ‘9, 
13, 25, 27, 30, 50; —, Lal , wife of Arnulf de Montgomery, 
50: —, Turloch, King of Tho- 
fond, 31, 32; —, Murchertach, 
K., 43-53 —; Donal Mor, King, 
45, 60, 61, 65, 70, 
94, 102, 103, "105; —, 
tach Fionn (“Mariadac ), King, 
105, 111, 117, 125, 127, 130; 
—,'Donnchadh' Cairbreach, King, 
105, 11, 125-7, 129, 130, 138, 

5, 78.79, 92, 
‘Murcher- 
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O'Brien, Turloch, Ard-Ri—con. 
146, 147, 167; —, Conor Rua 
“'na Siudaine,” King, 150, 157, 
159; —, Taig, 157-9, 178; Brian Rua, 157, 177, 178, 
241; —, Turloch, King, 165, 178, 
179, 182; —, Murchertach, King, 
335: 2431 247, 267; —. Dermot, 
King, 243, 244. 274; —, Murgh 

furchadh), “""'na. Raithnighe, 
Chief of Clan-Brian-Rua, 29 
—, Mabon, King, 294; —, Tur- 
loch, King, brother of Mahon, 20 
—, Brian, ‘son of Mahon, of Cath- 
an-Aonaigh, King, 287, 294 
Turlock, ‘son of Murchadh, 

Guise a aie? 
Taig, son of Turloch, King. 35 
Bot 37h 376, 308s —, Cans 
son of Turloch, King, 376, 
—, Turloch, son of Turloch, ng. 

303. 
© Byrnes, 82, 173-5, 104, 227. 234. 

237, 274, 311, 312, 316, 341. 
MacFaeiain. 

OCahans, Kings of Cianacht, 159, 
160, 181, 263, 309. 

OGenansia ‘of Tyrconnell, 86, 99, 

Otro, Kings of Oriel. See 
OCervall. 

© Carroll of Eli, 255, 266, 329, 388. 
‘OCathasaigh or O Cadesi, chiefs of 

Saithmi, 55, 61, 80-2, 96. 
© Cervait’ (O Cerbhaill), Donnchadh, 

King of Oriel, 33, 38, 42, 46 Murchadh, King, 40, 56, 60, 61, 65, 
88, 102. 

OComairce, Christian, Bishop of 
Lismore, 38, 39, 42, 65, 07, 08. 

OConors of Connacht, 13, 14, 19, 28, 235, 244, 303, 321, 522. 
© Conor, Turloch, Ard-Ri, 2, 27, 28, 

30, 32, 38, 395 —, Rury (Ruaidhni} 
Ard-Ri, son of Turloch, 6, 7, 10, 
27) 32-4, 39, 49, 43-7, 52-8, 60-3, 
66, J5-51 84 89, 92 97, To3-3 —, Conor Macamoy, con ef Rury, 
75 103, 109; —, Brian of Lut 
gat son of Turloch, ancestor of 

Conor Sligo, 91, 180; —, Marchertach, s. of ‘Turloch, an- 
cestor of Claan-Murchertach, 180 ; 
—, Cathal Crovders, King of 
Coanacht, 8, of Turloch, 13, 14, 
Posed, TIER, sas-7, "19 
132, 138, ‘140-2, 167, = 
Hose, wife of High de Lacy, 97, 
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O'Connor, Turloch, Ard-Ri—con. 
142; —, Aedb, King, 141-44; 
Felim, King, 150-3; — 

Aedh, son’ of Felim, King, 159, 
162, 164-6, 180; —, Aedh, son 
of Eoghan, King, 180, 23 
Rury, son ‘of Cathal, King, 235; 
—, Felim “' of Athenry,”” son 
Acdh, s «ing. 239-7 | — Cathal, 
son of Donal, King, 237, 243; 
—, Turloch, son of Aedh, King, 
243, 262, 265, 267; Acdh, 
son’ of Felim, King, 243; —, 
Aedh, son of Turloch, King. 243 ; 
—, Turloch, " Donn,” 303, 310— 
2 Turloch, Rua," 303, 

Taig, son of Tarloch 
{0 Conce Don), 36a. 

O Conor Stigo, 265, 305, 383, 308. See Brian of Luighni. 
OConor Faly, Kings of Offaly, 43, 

84, 177, 226, 241, 266, 3 
388, 407: —, Calvach, 
Offaly, 341, 345, 388: 
garet, wife ‘of Calvach, 387. 

O Docherty of Inishowen, 267. 300. 
ODonnells of Tir Conaill, 26, 28, 

106. See Cenel Conaill. 
Donnell, Egnechan, King of Tir 

Conaill, 106, 124; —. Donal Mér, 
ing, 124, 120, 142, 146; 

Melachlin, "King, 142, 154: 
Goffraidh, King, 154. 157: 
Donal Og, King, 158, 161, 
181; —, Aedh, 

164, 

‘Aedh Rua, son of Nal 
Sarin, icing, 349, 359-60, 375. 
383, 385, 398; —, Aedh Og, som 
of Aedh “Rua, King, 385; —, 
Manus, son of Aedh Og, King, 
385, 423, 427-0 O,Faclain, lords of Dési, 65, 67, 115. 

O'Faclain’ of Leinster.’ “See ‘Mac- 
Faclain. 

© Fearghail of Longford, 96. 
Offaly “(Ui Failghe), 79, 84, 112. 
See FitzGeralds, and O Conor Faly. 

Offelan (Ui Faclain). See Mac- 
Faclain. 

OHedigen, Archbishop of Cantal 
37% 

OKellys of Hy Many, 235, 236, 
245: 246, 304. (© Kennedys, Kings of Ormond, 266, 
267, 272, 311. 

‘OMacleonaire, 
438, 

ollamhs, 14, 107, 
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‘OMasléory, Kings of Tir Conaill, 
25, 26, 28: —, Flahertach, King, 
56, 75, 86, 99, 103. 

OMaddens of Sit Anmehadha, 245, 
246, 249. 

OMore of Leix, More of Lele. 129, 178, 174 273, 
it, 312, 339, 3387 

"Lasiacadh ox Lytagh Lord of 
Leix, 265, 266, 273. 

OMelachlin, Kings of Meath, to, 
25, 20. 95. 05, 230: —, Murchadh. 
King. 31. 32, 72: —, Dermot, 
King, 23, 32, 43°53 7, Donal 
of Bregia, King of Westmeath, 
45. 60, 61, 66; —, Maghnus, 
King of East Meath, ‘60, 72, 74, 
76, 95; —, Art, King of West- 
meath, 74, 76,953 — Art, son 

166; —, Cairbre, 
fae —, Art Mér, 260, 

O'Neill Kings of Cenel Eoghain or 
‘Tir Eoghain, 25, 45, 106, 181, 
209, 245, 254, 262. ‘See Us Neill; 
—,'Aedh [,,” part King, 45, 86; 
—) Aedh IL, King, 106,’ 124, 
129, 130, 142 ‘Brian, grand- 
son'of Aedh il., “of the 
‘of Down,” King, 106, 142, 143, 
150, 157-60; —, Aedh’ IIT., 
*"Buidhe,” King, ancestor of Clan- 
naboy, 160, 164, 197, 18, 273, 
305; —, Donal “of the Re 
monstrance,” King, 181, 227, 229, 
232, 233, 249, 247) —, Aedh 
1W,, “'Mér,"" "King, 270, 273, 
278, 282 Niall’ Mér, ‘son of 

IV, King, 282, 295, B30 
Niall 6g, son of 

300, "305-18; Be 
Eoghan, son of Niall Og, ‘King, 
399, 345 3583 — 

Eoghan, 
Henry, son 

93.994 | of ne Min and later Earl of 
Xs ES 

O'Nellls cf Clannaboy (Clann-Aedha- 
Dhuidhe), 273, 303, 383: —, 
Brian, Lord of Clannaboy, 330. 

O'Reillys, Lords of East Brefni, 
14, 140-2, 302, 388 

Oriel (Oirghialla), Kingdom of, 11, 
28, 70, 72, 87, 102. | See 

Cereal” and “MacMahon. 
O’Ruairc Kings of Brefni, 14, 25, 
SSID 1. 310) 

‘Tighernan, > 30, 32, 33, 35, 
38-49, 43, 45, 50, 51, 56, 57, 61, 
65, 73, 90; —, 
daughter of 'Murchadh 0’ 
chlin, wife of Tighernan, 38. 
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Ossory, kingdom of, 20, 34, 35, 53+ 
63, 70. See MacGillapairaic. 

Ostmen (Scandinavians of Ireland), 
24, 35, 61, 62, 67, 70, 81, 83, 114. 
119, 120, 136, 195-200 (treatment 
after Conquest), 208, 210, 234. 

Ostmen, of Cork, 60," 61. 74. 75. 
91, 119, 120; —, of Dublin, 21, 
26, 31, 34, 37. 40. 41, 43. 45. 54. 
55, 56. 58-63, 75, fo, 83, 110, 

16. 199: —, of Lime- 
: 1,94, 109, 120. 1957 
—, of Waterford, 37, 53, 54. 65. 
119, 120, 137, 169, 180, 195, 197. 
ip: — ‘of Wexford, 64, 65, 

o’Sellivan Mor, lands of, 424, 425. 
O'Tuathail (O'Toole) Kings’ of ‘Ui 

Muiredaigh, 40, 55, 61, 65, 67, 
fo, Ba, 28, ig, 136, 137) 173, 
176, 23, , Gillacomgaill, last 
King 983 ‘Aedh, lord of 
Imaal, 173; —, Laurence (Lor- 
can) Saint, Archbishop of Dublin, 
5, 39, 40. 85 38, OF, O2, 66, 68, 
78, 98, 136. 

Oxford, ‘Irish Students at, 320, 
33, 342, 344. 

Pale, formation of the, 215, 343-6, 
350, 382, 390, 391, 402, 403. 

Papacy’ and Ireland,” 5-9, 38, 39, 

TAs tad iagtag sun Parlament of’ Ireland, 114, 127, 
134, 3, qe. 387, 189-94, 250, 
201, 268, 260, 333, 349, 369, 380, 
381, 390, 399-405. Patriot” Party, 223, 224, 257, 
270, 289, 329, 330, 337-39, 

Poers of Waterford, gt, 92, 
302-4. ‘ 

Poer, Amold le, Lord of Kells in 
Ossory, 253, 254. 

Pola, Join de in Earl of Lincola, 
386, 390, 395, 396. 

Poynings, Sir Edward, Deputy, 398- 
405, (Acts) 286, 320, 398-405. Prendergasts, 53, 89, 110, 148, 203. 

7. 
Prestons of Gormanston, 274, 370. 

102, 

Ragnall, Ostman earl of Water- 
ford, 53, 197. 

Raymond ‘le Gros, 61, 62. See 
“arew. 

Remonstrance of Irish Chiefs to 
a, John XXII., 69, 239-42, 

247, 270. 
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Revenues of, Anglo-Ireland, 

258, 350 380, 381, 400-3. 
Richard ‘II. “of England, in Ireland, 

297, 298, 306-18. 
Richard Tif, of England, Lord of 

Treland, 390- 
Ridlestord ‘family, 79, 80, 84, 146, 

176, 195. 
Roches of Fermoy, 93, 110, 35%, 

—, of Wexlord, 52, 80. 
See Fitetiodebest, 

Rokeby, Sir Thomas, Justiciar, 274, 
275. 

Sanford, Archbishop of Dublin, Jus- 
ticiar, 184, 185. 

Savage of the Ards, 274, 305, 322 323, 383. 
Sil Muiredaigh, 13, 14, 16, 20, 28, 

73. 444, 149. See O'Conors of 
Connacht. 

Simnel, Lambert, 394-6. 
Sligo, ‘town and castle, 147, 217, 

234, 301, 383, 398. 
Somhaitle,’ “ancestor of MacDon- 

nels, 89, 158, 161, 405. 
Stanley, Sir Thomas, King’s Lieut., 

345, 340. Statford, Ralph, Earl of, joint Lord 
of Kilkenny, 280, 281, 298. 

183, 

Talbot, John, La. Furnival, E. of 
‘Shrewsbury, Lord of Wexford, 
King’s Lieut, 323, 332-6, 339-42, 
347, 343, 354, 355; —, Richard, 
Archbishop of Dublin, "334, 338, 
341, 344. 340-8, 355- ‘Tanisiry. See Irish law of succession. 

Thomond, kingdom of, 28, 30-3, 
45, (grants in) 91, 93, 102, 109, 110, 182, See O'Briens, 

Tibetot (""Tiptoft,”) John Earl of 
Worcester, King’s Lieut., 377-80, 

Towns (before Conquest), 23, 24, 
36, 42, (Anglo-Irish) ‘66, "119, 
128, 210-21, 302, 344, 361, 420-22, 

Trim, castle and Lordship, 74, 76, 
97, 125, 142, 152, 239, 339, 37% 
37 ‘Mortimer. 

Tuath, 15, 16, 20, 30, 42, 81-5. 

ticiar, 270, 271. 

INDEX 

Ulidia, ikingdom of, 11, 21, 26, 23. 
See "MacDonlevy and Cowrcy. 

Ulster, 86-9, r0z, 130-2, (earldom) 
IIE, 123, 124, 126, 132, 140-2, 
ABE 63, 2540368, 263, 374, 365: 
See’ Lacy, Burgo, Mortimer. 

Valence, de, Lords of Wexford, 15:. 
188, 199, 213, 253. See Wexjori. 

Valognes, Hamo de, 104, 109, 110 
Verdun, Bertram de, 100, 102: —. 

John, Lord of Lochsewdy (Wes- 
meath), 151, 152; —, Theoball 
170, 215, 223, 224, 230, 231 —, Theobald IL) 223, 230, 234 

—. Milo, 234, 248: —. Rober: 
and Nicholas, "104, 228, 230, 231 
248; (Verduns murder Earl 0 
Louth), 254. 

Vescy, Wilham, Lord of 

Vivian, Cardinal Legate, 69, 86, 92 
Justiciar, 152, 185~7. 

Wales, rebels in, look to Ireland 
142, 145, 178, 179, 230, 327- Warbeck, Perkia, 397. Waterford, city, '37. 53, 57, 85. 97 
Th, 210-12, | 302-4, 42 
county, of, 115, 132, 134. 

L, 3, 50-2, 84, 142 

Wexlord city, 37. 44, 49 53+ 65, 
13. (Liberty) 15: See Valence, Grey, 

Hastings, Talbot. 
Windsor, Treaty of (1175), 76-8, 

92, 97, 104, 110. 
Windsor, Wiliam de, King's Lieat., 

287-299. 
Wogan, Sir John, Justiciar, 186-94, 

218, 222, 225, 227, 228, 230, 231, 
305 

Worcester, Philip de, Procurator, 
99, 100, 102, 109, 110, 132. 

Yonge, John, translator of Secreium 
Secretorum, 335, i York, Richard Dukeof, King’s Licut., 
341, 355, 363-70. 

Youghal, college of, 374. 412. 
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